
* * * * PUBLIC NOTICE * * * *

NOTICE OF A CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING
A WORKSHOP SESSION

OF THE CITY OF CORINTH
Thursday, March 21, 2019, 5:45 P.M.

CITY HALL - 3300 CORINTH PARKWAY

CALL TO ORDER:

WORKSHOP BUSINESS AGENDA

1. Receive a report and hold a discussion on the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, as presented by Eide Bailly, LLP.

2. Receive a report, hold a discussion, and give staff direction on the Water and Wastewater Rates.

3. Discuss Regular Meeting Items on Regular Session Agenda, including the consideration of closed
session items as set forth in the Closed Session agenda items below.

ADJOURN WORKSHOP SESSION

*NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of a Regular Session of the Corinth City Council to be held at Corinth City Hall
located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The agenda is as follows:

7:00 p.m.CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & TEXAS PLEDGE:
"Honor the Texas Flag: I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible".

PROCLAMATION:
Denton County Master Gardener Association 30th Anniversary

CONSENT AGENDA
All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted in one motion.
Should the Mayor, a Councilmember, or any citizen desire discussion of any Item that Item will be removed
from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately.

1. Consider and act on minutes from February 21, 2019 Workshop Session.

2. Consider and act on minutes from the February 21, 2019 Regular Session.

1



3. Consider and act on approval of an Interlocal Agreement between the City of Corinth and the Lake Dallas
ISD to utilize the Shady Shores Elementary School to host the Corinth Recreation Department Summer
Camp Program.

4. Public Works equipment storage building, site improvements and Fire Department Training Facility
construction.

CITIZENS  COMMENTS
In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, Council is prohibited from acting on or discussing (other than
factual responses to specific questions) any items brought before them at this time. Citizen's comments will be
limited to 3 minutes. Comments about any of the Council agenda items are appreciated by the Council and may
be taken into consideration at this time or during that agenda item. Please complete a Public Input form if you
desire to address the City Council. All remarks and questions addressed to the Council shall be addressed to the
Council as a whole and not to any individual member thereof. Section 30.041B Code of Ordinance of the City
of Corinth.

BUSINESS AGENDA

5. Accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2018, as presented by Eide Bailly, LLP (formerly Davis Kinard & Co, PC).

PUBLIC HEARING

6. The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the
City’s Unified Development Code, Section 4: Sign and Fence/Screening Regulations subsection 4.02:
Fence and Screening Regulations.

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)
Response by Staff
Take Action

7. The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the
City’s Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.07: Zoning Use Regulations, 2.07.07
Accessory Buildings and Uses.

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)
Response by Staff
Take Action

8. The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the
City’s Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.10: Zoning Procedures, 2.10.04
Zoning Text and Map Amendments and 2.10.05 Public Hearings and Notification Requirements for
Zoning Related Applications.

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)

2



Response by Staff
Take Action

COUNCIL COMMENTS & FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
The purpose of this section is to allow each councilmember the opportunity to provide general updates and/or
comments to fellow councilmembers, the public, and/or staff on any issues or future events. Also, in accordance
with Section 30.085 of the Code of Ordinances, at this time, any Councilmember may direct that an item be
added as a business item to any future agenda.

CLOSED SESSION
The City Council will convene in such executive or (closed session) to consider any matters regarding any of the
above agenda items as well as the following matters pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code.
Closed Session may happen at any time during the Workshop Session and before the start of a City
Council Regular Session. 

Section 551.071.  (1) Private consultation with its attorney to seek advice about pending or contemplated
litigation; and/or settlement offer; and/or (2) a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the government body
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State of Texas clearly conflicts with chapter
551.

Section 551.072. To deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if deliberation in an open
meeting would have a detrimental effect on the position of the governmental body in negotiations with a third
person.

A. Potential land acquisition related to incentives and projects. (Project Daylight)

Section 551.074. To deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or
dismissal of a public officer or employee; or to hear a complaint or charge against an officer or employee.

Section 551.087. To deliberate or discuss regarding commercial or financial information that the governmental
body has received from a business prospect that the governmental body seeks to have locate, stay, or expand in or
near the territory of the governmental body and with which the governmental body is conducting economic
development negotiations; or to deliberate the offer of a financial or other incentive to a business prospect.

After discussion of any matters in closed session, any final action or vote taken will be in public by the City
Council. City Council shall have the right at any time to seek legal advice in Closed Session from its Attorney on
any agenda item, whether posted for Closed Session or not.

RECONVENE  IN  OPEN  SESSION  TO  TAKE  ACTION, IF NECESSARY,  ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS.

ADJOURN:

Posted this 15th day of March, 2019 at 11:30 a.m. on the bulletin board at Corinth City Hall.

________________________________
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary
City of Corinth, Texas

3

Kimberly Pence



   
    WORKSHOP BUSINESS ITEM    1.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Annual Audit and Comprehensive Annual Report Discussion
Submitted For: Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director 
Submitted By: Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: N/A
City Manager Review: Bob Hart, City Manager

AGENDA ITEM
Receive a report and hold a discussion on the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2018, as presented by Eide Bailly, LLP.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
The City Charter, in compliance with Chapter 103 of the Local Government Code requires an annual independent
audit. The audit of the City of Corinth's financial records for the year-ended September 30, 2018 was conducted
by Eide Bailly, LLP. The audit firm, in its third year as the City's independent audit firm, issued an unqualified
opinion on the financial statements, stating that the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
City's financial position in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) was presented to the Citizen Finance Audit Committee on
Thursday, February 21, 2019.  Representatives from Eide Bailly, LLP will be present at the City Council meeting
to provide their opinion.
 

RECOMMENDATION

Attachments
Presentation 
Management Letter 
Letter to those charged with governance 

4



COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018

5



 Report is organized into three sections:
◦ Introductory, Financial & Statistical Section

 CAFR has been designed to comply with GAAP/GASB guidelines

 City has received an unqualified opinion from the audit firm

 Auditor suggested adjustments recorded by staff: 
◦ Current Year GASB 68 & GASB 75 entries– Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Pensions & Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions
◦ Adjustment due to overstatement of revenues in prior year
◦ Transfer bonds payable from governmental activities to Water/Wastewater

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)

6



Fund Balance Historical Analysis
Actual vs Policy Requirement

9/30/14 9/30/15 9/30/16 9/30/17 9/30/18

 FUND BALANCE 3,778,466 3,065,462 2,763,912 2,558,984 3,800,952

FUND BALANCE REQ. 2,976,417 2,964,845 2,916,342 2,972,762 2,833,616

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

 5,000,000

 6,000,000

Water/Wastewater
25% of Budgeted Expenditures 

9/30/14 9/30/15 9/30/16 9/30/17 9/30/18

 FUND BALANCE 3,810,097 3,726,939 3,735,108 5,281,895 5,436,010

FUND BALANCE REQ. 2,876,660 2,985,215 3,015,651 3,014,130 3,204,059

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

 5,000,000

 6,000,000

General Fund
20% of Budgeted Expenditures

7



ENDING FUND BALANCE COMPARISON

%
9/30/2017 9/30/2018 Variance Change

Operating Funds             13,590,177  $ 15,534,872  $   1,944,696 14.3%

Reserve Funds                   390,681           299,193           (91,488) -23.4%

Internal Service Funds               1,510,659       1,738,898           228,239 15.1%

Impact/Escrow Funds               1,672,730       1,751,772             79,042 4.7%

Bond/Capital Project Funds             14,066,639       8,487,132      (5,579,507) -39.7%

Special Revenue Funds                   843,928           890,422             46,494 5.5%

Total all Funds             32,074,813  $ 28,702,290  $ (3,372,523) -10.5%

8



GENERAL LONG-TERM DEBT
As of September 30, 2018

Issue

 Original 

Principal 

Amount of 

Issue 

 Outstanding 

Principal as   

of 09/30/18 

 Outstanding 

Interest as   of 

09/30/18 

 Total 

Outstanding   as 

of 09/30/18 

 % 

Outstanding 

as of 

09/30/18 

  General 

Fund 

Payment 

  Water/ WW 

Payment 

 Drainage 

Payment 

2010 CO 1,500,000 140,000 5,635 145,635 9.3% 71,851 - -

2016 CO 13,275,000 13,275,000 6,036,350 19,311,350 100.0% 562,300 - -

2016 GO Refunding 1,510,000 1,130,000 23,200 1,153,200 74.8% 273,663 77,187 -

2017 CO 4,855,000 4,855,000 1,871,256 6,726,256 100.0% 180,510 - -

2017 GO Refunding 14,240,000 12,335,000 2,803,125 15,138,125 86.6% 1,201,228 1,109,560 251,841

Total 35,380,000$  31,735,000$ 10,739,566$  42,474,566$    89.7% 2,289,552$  1,186,747$   251,841$   

Fiscal Year 2017-2018

General Fund total Outstanding $30,209,434
Water/Wastewater Fund total Outstanding $10,777,440

Drainage Fund total Outstanding $1,487,692

9



What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
400 Pine St., Ste. 600  |  Abilene, TX 79601-5190  |  T 325.672.4000  |  TF 800.588.2525  |  F 325.672.7049  |  EOE

 

 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council 
City of Corinth, Texas 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of City of Corinth, Texas, (the City) as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 6, 2019.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses, we identified a deficiency in internal control that we 
consider to be a material weakness. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We 
consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses to be a 
material weakness. See Finding 2018-A. 
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 

10



 

 

determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
 
The City’s Response to the Finding 
City of Corinth, Texas’ response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and responses. The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
Abilene, Texas 
March 6, 2019

11



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 
Finding 2018-A: 
Financial Reporting 
 
Type of Finding: 
Material Weakness 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: 
Management of the City is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  This includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
Statement of Condition: 
The City does not have an internal control system designed to provide for the accurate preparation of the financial 
statements and related financial statement disclosures being audited.  We proposed two audit adjustments to the 
City’s recorded account balances, which if not detected by our auditing procedures, could have resulted in a material 
misstatement of the City’s financial statements. Further, an adjustment was proposed to the City’s financial 
statements to restate beginning fund balance in the General Fund and beginning net position of the governmental 
activities for an overstated receivable. 
 
Cause: 
The City does not prepare, and has not developed an internal control system to provide for the preparation of, the 
financial statements and related disclosures in according with GAAP. The City identified a receivable in the general 
fund and governmental activities that was overstated by $156,913 at September 30, 2017. Further, it was decided to 
allocate a portion of the City’s net pension liability with TMRS to the City’s component unit, Corinth Economic 
Development Corporation. As a result, a prior period adjustment was proposed to accrue the CEDC’s portion of its 
net pension liability with TMRS. An adjustment was also identified for receivables and unearned revenue being 
overstated by $234,959 due to October 2018 services being billed in September 2018. 
 
Effect: 
Although this circumstance is not unusual for an organization of your size, the preparation of financial statements 
and adjusting journal entries as part of the audit engagement may result in financial statements and related 
disclosures not being available for management purposes as timely as it would be if prepared by City personnel. The 
City recorded a prior period adjustment to decrease net position of governmental activities and fund balance of the 
general fund for the overstated receivable as of September 1, 2017, by $156,913. Further, a prior period adjustment 
was proposed to accrue the CEDC’s portion of its net pension liability with TMRS. This resulted in a decrease in net 
position of the CEDC as of September 1, 2017, by $64,360 and a corresponding increase in net position of 
governmental activities of $64,360. 
 
Recommendations: 
The City should evaluate and review the controls over financial reporting to ensure accurate financial statements can 
be completed in accordance with GAAP.  
 
View of Responsible Officials: 
Management agrees with the noted finding. 

12



 

 

 
 
 
Management’s Response to Auditor’s Findings:  
Corrective Action Plan 
September 30, 2018 
 
Prepared by Management of the 

City of Corinth, Texas 
 
 
 
 
 

13



 

 

Corrective Action Plan 
 
 
Finding 2018-A 
 
Finding Summary:  The City identified a receivable in the general fund and governmental 

activities that was overstated by $156,913 at September 30, 2017. Further, 
it was decided to allocate a portion of the City’s net pension liability with 
TMRS to the City’s component unit, Corinth Economic Development 
Corporation. As a result, a prior period adjustment was proposed to accrue 
the CEDC’s portion of its net pension liability with TMRS. This resulted 
in a decrease in net position of the CEDC as of September 1, 2017, by 
$64,360 and a corresponding increase in net position of governmental 
activities of $64,360. 

 
Responsible Individual:  Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director of Finance 
 
Corrective Action Plan:  Employee turnover contributed to the control weakness. The Comptroller 

position has experienced turnover in the past few years with an employee 
hired in October 2017 that resigned in August 2018. The replacement 
employee for the position was hired in October 2018. The current 
Comptroller discovered the error in the overstated receivable recorded in 
the General Fund. We believe with consistency in the Comptroller 
position, future errors in financial reporting can be avoided or minimized.    

 
Anticipated Completion Date: December 2018 
 
 

14



What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
400 Pine St., Ste. 600  |  Abilene, TX 79601-5190  |  T 325.672.4000  |  TF 800.588.2525  |  F 325.672.7049  |  EOE

 

1 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
March 6, 2019 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council of the 
City of Corinth, Texas 
Corinth, Texas 

 
We have audited the financial statements of the City of Corinth, Texas as of and for the year ended September 
30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated March 6, 2019. Professional standards require that we 
advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards and Government Auditing Standards 
 
As communicated in our letter dated October 22, 2018, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by 
management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of City of Corinth, Texas solely for the 
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 

 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional 
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not 
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.  

 
We have provided our comments regarding a material weakness during our audit in our Independent Auditor’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards dated March 6, 2019. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you. 
 
Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the engagement, 
if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence. 

15



 

2 
 

 

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 4 to the financial statements. As described 
in Note 11, the City changed accounting policies related to accounting for OPEB to adopt the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Other Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. 
Accordingly, the accounting change has been retrospectively applied to the financial statements beginning 
October 1, 2017.  No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to 
inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of 
significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 
 
Significant Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about 
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly 
sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future 
events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments. 
 
The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are: 
 

Management’s estimate of the allowance for accounts receivable is a sensitive accounting estimate.  
The amount of the allowance is based on management’s evaluation of collectability of accounts 
receivable, including historical collections experience, economic conditions, and other relevant factors.  

 
Management’s estimate of its net pension and OPEB liabilities is based on reports received from the 
Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS.)  The net pension and OPEB liabilities reported by 
TMRS are based on actuarial valuations that utilize various assumptions including the remaining 
amortization period, discount rate, expected rates of investment return, salary increases, payroll growth 
rates and mortality rates.  The financial statements of the TMRS plan were audited by KPMG, LLP.  
These financial statements received an unmodified opinion.  We evaluated the audited financial 
statements, census data submitted by the City to TMRS and the City’s controls over the census 
submission process that were used to develop the estimate of its net pension and OPEB liabilities to 
determine that the estimates are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 

Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to financial statement users.  The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent and clear. 
 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  
 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to 
the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect 

16



 

3 
 

 

of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances 
or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. The misstatements in the attached schedule were 
detected as a result of audit procedures and were corrected by management. We did not identify any 
uncorrected misstatements. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether 
or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could 
be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements arose during the course 
of the audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated March 6, 2019.  
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of matters, 
including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, business conditions affecting the entity, 
and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed 
resulted in a condition to our retention as the City’s auditors. 
 
Modification of the Auditor’s Report 
 
As discussed in Notes 4 and 11 to the financial statements, the City has adopted the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which 
has resulted in a restatement of the net position as of October 1, 2017. We have included an emphasis of matter 
paragraph relating to the implementation of GASB 75 as well as other adjustments made to prior period financial 
statements. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, the City Council, and management of City 
of Corinth, Texas and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 

 
Abilene, Texas 
 

17



City of Corinth, Texas 
Summary of Audit Entries 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

4 
 

 

Description Debit Credit
Adjusting journal entry #1
To record GASB 68 adjustment #2 for water/sewer.
110-0000-117201 NET PENSION ASSET 251,017$     
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 25,254         
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 4,598           
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 41,374         
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,943           
110-8800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 95,023         
110-8801-50306 TMRS GASB YE 30,841         
110-8802-50306 TMRS GASB YE 14,470         
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 102,838$     
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 8,215           
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 39,695         
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,944           
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 64,075         
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 206,472       
110-8800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 27,951         
110-8801-50306 TMRS GASB YE 9,073           
110-8802-50306 TMRS GASB YE 4,257           
Total 464,520$     464,520$     

To record GASB 68 adjustment #3 for water/sewer.
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 110,662$     
110-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 75,401         
110-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 75,401$       
110-8800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 74,928         
110-8801-50306 TMRS GASB YE 24,322         
110-8802-50306 TMRS GASB YE 11,412         
Total 186,063$     186,063$     

To record GASB 68 adjustment #2 for storm drainage.
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,952$         
120-0000-117201 NET PENSION ASSET 19,412         
120-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOUCRES 356              
120-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOUCRES 3,200           
120-9800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 10,852         
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 7,953$         
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 635              
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 3,070           
120-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOUCRES 4,955           
120-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOUCRES 15,967         
120-9800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 3,192           
Total 35,772$       35,772$       

Adjusting journal entry #2

Adjusting journal entry #3

18



City of Corinth, Texas 
Summary of Audit Entries 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

5 
 

 

To record GASB 68 adjustment #3 for storm drainage.
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 8,558$         
120-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOUCRES 9,485           
120-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 9,485$         
120-9800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 8,558           

Total 18,043$       18,043$       

To record GASB 68 adjustment #2 for governmental activities.
990-0000-117201 NET PENSION ASSET 2,163,493$  
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 217,663       
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 39,625         
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 356,599       
990-1000-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 115,250       
990-1100-50306 TMRS GASB YE 69,283         
990-1400-50306 TMRS GASB YE 87,491         
990-1500-50306 TMRS GASB YE 59,665         
990-1800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 57,942         
990-2200-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 819,785       
990-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 886,352$     
990-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 70,733         
990-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 342,123       
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 552,261       
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,779,561    
990-1000-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 33,904         
990-1100-50306 TMRS GASB YE 20,380         
990-1400-50306 TMRS GASB YE 25,737         
990-1500-50306 TMRS GASB YE 17,551         
990-1800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 17,044         
990-2200-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 241,150       

Total 3,986,796$  3,986,796$  

To record GASB 68 adjustment #3 for governmental activities.
990-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 953,787$     
990-0000-117202 DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 629,339       
990-0000-117200 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 629,339$     
990-1000-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 90,893         
990-1100-50306 TMRS GASB YE 54,637         
990-1400-50306 TMRS GASB YE 68,998         
990-1500-50306 TMRS GASB YE 47,054         
990-1800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 45,695         
990-2200-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 646,510       

Total 1,583,126$  1,583,126$  

Adjusting journal entry #5

Adjusting journal entry #6

Adjusting journal entry #4

19



City of Corinth, Texas 
Summary of Audit Entries 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

6 
 

 

To record GASB 75 adjustment #1.
110-0000-301006 Prior Period Adjustment 26,989$       
120-0000-301006 Prior Period Adjustment 2,090           
130-0000-301006 Prior Period Adjustment 2,937           
990-0000-310000 FUND BALANCE 232,583       
110-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 26,989$       
120-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 2,090           
130-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 2,937           
990-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 232,583       

264,599$     264,599$     

To record GASB 75 adjustment #2.
110-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 2,954$         
110-8800-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 2,163           
110-8801-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 700              
110-8802-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 319              
120-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESORUCES OPEB 229              
120-9800-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 246              
130-0000-117204 Deferred Outflows - OPEB 321              
130-1700-50306 TMRS GASB YE 347              
990-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 25,455         
990-1000-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 2,614           
990-1100-50306 TMRS GASB YE 1,572           
990-1400-50306 TMRS GASB YE 1,984           
990-1500-50306 TMRS GASB YE 1,354           
990-1800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 1,313           
990-2200-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 18,584         
110-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 444$            
110-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 5,692           
120-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESORUCES OPEB 34                
120-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 441              
130-0000-117204 Deferred Outflows - OPEB 49                
130-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 619              
990-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 3,828           
990-0000-214025 NET OPEB LIABILITY 49,048         

60,155$       60,155$       

Adjusting journal entry #7

Adjusting journal entry #8

20



City of Corinth, Texas 
Summary of Audit Entries 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

7 
 

 

To record GASB 75 adjustment #3 for governmental activities.
990-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 7,264$         
990-1000-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 693$            
990-1100-50306 TMRS GASB YE 417              
990-1400-50306 TMRS GASB YE 526              
990-1500-50306 TMRS GASB YE 359              
990-1800-50306 TMRS GASB YE 348              
990-2200-50305 TMRS CONTRIBUTIONS - GASB 68 ADJUSTMENT 4,921           

Total 7,264$         7,264$         

To record GASB 75 adjustment #3 for enterprise activities.
110-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES OPEB 843$            
120-0000-117204 DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESORUCES OPEB 65                
130-0000-117204 Deferred Outflows - OPEB 92                
110-8800-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 574$            
110-8801-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 185              
110-8802-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 84                
120-9800-50305 TMRS EMPLOYER 65                
130-1700-50306 TMRS GASB YE 92                

Total 1,000$         1,000$         

To adjust client entry to transfer bonds payable from governmental activities
to water/wastewater.
110-0000-41820 Transfer In 2,871,577$  
110-8800-59150 SPECIAL ITEMS 2,871,577$  

Total 2,871,577$  2,871,577$  

To reclass prior period object code.
100-0000-310000 FUND BALANCE 156,913$     
100-0000-52901 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT 156,913$     

Total 156,913$     156,913$     

Adjusting journal entry #12

Adjusting journal entry #10

Adjusting journal entry #11

Adjusting journal entry #9

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21



City of Corinth, Texas 
Summary of Audit Entries 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

8 
 

 

To record GASB 68 entries for Corinth EDC.
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 10,910$       
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 3,561           
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 12,023         
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 11,992         
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 2,737           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 498              
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 4,484           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 7,738           
130-0000-215020 Net Pension Liability-GASB 68 27,202         
130-0000-301006 Prior Period Adjustment 64,360         
130-1700-50306 TMRS GASB YE 15,205         
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 11,144$       
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 889              
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 4,302           
130-0000-117200 Deferred Outflows-Pension 7,738           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 4,013           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 1,756           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 34                
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 6,944           
130-0000-117202 Deferred Inflows-Pension 22,374         
130-0000-215020 Net Pension Liability-GASB 68 85,051         
130-1700-50306 TMRS GASB YE 4,473           
130-1700-50306 TMRS GASB YE 11,992         

160,710$     160,710$     

Adjusting journal entry #13

 

22



   
    WORKSHOP BUSINESS ITEM    2.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Water Rate Study
Submitted By: Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Receive a report, hold a discussion, and give staff direction on the Water and Wastewater Rates.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
The City retained Carolyn M. Marshall, CPA to perform a cost of service and rate design study for the City's
water and wastewater utility.  The study's intent is to achieve a water and wastewater structure that will assure
equitable and adequate revenues for operations, debt service retirement, capital improvements and bond covenant
requirements. The analysis examined revenue requirements for a five-year period beginning with  fiscal year
2019-2020.

 

RECOMMENDATION

23



   
    PROCLAMATION           

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Denton County Master Gardener Association 30th Anniversary
Submitted For: Bob Hart, City Manager  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Regional Cooperation

AGENDA ITEM
PROCLAMATION:
Denton County Master Gardener Association 30th Anniversary

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
N/A

RECOMMENDATION
N/A

Attachments
Proclamation 

24



25



   
    CONSENT ITEM    1.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: February 21, 2019 Workshop Session
Submitted For: Kim Pence, City Secretary  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Consider and act on minutes from February 21, 2019 Workshop Session.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Attached are the minutes from February 21, 2019 Workshop Session. The minutes are in draft form and are not
considered official until formally approved by the City Council.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval of the February 21, 2019 Workshop Session minutes.

Attachments
Minutes 

26



 
 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DENTON 

CITY OF CORINTH 
 
On this the 21st day of February 2019 the City Council of the City of Corinth, Texas met in Workshop 
Session at the Corinth City Hall at 5:45 P.M., located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The meeting 
date, time, place and purpose as required by Title 5, Subtitle A, Chapter 551, Subchapter C, Section 
551.041, Government Code, with the following members to wit: 
 
Members Present: 

Mayor Heidemann  
Sam Burke, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Scott Garber, Council Member 
Don Glockel, Council Member 
Tina Henderson, Council Member 
 
Members Absent: 

Lowell Johnson, Council Member  
 
Others Present 

Tom Winterburn, DCTA Representative and Ethics Committee Member 
Raymond Suarez, DCTA Executive Director 
 
Staff Members Present 

Bob Hart, City Manager 
Kim Pence, City Secretary 
Patricia Adams, Messer, Rockefeller, & Fort 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director  
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director 
Michael Ross, Chief Fire Department 
Jason Alexander, Director of Economic Development 
George Marshall, City Engineer  
Chad Thiessen, Deputy Fire Chief 
Shea Rodgers, Technology Services Manager 
Ben Rodriguez, Planning and Development Manager 
Cleve Joiner, Building Official 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 

Mayor Heidemann called the meeting to order at 5:40 p.m.  
 

WORKSHOP BUSINESS AGENDA: 

 

1. Discussion on upcoming Planning and Development code updates.  

 
Bob Hart, City Manager – Introduced Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning And Development Director.  
 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director - The Planning and Development 
Department wanted to bring some items they are working on to Council’s attention. The 
Department is looking at updating: 
 

27



 
 

• The development process, a sequence of events in how things need to process through to 
approval.  

• The Early Model Home Policy, allows builders to start constructing homes in the 
community before the public infrastructure has been accepted. This is common in other 
areas. Some of the details are that they would be allowed two homes per builder; require 
two points of access; water to the fire hydrants, so that the fire fighters can gain access; 
and meet all the life safety issues.  

• The Certificate of Occupancy (CO) requirements, staff has noticed tenants in buildings that 
do not have a CO or a CO matching the changed use of the building. Staff is looking to 
change the procedures, so that if there is a change in ownership, use or tenant a CO is 
required providing the tenant to receive proper inspections.  

• The parking ratios, staff has a number of uses listed, but no standards. The standards will 
allow staff to be consistent, fair and enforceable.  

• A Comprehensive Fee update, it has been started, but not completed. The last time the fees 
were updated was 2004. The departments are in need of this review to make them similar 
to the neighboring cities in the metroplex.  

• Boat and RV parking on residential lots, staff is looking to repair the wording making this 
enforceable.  

• Residential Set Back Reductions, there are inconsistencies between the way the code was 
written and the industry standard. This will solve the issue.  

• Accessory Structure standards, staff is looking to reduce setbacks and square footage 
allowance based on lot size.  

 
Mayor Heidemann – inquired on how the Homeowner Associations and POA By Laws impact 
any of this? 
 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director – The City is not as strict as an HOA 
and is not party to their deed restrictions and how they enforcement them.  
 
Mayor Heidemann - Who has preference here, POA and HOA?  
 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director – the City would enforce the 
ordinances and the HOA’s would enforce theirs. Most of the time the HOA’s are stricter.  
 

2. Receive a presentation from Tom Winterburn, Denton County Transportation Authority 

Representative for the City of Corinth. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – Introduced Tom Winterburn, Denton County Transportation Authority 
(DCTA) representative and Raymond Suarez, Denton County Transportation Authority (DCTA) 
Executive Director.  
 
Mayor Heidemann – thanked Tom Winterburn for representing the City well with DCTA and 
speaking in concert with what the City’s needs are.  
 
Tom Winterburn, DCTA Representative – Thanked the Mayor and announced he is still the 
boardmember representing Corinth with DCTA, regardless of what has been published in the 
papers. He lightly discussed the disagreement between himself and Judge Eads regarding the lack 
of regional focus within the future outlook of DCTA. The DCTA board was able to reach a 
consensus to modify the bill that went to the state legislature. There are some enhancements that 
would affect Corinth and future member cities, as well. The Board re-alignment would at this time 

28



 
 

still favor the three member cities and there will still be two county board seats. Future member 
cities could contribute a half cent sales tax or equivalent and there was a little bit of negotiating 
room left with future member cities with a substantial investment of some type; such as a Tax 
Incremental District that would allow the DCTA Board to consider a future member city by their 
contributions. He asked Raymond Suarez to discuss the legislative information and moving 
forward.   
 
Raymond Suarez, DCTA Executive Director – stated last week DCTA met with the legislatures 
that are taking this bill to the Senate and House. DCTA was pleased with the feedback and did a 
re-write of the proposed bill and then submitted it. This created a better bill that removed some of 
the wording of concern.  As cities think about joining DCTA it affords them to be added to the 
system to defray cost to improve ridership. DCTA wants to keep the concept of regionalism alive 
and will have to find ways to work together. A lot of conversation’s are with the City of Corinth 
and the Lake Cities. There is a lot of excitement for the City of Corinth to join DCTA and have a 
train station.  
 
The next step that allows the DCTA Board to take action is for the City of Corinth to submit a 
formal request for DCTA to provide preliminary engineering analysis on the cost associated with 
building a station and develop a draft proposal for what it would take for DCTA to actually move 
this forward.  
  
The phases would look like:  

1. Develop a proposal and costs analysis associated to build a train stop  
2. Contract out to the DCTA engineering team - for initial planning & engineering; 

feasibility options for potential station locations; there will be at least two different 
properties; reviewing the economic development prospects, utility relocations, 
accessibility; what will yield the best return on investment, etc.; type of station single 
load or dual load side station. Double tracking makes it more efficient, for break downs 
and multiple trains. They will look at operating costs, ridership, number of cars needed, 
impact on system and operations.  

 
Once done, if the assumption is to move forward, DCTA can begin to look at the actual cost of 
joining; capital and operating costs, financing options, etc. There have been some planning take-
offs done for conceptualizations of developments around the existing stations to help with 
educating new councilmembers in other cities to understand the partnership with the City. Putting 
in a station does not create the success, it will take an economic development strategy around the 
station. The DCTA board is excited to encourage Council to continue to think in that direction. I 
think if you do some take offs around economic development in the areas you will be surprised as 
to how much value the land gains and adds to the City. One of the things missing along the I35E 
corridor among the cities is building an I35E Corridor Coalition similar to the I35W Corridor 
Coalition that is anchored by the Hillwood Development that is also working with Jerry Jones and 
the City of Frisco on the DNT. Developers are looking for places that are easy to develop with 
incentives and a lot of open space. The I35E Corridor is perfect for this. We will need to ask our 
consultants for a cost of the proposal and bring it back to you to see if you are interested.  
 
Councilmember Glockel - When ridership goes up, for instance when you are moving furniture 
from point A to point B and one truck can haul it all that is great, but if you have to add the second 
truck and can only haul just a little bit until you fill that second truck up, I understand that could be 
a negative impact; do you ever anticipate say the second car ever fills up to 75 percent is a breaking 
point or does it ever pay for itself?  
 

29



 
 

Raymond Suarez, DCTA Executive Director - Transit does not typically pay for itself in the U.S, 
it is subsidized by the federal government. The subsidy typically comes from federal or sales tax, 
financing of some sort that offsets the costs. In regards to adding the second car, we have a 
contractor that charges by the hour and by the mile; so the hour takes care of the people side of 
things, the mileage takes care of all the maintenance, fuel and everything else associated with it. If 
you are operating one car, that is one car and the number of miles, the minute you add the second 
car it doubles the mileage, not the hours, but they have to maintain the vehicle, FRA, fuel it, and 
this cost is recovered with the cost per mile. It literally doubles when a second car is added. The 
impact to Trinity Mills is paid by DCTA, if DART is impacted due to the DCTA passengers. If the 
load factor gets high enough that DCTA has to add a second car this will affect the others cities due 
to an increased cost.  
 
Councilmember Glockel – I have seen ridership percentage and sometimes they pertain to all 
modes of transportation. Train and Train only ridership. 
 
Raymond Suarez, DCTA Executive Director – Yes, train ridership has been going down year 
over year around the country. The interesting thing about transit is you will see it runs in cycles. 
The majority of it is driven by density. The danger of looking at transit is you are looking at it in a 
six year window of its infancy. Parallel, if TXDOT builds a brand new highway, how long does it 
take before the density of the highway to increase? It takes time to build it before you see the 
development. The rail system is the same. This is the reason for the Feds and the County to put 
their money behind it, long term projections of ridership that are based on connectivity to the Cotton 
Belt when it came to fruition. Dart financed their portion with completion expected December 
2022. Trinity is working on their side and has finished one segment.  Now the Cotton Belt is coming 
in and that will run from Plano to Downtown Fort Worth and those projections for ridership is that 
at some point DCTA will connect. They are three miles short of this but are in negotiations to make 
this work. It is not really wise to look at ridership and the downturn right now because the 
development hasn’t happen. When you look at the density around Hebron Station the last eight 
months it has had the highest ridership in three years due to the density that has been developed 
around it. The other stations do not have the density.  
 
Tom Winterburn, DCTA Representative – NTCOG will initiate a citizen’s survey? 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – staff has a meeting with them in two or three weeks for planning with 
their Transportation Department and staff.  
 
Tom Winterburn, DCTA Representative - you have a meeting with NCTC in March, should we 
be there?  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – yes, March 4th, I think you would want to sit and listen.  
 
Tom Winterburn, DCTA Representative  – I think that is important because the ridership could 
increase with the students.  
 
Raymond Suarez, DCTA Executive Director – I would encourage you to reach out to Donna 
Barron and her economic development staff, they will tell you that rail is like a jewel for economic 
development. When you compare Lewisville and Denton it is very evident when you look at the 
land values, ridership and the type of development.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – Staff is interviewing two TIF consultants tomorrow and will probably 
show up on Council’s March 21st meeting.  

30



 
 

 
3. Review joint meeting presentations. 

 
Bob Hart, City Manager – the joint meeting with the Lake Cities is on Monday, February 25th, at 
6:00p.m. at the Public Safety building. The way the agenda is going to work is we are going to have 
a short presentation from John Cabrales and John Smith on the staff meeting from December and 
what the outgrowth of that has been. Then Michael Ross and I will do the presentation on the 
summary of the Fire Department. Then Wendy and I will do a short presentation on some 
governance discussions. Then I will do a short presentation on Broadband. Andy Eads will be there 
and Bobby Mitchell and they are on the agenda for comments then there will be discussion. I wanted 
to show you some of these PowerPoints so that we can fix anything that really bothers you. I will 
go through them quickly. I will begin with the Fire Overview 
 

Michael Ross, Fire Chief - this is an overview of the service areas and shows a lot more of what 
we do; involved in the community, the fire suppression, the medical side of it, hazardous materials, 
neighboring departments, special programs, education and information, emergency management, 
and siren maintenance. More specifics regarding the community, a briefing on how we impacting 
over 8,000 children, the high school academy, inspection of businesses, public education 
appearances, ride outs, etc. Some brief statistics: 3,310 calls and a brief breakdown of where we 
are spending our time and reference to response times. Since 2009, there has been almost a 50 
percent increase in the call volume. The department has over 53 full time employees, including the 
SAFER positions. The new program funding is from SAFER; as well as being able to reallocate 
some money back into the Capital Projects Fund; working with Public Works on infrastructure 
projects, mid-level training for the Captains, master plan up for the fire training field, opened Fire 
House 3 and working on mitigation plans.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – the first bullet there is the Fire Bill we are working on. One of the 
things we noticed is it would be helpful to have letters from the three cities supporting this effort. I 
will ask for this support so that we can give it to Senator Nelson’s office.  The status of these is the 
Senate bill was assigned to the Intergovernmental Relations Committee and the House has assigned 
it to Urban Affairs and both have requested a hearing.  
 
Michael Ross, Fire Chief – the changes within the Fire Department has allowed a fresh look with 
a work study and I have restructured the Command Staff. I think it will be more efficient and allow 
us to focus on specific tasks that are needed. As part of this, Chad Thiessen has been promoted to 
Assistant Fire Chief. I am excited about this and believe it be a positive change.  
 
Mayor Heidemann - The prevention specialist is that like a fire inspector?  
 
Michael Ross, Fire Chief – Similar, yes. It is equivalent to Driver pay, so it is not that high in the 
organizational chart. The intent is to hire someone to go out and do the things that Assistant Chief 
Thiessen does out of the office allowing Assistant Chief Thiessen to work more with the staff. It is 
kind of like an inspector but he still has to be a certified firefighter, this will help us meet the 
requirements of our SAFER grant with the required number of certified firefighter personnel.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – This slide just highlights the three stations. Then the service agreement 
allocation will discuss things from a percentage standpoint. It seems there is not a lot of knowledge 
of what each city is paying for the fire service. This has been overlaid with the schedule for the end 
of this budget year.   
 
Councilmember Garber – A few years ago when we looked at residents and call volume as a 

31



 
 

percentage they kind of lined up, is this still the case? Are we still around 60 percent? 
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – I would have to go back and look. I think everything 
is still pretty consistent. I did not see anything when we ran the 2018 numbers.  
 
Councilmember Garber – I want to make sure we are monitoring. Corinth may be the largest, but 
if we see another city with a large surge we want to allocate that.  
 
Michael Ross, Fire Chief – one of the reports I run breaks this down by month what calls are ran 
in the four towns, as well as Denton City and Denton County and everyone else. The last line is a 
percentage change from last year. We track and trend this data. Some of the key things that we 
know we have to manage and mitigate response times was getting Fire House 3 open. We took a 
creative approach in attracting applicants by offering them options for scheduling their tests. We 
re-prioritized our equipment fund and are actively looking at ways to better utilize our funds. I have 
opened communication and dialogue with the other cities. The feedback I am receiving is positive.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – the third item is the structured agreement moving forward, will we 
continue to be a contract for services or some part of partnership agreement or separate and have 
different departments. There is a UTA class that is looking at the governance structures for this. It 
is an MPA program, but Wendy Withers, with Shady Shores is working on her MPA and she is in 
the class and on this project. This is why she will do the primary discussion on this. This also talks 
about what we are doing with planning, GIS, mowing, so it is more than just about fire. Hickory 
Creek is going to piggy back on our mowing contract. There is a lot of conversation going on right 
now. We will talk about different level of partnerships. At the end of April the students will give a 
report and then we will take it back to the Councils.  
 

4. Receive a presentation, hold a discussion, and provide staff direction on the 2019 Bond Sell.  

 
Bob Hart, City Manager – This is one that we need some firm direction on. On the Lake Sharon 
extension where we felt we were going to need some additional funds, are we going to have to 
rebid the project? 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – previously they felt they were going to have to rebid; however, 
the contractor moved forward and the bypass work was completed last week and they plan to finish 
the rest of the utility work as much as they can. There is a 12 inch water line that needs to be built 
on the project, but they cannot do it without having a grading contractor on the job. They are talking 
with a grading contractor to see if they will complete the work on this project. There will be more 
discussion later on tonight. I caution us on reducing this number due to the Lake Sharon/Dobbs Rd 
realignment project will cost a little more than anticipated.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – the storage tank was estimated at $3.7 million nine months ago. We 
are starting to see the impact of the steel tariffs with the cost of rebar. Staff is thinking through an 
alternative option that would take some of the Quail Run realignment and dump this into the TIF 
to get some County participation.  How good are our numbers going into the grant? 

 
George Marshall, City Engineer – There is $3.8 million going into the grant application. That 
number is only in here to assume that we do not get the grant and can try to move forward with part 
of the project and removing 70 homes out of the flood plain. If we do get the grant funding, then 
the money is not necessary except for overages on the project.   
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – on the debate on HB 2 and SB 2, the changes in the debt portion of the 

32



 
 

tax rate is exempted from any increases. Everything you are hearing in the legislature right now is 
on the operations and maintenance side, not the debt side, so you are not competing against this 
same 2.5 percent. A lot of the debate will shift from the House and they are now debating on what 
percent to cap it at. We have met with Moody’s and Standards and Poor and have reaffirmed our 
bond rating at AA with both agencies.  
 
Councilmember Garber – if all of this is done, what kind of capital projects does the city have in 
the next five years? 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – remember this is three years’ worth of capital projects that we have 
rolled into this one year.  
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – there are just a few projects in year four or five.  
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – The Parkridge sewer on the south end was not included in this 
listing.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – staff will try to get development participation and capital recovery 
fees. Walton is included in the TIF discussion. When the County put up the money for the train and 
a lot of the track, one of the agreements they received was if Corinth joined DCTA, then NTCOG 
would provide the money to build the station. I think we can incorporate that into the TIF, then the 
streets I mentioned came from the discussion with Andy Eads, the Mayor and I.  
 
Councilmember Glockel – the timing between the TIF and the money to be upfront, is there a clue 
as to how much money that is?  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – No there is not, I expect COG to put up the majority of the money and 
the EDC will be a big part of this. Then use the Hotel Occupancy Tax to help with the ramp up of 
money. We will be able to address the operating cost quicker than they think we will. On March 
4th with NCTC, we need to make sure we have them on board and their ten acres will be a part of 
the TIF because we will have to get the density up to make the rails station work. 
 
Councilmember Garber – so tonight, we need to give direction on this, when is this going to 
become cemented before or after the water rate discussion? 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – this will come back to you on March 7th.  
 
Councilmember Garber – when will Council discuss the water rates? 
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – the end of March or first of April.  
 
Councilmember Garber – I am concerned about the 7 percent increase in the water rate side and 
I have some ideas I would like to explore, but I do not think this will affect the fact that we need an 
elevated storage tank and then we still have budget to get through. We have to say this is something 
we are going to do because we have to make that decision now.   
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – The state is mandating the water tank.  
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Burke - Part of the Quail Run realignment goes with this.  
 
George Marshall, City Engineer – along with Lake Sharon, we have to run a 20 inch water line 

33



 
 

across I35 over to Quail Run.  
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Burk – so everything except Parkridge, is water tower funding on the water side.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - the impact to the water rates are these numbers here.  
 
Councilmember Garber – my question is; the city over collected last year and was so heavy on 
the top end I wanted to discuss that and doing research on our tax rate and water rates, best I can 
tell we have the highest water rates of other cities but also one of the lower city tax rates. Is there 
an opportunity to address some of this elevated storage tank because it is such a large capital 
expenditure out of our ad valorem tax rather than the water rate?  
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – That is always Council prerogative to do so, if you 
wanted to pay for a water project out of the general fund you could do so. I would prefer you put it 
in with the general debt and be included in the tax rate instead of doing a transfer from the general 
fund to the water fund. Basically include it in as a general project.  
 
Councilmember Garber – does this discussion and agreement need to happen before we approve 
this?  
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – No, we can handle that when we talk water rates and 
budget. I am pretty sure your $10 million for general debt will not have a tax rate impact on your 
general fund I & S rate. One of the options to Council is to defer those for two years and that is 
really what I would recommend because on year three the City’s debt falls off drastically. If you 
add that $5 million in, I don’t think you will have as big an impact on your tax rate as it would your 
water rate.  
 
Councilmember Garber – This is the potential impact as we sit today, but we still have to get 
through the water rates and budget discussions and see how things fair out and it may not look like 
this.  
 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance Director – Correct. Every year the money can be reallocated and 
shifted between the funds during budget discussions for the upcoming year.  
 
Bob Hart, City Manager – When you shift it you do not want to just transfer money. The 
transferring between funds would catch us on the structure of the SB 2 and HB 2 tax cap. 
 
Mayor Heidemann - asked for a consensus. Council gave consent to staff to proceed with the 2019 
Bond Sell.  
 

5. Discuss Regular Meeting Items on Regular Session Agenda, including the consideration of 

closed session items as set forth in the Closed Session agenda item below.   

 

Consent Item #3 Discussion: 

 

3. Consider and act on award of contract with WCD Enterprises LLC for grounds 

maintenance for Corinth City Hall and the Public Safety Facility.  

 
Councilmember Glockel – On item 3 & 4, is this what we sent out to the bidders? What did they 
see to bid off of? Was it a hard copy or online? Item #3 was for the Corinth City Hall and Public 
Safety Facility, as a contractor what would I have seen?  

34



 
 

 

Cody Collier, Public Works Director – Garrett with GIS provided aerial photos with redlines and 
calculated the square yardage area and we asked for a square yardage price.   
 
Councilmember Glockel – on the agenda item it talks about the first thing that went out to bid was 
City Hall and Public Safety Facility, WCD is the successful bidder, City Hall and it is not a big 
deal, but City Hall is slighted at 7,000 square foot on one slide and 6,832 on another slide, so if we 
get down to 6,832, I assume we are trying to get precise, is it 7,000 or 6,832? This is what the bid 
reflects. When you go through that bid, this item is for Public Safety Facility and City Hall, but 
item #4 is supposed to be for the Corinth Right of Way, Parks and Public Works Facility on page 
63. The contractor is now bidding Parks and Right of Way, if this came to me as a contractor you 
have ten items out of nine of which you want bids back on. Another page you have to check off 
what you want bids for and there are discrepancies in the square footage, locations, and names.  
 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director – this is not what the contractor bid was; each part was 
separated by bid tabs based on the name of the locations.  
 

Councilmember Glockel – when you go to streets, I could not find some of these streets. Did he 
have something that had streets on it or just an aerial photo with not one land mark? 
 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director – that is what they saw. They are invited to call and they 
have an opportunity to ask questions, contest the area calculations, or walk the locations. D&D has 
had this bid for two years, this will be their third year.  
 
Councilmember Glockel – next year, if we can put street references it would make it a lot easier. 
On the Right of Way, not one street is marked on any of these maps.  
 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director – in the front, there should be a legend map with each mow 
area assigned a particular color. The inner maps could not control all the information, so each mow 
area was designated a particular color that has the street references on the legend map. 
 
Councilmember Glockel – What is the square footage of City Hall? 
 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director – When the square footage is calculated staff tries to include 
the tree line in the back and to be fair to the contractor for the bid staff tries to estimate on the high 
side for the tree line.  

 

Consent Item #4 Discussion:  

 

4. Consider and act on award of contract with D&D Commercial Landscape Management for 
mowing and related maintenance to all Corinth Right of Ways, parks and the Public Works 

Facility.   

 
This item was discussed along with Item #3. See comments above.  
 

Consent Item #8 Discussion:  

 
8. Conduct a public hearing to consider testimony and take action upon a rezoning request for 

an approximately 24.197 acre tract of land to amend the PD, Planned Development District 

for the Millennium Mixed Use Development. The property is situation in the H. Garrison 

35



 
 

survey, Abstract Number 507, City of Corinth, Denton County, Texas and generally located 

at the northeast corner of IH35 and Dobbs Road. (Millennium PD Amendment).  

 
Bob Hart, City Manager – Councilmember Johnson has sent a statement to be read during the 
Council meeting on this item.  

 
Councilmember Glockel – I understand the parking and signage. I take offense to the third 
paragraph on page 133,  

 
“The original PD regulations pertaining to the required non-residential building space 
required failed to provide staff with the means to prohibit the issuance of a building permit 
for a second urban residential ‘multifamily’ structure which has led to some less than 
desirable outcomes.”  

 
Council made a motion that carried, but we did not write the proposal that failed to provide staff 
with the means to prohibit the issuance of the building permit. Staff failed to provide staff with the 
means to prohibit the issuance. We wanted it that way. I am not sure what that means apparently it 
was not written correctly so that you could not hold the second permit. That was the entire intent 
of that evenings negotiations was to have one of two units could be occupied and the other one 
could not be occupied until 15,000 square feet of commercial property was CO’ed. Council did not 
write that, so if something failed to give staff the proper tools to do that it was not Council. Council 
generally agreed but did not write it up.  

 
ADJOURN: 

 
Mayor Heidemann adjourned the meeting at 7:05 p.m. 
 
AYES: All 
 
Meeting adjourned. 
 
Approved by Council on the    day of    , 2019.  
 
 
       
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
City of Corinth, Texas 

36



   
    CONSENT ITEM    2.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: February 21, 2019 Regular Session Minutes
Submitted For: Kim Pence, City Secretary  Submitted By: Kim Pence, City Secretary
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Consider and act on minutes from the February 21, 2019 Regular Session.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Attached are the minutes from the February 21, 2019 Regular Session. The minutes are in draft form and are not
considered official until formally approved by the City Council.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval of the February 21, 2019 Regular Session minutes.

Attachments
Minutes 

37



 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DENTON 

CITY OF CORINTH 
 
On this the 21st day of February 2019 the City Council of the City of Corinth, Texas met in Regular Session at 
the Corinth City Hall at 7:00 P.M., located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, Texas. The meeting date, time, 
place and purpose as required by Title 5, Subtitle A, Chapter 551, Subchapter C, Section 551.041, Government 
Code, with the following members to wit: 
 
Members Present: 

Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
Sam Burke, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Scott Garber, Council Member 
Tina Henderson, Council Member 
Don Glockel, Council Member  
 
Members Absent: 

Lowell Johnson, Council Member  
 
Staff Members Present 

Bob Hart, City Manager 
Shea Rodgers, Technology Services Manager 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director  
Ben Rodriquez, Planning and Development Manager 
George Marshall, City Engineer 
Cleve Joiner, Building Official 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director 
Michael Ross, Fire Chief 
Chad Thiessen, Asst. Fire Chief 
Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Finance and Administrative Services Director 
Cody Collier, Public Works Director 
Jason Alexander, Economic Development Corporation Director 
Patricia Adams, Messer, Rockefeller, & Fort 
Kim Pence, City Secretary 
 
CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & TEXAS PLEDGE: 

"Honor the Texas Flag: I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible".  

 

Mayor Heidemann called the meeting to order at 7:10 p.m. Councilmember Garber delivered the 

invocation and led in the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted in one 

motion. Should the Mayor, a Councilmember, or any citizen desire discussion of any Item that Item will 

be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 

 

1. Consider and act on minutes from the January 24, 2019 Workshop Session. 
 
2. Consider and act on minutes from the January 24, 2019 Special Session. 
 
3. Consider and act on award of contract with WCD Enterprises LLC for grounds maintenance for 

38



 

 Corinth City Hall and the Public Safety Facility. 
 
4. Consider and act on award of contract with D&D Commercial Landscape Management for mowing 
 and related maintenance to all Corinth Rights of Way, parks and the Public Works Facility. 
 
5. Consider approval of an ordinance of the City of Corinth, Texas, amending Chapter 33 of the Corinth 
 Code of Ordinances, establishing the Finance Audit Committee, merging the duties, responsibilities, 
 and membership of the Investment Committee with those of the Audit Committee; establishing its 
 membership, procedures and terms of office; and providing an effective date. 
 
6. Consider and act on a Resolution approving an Interlocal Agreement with 1Government Procurement 
 Alliance (1GPA) for the purpose of cooperative purchasing. 
 
7. Consider and act on an Interlocal Cooperative Purchasing Program Agreement by and between the 
 City of Corinth and Lake Dallas Independent School District (ISD). 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. Seconded by 
Councilmember Glockel. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
CITIZEN'S COMMENTS: 

In accordance with the Open Meetings Act, Council is prohibited from acting on or discussing (other than 
factual responses to specific questions) any items brought before them at this time. Citizen's comments will be 
limited to 3 minutes. Comments about any of the Council agenda items are appreciated by the Council and 
may be taken into consideration at this time or during that agenda item. Please complete a Public Input form 
if you desire to address the City Council. All remarks and questions addressed to the Council shall be addressed 
to the Council as a whole and not to any individual member thereof. Section 30.041B Code of Ordinance of 
the City of Corinth. 
 

There were no Citizens Comments. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: 

 

8.  Conduct a public hearing to consider testimony and take action upon a rezoning request for an 
 approximately 24.197 acre tract of land to amend the PD, Planned Development District for the 
 Millennium Mixed Use Development. The property is situated in the H. Garrison Survey, 
 Abstract Number 507, City of Corinth, Denton County, Texas and generally located at the 
 northeast corner of IH35 and Dobbs Road. (Millennium PD Amendment). 
 
 Ben Rodriquez, Planning and Development Manager - The Applicant is requesting an 
 amendment to the Planned Development District to provide clarity on a few of the provisions of  the 
 Planned Development Regulations as well as to address the eventual abandonment of Dobbs Road in 
 the future and to revise the parking standards for the development. 
  
 The proposed amendment revises the parking ratios for restaurants from 1 parking space per 75 square 
 feet to one space per 100 square feet, additionally the proposal exempts kitchen areas from the parking 

39



 

 calculation requirements. Finally, the amendment revises the parking ratios for conference rooms 
 attached to a hotel or motel, by counting parking spaces utilized by the hotel to count towards the 
 requirements for the conference rooms. 
  
 Staff is supportive of this proposed amendment, due to the shared nature of the parking for the 
 entire development staff feels that there will be adequate parking for restaurants. Furthermore, the 
 City’s base code does not require parking spaces to be provided for kitchen areas, which  prompted 
 staff to recommend the removal of these areas from the PD language. 
  
 Staff also proposed that there be no additional parking requirements for conference rooms built 
 within a hotel. Typically, the occupants of the associated conference rooms are also guests at the 
 hotel housing the conference rooms, and requiring that both the hotel and conference rooms be 
 parked independently from one another results in an over parking situation. Staff would prefer to see 
 these spaces remain as open green space that can be utilized by the hotel occupants and other users 
 within the development. 
  
 The original PD required that an approved unified sign plan be approved prior to the 
 construction of any monument signs or directional signs on the property, the applicant has taken 
 this opportunity to include their proposed signs and well as their proposed locations on the 
 property in this PD amendment for approval. The proposed amendment accommodates their 
 desired design by allowing for additional square footage to be dedicated to an electronic message 
 board sign, as well as reduce the setback for monument signs to complement the urban design of the 
 property. Any proposed signage will still be required to adhere to the City’s fifteen foot  visibility 
 triangle requirements to ensure that any of the proposed signage does not create a visibility issue for 
 vehicles exiting the development. 
  
 The proposed amendment provides clarity on a few provisions of the Planned Development, 
 most notably the provision which requires that a minimum of 15,000 square feet of non- residential 
 building space receive a Certificate of Occupancy prior to the second urban residential “multifamily” 
 structure receiving a Certificate of Occupancy. The proposed amendment changes this requirement 
 from stating that 15,000 square feet of non-residential space needing a Certificate of Occupancy to 
 needing an issued building permit. 
  
 The original PD regulations pertaining to the required non-residential building space required 
 failed to provide staff with the means to prohibit the issuance of a building permit for a second 
 urban residential “multifamily” structure which has led to some less than desirable outcomes. 
 Currently, the applicant has invested a significant sum of money in two urban residential 
 “multifamily” structures without the ability to occupy the second structure. The proposed 
 amendment will allow the applicant to lease these units approximately 6-9 months sooner than 
 currently written. 
  
 The proposed change still requires that the applicant receive an approved site plan for the non-
 residential areas of the development as well have approved construction plans for their public 
 improvements (water, sewer, drainage, fire lanes etc.), as well as their buildings with the only 
 difference being the time it takes to construct these improvements and non-residential structures. 
 Staff feels that this is a fair and balanced approach to the issue. 
  
 Finally, staff and the developer have taken the opportunity to correct some of the grammatical 
 and spelling mistakes that were present within the original text. 
 
 At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on January 28, 2019 the Commission voted 

40



 

 unanimously to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the Millennium Planned 
 Development District. Staff recommends approval as presented. 
 
 Doug Powell, G&A/McAdams - all the projects have been working slower than I think the 
 developer would have liked. Things have been taking place, not as quickly as he had hoped. Early on 
 the developer put in a lot of infrastructure that they might not have if they were just going to sell off 
 the residential, they would not have had to do what they have done, the same owner the same 
 developer, they are here for the long term to develop this project.  
 
 Councilmember Garber - can you quantify the financial investment that has been made, not 
 including the land but the infrastructure, the buildings, building permits, anything related to non-
 residential construction to this point? 
 
 Doug Powell, G&A/McAdams - I have not been working on this project long enough to see those 
 numbers. The developer may have those numbers.  
 
 William Tsao, Developer - the Millennium started in October 2017.This mixed-use development is 
 not just a residential component. We are expecting to open in the first quarter of 2020.  
 
 Councilmember Glockel - assuming you have the building permit in the next couple of weeks, what 
 kind of timeline do you think it would be to complete the dog park and the wedding venue and have 
 them operational? 
 
 William Tsao, Developer - we have a construction schedule, for the dog park it will be seven (7) 
 months and the wedding venue will be complete in nine (9) months. The Doggies Wonderland should 
 be open to the public in the fourth quarter of this year and the wedding venue will be in the first quarter 
 of 2020.  
 
 Councilmember Glockel - what is the timeline on Fairfield Inn? 
 
 Jason Alexander, Economic Development Director - they are supposed to be up and running by 
 October 1, 2020. 
 
 Councilmember Glockel - approximately how far are they out on a building permit? 
 
 Ben Rodriquez, Planning and Development Manager - they will probably begin construction within 
 the next month to month in a half.  Similar construction timeline for their public improvements so 
 about six to seven months on that and then they can start beginning on their building. Staff would like 
 them to start construction on their building once they have paved access to the site and water access 
 to the site prior to construction so it would be sometime in the fourth quarter of this year.  
 
 Councilmember Glockel - I think the dilemma here was that we had this agreement that you could 
 build both buildings and you could occupy either one of them but one was the magic number until you 
 had 15,000 square feet and your request tonight is we waive that original agreement that we has and 
 allow you to proceed with the second apartment complex with only the building permit for the wedding 
 venue and the dog center, is that what you are asking? 
 
 William Tsao, Developer - yes. I'm not 100% sure, it is my understanding from the Council meeting 
 at that time, it was under my impression he was talking about the building permit approval for 15,000 
 square feet of the commercial component. Based on my development experience, if I get two buildings 
 completely built and CO'd  before I can get the timeline, I will foresee the lapse of the timing, we will 

41



 

 have a vacant building sitting there without the benefit of bring more traffic and more consumers to 
 the Millennium development. 
 
 Councilmember Glockel - Fairfield is a Marriot flag and you just don't see that setting out by itself, 
 so what is the plan for them to have food service? 
  

 William Tsao, Developer - Fairfield is a limited service hotel, they don't have food service. The intent 
 is to attract other restaurants to the site so that hotel guest don't have to get back in their cars to go find 
 food.  
 
 Councilmember Glockel - you have been introduced several times in organizations I have been in 
 and you serve on some very significant boards and you are a very honorable individual, you have 
 reached out to help the city on various projects. I don't want to sit here and say we had a deal and that 
 is the way it's going to be because it does not seem to benefit either one of us. What if we threw in the 
 Fairfield permit too, that you can't build until that permit is done. I believe you could probably 
 influence that even though you may not own that piece of land anymore. 
 
 William Tsao, Developer - I think he would listen to the Marriot more than he would listen to me 
 because Marriot has the right to pull his flag. 
 
 Mayor Heidemann - can you give us an idea of your first building that is completed now and have 
 you started leasing those? 
 
 William Tsao, Developer - we are starting to tie down the details required by the city about three 
 weeks ago. We have four to five visitors a day and today we have pre-leased thirteen (13) units and 
 next week we have scheduled 36 visitors. So the interest is there.  
 
 Councilmember Henderson - I am looking at what these people are paying for rent, for the nail spa 
 it is $45, "per square foot" the doggy wonderland is $24 "per square foot" and the wedding venue is 
 $31, "per square foot" that seems to be really high. Is there a reason we could not entice people to 
 come, could you work with those numbers and get those  down to be more competitive with the 
 market? 
 
 William Tsao, Developer - we have gone through an exercise because the construction cost versus 
 the financing to get the project built and currently we market the property for $26.00  to $27.00 "per 
 square foot" just to make the construction cost and the real estate cost break even for rent. Sharing the 
 common facility can reduce the financial burden to the smaller operator or participant or person or 
 realtor. 
 
 Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 8:10 p.m. Mayor read Councilmember 
 Johnson's letter into the record.  

 

 I am unhappy the Council is reviewing, for possible change, the section of the Millennium 
 PD Ordinance requiring Mr. Tsao build and occupy 15,000 sq/ft of retail or commercial space 
 before he is allowed a CO for his second apartment building. 
 
 Mr. Tsao was aware of the requirements he agreed to at his original PD hearing. The P&Z 
 hearing prior to the Council hearing asked he be required to build and occupy 25,000 sq/ft of 
 retail and/or commercial space before his second building was released for use. This 
 requirement was placed on the PD to prevent Mr. Tsao from building an apartment complex in a wheat 
 field and leaving the City of Corinth with more apartments and no appreciable gain in revenue, outside 

42



 

 of ad valorem taxes. 
 
 Mr. Tsao has been his own worst enemy in his attempts to develop the property around the 
 Millennium addition. Local Commercial real estate brokers have been reporting he is asking 
 $20-$25 sq/ft for property in the development, which is about twice the current market price of 
 $12 sq/ft.  
 
 There have been interested parties look at possibly building in the addition until the negotiated 
 price comes out and they have all moved on, some completely out of Corinth. Mr. Tsao has 
 been unable to keep a marketing company under contract because his price requirements are so high 
 the companies are unable to develop leads.  
 
 I know Mr. Tsao has devised a plan to skirt the 15,000 sq/ft requirement by building and operating 
 enough commercial property through his other family businesses such as the “Doggie Wonderland” 
 which is a similar business to ones he operates elsewhere in the Metroplex. 
 
 The citizens of Corinth do not want any more apartment housing in the City. This comment 
 has been repeated over and over and continues to be brought up every time a new developer 
 comes to town, wanting to build high density apartment projects. One of the ways we have 
 tried to gain acceptance of the apartments is by placing requirements in our PD contracts for 
 these developers to build and occupy retail/commercial businesses, in order to diversify our tax base 
 and avoid the constraints caused by things like tax caps.   
 

 Mayor Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 8:12 p.m. 

 
 William Tsao, Developer - I tried to show Mr. Johnson the construction cost and the market rent, 
 those are suggested by a market expert.  
 

 MOTION made by Councilmember Glockel to resend our requirement for 15,000 square foot of 
 commercial property as the original PD and modify that to the building permits are to be issued for 
 both the doggy park and the wedding venue and both of those are to be built in this calendar year 
 pending a tremendous amount of bad weather. Seconded by Councilmember Garber 
 
 Bob Hart, City Manager - there were other components of the request by the applicant dealing with 
 parking and so forth. 
 

MOTION AND SECOND WITHDREW 

 

 MOTION made by Councilmember Glockel to accept the changes on the PD as stated and will 
 require a building permit for the wedding venue and the dog park before anyone is to move into the 
 second unit and complete both of those in a nine month period after receiving a permit.  
 
 Councilmember Garber - was there anything in that original motion that would be different than 
 we accept as presented with the intent that it will be completed within nine (9) months? 
 
 Ben Rodriquez, Planning Manager - the only change is the intent within nine (9) months. Staff's 
 question would be in the event that does not occur what happens then? 
 
 Councilmember Garber - I think that is my question with the second. I think maybe we can just 
 make it part of the record that he has provided that intent and we can just approve as presented. 
 

43



 

 Councilmember Glockel - I don't have a problem with that. I don't see a problem either way it is fine 
 with me.  
 
 Patricia Adams, City Attorney - I think approving as presented with that one modification with the 
 building permit to remove the requirement for the CO that would do it.  
 
 MOTION made by Councilmember Glockel to accept the changes on the PD as presented. Seconded 
 by Councilmember Burke.  
 
 AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
 NOES:  None 
 ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
9. Conduct a public hearing to consider testimony and take action upon an amendment to the City's 
 Unified Development Code, Section 4-Sign and Fence Screening Regulations, Subsection 4.01 sign 
 regulations to amend the City's regulations on inflatable "balloon" signs.  
 
 Ben Rodriquez, Planning Manager - Staff has received multiple requests from businesses adjacent 
 to IH 35 inquiring about placing inflatable balloon signs on their property to promote sales events for 
 a temporary period of time. Currently Balloon signs are only allowed during grand opening events for 
 a period of 30 days. 
 
 During the City Council work session on January 10, 2019 staff presented its research of other cities 
 in the metroplex’s regulations regarding inflatable signage to seek direction on if staff should proceed 
 with amendments to our Code of Ordinances to allow balloon signs during limited periods of the year 
 or all businesses. Following staff’s presentation Council directed staff to proceed with an amendment.  
 
 Based on staff’s research staff recommends that the City follow the City of Plano’s standards which 
 allows for inflatable signs for two (2), fourteen day (14) periods per twelve (12) month period. 
 

 At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on January 28, 2019 the Commission voted 
 unanimously to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the City's signage standards for 
 inflatable signs. 
 
 Staff recommends approval as presented. 
 
 Councilmember Henderson - we have businesses now that already put those up so how is this going 
 to be different? 
 
 Ben Rodriquez, Planning Manager - today they are only allowed to have them up during grand 
 opening events or if there was a significant remodel and they were doing a grand opening. As far as 
 business that may have them up today, I can't say that they were permitted. We would have to address 
 that through Code Enforcement. This would provide mechanism for local businesses to get a permit 
 to place a balloon on a temporary basis.  
 
 Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 8:30 p.m. No one spoke during the public 
 hearing. Mayor Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 8:30 p.m. 

 
 MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember 

44



 

 Burke. 
 
 AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
 NOES:  None 
 ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
10. Conduct a public hearing to consider testimony and take action upon a proposed amendment to the 
 City's Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.09: Zoning Development 
 Regulations, 2.09.01 Landscaping Regulations, and 2.09.02 Tree Preservation. 
 
 Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning and Development Director - Staff is proposing amendments to the 
 City’s Landscaping and Tree preservation ordinance.  
 
 The changes to the City’s Landscaping Ordinance are to provide for landscaped edge areas for 
 residential subdivisions adjacent to City  Thoroughfares. 
  
 The Intent of this change is to provide an area of green space between the sidewalk and masonry 
 screening walls required for the perimeter of residential subdivisions. Staff is hopeful that this will 
 help mitigate the “canyon effect” while driving down the road between screening walls.  
  
 Staff is also proposing a revision to the required trees per residential lot so that the required caliper 
 inches of trees and number of shrubs scales up based on the size of the lot. 
  
 Additionally, staff is proposing quantifying a fee per caliper inch for tree mitigation. Currently the 
 code requires that an applicant receive a quote from a City approved arborist for the cost to replace 
 trees removed. 
   
 The current policy is burdensome on applicants and makes for a very convoluted process. Staff 
 researched numerous municipalities within the Metroplex and has determined that a price of $150 per 
 caliper inch would place us in the middle of what other cities charge. Additionally, this will ensure 
 that Corinth’s procedures are similar to the majority of other Cities within the Metroplex which makes 
 for an easier process for applicants to navigate through. 
 
 At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on January 28, 2019 the Commission voted to 
 unanimously recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the City's Unified Development 
 Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.09: Zoning Development  Regulations, 2.09.01 Landscaping 
 Regulations, and 2.09.02 Tree Preservation. Staff recommends approval as presented. 
 
 Mayor Heidemann opened the Public Hearing at 8:36 p.m. No one spoke during the public 

 hearing. Mayor Heidemann closed the Public Hearing at 8:36 p.m. 

 
 MOTION made by Councilmember Burke to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember 
 Henderson. 
 
 AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
 NOES:  None 
 ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

45



 

 

BUSINESS AGENDA: 

 
11. Consider and act on Amending the Corinth Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150, Adopting the 2018 
 International Construction Codes with Local Amendments, Standards, Certain Appendices; 
 Including the Building Code; Residential Building Code; Fire Code; Plumbing Code; Fuel Gas 
 Code; Mechanical Code; Energy Code; Existing Building Code; Fire Code; Property Maintenance 
 Code and the 2017 National Electrical Code. 
 
 Cleve Joiner, Building Official - The last update to the construction codes for the City of Corinth 
 was August 24, 2017.  At that time, the City Council approved the 2015 edition of the International 
 Codes and the 2014 National Electric Code with the North Central Texas Council of Governments 
 (NCTCOG) amendments. Staff is now presenting the 2018 International Codes along with the 2017 
 National Electric Code (NEC) with NCTCOG amendments to the City Council for adoption. 
  
 Insurance Service Office (ISO) - ISO collects information useful in many aspects of insurance 
 underwriting. That information includes evaluations of public fire protection, flood risk, and the 
 adoption and enforcement of building codes in individual communities. Information on municipal 
 services helps the communities with their efforts to manage and mitigate their risk.  ISO performs the 
 evaluations as a service to the insurance industry as numerous insurance companies use the ISO ratings 
 to calculate individual property insurance premiums. There are two key components to an ISO 
 evaluation.  The first is the Public Protection Classification (PPC). ISO uses the PPC to evaluate 
 municipal fire-protection efforts in communities throughout the United States.  Insurance companies 
 use PPC information to help establish fair premiums for fire insurance generally offering lower 
 premiums in communities with better protection.  Many communities use the PPC as a benchmark for 
 measuring the effectiveness of their fire-protection services which includes fire code adoption, fire 
 inspections, and plan reviews. The PPC program is also a tool that helps communities plan for, budget, 
 and justify improvements.  Recently, the Lake Cities Fire Department PPC was upgraded to a 2 (on a 
 scale of 1-10, 1 being the best – 10 being the worst) which for the region is an excellent score.  
  
 The second component is the Building Code Effectiveness Grading Schedule (BCEGS).  The ISO 
 assesses the building codes in effect in individual communities and how those communities enforce 
 their building codes. The assessments place special emphasis on mitigation of losses from natural 
 hazards. The concept is simple: municipalities with well-enforced, up-to-date codes should 
 demonstrate better loss experience, and insurance rates can reflect that. The prospect of lessening 
 catastrophe-related damage and ultimately lowering insurance costs provides an incentive for 
 communities to enforce their building codes.  Generally, the ISO performs these services on a five-
 year rotation.  If the building codes are not current or over one cycle (three years) then the ISO will 
 lower the rating of the community until a more current code is adopted. The BCEGS can affect the 
 PPC rating and combined has the potential, if codes are not current, to raise insurance premiums for 
 fire, catastrophic weather loss as well as flood insurance for constituents.    
  
 ANALYSIS 

 Staff requests City Council approval of the ordinances adopting the referenced codes and standards. 
 The new codes are necessary to ensure that the City keep pace with state law, changing technology 
 and practices of the construction industry. State law requires adoption of the International Building 
 Codes but allows for local amendments. The International Code Council (ICC) updates the model 
 codes every three years. Typically, there is a one-year delay in a City’s code adoption process because 
 NCTCOG assembles building officials from participating North Texas cities to discuss the updated 
 changes and consider recommended local amendments. 
  

46



 

 NCTCOG representing 16 counties and 168 cities finalized their recommended local amendments in 
 September 2018. Staff, in keeping with surrounding cities and NCTCOG’s, proposed local 
 amendments is requesting to update the construction and fire codes to the 2018 edition with local 
 amendments.  The NEC is on a different three-year rotation making the 2017 edition the most current 
 NEC. 
  
 The State adopted the 2015 International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) and the energy efficiency 
 Chapter 11 of the International Residential Code (IRC) and signed both into law on January 5, 2016.  
 The residential provisions were made effective September 1, 2016 and the Commercial provisions 
 were made effective November 1, 2016.   
 
 The original NCTCOG recommended amendments to the 2015 IECC and Chapter 11 of the IRC were 
 analyzed and deemed less stringent than the provisions of the 2015 IECC adopted by the State and 
 therefore are no longer considered recommended amendments.  The 2018 IECC has some carry over 
 amendments from the 2015 IECC allowing more options for energy conservation. 
  
 The following table is a list of surrounding cities and the current adopted codes for those cities:  
 
 City     International Codes    National Electric Code  
 Denton      2012       2011  
 Lewisville     2015       2014  
 Flower Mound     2015       2014  
 Highland Village    2015       2014  
 Plano      2018       2017  
 The Colony     2012       2011  
 Frisco      2015       2014  
 Coppell     2015       2014  
 Carrollton     2012       2011  
 Hickory Creek     2015       2014  
 Lake Dallas     2015       2017  
 Shady Shores     2009       2011  
  
 Listed below are some of the specific changes to the 2018 editions of the International Codes since 
 the city’s 2015 code adoption that will go into effect with Council approval.   
 
 Items followed with an * are specific to the City of Corinth. 
  
 2018 International Building Code (IBC) 

 
 Assembly Occupancies on Roofs – New classifications based on use of the main structure to increase 
 Fire & Life Safety measures. 
 
• Greenhouse classifications base on use Assembly, Mercantile or Agricultural all have separate new Life 
Safety provisions. 
• Storage rooms are now classified as part of the main occupancy use regardless of the size.  
• Hospital & Assisted Living occupancies now have stricter smoke control, exit corridor protections. 
• Occupant Load factor for B - Occupancies increased, more restrictive 
• Owner occupied, and Bed & Breakfast uses can remain classified as residential when aggregate number of 
persons does not exceed 10 persons. 
• Significant codes regarding building design of wood and Heavy Timber structures aligning with advances in 
the industry. 

47



 

• Elevator and Conveying Systems required enhancements for accessible (ADA) elevators 
• Regulations on Relocatable Buildings (Modular) to provide clear and consistent direction on relocation. 
• Additional requirements for worker safety on multi-story buildings  
• ASTM Referenced for the installation standards for fencing* 
 
APPENDICES: 

• Appendix C – U-Occupancies – Agricultural Structures 
• Appendix E – Supplementary Accessibility Requirements 
• Appendix F – Rodent Proofing 
• Appendix G – Flood-Resistant Construction 
• Appendix I – Patio Covers 
• Appendix J – Grading 
• Appendix K -Administrative Provisions (Electrical)  
  
2018 International Residential Code 

• Energy Efficiency Chapter deleted, already within the 2018 International Energy Code 
• Appendix H – Patio Covers 
• Appendix I – Private Sewage Disposal  
• Appendix J – Existing Buildings & Structures 
• Appendix K – Sound Transmission 
• Appendix L – Permit Fees (used for all valuation based Building Permits) 
• Appendix M – Home Day Care – R-3 Occupancies 
•Appendix N – Venting Methods 
• Appendix O – Automatic Vehicle Gates 
• Appendix P – Piping Methods 
• Appendix Q – Tiny Houses 
• Appendix T – Solar Ready Provision* 
 
 2018 International Mechanical Code (IMC) 

• No significant changes 
 
 2018 International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) 

  
Residential 
• Slight increase in Energy Rating Index 
 
APPENDICES  

• Appendix RA – Solar Ready Provisions* 
 
Commercial  
• New limits on Heated & Cooled Vestibules ◦Appendix CA – Solar Ready Provisions* 
 
 2018 International Fuel Gas Code (IFGC) 

• No Significant Changes 
  
2018 International Fire Code (IFC) 

• Higher Education Laboratories with certain provisions can be classified as a Business use no longer 
hazardous occupancies 
• Requires Mobile Food Trucks Inspections, cooking equipment & propane 
• New Provisions for high piled combustible storage 
• Sprinkler retrofits for A-3 occupancies serving alcohol beverages – Occupancy 300 or more 

48



 

• New chapter added on energy systems 
• Gas detection systems revised throughout the Fire Code 
• New stricter provisions on manual fire alarm systems 
• New illumination of exit discharge paths to the public way 
• New fire & life safety provisions for indoor and outdoor assembly events including trade shows and 
exhibitions 
 
• New provisions on decorative material ◦Appendix B – Fire Flow Requirements for Buildings 
◦ Appendix D – Fire Apparatus Access Roads 
◦ Appendix E – Hazard Categories 
◦ Appendix F – Hazard Rankings 
◦ Appendix G – Cryogenic Fluids 
 
 2018International Plumbing Code (IPC) 

• Minimum number of required plumbing fixtures revised 
• Solar thermal heating systems compliance standards added 
 
APPENDICIES 
• Appendix C – Structural Safety 
• Appendix E – Pipe Sizing 
 
 2018 International Existing Building Code (IEBC) 

• Chapters reconfigured 
• No significant changes 
• Appendix B – Supplementary Accessibility Requirements 
• Appendix C – Wind Retrofit of Existing Buildings 
 
 
•International Property Maintenance Code (IPC) 
•No significant changes 
 
 2017 National Electrical Code (NFPA 70) 

 
•Required exterior service disconnects for firefighter operations safety* 
• Limits the number of service disconnect (meters) per service connection* 
• Requires copper wiring only other than service connects and main feed lines* 
• Licensing requires work to be performed by a State Licensed Electrician exempting homeowners however    
not owners of rental properties 
 
 * Items specific to the City of Corinth 
 
• Required exterior service disconnect for firefighter operations safety* 
The item is designed for firefighter safety by having a direct disconnect after the meter gives a high level of 
assurance that the interior is safe from electrocution.  The practice has been mainly with commercial 
occupancies however, statistically more firefighters are injured during residential fire operations.  The NEC 
allows either interior or exterior where our local requirement would be to the exterior.   
 
 • Limits the number of service disconnect (meters) per service connection* 
 
These limits as part of the NEC local practice has deleted three exceptions that do not apply to the region. 
 

49



 

• Requires copper wiring only other than service connects and main feed lines* 
 
The requirement of copper wiring is a holdover from years of issues with other conductors such as aluminum.  
 
• Appendix RA (Residential) Appendix CA (Commercial) – Solar Ready Provision* 
 
The provision is a very basic tool that requires the architect to show the potential locations for solar 
(photovoltaic-PV) locations.  The property owner will have a record of those desired locations should they 
choose to install.  The provision does not affect orientation of the building and/or zoning.  The City SolSmart  
designation of Gold will be retained with adoption.     
 
• ASTM Referenced for the installation standards for fencing*  
 
The codes exempt out fences as requiring a permit. Most cities within the metro-plex have fencing 
requirements however, have no guidance as to the proper installation at times leaving customers with 
substandard workmanship without adopting a standard.  ASTM has two separate standards for wooden fencing 
and chain link fencing.  Those standards are nationally recognized, and part of this adoption request inserted 
into the IBC & IRC. 
  
The 2018 Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) is a companion document that establishes the broad purpose of 
the code to protect the public health, safety and welfare in both existing residential and nonresidential 
structures and premises.  Specifically, there are maintenance standards for basic equipment, light, ventilation, 
heating, sanitation and life safety.  The IPMC places responsibility on the owners, operators and occupants to 
follow code, regulate the use of structures and provides administration, enforcement and penalties.  The City 
of Corinth has standards in place via Chapter 94 of the Corinth Code of Ordinances, for that purpose redundant 
codes have been deleted in the 2018 Property Maintenance Code adoption.   
  
2018 International Swimming Pool and Spa Code (ISPSC)  

• No Significant Changes 
 
It is City staff’s recommendation that the City Council adopt the 2018 International Construction Codes, 2018 
International Fire Code, 2017 National Electric Code with the local Amendments and standards as set forth in 
the caption above. 
 
Mayor Heidemann - what influence does this have on our ISO Rating? 
 
Chad Thiessen, Assistant Fire Chief - they recommend that we are up to code with the current year. This 
will help our ISO. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Henderson. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
12. Consider and act on an Ordinance to amend the prima facie speed limit of FM 2499, within the City 
 of Corinth, to 45 mph. 
 
George Marshall, City Engineer - after opening FM 2499 TxDOT performed a speed study and determined 

50



 

that the roadway north of FM 2181 should be 50 MPH. On September 20, 2018 City Council approved the 
increased speed limit for this section of FM 2499.  Since that time, the City of Denton requested that TxDOT 
review some new data.  After review TxDOT is now recommending this segment of roadway to be 45 mph.  
 
Analysis:  
The City of Denton sent TxDOT a listing of accidents along FM 2499, and requested if TxDOT could reduce 
the speed limit along FM 2499 by 5 miles in the southern section of the newly constructed FM 2499 (from 50 
mph to 45 mph), due to the horizontal curves and sight distance issues which resulted in several accidents in 
2018 along the roadway. TxDOT reevaluated the study and reduced the speed limits from 50 mph to 45 mph 
(from MP 3.810 to MP 4.811). Since the small portion of the roadway in the City of Corinth (0.717 miles) was 
50 mph also, and at Mile Point 5.528 it would change to 45 mph again, TxDOT wanted to make it consistent 
with the rest of the roadway, and changed that speed limit to 45mph in that section in the City of Corinth also, 
so the speed limit would not change from 45 mph to 50 mph and then 45 mph for less than a mile to confuse 
the drivers. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Garber to approve as presented. Seconded by Councilmember Glockel. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
13. Consider and act on approving an Ordinance amending Section 33.02, “Purpose and Duties” of the 
 section entitled “Keep Corinth Beautiful Commission” of Chapter 33, Boards, Commissions  and 
 Departments of Title III, “Administration” of the Corinth Code of Ordinances to repeal 
 subsections 33.02 (A)(6) and (A)(7) and to adopt a new Section 33.02 “Purpose and Duties” of 
 Section 33 of Title III, of the Code of Ordinances; providing for the Incorporation of Premises; 
 providing Amendments and Severability; and providing an Effective Date. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - The Keep Corinth Beautiful Commission (KCB) met on January 15th to discuss 
the Master Trail Plan as outlined with Chapter 33 Section 33.02 "Purpose and Duties". They were informed 
the Planning & Development Department was working on a Master Trail Plan update and requested to be a 
part of the discussion, but felt staff was more knowledgeable and better equipped for this task and requested 
staff to change their ordinance. This ordinance revision removes the required duties of the (KCB) to review 
and recommend a trail plan to the City Council and their responsibility to identify and recommend specific 
open space and trail corridor sites to the City Council for acquisition and development.   
 
Upon review of the ordinance the City Attorney revised Section (b) by removing the power of the word "shall" 
and changing it to the words "shall be authorized to establish sub-committees". This change was made due to 
the small size of the board and their inability to create subcommittees. This change relaxes the requirement to 
have a subcommittee by this board. 
 
MOTION made by Councilmember Burke to approve Ordinance amending Section 33.02, “Purpose and 
Duties” of the section entitled “Keep Corinth Beautiful Commission” of Chapter 33, Boards, Commissions  
and Departments of Title III, “Administration” of the Corinth Code of Ordinances to repeal subsections 33.02 
(A)(6) and (A)(7) and to adopt a new Section 33.02 “Purpose and Duties” of Section 33 of Title III, of the 
Code of Ordinances; providing for the Incorporation of Premises; providing Amendments and Severability; 
and providing an Effective Date. Seconded by Councilmember Henderson. 
 
AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 

51



 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS & FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

The purpose of this section is to allow each councilmember the opportunity to provide general updates and/or 
comments to fellow councilmembers, the public, and/or staff on any issues or future events. Also, in 
accordance with Section 30.085 of the Code of Ordinances, at this time, any Councilmember may direct that 
an item be added as a business item to any future agenda. 
 
Councilmember Garber - we just had our Finance Audit meeting prior to this and to say it went very well 
would be an understatement. I cannot wait to get to brag on the staff more when Council officially receives 
that reward.   
 
Councilmember Glockel - thanked the staff input and tonight has been a busy night and I know there was a 
few items that I was concerned about and I don't mean that personal to anyone. 
 
Bob Hart, City Manager - wanted to remind Council of the Joint meeting with the Lake Cities Council's on 
Monday at 6:00 p.m. at the public safety building. We will also have a Joint meeting with NCTC Board of 
Regents in Gainesville on Monday, March 4th. March 4th is also the first day the new Police Chief begins.  
 
Mayor Heidemann - on March 1st we have our Fire Department badge pinning and 60th Anniversary.   
 
Mayor Heidemann recessed the Regular Session at 8:48 p.m. * See Closed Session 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

The City Council will convene in such executive or (closed session) to consider any matters regarding any of 
the above agenda items as well as the following matters pursuant to Chapter 551 of the Texas Government 
Code. 
 
Section 551.071, (1) Private consultation with its attorney to see advice about pending or contemplated 
litigation; and/or settlement offer; and/or (2) a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the government body 
under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas clearly conflicts with 
the Texas Open Meetings Act.  
 
Council met in Closed Session from 9:08 p.m. until 9:12 p.m. 

 

A. MCM Contract for Lake Sharon Roadway Extension. 
 

Section 551.074, to deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or 
dismissal of a public officer or employee; or to hear a complaint or charge against an officer or employee. 
 
After discussion of any matters in closed session, any final action or vote taken will be in public by the City 
Council. City Council shall have the right at any time to seek legal advice in Closed Session from its Attorney 
on any agenda item, whether posted for Closed Session or not, pursuant to Section 551.071 of the Texas 
Government Code, Consultation with City Attorney. 
 

RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION - In accordance with Texas Government Code, Chapter 551 the City 
Council will reconvene into Special Session to consider action, if any, on matters discussed in Executive 

52



 

Session.  
 
12. Consider and take action regarding the contract between the City and MCM for construction of the 
 Lake Sharon Project, the termination and /or assignment of the contract and other related documents. 
 
 MOTION made by Councilmember Burke to authorize the City Manager to complete negotiation of 
 the Agreed Termination, Assignment, Release and Tender Agreement for Paving, Drainage and Water 
 Improvements for Lake Sharon Drive as addressed in closed session, execute the document and 
 bring the final negotiated agreement back to Council for ratification. Seconded by Councilmember 
 Henderson. 
 
 AYES:  Burke, Garber, Henderson, Glockel 
 NOES:  None 
 ABSENT: Johnson 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

 
ADJOURN: 
 
Mayor Heidemann adjourned the meeting at 9:15 P.M. 
 
AYES: All 
 
Meeting adjourned. 
 
Approved by Council on the    day of    , 2019.  
 
 
       
Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
City of Corinth, Texas 

53



   
    CONSENT ITEM    3.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Interlocal Cooperative Agreement Between Corinth and Lake Dallas ISD Shady Shores

Elementary School
Submitted For: Cody Collier, Director  Submitted By: Cody Collier, Director
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government
Regional Cooperation

AGENDA ITEM
Consider and act on approval of an Interlocal Agreement between the City of Corinth and the Lake Dallas ISD to
utilize the Shady Shores Elementary School to host the Corinth Recreation Department Summer Camp Program. 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
The City of Corinth has hosted our annual Sumer Camp Program at the Ronnie Crownover Middle School since
its construction.  This year, The Recreation Department budgeted to host two summer camps rather than the
traditional one, due to increased popularity of the program. We reached out to the local schools to try and find a
suitable venue to host our camp.  The Lake Dallas ISD's Shady Shores Elementary was very suitable in both size
and location. Staff worked with LDISD to secure an agreement to utilize their school to host our program at no
charge from the LDISD. Wes Eversole (LDISD Superintendent) and Jennifer Bryant (Shady Shores Elementary
Principal) have both been extremely helpful and very kind to the City of Corinth and opening their doors to assist
us. 

During this time, we did encounter some unfortunate news.  It seems that the Crownover Middle School requires
a new roof and HVAC work on their gym.  This has resulted in our loss of that facility to host one of our camps.
We have been working with other local schools in the LDISD, DISD and the Corinth Classical Academy to secure
a second location, but we have been unsuccessful for various reasons specific to each school. At this time, it
appears we will only be able to host one summer camp program again this year and are hopeful that next year we
will have two locations available to host two camps and double our availability to the community.  

Staff worked with the City Attorney to prepare an Interlocal Agreement (ILA) between Corinth and the LDISD
for use of the Shady Shores Elementary School.  Due to time constraints caused by the loss of Crownover, the
ILA is being presented to the LDISD School Board on March 18, 2019 and to Corinth City Council on march 21,
2019 for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends approval of the Interlocal Agreement between Corinth and the LDISD for use of the Shady
Shores Elementary School to host our Summer Camp Program for 2019. 

Attachments
ILA Summer Camp at Shady Shores Elementary 

54



INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF CORINTH AND 

LAKE DALLAS INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT FOR 
JOINT USE OF CERTAIN RECREATIONAL FACILITIES 

AT THE SHADY SHORES ELEMENTARY SCHOOL SITE 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Lake Dallas Independent 
School District, duly organized and authorized under the laws of the State of Texas, (hereinafter 

“LDISD”), and the City of Corinth, a political subdivision located in Denton County, Texas, duly 
organized and authorized under the laws of the State of Texas, hereinafter “CITY”, for the joint use 
of certain facilities located at the Shady Shores Elementary School site located within the city limits 
of Denton, the nature and scope of which is more fully described herein.  

 
WHEREAS, LDISD and CITY are governmental entities, both of whom have the authority to 

enter into this Agreement individually as provided for in Chapter 791 of the Texas Government 

Code, the lnterlocal Cooperation Act (the “Act”), in order to maximize the benefits derived from 
each taxpayer dollar; and  

 
WHEREAS, LDISD and CITY mutually desire to be subject to the provisions of the Act and to 

jointly participate in the use of certain facilities at the Shady Shores Elementary School site located 
within the city limits of Corinth (hereinafter “Facility or Facilities”), such use being more fully 
described herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, LDISD and CITY agree that any and all payments made in connection with the 

governmental functions provided for by this Agreement shall be made from current revenues 
available to the paying party and that the payments received are adequate and fairly compensate 
the parties for the services performed; and 

 
WHEREAS, a valid governmental purpose is served by the joint use of the Facilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is deemed to be in the best interests of LDISD and CITY to enter into this 

Agreement for joint use of the Facilities. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, LDISD and CITY, for the mutual consideration hereinafter stated, agree and 
understand as follows: 
 

I. 
INCORPORATION OF PREMISES 

 
All matters and recitations stated in the preamble of this Agreement are true and correct 

and are hereby incorporated by reference into the provisions of this Agreement for all purposes.  
 

 
 

 
 

 

55



II. 
USE OF THE FACILITIES 

 
2.01. For the purposes and consideration herein stated, CITY’s use of the Facilities shall be 

governed by the following terms and conditions: 
 

A.  Use of Indoor Areas.  LDISD shall provide an office exclusively for use by authorized 
employees of CITY’s Department of Parks and Recreation (hereinafter “Authorized 

Employees”), such use to include the storage of supplies.  CITY shall have access to 
the small gymnasium, restrooms and playground at the Facility. CITY shall be 
allowed to place two (2) cabinets in the small gymnasium for storage of sports 
equipment in accordance with Subsection K of this section.  LDISD shall provide 
CITY with a duplicate set of keys, and/or an entry badge, in order to allow City entry 
into the Facilities, including without limitation, the outside entry door and the small 
gymnasium doors of the Facility Authorized Employees shall be allowed access to 

the Facility during regular summer camp hours and a reasonable time before and 
after such hours for set-up and/or clean up.  

 
B. Authorized Employees.  A CITY employee shall be deemed an “Authorized 

Employee” after such employee has been screened and approved by the City CITY 
shall provide LDISD with written documentation that all CITY employees who will 
be allowed access to the Facility have been properly screened and approved..  

 
 

C.        Use of Outdoor Areas.  CITY shall have access to the playground located at the Facility 
when there are no regularly scheduled LDISD activities or special activities 
scheduled by LDISD. LDISD shall provide written notice of regularly scheduled 

activities at least sixty (60) days prior to the beginning of the term of this Agreement 
and shall provide written notice of special activities at least sixty (60) days prior to 

the date of each such event. All CITY activities shall be concluded by approximately 
6:00 p.m.  LDISD shall maintain the playground and outdoor areas.  

 
D.  Routine Maintenance and Repair.  LDISD shall provide a schedule of routine 

maintenance and repair work that will occur in the gym when such work will conflict 
with CITY’s authorized hours of operation in the Facility.  LDISD shall use reasonable 
efforts to schedule routine maintenance and repair work so as to minimize the 
impact on CITY’s use of the Facility. 

 

E.  Unscheduled Maintenance and Repair. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties 
agree and understand that unscheduled maintenance or repair work on the Facility 

may be necessary. For such unscheduled work, LDISD shall notify CITY in writing of 
the date and time that the work will commence as soon as reasonably practicable.  

LDISD shall not be liable for any damages sustained by CITY if any maintenance or 
repair work, whether scheduled or unscheduled, interferes with CITY’s use of the 

Facilities.  
 

56



F.  Notice of Schedule Changes/Conflicts.  When practicable, both LDISD and CITY shall 
provide thirty (30) days’ advance written notice of any substantial changes to either 

party’s schedule.  Each party agrees to make every effort not to disrupt scheduled 
activities of the other party.  However, both CITY and LDISD agree that in the event 

of a scheduling conflict, LDISD shall have the sole discretion to resolve such conflict 
after reasonable consideration of alternatives available to the respective parties 

involved and other factors deemed relevant by LDISD. 
 

G. Utilities and Custodial Services.  All costs for utilities and regular custodial services 
shall be provided by LDISD at no cost to CITY.  Regular custodial services shall mean 
those routine janitorial services provided throughout the Facility which are 
required as a result of normal daily usage, such as sweeping, mopping, dusting, and 
sanitizing of the Facility. CITY will perform basic daily cleaning of the portions of the 
Facility used by the City, to include sweeping the gym floor and emptying trash bins.  
LDISD shall provide a large broom for CITY’s use. 

 
H. Damages.  CITY shall be responsible for any and all damages to the Facility and to 

LDISD property located within the Facility that is incurred during, or  which arises 
out of, CITY’s use of the Facilities.  CITY shall notify LDISD of incidents involving 
personal injury or property damage that occur during CITY’s use of the Facility 
within 24 hours of such occurrence.   Notice shall be in writing and shall be on forms 
provided by LDISD. 
 

I. Insurance. CITY shall provide an acceptable certification of insurance to LDISD prior 
to the start of summer camp.  

 
J. Security.  CITY shall secure its property within the Facility. LDISD shall not be liable 

for damage to or the disappearance of CITY property stored within the Facility.  CITY 
shall properly lock and secure all exterior doors in accordance with LDISD policies 

and procedures. 
 

K. Equipment.  CITY shall provide all equipment (e.g., tables, chairs, etc.) and sports 
equipment for CITY activities at the Facility.  CITY shall store all such equipment in 
the cabinets placed in the small gymnasium or in a storage area designated by 
LDISD for such purpose. LDISD owned equipment, such bleacher controls, may be 
made available for use upon CITY’s written request and approval by LDISD. 

 
Il I. 

TERM/ACCESS TO FACILITIES/TERMINATION 
 

The term of this Agreement shall commence on May 28, 2019 and shall end on July 29, 2019, 
unless terminated earlier as provided herein. City shall have all City equipment removed from the 

Facilities no later than 5:00 p.m. on Monday, July 29, 2019 (hereinafter “Term”). In accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement, City shall be allowed access to and use of the Facilities Monday 

through Friday of each week during the Term, from approximately 7:00 a.m. until approximately 
6:00 p.m. daily.  Additionally, LDISD shall allow CITY to have access to the Facilities on May 23, 

2019 from 4:00 p.m. through 8:00 p.m. for a parent meet-and-greet.  Either party may terminate 

57



this Agreement, either in whole or in part, upon breach of any term or provision of this Agreement 
by giving at least thirty (30) days’ written notice of such breach to the other party.  Provided, 

however, that if the party receiving the notice of breach cures the default within thirty (30) days 
from the date of the written notice, then the Agreement shall remain in effect until otherwise 

terminated as provided herein. 
IV. 

CONSIDERATION 
 

This Agreement is entered into in consideration for the mutual promises and covenants contained 
herein, as well as such other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
is hereby acknowledged.   

V. 
HOLD HARMLESS 

 
To the extent allowed by the Constitution and statutes of the State of Texas, and without waiving 

any immunity or limitation of liability, CITY agrees to and shall  release, defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless LDISD, its officers, agents, contractors and employees from and against any and all 

claims, losses, damages, causes of action, suits, and liability of every kind, including all expenses 
of litigation, court costs, and attorney’s fees, for injury or death of any person, or for damages to 
any property, real, personal, or mixed, arising out of or in connection with the PROJECT, where the 
injury or death or damage is caused by the negligence of CITY, its officers, agents, or employees, 
except that CITY assumes no liability for the sole negligent acts of LDISD, its officers, agents, or 
employees. 

VI. 
ASSIGNABILITY 

 
CITY shall not assign or alienate in any form or manner any interest in this Agreement and shall 

not transfer any interest in this Agreement (whether by assignment, novation or otherwise) 
without the prior written consent of LDISD.  

VII. 
NOTICE 

 
All notices or communications required under this Agreement or desired to be given by the parties 
hereto shall be sent in writing and shall be deemed sufficiently given on the date when same is 
hand-delivered; or if by U .S. mail, three business days after deposit in the United States mail, 
sufficient postage prepaid; or by date of delivery if by registered or certified mail with return 
receipt requested, addressed to the recipient at the address set forth below: 
 

To LDISD:      To CITY: 
________________     City Manager 

__________________    City of Corinth 
Lake Dallas Independent School District  2003 S. Corinth Street  

__________________    Corinth, Texas 76205 
__________________ 

 
 

 

58



VIII. 
MODIFICATION 

 
No waiver or modification of this Agreement or of any covenant, condition, limitation herein 

contained shall be valid unless in writing and duly executed by the party to be charged therewith. 
No evidence of any waiver or modification shall be offered or received in evidence in any 

proceeding, either judicial or administrative, arising between the parties hereto out of or affecting 
this Agreement, or the rights or obligations of the parties hereunder, unless such waiver or 

modification is in writing, duly executed.  The parties further agree that the provisions of this 
section will not be waived except as specifically provided herein. 
 

IX. 
SEVERABILITY 

 
If any of the terms, sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, provisions, covenants, 

conditions or any other part of this contract are for any reason held to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, 

provisions, covenants, conditions or any other part of this contract shall remain in full force and 
effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated.  Further, the parties agree to make 
a good faith effort to renegotiate an agreed provision to fulfill the purposes and intent of any 
invalid, unenforceable, or void provision. 
 

X. 
GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

 
This Agreement shall be construed under and governed by, and in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Texas, and all obligations of the parties hereto, created by this Agreement are performable 

in Denton County, Texas.  Venue of any suit or cause of action under this Agreement shall lie 
exclusively in Denton County, Texas. 

 
XI. 

INTEGRATION 
 
This Agreement embodies the complete and’ entire agreement of the parties hereto superseding 
all oral or written previous and contemporary agreements between the parties relating to matters 
herein and, except as otherwise provided herein, cannot be modified without written agreement 
of the parties. 
 

XII. 
NONWAIVER OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
One or more instances of forbearance by either party in the exercise of  its respective rights or 

remedies herein shall in no way constitute a general wavier or relinquishment of the exercise of 
such rights or remedies. 

 
 

 

59



XIII. 
HEADINGS 

 
The headings contained in this Agreement are for informational purposes only and shall not in any 

way affect the substantive terms or conditions of this Agreement.   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Lake Dallas Independent School District has caused this 
lnterlocal Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized ______________________, on this 

_____ day of _______________, 2019; and the City of Corinth, Texas has caused this lnterlocal 
Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized Mayor on this the _____ day of 
_______________, 2019.   
 
 
 
LAKE DALLAS INDEPENDENT SCHOOL  CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS 

DISTRICT 
 

 
BY: ______________________________ BY: ______________________ 
       ______________________________        Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      ATTEST: 
 
 
 
BY: ______________________________ BY: ______________________ 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  APPROVED AS TO AFORM: 
 

 
 
BY: ______________________________ BY: ______________________ 
 

60



   
    CONSENT ITEM    4.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Public Works Equipment Storage facility and Fire Department Trainning Area 
Submitted For: Cody Collier, Director  Submitted By: Cody Collier, Director
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Infrastructure Development

Regional Cooperation
Organizational Development

AGENDA ITEM
Public Works equipment storage building, site improvements and Fire Department Training Facility construction.

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
In 2017, $1.5 million was budgeted for the Public Works Facility remodel, equipment storage building, site
improvements and Fire Department Training Facility construction.   Design was split into two phases with the
PW remodel being phase 1 and everything else comprising phase 2.  Phase 1 construction began in late December
2018 and is scheduled to be completed in mid-April completing the Public Works facility remodel. 

Phase 2 was submitted for bid in February of 2019 and three bids were received:
Schmoldt Construction - $677,000
308 Construction - $732,462.22
MSB Constructors - $768,800
Schmoldt Construction was the low bidder at $677,000. References were checked with positive feedback stating
they would use Schmoldt again in the future.

$1.5 million budgeted for total project with expenditures detailed below:
$235,000- Engineering, design, survey, platting, ADA certification
$496,000- PW Facility construction/ remodel
$14,000- Materials testing of new construction to comply with state law

$745,000 have been expended leading into the construction bid for phase 2 of $677,000. We anticipated
completing both phases with $68,000 remaining.   At that time, the Fire Department may utilize their shared funds
with the Little Elm Fire Department to build the structures on the new training grounds and complete their
training center at Station #2. 

 

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends award of bid to Schmoldt Construction for phase 2 of the Public Works Facility and Fire
Department Training Center and authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreement in the amount of
$677,000.

Attachments
Notice to bidders 
Bid Book PW&FD 
PW Equip Storage Bld Plans 

61



PW & FD Site Improvements 
308 Construction Bid 
MSB Constructors Bid 
Schmoldt Construction Bid 
FD Trainning Area Bids Tab 
PW Equip Building and Site Improvements Bid Tab 

62



NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

CITY OF CORINTH 
PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS 

ITB #1124 

The City of Corinth is accepting sealed bids for Public Works and Lake Cities Fire Department Site Improvements at the 
office of the Purchasing Agent until 2:00 PM, CST February 28, 2019.  

Qualified prospective bidders may obtain copies of the bid invitation with information at the office of the Purchasing Agent, 
located at the City Hall Building, 3300 Corinth Parkway, 2nd Floor, Corinth, Texas, or at www.cityofcorinth.com/Bids.aspx

This project includes all materials, labor, equipment and services to produce or be incorporated in such construction.  
Contract will be a general contract for the Public Works and Lake Cities Fire Department Site Improvements.   

Bidders must submit a cashier's check, certified check, or acceptable bidder's bond with their proposal as a guarantee that 
the Bidder will enter into a contract for the project with the Owner within fifteen (15) days of Notice of Award of the contract.   
The security must be payable to City of Corinth in the amount of five (5%) percent of the bid submitted.  Contractor must 
execute the contract, bonds and certificates of insurance on the forms provided in the Contract Documents.   

Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only by contacting Cody Collier (940) 498-7510. 

Contractors for this Project must comply with prevailing wage rates as defined by the United States Department of Labor 
Davis and Bacon Wage Determination at http://www.wdol.gov/dba.aspx

Performance and Payment Bonds and Maintenance Bonds are required. 

The bidder selected by the City shall furnish proof of insurance prior to bid award in the form of an insurance certificate to the 
Purchasing Department. 

Bids received later than the date and time above will be returned unopened, and will not be considered in the evaluation process.  
The City does not accept oral, telephone, facsimile or electronic bids. Bids submitted orally, by phone, fax or electronically 
will be disqualified and will not be considered in the evaluation process.  Bids will be accepted only if delivered in person, 
by the U.S. Postal Service, or by delivery service such as UPS or Federal Express. 

The City of Corinth reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and to waive defects in proposals. No officer or 
employee of the City of Corinth shall have a financial interest, direct or indirect, in this or any contract with the City of Corinth. 
Minority and small business vendors are encouraged to submit a proposal on any and all City of Corinth projects. Cindy 
Troyer, Purchasing Agent, 940-498-3286. 

Publication Dates: January 30 & February 6, 2019

63



CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR 
 
 
 

CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES 
FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS 

IFB NO. 1124  

CITY OF CORINTH 

 

 
 
 

JANUARY 25, 2018 

Prepared by: 

 
 
 

Lamb-Star Engineering, L.P. 
5700 W. Plano Parkway, Suite 1000 

Plano, Texas 75093 
214-440-3630 

Texas Registered Firm No: F-9073 

64



 
 
 

THE CONSTRUCTION OF 
 

THE CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND 
LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE 

IMPROVEMENTS  
BID NO. 1124 

 
CITY OF CORINTH OFFICIALS 

 
MAYOR 

Bill Heidemann 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

Sam Burke 
Scott Garber 

Lowell Johnson 
Tina Henderson 

Don Glockel 
 
 

CITY MANAGER 

Bob Hart 

 
PUBLIC WORKS 

Cody Collier, Director of Public Works Operations 

 
PURCHASING 

Cindy Troyer, Purchasing Agent 

 
 
 

65



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

SECTION 00100 - IMPORTANT DATES & NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
SECTION 00200 - INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS  
SECTION 00410 - BID FORM 
SECTION 00410 - BID SCHEDULE  
SECTION 00430 - BID BOND 
SECTION 00500 - CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT  
SECTION 00510 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
SECTION 00520 - FORM W-9 
SECTION 00530 - 2270 VERIFICATION FORM  
SECTION 00610 - PERFORMANCE BOND  
SECTION 00610 - PAYMENT BOND 
SECTION 00610 - MAINTENANCE BOND 
SECTION 00800 - PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 
SECTION 00900 - SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

66



00100 - 1 

SECTION 00100 – IMPORTANT DATES 
 
IMPORTANT DATES: 
ITB Issue Date:    Wednesday, January 30, 2019 
ITB Publication Dates:    January 30, 2019 and February 6, 2019  
Questions Deadline:    Wednesday, February 20, 2019 @ 10:00 AM CST 
Bid Due Date and Time:   Tuesday, February 28, 2019 @ 2:00 PM CST 
 
There will be no pre-bid meeting.     
Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only by contacting Cody Collier at (940) 498-7510. 

              
 
Sealed bids for the materials or services specified will be received by the City of Corinth at the office of 
the Purchasing Agent until the date and time as indicated above.   
 
Please submit one (1) original bid with bid security, one (1) complete copy of bid, and one (1) 
complete copy in USB memory drive format (each with required signatures), in a sealed envelope 
or package to the address listed below. 
 

Delivery & Mailing Address:    Bid Contact: 
 City of Corinth      Cindy Troyer 
 Attn:  Purchasing Agent     Purchasing Agent 
 3300 Corinth Parkway, 2nd Floor    purchasing@cityofcorinth.com 
 Corinth, Texas 76208     (940) 498-3286 
 
Sealed bids shall be clearly marked “BID #1124-PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE 
DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS” Do not open until 2:00 PM February 28, 2019; and include 
the bidder’s name and address on the front of the envelope or package.  Additional instructions for 
preparing a response are provided within.  All bids must be submitted on the attached Bid Proposal 
Forms.   

              
Requests for additional information should be made no later than the questions deadline above 
and shall be directed to the Purchasing Agent at purchasing@cityofcorinth.com.  All requests 
must be made in writing.  Oral explanations will not be binding. 

Any interpretations, corrections, clarifications, or changes to this Invitation to Bid or specifications will be 
made by addenda.  Addenda will be posted at http://cityofcorinth.com/Bids.aspx.  It is the responsibility of 
the bidder to monitor the City’s website for addenda.  Bidders shall acknowledge receipt of all addenda by 
submitting a signed copy with their bid.    

 
The City of Corinth reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to waive defects in bids. No officer or 
employee of the City of Corinth shall have a financial interest, direct or indirect, in this or any contract with 
the City of Corinth. Minority and small business vendors are encouraged to submit a bid on any and all 
City of Corinth projects.  
 
The City appreciates your time and effort in preparing a response.  Please note that sealed bids must 
be received by the due date and time shown above.  Bids received later than the date and time above 
will be returned unopened, and will not be considered.  The City does not accept oral, telephone, faxed or 
electronic bids.  Bids submitted orally, by phone, fax or electronically will be disqualified and will 
not be considered in the evaluation process.  Bids will be accepted only if delivered in person, by the 
U.S. Postal Service, or by delivery service such as UPS or Federal Express.  The City will not be 
responsible for, or consider missing, lost, or late deliveries. 
 

 

67



 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
 

CITY OF CORINTH 
PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS 

 
ITB #1124 

 
 
The City of Corinth is accepting sealed bids for Public Works and Lake Cities Fire Department Site 
Improvements at the office of the Purchasing Agent until 2:00 PM, CST February 28, 2019.  
 
Qualified prospective bidders may obtain copies of the bid invitation with information at the office of the 
Purchasing Agent, located at the City Hall Building, 3300 Corinth Parkway, 2nd Floor, Corinth, Texas, or at 
www.cityofcorinth.com/Bids.aspx 
 
This project includes all materials, labor, equipment and services to produce or be incorporated in such 
construction.  Contract will be a general contract for the Public Works and Lake Cities Fire Department Site 
Improvements.   
 
Bidders must submit a cashier's check, certified check, or acceptable bidder's bond with their proposal as a 
guarantee that the Bidder will enter into a contract for the project with the Owner within fifteen (15) days of 
Notice of Award of the contract.   The security must be payable to City of Corinth in the amount of five (5%) 
percent of the bid submitted.  Contractor must execute the contract, bonds and certificates of insurance on the 
forms provided in the Contract Documents.   
 
Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only by contacting Cody Collier (940) 498-7510.  
 
Contractors for this Project must comply with prevailing wage rates as defined by the United States 
Department of Labor Davis and Bacon Wage Determination at http://www.wdol.gov/dba.aspx  
 
Performance and Payment Bonds and Maintenance Bonds are required. 
 
The bidder selected by the City shall furnish proof of insurance prior to bid award in the form of an insurance 
certificate to the Purchasing Department. 
 
Bids received later than the date and time above will be returned unopened, and will not be considered in the 
evaluation process.  The City does not accept oral, telephone, facsimile or electronic bids. Bids submitted 
orally, by phone, fax or electronically will be disqualified and will not be considered in the evaluation process.  
Bids will be accepted only if delivered in person, by the U.S. Postal Service, or by delivery service such as 
UPS or Federal Express. 

 
The City of Corinth reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and to waive defects in proposals. No 
officer or employee of the City of Corinth shall have a financial interest, direct or indirect, in this or any contract 
with the City of Corinth. Minority and small business vendors are encouraged to submit a proposal on any and 
all City of Corinth projects. Cindy Troyer, Purchasing Agent, 940-498-3286. 
 
 
 
Publication Dates: January 30 & February 6, 2019 

68



00200 - 1  

SECTION 00200 - INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 

PART 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

1.1 RELATED DOCUMENTS 
 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and 
Supplementary Conditions and other Specification Sections, apply to this 
Section. 

 
1.2 DEFINITIONS 

 
A. All definitions set forth in the General Conditions of the Contract for 

Construction or in other Contract Documents are applicable to these 
Bidding Documents. 

 
B. Bidding Documents include the Advertisement or Invitation for Bids, 

Instructions to Bidders, the bid form, other sample bidding and contract 
forms and the proposed Contract Documents including any Addenda issued 
prior to receipt of bids. 

 
C. Addenda are written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of 

the Bidding Documents, which modify or interpret the Bidding Documents, 
including Drawings and Specifications, by additions, deletions, 
clarifications or corrections. Addenda will become part of the Contract 
Documents when the Construction Contract is executed. 

 
D. “Lamb-Star Engineering, L.P.” will be hereafter referred to in the Project 

Manual as “Engineer” and all correspondence shall be addressed to: Jill Van 
Hoewyk, Lamb-Star Engineering, L.P., 5700 West Plano Parkway, Suite 
1000, Plano, Texas, 75093. 

 
E. “Cody Collier ” will be hereinafter referred to in this Project Manual as “Project 

Manager”. 
 

F. “The City of Corinth” will be hereafter referred to in this Project Manual as 
“Owner”. 

 
G. A Bid is a complete and properly signed submittal to do the Work for 

designated portion thereof for the sums stipulated therein, submitted in 
accordance with the Bidding Documents. 

 
H. The Base Bid is the sum stated in the Bid for which the Bidder offers to 

perform the Work described in the Bidding Documents as the base, to 
which work may be added or from which work may be deleted for sums 
stated in Alternate Bids. 

69



00200 - 2  

 
I. An Alternative Bid (or Alternate) is an amount stated in the Bid to be added 

to or deducted from the amount of the Base Bid in the corresponding 
change in the Work, as described in the Bidding Documents or in the 
proposed Contract Documents. 

 
J. A Unit Price is an amount stated in the Bid as a price per unit of 

measurement for materials or service as described in the Bidding 
Documents or in the proposed Contract Documents. 

 
K. A Bidder is a person or entity who submits a Bid. 

L. A Sub-Bidder is a person or entity who submits a bid to a Bidder for 
materials or labor for a portion of the work. 

 
M. A Contractor is a person or entity who is determined to be the lowest 

responsible and responsive bidder to whom Owner (on the basis of Owner’s 
evaluation as hereinafter provided) makes an award. 

 
N. The Bid Requirements and Other General Conditions, as provided under the 

Division of the North Central Texas Council of Governments Standard 
Specifications for Public Works Construction will be applicable to this 
project, unless noted otherwise in the Contract Documents 

 
1.3 EXAMINATION OF DOCUMENTS AND SITE 

 
A. Each bidder, by making his/her Bid, represents that he/she has read and 

understands the Bidding Documents. 
 

B. Each Bidder, by making his/her Bid, represents that he/she has visited the 
site, performed investigations and verifications as he/she deems necessary, 
and familiarized himself/herself with the local conditions under which the 
Work is to be performed and will be responsible for any and all errors in 
his/her bid resulting from his/her failure to do so. 

 
C. The location and elevations of the various utilities and pipe work included 

within the scope of the work are offered as a general guide only, without 
guarantee as to accuracy. The Contractor shall verify and investigate to 
his/her own satisfaction the location and elevation of all utilities, pipe work, 
and the like and shall adequately inform himself/herself of their relation to 
the work before submitting a bid. 

 
D. Before submitting a bid each bidder will, at bidder’s own expense, make or 

obtain any additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests and 
studies and obtain any additional information (surface, subsurface, and 
underground facilities) at or contiguous to the site, or otherwise which may 
affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the work and which 

70



00200 - 3  

bidder deems necessary to determine its bid for performing and furnishing 
the work in accordance with the time, price and other terms and conditions 
of the Contract Documents. Bidder will rely solely on its own site 
investigation and assumes the risk of any site conditions not discovered that 
may result in additional costs and all errors in the bid. 

 
E. On request in advance, Owner will provide each bidder access to the site to 

conduct explorations and tests as each bidder deems necessary for 
submission of a bid. Bidder shall fill all holes, clean up and restore the site 
to its former condition upon completion of such explorations. 

 
F. The lands upon which the work is to be performed, right-of way and 

easement for access thereto and other lands designated for use by 
Contractor in performing the work are identified in the Contract 
Documents. 

 
G. Each bidder by making his/her bid represents that his/her bid is based upon 

the materials, systems, and equipment required by the Bidding Documents 
without exception. 

 

1.4 BIDDING DOCUMENTS 
 

A. Complete sets of Bidding Documents shall be used in preparing bids; 
neither City, nor Engineer assume any responsibility for errors or 
misinterpretations resulting from use of incomplete sets of Bidding 
Documents. 

 
B. City or the Engineer, in making copies of the Bidding Documents available 

on the above terms, do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids on the 
Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other use. 

 
1.5 BIDDING PROCEDURES 

 
A. All bids shall be prepared on the forms provided by the Engineer and 

submitted in accordance with the Instruction to Bidders. The Engineer or 
Owner will furnish bidders with bid forms which will provide for the 
following bid items. Bidders shall provide all  requested information. Prices 
bid/proposed shall only be considered if they are provided in the appropriate 
space(s) on the City of Corinth bid form(s). For consideration, any additions 
or deductions to the bid/proposal prices offered must be shown under the 
exceptions section of the bid/proposal. Extraneous numbers, prices, 
comments, etc. or bidder/offeror generated documents appearing elsewhere 
on the bid or as an additional attachment shall be deemed to have no effect 
on the prices offered in the designated locations. 
 
Bid document will include the following, as shown on the City of Corinth bid 

71



00200 - 4  

form(s): 
 
1. A single contract price for each bid item as detailed and described in 

these specifications. 
2. Acknowledgment of Addenda. 
3. Number of consecutive calendar days to complete project. 
4. Alternate bids. 
5. Unit prices. 

 
B. A bid is invalid if it has not been delivered at the designated location prior 

to the time and date for receipt of bids indicated in the Advertisement or 
Invitation For Bid, or prior to any extension thereof issued to the bidders. 
Bids received in the City of Corinth Purchasing Department after 
submission deadline shall be returned unopened and will be considered void 
and unacceptable.  Owner is not responsible for lateness of mail, carrier,  
etc. and time/date stamp clock in City Purchasing Department shall be the 
official time of receipt. 

 
C. Unless otherwise provided in any supplement to these Instructions to 

Bidders, no bidder shall modify, withdraw or cancel his/her bid or any part 
thereof for ninety (90) consecutive calendar days after the time designated 
for the receipt of bids in the Advertisement or Invitation For Bid. 

 
D. Bids shall not contain any recapitulation of the Work to be done. 

E. The Bidder shall make no additional stipulations on the Bid Form nor limit 
or qualify his/her bid in any other manner. Bids so qualified will be subject 
to disqualification. 

 
F. The City of Corinth is by statute exempt from the State Sales Tax and 

Federal Excise Tax; therefore, the prices submitted shall not include taxes. 
 

1.6 SUBSTITUTIONS 
 

A. Each bidder represents that his/her bid is based upon the materials and 
equipment described in the Bidding Documents. 

 
B. No substitution will be considered unless written request has been 

submitted to the Engineer for approval at least seven (7) consecutive 
calendar days prior to the date for receipt of bids. 

 
C. If the Engineer and Owner approves a proposed substitution, such approval 

will be set forth in an Addendum. 
 

1.7 QUALIFICATION OF BIDDERS 
 

A. Within five (5) consecutive calendar days following bid opening, the 

72



00200 - 5  

apparent low bidder shall submit with a properly executed Contractor’s 
Qualification Statement as evidence to establish bidder’s financial 
responsibility, experience and possession of such equipment as may be 
needed to prosecute the work in an expeditious, safe and satisfactory 
manner. This Statement shall include: 

 
1. List of current projects. 
2. List of projects completed within the past five years. 
3. Experience of key individuals of the organization. 
4. Trade and Bank references. 

5. A recent financial statement to confirm that the bidder has suitable 
financial status to meet obligations incidental to performing the 
work. Audited financial statements are not mandatory. Unaudited 
financial statements will be accepted. If bidder’s firm does, 
however, have audited statements, please include a copy with your 
bid. 

6. A statement of cost for each major item of Work included in the Bid. 
7. A designation of the Work to be performed by the Bidder with his/her own 

forces. 
8. A list of names of the Subcontractors or other persons or 

organizations (including those who are to furnish materials or 
equipment fabricated to a special design) proposed for each portion 
of the Work. The Bidder will be required to establish to the 
satisfaction of the Engineer and Owner the reliability and 
responsibility of the proposed Subcontractors. Prior to the award of 
the Contract, the Engineer will notify the Bidder in writing if either 
the City or the Engineer, after due investigation, has reasonable and 
substantial objection to any person or organization on such lists. If 
Owner or Engineer has a reasonable and substantial objection to any 
person or organization on such list, and refuses in writing to accept 
such person or organization, the Bidder may, at his/her option, 
withdraw his/her Bid without forfeiture of Bid Security or provide 
an acceptable substitute. Subcontractors and other persons and 
organizations proposed by the Bidder and accepted by Owner and 
Engineer must be used on the Work for which they were proposed 
and accepted, and shall not be changed except with the written 
approval of Owner and the Engineer. 

 
B. Bidders may be disqualified and their bids not considered for any of the 

following specific reasons: 
 

1. Reason for believing collusion exists among bidders. 
2. The bidder being interested in any litigation against Owner. 
3. The bidder being in arrears on any existing contract or having 

defaulted on a previous contract. 
4. Lack of competency as revealed by the financial statement, 

73



00200 - 6  

experience and equipment, questionnaires, or qualification 
statement. 

5. Uncompleted work which in the judgment of Owner will prevent or 
hinder the prompt completion of additional work if awarded. 

 
C. Minimum Standards For Responsible Prospective Bidders: A prospective 

Bidder must meet the following minimum requirements: 
 

1. have adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources as 
required; 

 
2. be able to comply with the required or proposed delivery/ completion 

schedule; 
 

3. have a satisfactory record of performance; 
 

4. have a satisfactory record of integrity and ethics; 
 

5. be otherwise qualified and eligible to receive an award; 
 

6. not be on the State of Texas debarred vendor list; and 
 

7. not be on the Federal list of excluded parties. 
 

The City of Corinth may request representation and other information 
sufficient to determine Bidder's ability to meet these minimum standards 
listed above. 
 

D. In determining to whom to award the Contract, the Owner may consider; 
 

1. the purchase price; 
 

2. the reputation of the bidder/contractor/vendor and of the 
bidder/contractor/vendor’s goods or services; 

 
3. the quality of the bidder/contractor/vendor’s goods or services; 

 
4. the extent to which the goods or services meet the Owner’s needs; 

 
5. the bidder/contractor/vendor’s past relationship with the Owner; 

 
6. the total long-term cost to the Owner to acquire the 

bidder/contractor/vendor’s goods or services; and 
 

7. any other relevant factors specifically listed in the Instruction to Bidders.. 
 

74



00200 - 7  

1.8 PREPARATION OF BID 
 

A. Bidder shall submit his/her Bid on the forms furnished by the Engineer. All 
blank spaces in forms shall be correctly filled in and the Bidder shall state 
the prices, written in words and in figures. Where there is discrepancy 
between the price written in words and the price written in figures, the price 
written in words shall govern. If Bid is submitted by an individual, his/her 
name must be signed by him/her or his/her duly authorized agency. If the 
Bid is submitted by a firm, association or partnership, the name and address 
of each member must be given, and the Bid must be signed by an official or 
duly authorized agent. Powers of attorney authorizing agents or others to 
sign Bids must be properly certified and must be in writing and submitted 
with the Bid. 

 
B. Bidder shall bear any/all costs associated with its preparation of any Bid, 

proposal or submittal. 
 

C. Public Information Act: The City of Corinth is governed by the Texas 
Public Information Act, Chapter 552 of the Texas Government Code. All 
information submitted by prospective Bidders during the bidding process is 
subject to release under the Act. 

 
 

1.9 BID SECURITY 
 

A. Each Bid must be accompanied by Bid Security (in accordance with 
instructions set forth in section 00100-Important Dates) made payable to 
Owner in an amount of  five percent (5%) of the Bidder’s maximum bid 
price and in the form of a Cashier’s Check or a Bid Bond, duly executed by 
Bidder as principal and having as surety thereon, a corporate surety 
authorized and admitted to do business in the State of Texas and licensed to 
issue such bond, as a guarantee that the Bidder will enter into a Contract 
and execute required Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bonds 
within fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days of Notice of Award of 
Contract. 

 
B. The Bid Security of the Contractor will be retained until such Bidder has 

executed the Contract Agreement and furnished the required Contract 
Security, whereupon, the Bid Security will be returned. If the Contractor 
fails to execute and deliver the Agreement and furnish the required Contract 
Security within fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days of Notice of Award 
of Contract, Owner may annul the award of Contract and the Bid Security 
of that bidder will be forfeited.  

 
C. The Bid Security of the other bidders whom Owner believes to have a 

reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by Owner until 

75



00200 - 8  

the earlier of the seventh (7th) consecutive calendar day after the effective 
date of the Agreement or the ninety-fifth (95th) consecutive calendar day 
after the bid opening, whereupon, the Bid Security furnished by such 
bidders will be returned.  

 
D. Bid Security with bids which are not competitive will be returned after the 

contract award. 
 

E. Should the Bidder to whom the Contract is awarded refuse or neglect to 
execute and file the contract and bonds within fifteen (15) consecutive 
calendar days of Notice of Award of Contract, Owner may annul award of 
Contract and the Bid Security filed with the bid shall become the property 
of Owner, not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages. Owner reserves the 
right to award canceled Contract to next responsible, lowest and best bidder 
as it deems to be in the best interest of the City. 

 
F. Owner will have the right to retain the Bid Security of all bidders until either: 

 
1. the Contract has been executed and the bonds have been furnished, or 
2. the specified time has elapsed so that bids may be withdrawn, or 
3. all bids have been rejected. 

 
1.10 PERFORMANCE BOND, LABOR & MATERIAL PAYMENT BOND, AND 

MAINTENANCE BOND 
 

A. The Contractor shall post with Owner, not later than fifteen (15) 
consecutive calendar days after Notice of Award of Contract, a Performance 
Bond in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) of the total contract 
price in such form as is satisfactory to Owner, in compliance with Chapter 
2253 of the Texas Government Code and all other applicable Texas Law, 
and on the form specified in the Contract Documents. This bond shall be 
executed by a corporate surety company duly authorized and admitted to do 
business in the State of Texas and licensed to issue such a bond in the State 
of Texas. The Contractor shall notify its corporate surety of any Contract 
changes. 

 
B. The Contractor shall post with Owner, not later than fifteen (15) 

consecutive calendar days after Notice of Award of Contract, a Payment 
Bond in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) of the total contract 
price in such form as is satisfactory to Owner, in compliance with Chapter 
2253 of the Texas Government Code and all other applicable Texas Law, 
and on the form specified in the Contract Documents. This bond shall be 
executed by a corporate surety company duly authorized and admitted to do 
business in the State of Texas and licensed to issue such a bond in the State 
of Texas. The Contractor shall notify its corporate surety of any Contract 
changes. 

76



00200 - 9  

 
C. The Contractor shall post with Owner, not later than fifteen (15) 

consecutive calendar days after Notice of Award of Contract, a 
Maintenance Bond in the amount of one hundred percent (100%) of the 
total contract price covering defects of material and workmanship for two 
(2) calendar years following Owner’s approval and acceptance of the 
construction. The Maintenance Bond shall be on the form specified in the 
Contract Documents. This bond shall be executed by a corporate surety 
company duly authorized and admitted to do business in the State of Texas 
and licensed to issue such a bond in the State of Texas. The Contractor shall 
notify its corporate surety of any Contract changes. 

 
D. The Contractor must demonstrate to Owner that it can secure the required 

performance, payment, and maintenance bonds, issued by a corporate surety 
company authorized and admitted to do business in the State of Texas and 
licensed to issue such a bond in the State of Texas. Contractor must also 
demonstrate that the bond is not in excess of ten percent (10%) of the 
corporate surety company’s capital and surplus. To the extent the amount of 
the bond exceeds ten percent (10%) of the corporate surety company’s 
capital and surplus, such bond will not be accepted unless bidder provides 
written certification that the corporate surety company has reinsured the 
portion of the risk that exceeds ten percent (10%) of the corporate surety 
company’s capital and surplus with one or more insurers who are duly 
authorized, accredited or trusted to do business in the State of Texas. The 
amount reinsured by any reinsurer must not exceed ten percent (10%) of the 
reinsurer’s capital and surplus. 

 
E. The Contractor must file with the bonds, all documents and information 

necessary to establish that the agent signing the bond is authorized to write 
the bond in the amount requested, and if applicable, that reinsurance 
requirements, have been met, including limits and ratings or other evidence 
of company solvency. 

 
F. If the corporate surety company on any bond furnished by Contractor to 

Owner is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or such corporate surety 
company’s right to do business in the State of Texas is revoked, the 
Contractor shall within five (5) consecutive calendar days thereafter 
substitute another bond and corporate surety company, both of which shall 
be acceptable to Owner. 

 
1.11 MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID 

 
A. No bid, proposal, or submittal may be withdrawn or modified after the bid 

opening except where the award of the contract has been delayed beyond 
ninety (90) consecutive calendar days after date of bid opening or as per 
Texas Local Government Code, Title 8, Chapter  262, Subchapter C., 

77



00200 - 10 

Section 262.0305. Modifications after Award. 
 

1.12 IRREGULAR BID 
 

A. It is understood that the City of Corinth, Texas reserves the right to accept 
or reject any and/or all Bids, proposals, or submittals for any or all products 
and/or services covered in an Invitation For Bid (IFB) and to waive 
informalities or defects in submittals or to accept such  submittals as it shall 
deem to be in the best interest of The City of Corinth. 

 
1.13 REJECTION OF BID 

 
A. The bidder acknowledges the right of Owner to reject any or all bids and to 

waive any informality or irregularity in any bid received. In addition, the 
bidder recognizes the right of Owner to reject a bid if the bidder failed to 
furnish any required Bid Security, or to submit the data required by the 
Bidding Documents, or if the bid is in any way incomplete or irregular. 

 
1.14 METHOD OF AWARD 

 
A. In evaluating bids, Owner will consider whether or not the bids comply with 

the prescribed requirements, base prices, any alternates, unit pricing, 
completion time, bidder’s qualifications, bidder’s proposed subcontractors, 
suppliers, etc., and other data as may be requested in the Bid Documents. 

 
B. Owner may conduct such investigations as Owner deems necessary to assist 

in the evaluation of any bid and to establish the responsibility, qualifications 
and financial ability of bidder, proposed subcontractors, suppliers and other 
persons and organizations to perform and furnish the Work in accordance 
with the Bidding Documents to Owner’s satisfaction within the prescribed 
time. 

 
C. If the contract is to be awarded, it will be awarded to the lowest and best 

responsible bidder whose evaluation, by Owner, indicates to be in the best 
interests of the project. If no alternates are selected by Owner, the Owner 
may award the contract to a responsible bidder who submits the lowest and 
best bid. 

 
D. Evaluation of Alternates - Any and/or all or none of the alternates may be 

considered in evaluation. Owner may award Contract on base bid plus any 
and/or all or none of the alternates. 

E. Owner anticipates award within ninety (90) consecutive calendar days after bid 
opening. 

 
F. The bid, when properly accepted by the City, shall constitute a Contract 

equally binding between the contractor and Owner. No different or 

78



00200 - 11 

additional terms will become part of this Contract with the exception of a 
written Change Order, signed by both parties. 

 
G. No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise change, or affect 

the terms, conditions or specifications stated in the resulting contract. All 
change orders to the contract will be made in writing by The City of Corinth 
Purchasing Agent. 

 
1.15 EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 

 
A. The person or persons, partnership, company, firm, association or 

corporation to whom a contract is awarded shall within fifteen (15) 
consecutive calendar days after such award, sign the necessary contract 
agreements and submit the required bonds entering into the required 
Contract with Owner. No contract shall be binding on Owner until it has 
been executed by Owner or his/her duly authorized representative, and 
delivered to the Contractor. 

 
1.16 FAILURE TO EXECUTE CONTRACT 

 
A. The failure of the Bidder to execute the required bonds or to sign the 

required Contract within fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days after the 
Contract is awarded, shall be considered by Owner as abandonment of 
his/her Bid, and Owner may annul the award, at the Owner’s sole 
discretion. 

 
1.17 PURCHASE ORDER 

 
A. A purchase order(s) shall be generated by Owner to the contractor. The 

purchase order number must appear on all itemized invoices. The City of 
Corinth will not be responsible for any orders placed or delivered without a 
valid purchase order number. 

 
1.18 NOTICE TO PROCEED 

 
A. Upon the execution and delivery of Bonds, Executed Contract by 

Contractor, progress schedule, proof of insurance, and all other documents 
required prior to commencing work herein, Owner will issue a written 
Notice to Proceed to the Contractor requesting that he/she proceed with 
construction, and the Contractor shall commence work within fifteen (15) 
consecutive calendar days after the date of Notice to Proceed. 

 
1.19 PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

 
A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with the 

Contract, and payments shall be made in accordance with the Contract 

79



00200 - 12 

Documents. 
 

B. Final Payment: Upon final completion and acceptance of the work, Owner 
shall pay the remainder of the contract price as recommended by Engineer, 
in accordance with Texas Government Code, Title 10, Subtitle F., Chapter 
2251. Contractor(s) is required to pay subcontractors within ten (10) days 
after the contractor has received payment from the City. 

 
C. The Contractor understands, acknowledges and agrees that if the Contractor 

subcontracts with a third party for services and/or material, the primary 
Contractor (awardee) accepts responsibility for full and prompt payment to 
the third party. Any dispute between the primary Contractor and the third 
party, including any payment dispute, will be promptly remedied by the 
Contractor. Failure to promptly render a remedy or to make prompt 
payment to the third party (subcontractor) may result in the withholding of 
funds from the primary Contractor by The City of Corinth for any payments 
owed to the third party. 

 
1.20 AFFIDAVIT OF BILLS PAID 

 
A. Prior to final acceptance of this project by Owner, the Contractor shall 

execute an affidavit that all bills for labor, materials, and incidentals 
incurred in the project construction have been paid in full, and that there are 
no claims pending. 

 
1.21 EXEMPTION FROM STATE OF TEXAS AND LOCAL SALES TAX ON 

MATERIALS 
 

A. Owner qualifies for exemption from State and Local Sales Tax pursuant to the 
provisions of Chapter 151, Section 151.309 of the Texas Limited Sales, Excise 
and Use Tax Act. The Contractor performing this Contract may purchase all 
materials, supplies, equipment consumed in the performance of this Contract by 
issuing to his/her suppliers an exemption certificate in lieu of the tax. 

 
1.22 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 
A. No public official shall have interest, direct or indirect, in this contract, in 

accordance with Texas Local Government Code Title 5, Subtitle C, Chapter 
171. 

 
1.23 BID COMPLIANCE 

 
A. Bid must comply with all federal, state, county and local laws concerning 

this type of  project and the fulfillment of all ADA (Americans With 
Disabilities Act) requirements. 

 

80



00200 - 13 

B. Design, strength, quality of materials and workmanship must conform to the 
highest standards of manufacturing and engineering practice. 

 
C. All products must be new and unused, unless otherwise specified, in first-

class condition  and of current manufacture. 
 

1.24 DRUG FREE 
 

A. All bidders shall provide any and all notices as may be required under the 
Drug-Free Work Place Act of 1988, 41 U.S.C. 701, to its employees and all 
sub-contractors to insure that Owner maintains a drug- free work place. The 
use, possession or being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol while 
working on this bid project or while on City property is prohibited and may 
result in removal of an individual from the project and/or immediate 
termination of contract. The City reserves the right to review drug testing 
records of any personnel involved in this  bid project. The City may require, 
at contractor's expense, drug testing of contractor's personnel if no drug 
testing records exists or if such test results are older than six (6) months. 

 
B. Substances and cut-off levels are as follows: 

 
SUBSTANCE MAXIMUM LEVEL 
Amphetamines 1000 NG/ML 
Barbiturates 300 NG/ML 
Benzodiazepines 300 NG/ML 
Cocaine Metabolite 300 NG/ML 
Opiates 300 NG/ML 
Phencyclidine (PCP) 25 NG/ML 
THC (Marijuana) Metaboline 100 NG/ML 
Methadone, Urinary 300 NG/ML 
Methaquaone, Urine 300 NG/ML 
Propoxyphene 300 NG/ML 

 
1.25 INDEMNIFICATION 

 
A. The Contractor hereby agrees to and shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend 

the City, its officers, agents and employees from and against any and all claims, 
losses, damages, demands, causes of action, suits and liability of every kind, 
including all expenses of litigation, court costs and attorneys' fees, for injury to or 
death of any person, for loss of use or revenue, or for damage to any property 
arising out of or in connection with the actual or alleged malfunction, design or 
workmanship in the manufacture of equipment, the fulfillment of this Contract, or 
the breach of any express or implied warranties under this Contract.  Such 
indemnity shall apply where the claims, losses, damages, causes of action, suits or 
liability arise in part from (i) the negligence of the Contractor, and/or their 
respective officers, agents and/or employees or (ii) the negligence of the 

81



00200 - 14 

Contractor, its officers, agents and employees.  It is the expressed intention of the 
parties hereto, both Contractor and the City, that the indemnity provided for in 
this paragraph is indemnity by Contractor to indemnify and protect the City from 
the consequence of (I) the Contractor’s own negligence where that negligence is 
the cause of the injury, death, or damage.  Furthermore, the indemnity provided 
for in this paragraph shall have no application to any claim, loss, damage, cause 
of action, suit and liability where in injury, death or damage results from the 
negligence of the City.  In the event any action or proceeding is brought against 
the City by reason of any of the above, the Contractor agrees and covenants to 
defend the action or proceeding by counsel acceptable to the City.  The indemnity 
provided for herein shall survive the termination or expiration of this Contract 

 
1.26 CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 

 
A. The time for completion is set forth herein and will be included in the 

Contract. All work shall be completed within the consecutive calendar day 
count shown in the Contractor’s bid. 

The calendar day count shall commence fifteen (15) consecutive calendar 
days after the date of the Notice to Proceed. 

 
B. Prior to the issuance of the Notice to Proceed by Owner, the Contractor 

shall submit a detailed progress and schedule chart to Owner for review. 
This chart will be used to assure completion of the job within the number of 
consecutive calendar days stated in bid documents. 

 
1.27 DELAYS AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME   

A. If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of 
the Work by an act or neglect of the Owner or Engineer, or of an employee 
of either, or of a separate contractor employed by the Owner, or by changes 
ordered in the Work, or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, 
unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond the Contractor's control, or 
by delay authorized by the Owner pending mediation and  arbitration, or by 
other causes which the Engineer determines may justify delay, then the 
Contract Time shall be extended by Change Order for such reasonable time 
as the Engineer may determine. 

 
B. If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, 

such Claim shall be documented by data substantiating that weather 
conditions were abnormal for the period of time and could not have been 
reasonably anticipated, and that the weather conditions had an adverse 
effect on the scheduled construction. 

 
C. Contractor’s sole remedy for any delays in the project, which are not the 

fault of the Contractor, shall be an equitable extension of time to perform 
the work, required by the Contract. In no event shall the Contractor be 

82



00200 - 15 

entitled to make a claim for delay, impact or acceleration damages against 
the Owner. 

 
1.28 DAMAGES 

 
A. Should the contractor fail to complete the project within the specified 

completion schedule the sum of $200.00 per calendar day will be deducted 
from the moneys due the contractor for the work. This sum shall not be 
considered as a penalty, but rather as reasonable liquidated damages, since 
it would be impracticable or extremely difficult to fix the actual damages. 
An extension of time may be allowed for delays beyond the control of the 
contractor at the discretion of Owner. 

 
1.29 TERMINATION 

 
This contract shall remain in effect until any of the following occurs: 

 
A. completion of project; 
B. acceptance of work ordered; or 
C. termination by either party pursuant to the terms of the Contract 

with a thirty (30) days written notice prior to cancellation that must 
state therein the reasons for such cancellation. 

D. Breach of the contract by the Contractor for failure 

1. to meet completion schedules, or 
2. otherwise perform in accordance with these specifications. 

 
Breach of contract or default authorizes the City to purchase elsewhere and charge 
the full increase in cost and handling to the defaulting Contractor. 

 
1.30 PATENTS - COPYRIGHTS 

 
A. The Contractor agrees to protect Owner from any claims involving 

infringements of patents and/or copyrights. In no event shall Owner be 
liable to a contractor for any/all suits arising on the grounds of patent(s) or 
copyright(s) infringement. 

 
1.31 VENUE; GOVERNING LAW 

 
A. This contract will be governed by the laws of the State of Texas. Should any 

portion of this contract be in conflict with the laws of the State of Texas, the 
State laws shall invalidate only that portion. The remaining portion of the 
contract shall remain  in  effect.  This contract is performable in Denton 
County, Texas. 

 
1.32 ASSIGNMENT 

 

83



00200 - 16 

A. The Contractor shall not sell, assign, transfer or convey this contract, in 
whole or in part, without the prior written approval from the City of Corinth 
Commissioners’ Court. 

 
1.33 SILENCE OF SPECIFICATION 

 
A. The apparent silence of any part of the specification as to any detail or to 

the apparent omission from it of a detailed description concerning any 
point, shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices 
are to prevail. All interpretations of the specification shall be made on the 
basis of this statement. 

 
1.34 PROVISION CONCERNING ESCALATOR CLAUSES 

 
A. Bid(s) containing any condition which provides for changes in the stated bid 

prices due to increase or decrease in the costs of materials, labor, or other 
items required for this project, will be rejected and returned to the bidder 
without being considered. 

 
1.35 ESTIMATES OF QUANTITIES 

 
A. The quantities listed in the Bid Form will be considered as approximate and 

will be used for the comparison of bids. Payments will be made to the 
Contractor only for the actual quantities of work performed or materials 
furnished in accordance with the Contract. The quantity of work to be done 
and the materials may be increased or decreased as provided for in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
1.36 PERMITS 

 
A. Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary permits. 

 
B. Fees for permits required by the City of Corinth are waived.  

 
1.37 MATERIALS TESTING 

 
A. Owner will be responsible for all materials testing. 

 
1.38 WAGE SCALE 

 
A. In accordance with Texas Government Code, Title 10, Section 2258, 

Prevailing Wage Rates, the general prevailing wage rate has been 
determined for this locality for the craft or type of 
workman needed to execute work of a similar character of the project listed 
herein. The Contractor shall pay the prevailing wage rate in this locality to 
all his/her employees and subcontractors performing work on this project, 

84



00200 - 17 

and in no event shall the Contractor pay less than the rate shown in the 
following schedule. 

 
General Decision Number: TX170289 

09/08/2017 TX289 Superseded General Decision Number: 

TX20160289 

State: Texas 
 

Construction Type: 

Building County: 

Denton County in 

Texas. 

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family homes or apartments 
up to and including 4 stories). 

 
Note: Under Executive Order (EO) 13658, an hourly minimum wage of $10.20 for 
calendar year 2017 applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the 
contract is awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2015. If this 
contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must pay all workers in any classification 
listed on this wage determination at least $10.20 (or the applicable wage rate listed on this 
wage determination, if it is higher) for all hours spent performing on the contract in 
calendar year 2017. The EO minimum wage rate will be adjusted annually. Additional 
information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at 
www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 
Modification Number Publication Date 

0 01/06/2017 
1 01/27/2017 
2 04/07/2017 
3 04/14/2017 
4 08/25/2017 
5 09/08/2017 

ASBE0021-011 06/01/2016 Rates Fringes 

ASBESTOS WORKER/HEAT & FROST INSULATOR 
(Duct, Pipe and Mechanical System Insulation).... 

 
$ 24.32 

 
7.52 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
BOIL0074-003 01/01/2017 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

85



00200 - 18 

BOILERMAKER...................... 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
CARP1421-002 04/01/2016 

$ 28.00 
 

Rates 

22.35 
 

Fringes 

MILLWRIGHT....................... 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
ELEV0021-006 01/01/2017 

$ 26.60 
 

Rates 

8.65 
 

Fringes 
 

ELEVATOR MECHANIC................ $ 38.77 31.585+a+b 

 

   

   

 
FOOTNOTES: 
A. 6% under 5 years based on regular hourly rate for all hours worked. 8% over 5 

years based on regular hourly rate for all hours worked. 
 

B. New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day,  Labor Day, Thanksgiving 
Day, the Friday after Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and Veterans Day. 

 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
ENGI0178-005 06/01/2014 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR 
(1) Tower Crane............. 

 
$ 29.00 

 
10.60

(2) Cranes with Pile 
Driving or Caisson 
Attachment and Hydraulic 
Crane 60 tons and above..... 

 
 
 
$ 28.75 

 
 
 

10.60
(3) Hydraulic cranes 59 
Tons and under.............. 

 
$ 27.50 

 
10.60

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
* IRON0263-005 06/01/2017 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

IRONWORKER (ORNAMENTAL AND STRUCTURAL)..........
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
PLUM0100-005 05/01/2017 

$ 23.25 
 
Rates 

7.32 
 

Fringes 

HVAC MECHANIC (HVAC Unit Installation Only)............... $ 30.19 11.31
PIPEFITTER (Excludes HVAC Pipe Installation)............... $ 30.19 11.31
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
SUTX2014-015 07/21/2014 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

86



00200 - 19 

BRICKLAYER....................... $ 21.06 0.00 

CARPENTER, Excludes Drywall Hanging, Form Work, 
and Metal Stud Installation................ 

 
$ 15.78 

 
0.00 

CAULKER.......................... $ 15.16 0.00 

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER... $ 13.04 0.00 

DRYWALL HANGER AND METAL STUD INSTALLER...........$ 13.00 0.00

ELECTRICIAN (Alarm Installation Only)............... $ 20.93 3.86 

ELECTRICIAN (Communication Technician Only)................. $ 15.35 1.39 

  
ELECTRICIAN (Low Voltage Wiring Only)..................... $ 17.04 1.39 

ELECTRICIAN, Excludes Low Voltage Wiring and 
Installation of Alarms/Sound and Communication Systems........ 

 
$ 20.01 

 
2.69 

FORM WORKER...................... $ 11.89 0.00 

GLAZIER.......................... $ 16.46 3.94 

HIGHWAY/PARKING LOT STRIPING 
Operator (Striping Machine)..... 

 
$ 10.04 

 
2.31 

INSTALLER - SIDING (METAL/ALUMINUM/VINYL)........... $ 14.74 0.00 

INSTALLER - SIGN................. $ 15.50 0.00 

INSULATOR - BATT................. $ 13.00 0.00 

IRONWORKER, REINFORCING.......... $ 12.29 0.00 

LABORER: Common or General...... $ 10.52 0.00 

LABORER: Mason Tender - Brick... $ 10.54 0.00 

LABORER: Mason Tender Cement/Concrete.................. $ 10.93 0.00 

LABORER: Pipelayer.............. $ 13.00 0.35 

LABORER: Plaster Tender......... $ 12.22 0.00 

87



00200 - 20 

LABORER: Roof Tearoff........... $ 11.28 0.00 

LABORER: Landscape and Irrigation....................... $ 10.55 0.00 

LATHER........................... $ 16.00 0.00 

OPERATOR: 
Backhoe/Excavator/Trackhoe....... 

 
$ 12.83 

 
0.00 

OPERATOR: Bobcat/Skid 
Steer/Skid Loader................ 

 
$ 13.93 

 
0.00 

OPERATOR: Bulldozer............. $ 18.29 1.31 

OPERATOR: Drill................. $ 15.69 0.50 

OPERATOR: Forklift.............. $ 13.21 0.81 
 
OPERATOR: Grader/Blade.......... $ 13.03 

 
0.00 

OPERATOR: Loader................ $ 13.46 0.85 

OPERATOR: Mechanic.............. $ 17.52 3.33 

OPERATOR: Paver (Asphalt, Aggregate, and Concrete)......... $ 18.44 0.00 

OPERATOR: Roller................ $ 15.04 0.00 

PAINTER (Brush, Roller and Spray), Excludes Drywall 
Finishing/Taping................. 

 
$ 13.35 

 
5.10 

PAINTER: Drywall Finishing/Taping Only............ $ 14.24 3.83 

PIPEFITTER (HVAC Pipe Installation Only)............... $ 20.45 4.00 

PLASTERER........................ $ 16.58 0.00 

PLUMBER, Excludes HVAC Pipe Installation..................... $ 22.46 4.06 

ROOFER........................... $ 17.19 0.00 

SHEET METAL WORKER (HVAC Duct Installation Only)........ $ 21.13 4.79 

SHEET METAL WORKER, Excludes HVAC Duct Installation.....$ 24.88 5.97

88



00200 - 21 

SPRINKLER FITTER (Fire Sprinklers)...................... $ 37.50 0.00 

TILE FINISHER.................... $ 11.22 0.00 

TILE SETTER...................... $ 14.25 0.00 

TRUCK DRIVER:  1/Single Axle Truck............................ $ 16.00 0.81 

TRUCK DRIVER: Dump Truck........ $ 12.39 1.18 

TRUCK DRIVER: Flatbed Truck..... $ 19.65 8.57 

TRUCK DRIVER: Semi-Trailer Truck............................ $ 12.50 0.00 

TRUCK DRIVER: Water Truck....... $ 12.00 4.11 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing operation to which welding is 
incidental. 

 
================================================================ 

 
 

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors 
applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded 
(and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by 
the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 
hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be permitted 
to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health- related needs, including 
preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) 
who is ill, injured, or has other health-related needs, including preventive care; or for 
reasons resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the 
employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. Additional 
information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at 
www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 

 
Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the 
classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards 
contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)). 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have been 
found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage 
determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of "identifiers" that 
indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), 

89



00200 - 22 

a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union average 
rate). 
Union Rate Identifiers 

 
A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with 
characters other than "SU" or "UAVG" denotes that the union classification and rate were 
prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. 
PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this 
classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 indicates the local union 
number or district council number where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next 
number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage 
determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which 
in this example is July 1, 2014. 

 
Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective 
bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate. 

 
Survey Rate Identifiers 

 
Classifications listed under the "SU" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this 
classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted 
average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this 
weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union 
and non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates the rates are 
survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not majority rates. 
LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which these 
classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an internal 
number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey 
completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new 

survey is conducted. Union Average Rate Identifiers  

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate 
prevailed for those classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the 
classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG 
indicates that the rate is a weighted union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next 
number, 0010 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage 
determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and 
rates under that identifier. 

 
A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a 
weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the 
rate is based. 

 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 

90



00200 - 23 

 
WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS 

 
1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can be: 

 
* an existing published wage determination 
* a survey underlying a wage determination 
* a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination matter 
* a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling 

 
On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, 
should be with the Wage and Hour Regional Office for the area in which the survey was 
conducted because those Regional Offices have responsibility for the Davis-Bacon survey 
program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process 
described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed. 

 
With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial 
contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to: 

 
Branch of Construction 
Wage Determinations Wage 
and Hour Division 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 
Constitution 
Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, 
DC 20210 

 
2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by the 
action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator 
(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to: 

 
Wage and Hour Administrator 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 
Constitution 
Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, 
DC 20210 

 
The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position 
and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, 
etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue. 

 

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal directly to 

91



00200 - 24 

the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to: 
 

Administrative Review Board 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 
Constitution 
Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, 
DC 20210 

 
4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final. 

 
====================================================

============ END OF GENERAL DECISION 

B. Except for work on legal holidays, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per 
Diem Wage” for the various crafts or type of workers or mechanics is the 
product of (a) the number of hours worked per day, except for overtime 
hours, times (b) the above respective rate per hour. 

 
C. For legal holidays, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per Diem Wage” for the 

various crafts or type of workers or mechanics is the product of (a) one and 
one-half times the above respective rate per hour, times (b) the number of 
hours worked on the legal holiday. 

 
D. For overtime work, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per Diem Wage” for the 

various crafts or type of workers or mechanics is the product of (a) one and 
one-half times the above respective rate per hour, times (b) the number of 
hours worked on overtime. 

 
E. Under the provisions of Texas Government Code, Title 10, Section 2258, 

Prevailing Wage Rates, the contractor or subcontractor of the contractor 
shall forfeit as a penalty to the entity on whose behalf the contract is made 
or awarded, sixty dollars ($60.00) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, 
that the worker is paid less than the wage rates stipulated in the contract. 

 
F. If the construction project involves the expenditure of Federal funds in 

excess of $2,000, the minimum wages to be paid various classes of laborers 
and mechanics will be based upon the wages that will be determined by the 
Secretary of Labor to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers 
and mechanics employed on the project of a character similar to the contract 
work. 

 
1.39 The City of Corinth Public Works Director shall serve as Contract Administrator or 

shall supervise agents designated by The City of Corinth. 

92



00200 - 25 

 
1.40 All warranties shall be stated as required in the Uniform Commercial Code. 

 
1.41 The Contractor and The City of Corinth agree that both parties have all rights, 

duties, and remedies available as stated in the Uniform Commercial Code. 

1.42 Contractor shall not fraudulently advertise, publish or otherwise make reference to 
the existence of a contract between The City of Corinth and Contractor for purposes 
of solicitation. As exception, Contractor may refer to The City of Corinth as an 
evaluating reference for purposes of establishing a contract with other entities. 

 
1.43 Contractor shall provide The City of Corinth with diagnostic access tools at no 

additional cost to The City, for all Electrical and Mechanical systems, components, 
etc., procured through this contract. 

 
1.44 Vendors/Contractors/Providers must be in compliance with the Immigration and 

Reform Act of 1986 and all employees specific to this solicitation must be legally 
eligible to work in the United States of America. 

 
1.45 CERTIFICATION OF ELIGIBILITY: This  provision  applies  if  the  anticipated  

Contract  exceeds $100,000.00 and as it relates to the expenditure of federal grant 
funds. By submitting a bid or proposal in response to this solicitation, the 
Bidder/Quoter/Offeror certifies that at the time of submission, he/she is not on the 
Federal Government’s list of suspended, ineligible, or debarred contractors. In the 
event of placement on the list between the time of bid/proposal submission and 
time of award, the Bidder/Quoter/Offeror will notify the City of Corinth Purchasing 
Agent. Failure  to do so may result in terminating this contract for default. 

 
1.46 Contractors doing business with Owner agree to comply with Federal Executive 

Order 13465 E- Verify. It is OWNER’s intention and duty to comply and support 
the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) which includes provisions addressing 
employment eligibility, employment verification and non-discrimination. 
According to the INA, contractors/employers may hire only persons who may 
legally work in the United States. Subsequently, contractors and subcontractors 
doing business with OWNER must confirm their enrollment in the E-Verify system 
which verifies employment eligibility through completion and checking of I-9 
forms. OWNER reserves the right to audit contractor’s process to verify enrollment 
compliance. 

 
1.47 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
A. Definition 

Vendors/Contractors shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract, 
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may 
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the 
vendor, his agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. The cost of such 

93



00200 - 26 

insurance shall be borne by the vendor. A certificate of insurance meeting all 
requirements and provisions shall be provided to the City prior to any services 
being performed or rendered. Renewal certificates shall also be supplied upon 
expiration. 

B. Minimum Scope of Insurance: Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  

1. ISO Form Number GL 00 01 (or similar form) covering Commercial 
General Liability. “Occurrence” form only, “claims made” forms are 
unacceptable.  Policy must include coverage for: 

a. Premises/Operations 

b. Broad Form Contractual Liability 

c. Products and Completed Operations 

d. Personal Injury 

e. Broad Form Property Damage 

2. Workers Compensation insurance as required by the Labor Code of the 
State of Texas, including Employers’ Liability Insurance. 

3. Automobile Liability as required by the State of Texas, covering all 
owned, hired, or non-owned vehicles. Automobile Liability is only 
required if vehicle(s) will be used under the contract. 

4. Professional Liability, also known as Errors and Omissions Coverage. 
Professional Liability is only required for Professional Services 
contracts. 

C. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions:  Any deductible or self-insured 
retention in excess of $10,000 must be declared to and approved by the 
City. 

D. Other Insurance Provisions:  The policies are to contain, or be endorsed to 
contain the following provisions. 

1. General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverage: 

a. The City, its officers, officials, employees, boards and 
commissions and volunteers are to be added as “Additional 
Insured’s” relative to liability arising out of activities performed by 
or on behalf of the vendor/contractor, products and completed 
operations of the vendor, premises owned, occupied or used by the 
vendor/contractor. The coverage shall contain no special 
limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the City, its 
officers, officials, employees or volunteers. 

94



00200 - 27 

b. The vendor/contractor insurance coverage shall be primary 
insurance in respects to the City, its officers, officials, employees 
and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the 
City, its officers, officials, employees or volunteers shall be in 
excess of the vendor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

c. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policy shall 
not affect coverage provided to the City, its officers, officials, 
employees, boards, and commissions or volunteers. 

d. The vendor/contractor insurance shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom the claim is made or suit is brought, except 
to the limits of the insured’s limit of liability. 

2. Workers Compensation and Employer’s Liability Coverage: The 
insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the City, 
its officers, officials, employees and volunteers for losses arising from 
work performed by the vendor for the City. 

3. All Coverage:   Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be 
endorsed to state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, 
canceled or non-renewed by either party, reduced in coverage or in 
limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, has been given the City. 

E. Acceptability of Insurers:   The City prefers that insurance be placed with 
insurers with an A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A-VI, or better. 

F.   Verification of Coverage:  Vendor/Contractor shall provide the City 
certificates of insurance indicating the coverage required. The certificates 
are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on 
its behalf. Certificates of Insurance similar to the ACORD Form are 
acceptable. City will not accept Memorandums of Insurance or Binders as 
proof of insurance. The City reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies at any time. 

G. Insurance Waiver Request. Vendors/contractors requesting a waiver of the 
minimum limits of insurance identified in Section 1.47.H.2 must submit the 
request in writing.  Please note, commercial general liability cannot be 
waived.  Requests to waive other coverage requirements will be considered 
in the bid evaluation process.  The vendor/contractor must also complete, 
sign, and return the Release Agreement form to the Purchasing Office prior 
to authorization to perform services for the City.   

 
H. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES REQUIREMENTS  
 

1.  Definition: Construction Services are defined as services for 
construction projects, including but not limited to: General 

95



00200 - 28 

Contractors, Demolition Contractors, Utility Contractors, Building 
Contractors, Street and Road Contractors, etc. 

 
2. Minimum Limits of Insurance: 
 

a. Commercial General Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence / 
$2,000,000 in the aggregate for third party bodily injury, personal 
injury and property damage.  Policy must include coverage listed 
in Section 1.47.B.1. 

 
b. Workers Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Workers 

Compensation limits as required by the Labor Code of the State of 
Texas and Statutory Employer’s Liability minimum limits of 
$100,000 each accident, $300,000 Disease - Policy Limit, and 
$100,000 Disease – Each Employee. 

 
c. Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit. Limits 

can only be reduced if approved by the City.  Automobile liability 
shall apply to all owned, hired, and non-owned autos. Automobile 
Liability is only required if vehicle(s) will be used under the 
contract. 

d. Builder’s Risk Insurance:  Completed value form, insurance carried 
must be equal to the completed value of the structure.  City shall be 
listed as Loss Payee. 

e. Umbrella Liability - $1,000,000:  Limit that follows form over 
underlying Automobile Liability, General Liability, and Employers 
Liability coverage.  

 
1.48 Vendors/Contractors/Providers must be in compliance with the provisions of 

Section 2270.001 of the Texas Government Code which states a governmental 
entity may not enter into a contract with a company for goods or services unless the 
contract contains a written verification from the company 

that it: (1) does not boycott Israel; and, (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of 
the contract.  By submitting a response to a City of Corinth solicitation, the vendor 
will be required to sign the Chapter 2270 Verification form prior to a 
recommendation of the contract. This Act is effective September 1, 2017. 

 
1.49 Vendors/Contractors/Providers must be in compliance with the provisions of 

Section 2252.152 and Section 2252.153 of the Texas Government Code which 
states, in part, contracts with companies engaged in business with Iran, Sudan, or 
Foreign Terrorist Organizations are prohibited. A governmental entity may not 
enter into a contract with a company that is listed on the Comptroller of the State of 
Texas website identified under Section 806.051, Section 807.051 or Section 
2253.253 which do business with Iran, Sudan or any Foreign Terrorist 

96



00200 - 29 

Organization. This Act is effective September 1, 2017. 
 
 
 1.50 HB 1295 Instructions for Vendors & Bidders 

 
Certificate of Interested Parties 
 
In 2015, the Texas Legislature adopted House Bill 1295, which added Section 2252.908 of 
the Government Code. 
 
Effective January 1, 2016 all contracts presented to City Council will require awarded 
vendors to electronically file Form 1295 “Certificate of Interested Parties” and submit a 
certificate of filing to the City, before the contract can be awarded.  “Contract” includes 
new contracts, amendments, renewals, extensions, purchase orders, and cooperative 
purchases.  The requirement will be included in every Bid, RFP, SOQ, and RFQ issued by 
the City and will be required to be completed as part of the submittal requirements. 
 
Bidders/vendors must file the form electronically at 
https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/whatsnew/elf_info_form1295.htm  and submit a signed 
copy of the form to the City with their bid.   
Bidders/vendors will need to create an account on the Texas Ethics Commission website. 
For assistance on how to register and how to complete Form 1295, you may view the short 
“Logging In the First Time – Business User” and “How To Create a Certificate” videos 
that are posted on the website noted above.  In addition, there are several other links on the 
website posted above that may be helpful in understanding and completing Form 1295. 
Bidders Must include a copy of signed form with bid submittal. 
 
The City is required to notify the Texas Ethics Commission, in an electronic format 
prescribed by the commission, of receipt of those documents not later than the 30th day 
after the date the contract for which the form was filed binds all parties to the contract. 
 
Bidders must also complete the Conflict of Interest Questionnaire (Form CIQ) 
included in this solicitation. 
 

97



00410 BID FORM - 1 

Section 00410-Bid Form 

Corinth, Texas 
 

Bid Information Contact Information Ship to Information 

Bid 
Owner 
Email 

Cindy Troyer, C.P.M., A.P.P. 
purchasing@cityofcorinth.com 

 Address 3300 Corinth Parkway 
Corinth, TX 76208 

 Address 3300 Corinth Parkway 

Phone (940) 498-3286    Corinth, TX 76208
Fax (940) 498-7578  Contact Cindy Troyer, C.P.M., A.P.P.  Contact          Cindy Troyer, C.P.M., A.P.P. 
   Department   Purchasing  Department   Purchasing 
Bid Number 1124  Building          City Hall Building  Building   City Hall
Title City Of Corinth Public Works 

And Lake Cities Fire Department 
Site Improvements  

 Floor/Room Ste. 2nd Floor  Floor/Room    2nd Floor  

   Telephone (940) 498-3286  Telephone (940) 498-3286 
   Fax (940) 498-7578  Fax (940) 498-7578 
Bid Type IFB  Email purchasing@cityofcorinth.com  Email purchasing@cityofcorinth.com 
Issue Date 01/30/2019      
Close Date 02/28/2019 02:00:00 PM (CT)      

 
Supplier Information  Supplier Notes 

Company Name    

Contact Name    

Address    

    

    

Telephone    

Fax    

Email    

 

The undersigned hereby certifies the foregoing bid submitted by the company listed below hereinafter called “bidder” is the duly authorized agent of 
said company and the person signing said bid has been duly authorized to execute same. Bidder affirms that they are duly authorized to execute this 
contract; this company; corporation, firm, partnership or individual has not prepared this bid in collusion with any other bidder or other person or 
persons engaged in the same line of business; and that the contents of this bid as to prices, terms and conditions of said bid have not been communicated 
by the undersigned nor by any employee or agent to any other person engaged in this type of business prior to the official opening of this bid. 

 
Signature       Date  / /  

 

Bid Notes 

 
 

Bid Activities  
 

Date  Name Description
 
 

  
Mandatory Pre-Bid Conference 

 
There will be no pre-bid meeting.     
Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only by contacting Cody Collier at (940) 498-
7510. 
 

02/28/2019 02:00 PM 
(CT) 

 
Intent to Bid Do you intend to submit a bid? 

 
 

Bid Messages                
  

98



00410 BID FORM - 2 

Bid Attachments  

The following attachments are associated with this opportunity and will need to be retrieved separately 
 

#  Filename  Description 

Header 

Header 

Header 

  
LEGAL NOTICE 

Corinth Bid Book 

Corinth Plan Set 

 
Legal Notice 

Specification

s Plan Set 
 
 

Bid Attachments Requested  

The following attachments are requested with this opportunity 
 

#  Required  Specified Attachment 
 
1 

  
YES 

  
Section 00410-Bid Schedule 

2 
 
YES 

 
Bid Security: The original Bid Security shall be received in the City of Corinth Purchasing Department with bid submittal. 

3 
 
NO 

 
W-9 

4  YES  Conflict of Interest Questionnaire 

5  YES  Form 1295: must be filed electronically on Texas Ethics Commission Website, signed and submitted with bid. 

 
  

99



00410 BID FORM - 3 

 

Bid Attributes  

Please review the following and respond where necessary 
 

#  Name  Note  Response
 
1 

  
Calendar Days Bid-Base Bid 

  
Please state the consecutive calendar days bid for the 
Base Bid. 

  
  (Required) 

2 
 
Exceptions 

 Do you take exceptions to the specifications. If so, by 
separate attachment, please state your exceptions. Valid 
Responses: [Please Select], Yes, No 

 

 

 
  (Required) 

3 
 
Insurance 

 I understand that the insurance requirements of this
solicitation are required and a certificate of insurance 
shall be submitted to the Purchasing department if I am 
awarded all or a portion of the resulting contract. 
 
Please initial. 

 
  (Required) 

 
 
 

   
 

4 
 
Subcontractors    

 
State the business name of all subcontractors and the type of 
work they will be performing under this contract. 

 
If you are fully qualified to self-perform the entire contract, 
please respond with "Not Applicable-Self Perform".

 
  (Required) 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

5 
 
Reference No. 1 

 
List a company or governmental agency where these 
same/like products /services, as stated herein, have been 
provided. 

 
  (Required) 

 
 
 

 Include the following: Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Phone, and E-Mail. 

 
 

6 
 
Reference No. 2 

 List a company or governmental agency where these 
same/like products /services, as stated herein, have been 
provided.  

 

Include the following:  Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Phone, and E-Mail. 

 

 
  (Required) 

7 
 
Reference No. 3 

 List a company or governmental agency where these 
same/like products /services, as stated herein, have been 
provided.  

 

Include the following:  Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Phone, and E-Mail. 

 

 
  (Required) 

8 
 
Preferential Treatment 

 The City of Corinth, as a governmental agency of the 
State of Texas, may not award a contract to a nonresident 
bidder unless the nonresident's bid is lower than the  
lowest bid submitted by a responsible Texas resident 
bidder by the same amount that a Texas resident bidder 
would be required to underbid a nonresident bidder to 
obtain a comparable contract in the state in which the 
nonresident's principal place of business is located 
(Government Code, Title 10, V.T.C.A., Chapter 2252, 

 
  (Required) 

100



00410 BID FORM - 4 

Subchapter A). 

 

 

 
 
 

 1. Is your principal place of business in the State of 
Texas? 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 2. If your principal place of business is not in Texas, in 
which State is your principal place of business? 

 
 

 
 
 

 3. If your principal place of business is not in Texas, does 
your state favor resident bidders (bidders in your state) by 
some dollar increment or percentage? 

 
 

 
 
 

 4. If your state favors resident bidders, state by what 
dollar amount or percentage. 

 
 

9 
 
Debarment Certification 

 I certify that neither my company nor an owner or 
principal of my company has been debarred, suspended 
or otherwise made ineligible for participation in Federal 
Assistance programs under Executive Order 12549, 
“Debarment and Suspension,” as described in the Federal 
Register and Rules and Regulations. 

 

 
  (Required) 

 Please initial.  

   

10 Immigration and Reform Act I declare and affirm that my company is in compliance with 
the Immigration and Reform Act of 1986 and all employees 
are legally eligible to work in the United States of America. 

  (Required) 

  I further understand and acknowledge that any 
non-compliance with the Immigration and Reform Act of 
1986 at any time during the term of this contract will 
render the contract voidable by the City of Corinth. 

 

  Please initial.  

    

11 Disclosure of Certain Relationships Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code requires 
that any vendor considering doing business with a local 
government entity disclose the vendor’s affiliation or 
business relationship that might cause a conflict of interest 
with a local government entity. Subchapter 6 of the code 
requires a vendor to file a conflict of interest questionnaire 
(CIQ) if a conflict exists. By law this questionnaire must be 
filed with the  records administrator of the City of Corinth 
no later than the 7th business day after the date the vendor 
becomes aware of an event that requires the statement to be 
filed. A vendor commits an offense if the vendor knowingly 
violates the code. An offense under this section is a 
misdemeanor. 

  (Required) 

  By submitting a response to this request, the vendor 
represents that it is in compliance with the requirements of 
Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

  Please send completed forms to the City of Corinth, 
Purchasing Department, located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, 
Corinth, TX 76028. 

 

  Please initial.  

101



00410 BID FORM - 5 

12 Anti-Collusion Statement Bidder certifies that its Bid/Proposal is made without prior 
understanding, agreement, or connection with any 
corporation, firm, or person submitting a Bid/Proposal for 
the same materials, services, supplies, or equipment and is 
in all respects fair and without collusion or fraud. 

  (Required) 

  No premiums, rebates or gratuities permitted; either with, 
prior to, or after any delivery of material or provision of 
services. Any such violation may result in Agreement 
cancellation, return of materials or discontinuation of 
services and the possible removal from bidders list. 

 

  Please initial.  

    

13 Disclosure of Interested Parties Section 2252.908 of the Texas Government Code requires a 
business entity entering into certain contracts with a 
governmental entity to file with the governmental entity a 
disclosure of interested parties. The City of Corinth requires 
this be included in Contractor’s bid submittal. Section 
2252.908 requires the disclosure form (Form 1295) to be 
signed by the authorized agent of the contracting business 
entity, acknowledging that the disclosure is made under oath 
and under penalty of perjury. Section 2252.908 applies only 
to a contract that requires an action or vote by the governing 
body of the governmental entity before the contract may be 
signed or has a value of at least $1 million. Section 
2252.908 provides definitions of certain terms occurring in 
the section. 

  (Required) 

  Section 2252.908 applies only to a contract entered into on  

  or after January 1, 2016. 

 

 

  Please initial.  

    

14 Bid Security Acknowledgement Accompanying this bid, is a certified check, cashier’s check 
or Bid Bond in the amount of five percent (5%) of the total 
amount bid. Also accompanying this bid, all the information 
required in Section 00200 – Instructions to Bidders. 

  (Required) 

  Please initial.  

15 Construction Acknowledgement Bidder, declares that the only person or parties interested in 
this bid are those principals named herein, that his/her bid is 
made  without collusion with any other person, firm or 
corporation, that he/she has carefully examined the 
Contract Documents including the Important Dates, 
Instruction to Bidders, Construction Agreement, 
Specifications and the Drawings, therein referred to and has 
carefully examined the locations, conditions and classes of 
materials for the proposed work, and agrees that he/she  
will provide all the necessary labor, machinery, tools, 
equipment, apparatus and other items incidental to 
construction and will do all the work and furnish all the 
materials called for in the Contract Documents in the 
manner prescribed therein. 

 (Required)  

102



00410 BID FORM - 6 

  Bidder hereby declares that he/she has visited the site of the 
Work and has carefully examined the Contract Documents 
pertaining to the Work covered by the above Bid, and 
he/she further agrees to commence work within fifteen (15) 
consecutive calendar days after date of written Notice to 
Proceed and to substantially complete the work on which 
he/she has bid within the number of days specified subject 
to such extensions of time allowed by Specifications. 

  Bidder certifies that the bid prices contained in this bid 
have been carefully checked and are submitted as correct 
and final. The prices have been shown in words and figures 
for each item listed in this bid and it is understood that in 
the event of a discrepancy, the words shall govern. 

 

  Please initial.  

    

 
Base Bid 

PUBLIC WORKS IMPROVEMENTS 
Line Items            

# Qty UOM Description Response   
 

1 1 Lump Sum Base Bid Grand Total  $      

    (Required) 

Item Notes: Please submit Section 00410 Bid Schedule.  

Supplier Notes: 

 
Item Attributes   
# Name Note Response (All Required) 
1 Base Bid Grand Total Written in Words The contract award will be based on 

the total bid price 
 

2 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project 

 $ 

3 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project – Written in Words 

  

4 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project  $ 

5 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project 
– Written in Words 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103



00410 BID FORM - 2 

 
Base Bid 

LCFD PRACTICE FACILITY 
Line Items            

# Qty UOM Description Response   
 

1 1 Lump Sum Base Bid Grand Total  $      

    (Required) 

Item Notes: Please submit Section 00410 Bid Schedule.  

Supplier Notes: 

 
Item Attributes   
# Name Note Response (All Required) 
1 Base Bid Grand Total Written in Words The contract award will be based on 

the total bid price 
 

2 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project 

 $ 

3 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project – Written in Words 

  

4 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project  $ 

5 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project 
– Written in Words 

  

 
  

104



SECTION 00430 - BID BOND 
 
 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
DENTON COUNTY  § KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
THAT      , a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of  , and fully authorized to 
transact business in the State of Texas, whose address is    of the City of   County of   , and 
State of  ,(hereinafter referred to as “Principal”), and          (hereinafter referred to as “Surety”, a corporation 
organized under the laws of the State of  and authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to act as surety on bonds for principals, are held and 
firmly bound unto  (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”) and unto all persons, firms and corporations who may furnish materials for or perform labor upon the 
buildings, structures or improvements referred to in the attached Contract, , in the penal sum of         Dollars 
($    ) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment whereof, the said Principal and Surety bind themselves, and their heirs, administrators, 
executors, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents: 
SIGNED, SEALED and DATED this day of    20  . 
 
WHEREAS, the Principal is herewith submitting its proposal for BID NO. 1124, CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 
SITE IMPROVEMENTS 
The condition of the above obligations are such that if the aforesaid Principal shall be awarded the Contract, the said Principal will, within the time required, enter into a 
Contract and give Bonds, if required, for the faithful performance of the Contract and the prompt payment for labor and materials in the prosecution thereof, then this 
obligation shall be null and void; otherwise the Principal and Surety will pay unto the OWNER the full penal sum hereof, as liquidated damages, it being difficult and 
impractical to determine accurately the actual amount of damages occurring to OWNER by reason of Principal’s failure to execute said Contract and Bonds. 
PROVIDED FURTHER, that if any legal action be filed on this Bond, venue shall lie in Denton County, Texas. 
 
 
The Resident Agent of the Surety for delivery of notice and service of process is: 
Name:    
Address:     
Phone Number:     
 
 
WITNESS       
 PRINCIPAL 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 
        

 
 
WITNESS       
 SURETY 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 
        

 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: CERTIFIED COPY OF POWER-OF-ATTORNEY SHOULD BE ATTACHED HERETO. 

105



00500 - 1 

 

SECTION 00500 - CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

THIS CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between 
      , a       corporation 
(hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”), and CORINTH, TEXAS, a political subdivision of the 
State of Texas (hereinafter referred to as “City” or “OWNER”), to be effective from and after the 
date hereinafter provided. 
 
For and in consideration of the covenants and agreements contained herein, and for the mutual 
benefits to be obtained hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

CONTRACT SUM 
 
The City shall pay the Contractor in current funds for the performance of the work, subject to 
additions and deductions by Change orders as provided in the Contract Documents. The contract 
sum shall be the amount of    ($       ). 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
This Construction Agreement, having been previously approved by the City of Corinth City 
Council, shall be effective upon the date of delivery and execution by Contractor, provided the 
City executes the same within ten (10) consecutive calendar days after said delivery and 
execution by Contractor. 
 

I. CONTRACT GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
1.1 DEFINITIONS 
 

Words which have well-known technical or construction industry meanings shall have 
their commonly understood meanings in the Contract Documents, unless a different 
meaning is stated in the Contract Documents. The following words and expressions, or 
pronouns used in their place, shall wherever they appear in this contract be construed as 
follows, unless a different meaning is clear from the context: 
 
Addendum, Bulletin or Letter of Clarification: Any additional contract provisions, or 
change, revisions or clarification of the Contract Documents issued in writing by the 
OWNER, to prospective bidders prior to the receipt of bids. 
 
Contract or Contract Documents: The written agreement covering the performance of 
the work. The Contract and Contract Documents include this written Construction 
Agreement between OWNER and CONTRACTOR, Important Dates, Instructions to 
Bidders, Requests for Proposal, all Addenda, the Specifications, including the general 
and supplemental special and technical conditions, Drawings, provisions, plans or 
working drawings — and any supplemental changes or agreements pertaining to the 
Work or materials therefor; and bonds and any additional documents incorporated by 
reference in the above. 

106



00500 - 2 

 

 

CONTRACTOR: The person, persons, partnership, firm, corporation, association or 
organization, or any combination thereof, entering into the contract for the execution of 
the work, acting directly or through a duly authorized representative. 
 
Other CONTRACTORS: Any contractor, other than the CONTRACTOR or his 
subcontractors, who has a direct contact with the OWNER for work on or adjacent to the 
site of the work. 
 
Contract Work or Work: Everything expressly or impliedly required to be furnished 
and done by the CONTRACTOR by the Contract Documents. 
 
Engineer: The term “Engineer” means the Engineer or his duly authorized 
representative. The Engineer shall be understood to be the Engineer of the OWNER, and 
nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual or agency 
relationship between the Engineer and the CONTRACTOR. 
 
Extra Work: Work other than that which is expressly or impliedly required by the 
Contract Documents at the time of the execution of the contract. 
 
Change Order: A written order to the CONTRACTOR authorizing and directing an  
addition, deletion or revision in the work within the general scope of the Contract 
Documents, or authorizing an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract time. 
 
Contract Price: The total amount of money payable to the CONTRACTOR under the 
terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. When used in such context, it may also 
mean the unit price of an item of work under the Contract terms. 
 
OWNER’S Representative: The Engineer or other duly authorized assistant, agent, 
engineer, inspector or superintendent acting within the scope of their particular duties. 
 
Drawings or Contract Drawings: Those drawings that are the graphic and pictorial 
portions of the Contract Documents showing the design, location and dimensions of the 
Work, including but not limited to, the plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules, 
diagrams, any bulletin, or any detailed drawing furnished by the OWNER, pertaining or 
supplemental thereto. 
 
Specifications: Those portions of the Contract Documents that specify the requirements 
for materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship for performance of the 
Work, and related services. 
 
Inspector: Any representative of the OWNER designated to inspect the work. 
 
Materialman or Supplier: Any subcontractor contracting with the CONTRACTOR, or 
any of his subcontractors, to fabricate or deliver or who actually fabricates or delivers 
materials, supplies or equipment to be consumed or incorporated into the Work. 

107



00500 - 3 

 

 

Notice: Written notice effective the date of the postmark thereon, or if hand delivered, 
effective the date of hand delivery. 
 
OWNER: CORINTH, TEXAS, a political subdivision of the State of Texas. The term 
OWNER means the OWNER or its authorized representative. 
 
Payment Bond: A bond in the amount of the Contract executed by a corporate surety in 
accordance with all Texas Law, including but not limited to, Chapter 2253 of the Texas 
Government Code and Chapter 3503 of the Texas Insurance Code, for public works 
projects as security furnished by the CONTRACTOR and his sureties soley for the 
protection of payment bond beneficiaries supplying labor and materials in the prosecution 
of the Contract Work. 
 
Performance Bond: A bond in the amount of the Contract executed by a corporate 
surety in accordance with all Texas Law, including but not limited to, Chapter 2253 of 
the Texas Government Code and Chapter 3503 of the Texas Insurance Code, for public 
works projects as security furnished by the CONTRACTOR and his sureties soley for the 
protection of the Owner, conditioned on the faithful performance of the Contract Work in 
accordance with the plans, specification, and Contract Documents. 
 
Maintenance Bond: A bond executed by a corporate surety for 100% of the Contract 
Price that complies with all Texas Laws, including but not limited to, Chapter 3503 of the 
Texas Insurance Code, guaranteeing the prompt, full and faithful performance of the 
general guaranty and warranty contained in the Contract Documents, and Texas Law. 
 
Project: The total construction of the work described in the Contract Documents 
performed by the Contractor, Other Contractor or the Owner in whole or part. 
 
Proposal: The written statement or statements duly submitted to the OWNER by the 
person, persons, partnership, company, firm, association or corporation proposing to do 
the Work contemplated, including the approved form on which the formal bids for the 
Work are to be proposed. 
 
Plan, or Plans: The plans are the drawings or reproductions therefrom made by the 
Owner or Owner’s Representative and approved by the Owner showing the dimensions, 
location,  design and position of the various elements of the Project and Work, including 
plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules, diagrams, working drawings, preliminary 
drawings, and such supplemental drawings as the Owner may issue to clarify other 
drawings or for the purpose of showing changes in the Contract Work authorized by the 
Owner, or for showing details not shown therein. 
 
Special Provisions or Conditions: The special clauses of the Contract, or Contract 
Documents, setting forth conditions or requirements peculiar to the specific Project 
involved, supplementing the standard or general specifications and taking precedence 
over any conditions or requirements of the standard or general specifications with which 

108



00500 - 4 

 

they are in conflict. 
 

Specifications or Contract Specifications: All of the general, special and technical 
conditions or provisions, and all addendum or supplements thereto consisting of written 
requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards and performance of the work. 
 
Site: The area upon or in which the CONTRACTOR’S operations are carried on, and 
such other areas adjacent thereto as may be designated as such by the OWNER. 
 
Subcontractors: Any persons, firm or corporation, other than employees of the 
CONTRACTOR, who or which contracts with the CONTRACTOR to furnish, or who 
actually furnishes, labor and/or materials and equipment at or about the site. 
 
Sureties: The corporate bodies which are bound by such bonds as are required with and 
for the CONTRACTOR. The sureties engaged to be responsible for the entire and 
satisfactory fulfillment of the Contract and for any and all requirements as set out in the 
specifications, Contract or plans. 
 
The Work: All work including the furnishing of all labor, materials, tools, equipment, 
required submittals and incidentals to be performed by the CONTRACTOR under the 
terms of the Contract. 
 
Directed, Required, Approved and Words of Like Import: Whenever they apply to 
the Work or its performance, the words “directed,” “required,” “permitted,” “ordered,” 
“designated,” “established,” “prescribed” and words of like import used in the Contract, 
specifications or upon the drawings shall imply the direction, requirement, permission, 
order, designation or prescription of the OWNER; and “approved,” “acceptable,” 
“satisfactory” and words of like import shall mean approved by, acceptable to or 
satisfactory to the OWNER. 
 
Equal: Materials, articles or methods which are of equal or higher quality than those 
specified or shown on the drawings and as further defined in the “or equal” clause. 
Substitution of Materials shall be determined by the Engineer at his or her discretion, and 
approved by the Owner. 
 
Working Time, Completion Time or Contract Time: The time set forth in the Contract 
for the performance and completion of the Work contracted for. The time may be 
expressed as calendar days, working days or a specific date. 
 
Calendar Day or Days: Any successive days of the week or month, no days being 
excepted. 
 
Working Day: A working day is defined as a calendar day not including Saturdays, 
Sundays or those legal holidays as specified in the list prepared by the OWNER for 
contract purposes. Approved working hours are from 7:00am to 7:00pm, CST. Nothing in 
this definition shall be construed as prohibiting the CONTRACTOR from working on 

109



00500 - 5 

 

Saturdays if he so desires, however permission of the OWNER shall be necessary if the 
CONTRACTOR chooses to work on Saturday. Work on Sundays shall not be permitted 
without the written permission of the OWNER. If Saturday or Sunday work is permitted, 
working time shall be charged on the same basis as week days. Where the working time 
is expressed as calendar days or a specific date, the concept of working days shall no 
longer be relevant to the contract. 

 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
1.2 The parties agree that the Contract Documents shall consist of the following documents 

in addition to any other documents referenced or incorporated herein: 
 

A. This written Construction Agreement, including any changes or modifications; 
B. All addenda including the following listed and numbered addenda: Addendum 

No. 1 dated  Received  Addendum No. 2 dated  Received  
Addendum No. 3 dated  Received   

C. Important Dates, Instructions to Bidder, the Invitation to Bid and Bid Form; 
D. The Special/Supplemental Conditions; 
E. The Specifications and the Project Drawings (if any); 
F. The Construction Details shown on plans; 
G. The Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings from the Public Works 

Construction Standards-North Central Texas Council of Governments, November 
2017 edition and all subsequent addendums; 

H. The Performance Bond in the sum of ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the 
total Contract Price; 

I. The Payment Bond in the sum of ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the 
total Contract Price; and, 

J. The Maintenance Bond in the sum of ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the 
total Contract Price. 

 
1.2.1 PRIORITY OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 

These Contract Documents (A through I above) form the Construction Agreement and 
are a part of this Construction Agreement as if fully set forth herein. In the event of an 
inconsistency in any of the provisions of the Contract Documents, the inconsistency shall 
be resolved by giving precedence to the Contract Documents in the order in which they 
are listed above. 

 
1.2.2 THE CONTRACT 
 

The Contract Documents form the Contract. The Contract represents the entire integrated 
agreement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR and supersedes all prior 
negotiations, and representations by either party. 

 
1.3 CORRELATION AND INTENT OF DOCUMENTS 
 

110



00500 - 6 

 

The Contract Documents are complementary and what is called for by any one shall be as 
binding as if called for by all. The intent of the documents, unless otherwise specifically 
provided, is to produce complete and finished work, which the CONTRACTOR 
undertakes to do in full compliance with the Contract Documents. It is not intended to 
mention every item of work in the specifications which can be adequately shown on the 
drawings nor to show on the drawings all items of work described or required by the 
specifications. All materials or labor for work shown on the drawings or reasonably 
inferable therefrom as being necessary to produce a finished job shall be provided by the 
CONTRACTOR whether or not same is expressly covered in the specifications. No 
verbal conversation, understanding or agreement with any officer or employee or agent of 
the OWNER, either before or after the execution of the Contract, shall affect or modify 
any of the terms, conditions or obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 

 
1.3.1 CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

The OWNER shall furnish the CONTRACTOR one copy of the Contract Drawings and 
any supplemental drawings and specifications reasonably necessary for the proper 
execution of the work. At least one copy of all drawings and specifications shall be 
accessible at all times to the OWNER at the job site. 

 
1.3.2 SUPPLEMENTAL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

In order to carry out the intent of the Contract Documents and to assist the 
CONTRACTOR in performing its work, the OWNER, after the execution of the 
Contract, may, by supplemental drawings, specifications or otherwise, furnish additional 
information or instructions as may be necessary for construction purposes. 
 
All such supplemental drawings, specifications or instructions are intended to be 
consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable therefrom. Therefore, 
no extra costs shall be allowed by the OWNER on a claim that particular supplemental 
drawings, specifications or instructions differ from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, incurring extra costs, unless the CONTRACTOR has first brought the 
matter, in writing, to the OWNER’S attention for adjustment before proceeding with the 
work covered by such. 
 
If the OWNER decides that there is no departure from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, the CONTRACTOR shall then proceed with the work as shown, specified or 
directed. If the OWNER shall decide that extra work is involved, he shall so modify the 
supplemental drawings, specifications or instructions to eliminate the extra work, or 
cause a written Change Order to be issued in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
1.3.3 ERRORS AND CORRECTIONS IN DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall not take advantage of any apparent errors, omissions or 
discrepancies in the drawings or specifications; and the Architect or Engineer shall be 
permitted to make such corrections or interpretations as may be necessary for the 

111



00500 - 7 

 

fulfillment of the intent of the Contract Documents. In case of any errors, omissions or 
discrepancies in the drawings or specifications, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly 
submit the matter to the OWNER or OWNER’S Representative in writing who, in turn, 
shall promptly make a determination and issue the necessary instructions in writing. Any 
adjustment by the CONTRACTOR without this determination and instructions shall be at 
the CONTRACTOR’S own risk and expense. The Work is to be made complete as 
intended by the Contract Documents. 

 
1.3.4 EXISTING STRUCTURES 
 

The plans show the general locations of some known surface and subsurface structures. 
The locations of many gas mains, water mains, conduits, sewers, other utilities, etc., 
however, are unknown, and the OWNER assumes no responsibility for failure to show 
any or all of these structures on the plans or to show them in their exact locations. It is 
mutually agreed that such failure shall not be considered sufficient basis for claims for 
additional compensation for Extra Work or for increasing the pay quantities in any 
manner whatsoever. The CONTRACTOR shall be soley responsible for locating all gas 
mains, water mains, conduits, sewers, other utilities etc., so as to perform the Work 
without damaging the same. 

 
II. THE WORK 

 
2.1 SCOPE OF WORK 
 

Contractor shall provide all labor, supervision, materials, and equipment necessary to 
perform all work required by the Contract Documents in connection with BID NO. 1124, 
CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY RENOVATION. 

 

2.2 CHANGE OR MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 
 

2.2.1 ALTERATION OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

The OWNER reserves the right to make such changes in the plans and 
specifications and in the character of the work as may be necessary or desirable to 
insure completion in the most satisfactory manner, provided such changes do not 
materially alter the original plans and specifications or change the general nature 
of the Work as a whole. Such changes shall not be considered as waiving or 
invalidating any condition or provision of the Contract or bonds. Such changes 
shall be issued by the Engineer. 

 
2.2.2 INCREASED OR DECREASED QUANTITIES OF WORK 
 

The OWNER reserves the right and may from time to time, by written order, and 
without notice to any surety, make changes in the quantity or time of performance 
of the Work, as may be considered necessary or desirable and such changes shall 
not be considered as waiving or invalidating any conditions or provisions of the 

112



00500 - 8 

 

Contract or bonds. The CONTRACTOR shall perform all the Contract Work in 
strict compliance with the Contract Documents, and shall not make any changes 
to the Work without prior written authorization from the OWNER, in the form of 
a written Change Order. If such changes increase or decrease either the cost or the 
time necessary for the performance of the Work, then the parties will mutually 
agree upon an equitable adjustment to the price or time to perform the Work 
pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 

 
2.2.3 EXTRA WORK/CHANGE ORDERS 
 

When any work is necessary to the proper completion of the Project and for which 
no prices are provided for in the Bid or Proposal and Contract, the 
CONTRACTOR shall do such work, but only when and as ordered in writing by 
the OWNER. The OWNER may order changes in the Work without invalidating 
Contract. Payment for Extra Work shall be made as provided herein. Contractor 
agrees that overhead and profit for Extra Work shall not exceed 10% of the total 
cost of the Extra Work. The Contractor shall not be entitled to any additional 
funds for any work or extra work performed on the Project, unless a Change 
Order is issued and signed by the Owner. The CONTRACTOR shall perform the 
work as altered, whether increased or decreased, and no allowances shall be made 
for anticipated profits. Nothing in this section shall give rise to any claims for any 
delay or acceleration damages, and the CONTRACTORS sole remedy for any 
delays in the Project shall remain an equitable extension of time as provided for in 
the Contract Documents. CONTRACTOR acknowledges and agrees to waive all 
rights or claims for compensation for any additional or other work not specifically 
authorized by the OWNER. 

 
2.3 DISPUTED WORK AND CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION 
 

If the CONTRACTOR is of the opinion that (a) the work necessary or required to 
accomplish the result intended by this Contract, or (b) any work ordered to be done as 
Contract Work by the OWNER is extra work or additional work and not Contract Work, 
or 
(c) any determination or order of the OWNER violates the terms and provisions of this 
Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly, either before proceeding with such work 
or complying with such order or determination, notify the OWNER in writing of his 
contentions with respect thereto and request a final determination thereof. 
 
Such determination of the OWNER shall be given in writing to the CONTRACTOR. If 
the OWNER determines that the work in question is Extra Work and not Contract Work, 
or that the order complained of requires performance by the CONTRACTOR beyond that 
required by the Contract or violates the terms and provisions of the Contract, thereupon 
the OWNER shall cause either (a) the issuance of a written Change Order covering the 
Extra Work as provided herein, or (b) the determination or order complained of to be 
rescinded  or so modified so as to not require performance beyond that required by the 
terms and provisions of the Contract. 

113



00500 - 9 

 

 
If the OWNER determines that the work in question is Contract Work and not Extra 
Work, or that the determination or order complained of does not require performance by 
the CONTRACTOR beyond that required by the Contract or violate the terms and 
provisions of the Contract, he shall direct the CONTRACTOR to proceed, and the 
CONTRACTOR must promptly comply. In order to reserve his right to claim 
compensation for such work resulting from such compliance, however, the 
CONTRACTOR must, within 20 calendar days after receiving the OWNER’S 
determination and direction, notify the OWNER in writing that the work is being 
performed, or that the determination and direction is being complied with, under protest. 
 
If the CONTRACTOR fails to so appeal to the OWNER for a determination or, having so 
appealed, should the CONTRACTOR thus fail to notify the OWNER in writing of his 
protest, the CONTRACTOR shall be deemed to have waived any claim for extra 
compensation or damages therefore. No oral appeals or oral protests, no matter to whom 
made, shall be deemed even substantial compliance with the provisions of this item. 
 
In addition to the foregoing requirements, the CONTRACTOR shall, upon notice from 
the OWNER, for a minimum period of three (3) years following final payment or 
termination of contract, produce for examination and audit at the CONTRACTOR’S 
office, by the representatives of the OWNER, all his books and records showing all of his 
acts and transactions in connection with contractual performance as well as relating to or 
arising by reason of the matter in dispute. At such examination a duly authorized 
representative of the CONTRACTOR may be present. 
 
Unless the aforesaid requirements and conditions are complied with by the 
CONTRACTOR, the OWNER shall be released from all claims arising under, relating to 
or by reason of disputed work or extra work. It is further stipulated and agreed that no 
conduct on the part of the OWNER or any agent or employee of the OWNER shall ever 
be construed as a waiver of the requirements of this section, when such requirements 
constitute an absolute condition precedent to any approval of any claim for extra 
compensation, notwithstanding any other provisions of the Contract Documents; and in 
any action against the OWNER to recover any sum in excess of the contract amount, the 
CONTRACTOR must allege and prove strict compliance with the provisions of this 
section. The CONTRACTOR ASSUMES THE RISK OF NONPAYMENT, for failing to 
comply with any of the requirements of this section. 

 
III. CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
3.1 CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND ASSURANCES. 
 
In consideration of, and to induce the award of this contract to him, the CONTRACTOR 
represents and warrants: (a) That he is financially solvent, and sufficiently experienced and 
competent to perform the work; (b) That the facts stated in the proposal and the  information 
given by him pursuant to the bidding documents are true and correct in all respects; (c) That he 
has read, understood and complied with all the requirements set forth in the bidding documents; 

114



00500 - 10

 

(d) That he is familiar with and understands all laws and regulations applicable to the work; and 
(e) unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Contract Documents, the CONTRACTOR 
shall do all the Work and shall furnish all the tools, equipment, machinery, materials, labor and 
appliances, except as herein otherwise specified, necessary or proper for performing and 
completing the work required by this Contract, in the manner and within the time herein 
prescribed. 
 
By executing the contract, the CONTRACTOR represents that he has visited the site of Work, 
has fully familiarized himself with the local and on-site conditions under which the work is to be 
performed and has correlated his observation with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
In addition, the CONTRACTOR represents that he has satisfied himself as to subsurface 
conditions at the site of the Work. Information, data and representations contained in the 
Contract Documents pertaining to the conditions at the  site, including subsurface conditions, are 
for information only and are not warranted or represented in any manner to accurately show the 
conditions at the site of the Work. The CONTRACTOR agrees that he shall make no claims for 
damages, additional compensation or extension of time against the OWNER because of 
encountering actual conditions in the course of the Work which vary or differ from conditions or 
information contained in the Contract Documents. All risks of differing subsurface conditions 
shall be borne solely by the CONTRACTOR. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents and shall at 
once report to the OWNER any error, inconsistency or omission he may discover. The 
CONTRACTOR shall perform no portion of the Work at any time without Contract Documents 
or, where required, approved shop drawings, product data or samples for such portion of the 
work. 
 

3.1.1 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SAMPLES 
 

A. Shop drawings are drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially 
prepared for the work by the CONTRACTOR or any subcontractor, 
manufacturer, supplier or distributor to illustrate some portion of the 
Work. 

 
B. Product data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, 

instructions, brochures, diagrams and other information furnished by the 
CONTRACTOR to illustrate a material, product or system for some 
portion of the work. 

 
C. Samples are physical examples which illustrate materials, equipment or 

workmanship and establish standards by which the work shall be judged. 
 
D. The CONTRACTOR shall provide, review, approve and submit to the 

Engineer with reasonable promptness and in such sequence as to cause no 
delay in the Work or in the work of the OWNER or any separate 
contractor, all shop drawings, product data and samples required by the 
Contract Documents. The Work will be performed in accordance with 

115



00500 - 11

 

submittals approved by the Engineer. The CONTRACTOR shall not be 
relieved responsibility for deviations from the requirements of the 
Contract Documents by errors or omissions by the OWNER or Engineer 
in approving Shop Drawings, Product Data, samples or any other 
submittals. 

E. By approving and submitting shop drawings, product data and samples, 
the CONTRACTOR represents that he has determined and verified all 
materials, field measurements, and field construction criteria related 
thereto, or shall do so, and that he has checked and coordinated the 
information contained within such submittals with the requirements of the 
Work and of the Contract Documents. 

 
F. As the Engineer’s review is only for general conformance with the 

requirements of the Contract Documents, the CONTRACTOR shall not be 
relieved of responsibility for any deviation from the requirements of the 
Contract Documents by the Engineer’s approval of shop drawings, product 
data or samples unless the CONTRACTOR has specifically informed the 
Engineer in writing of such deviation at the time of submission and the 
Engineer have given written approval to the specific deviation. The 
CONTRACTOR shall not be relieved from responsibility for errors or 
omissions in the shop drawings, product data or samples by the Engineer’s 
approval thereof. The CONTRACTOR shall direct specific attention, in 
writing or on resubmitted shop drawings, product data or samples, to 
revisions other than those requested by the Engineer on previous 
submittals. 

 
G. the CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for delays caused by rejection of 

the submittal of inadequate or incorrect shop drawings, product data or 
samples. The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for seeing that any 
“approved” copies of shop drawings bearing the approval of the Engineer 
are allowed on the job site. The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
providing all copies of approved shop drawings necessary for the 
construction operations. 

 
H. the CONTRACTOR shall keep adequate records of submittal and 

approvals so that an accurate up-to-date record file is maintained at the job 
site at all times. 

 
I. No portion of the work requiring submission of a shop drawing, product 

data or sample shall be commenced until the submittal has been approved 
by the Engineer. All such portions of the work shall be in accordance with 
approved submittals. 

 
3.1.2 SURETY BONDS 
 

With the execution and delivery of the contract, the CONTRACTOR shall furnish 

116



00500 - 12

 

and file with the OWNER in the amounts herein required, the surety bonds 
specified hereunder. Without exception, the OWNER’S bond forms, attached 
hereto as Section 00610 must be used, and exclusive venue for any lawsuit in 
connection with such bonds shall be specified as the county in which the 
OWNER’S principal office is located. Such surety bonds shall be in accordance 
with Texas Law, including but not limited to, the provisions of Chapter 2253 of 
the Texas Government Code and Chapter 3503 of the Texas Insurance Code. 
These bonds shall automatically be increased by the amount of any change order 
or supplemental agreement which increases the contract price with or without 
notice to the surety, but in no event shall a change which reduces the contract 
amount reduce the penal amount of such bonds. 
 
A. Performance Bond. A good and sufficient bond in an amount not less than 

100 percent (100%) of the total amount of the Contract Price guaranteeing 
the full and faithful execution of the Work and performance of the 
Contract in accordance with the plans, specifications and Contract 
Documents, including any extensions thereof, for the protection of the 
OWNER. This bond shall provide for the repair and/or replacement of all 
defects due to faulty materials and workmanship that appear within a 
period of one year from the date of completion and acceptance of the 
improvement by the OWNER or such lesser or greater period as may be 
designated in the Contract Documents. 

 
B. Payment Bond. A good and sufficient bond in an amount not less than 100 

percent (100%) of the total amount of the Contract Price guaranteeing the 
full and proper protection of all payment bond beneficiaries and claimants 
supplying labor and material in the prosecution of the work provided for in 
said Contract and for the use of each claimant. 

 
C. Maintenance Bond. A good and sufficient bond in an amount not less than 

100 percent (100%) of the total amount of the Contract Price guaranteeing 
the project against defects of material and workmanship for a period of 
two (2) calendar years following the Owner’s approval and acceptance of 
the construction. 

 
D. Sureties. No sureties shall be accepted by the OWNER who are now in 

default or delinquent on any bonds or who are interested in any litigation 
against the OWNER. All bonds shall be made on forms furnished by the 
OWNER and shall be executed by not less than one corporate surety 
authorized to do business in the State of Texas and acceptable to the 
OWNER. The sureties shall be listed in the most current Federal Register 
Treasury List. Each bond shall be executed by the CONTRACTOR and 
surety. Each surety shall designate an agent resident in the OWNER’S 
jurisdictional area acceptable to the OWNER to whom any requisite 
notices may be delivered and on whom service of process may be had in 
matters arising out of such suretyship. The OWNER reserves the right to 

117



00500 - 13

 

reject any and all sureties. 
 
E. Additional or Substitute Bonds. If at any time the OWNER is or becomes 

dissatisfied with any surety, then upon the performance or payment bond, 
the CONTRACTOR shall, within five days after notice from the OWNER 
to do so, substitute an acceptable bond (or bonds), or provide an additional 
bond, in such form and sum and signed by such other surety or sureties as 
may be satisfactory to the OWNER. The premiums on such bonds shall be 
paid by the CONTRACTOR without recourse to the OWNER. No further 
payments under the contract shall be deemed due or payable until the 
substitute or additional bonds shall have been furnished and accepted by 
the OWNER. 

 
3.1.3 PERMITS AND FEES 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall secure and pay for all building permits and other 
permits and governmental fees, licenses and inspections necessary for proper 
execution and completion of the Work which are normally and legally required 
for the construction of similar projects in the State of Texas. Permit fees required 
by the City of Corinth are waived. The CONTRACTOR will give all notices 
required by laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and lawful orders of authorized 
public authorities required for the proper and legal performance of the Work. 

 
3.1.4 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AT SITE 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall keep and maintain at the Project site one record copy 
of the Contract Documents, including but not limited to, the Drawings, 
Specifications, addenda, Change Orders, submittals, Product Data, Samples and 
other modifications, in good order and marked to show the current construction of 
the Project. These documents shall be available to the OWNER or Engineer to 
review at any time and shall be submitted to the OWNER upon completion of the 
Project, along with a complete set of as built drawings. 

 
3.2 CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

3.2.1 PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 
 

In addition to those matters elsewhere expressly made the responsibility of the 
CONTRACTOR, the CONTRACTOR shall have the full and direct responsibility 
for the performance and completion of the Work under this Contract and for any 
act or neglect of the CONTRACTOR, his agents, employees or subcontractors. 
He shall bear all losses, if any, resulting on account of the amount and character 
of the Work, or because the conditions under which the work must be done are 
different from what were estimated or anticipated by him, or because of weather, 
floods, elements or other causes. 

 

118



00500 - 14

 

3.2.2 MEANS AND METHODS OF CONSTRUCTION 
 

Unless otherwise expressly provided in the contract drawings, specifications or 
bulletins, the means and methods of construction shall be such as the 
CONTRACTOR may choose; subject, however, to the OWNER’S right to 
prohibit means and methods proposed by the CONTRACTOR which in the 
OWNER’S judgment: 

 
A. shall constitute a hazard to the Work, or to persons or property, or shall 

violate express requirements of applicable laws or ordinances; or 
B. shall cause unnecessary or unreasonable inconvenience to the public; or 
C. shall not produce finished work in accordance with the requirements of the 

Contract Documents; or 
D. shall not assure the Work to be completed within the time allowed by the 

contract. 

 

The OWNER’S approval of the CONTRACTOR’S means or methods of 
construction, or the OWNER’S failure to exercise his right to prohibit such means 
or methods, shall not relieve the CONTRACTOR of his responsibility for the 
Work or of his obligation to accomplish the result intended by the Contract 
Documents; nor shall the exercise or non-exercise of such rights to prohibit create 
a cause of action for damages or provide a basis for any claim by the 
CONTRACTOR against the OWNER. The CONTRACTOR shall be solely 
responsible for, the construction means and methods, techniques, sequences, 
procedures, and for the safety precautions and programs in connection with the 
Work or the Project. 

 
If the Contract Documents specify any means, methods, techniques, sequences or 
procedures, the CONTRACTOR shall evaluate said specifications and determine 
that they are safe for the proper prosecution of the Work. The CONTRACTOR 
shall be solely responsible for the job site safety of such means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures. If the CONTRACTOR determines the 
specified means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures may not be safe, 
the CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify the OWNER and Engineer and 
shall not proceed without further instructions. 

 
3.2.3 CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
 

The CONTRACTOR, immediately after being awarded the contract, shall prepare 
and submit for the OWNER or Engineer’s information an estimated progress 
schedule for the work. The progress schedule shall be related to the entire Project 
to the extent required by the Contract Documents and shall provide for 
expeditious and reasonable execution of the work, not to exceed the time limits 
for completion provided in the Contract Documents. The progress schedule shall 
be updated as the Work proceeds or the schedule changes and immediately upon 
request by the OWNER. The CONTRACTOR shall also prepare a schedule of 

119



00500 - 15

 

submittals that allows for a reasonable time for the OWNER or Engineer to 
review the submittals so as not to delay the Project. 

 
3.2.4 TIME OF PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall begin the work to be performed under this Contract 
not later than fifteen (15) days from the date specified in the purchase or work 
order and shall conduct the work in such a manner and with sufficient equipment, 
material and labor as is necessary to insure its completion within the working 
time. It is the intent of this specification to provide a continuous construction 
operation without delay except as occasioned by unforeseeable causes beyond the 
control and without the fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR, and it shall be 
the CONTRACTOR’s responsibility to execute the work in the most expeditious 
manner. 

Work shall be done only during the regular and commonly accepted and 
prescribed working hours. No work shall be done on nights, Sundays or regular 
holidays unless permission is given by the OWNER 
 
Time is of the Essence for the performance of the Work by the CONTRACTOR. 
CONTRACTOR agrees that the time allotted for the performance of the Work is 
reasonable. 

 
3.2.5 PERFORMANCE OF EXTRA OR DISPUTED WORK 
 

While the CONTRACTOR or his subcontractor is performing Extra Work in 
accordance with the OWNER’S written order, the cost of which is to be 
determined on a time and material basis, or is performing disputed work or 
complying with a determination or order under protest, the CONTRACTOR shall, 
on the Monday following the performance of the work, furnish the OWNER’S 
representative at the site with three copies of verified statements showing: 
 
A. the name and number of each workman employed on such extra work or 

engaged in complying with such determination or order, the character of 
extra work each is doing and the wages paid to him, including the rate and 
amount of payroll taxes, contributions for insurance, and federal social 
security; and 

 
B. the nature, cost and quantity of any materials, plant equipment or 

construction equipment furnished or used in connection with the 
performance of such extra work or in complying with such determination 
or order, and from who purchased or rented. 

 
The CONTRACTOR and his subcontractors, when required by the OWNER, 
must also produce for inspection and audit by designated OWNER representatives 
for a minimum period of three (3) years following final payment or termination of 
contract any and all of his books, vouchers, records, daily job diaries and reports, 

120



00500 - 16

 

canceled checks, etc. showing the nature and quantity of labor, materials and 
equipment actually used in the performance of the extra work; the amounts 
expended therefore; and the costs incurred for insurance premiums and other 
items of expense directly chargeable to such extra work. The CONTRACTOR 
must permit the OWNER’S representatives to make extracts therefrom or copies 
thereof as may be desired. 
 
Failure of the CONTRACTOR to comply strictly with the requirements of this 
section shall constitute a waiver of any claim for extra compensation on account 
of the performance of such extra work. 
 

3.3 QUALITY OF WORK 
 

3.3.1 INSPECTION AND TESTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall furnish the OWNER with every reasonable 
accommodation and opportunity to ascertain whether or not the work performed 
is in accordance with the requirements and intent of the plans and specifications. 
Any work done or materials used without suitable inspection by the OWNER may 
be ordered removed and replaced at the CONTRACTOR’S expense. The 
CONTRACTOR shall not be relieved from his obligations to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the 
OWNER in his administration of the contract, or by inspections, tests or approvals 
required or performed by persons other than the CONTRACTOR. 
 
Unless otherwise provided, the CONTRACTOR shall make arrangements for all 
tests, inspections and approvals with an independent testing laboratory or entity 
required by the Contract Documents or by laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or 
orders of public authorities having jurisdiction over the Work or items to be 
tested, inspected or approved. If additional testing or inspection is required they 
shall be performed at the CONTRACTOR’S expense. 

 
3.3.2 REMOVAL OF DEFECTIVE AND UNAUTHORIZED WORK 
 

All work which has been rejected or condemned shall be repaired, or if it cannot 
be repaired satisfactorily, it shall be removed and replaced at the 
CONTRACTOR’S expense. Defective materials shall be immediately removed 
from the site of the work. Work done without line and grade having been given, 
work done beyond the lines or not in conformity with the grades shown on the 
plans or as given, save as herein provided, work done without written authority 
and prior agreement in writing as to process, shall be done at the 
CONTRACTOR’S risk and shall be considered unauthorized and at the option of 
the OWNER may be ordered removed at the CONTRACTOR’S expense. 
 
Upon failure of the CONTRACTOR to repair satisfactorily or to remove and 
replace, if so directed, rejected, unauthorized or condemned work or materials 

121



00500 - 17

 

immediately after receiving notice form the OWNER, the OWNER shall, after 
giving written notice to the CONTRACTOR, have the authority to cause defective 
work to be remedied or removed and replaced, or to cause unauthorized work to 
be removed and to deduct the cost thereof from any monies due or to become due 
the CONTRACTOR. Alternatively, the OWNER may, at its option, declare the 
CONTRACTOR in default. 

 

3.3.3 WORKING AREA; COORDINATION WITH OTHER CONTRACTORS; 
FINAL CLEANUP 

 
The CONTRACTOR shall confine his equipment, storage of materials and 
construction operations to the area shown on the contract drawings or stated in the 
specifications, prescribed by ordinance, laws, or permits or as may be directed by 
the OWNER, and shall not unreasonably encumber the site or public right-of-way 
with his construction equipment, plant or materials. 
 
Such area shall not be deemed for the exclusive use of the CONTRACTOR. Other 
contractors of the OWNER may enter upon and use such portions of the area and 
for such items as determined by the OWNER are necessary for all purposes 
required by their contracts. The CONTRACTOR shall give to such other 
contractors all reasonable facilities and assistance to the end that the work on this 
and other contracts shall not be unduly or unreasonably delayed. Any additional 
areas desired by the CONTRACTOR for his use shall be provided by him at his 
own cost and expense. 
 
The CONTRACTOR is responsible for cutting, fitting or patching any parts of the 
Work where such work is necessary to make the Work complete, for parts to fit 
together, or for any damage to the Work prior to Final Acceptance. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall keep the Project and the surrounding area clean and 
free from the accumulation of waste materials or trash. Upon completion of the 
work and before final acceptance and final payment shall be made, the 
CONTRACTOR shall completely clean and remove from the site of the work 
surplus and discarded materials, temporary structures and debris of every kind. He 
shall leave the site of the work in a neat and orderly condition equal to that which 
originally existed, or as called for in the Contract Documents. Surplus and waste 
materials removed from the site of the work shall be disposed of at locations 
satisfactory to the OWNER, and at the CONTRACTOR’S sole cost. 

 
3.4 LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

3.4.1 PATENTS AND COPYRIGHTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall pay all royalties and license fees and shall provide, by 
suitable legal agreement with the patentee or owner, for the use of any design, 
device, material or process covered by letters, patent or any copyright. The 

122



00500 - 18

 

CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, defend, hold and save the OWNER and its 
officers, employees and agents harmless from all liability and claims for 
infringement of any patent or copyright. 
 
In the event that any claims, suit or action at law or in equity of any kind 
whatsoever is brought against the OWNER, or its officers, employees or agents 
involving any such patents, copyrights or license rights, then the OWNER shall 
have the right to and may retain from any money due or to become due to the 
CONTRACTOR such sum deemed necessary by the OWNER for its protection 
until such claim or suit shall have been settled and satisfactory evidence to that 
effect shall have been furnished the OWNER. 

 
3.4.2 INDEMNIFICATION 
 

The Contractor hereby agrees to and shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend 
the City, its officers, agents and employees from and against any and all claims, 
losses, damages, demands, causes of action, suits and liability of every kind, 
including all expenses of litigation, court costs and attorneys' fees, for injury to or 
death of any person, for loss of use or revenue, or for damage to any property 
arising out of or in connection with the actual or alleged malfunction, design or 
workmanship in the manufacture of equipment, the fulfillment of this Contract, or 
the breach of any express or implied warranties under this Contract.  Such 
indemnity shall apply where the claims, losses, damages, causes of action, suits or 
liability arise in part from (i) the negligence of the Contractor, and/or their 
respective officers, agents and/or employees or (ii) the negligence of the 
Contractor, its officers, agents and employees.  It is the expressed intention of the 
parties hereto, both Contractor and the City, that the indemnity provided for in 
this paragraph is indemnity by Contractor to indemnify and protect the City from 
the consequence of (I) the Contractor’s own negligence where that negligence is 
the cause of the injury, death, or damage.  Furthermore, the indemnity provided 
for in this paragraph shall have no application to any claim, loss, damage, cause 
of action, suit and liability where in injury, death or damage results from the 
negligence of the City.  In the event any action or proceeding is brought against 
the City by reason of any of the above, the Contractor agrees and covenants to 
defend the action or proceeding by counsel acceptable to the City.  The indemnity 
provided for herein shall survive the termination or expiration of this Contract. 

 
 

3.5 SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES 
 

3.5.1 SUPERVISION BY CONTRACTOR 
 

The status of the CONTRACTOR is that of an independent CONTRACTOR 
under Texas law and the work under this Contract shall be under the direct charge 
and superintendence of the CONTRACTOR. Except where the CONTRACTOR 
is an individual and gives his personal superintendence to the work, the 

123



00500 - 19

 

CONTRACTOR shall provide a competent superintendent or general foreman on 
the work site at all times during progress with full authority to act for the 
CONTRACTOR. The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an adequate staff for 
the coordination and expediting of the Work. 
 
The superintendent and staff shall be satisfactory to the OWNER. The 
superintendent or general foreman shall not be changed during this Contract 
except with the written consent of the OWNER or unless the superintendent or 
general foreman proves unsatisfactory to the CONTRACTOR and ceases to be in 
his employ. 
 
If the superintendent should be or become unsatisfactory to the OWNER, he shall 
be replaced by the CONTRACTOR upon written direction of the OWNER, and in 
such event, the CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to file a claim for any 
additional working time or money from the OWNER. 

 
3.5.2 EMPLOYEES 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall employ only competent, efficient workmen and shall 
not use on the work any unfit person or one not skilled in the work assigned to 
him and shall at all times maintain good order among its employees. Whenever 
the OWNER shall inform the CONTRACTOR in writing that, in his opinion, any 
employee is unfit, unskilled, disobedient, or is disrupting the orderly progress of 
the work, such employee shall be removed from the work and shall not again be 
employed on it. Under urgent circumstances, the OWNER may orally require 
immediate removal of an employee for cause, to be followed by written 
confirmation. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall supervise and direct all the work, using his best skill 
and attention. He shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, procedures and safety procedures and for coordinating all 
portions of the Work under the Contract. The CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible to the OWNER for the acts and omissions of his employees, 
subcontractors and their agents, employees and subcontractors performing any of 
the work under a contract with the CONTRACTOR. 

 
3.5.3 LABOR AND MATERIALS 
 

Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the CONTRACTOR shall 
provide and pay for all labor, materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment 
and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation and other facilities and 
services necessary for the proper execution and completion of the work, whether 
temporary or permanent and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated 
into the work. The CONTRACTOR shall at all times enforce strict discipline and 
good order among his employees and shall not employ on the work site any unfit 
person or anyone not skilled in the task assigned to him. 

124



00500 - 20

 

 
The rate of progress shall be such that the whole work shall be performed and the 
premises cleaned up in accordance with the Contract within the working time 
established in the Contract, unless an extension of time is made in the manner 
hereinafter specified. 

 
3.5.4 WAGE SCALE 
 

In accordance with The Texas Government Code, Title 10, Chapter 2258, 
Prevailing Wage Rates, the general prevailing wage rate has been determined for 
this locality for the craft or type of workman needed to execute work of a similar 
character of the project listed herein. The Contractor shall pay the prevailing wage 
rate in this locality to all his/her employees and subcontractors performing work 
on this project, and in no event shall the Contractor pay less than the rate shown 
in the following schedule. 

 
General Decision Number: TX170289 09/08/2017 TX289 Superseded General Decision 

Number: TX20160289 State: Texas 

Construction Type: Building County: Denton County in Texas. 

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family homes or 
apartments up to and including 4 stories). 
 
Note: Under Executive Order (EO) 13658, an hourly minimum wage of $10.20 for calendar year 
2017 applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded 
(and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2015. If this contract is covered by the 
EO, the contractor must pay all workers in any classification listed on this wage determination at 
least $10.20 (or the applicable wage rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for all 
hours spent performing on the contract in calendar year 2017. The EO minimum wage rate will 
be adjusted annually. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections 
under the EO is available at www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 
Modification Number Publication Date 

 0 01/06/2017
1 01/27/2017
2 04/07/2017
3 04/14/2017
4 08/25/2017
5 09/08/2017

125



00500 - 21

 

ASBE0021-011 06/01/2016 Rates Fringes 
 
ASBESTOS WORKER/HEAT & FROST INSULATOR 
(Duct, Pipe and Mechanical System Insulation).... $ 24.32 7.52 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
BOIL0074-003 01/01/2017 Rates Fringes 

BOILERMAKER...................... $ 28.00 22.35 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
CARP1421-002 04/01/2016 Rates Fringes 

MILLWRIGHT....................... $ 26.60 8.65 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
ELEV0021-006 01/01/2017 Rates Fringes 
 
ELEVATOR MECHANIC................ $ 38.77 31.585+a+b 
 
 
FOOTNOTES: 
A. 6% under 5 years based on regular hourly rate for all hours worked. 8% over 5 
years based on regular hourly rate for all hours worked. 
 
B. New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, 
the Friday after Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, and Veterans Day. 
 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
ENGI0178-005 06/01/2014 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR 
(1) Tower Crane............. 

 
$ 29.00 

 
10.60

(2) Cranes with Pile Driving or Caisson Attachment and 
Hydraulic 
Crane 60 tons and above..... 

 
 
 
$ 28.75 

 
 
 

10.60
(3) Hydraulic cranes 59 
Tons and under.............. 

 
$ 27.50 

 
10.60

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
* IRON0263-005 06/01/2017 

 
Rates 

 
Fringes 

 
IRONWORKER (ORNAMENTAL AND STRUCTURAL)...........$ 23.25 7.32 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
PLUM0100-005 05/01/2017 Rates Fringes 
 

HVAC MECHANIC (HVAC Unit Installation Only)............... $ 30.19 11.31
PIPEFITTER (Excludes HVAC Pipe Installation)............... $ 30.19 11.31

126



00500 - 22

 

SUTX2014-015 07/21/2014 Rates
 

BRICKLAYER....................... $ 21.06 

Fringes
 
0.00 

CARPENTER, Excludes Drywall Hanging, Form Work, 
and Metal Stud Installation................ $ 15.78 

 
0.00

CAULKER.......................... $ 15.16 0.00

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER... $ 13.04 0.00

DRYWALL HANGER AND METAL STUD INSTALLER...........$ 13.00 0.00

ELECTRICIAN (Alarm Installation Only)............... $ 20.93 3.86

ELECTRICIAN (Communication Technician Only)................. $ 15.35 1.39

ELECTRICIAN (Low Voltage Wiring Only)..................... $ 17.04 1.39

ELECTRICIAN, Excludes Low Voltage Wiring and 
Installation of Alarms/Sound and Communication Systems........ $ 20.01 

 
2.69

FORM WORKER...................... $ 11.89 0.00

GLAZIER.......................... $ 16.46 3.94

HIGHWAY/PARKING LOT STRIPING 
Operator (Striping Machine)..... $ 10.04 

 
2.31

INSTALLER - SIDING (METAL/ALUMINUM/VINYL)........... $ 14.74 0.00

INSTALLER - SIGN................. $ 15.50 0.00

INSULATOR - BATT................. $ 13.00 0.00

IRONWORKER, REINFORCING.......... $ 12.29 0.00

LABORER:  Common or General...... $ 10.52 0.00

LABORER:  Mason Tender - Brick... $ 10.54 0.00

LABORER:  Mason Tender Cement/Concrete.................. $ 10.93 0.00

LABORER: Pipelayer.............. $ 13.00 0.35

127



00500 - 23

 

LABORER: Plaster Tender......... $ 12.22 0.00

LABORER: Roof Tearoff........... $ 11.28 0.00

LABORER: Landscape and Irrigation....................... $ 10.55 0.00

LATHER........................... $ 16.00 0.00

OPERATOR: 
Backhoe/Excavator/Trackhoe....... 

 
$ 12.83 

 
0.00

OPERATOR: Bobcat/Skid Steer/Skid Loader................  
$ 13.93 

 
0.00

OPERATOR: Bulldozer............. $ 18.29 1.31

OPERATOR: Drill................. $ 15.69 0.50

OPERATOR: Forklift.............. $ 13.21 0.81

OPERATOR: Grader/Blade.......... $ 13.03 0.00

OPERATOR: Loader................ $ 13.46 0.85

OPERATOR: Mechanic.............. $ 17.52 3.33

OPERATOR: Paver (Asphalt, Aggregate, and Concrete)......... $ 18.44 0.00

OPERATOR: Roller................ $ 15.04 0.00

PAINTER (Brush, Roller and Spray), Excludes Drywall 
Finishing/Taping................. 

 
$ 13.35 

 
5.10

PAINTER: Drywall Finishing/Taping Only............ $ 14.24 3.83

PIPEFITTER (HVAC Pipe Installation Only)............... $ 20.45 4.00

PLASTERER........................ $ 16.58 0.00

PLUMBER, Excludes HVAC Pipe Installation..................... $ 22.46 4.06

ROOFER........................... $ 17.19 0.00
 

SHEET METAL WORKER (HVAC Duct  Installation Only)........ $ 21.13 4.79 

SHEET METAL WORKER, Excludes HVAC Duct Installation.....$ 24.88 5.97 

128



00500 - 24

 

 
SPRINKLER FITTER (Fire Sprinklers)...................... $ 37.50 0.00 

TILE FINISHER.................... $ 11.22 0.00
 

TILE SETTER...................... $ 14.25 0.00
 

TRUCK DRIVER: 1/Single Axle Truck............................ $ 16.00 0.81
 

TRUCK DRIVER: Dump Truck........ $ 12.39 1.18
 

TRUCK DRIVER: Flatbed Truck..... $ 19.65 8.57
 

TRUCK DRIVER: Semi-Trailer Truck............................ $ 12.50 0.00
 

TRUCK DRIVER: Water Truck....... 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 

$ 12.00 4.11
 

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing 
incidental. 

operation to which welding is 

 
============================================================= 
 

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors 
applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded 
(and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by 
the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 
30 hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be 
permitted to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health-related needs, 
including preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the 
employee) who is ill, injured, or has other health- related needs, including preventive 
care; or for reasons resulting from, or to assist a  family member (or person who is like 
family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO 
is available at www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 
 
Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the 
classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards 
contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)). 
---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have 
been found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the 
wage determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of "identifiers" 
that indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for 
local), a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union 

129



00500 - 25

 

average rate). 
Union Rate Identifiers 
 

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with 
characters other than "SU" or "UAVG" denotes that the union classification and rate were 
prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. 
PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this 
classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 indicates the local union 
number or district council number where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next 
number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage 
determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which 
in this example is July 1, 2014. 
 
Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective 
bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate. 
 
Survey Rate Identifiers 
 
Classifications listed under the "SU" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this 
classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted 
average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this 
weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union 
and non-union rates. Example: 
SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates 
the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not 
majority rates. LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which 
these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an 
internal number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the 
survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 
 
Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new survey is conducted. 

Union Average Rate Identifiers 

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate 
prevailed for those 
classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the classifications was union data. 
EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted 
union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in the example, is an 
internal number used in producing the wage determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the 
survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 
 
A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a 
weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the 
rate is based. 
 

130



00500 - 26

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS 
 
1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can be: 
 

* an existing published wage determination 
* a survey underlying a wage determination 
* a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination 
matter 
* a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling 
 
On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, 
should be with the Wage and Hour Regional Office for the area in which the survey was 
conducted because those Regional Offices have responsibility for the Davis-Bacon 
survey program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the 
process described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed. 
 
With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial 
contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to: 
 
Branch of Construction Wage Determinations Wage and Hour Division 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210 
 
2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by 
the action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour 
Administrator (See 29 CFR Part 
1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to: 
 
Wage and Hour Administrator 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210 
 
The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position 
and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, 
etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue. 
 
3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal 
directly to the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write 
to: 
 
Administrative Review Board 
U.S. Department of Labor 
200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210 
 

131



00500 - 27

 

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final. 
 
===============================================================
= END OF GENERAL DECISION 

 

Except for work on legal holidays, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per  Diem Wage” for the 
various crafts or type of workers or mechanics is the product of (a) the number of hours worked 
per day, except for overtime hours, times (b) the above respective rate per hour. 
 
For legal holidays, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per Diem Wage” for the various crafts or 
type of workers or mechanics is the product of (a) one and one-half times the above respective 
rate per hour, times (b) the number of hours worked on the legal holiday. 
 
For overtime work, the “General Prevailing Rate of Per Diem Wage” for  the various crafts or 
type of workers or mechanics is the product of (a) one and one-half times the above respective 
rate per hour, times (b) the number of hours worked on overtime. 
 
Under the provisions of Texas Government Code, Title 10, Chapter 2258, Prevailing Wage 
Rates, the contractor or subcontractor of the contractor  shall forfeit as a penalty to the entity on 
whose behalf the contract is made or awarded, sixty dollars ($60.00) for each calendar day, or 
portion thereof, that the worker is paid less than the wage rates stipulated in the contract. 
 
If the construction project involves the expenditure of Federal funds in excess of 
$2,000, the minimum wages to be paid various classes of laborers and mechanics will be based 
upon the wages that will be determined by the Secretary of Labor to be prevailing for the 
corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics employed on the project of a character similar 
to the Contract Work. 
 

3.5.5 Contractors doing business with OWNER agree to comply with Federal Executive 
Order 13465 E-Verify. It is OWNER’S intention and duty to comply and support 
the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) which includes provisions addressing 
employment eligibility, employment verification and non-discrimination.  
According to the INA, contractors/employers may hire only persons who may 
legally work in the United States. Subsequently, contractors and subcontractors 
doing business with OWNER must confirm their enrollment in the E-Verify 
system which verifies employment eligibility through completion and checking of 
I-9 forms. OWNER reserves the right to audit contractor’s process to  verify  
enrollment compliance. 

 
3.5.6 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall fully comply with all local, state and federal laws, 
including all codes, ordinances and regulations applicable to this Contract and the 
Work to be done thereunder, which exist or which may be enacted later by 
governmental bodies having jurisdiction or authority for such enactment. 

132



00500 - 28

 

 

All work required under this Contract is intended to comply with all requirements 
of law, regulation, permit or license. If the CONTRACTOR finds that there is a 
variance, he shall immediately report this to the OWNER for resolution. 

 
3.5.6.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall comply with all local, state and federal 
employment and discrimination laws and shall not discriminate against 
any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, 
religion, sex, age, national origin or any other class protected by law. 

 
3.5.7 RAILWAY CROSSINGS 
 

Where the Work encroaches upon any right-of-way of any railway, the OWNER 
shall secure the necessary easement for the work. Where railway tracks are to be 
crossed, the CONTRACTOR shall observe all the regulations and instructions of 
the railway company as to methods of doing the work or precautions for safety of 
property and the public. All negotiations with the railway company, except for 
right-of-way, shall be made by the CONTRACTOR. The railway company shall 
be notified by the CONTRACTOR not less than five days prior to commencing 
the work. The CONTRACTOR shall not be paid separate compensation for such 
railway crossing but shall receive only the compensation as set out in the 
proposal. 

 
3.5.8 OTHER CONTRACTORS; OBLIGATION TO COOPERATE 
 

The OWNER reserves the right to perform construction on the Project with its 
own forces or may award other contracts for additional work on this Project, and 
the CONTRACTOR shall fully cooperate with such other contractors and shall 
coordinate and fit his work to be done hereunder to such additional work as may 
be contracted by the OWNER. The CONTRACTOR shall not commit or permit 
any act which shall interfere with the performance of work by any other 
contractor. 
 
Upon receiving written notice from the CONTRACTOR that the OWNER or 
another contractor is failing to coordinate his work with the Work under this 
Contract as directed by the OWNER, the OWNER shall promptly investigate the 
charge and take such necessary action as the situation may require. However, the 
OWNER shall not be liable to the CONTRACTOR for damages suffered by the 
CONTRACTOR due to the fault or negligence of another contractor or through 
failure of another contractor to carry out the directions of the OWNER. Should 
any interference occur between contractors, the Engineer may furnish the 
CONTRACTOR with written instructions designating priority of effort, 
whereupon the CONTRACTOR shall immediately comply with such direction. In 
such event, the CONTRACTOR shall be entitled to an extension of working time 

133



00500 - 29

 

only for unavoidable delays verified by the Engineer; however, no increase in the 
Contract Price shall be due the CONTRACTOR. 

 

3.5.9 SUBCONTRACTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall not make any subcontract for performing any portion 
of the Work included in the contract without written notice to the OWNER. This 
contract having been made pursuant to the bid submitted by the CONTRACTOR 
and in reliance with the CONTRACTOR’S personal qualifications and 
responsibility, the OWNER reserves the right to withhold approval of any 
subcontractor which the OWNER may deem would not be in the OWNER’S best 
interest. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall, as soon as practicable after signing the Contract, 
submit a separate written notice to the OWNER identifying each proposed 
subcontractor. Upon request of the OWNER, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly 
furnish additional information tending to establish that any proposed 
subcontractor has the necessary facilities, skill, integrity, past experience and 
financial resources to perform the work in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Contract. 
If the OWNER determines that any proposed subcontractor is unacceptable, he 
shall so notify the CONTRACTOR, who may thereupon submit another proposed 
subcontractor unless the CONTRACTOR decides to do the work himself. 
Disapproval by the OWNER of any proposed subcontractor shall not provide a 
basis for any claim by the CONTRACTOR. 
 
If an approved subcontractor fails to properly perform the work undertaken, he 
shall be removed from the job upon request of the OWNER, following 
notification to the CONTRACTOR in writing of the request for removal and the 
reasons therefore. 
 
Each subcontract entered into shall provide that the provisions of this Contract 
shall apply to such subcontractor and his officers and employees in all respects as 
if he and they were employees of the CONTRACTOR. The OWNER’S decision 
not to disapprove of any subcontract shall not relieve the CONTRACTOR of any 
of his responsibilities, duties and liabilities hereunder. The CONTRACTOR shall 
be solely responsible for the acts, omissions, negligence or defaults of his 
subcontractors and of such subcontractor’s officers, agents and employees, each 
of whom shall, for this purpose, be deemed to be the agent or employee of the 
CONTRACTOR to the extent of his subcontract. 
 
The CONTRACTOR agrees to bind each subcontractor and each subcontractor 
agrees to be bound by the terms of the Contract Documents insofar as applicable 
to his work. The CONTRACTOR and each subcontractor jointly and severally 
agree that nothing in the Contract Documents or otherwise shall create or be 
deemed to create any rights in favor of a subcontractor against the OWNER; nor 

134



00500 - 30

 

shall be deemed or construed to impose upon the OWNER any obligation, 
liability or duty to a subcontractor; or to create any contractual relation 
whatsoever between a subcontractor and the OWNER. 

 

The provisions contained herein shall likewise apply to any sub-subcontracts. 
 
3.6 PROTECTION OF WORK AND OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
 

3.6.1 PROTECTION OF WORK 
 

During performance and up to date of final acceptance, the CONTRACTOR shall 
be under the absolute obligation to protect the finished work against any damage, 
loss or injury. In the event of such damage, loss or injury, the CONTRACTOR 
shall promptly replace or repair such work, whichever the OWNER shall 
determine to be preferable. The obligation to deliver finished work in strict 
accordance with the Contract prior to final acceptance shall be absolute and shall 
not be affected by the OWNER’S approval of or failure to prohibit means and 
methods of construction used by the CONTRACTOR. All risk of loss or damage 
to the work shall be borne solely by the CONTRACTOR until final completion 
and acceptance of all work by the OWNER, as evidenced by the OWNER’S 
issuance of a certificate of acceptance. 

 
3.6.2 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall have the responsibility to provide and maintain all 
warning devices and take all precautionary measures required by law or otherwise 
to protect persons and property while said persons or property are approaching, 
leaving or within the work site or any area adjacent to said work site. No separate 
compensation shall be paid to the CONTRACTOR for the installation or 
maintenance of any warning devices, barricades, lights, signs or any other 
precautionary measures required by law or otherwise for the protection of persons 
or property. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall assume all duties owed by the OWNER to the general 
public in connection with the general public’s immediate approach to and travel 
through the work site and the area adjacent to said work site. 
 
Where the work is carried on in or adjacent to any street, alley, sidewalk, public 
right-of-way or public place, the CONTRACTOR shall at his own cost and 
expense provide such flagmen and watchmen and furnish, erect and maintain such 
warning devices, barricades, lights, signs and other precautionary measures for 
the protection of persons or property as may be prudent or necessary, or as are 
required by law. The CONTRACTOR’S responsibility for providing and 
maintaining flagmen, watchmen, warning devices, barricades, signs and lights and 
other precautionary measures shall not cease until the project shall have been 
completed and accepted by the OWNER, and shall cease when the certificate of 

135



00500 - 31

 

acceptance is issued by the OWNER pursuant to the Contract Documents. 
 
If the OWNER discovers that the CONTRACTOR has failed to comply with the 
applicable federal and state law (by failing to furnish the necessary flagmen, 
warning devices, barricades, lights, signs or other precautionary measures for the 
protection of persons or property), the OWNER may order the CONTRACTOR to 
take such additional precautionary measures as required by law to be taken to 
protect persons and property. 
 
In addition, the CONTRACTOR shall be held responsible for all damages to the 
work and other public or private property due to the failure of warning devices, 
barricades, signs, lights or other precautionary measures in protecting said 
property; and whenever evidence is found of such damage, the OWNER may 
order the damaged portion immediately removed and replaced by and at the cost 
and expense of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
3.6.3 STORM WATER PROTECTION 
 

The Contractor shall perform, track, participate, implement, and comply with 
storm water pollution prevention minimum control measures, protocols, and best 
management practices (BMP) and ensure that water quality standards are not 
violated in accordance with all regulations and policies as they apply to the Texas 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System general permits. Applicable permits 
include: 1) Texas Construction General Permit (TXR150000). 
Contractors will obtain permit coverage for construction activities disturbing over 
one acre of land (total acreage is cumulative across all portions of the project). 
BMPs include, but are not limited to: 
• Preparing and implementing a site-specific Storm Water Pollution Prevention 

Plan (SWPPP) as outlined in the permit and prior to any soil disturbance. 
• Installing and managing erosion and sediment control. 
• Make available, upon request, permit associated documentation. 
• Practicing spill prevention and good housekeeping. 
• Meeting the requirements of the MS4 permit. 

 
3.6.4 SAFETY; TRENCH SAFETY; UNDERGROUND UTILITY SAFETY; PUBLIC 

CONVENIENCE AND SAFETY; 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for complying with state laws and 
federal regulations relating to safety, trench safety, and underground utility safety, 
including those which may be enacted during the performance under this 
Contract. The CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of the The 
Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings from the Public Works 
Construction Standards-North Central Texas Council of Governments, 2004 
edition and all subsequent addendums and the Instructions to Bidders regarding 
trench safety, public convenience and safety, and sanitary provisions. The 
CONTRACTOR shall be soley responsible for, the construction means and 

136



00500 - 32

 

methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for the safety precautions and 
programs in conection with the Work and the Project. 

 

3.7 MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP; WARRANTIES AND GUARANTEES 
Unless otherwise expressly provided in the contract drawings or specifications, the work 
shall be performed in accordance with the best modern practice with materials and 
workmanship of the highest quality and suitable for their purpose. The OWNER shall 
judge and determine the CONTRACTOR’S compliance with these requirements. 

 
3.7.1 MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall be free to secure the approved materials, equipment 
and articles from sources of his own selection. However, if the OWNER finds that 
the work shall be delayed or adversely affected in any way because a selected 
source of supply cannot furnish a uniform product in sufficient quantity and at the 
time required and a suitable source does exist, or the product is not suitable for the  
Work, the OWNER shall have the right to require the original source of supply 
changed by the CONTRACTOR. The CONTRACTOR shall have no claim for 
extra cost or damage because of this requirement. 
 
The CONTRACTOR warrants to the OWNER that all materials and equipment 
furnished under this contract shall be new unless otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents and that same shall be of good quality and workmanship, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents. All 
materials and equipment not conforming to these requirements, including 
substitutions not properly approved and authorized, may be considered defective 
and shall be promptly repaired or replaced by the CONTRACTOR at the 
CONTRACTOR’s sole cost upon demand of the OWNER. If required by the 
OWNER, the CONTRACTOR shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind 
and quality of materials and equipment. 

 
3.7.1.1 “OR EQUAL” CLAUSE 
 

A. Whenever a material or article required is specified or shown on the 
plans, by using the name of a proprietary product or of a particular 
manufacturer or vendor, any material or article which the Engineer 
determines shall perform adequately the duties imposed by the general 
design or which the Engineer deems to be of similar appearance (in 
cases where appearance is of importance) shall be considered equal 
and satisfactory, provided the material or article so proposed is of 
equal substance and function. Authorization for any substitution of 
materials or articles must be obtained by the CONTRACTOR from the 
Engineer before proceeding with such substitution. 

 

B. Should an authorized substitution require redesign of a portion of the 
work or alterations to the plans or specifications in order for the 

137



00500 - 33

 

materials or articles which are to be substituted to properly fit or in 
other ways to be satisfactory, the Engineer shall accomplish such 
redesigns and alterations. The CONTRACTOR shall bear all 
reasonable costs associated with redesign and alteration efforts 
performed by the Engineer. 

 
3.7.2 WORKMANSHIP 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall promptly correct or replace all work rejected by the 
OWNER as defective or as failing to conform to the Contract Documents whether 
observed before or after substantial completion and whether or not fabricated, 
installed or completed. The CONTRACTOR shall bear all costs of correcting 
such rejected work, including costs incurred for additional services made 
necessary thereby. 

 
3.8 WARRANTIES 
 

3.8.1 SPECIAL WARRANTY 
If within one year after final acceptance of the work by the OWNER, as 
evidenced by the final certificate of acceptance or within such longer or shorter 
period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the terms of any other applicable 
special warranty on designated equipment or portions of work as required by the 
Contract Documents, any of the work is found to be defective or not in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, the CONTRACTOR shall correct it 
promptly after receipt of a written notice from the OWNER to do so. This 
obligation shall survive termination or completion of the Contract. The OWNER 
shall give such notice promptly after discovery of the condition. 

 
The CONTRACTOR shall remove from the site all portions of the work which 
are defective or nonconforming and which have not been corrected unless 
removal is waived in writing by the OWNER. 

 
3.8.2 SUBCONTRACTORS’ AND MANUFACTURERS’ WARRANTIES 

All subcontractors’, manufacturers’ and suppliers’ warranties and guarantees, 
express or implied, respecting any part of the work and any materials used 
therein, shall be obtained and enforced by the CONTRACTOR for the benefit of 
the OWNER without the necessity of separate transfer or assignment thereof. 

 
3.8.3 CORRECTED WORK WARRANTY 

Any work repaired or replaced, pursuant to this section, shall be subject to the 
provisions of this section to the same extent as work originally performed. 

 
3.8.4 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES 

The rights and remedies of the OWNER provided in this section are in addition 
to, and do not limit, any rights or remedies afforded to the OWNER by law or any 
other provision of the Contract Documents, or in any way limit the OWNER’S 

138



00500 - 34

 

right to recovery of damage due to default under the Contract. No action or 
inaction by the OWNER shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded it 
under the Contract. 

 
 

IV. INSURANCE 
 
4.1. Definition 

Vendors/Contractors shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract, 
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise 
from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the vendor, his 
agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be 
borne by the vendor. A certificate of insurance meeting all requirements and provisions 
shall be provided to the City prior to any services being performed or rendered. Renewal 
certificates shall also be supplied upon expiration. 

4.2. Minimum Scope of Insurance: Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  

4.2.1 ISO Form Number GL 00 01 (or similar form) covering Commercial General 
Liability. “Occurrence” form only, “claims made” forms are unacceptable.  Policy 
must include coverage for: 

A. Premises/Operations 

B. Broad Form Contractual Liability 

C. Products and Completed Operations 

D. Personal Injury 

E. Broad Form Property Damage 

4.2.2 Workers Compensation insurance as required by the Labor Code of the State of 
Texas, including Employers’ Liability Insurance. 

4.2.3 Automobile Liability as required by the State of Texas, covering all owned, hired, 
or non-owned vehicles. Automobile Liability is only required if vehicle(s) will be 
used under the contract. 

4.2.4 Professional Liability, also known as Errors and Omissions Coverage. 
Professional Liability is only required for Professional Services contracts. 

4.3. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions:  Any deductible or self-insured retention in 
excess of $10,000 must be declared to and approved by the City. 

4.4. Other Insurance Provisions:  The policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain the 
following provisions. 

139



00500 - 35

 

4.4.1. General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverage: 

A. The City, its officers, officials, employees, boards and commissions and 
volunteers are to be added as “Additional Insured’s” relative to liability 
arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the 
vendor/contractor, products and completed operations of the vendor, 
premises owned, occupied or used by the vendor/contractor. The coverage 
shall contain no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to 
the City, its officers, officials, employees or volunteers. 

B. The vendor/contractor insurance coverage shall be primary insurance in 
respects to the City, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers. Any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, officials, 
employees or volunteers shall be in excess of the vendor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. 

C. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policy shall not 
affect coverage provided to the City, its officers, officials, employees, 
boards, and commissions or volunteers. 

D. The vendor/contractor insurance shall apply separately to each insured 
against whom the claim is made or suit is brought, except to the limits of 
the insured’s limit of liability. 

4.4.2. Workers Compensation and Employer’s Liability Coverage: The insurer shall 
agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the City, its officers, officials, 
employees and volunteers for losses arising from work performed by the vendor 
for the City. 

4.4.3. All Coverage: Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to 
state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled or non-renewed by 
either party, reduced in coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior 
written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given the City. 

4.5. Acceptability of Insurers:   The City prefers that insurance be placed with insurers with 
an A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A-VI, or better. 

4.6. Verification of Coverage:  Vendor/Contractor shall provide the City certificates of 
insurance indicating the coverage required. The certificates are to be signed by a person 
authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. Certificates of Insurance similar 
to the ACORD Form are acceptable. City will not accept Memorandums of Insurance or 
Binders as proof of insurance. The City reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies at any time. 

4.7. Insurance Waiver Request. Vendors/contractors requesting a waiver of the minimum 
limits of insurance identified in section 4.8.2 must submit the request in writing.  Please 
note, commercial general liability cannot be waived.  Requests to waive other coverage 
requirements will be considered in the bid evaluation process.  The vendor/contractor 

140



00500 - 36

 

must also complete, sign, and return the Release Agreement form to the Purchasing 
Office prior to authorization to perform services for the City.   

 
4.8. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES REQUIREMENTS  
 

4.8.1.  Definition: Construction Services are defined as services for construction projects, 
including but not limited to: General Contractors, Demolition Contractors, Utility 
Contractors, Building Contractors, Street and Road Contractors, etc. 

 
4.8.2. Minimum Limits of Insurance: 
 

A. Commercial General Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence / $2,000,000 in 
the aggregate for third party bodily injury, personal injury and property damage.  
Policy must include coverage listed in Section 4.2.1. 
 
B. Workers Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Workers Compensation 
limits as required by the Labor Code of the State of Texas and Statutory 
Employer’s Liability minimum limits of $100,000 each accident, $300,000 
Disease - Policy Limit, and $100,000 Disease – Each Employee. 
 
C. Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit. Limits can 
only be reduced if approved by the City.  Automobile liability shall apply to all 
owned, hired, and non-owned autos. Automobile Liability is only required if 
vehicle(s) will be used under the contract. 

D. Builder’s Risk Insurance:  Completed value form, insurance carried must 
be equal to the completed value of the structure.  City shall be listed as Loss 
Payee. 

E. Umbrella Liability - $1,000,000:  Limit that follows form over underlying 
Automobile Liability, General Liability, and Employers Liability coverage.  

 
 

V. OWNERS RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
MONTHLY ESTIMATE, PARTIAL PAYMENTS AND FINAL PAYMENTS 

 
5.1 Progress and final payments shall be paid to the Contractor based upon the progress of 

the Project as indicated by the approved Applications for Payment, certificates of 
acceptance, or Certificates for Payment, that include an approved Schedule of Values that 
will be submitted by the CONTRACTOR to the OWNER prior to the commencement of 
the Work and in accordance with the following: 

 
5.2 MONTHLY ESTIMATES 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall deliver to the OWNER an itemized Application for Payment 
that shall include the work completed, materials stored at the Project site but not 

141



00500 - 37

 

incorporated into the work, materials ready to be installed and stored at another agreed 

location, and the percentage of Work completed, through the 20th day of each month, on 
an Application for Payment with a schedule of values previously submitted by the 
Contractor and approved by the Owner. Prior to release of funds in connection with any 
Application for Payment, the Owner may request, and the Contractor must provide, 
properly executed statements of full or partial releases of claims acceptable to Owner in 
form and content, for all persons or entities supplying labor or materials to the Project. 

 

5.2.1 The Application for Payment is a representation by the CONTRACTOR to the 
OWNER that the construction has progressed to the point indicated, the quality of 
the Work covered by the application is in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, and the Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount requested. 

 
5.2.2 INSPECTION AND PARTIAL PAYMENTS 
 

Whenever the CONTRACTOR shall submit an Application for Payment to the 
OWNER for work performed by the CONTRACTOR, the CONTRACTOR shall 
notify the Engineer that the improvement is ready for inspection. The Engineer  
shall then make such inspection, and will have the authority to reject work that 
does not conform to the Contract Documents. If the work is satisfactory and in 
accordance with the specifications and Contract Documents, the Engineer shall 
issue a Certificate for Payment. 

 
5.2.3 Within thirty (30) days of the Owner's receipt of a properly submitted and correct 

Application for Payment, and the issuance of a Certificate for Payment, the 
Owner shall make payment to the Contractor, in the amount approved by the 
Owner less 5% retainage. Such payment shall be adjusted for work that is 
incomplete or not in accordance with the Contract Documents or that is the 
subject of a separate contract, or subcontract or supplier claim or lien against the 
Contractor or the payment bonds for the project. 

 
5.2.4 No partial or final payment or  the  entire  use  or  occupancy  of  the  Project  by 

the OWNER shall be considered acceptance of work that does not strictly comply 
with the Contract Documents or release the CONTRACTOR of any of his 
responsibilities under the Contract. 

 
5.2.5 PAYMENT FOR LABOR AND MATERIAL; NO LIENS 
 

The CONTRACTOR for himself or any of his subcontractors shall pay all 
indebtedness which may become due to any person, firm or corporation having 
furnished labor, material or both in the performance of this Contract. It shall be 
the responsibility of each person, firm or corporation claiming to have furnished 
labor, materials or both, in connection with this Contract, to protect his or its 
interest in the manner prescribed by applicable laws of the State of Texas, 
provided, however, that as this Contract provides for a public works project, no 

142



00500 - 38

 

lien of any kind shall ever exist or be placed against the Work or any portion 
thereof, or any public funds or retainage held by the OWNER; and any 
subcontactor shall look soley to the CONTRACTOR and the payment bond 
surety, and not the OWNER, for payment of any outstanding amounts due for 
labor, materials or any other indebtedness in connection with the Work. However, 
the OWNER may, at any time prior to making final payment, require the 
CONTRACTOR to furnish a Consent of Surety to any payment due the 
CONTRACTOR for completed work and may, at the discretion of the OWNER 
or the request of the Surety, make the check jointly payable to the 
CONTRACTOR and the Surety. The Owner shall have no obligation under this 
Agreement to pay or to be responsible in any way for payment to any, Engineer, 
another design professional, contractor, subcontractor or supplier performing 
portions of the Work, pursuant to a contract with the Contractor. 

 
5.2.6 PAYMENT WITHHELD 
 

In addition to express provisions elsewhere contained in the contract, the 
OWNER may withhold from any payment otherwise due the CONTRACTOR 
such amount as determined necessary to protect the OWNER’S interest, or, if it so 
elects, may withhold or retain all or a portion of any progress payment or refund 
payment on account of: 

 
A. unsatisfactory progress of the Work not caused by conditions beyond the 

CONTRACTOR’S control, 
B. defective work not corrected, 
C. CONTRACTOR’S failure to carry out instructions or orders of the 

OWNER or his representative, 
D. a reasonable doubt that the Contract can be completed for the balance then 

unpaid, 
E. work or execution thereof not in accordance with the Contract Documents, 
F. claim filed by or against the CONTRACTOR or reasonable evidence 

indicating probable filing of claims, 
G. failure of the CONTRACTOR to make payments to subcontractor or for 

material or labor, 
H. damage to another contractor, 
I. unsafe working conditions allowed to persist by the CONTRACTOR, 
J. failure of the CONTRACTOR to provide work schedules as required by 

the OWNER, 
K. use of subcontractors without the OWNER’S approval or, 
L. failure of the CONTRACTOR to keep current as-built record drawings at 

the job site or to turn same over in completed form to the OWNER. 
 

When the above grounds are removed, payment shall be made for amounts 
withheld because of them, and OWNER shall never be liable for interest on any 
delayed or late payment. 

 

143



00500 - 39

 

5.2.7 PAYMENT FOR EXTRA WORK 
 

The extra work done by the CONTRACTOR as authorized and approved by the 
Engineer shall be paid for in the manner hereinafter described, and the 
compensation thus provided shall be accepted by the CONTRACTOR as payment 
in full for all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals and all 
superintendents’ and timekeepers’ services, all insurance, bond and all other 
overhead expense incurred in the performance of the extra work. 

 
Payment for extra work shall be made by one of the following methods:  

 
A. Method “A” — by unit prices agreed on in writing by the OWNER and 

CONTRACTOR before said extra work is commenced, subject to all other 
conditions of the contract. 

 
B. Method “B” — by lump sum price agreed on in writing by the OWNER 

and the CONTRACTOR before said extra work is commenced, subject to 
all other conditions of the contract. 

 
5.2.8 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION 
 

The Project will be considered substantially complete when the OWNER can 
utilize the Project for its intended purpose and the Work is in conformance with 
the Contract Documents. 

 
5.3 APPLICATION FOR FINAL PAYMENT. 
 

Upon full performance of all the Contract Work and the full performance of all the 
provisions of the Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall submit a final application for 
payment to the OWNER, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the Engineer that the 
improvement is ready for inspection. All warranties and guaranties required of the 
CONTRACTOR by the Contract Documents shall be assembled and delivered by the 
CONTRACTOR to the OWNER as Part of the final Application for Payment. The 
Contractor will assign to the Owner all manufacturer’s warranties relating to materials 
and labor used in the work and will perform the Work in such a manner as to preserve all 
such manufacturer’s warranties. The CONTRACTOR will deliver a certificate 
evidencing that insurance and bonds required by the Contract Documents will remain in 
full force and effect pursuant to the requirements of the Contract. The final Certificate for 
Payment will not be issued until all such warranties and guaranties have been received 
and accepted by the Owner, and a Certificate of Acceptance is issued by the or Engineer. 
 
5.3.1 FINAL INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE 
 

Whenever the improvements provided for by the Contract shall have been 
completely performed on the part of the CONTRACTOR, the CONTRACTOR 
shall notify the OWNER, and Engineer that the improvement is ready for final 

144



00500 - 40

 

inspection. The Engineer shall then make such final inspection, and if the work is 
satisfactory and in accordance with the specifications and Contract Documents, 
the CONTRACTOR shall be issued a certificate of acceptance. 

 
5.3.2 FINAL PAYMENT 
 

Whenever the improvements provided for by the Contract shall have been 
completely performed on the part of the CONTRACTOR, as evidenced in the 
certificate of acceptance, and all required submissions provided to the OWNER, a 
final estimate showing the value of the work shall be prepared by the Engineer as 
soon as the necessary measurements and computations can be made. All prior 
estimates upon which payments have been made are subject or necessary 
corrections or revisions in the final payment. The amount of this final estimate, 
less any sums that have been previously paid, or deducted under the provisions of 
the Contract, shall be paid the CONTRACTOR within 30 days after the final 
acceptance, provided that the CONTRACTOR has furnished to the OWNER a 
consent of surety and an affidavit or other satisfactory evidence that all 
indebtedness connected with the Work and all sums of money due for any labor, 
materials, apparatus, fixtures or machinery furnished for and used in the 
performance of the work have been paid or otherwise satisfied, or that the person 
or persons to whom the same may respectively be due have consented to such 
final payment. 
 
The acceptance by the CONTRACTOR of the final payment as aforesaid shall 
operate as and shall be a release to the OWNER from all claims or liabilities 
under the Contract, including all subcontractor claims, for anything done or 
furnished or relating to the Work under the Contract or for any act or neglect of 
said OWNER relating to or connected with the Contract. 
 
All warranties and guarantees shall commence from the date of the certificate of 
acceptance. No interest shall be due the CONTRACTOR on any partial or final 
payment or on the retainage. 

 
5.4 MODIFICATIONS TO CONTRACT WORK OR TIME OF PERFORMANCE 
 

5.4.1 OWNER’S RIGHT TO TEMPORARILY SUSPEND WORK 
 
5.4.2 REASONS FOR SUSPENSION 
 

The OWNER shall have the right by written order to temporarily suspend the 
work, in whole or in part, whenever, in the judgment of the OWNER, such 
temporary suspension is required: 

 
A. in the interest of the OWNER generally, 
B. due to government or judicial controls or orders which make performance 

of this contract temporarily impossible or illegal, 

145



00500 - 41

 

C. to coordinate the work of separate contractors at the job site, 
D. to expedite the completion of a separate contract even though the 

completion of this particular Contract may be thereby delayed, 
E. because of weather conditions unsuitable for performance of the Work, or 
F. because the CONTRACTOR is proceeding contrary to contract provisions 

or has failed to correct conditions considered unsafe for workmen. 
 
The written order of the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR shall state the reasons 
for suspending the work and the anticipated periods for such suspension. Upon 
receipt of the OWNER’S written order, the CONTRACTOR shall suspend the 
work covered by the order and shall take such means and precautions as may be 
necessary to properly protect the finished and partially finished work, the unused 
materials and uninstalled equipment, including the providing of suitable drainage 
about the work and erection of temporary structures where necessary. The 
CONTRACTOR shall not suspend the Work without written direction from the 
OWNER and shall proceed with the work promptly when notified by the 
OWNER to resume operations. 
 

5.4.3 NO ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION 
 
No additional compensation shall be paid to the CONTRACTOR for a temporary 
suspension of the Work by the OWNER or otherwise where same is caused by the 
fault of the CONTRACTOR. Where such temporary suspension is not due to the 
fault of the CONTRACTOR, he shall be entitled to: 
 
A. an equitable extension of working time for the completion of the work, not 
to exceed the delay caused by such temporary suspension, as determined by the 
OWNER; and 
 
B. the actual and necessary costs of properly protecting the finished and 
partially finished work, unused materials and uninstalled equipment during the 
period of the ordered suspension as determined by the OWNER as being beyond 
the Contract requirements, such costs, if any, to be determined pursuant to the 
terms of the Contract; and 
 
C. where the CONTRACTOR elects to move equipment from the job site and 
then return it to the site when the work is ordered resumed, the actual and 
necessary costs of these moves, in an amount determined by the OWNER 
pursuant to the terms of the Contract. 
 

5.4.4 USE OF COMPLETED PORTIONS OF WORK 
 
The OWNER may, after written notice to the CONTRACTOR, and without 
incurring any liability for increased compensation to the CONTRACTOR, take 
over and use any completed portion of the Work prior to the final completion and 
acceptance of the entire work included in the Contract, and notwithstanding that 

146



00500 - 42

 

the time allowed for final completion has not expired. The OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR agree that occupancy of portions of the Work by the OWNER 
shall not in any way evidence the substantial completion of the entire work or 
signify the OWNER’s acceptance of the Work. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall not object to, nor interfere in any way with, such 
occupancy or use after receipt of the OWNER’S written notice. Immediately prior 
to such occupancy and use, the OWNER shall inspect such portion of the Work to 
be taken over and shall furnish the CONTRACTOR a written statement of the 
work, if any, still to be done on such part. The CONTRACTOR shall promptly 
thereafter complete such unfinished work to permit occupancy and use on the date 
specified in the OWNER’S written order, unless the OWNER shall permit 
specific items of work to be finished after the occupancy and use by the OWNER. 
 
In the event the CONTRACTOR is unreasonably delayed by the OWNER 
exercising its rights under this section, the CONTRACTOR may submit a request 
for an extension of time; CONTRACTOR’S sole remedy for an unreasonable 
delay shall be an extention of time and shall not be entitled to any additional 
compensation. 

 
5.5 COMMENCMENT; TIME OF COMPLETION; DELAYS; EXTENSION OF TIME; 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 

5.5.1 COMMENCEMENT; TIME OF COMPLETION 
 

Contractor shall commence work within fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days 
after receiving from City a notice to proceed. Contractor agrees and covenants 
that the number of consecutive calendar days allowed to complete all work 
following a notice to proceed shall be as follows: 

 
 

 
 

5.5.2 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES FOR FAILURE TO COMPLETE ON TIME 
 

Time is of the essence in the progress and completion of this Contract. For each 
calendar day that any Work shall remain uncompleted after the time specified in 
the proposal and the Contract, or the increased time granted by the OWNER, or as 
equitably increased by additional work or materials ordered after the Contract is 
signed, the sum per day given in the following schedule, unless otherwise 
specified in the special provisions, shall be deducted from the monies due the 
CONTRACTOR: 

 
Two Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents ($200.00) 

 

147



00500 - 43

 

The sum of money thus deducted for such delay, failure or noncompletion is not 
to be considered as a penalty, but shall be deemed, taken and treated as reasonable 
liquidated damages, per calendar day that the CONTRACTOR shall be in default 
after the time stipulated in the Contract for completing the Work. The said 
amounts are fixed and agreed upon by and between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR because of the impracticability and extreme difficulty of fixing 
and ascertaining the actual damages the OWNER in such event would sustain; 
and said amounts are agreed to be the amount of damages which the OWNER 
would sustain and which shall be retained from the monies due, or that may 
become due, the CONTRACTOR under this Contract; and if said monies be 
insufficient to cover the amount owing, then the CONTRACTOR or his surety 
shall pay any additional amounts due. 

 

5.5.3 EXTENTIONS OF TIME 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall be entitled to an extension of working time under this 
Contract only when claim for such extension is submitted to the OWNER in 
writing by the CONTRACTOR within seven days from and after the time when 
any alleged cause of delay shall occur, and then only when such time is approved 
by the OWNER. In adjusting the Contract working time for the completion of the 
Project, unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or 
negligence of the CONTRACTOR, including, acts of God or the public enemy, 
acts of the OWNER, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, 
freight embargoes, or  delays of subcontractors due to such causes beyond their 
control shall be taken into consideration. 
 
If the satisfactory execution and completion of the Contract should require work 
and materials in greater amounts or quantities than those set forth in the Contract, 
requiring more time for completion than the anticipated time, then the contract 
working time shall be equitably increased, but not more than in the same 
proportion as the cost of the additional work bears to the cost of the original work 
contracted for. No allowances shall be made for delays or suspension of the 
performance of the Work due to the fault of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
No adjustment to working time shall be made if, concurrently with the equitable 
cause for delay, there existed a cause for delay due to the fault or negligence of 
the CONTRACTOR, his agents, employees or subcontractors; and no adjustment 
shall be made to the Contract Price and the CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled 
to claim or receive any additional compensation as a result of or arising out of any 
delay resulting in adjustment to the working time hereunder, including delays 
caused by the acts or negligence of the OWNER. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of the Contract Documents, all claims for extension of working time 
must be submitted in accordance with the provisions of this Contract, and no act 
of the OWNER shall be deemed a waiver or entitlement of such extension. 
 

5.6 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF THE OWNER 

148



00500 - 44

 

 
5.6.1 NOTICE OF TERMINATION 
 

The performance of the Work under this Contract may be terminated by the 
OWNER in whole or from time to time in part, in accordance with this section, 
whenever the OWNER shall determine that such termination is in the best interest 
of the OWNER. Any such termination shall be effected by mailing a notice of 
termination to the CONTRACTOR specifying the extent to which performance of 
work under the Contract is terminated, and the date upon which such termination 
becomes effective. Receipt of the notice shall be deemed conclusively presumed 
and established when the letter is placed in the United States Mail by the 
OWNER. Further, it shall be deemed conclusively presumed and established that 
such termination is made with just cause as therein stated; and no proof in any 
claim, demand or suit shall be required of the OWNER regarding such 
discretionary action. 

 
5.6.2 CONTRACTOR ACTION 
 

After receipt of a notice of termination, and except as otherwise directed by the 
OWNER or Engineer, the CONTRACTOR shall: 

 
A. stop work under the Contract on the date and to the extent specified in the 

notice of termination; 
B. place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services or facilities 

except as may be necessary for completion of such portion the Work under 
the Contract as is not terminated; 

C. terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the 
performance of work terminated by the notice of termination; 

D. transfer title to the OWNER and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to 
the extent, if any, directed by the OWNER or Engineer: 

1. the fabricated or unfabricated parts, work in process, completed work, 
supplies and other material produced as a part of, or acquired in 
connection with the performance of, the work terminated by the notice of 
termination; and 

2. the completed or partially completed plans, drawings, information and 
other property which, if the Contract had been completed, would have 
been required to be furnished to the OWNER. 

E. complete performance of such part of the work as shall not have been 
terminated by the notice of termination; and 

F. take such action as may be necessary, or as the Engineer may direct, for 
the protection and preservation of the property related to its Contract 
which is in the possession of the CONTRACTOR and in which the 
OWNER has or may acquire an interest. 

 
At a time not later than 30 days after the termination date specified in the notice 
of termination, the CONTRACTOR may submit to the OWNER a list, certified as 

149



00500 - 45

 

to the quantity and quality, of any or all items of termination inventory not 
previously disposed of, exclusive of items the disposition of which has been 
directed or authorized by the Engineer. Not later than 15 days thereafter, the 
OWNER shall accept title to such items and remove them or enter into a storage 
agreement covering the same, provided that the list submitted shall be subject to 
verification by the Engineer upon removal of the items, or, if the items are stored, 
within 45 days from the date of submission of the list, and provided that any 
necessary adjustments to correct the list as submitted shall be made prior to final 
settlement. 

 
5.6.3 TERMINATION CLAIM 
 

Within 60 days after notice of termination, the CONTRACTOR shall submit his 
termination claim to the Engineer in the form and with the certification prescribed 
by the OWNER. Unless one or more extensions in writing are granted by the 
OWNER upon request of the CONTRACTOR, made in writing within such 60-
day period or authorized extension thereof, any and all such claims shall be  
conclusively deemed waived. 

 
5.6.4 AMOUNTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR and OWNER may agree upon the whole or any part of the 
amount or amounts to be paid to the CONTRACTOR by reason of the total or 
partial termination of work pursuant hereto, provided that such agreed amount or 
amounts shall never exceed the total contract price as reduced by the amount of 
payments otherwise made and as further reduced by the Contract Price of work 
not terminated. The contract shall be amended accordingly, and the 
CONTRACTOR shall be paid the agreed amount. No amount shall be due for lost 
or anticipated profits. Nothing prescribing the amount to be paid to the 
CONTRACTOR in the event of failure of the CONTRACTOR and the OWNER 
to agree upon the whole amount to be paid to the CONTRACTOR by reason of 
the termination of work pursuant to this section, shall be deemed to limit, restrict 
or otherwise determine or affect the amount or amounts which may be agreed 
upon to be paid to the CONTRACTOR pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
5.6.5 FAILURE TO AGREE 
 

In the event of the failure of the CONTRACTOR and the OWNER to agree, as 
provided herein, upon the whole amount to be paid to the CONTRACTOR by 
reason of the termination of work pursuant to this section, the OWNER shall 
determine, on the basis of information available to it, the amount, if any, due to 
the CONTRACTOR by reason of the termination and shall pay to the 
CONTRACTOR the amounts determined. No amount shall be due for lost or 
anticipated profits. 

 
5.6.6 DEDUCTIONS 

150



00500 - 46

 

 
In arriving at the amount due the CONTRACTOR under this section, there shall 
be deducted (a) all unliquidated advance or other payments on account theretofore 
made to the CONTRACTOR, applicable to the terminated portion of this contract; 
(b) any claim which the OWNER may have against the CONTRACTOR in 
connection with this Contract; and (c) the agreed price for or the proceeds of sale 
of any materials, supplies or other things kept by the CONTRACTOR or sold, 
pursuant to the provisions of this clause, and not otherwise recovered by or 
credited to the OWNER. 

 
5.6.7 ADJUSTMENT 
 

If the termination hereunder be partial prior to the settlement of the terminated 
portion of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR may file with the Owner a request in 
writing for an equitable adjustment of the price or prices specified in the Contract 
relating to the continued portion of the Contract (the portion not terminated by the 
notice of termination), and such equitable adjustment as may be agreed upon shall 
be made in such price or prices; nothing contained herein, however, shall limit the 
right of the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR to agree upon the amount or 
amounts to be paid to the CONTRACTOR for the completion of the continued 
portion of the Contract when said contract does not contain an established 
contract price for such continued portion. 

 
5.6.8 NO LIMITATION OF RIGHTS 
 

Nothing contained in this section shall limit or alter the rights which the OWNER 
may have for termination of this Contract under any other provision of this 
Contract or any other right which OWNER may have for default or breach of 
contract by CONTRACTOR. 

 
5.7 CONTRACTOR DEFAULT: OWNER’S RIGHT TO SUSPEND WORK AND
 ANNUL CONTRACT 
 

The Work or any portion of the Work under contract shall be suspended immediately on 
written order of the OWNER declaring the CONTRACTOR to be in default. A copy of 
such notice shall be served on the CONTRACTOR’S surety. The contract may be 
annulled by the OWNER for any good cause or causes, among others of which special 
reference is made to the following: 

A. failure of the CONTRACTOR to start the work within 15 days from date 
specified in the written work order issued by the OWNER to begin the 
work; 

B. evidence that the progress of the work being made by the CONTRACTOR 
is insufficient to complete the work within the specified working time; 

C. failure of the CONTRACTOR to provide sufficient and proper equipment, 
materials or construction forces for properly executing the Work; 

D. evidence that the CONTRACTOR has abandoned the Work or 

151



00500 - 47

 

discontinuance of the performance of the Work or any part thereof and 
failure to resume performance within a reasonable time after notice to do 
so; 

E. evidence that the CONTRACTOR has become insolvent or bankrupt, or 
otherwise financially unable to carry on the Work; 

F. deliberate failure on the part of the CONTRACTOR to observe any 
requirements of the specifications or to comply with any orders given by 
the Engineer as provided for in the specifications; 

G. failure of the CONTRACTOR to promptly make good any defects in 
materials or workmanship, or any defects of any nature, the correction of 
which has been directed in writing by the OWNER; 

H. evidence of collusion for the purpose of illegally procuring a contract or 
perpetrating fraud on the OWNER in the construction of work under 
contract; 

I. repeated violations of safe working procedures; 

J. the filing by the CONTRACTOR of litigation against the OWNER prior 
to final completion of the Work. When the Work is suspended for any of 
the causes itemized above, or for any other cause or causes, the 
CONTRACTOR shall discontinue the Work or such part thereof as the 
OWNER shall designate, whereupon the surety may either at its option 
assume the Contract or that portion thereof which the OWNER has 
ordered the CONTRACTOR to discontinue and perform the same or, with 
the written consent of the OWNER, sublet the same, provided, however, 
that the surety shall exercise its option within two weeks after the written 
notice to discontinue the work has been served upon the CONTRACTOR 
and upon the surety or its authorized agents. The surety in such event shall 
assume the CONTRACTOR’S place in all respects and shall be paid by 
the OWNER for all work performed by it in accordance with the terms of 
the Contract, but in no event shall such payments exceed the contract 
amount, regardless of the cost to the surety to complete the Work. 

 
In the event that the surety assumes the CONTRACTOR’S place, duties and 
responsibilities in the Contract, all monies remaining due the CONTRACTOR at the time 
of his default shall thereupon become due and payable to the surety as the work 
progresses, subject to all terms of the Contract. In case the surety does not, within the 
hereinabove specified time, exercise its obligation to assume the Contract or that portion 
thereof which the OWNER has ordered the CONTRACTOR to discontinue, then the 
OWNER shall have the power to complete by contract or otherwise, as it may determine, 
the Work herein described or such part thereof as it may deem necessary; and the 
CONTRACTOR hereto agrees that the OWNER shall have the right to take possession of 
or use any or all of the materials, plans, tools, equipment, supplies and property of every 
kind provided by the CONTRACTOR for the purpose of the Work and to procure other 
tools, equipment and materials for the completion of the same and to charge to the 
account of the CONTRACTOR the expense of said contract for labor, materials, tools, 
equipment and expenses incident thereto. The expense so charged shall be deducted by 
the OWNER out of such monies as may be due or may at any time thereafter become due 

152



00500 - 48

 

the CONTRACTOR under and by virtue of the Contract or any part thereof. 
 
The OWNER shall not be required to obtain the lowest bid for the work of completing 
the Contract, but the expenses to be deducted shall be the actual cost of such work. In 
case such expense is less than the sum which would have been payable under the contract 
if the same had been completed by the CONTRACTOR, then in such case the OWNER 
may pay the CONTRACTOR the difference in the cost, provided that the 
CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to any claim for damages or for loss of anticipated 
profits. 
 
In case such expense shall exceed the amount which would have been payable under the 
Contract if the same had been completed by the CONTRACTOR, the CONTRACTOR 
and his surety shall pay the amount of the excess to the OWNER on notice from the 
OWNER for excess due including any costs incurred by the OWNER, such as inspection, 
legal fees and liquidated damages. When any particular part of the Work is being carried 
out by the OWNER by contract or otherwise under the provisions of this section, the 
CONTRACTOR shall continue the remainder of the Work in conformity with the terms 
of the contract and in such manner as not to hinder or interfere with the performance of 
workmen employed as above provided by the OWNER or surety. 
 

5.8 SUSPENSION BY COURT ORDER AGAINST THE OWNER 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall suspend such part or parts of the Work pursuant to a court 
order issued against the OWNER and shall not be entitled to additional compensation by 
virtue of such court order; neither shall the CONTRACTOR be liable to the OWNER in 
the event the Work is suspended by such court order, unless such suspension is due to the 
fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR. A delay of the CONTRACTOR due to a 
court order against the OWNER, or due to the OWNER’S failure to secure right-of-way 
at the time required or because of a conflict of a utility with the Work, shall not be cause 
for additional compensation for damages sustained by the CONTRACTOR, but may be a 
cause for extension of contract working time only. The CONTRACTOR’S sole remedy 
for any suspensions of the Work is an equitable extention of time to perform the Work. 

 
5.9 NO WAIVER OF RIGHTS OR ESTOPPEL 
 

The OWNER, or any officer or agent thereof, shall not be precluded at any time, either 
before or after final completion and acceptance of the Work and final payment therefore 
from: 
 
A. showing the true and correct amount, classifications, quality and character of the Work 
done and materials furnished by the CONTRACTOR or any other person under this 
Contract, or from showing at any time that any determination, return, decision, approval, 
order, letter, payment or certification is untrue and incorrect or improperly made in any 
particular, or that the Work or the materials or any parts thereof do not in fact conform to 
the contract requirements; and (b) demanding the recovery from the CONTRACTOR of 
any overpayments made to him, or such damages as the OWNER may sustain by reason 

153



00500 - 49

 

of the CONTRACTOR’S failure to perform each and every part of this Contract in strict 
accordance with its terms; or both. 

 
VI. AUTHORITY OF THE ENGINEER 

 
6.1 All work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner and to the satisfaction of 

the Engineer. The Engineer shall decide all questions which arise as to the quality and 
acceptability of materials furnished, work performed, manner of performance, rate of 
progress of the work, sequence of the construction, interpretation of the plans and 
specifications, acceptable fulfillment of the Contract, compensation, mutual rights 
between contractors under these specifications and suspension of the Work. He shall 
determine the amount and quality of work performed and materials furnished, and his 
decisions and estimates shall be final. His estimate in such event shall be a condition 
precedent to the right of the CONTRACTOR to receive money due him under the 
Contract. 

 
6.2 OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVES 
 

Where the Contract Documents indicate that determinations, directions or approvals shall 
be made by the OWNER or “Owner’s representatives,” this shall mean the OWNER 
acting directly, or through duly authorized persons acting within the limit of authority 
delegated  to them. Any determination, direction or approval of such authorized 
representatives shall be subject to review by the OWNER. For purposes of administering 
the schedule or the payment provisions of this Contract the Engineer may act as the 
Owner’s representative for purposes of approving payments, changes, scheduling, or 
acceptance of the Work, at the OWNER’S discretion. 

 
6.3 INSPECTIONS OF WORK PROGRESS 
 

The Engineer shall visit the site at during construction of the Project as necessary as the 
Owner’s Representative to verify that the Work is being performed in compliance with 
the Contract Documents and shall be given total access to the Project by the 
CONTRACTOR. Site visits or inspections by the Engineer shall in no way relieve the 
CONTRACTOR of any of its responsibilities or duties pursuant to the Contract 
Documents. The Engineer will neither have control over, nor be responsible for, the 
construction means and methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for the safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work or the Project. The 
CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for, the construction means and methods, 
techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for the safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Work or the Project. 

 
6.4 CONSTRUCTION STAKES 

No horizontal or vertical control is established for this project. Dimensions shown in the 
plans are approximate in nature. Contractor shall stake for Owner approval the begin and 
end location of each segment of work. 
 

154



00500 - 50

 

The Contractor shall take all necessary precautions to preserve any and/or all markings 
and staking. 

 
6.5 APPROVAL OF SUBMITTALS 
 

The Engineer shall review and approve or take other appropriate action the 
CONTRACTOR’s submittals such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, for the 
purpose of checking for conformance with the Contract Documents. The Engineers 
review of the submittals shall not relieve the CONTRACTOR of any of its obligations to 
perform the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. The Engineer’s 
review shall not be considered approval of safety precautions, means and methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures that are the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
VII. CLAIMS OR DISPUTES 

 
7.1 CLAIMS AGAINST OWNER AND ACTION THEREON. 
 

No claim against the OWNER under the Contract or for breach of the Contract or 
additional compensation for extra or disputed work shall be made or asserted against the 
OWNER under the Contract or in any court action, unless the CONTRACTOR shall have 
strictly complied with all requirements relating to the giving of notice and information 
with respect to such claim as required by the Contract. 

 
7.2 CLAIM AGAINST OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENT OF THE OWNER. 
 

No claim whatsoever shall be made by the CONTRACTOR against any, past, present or 
future, officer, employee or agent of the OWNER for or on account of, anything done or 
omitted to be done in connection with this Contract. 

 
 

VIII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
8.1 FINANCIAL INTEREST IN ANY CONTRACT BY OWNER’S 

OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS 
 

No officer, employee or agent of the OWNER shall have a financial interest, direct or 
indirect, in any contract with the OWNER or be financially interested, directly or 
indirectly, in the sale to the OWNER of any land, materials, supplies or services, except 
on behalf of the OWNER as an officer or employee. Any willful violation of this article 
shall constitute malfeasance in office, and any officer or employee guilty thereof shall 
thereby forfeit his office or position. Any violation of this article with the knowledge, 
expressed or implied, of the persons, partnership, company, firm, association or 
corporation contracting with the OWNER shall render the contract involved voidable by 
the OWNER. 

 
8.2 SERVICE OF NOTICES 

155



00500 - 51

 

 
The OWNER and the CONTRACTOR shall each designate addresses where all notices, 
directions or other communication may be delivered or to which they may be mailed. 
 
Notices to the surety or sureties on contract bonds shall be directed or delivered to the 
home office, or to the agent or agents who executed the bonds on behalf of the surety or 
sureties, or to their designated agent for delivery of notices. 
 
Actual delivery of any such notice, direction or communication to the aforesaid places or 
depositing it in a postpaid wrapper addressed thereto in any post office regularly 
maintained by the United States Postal Service shall be conclusively deemed to be 
sufficient service thereof upon the above persons as of the date of such delivery or 
deposit. 
 
The designated addresses may be changed at any time by an instrument in writing 
executed by the party changing the addresses and delivered to the other party. 
 
Nothing herein contained shall, however, be deemed to preclude or tender inoperative the 
service of any notice, direction or communication upon the above parties personally or, if 
the CONTRACTOR be a corporation, upon any officer or director thereof. 

 

8.3 UNLAWFUL PROVISIONS DEEMED STRICKEN 
 

In the event a term, condition, or provision of this Agreement is determined to be void, 
unenforceable, or unlawful by a court of competent jurisdiction, then that term, condition, 
or provision shall be deleted and the remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

 
8.4 ALL LEGAL PROVISIONS INCLUDED 

 
It is the intent and agreement of the parties to this contract that all legal provisions of law 
required to be inserted herein shall be and are inserted herein. If through mistake or 
oversight, however, any such provision is not herein inserted, or is not inserted in proper 
form, then upon application of either party, the contract shall be amended so as to strictly 
comply with the law and without prejudice to the rights of either party hereunder. 

 
8.5 ASSIGNMENTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall not assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of this 
contract, or his right to execute it, or his right, title or interest in it or any part thereof 
without the previous written consent of the surety company and the written approval of 
the OWNER. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall not assign, either legally or equitably, by power of attorney or 
otherwise, any of the monies due or to become due under this Contract or its claim 
thereto without the prior written consent of the surety company and the written approval 

156



00500 - 52

 

of the OWNER. 
The approval of the OWNER of a particular assignment, transfer or conveyance shall not 
dispense with such approval to any further or other assignments. 
 
The approval by the OWNER of any assignment, transfer or conveyance shall not operate 
to release the CONTRACTOR or surety hereunder from any of the Contract and bond 
obligations, and the CONTRACTOR shall be and remain fully responsible and liable for 
the defaults, negligent acts and omissions of his assignees, their agents and employees, as 
if they were his own. 

 
8.6 STATE AND LOCAL SALES AND USE TAXES 
 

The OWNER qualifies for exemption from the state and local sales and use taxes, 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 151.309 of the Texas Limited Sales, Excise and Use 
Tax Act. Therefore, the CONTRACTOR shall not pay such taxes which would otherwise 
be payable in connection with the performance of this Contract. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall issue an exemption certificate in lieu of the tax on the 
purchase, rental or lease of: 

A. all materials, supplies, equipment and other tangible personal property 
incorporated into the real property being improved; and 

B. all materials, supplies, equipment and other tangible personal property used or 
consumed by the CONTRACTOR in performing the Contract with the OWNER. 
Materials and supplies “used in the performance of a contract” include only those 
materials actually incorporated into the property being improved and those 
supplies directly used to incorporate such materials into the property being 
improved. Overhead supplies and supplies used indirectly or only incidental to the 
performance of the Contract with the OWNER are not included in the exemption. 

 
Under “reasons said purchaser is claiming this exemption” in the exemption certificate, 
the CONTRACTOR must name the OWNER and the project for which the equipment, 
material and supplies are being purchased, leased or rented. 
 

8.7 VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW 
 

The parties agree that the laws of the State of Texas shall govern the interpretation, 
validity, performance and enforcement of this Construction Agreement, and that the 
exclusive venue for any legal proceeding involving this Construction Agreement shall be 
in Denton County, Texas. 

 
8.8 NO WAIVER OF LEGAL RIGHTS 
 

Inspection by the Engineer, or OWNER; any order, measurement, quantity or certificate 
by the Engineer; any order by the OWNER for payment of money; any payment for or 
acceptance of any work; or any extension of time or any possession taken by the 
OWNER shall not operate as a waiver of any provisions of the contract or any power 

157



00500 - 53

 

therein reserved to the OWNER of any rights or damages therein provided. Any waiver 
of any breach of contract shall not be held to be a waiver of any other or subsequent 
breach. The OWNER reserves the right to correct any error that may be discovered in any 
estimate that may have been paid and to adjust the same to meet the requirements of the 
Contract Documents. The OWNER reserves the right to recover by process of law sums 
as may be sufficient to correct any error or make good any deficiency in the Work 
resulting from such error, dishonesty or collusion by the CONTRACTOR or his agents, 
discovered in the Work after the final payment has been made. 
 
Neither final acceptance of the Work, nor final payment shall relieve the 
CONTRACTOR of responsibility for faulty materials or workmanship, and the 
CONTRACTOR shall promptly remedy any defects due thereto and pay for any damage 
to other work resulting therefrom. Likewise, neither final acceptance nor final payment, 
nor partial or entire use or occupancy of the work by the OWNER shall constitute 
acceptance of work not done in accordance with the Contract Documents or relieve 
CONTRACTOR of liability with respect to any expressed or implied warranties or 
responsibility for faulty materials or workmanship, whether same be patently or latently 
defective. 

 

8.9 OBLIGATION TO PERFORM FUNCTIONS 
Any failure or neglect on the part of OWNER, Engineer or inspectors to enforce 
provisions herein dealing with supervision, control, inspection, testing or acceptance and 
approval of the work shall never operate to relieve CONTRACTOR from full compliance 
with the Contract Documents nor render OWNER liable to CONTRACTOR for money 
damages, extensions of time or increased compensation of any kind. 
 

8.10 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
Subject to the limitations upon assignment and transfer herein contained, this contract 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective 
successors and assigns. 

 
8.11 HEADINGS 

The title and headings contained in the Contract Documents and the subject organization 
are used only to facilitate reference, and in no way define or limit the scope of intent of 
any of the provisions of this Contract. 

 
8.12 ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENTS; BINDING EFFECT 

This Construction Agreement, including the Contract Documents and all the documents 
incorporated therein represents the entire and integrated agreement between the OWNER, 
the City of Corinth, and the CONTRACTOR, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
representations, or agreements, either written or oral.  This Construction Agreement may  
be amended only by written instrument signed by both, the OWNER, the City of Corinth, 
and the CONTRACTOR. 

 
8.13 INTERPRETATION 

Although this Agreement is drafted by the OWNER, the City of Corinth, should any part 

158



00500 - 54

 

be in dispute, the parties agree that this Construction Agreement shall not be construed 
more favorable for either party. No rule of construction requiring that ambiguities in this 
Contract shall be construed more favorably for either party shall apply. 

 
8.14 EXPENSES FOR ENFORCEMENT 

In the event either Party hereto is required to employ an attorney to enforce the 
provisions of this Agreement or is required to commence legal proceedings to enforce the 
provisions hereof, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the other, 
reasonable attorney's fees and court costs incurred in connection with such enforcement, 
including collection. 

159



 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS   
 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 

COUNTY OF   § 

BEFORE ME, on this day personally appeared          
   , of    , a     corporation, known to me (or 
proved to me on the oath of)    or through      
(description of identity card or other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed to the 
foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same as the act and deed of 
the corporation, for the purposes and consideration therein expressed and in the capacity therein 
stated. 

 
GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE, this the     day of  , 2019 

 
 

Notary Public, State of Texas 

 
Printed Name 

 
My Commission expires on the day of  ,  . 

 
 
 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
 

COUNTY OF DENTON § 
 

BEFORE ME, on this day personally appeared    
  , City Manager of Corinth, TEXAS, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, known to me 
(or proved to me on the oath of) or through    
  (description of identity card or other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed to 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same as the act and 
deed of CORINTH, TEXAS, for the purposes and consideration therein expressed and in the 
capacity therein stated. 

 
GIVEN under my hand and seal of office this the day of  , 2019. 

 
 

Notary Public, State of Texas 
 
 

Printed Name 
 

My Commission expires on the day of  ,  . 

160



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Construction Agreement upon 
the year and date indicated beneath their signatures hereto. 

 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
 

 
 

By:    
 

Date:    
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

Secretary 
 
 

CORINTH, TEXAS: 
 

By:    
Bob Hart, City Manager 

 
Date:    

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

Secretary 
 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 

 

161



SECTION 00510 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
 

INFORMATION REGARDING 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE 
 
 

During the 79th Legislative Session, House Bill 914 was signed into law effective September 1, 
2005, which added Chapter 176 to the Texas Local Government Code. Recent changes have 
been made to Chapter 176 pursuant to HB23, which passed the 84th Legislative Session. Chapter 
176 mandates the public disclosure of certain information concerning persons doing business or 
seeking to do business with City of Corinth, including family, business, and financial 
relationships such persons may have with City of Corinth officers or employees involved in the  
planning,  recommending, selecting and contracting of a vendor for this procurement. 

 

For a copy of Form CIQ and CIS: 

http://www.ethics.state.tx.us/filinginfo/conflict_forms.htm 

 

The vendor acknowledges by doing business or seeking to do business with the City of Corinth 
that he/she has been notified of the requirements under Chapter 176 of the Texas Local 
Government Code and that he/she is solely responsible for complying with the terms and 
conditions therein. Furthermore, any individual or business entity seeking to do business with 
Corinth who does not comply with this practice may risk award consideration of any City 
contract. 

 
For a listing of current Corinth leadership: 
https://www.cityofcorinth.com/27/Our-Government 

 

The following City Officials and Appointees will be involved in the planning, recommending, 
selecting, and contracting for the attached procurement: 

 
Department/Evaluation Team: 
Bob Hart – City Manager 
Cody Collier – Director of Public Works Operations 
Helen-Eve Liebman, Planning & Development Director 

 
Purchasing: 
Cindy Troyer – Purchasing Agent 

 
City Council:  
Bill Heidemann – Mayor  
Sam Burke Mayor Pro Tem, Place 1 
Scott Garber – Place II 
Lowell Johnson – Place III 
Tina Henderon – Place IV 
Don Glockel – Place V 
 

162



SECTION 00530 - CHAPTER 2270 VERIFICATION 
 
 
I,         , the undersigned representative of 
(PRINT NAME) 
 

 
(COMPANY) 
 
do hereby verify that the company named-above, under the provisions of Subtitle F, Title 10, 
Government Code Chapter 2270: 

1. Does not boycott Israel currently; and 
 
2. Will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. 
 
 

Pursuant to Section 2270.001, Texas Government Code: 
 
1. “Boycott Israel” means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or 
otherwise taking any action that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit 
commercial relations specifically with Israel, or with a person or entity doing business in Israel 
or in an Israeli-controlled territory, but does not include an action made for ordinary business 
purposes; and 
 
2. “Company” means a for-profit sole proprietorship, organization, association, 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, or any 
limited liability company, including a wholly owned subsidiary, majority-owned subsidiary, 
parent company or affiliate of those entities or business associations that exist to make a profit. 
 
 
 
 

DATE SIGNATURE OF COMPANY REPRESENTATIVE 
 
 
 
 

TITLE 
 
 

REV 9/1/2017 

163



 
SECTION 00610 – PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
STATE OF TEXAS§ 

COUNTY OF DENTON § KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 
That     , a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of  , and fully authorized to 

transact business in the State of Texas, whose address is of the City of County of  , and State of  ,(hereinafter referred to as “Principal”), and  
       (hereinafter referred to as “Surety”, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of  and 
authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to act as surety on bonds for principals, are held and firmly bound unto  (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”) 
and unto all persons, firms and corporations who may furnish materials for or perform labor upon the buildings, structures or improvements referred to in the 
attached Contract, in the penal sum of    Dollars ($    ) (not less than 100% of the approximate total amount of the Contract as 
evidenced in the proposal plus 10- percent of the stated penal sum as an additional sum of money representing additional court expenses, attorneys’ fees, and 
liquidated damages arising out of or connected with the below identified Contract) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment whereof, the said Principal 
and Surety bind themselves, and their heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents: 

WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a certain written contract with the Owner, dated the  day  of , 201    , to which said Contract is 
hereby referred to and made a part hereof and as fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein for the construction of  BID NO. 1124, CITY OF 
CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS 

CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that if the said Principal fully and faithfully executes the work and performance of the Contract in 
accordance with the plans specifications, and Contract Documents, including any extensions thereof which may be granted with or without notice to Surety, during 
the original term thereof, and during the life of any guaranty required under the Contract, and according to the true intent and meaning of said Contract and the plans 
and specifications hereto annexed, if the Principal shall repair and/or replace all defects due to faulty materials or workmanship that appear within a period of one 
year from the date of final completion and final acceptance of the work by OWNER; and if the Principal shall fully indemnify and save harmless the OWNER from 
all costs and damages which OWNER may suffer by reason of failure to so perform herein and shall fully reimburse and repay OWNER all outlay and expense 
which the OWNER may incur in making good any default or deficiency, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise, to remain in full force and effect; and in case 
said CONTRACTOR shall fail to do so, it is agreed that the OWNER may do said work and supply such materials and charge the same against said CONTRACTOR 
and Surety on this obligation. Provided further, that if any legal action be filed on this Bond, venue shall lie in Denton County, Texas. 

"PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this bond is executed pursuant to the provisions Texas Government Code, Chapter 2253, as amended, and Chapter 
3503 of the Texas Insurance Code, as amended, and all liabilities on this bond shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of said articles to the same 
extent as if they were fully copied at length herein. 

Surety, for value received, stipulates and agrees that the bond shall automatically be increased by the amount of any Change Order or supplemental 
agreement which increases the Contract price with or without notice to the Surety, but in no event shall a Change Order or Supplemental Agreement which reduces 
the Contract price decrease the penal sum of the Bond. And further that no change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract, or to the 
work performed thereunder, or the plans, specifications, or drawings accompanying the same shall in any way affect its obligation on this bond, and it does hereby 
waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work to be performed thereunder. 

Surety agrees that the bond provides for the repairs and/or replacement of all defects due to faulty materials and workmanship that appear within a period 
of one (1) year from the date of completion and acceptance of the improvement by the OWNER. 

The undersigned and designated agent is hereby designated by Surety herein as the agent resident to whom any requisite notice may be delivered and on 
whom service of process may be had in matters arising out of such suretyship. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Principal and Surety have signed and sealed this instrument this   day of  201 . 
 
The Resident Agent of the Surety for delivery of notice and service of process is: 
Name:     Note: Date of Bond must NOT be prior to date of Contract. 
Address:     
Phone Number:     
 
 
WITNESS       
 PRINCIPAL 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        
 
WITNESS SURETY 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        

164



 
SECTION 00610 – PAYMENT BOND 

STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF DENTON 

 
§ 

§ 

 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

 
That    , a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of  , and fully authorized to transact 

business in the State of Texas, whose address is   of the City of  County of   , and State of   ,(hereinafter referred to as 
“Principal”), and       (hereinafter referred to as “Surety”, a corporation organized under the laws of the State of and 
authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to act as surety on bonds for principals, are held and firmly bound unto   (hereinafter referred to as 
“Owner”) and unto all persons, firms and corporations who may furnish materials for or perform labor upon the buildings, structures or improvements referred to in 
the attached Contract, in the penal sum of       Dollars ($  ) (not less than 100% of the approximate total amount of the 
Contract as evidenced in the proposal) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment whereof, the said Principal and Surety bind themselves, and their heirs, 
administrators, executors, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents: 

WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a certain written contract with the Owner, dated the  day  of , 201    , to which said Contract is 
hereby referred to and made a part hereof and as fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein for the construction of  BID NO. 1124, CITY OF 
CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that the bond guarantees the full and proper protection of all 
claimants supplying labor and material in the prosecution of the work provided for in said Contract and for the use of each claimant, and that conversely should the 
Principal faithfully perform said Contract and in all respects duly and faithfully observe and perform all and singular the covenants, conditions, and agreements in 
and by said Contract, agreed to by the Principal, and according to the true intent and meaning of said Contract and the claims and specifications hereto annexed, and 
any and all duly authorized modifications of said Contract that may hereafter be made, notice of which modification to Surety being hereby waived, then this 
obligation shall be void; otherwise, to remain in full force and effect. Provided further, that if any legal action be filed on this Bond, venue shall lie in Denton 
County, Texas. 

"PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this bond is executed pursuant to the provisions Texas Government Code, Chapter 2253, as amended, and Chapter 
3503 of the Texas Insurance Code, as amended, and all liabilities on this bond shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of said articles to the same 
extent as if they were fully copied at length herein. 

Surety, for value received, stipulates and agrees that the bond shall automatically be increased by the amount of any Change Order or supplemental 
agreement which increases the Contract price with or without notice to the Surety and that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the 
Contract, or to the work performed thereunder, or the plans, specifications, or drawings accompanying the same, shall in anyway affect its obligation on this bond, 
and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the Contract, or to the work to be performed thereunder. 

The undersigned and designated agent is hereby designated by Surety herein as the agent resident to whom any requisite notice may be delivered and on 
whom service of process may be had in matters arising out of such suretyship. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Principal and Surety have signed and sealed this instrument this  day of 201 . 
 
The Resident Agent of the Surety for delivery of notice and service of process is: 
Name:     Note: Date of Bond must NOT be prior to date of Contract. 
Address:     
Phone Number:     
 
WITNESS       
 PRINCIPAL 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        
 
WITNESS SURETY 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        

165



 
SECTION 00610 – MAINTENANCE BOND 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
COUNTY OF DENTON § KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 

That     , a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of  , and fully authorized to 
transact business in the State of Texas, whose address is of the City of  County of   , and State of  ,(hereinafter referred to as 
“Principal”), and          (hereinafter referred to as “Surety”, a corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of  and authorized under the laws of the State of Texas to act as surety on bonds for principals, are held and firmly bound unto  (hereinafter 
referred to as “Owner”) and unto all persons, firms and corporations who may furnish materials for or perform labor upon the buildings, structures or improvements 
referred to in the attached Contract, in the penal sum of         Dollars ($    ) in 
lawful money of the United States, for the payment whereof, the said Principal and Surety bind themselves, and their heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and 
assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents: 
 WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a certain written contract with the Owner, dated the   day  of  , 201    , to which said 
Contract is hereby referred to and made a part hereof and as fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein for the construction of  BID NO. 1124, CITY 
OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH, that the bond guarantees the full and proper maintenance and repair 
of the work herein contracted to be done and performed for a period of two (2) years from the date of acceptance and Principal will do all necessary backfilling that 
may arise on account of sunken conditions in ditches, or otherwise, and do and perform all necessary work and repair any defective  condition growing out of or 
arising from the improper laying or construction of same, or on account of any breaking of same caused by said CONTRACTOR in construction of same, or on 
account of any defect arising in any of said work laid or constructed by said CONTRACTOR or on account of improper excavation or backfilling, it being 
understood that the purpose of this section is to cover all defective conditions arising by reason of defective materials, work or labor performed by said 
CONTRACTOR, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise, to remain in full force and effect; and in case said CONTRACTOR shall fail to do so, it is agreed that 
the OWNER may do said work and supply such materials and labor and charge the same against said CONTRACTOR and Surety on this obligation. Provided 
further, that if any legal action be filed on this Bond, venue shall lie in Denton County, Texas. 

"PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that said Surety, for value received, stipulates and agrees the bond shall automatically be increased by the amount of any 
Change Order or supplemental agreement which increases the Contract price with or without notice to the Surety and that no change, extension of time, alteration or 
addition to the terms of the Contract, or to the work performed thereunder, or the plans, specifications, or drawings accompanying the same shall in any way affect its 
obligation on this bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension of time, alteration, or addition to the terms of the Contract or to the work to be 
performed thereunder. 

The undersigned and designated agent is hereby designated by Surety herein as the agent resident to whom any requisite notice may be delivered and on 
whom service of process may be had in matters arising out of such suretyship. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Principal and Surety have signed and sealed this instrument this   day of  201 . 
 
The Resident Agent of the Surety for delivery of notice and service of process is: 
Name:     Note: Date of Bond must NOT be prior to date of Contract. 
Address:     
Phone Number:     
 
WITNESS       
 PRINCIPAL 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        
 
WITNESS SURETY 
         
     
 Printed/Typed Name        
 Title:        
 Company:        

Address:        
 

        

166



00800 - 1 

 
SECTION 00800 – PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

 

SECTION 00800 – PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 
 

North Central Texas Council of Governments Specifications 
 
This Project has adopted the November, 2017 Fifth Edition of the Public Works 
Construction Standards for North Central Texas as amended and published by the North 
Central Texas Council of Governments (the “NCTCOG Specifications”). The NCTCOG 
Specifications apply to this Project, except as noted herein. In the case of a contradiction 
between the NCTCOG Specifications and these Contract Documents, the information in 
these Contract Documents shall control.  
 
Bidders are specifically directed to become thoroughly familiar with the NCTCOG 
Specifications prior to submitting a bid. The NCTCOG Specifications may be viewed at: 
https://www.nctcog.org/envir/public-works/construction-standards  
 
Instructions for purchasing the NCTCOG Specifications can be found at the above web 
address. 
 
Unless otherwise specifically noted on the Plans, or in these Specifications, all applicable 
sections of the NCTCOG Specifications are in effect. NCTCOG Specifications used for this 
Project include, but are not limited to: 
 
N-201  Site Protection 
N-203  Site Preparation  
N-204  Landscaping 
N-301  Subgrade, subbase, and base preparation 
N-303  Portland Cement Concrete Pavement 
N-305  Miscellaneous Roadway Construction 
N-500  Underground Construction & Appurtenances 
N-501  Reinforced Concrete Culvert, Storm Drain, Pipe and Box Section 
N-801  Barriers, Warning, Detour Signs, and Fences 
N-802  Steps and Retaining Walls 
N-804  Painting and Other Protective Treatments: Pavement Marking 
 

  

167



00800 - 2 

 
SECTION 00800 – PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

 

Texas Department of Transportation Specifications 
 
This Project has adopted the November, 2014 Edition of the Standard Specifications for 
Construction and Maintenance of Highways, Streets, and Bridges as amended and 
published by the Texas Department of Transportation (the “TxDOT Specifications”). The 
TxDOT Specifications apply to this Project, except as noted herein. In the case of a 
contradiction between the TxDOT Specifications and these Contract Documents, the 
information in these Contract Documents shall control.  
 
Bidders are specifically directed to become thoroughly familiar with the TxDOT 
Specifications prior to submitting a bid. The TxDOT Specifications may be viewed at: 
https://www.txdot.gov/business/resources/txdot-specifications.html. 
 
Instructions for purchasing the TxDOT Specifications can be found at the above web 
address. 
 
Unless otherwise specifically noted on the Plans, or in these Specifications, all applicable 
sections of the TxDOT Specifications are in effect. TxDOT Specifications used for this 
Project include, but are not limited to: 
 
 
TxDOT Item 104  Removing Concrete  
TxDOT Item 402  Trench Excavation Protection 
TxDOT Item 450  Railing 
TxDOT Item 496  Remove Structure 
TxDOT Item 500  Mobilization 
TxDOT Item 506  Temporary Erosion, Sedimentation, and Environmental Controls 
TxDOT Item 644  Small Roadside Sign Assemblies 
TxDOT Item 677  Eliminating Existing Pavement Markings and Markers

168



00900 - 1 

 
SECTION 00900 – SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

 

SECTION 00900 - SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 
SC.01 BARRICADES, WARNING SIGNS, DETOURS AND SEQUENCE OF WORK 
 

1.  Before beginning Work on this Project, the CONTRACTOR shall submit, for 
approval by the Owner, a plan of construction operations outlining in detail a 
sequence of work to be followed; setting out the method of handling traffic on trails, 
streets, roads and driveways along, across and adjacent to the Work. If at any time 
during the construction, the CONTRACTOR's proposed plan of operation for 
handling traffic does not provide for safe comfortable movement, the 
CONTRACTOR shall immediately change his operations to correct the unsatisfactory 
conditions and submit a revised plan of operations for approval to the Owner, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide Owner at least 72 hours advance written notice of any 
road or lane closure, and obtain Owner’s written approval of such road or lane closure 
prior to closing said road or lane segment. 

 
2.  Safety - The CONTRACTOR shall provide, construct and maintain barricades and 

signs at locations set out in the Plans and in the Special Conditions. In addition, he 
shall provide and maintain such other barricades and signs as deemed necessary by 
the Owner, and provide and maintain, between sunset and sunrise, a sufficient 
number of lights at barricades and points of danger for the protection of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic. 

 
The CONTRACTOR shall keep traveled surfaces used in his hauling operation clear and free of 
dirt or other material. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall provide and maintain qualified flagmen at such points and for such 
periods of time as may be required to provide for the safety and convenience of public travel and 
CONTRACTOR's personnel. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall arrange his work so that stored machinery or equipment are confined 
to areas approved by the Owner. 
 
SC.02 HAZARDOUS MATERIAL(S) INCIDENT 
 
If any acts of the CONTRACTOR or its agents or employees cause County or City forces to 
respond to a hazardous materials incident, the CONTRACTOR will be assessed for the expenses 
incurred. All charges will be deducted from the CONTRACTOR's monthly estimate per the 
Contract Documents. 
 
SC.03 EXISTING FACILITIES 
 
The CONTRACTOR is responsible for contacting all private and public utilities for determining 
the location of existing facilities and compliance with the State of Texas’ “call before you dig” 
program mandated by Texas Utility Code Chapter 251 prior to any digging or excavation. 
 

169



00900 - 2 

 
SECTION 00900 – SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

SC.04 STREET CLEANUP 
 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for keeping streets adjacent to the Project free of mud and 
construction debris at all times or as requested by the Owner. The CONTRACTOR shall not use 
a power broom type device on streets outside the construction improvements. The 
CONTRACTOR shall utilize a mechanical or air generated pickup broom with water application. 
 
SC.05 UTILITY SUPPORT 
 
All costs associated with existing utility support shall be considered subsidiary to the other bid 
items. 
 
SC.06 RESTORATION 
 

1. Restore the Project site to conditions not less than that existing prior to starting 
construction unless otherwise required by these Specifications, Permits and/or 
Licenses, or shown on the Plans. 

 
a. Private property over which the OWNER has prior rights (i.e. access easement, 

utility easement, sewer easement) and / or has obtained rights-of-way, 
agreements, licenses and/or agreements from the property owner to allow 
construction shall be restored in conformance with the Contract Documents. 

 
b. No restoration shall occur until testing is completed and accepted by the 

OWNER's Representative. 
 
SC.07 REGISTERED ACCESSIBILITY SPECIALIST (RAS) INSPECTION 
 
The project plans have been reviewed for conformance with the accessibility standards adopted 
by the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation (TDLR) for purposes of ensuring 
compliance with the Texas Government Code, Chapter 469. The Architectural Barriers Project 
Registration Number is EABPRJB8800581. The project is eligible for inspection approval if 
constructed in accordance with the 2012 TDLR/Texas Accessibility Standards. The 
CONTRACTOR shall notify the OWNER when construction is complete. The OWNER shall 
request an inspection by a RAS no later than thirty (30) days after the completion of 
construction. All inspection items must be addressed to the satisfaction of the CITY prior to 
issuing final payment to the CONTRACTOR. 
 
  

170



00900 - 3 

 
SECTION 00900 – SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

SC.08 MATERIALS TESTING REQUIREMENTS 
 
The following inspection and testing protocol shall be implemented: 
 

 Subgrade: 

 2 proctors  

 Observe undercutting of proposed building pad and retaining wall. 

 Proofrolling pavement subgrade 

 Mixture Design for Lime Treated Material 

 Gradation Testing for Lime Treated Material one test per 5,000 sf 

 Compaction Testing for Building Pad Subgrade with a frequency of 1 test per 
2,500 sf, minimum of 4.  

 Compaction Testing for Retaining Wall Foundation with a frequency of 1 test per 
2,500 sf, minimum of 3.  

 Select Fill: 

 2 proctors for each imported material type 

 Compaction Testing for Foundation/Building Pad Backfill with a frequency of 1 
test per 2,500 sf per 6” lift, minimum of 2 per lift.  

 Compaction Testing for Pavement Embankment with a frequency of 1 test per 
5,000 sf per 6” lift, minimum of 2 per lift.  

 Compaction Testing for Utility backfill, 1 Test per 6” lift every 100 lf of trench.  

 Compaction Testing for Retaining Wall Backfill with a frequency of 1 test per 
2,500 sf per 6” lift, minimum of 2 per lift.  

 Flexible Base: 

 2 proctors 

 Compaction Testing for Flexible Base with a frequency of 1 test per 5,000 sf per 
7” lift, minimum 2 per lift. 

 Concrete: 

 Concrete Testing to include one test per 100 cy to include Slump, Air, Strength 
and Durability Testing, minimum 1 set of tests per day per class of concrete 
placed. 

 Reinforced Steel Observation and Testing. 

 
SC.09 ASBESTOS STATEMENT 
 
A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment & Asbestos Survey was conducted by Berg-Oliver 
Associates, Inc., May 2018 (Report No 10588H-P1). A Limited Asbestos Inspection was 

171



00900 - 4 

 
SECTION 00900 – SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 

performed in conformance with the scope and limitations of the Texas Asbestos Health 
Protection Rules (TAHPR) and the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants 
(Title 40 CFR, Part 61) for any exterior samples required. Fifteen (15) samples were collected 
from suspect locations and no samples were identified as containing more than 1% asbestos. 
Unless other suspect materials are uncovered during the proposed renovation of the building, No 
further action regarding asbestos appears necessary. 
 

SC.10 ARCHITECTURAL PLANS 
 
All project details and specifications relating to the construction and materials for the New 
Storage Building are found in City of Corinth Public Works Department New Storage Building 
plan set. Contractor to provide all materials, equipment, labor allowances and incidentals 
necessary for the construction of the City of Corinth Public Works Storage Building (as per 
Plans). 

 

172



ONE INCH

SHEET NUMBER:

PROJECT #:

ISSUE DATE:

ISSUES

NO. DATE

BAR IS ONE INCH IN LENGTH ON

ORIGINAL DRAWING. CHECK SCALE &

ADJUST ACCORDINGLY.

DESCRIPTION

F
B

P
E

 
R

e
g

 
#

3
0

8
1

1

2
8

2
1

 
W

e
s
t
 
7

t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t

S
u

i
t
e

 
4

0
0

F
o

r
t
 
W

o
r
t
h

,
 
T

e
x
a

s
 
 
7

6
1

0
7

P
U

B
L

I
C

 
W

O
R

K
S

 
D

E
P

A
R

T
M

E
N

T

N
E

W
 
S

T
O

R
A

G
E

 
B

U
I
L

D
I
N

G

1
2

0
0

 
N

 
C

O
R

I
N

T
H

 
S

T

C
O

R
I
N

T
H

,
 
T

E
X

A
S

 
7

6
2

0
8

05.30.2018

08.24.2018

17142.00

15% SUBMITTAL

07.10.201865% SUBMITTAL

08.24.2018IFC

C
O

V
E

R
 
S

H
E

E
T

G1.01

P   R   O  J   E   C   T      C   O   N   T   A   C   T   S

VICINITY MAP SHEET INDEX

A100

1

A100

1

1

A100

1

A

000A

ARCHITECTURAL SYMBOLS

0.0

DOOR NUMBER

KEYNOTE

PARTITION TYPE

WINDOW TYPES

REVISION

SECTION MARK

ENLARGED PLAN/

DETAIL REFERENCE

ELEVATION KEY

COLUMN

CENTERLINE

TAS/TDLR #: EABPRJB8824417

CITY OF CORINTH - PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT

1200 NORTH CORINTH STREET

CORINTH, TEXAS  76208

ARCHITECTURAL

PLUMBING

ELECTRICAL

STRUCTURAL

XX

LOCATION MAP

GENERAL PROJECT SCOPE

PROVIDE A NEW  2800 SQUARE FOOT

PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING SHOP.

1

GENERAL

G1.01   COVER SHEET

G1.02   LIFE SAFETY PLAN, CODE ANALYSIS AND

G1.03   HANDICAPPED ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS

E0.00   ELECTRICAL GENERAL NOTES & SYMBOLS

E1.02   ELECTRICAL LIGHTING PLAN

E1.01   ELECTRICAL POWER PLAN

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

5
.
3

0
.
2

0
1

8

E0.01   ELECTRICAL SPECIFICATIONS

MECHANICAL

M0.1     MECHANICAL GENERAL NOTES

M0.2    MECHANICALSCHEDULES

M2.1     MECHANICAL FLOOR PLAN

CIVIL

ISSUED UNDER SEPARATE COVER

NOT TO

SCALE

NOT TO

SCALE

PROJECT

SITE

PROJECT

SITE

S0.1     GENERAL NOTES

S0.2     FOUNDATION DETAILS

S1.1     FOUNDATION PLAN

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

5
.
3

0
.
2

0
1

8

NEW STORAGE BUILDING

A.F.F. ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR

B.O. BOTTOM OF

BLDG. BUILDING

CJ CONSTRUCTION JOINT

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

CONC. CONCRETE

CONT. CONTINUOUS

EA. EACH

EQ. EQUAL

EQUIP. EQUIPMENT

EXP. EXPANSION

F.F.E. FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

GA GAGE

GYP. BD. GYPSUM WALL BOARD

HT HEIGHT

IBC INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE

MAX. MAXIMUM

MFG. MANUFACTURER

G.C. GENERAL CONTRACTOR

EJ EXPANSION JOINT

F.O.P. FACE OF PANEL

MECH. MECHANICAL

ELECT. ELECTRICAL

BD. BOARD

FD. FLOOR DRAIN

ADA AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

EXIST. EXISTING

CONST. CONSTRUCTION

F.O.G. FACE OF GIRT

F.O.C. FACE OF CONCRETE

MIN. MINIMUM

MTL METAL

N.T.S. NOT TO SCALE

O.C. ON CENTER

O.D. OVERFLOW DRAIN

O.H. OPPOSITE HAND

PLAM PLASTIC LAMINATE

PJ PANEL JOINT

PVMT PAVEMENT

R.D. ROOF DRAIN

RM. ROOM NAME

SIM. SIMILAR

S.F. SQUARE FEET

STL. STEEL

TAS TEXAS ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS

T.O. TOP OF

TYP. TYPICAL

U.N.O. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE

U.L. UNDERWRITERS LABOR

VCT VINYL COMPOSITE

VIF VERIFY IN FIELD

T.B.D. TO BE DETERMINE

P.E.M.B. PRE-ENGINEER METAL BUILDING

S.S.R. STANDING SEAM ROOF

RE: REFER

STRUCT. STRUCTURAL

PLUMB. PLUMBING

HVAC HEATING, VENTILATION AND AIR CONDITIONING

SA SOUND ATTENUATION

M.R. GYP. BD. MOISTURE RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD

WRB WEATHER RESISTANT BARRIER

HC HANDICAP

M.O. NOMINAL MASONRY OPENING

A.F.C. ABOVE FINISHED CEILING

ABBREVIATIONS

A1.01   FLOOR PLAN

A2.01   EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS AND SECTIONS

DESIGN CRITERIA

A3.01   WALL SECTIONS AND DETAILS

ARCHITECTCLIENT

CITY OF CORINTH

1200 North Corinth Street

Corinth, Texas  76208

CONTACT: CODY COLLIER

PHONE: 940-498-7510
EMAIL: Cody.Collier@CityofCorinth.com

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER
CIVIL ENGINEER ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

MECHANICAL/PLUMBING

ENGINEER

CONSTRUCTION

MANAGER

THE SADLER GROUP

500 Main Street, Suite 700

Fort Worth, TX 76102

CONTACT: TOM SADLER

PHONE:       817.332.1074

FAX: 817.338.0335

EMAIL: Tom@TheSadlerGroup.com

SUMMIT CONSULTANTS, INC.

1300 Summit Avenue, Suite 500

Fort Worth, TX 76102

CONTACT:

PHONE: (817) 878-4242

FAX:

E-MAIL:      ?@SummitMEP.com

MULTATECH

2821 West 7th Street, Suite 400

Fort Worth, TX 76107

CONTACT: HARRY WYNNE

PHONE: (817) 877-5571

FAX:           (817) 877-4245

E-MAIL:      HWynne@Multatech.com

MULTATECH

2821 West 7th Street, Suite 400

Fort Worth, TX 76107

CONTACT: STEVEN TIBERG

PHONE:     (817) 877-5571

FAX:           (817) 877-4245

E-MAIL:      STiberg@Multatech.com

LAMB-STAR ENGINEERING, LP

5700 W. Plano Parkway, Suite 1000

Plano, TX 75093

CONTACT: JILL VAN HOEWYK

PHONE:     (214) 440.3630

FAX:

E-MAIL:      Jill.VanHoewyk@lamb-star.com

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

7
.
0

5
.
2

0
1

8

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

7
.
0

5
.
2

0
1

8

P0.1     PLUMBING NOTES AND LEGENDS

P2.1     GROUND FLOOR PLUMBING PLAN

E4.01   ELECTRICAL DETAILS & SCHEDULES

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

8
.
2

4
.
2

0
1

8

S
U

B
M

I
T

T
A

L
 
0

8
.
2

4
.
2

0
1

8

M6.1     MECHANICAL DETAILS

M6.2    MECHANICAL SPECIFICATIONS

E1.03   ELECTRICAL DETAILS & SCHEDULES

173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183

--0 
Q. 

--0 

L: 
(I) 

"' ::) 

E 
Q. 

C'l 
':'! 
LO 

co 
~ 

0 
C'l 

C'l 
C'l 

01 
:::, 

<( 

01 
:;: 

--0 

"'! 
0 
2 
/ 
w 
Cl 
<( 
Cl'.: 
0 
I-
(/) 

/ 
z 
Cl 

"O 
(/) 

C. w 
"O 0 
"' / 0 

" _c 

"' () ;.:. (I) - 2 "' 
~ / 
~ 01 

"' C 
0 ·---0 

" E :::, 

" (Il C 

" a: .. (I) 

~ 
() 

:;:: 
"O 4-

"' 0 
0 
::; 01 w C 
(!) 

+' <( 
a: "' 0 ·x 
I- w 
~ z ..c, 
(!) 

iii 0 
w _c 

~ 
(I) 

Cl'.: 

" " £ ! 
C ·-:§ () 

·s 0 

"' LL 

" " _c 

ls +' 
C 

Cl ·.:::: 
C 0 ~ ·x u 
w 
.0 

" .c 
" a:;:i; (0 
~>< 
=N ~ 

"UN 
~ 

~Cl co 
.cui ~ 

cZ 0... ·c<( <-: 8~ (/) 
'N 

<0--"' -,-
"'w ;,:w 
-:--:I 

"'"' 

MARK SERVES 

A EXHAUST 
B SUPPLY 

NOMINAL CFM 

3100 
1550 

FACE 
SIZE 

48" X 48" 
30" X 30" 

LOUVER SCHEDULE 

MOUNTING TYPE 

WALL LOUVER 
WALL LOUVER 

MIN NET FREE AREA 

5.58 
2.8 

MANUFACTURER 
AND MODEL NO. 

RUSKIN ELF6375DX 
RUSKIN ELF6375DX 

REMARKS 

1,2,3,4,5,7 
1,2,3,4,5,6 

1. UNITS SHALL BE FURNISHED WITH APPROPRIATE FRAMES, ETC. FOR MOUNTING IN RESPECTIVE CEILING/WALL TYPES AND CONDITIONS 
2. RUSKIN OR APPROVED EQUAL 
3. PROVIDE BIRDSCREEN 
4. PROVIDE INSECT SCREEN 
5. ALL-ALUMINUM CONSTRUCTION 
6. PROVIDE MOTORIZED DAMPER A TI ACHED TO DEVICE 
7. PROVIDE BACKDRAFT DAMPER ATIACHED TO DEVICE 

FAN SCHEDULE 
MARK 

LOCATION CFM 
EXT.SP MOTOR DATA 

DRIVE 
MAX. FACE MANUFACTURER AND 

REMARKS 
EF- IN. WG HP IWATTSl VOLTS PH SONES SIZE MODEL NUMBER 

1 WEST WALL 3,100 0.5 3/4 120 1 DIRECT 17.3 48 3/16" LOREN-COOK, 36EW614B 1-7 
2 EAST WALL 3,100 0.5 3/4 120 1 DIRECT 17.3 48 3/16" LOREN-COOK, 36EW614B 1-7 

1. LOREN-COOK OR APPROVED EQUAL 
2. FAN TO BE THERMOSTAT CONTROLLED 
3. PROVIDE OSHA APPROVED GUARDS 
4. PROVIDE A GRAVllY BACKDRAFT DAMPER 
5. PROVIDE A MOTORIZED BACKDRAFT DAMPER ATIACHED TO DEVICE WITH 120V DAMPER ACTUATOR. 
6. PROVIDE FAN WITH INTEGRAL DISCONNECT 
7. SIDEWALL PROPELLER FAN 

GAS RADIANT HEATER SCHEDULE 

MARK 
UH- SERVES TYPE FACE DIM 

,___C_A_P~A_C_IT_Y_-+----~-~E_L_E_C_TR_I_C_A~L---~------< MANUFACTURER AND MODEL 
FLUE INPUT OUTPUT VOLTAGE PHASE IGNITION RUNNING MOCP NUMBER REMARKS 

CURRENT CURRENT 

1-3 MAIN INFRARED 31' 4" x 18.5" x 8.625" 4" 75 ,000 65,000 120 1 1.7 1. 1 

1. UNIT EQUIPED FOR NATURAL GAS 
2. ALUMINIZED TUBE HEATING ELEMENT WITH STAINLESS STEEL REFLETOR. 
3. PROVIDE WITH SPARK-IGNITED IGNITlON. 
4. 100% SHUTOFF PRE-PURGE PRIOR TO FIRING. 
5. PROVIDE MANUAL ON/OFF SWITCH. 

15 DETROIT RADIANT DES3-30-75 1,2,3,4,5 

__ ,,,'\. 
--- OF ,-,, 

(\ I.:-'";._ '1-~~i:· .;J ~ 11 
/71.,. .; __ ""..,.· ..I.:.. -V.:<P '' • 
" ; ~L ., ·1.· · Q' 1 s:t ~ E.J1 : .t!.':.9. .ti.. • ••• ~ ••• w.. ·, 

, KERRY L . MCLEROY ~ 
~ ................................. , rt·. 113099 ,'llf: 

11o;_~•.!/ CENS~~<_°#Y 
'' 1.5'.s ··········;.~ -•, IONAL "'---",,,,,-

1352.8.22.2018.18116 

.AlJSummit 
CONSULTANTS.INC. 

Texas BPE Registration # F-207 
1300 Summit Avenue 4144 N. Central Expwy 
Suite 500 Suite 635 
Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Dallas, Texas 75204 
Office 817 878 4242 Office 214 420 9111 
Facsimile 817 878 4240 www.summitmep.com 

ISSUES 
NO. DESCRIPTION DATE 

15% SUB MITT AL 05.30.2018 

65% SUBMITTAL 07.10.2018 

IFC 08.24.2018 

1-

ffi (!) 
:::i: z 
I- -0::: C 
<( :::! 
a. ::::> 
w cc 
cw 
UJ (!) 

~~ 
a::: 0 
0 1-
3: UJ 

2 3: 
...J w 
cc z 
::::> 
a. 

PROJECT#: 18116.00 

ISSUE DATE: 08.24.2018 

SHEET NUMBER: 

M0.2 



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192

cp 1 , 
TYP 

I 

B 
0 I 0 0 

0--- ' ' 

C 0 0 

0 
A 

-I 

0 
A 

~ 
~ 

~ 
~~ 

TYP 

1X > 
-0 

0---
0 

I 

@ Q)s~~:q,y.~\Sf.L LIGHTING PLAN 
NORTH 

LIGHTING FIXTURE SCHEDLA.E 

T'1PE 

A 

B 

X 

DESCRIPTKJN & MFG 

LED HIGHBAYHO LOPHANE PHG 15L SK 70CRI 12 G WAA, 
ACRYLIC REFRACTORAND LENS, 113W 

LED FLOOD, LrTHONIA TV',? LED 30C 700 SOK T3M MVOL T 
DDBXD ALUM+POLYCARBONATELENS 67W 

EX IT SIGN+ EMERGENCYLIGHT UNIT COMBO, LEO STEN CL 
FACE WHITE HOUSING DUAL VOLTAGE, EMERGENCY 
OPERATION 'NITHOUT EMERGENC Y~Ll~G~H~TS~ --

VOLTS 

120 

120 

LITHONIA SERIES LHOM-SW 1R120/277RO 1201277 

X 1 SINGLE SEAL ED SWNEL HEAD REMOTE EMERG ENCY 6VDC 
LIGHT FIXTURE, FOR OUTSIDE MOUNTING IN 4" BOX 
TAN COLOR, LITHONIA ELA-INT- -NX H0806 

X2 EMERGENCY LIGHT UNIT, ADJUSTABLE HEADS, TEST & 
PLOT LIGHT, 6V-12W 90 MIN, LITHONIA SERES ELM2 120/2 77 

0 LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE. 
SCALE: NTS 

IWlllaiE- NLEltCJTH~ 
(lllillll!L D-;. tl-£(X-1' I 

ADJUB'T IICQRllllGLY. 

LAMPS 
Ne . 

NIA 

NIA 

2 

2 

T ' 
LED 

LED 

RED LED 

8W 
HALOGEN 

5.4W 
KR't'PTON 

cp 

-

-

I 

I 0 

' 

. 0 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

-

MOUNTNG 

PE NDANT 

WA LL 

ON WALL 

ON EXTERIOR 
WALL 

ON WALL 

B 

0 

0 

REMARKS 

WIRE TO "X" FIXTURE 

cp cp cp 
I I '@ 

B B 
0 I 0 0 I 0 0 

PC 
I 0 

-

' ' ' ' ' 

0 - 0 0 . ' 0 r, 
J 1:i 

LC 
X 

I I 

'<] 
1 

I I ~ 

I I 

0 0 
A A 

I I 

<'..\ 
~ 

[lDlJ X2 f--
SHOP 

I I 

'2 
' 

A 
0 

A 
0 

I I 

I 2 I 

~2 
IJ 
- . ' -

LIGHTING CONTROL PANEL LC P RELAY SCHEDULE 

SWITCH TYPE AUTOMATIO N CHANN E L 

RELAY# CKT # L IGHT NG LOAD DESC RIPTIO N 

A- 15 INTERIOR HIGH SAY F IXTIJRES 

' A- 13 EXTERIOR WALL BRACKET FIXTURES 

3THRU8 SPARES 

LCPPS A- 15 LCPPOWER SUPPLY 

SWITCH PUSH INTEL LIGEN T 
SU B BUTTON HVYDT Y 24V DIGITAL 

LETTER 
LV''X" 

"' 
TOGGL E TIMER 0 1 02 0 4 DB A B C D E 

"' ' ' 

COMMEN T: BASI S OF OE SIGN WATT STOPPER L P-B PEAN UT LIGHT CON TROL PAN EL W/ EM24-A2 PH OTOCELL 

LIGHTI NGCONTROL DEVIC E PAR T NUM3ERS· W IRING REQMTS.NO TES 

' 

-

0 

GHJ K L MN PQR 

' 

I-NY DTY TOGGLE 1 GANG HEAVY DUTY MOMENTARY ONIOFF TOGGLE SW ITCH, LV S- 1-GRAY 2C1SW ITCH ~ 1/C FOR SW ITCH GROUP COMI\ON: HOMER UN TO LC P RELAY 

AUTOMATION CONT ROL CHANNEL SCHE DULE RE : LCP 

CHANNEL LOAD DESCR IPTION 

A SECURITYLIGHTING--BLDG WALLPACKS 

G WORKSHOPS 

NOTES 

OS 
CONTROL 

PHOTOC ELL 

MANUAL ON 

OFF ~IANUAL 
CONTROL OVERIDE 

PHOTOCELL LCP 

TII.EC LOCI( LVSWI TCH 

1. CONSULT OWNER"S REPRESENTA TIVE FOR OCCUPIED.UNOCCUPIED TI IIES FOR TH E DIFFERENT PROGRAM SCH EDULES . 

0 LIGHTING CONTROL PANEL "LEP" SCHEDULE 
SCALE:NTS 

® NEW KEYNOTES: 

1. REFER TO ARHITECTUAL DRAWINGS 
FOR MOUNTING HEIGHT. 

2. CONNECT AHEAD OF LCP 
ON CIRCUIT A15 

3. MOUNT PHOTOCELL AT 1Z AFG. 

GENERAL NOTES: 

ISSUES 
NO. DESCRIPTION DATE 

115%SUBMITTAL 05.30.2018 
65%SUBMITTAL 07.10.2018 
IFC 0824.2018 

........ ,...,, 
,~EOF1, ' 

.,~~~ ... -.... . '• ,. . ,. ... •, ,, . \• ~ .. . .~ 
{ .. .. '.J~·~:~~:.1ii~~~:f :J 
\;\\ 86825 /0:1 ,0-.<1. O ~ ... l~'~·,£!:NS~·>· .:' 

tl 'I ·······rc.~r.:;-\" 0f~4L -,,,. ...... ~ 
~ .·it It 

• • :c~ 
tl~ j 

I-

~ 

~ 
011 

I 
i; 
i :, 
D. 

1,J;; ·-1-z :!!108 
laJ i~ ... 

<( ~ !li:j 
1-b ~:t .J laJ Ill .... >- • ~ 
:::J ,: 

" I~ 

00 .. 
Iii ~ 
::c ... 

~~ a: w 
0 lo . 
z i!: 
!~ 
... 0 

0 

N 

~ 
a.. 
(!) 
z -I
I 
(!) _. 

~ -a:: 
t, 
w _. 
w 

PROJECT#: 17142.00 

ISSUE DATE: 08.24.2018 

SHEET NUMBER: 

E1.02 



193



194

ISSUES 
NO. DESCRIPTION DATE 

115%SUBMITTAL 05.30.2018 
SERVICE ENTRANCE LOAD CALCULATION PANEL VOLTAGE: 240/120 PH : 1 ' B US (AMPS): 100 65%SUBMITTAL 07.10.2018 

A SURF MTG NEMA: 1 WIRE : 3 MCB 100 MAIN AT BOTIOM IFC 0824.2018 
S ERV IC E VOLTAG E 240 / 1 PHASE 

LOCATION: BY DOOR SEC: 1 OF 1 kAC : 10 FEEDER SIZE: SEE ONE LIN E 
1 PHASE 

DESCRIPTION BRANCH CKT LOAD BREAKER CIRCU IT BREA KER LOAD BRANC H CKT DESCRIPTION 
_ (KW) (PF ) _ (KVA) (AMPS ) DESC RIPTION iVA l #P AMPS NUMBER #P AMPS iVAl DESCRIPTION 

RECEPT #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 360 1 20 1 A 2 1 20 360 #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4 "C RECEPT ........ ,...,, 
,~EOF1, ' PEAK RECORDED 15 MIN D E MAND 30 0.88 34 142 RECEPT #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 360 1 20 3 B 4 1 20 360 #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4 "C RECEPT .,~~~ ... -.... . '• 

i ,. . ,. ... •, 
RECEPT #12,#12N ,# 12G,3/4"C 360 1 20 5 A 6 1 20 360 #12,#12N ,# 12G,3/4"C RECEPT ,, . \• ~ .. . .~ 

NEC LOAD (1 .25 X PEAK ) I 43 178 OHD #12.#12N ,#12G.3/4"C 1176 1 20 7 B 8 1 20 1176 #12.#12N .#12G.3/4"C OHD { .. .. '.J~·~:~~:.1ii~~~:f :J 
I OHD #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 1176 1 20 9 A 10 1 20 1176 #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4 "C OHD \;\\ 86825 /0:1 ,0 -.<1. O ~ ... 

ADDED NEC DES IGN LOAD 12 50 l~'~·,£!:NS~·>· .:' 
I V E NT FAN EF-1 #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 1584 1 25 11 B 12 1 25 1584 #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4 "C V E NT FAN EF-2 tl 'I ·······rc.~r.:; -\" 0 f~4L -,,,. ...... ~ 

EXTLTG #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 270 1 20 13 A 14 1 20 150 #12,# 12N ,#12G,3/4 "C UH -1,-2-3 +DAMPERS ~ .·it It 
TOTAL LOAD 55 228 INT L TG+ EX IT S IGNS #12,#12N ,#12G,3/4"C 920 1 20 15 B 16 

17 A 18 

COMPAR E EX ISTING S ERV IC E T 400 19 B 20 • • :c~ 
NOTES : 21 A 22 tl~ j 
PF (ESTI MATED) 23 B 24 1,J;; ·-

25 A 26 
1-z :!!108 

SOURCE OF DATA: ONCOR RECORDS 
laJ i~ ... 

27 B 28 <( ~ !li:j 
1-b ~:t 

T 29 A 30 .J laJ Ill .... >- • ~ 
:::J ,: N 

" 
Q)

5
~DANALYSIS 

IKVA) (AMPS) PHASE A (VA) 4,212 I~ 
TOTAL CONN EC TED LOAD 11 47 PHASE B (VA) 7,160 

TOTAL DEMAND LOAD 12 50 

NOTES: 

t 

0fc!~EL SCHEDULE 

ELECTRICAL PROVISIONS FOR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT NEW EQUIPMENT BLDG 

NAMEPLATE DATA CONlROLLER DISCONNECTING MEANS AT LOAD CIRCUIT DATA 

EQUIP DE SC. HP OR FLA CBOR POLES- FUSE NEMA COMMENTS 

LOCATION(1) OR TAG# V PH IKW\ (MCA) (MAX MOP) TYPE SIZE TYPE V WIRES AMPS SIZE TYPE PANEL CKT NUMBER(S) 

SEE MECH PLAN EF-1 120 1 3/4 13 25 MECH TIMER SWITCH. 0-12 HR 20A SPST TOGGLE SWITCH 277 SPST 20 1 A 11 LOCATE TIMER SW 5'AFF BELOW FAN 
SEE MECH PLAN EF-2 120 1 3/4 13 25 MECH TIMER SWITCH 0-12 HR 20A SPST TOGGLE SWITCH 277 SPST 20 1 A 12 LOCATE TIMER SW 5'AFF BELOW FAN 
SEE MECH PLAN UH-1. UH-2 . UH-3 120 1 05 TSTAT SPST TOGGLE SWITCH 277 SPST 20 1 A 14 
SEE MECH PLAN (6) DAMPERS 120 1 0.1 MECH AUX CONT ACT SPST TOGGLE SWITCH 277 SPST 20 1 A 14 I- en 

NOTES ~ w 
....I 

1 ALL VERIFY FINAL EQUIPMENT LOCATIONS :::J 
Cl 

2 ALL PROVIDE ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT. WI RING. AND CONNECT! ONS SCHEDULED 00 w 
I- .. :::c 

ALL: VERIFY ACTUAL NAMEPLATE DATA OF PURCHASED EQ UIPMENT AND ADJUST DEVICES AND WI RING ACCORDINGLY. 
II) ~ (.) 

3 ALL PENETRATE ROOF WITHIN CURB OR MECHANCIAL PIPE JACK_ 

~ ::c ... en 
4 ALL REFER TO MECHANICAL PLANS FOR EXACT LOCATIONS OF EQUIPMENT_ ~~ 

ol:S 
rt. 11 en 

5 MOUNT NEMA 5-20R (GFI. WP) ON ROOFTOP EQUIPMENT FEED FROM CLOSEST RECEPTACLE CIRCUIT BELOW 

I 
a: w ....I -

6 SKJD MOUNTED VFD(S) OR FVNR ST ARTER(S). SINGLE POINT CONNECTION. 0 I- ~ 0 . 
7 VFD OR STARTER SEPARATE FROM EQUIP, LOCATE AS NOTED z i!: w 

i; .. z Cl .. - ....I 
ABBRE\IIA TIONS ' N ti: c3 ... 0 
MCA MINIMUM CIRCUIT AMPS 

i 
0 -0::: 

MOP MAXIMUM OVERCURRENT PROTECTIVE DEVICE RATING I-
NFS NON FUSED SWITCH (.) 

w 
FS FUSED SWITCH :, ....I 

OCPD OVERCURRENT PROTECTIVE DEVICE --CB OR FUSE D. w 
F FUSE PROJECT#: 17142.00 

' ISSUE DATE: 08.24.2018 

0 
8
~~:CTRICAL REQUIREMENTS FOR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT. NEW BUILDING SHEET NUMBER: 

IWlllaiE- NLEltCJTH~ 
(lllillll!L D-;. tl-£(X-.i' I E4.01 ADJUll'I IICQRllllGLY. -,-



195

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, Q_ 

0 

"' 
N 

"' 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

f
I 

Yi 
Ct'. 
> 
'; 
i5 
"' / 
<n 
+-

" " C 
<I) 
/ 
CJ> 
C 
w 
/ 
0 
<( 
u 
/ 

" z 
"' 

.- - - - - - - -

I I .. ____ J 

CORINTH 
Pq, l944 

LOCATION MAP 

N. T. S. 

SHEET INDEX: 

I. GENERAL 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 - 7 
8 
9 - 10 
11 
12 - 13 

TITLE SHEET 
GENERAL NOTES 
PROJECT LAYOUT 
PLAT (NOT TO SCALE) 
SURVEY 
SITE DETAILS 
RETAINING WALL DETAIL 
RAIL DETAIL 
UTILITY DETAILS 
SW3P DETAILS 

I I. PUBLIC WORKS IMPROVEMENTS 

14 - 15 
16 
17 - 18 
19 
20 

I I I. 

21 
22 
23 
24 
25 

SITE PLAN 
DRAINAGE AREA MAP 
GRADING PLAN 
UT! L !TY PLAN 
SW3P 

LCFD PRACTICE FACILITY 
SITE PLAN 
DRAINAGE AREA MAP 
HYDROLOGIC & HYDRAULIC CALCULATIONS 
GRADING PLAN 
SW3P 

I 

: ~ 
•• I 

CITY OF CORINTH 
PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY 

IMPROVEMENTS 
AND 

LAKE CITIES 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

PRACTICE FACILITY 
IMPROVEMENTS 

OWNER/DEVELOPER: 

CITY OF CORI NTH 

CONTACT: CODY COLLIER 
1200 NORTH CORINTH STREET 

CORINTH, TX 76208 
(940) 498 3249 

ENGINEER: 

LAMB-STAR ENGINEERING, L. P. 

CONTACT: JILL VAN HOEWYK, P.E. 
5700 W PLANO PKWY, SUITE 1000 

PLANO, TX 75093 
(214) 440 3600 

ENGINEER PROJECT NUMBER: 8200300.01 

FLOOD INSURANCE MAP 

N. T. S. 

SURVEYOR: GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER: 

LAMB-STAR ENGINEERING, L. P. 

CONTACT: ANDY JACKSON, RPLS 
5700 W PLANO PKWY, SUITE 1000 

PLANO, TX 75093 
(214) 440 3600 

SURVEYOR PROJECT NUMBER: 8200300.01 

TTL, INC. 

CONTACT: MARK HERRMANN, P.E. 
5010 LINBAR DRIVE, SUITE 153 

NASHVILLE, TN 37211 
(615) 331 7770 

GEOTECH PROJECT NUMBER: 000180801663.00 

LAMB-STAR JOB NO. B200300.01 
Know what's below. 

DA TE: 1 /21/201 9 Callbeforeyoudig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 

"' wuw 
<Jl w <Jl 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
<Jl w <Jl 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

TITLE SHEET 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

o .... ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------"" 



196

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 

"CJ 

~ 
V) . 
V) 

w 
f-
0 
'; 
z 
w 
'-' 
/ 
<fl 
+-

" " .c 
V) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
'-' 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO THE 

CITY OF CORINTH STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION MAY 
2013, OR LATEST, AND CURRENT EDITION 
OF NORTH CENTRAL TEXAS COUNCIL OF 
GOVERNMENTS PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION 
STANDARDS. 

2. TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY WAS PROVIDED BY 
LAMB-STAR ENGINEERING, L.P. ON JULY 2, 
2018. 

3. ALL GRADING, SITE PREPARATION, AND 
PAVEMENT SHALL CONFORM WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS AND THE GEOTECHNICAL 
REPORTS PROVIDED BY TTL, INC. ON JULY 
16, 2018. 

4. THE CONTRACTOR MUST SECURE ALL 
NECESSARY PERMITS PRIOR TO STARTING 
WORK. 

5. IF THE CONTRACTOR, IN THE COURSE OF 
THE WORK, FINDS ANY DISCREPANCIES 
BETWEEN THE PLANS AND THE PHYSICAL 
CONDITIONS OF THE LOCALITY, OR ANY 
ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE PLANS OR IN 
THE LAYOUT AS GIVEN BY THE ENGINEER 
WILL PROMPTLY VERIFY THE SAME. ANY 
WORK DONE AFTER SUCH A DISCOVERY, UNTIL 
AUTHORIZED, WILL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTOR'S RISK.NO EXTRA PAYMENT 
SHALL BE ALLOWED FOR WORK CALLED FOR 
ON THE PLANS, BUT NOT INCLUDED IN THE 
BID PROPOSAL. THIS INCIDENTAL WORK 
WILL BE REQUIRED AND SHALL BE INCLUDED 
IN THE PAY ITEM TO WHICH IT RELATES. 

6. DUE TO FEDERAL REGULATIONS TITLE 49, 
PART 192.171 C.P.S. MUST MAINTAIN 
ACCESS TO GAS VALVES AT ALL TIMES. THE 
CONTRACTOR MUST PROTECT AND WORK 
AROUND ANY GAS VALVES THAT ARE IN THE 
PROJECT AREA. 

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY 
INSPECTOR TWENTY-FOUR C24l HOURS PRIOR 
TO BACKFILL OF ANY UTILITY TRENCHES TO 
SCHEDULE DENSITY TEST AS REQUIRED. 

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PRESERVE ALL 
CONSTRUCTION STAKES, MARKS, ETC. IF 
ANY ARE DESTROYED OR REMOVED BY THE 
CONTRACTOR OR HIS EMPLOYEES, THEY 
SHALL BE REPLACED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S 
EXPENSE. 

9. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL 
UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION TO DETERMINE THE LOCATION 
OF EXISTING UTILITIES. CONTRACTOR 
SHALL NOTIFY THE FOLLOWING AT LEAST 
FORTY-EIGHT C48l HOURS PRIOR TO 
EXCAVATION OPERATIONS: 
1. COSERV 
2.CITY OF CORINTH 

10~HE EXISTENCE AND LOCATION OF 
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES INDICATED ON THE 
PLANS ARE TAKEN FROM AVAILABLE RECORDS 
AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED, BUT SHALL BE 
INVESTIGATED AND VERIFIED BY THE 
CONTRACTOR BEFORE STARTING WORK. THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE HELD RESPONSIBLE 
FOR ANY DAMAGE TO AND FOR THE 
MAINTENANCE AND PROTECTION OF THE 
EXISTING UTILITIES EVEN IF THEY ARE 
NOT SHOWN ON THE PLANS. LOCATION AND 
DEPTH OF EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN HERE 
ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY. ACTUAL LOCATIONS 
AND DEPTHS MUST BE VERIFIED BY THE 
CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND 
HE SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROTECTION 
OF SAME DURING CONSTRUCTION. 

11.ALL WASTE MATERIAL SHALL BECOME 
PROPERTY OF THE CONTRACTOR AND SHALL 
BE HIS SOLE RESPONSIBILITY TO DISPOSE 
OF THIS MATERIAL OFF THE LIMITS OF THE 
PROJECT. NO WASTE MATERIAL SHALL BE 
PLACED IN EXISTING LOWS THAT WILL 
BLOCK OR ALTER FLOW LIMITS OF EXISTING 
ARTIFICIAL OR NATURAL DRAINAGE. 

12~HE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT PLACE ANY 
WASTE MATERIAL IN THE 100-YEAR FLOOD 
PLAIN WITHOUT FIRST OBTAINING AN 
APPROVED FLOOD PLAIN DEVELOPMENT 
PERMIT. 

13.THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL 
ADJOINING TRAVELED ROUTES FREE FROM 
SPILLED AND/OR TRACKED CONSTRUCTION 
MATERIALS AND/OR DEBRIS. 

14.IF THE CONTRACTOR ENCOUNTERS ANY 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL DEPOSITS DURING 
CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS, THE 
CONTRACTOR MUST STOP EXCAVATION 
IMMEDIATELY, CONTACT THE CITY 
INSPECTOR, AND CALL THE CITY'S PUBLIC 
WORKS OFFICE AT C940l 498 7510. THE 
CONTRACTOR CANNOT BEGIN EXCAVATION 
AGAIN WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION FROM 
THE C !TY. IF MORE THAN THREE C 3) DAYS 
ARE REQUIRED FOR INVESTIGATION CNOT 
INCLUDING HOLIDAY AND WEEKENDSl AND IF 
THE CONTRACTOR IS UNABLE TO WORK IN 
OTHER AREAS, THEN THE CONTRACTOR WILL 
BE ALLOWED TO NEGOTIATE FOR ADDITIONAL 
CONSTRUCTION TIME UPON WRITTEN REQUEST 
WITHIN TEN C10l DAYS AFTER THE FIRST 
NOTICE TO THE CITY DEPARTMENT OF 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION FOR EACH 
EVENT. IF THE TIME REQUIRED FOR THE 
INVESTIGATION IS LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 
THREE C3l DAYS FOR EACH EVENT, CONTRACT 
DURATION WILL NOT BE EXTENDED. 

15.IF SUSPECTED CONTAMINATION IS 
ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION 
OPERATIONS, THE ENGINEER SHALL BE 
NOTIFIED IMMEDIATELY WHEN CONTAMINATED 
SOILS AND/OR GROUNDWATER ARE 
ENCOUNTERED AT LOCATIONS NOT 
IDENTIFIED IN THE PLANS. THE 
NOTIFICATION SHOULD INCLUDE THE 
LOCATION, TYPE OF CONTAMINATED MEDIA, 
EVIDENCE OF CONTAMINATION AND MEASURES 
TAKEN TO CONTAIN THE CONTAMINATED 
MEDIA AND PREVENT PUBLIC ACCESS. THE 
CONTAMINATED SOIL AND/OR GROUNDWATER 
SHALL NOT BE REMOVED FROM THE LOCATION 
WITHOUT PRIOR CITY OF CORINTH APPROVAL. 
THE CONTRACTOR MUST STOP THE 
EXCAVATION IMMEDIATELY AND CONTACT THE 
CITY OF CORINTH INSPECTOR. THE 
CONTRACTOR CANNOT BEGIN EXCAVATION 
ACTIVITIES WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION 
FROM THE CITY. 

16.THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AND 
MAINTAIN VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN 
ACCESS AT ALL TIMES. 

FLOODPLAIN NOTE: 
1. ACCORDING TO THE FLOOD INSURANCE RATE 

MAP PUBLISHED BY THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT AGENCY, DEPARTMENT OF 
HOMELAND SECURITY: 

a. THE PUBLIC WORKS PROPERTY APPEARS 
TO BE LOCATED IN A ZONE "X" CAREAS 
DETERMINED TO BE OUTSIDE THE 0.2% 
ANNUAL CHANCE FLOODPLA!Nl AS SHOWN 
ON MAPS NO. 48121C0390G, REVISED 
APRIL 18, 2011, & 48121C0395G, 
REVISED APRIL 18, 2011, FOR DENTON 
COUNTY AND INCORPORATED AREAS. 

b. THE LAKE CITIES FIRE DEPARTMENT 
PROPERTY APPEARS TO BE LOCATED IN 
A ZONE "X" CAREAS DETERMINED TO 
BE OUTSIDE THE 0.2% ANNUAL CHANCE 
FLOODPLA!Nl AS SHOWN ON MAPS NO. 
48121C0390G, REVISED APRIL 18, 
2011, FOR DENTON COUNTY AND 
INCORPORATED AREAS. 

c. THIS FLOOD STATEMENT DOES NOT 
IMPLY THAT THE PROPERTY AND/OR 
STRUCTURES LOCATED IN A ZONE "X" 
WILL BE FREE FROM FLOODING OR 
FLOOD DAMAGE. 

ACCESSIBILITY NOTES: 
1. ALL SIDEWALKS, CURBS, RAMPS, AND 

PARKING AREAS SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE 
WITH CURRENT TEXAS ACCESSIBILITY 
STANDARDS. 

2. A TDLR INSPECTION IS REQUIRED FOR THIS 
PROJECT PRIOR TO FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF 
THE WORK. 

STAGING NOTES: 
1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFINE THEIR 

WORK ACTIVITIES TO THE WORK AREA. NO 
ENCROACHMENTS ONTO DEVELOPED OR 
UNDEVELOPED AREAS WILL BE ALLOWED. THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
RESTORING TO ITS ORIGINAL OR BETTER 
CONDITION ANY DAMAGE DONE TO EXISTING 
FENCES, CONCRETE STRUCTURES, STREET 
PAVING, CURBS, SHRUBS, BUSHES OR 
DRIVEWAYS. CNO SEPARATE PAY ITEMl. 

2. MATERIAL STORAGE AREAS SHALL BE 
SURROUNDED WITH 12" EROSION CONTROL 
LOGS. PAYMENT WILL BE IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ITEM "TEMPORARY EROSION, 
SEDIMENTATION, AND WATER POLLUTION 
PREVENTION AND CONTROL". 

3. STAGING AREA LOCATIONS MUST BE 
COORDINATED WITH AND APPROVED BY OWNER. 

4. STAGING AREAS SHALL NOT BLOCK NORMAL 
SITE TRAFFIC. 

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE VEGETATION 
DISTURBED BY STAGING AREAS UPON 
REMOVAL OF STAGING AREA. PAYMENT FOR 
VEGETATION RESTORATION WILL NOT BE 
MADE SEPARATELY BUT WILL BE CONSIDERED 
SUBSIDIARY TO ITEM STAGING, WORK AREA 
SAFETY. 

6. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT SEQUENCE OF 
WORK FOR OWNER APPROVAL PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION. 

DRAINAGE NOTES: 
1. POSITIVE DRAINAGE MUST BE MAINTAINED 

AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION. 
2. REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE CALLED FOR IN 

THE PLANS WILL BE PAID FOR UNDER 
NCTCOG ITEM 501. 6. THIS ITEM WILL BE 
MEASURED BY THE FOOT. MEASUREMENT WILL 
BE MADE BETWEEN THE ENDS OF THE PIPE 
ALONG THE FLOW LINE, NOT INCLUDING 
SAFETY TREATMENTS. FOR MULTIPLE PIPES, 
THE MEASUREMENT WILL BE THE SUM OF THE 
LENGTHS OF THE BARRELS. 

3. THE PRICE FOR REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE 
IS FULL COMPENSATION FOR CONSTRUCTING, 
FURNISHING, TRANSPORTING, PLACING, AND 
JOINING PIPES, SHAPING THE BED, CUTTING 
PIPES ON SKEW OR SLOPE, CONNECTING TO 
NEW OR EXISTING STRUCTURES, CUTTING 
PIPE ENDS, BACKFILLING TRENCHES, AND 
EQUIPMENT, LABOR, TOOLS, AND 
INCIDENTALS. 

GRAD I NG NOTES: 
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL ADHERE TO PROPOSED 

GRADES ALONG CREEKS, ESPECIALLY IN THE 
AREA OF THE PROPOSED CULVERTS ON THE 
FIRE DEPARTMENT SITE. IF AREAS ARE 
DISTURBED BEYOND PROPOSED GRADES BY 
NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE HELD RESPONSIBLE 
FOR ANY PENALTIES INCURRED. 

2. ALL PROPOSED SPOT ELEVATIONS SHOWN 
INDICATE FINISHED GRADED ELEVATIONS AT 
EDGE OF PAVEMENT AND/OR GRADE BREAKS, 
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. 

3. EMBANKMENT CONSISTING OF LOW 
PLASTICITY SELECT FILL: 

a. LIQUID LIMIT NOT MORE THAN 40, 
PLASTICITY INDEX BETWEEN 10 AND 
20. 

b. MAXIMUM PARTICLE SIZE: NOT MORE 
THAN 3". NOT MORE THAN 30% 
RETAINED ON A 6~ " SIEVE. 

c. MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE ORGANIC CONTENT: 
NOT MORE THAN 3% BY WEIGHT. NO 
LARGE ROOTS SHALL BE ALLOWED. 

d. uses CLASSIFICATIONS - CL, SC 
e. SHALL HAVE A MOISTURE CONTENT 

WITHIN MINUS 2 AND PLUS 2 PERCENT 
OF THE OPTIMUM MOISTURE CONTENT. 

4. EMBANKMENT CONSISTING OF 
NON-STRUCTURAL CCOMMONl FILL: 

a. LIQUID LIMIT NOT MORE THAN 60, 
PLASTICITY INDEX NOT MORE THAN 30. 

b. MAXIMUM PARTICLE SIZE: NOT MORE 
THAN 3", NOT MORE THAN 30% 
RETAINED ON A 6~ " SIEVE. 

c. MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE ORGANIC CONTENT: 
NOT MORE THAN 3% BY WEIGHT. NO 
LARGE ROOTS SHALL BE ALLOWED. 

d. SHALL HAVE A MOISTURE CONTENT 
WITHIN PLUS 1 TO PLUS 4 PERCENT OF 
THE OPTIMUM MOISTURE CONTENT. 

5. EMBANKMENT CONSISTING OF LOW 
PLASTICITY SELECT FILL AND 
NON-STRUCTURAL (COMMON) FILL SHOULD BE 
COMPACTED BY MAKING MULTIPLE PASSES 
WITH AN APPROPRIATELY SIZED SHEEPSFOOT 
ROLLER OR HAND-COMPACTION EQUIPMENT. 

UT IL !TY NOTES: 
1. ALL WATER LINES 2" OR SMALLER SHALL BE 

TYPE K-COPPER. 
STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION NOTES: 

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL PREPARE NO! AND SWP3 
AND SUBMIT TO TCEQ, AS NECESSARY. 
PAYMENT FOR PREPARATION, 
IMPLEMENTATION, INSPECTION AND 
MAINTENANCE OF STORM WATER POLLUTION 
PREVENTION PLAN WILL BE IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ITEM "TEMPORARY EROSION, 
SEDIMENTATION, AND WATER POLLUTION 
PREVENTION AND CONTROL", 

2. EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHOWN ON PLANS 
ARE CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND MAY BE 
ADJUSTED IN THE FIELD TO ACCOMMODATE 
SITE CONDITIONS. 

3. EROSION CONTROL LOGS SHALL BE 
INSPECTED REGULARLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
TPDES CONSTRUCTION GENERAL PERMIT FOR 
ACCUMULATION OF EXCESS SEDIMENT, 
UNDERCUTTING, SAGS AND OTHER FAILURES. 
SEDIMENT SHALL BE REMOVED WHEN IT 
REACHES APPROXIMATELY ONE-HALF THE 
HEIGHT OF THE LOG. 

4. CONSTRUCTION EXITS SHALL BE INSPECTED 
REGULARLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TPDES 
CONSTRUCTION GENERAL PERMIT. WHEN 
SEDIMENT HAS SUBSTANTIALLY CLOGGED THE 
VOID AREA BETWEEN THE ROCKS, THE 
AGGREGATE MAT MUST BE WASHED OR 
REPLACED, PERIODIC RE-GRADING AND TOP 
DRESSING WITH ADDITIONAL STONE MUST BE 
DONE TO KEEP THE EFFICIENCY OF THE 
EXIT FROM DIMINISHING. 

5. IF THE STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT IS 
NOT EFFECTIVELY REMOVING SEDIMENT FROM 
WHEELS, A WHEEL WASH SHOULD BE 
CONS IDER ED. 

6. BMPS WILL BE INSPECTED AT LEAST ONCE 
PER WEEK OR WITHIN 24 HOURS OF ANY 
STORM EVENT OF 0.5 INCHES OR GREATER. 
IF A REPAIR IS NECESSARY, IT WILL BE 
DONE AT THE EARLIEST PRACTICAL DATE 
BUT WITHIN 48 HOURS. 

7. WITHIN 7 DAYS OF COMP LET ION OF 
CONSTRUCTION IN ANY AREA, PERMANENT 
STABILIZATION MEASURES SHALL BE 
INSTALLED. 

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENFORCE SW3P AND KEEP 
SITE FREE OF TRASH AND CONSTRUCTION 
DEBRIS. CONTRACTOR IS REQUIRED TO 
REPAIR AND/OR REPLACE DAMAGED EROSION 
CONTROL DEVICES. 

SITE NOTES: 
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 

VERIFICATION OF ALL SETBACKS, 
EASEMENTS, AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON 
BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. 

2. NOTIFY THE CITY INSPECTOR TWENTY-FOUR 
<24l HOURS BEFORE BEGINNING EACH PHASE 

OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY 
PRESERVE BENCHMARKS, REFERENCE POINTS, 
AND STAKES. 

4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF 
BUILDING, FACE OF CURB, AND FACE OF 
WALL UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON 
PLANS. 

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE SITE IN 
A MANNER SO THAT WORKMEN AND PUBLIC 
SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM INJURY, AND 
ADJOINING PROPERTY PROTECTED FROM 
DAMAGE. 

6. UNDERCUT EXISTING SOILS TO A DEPTH OF 
4' BELOW EXISTING GRADE IN THE AREA 
BENEATH AND 5' BEYOND EXTERIOR OF 
PROPOSED BUILDING. 

7. SHORING SHALL BE PROVIDED AS NECESSARY 
FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE WORK AND FOR 
THE SAFETY OF PERSONNEL. SHORING SHALL 
BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S.H.A. AND 
LOCAL REGULATIONS. 

8. SEE RETAINING WALL DETAIL SHEET FOR 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. 

9. SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR PROP 
BUILDING INFORMATION. 

10.SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT 
INFORMATION. 

PAVEMENT MARKING NOTES: 
1. PAVEMENT MARKINGS CALLED FOR IN THE 

PLANS WILL BE PAID FOR UNDER NCTCOG 
ITEM 804. THIS ITEM WILL BE MEASURED 
BY THE FOOT OR BY EACH WORD, SHAPE OR 
SYMBOL. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
V) 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

GENERAL 
NOTES 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

2 
o,._----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 



197

::, 
Q_ 

"" 0 

"" "" 
C 

-- "' -- 0 
L N 

c.:> ' 3 N 
(l) ' L 
"O 

" C 
8 .. 

c:: f-
f-

w 0 
<J) _, 
::::, Q_ 

.D a> 
+- 't 
f- +-
g 0. 

~~ 
~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 

ffi ~ 
0. • 
* L I (l) 
f- +
z C 

0:: 5. 
8~ 
• w 
w > _, ~ 
CD 0:: 
.. 0 
f-

f
zo w _, 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

f
::::, 
0 
>-
:l 
f
u 
w --, 
0 
0:: 

'l; 
z 
w 
c.:> 
/ 

"' +-
(l) 
(l) 
C 
<J) 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 
0 

__ , 
_,,,..,..,...--- I 

____ -.: 11:1: 

I 
I 

I ' 

' 

~m.:11 
i'tl ~u 
1M ;i 
!l'i ~ ,,, ti,~. 
:1:111!1 
q, 1111 
'\" 11 
r,\;J~I 
,,: ,, I 
- I 

I 
' I 
' , I 
, I 

' I 
I 
I LAKE CITIES 

V
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

I PRACTICE FACILITY 
I PROJECT LIMITS 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

PUBLIC WORKS 

l
!MPROYEMENTS 
PROJECT LIMITS 

- I __ ,.... __ ..... --- ... ~ 17 ' / , ,.. 

,--- ----- ~XIST PRO;;;TY LINE ,,---'i / I / 

-~~~~~~f~ :~~ .. ~,:~ : 

... - - - - ... 
I 

I 

' I 

O' 75' 150' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: 

' 
w 
f-

;;\ 

~ >--l---l---HH--t--t---t----t----1 
g <II 

<J) 
z 

"' 
u 

"' c.:> w u w I w u w 
<J) 

<J) w <J) 
0.. 

<J) w <J) _, I _, _, I _, w u "' u 0 0:: 
c.:> 

PROJECT NAME 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nllo4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

PROJECT 
LAYOUT 

SHEET Nllo4BER 

3 



N

This flood statement shall not create liability on the part of the surveyor.

by man-made or natural causes. 

flooding or flood damage. On rare occasions, greater floods can and will occur and flood heights may be increased 

floodplain), This flood statement does not imply that the property and/or the structures thereon will be free from 

appears to be within Flood Zone "X" non shaded (areas determined to be outside the 0.2% annual chance 

INSURANCE RATE MAP for Denton County, Texas & Incorporated Areas, by graphic plotting only, this property 

4. According to Community/Panel Numbers 48121C0390G and 47121C0395G, effective April 18, 2011, of the FLOOD 

3. No flood zone area analysis has been performed on the subject property Lamb-Star Engineering, LP.

covenants, ownership title evidence, or any other facts that an accurate abstract of title may disclose.

2. Surveyor has made no investigation or independent search for easement of record, encumbrances, restrictive 

1. Bearings are based on the Texas Coordinate System, North Central Zone (4202), NAD '83.

NOTES:

ABSTRACT No. 204

BATES SURVEYL.H.

My commission expires the ____ day of ________________ , ________ .

State of Texas

Notary Public

__________________________

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this _____ day of _______________,_________.

that he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration therein expressed and in the capacity therein stated.

_________________, known to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged 

BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY personally appeared 

COUNTY OF ________

STATE OF _________

Date: ______________

Lienholder: ___________________________

described hereon, does hereby ratify all dedications and provisions of this plat as shown.

Whereas, _______________ , acting by and through the undersigned, its duly authorized agent, is the lienholder of the property 

COUNTY OF ______.

STATE OF TEXAS

LIENHOLDER'S RATIFICATION OF PLAT DEDICATION

City of Corinth, Texas

City Secretary

__________________________

Witness by hand this ____ day of _____________, ______

Mayor to note the acceptance thereof by by signing his/her name as herein above subscribed.

accepted by the City, that the Final Plat is now acceptable for filing with Denton County and said Council further authorized the 

and infrastructure improvements have been completed in accordance with the construction plans, have been tested and have been 

requirements of the Subdivision Ordinance and Design Criteria as shown and set forth in and upon said plat, that the public works 

water mains, wastewater mains and other utilities, and any other property necessary to serve the plat and to implement the 

alleys, and parks to the public use forever and dedication of easements for trails, sidewalks, storm drainage facilities, floodways, 

__________,_______  and the Council, by formal action, then and there accepted the fee simple dedication of streets, thoroughfares, 

Corinth Public Works Facility Addition,, to the City of Corinth was submitted to the City Council on the ____ day of 

The undersigned, the City Secretary and the City of Corinth, Texas, hereby certifies that the foregoing Final Plat of the City of 

Mayor, City of Corinth, Texas                  Date

_________________________                _____________________

Approved

Certificate of Completion and Authorization to File

City of Corinth, Texas

City Secretary

__________________________

Witness by hand this ____ day of _____________, ______

described.

plans, and said Council further authorizes the Mayor to note the acceptance thereof by signing his/her name as herein above 

proceed with the construction of the public works improvements and infrastructure as indicated on the accompanying construction 

____________, ______ and the Council, by formal action, then and there accepted the Final Plat and authorizes the developer to 

Corinth Public Works Facility Addition, to the City of Corinth was submitted to the City Council on the ____ day of 

The undersigned, the City Secretary and the City of Corinth, Texas, hereby certifies that the foregoing Final Plat of the City of 

Mayor, City of Corinth, Texas                                           Date

____________________________________                   _____________________

Approved

Chairman, Planning and Zoning Commission                   Date

____________________________________                   _____________________

Approved

Certificate of Final Plat Approval

My commission expires the ______ day of _______________,__________.

State of Texas

Notary Public

_____________________________

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this ______ day of _________________,__________.

therein expressed and in the capacity therein stated.

whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that he/she executed the same for the purpose and consideration 

BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY personally appeared __________________________, known to me to be the person 

COUNTY OF DENTON

STATE OF TEXAS:

City of Corinth

Authorized Representative                                    Date

____________________________                      ________________________

shown for the purpose and consideration therein expressed.

and any other property necessary to serve the plat and to implement the requirements of the Subdivision Ordinance and Design Criteria thereon 

trails, to the public use forever easements for sidewalks, storm drainage facilities, floodways, water mains, wastewater mains, and other utilities, 

dedicate to the public use forever by fee simple title, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, all streets, thoroughfares, alleys, parks, and 

And designated herein as Lake Cities Public Works Site, an addition to the City of Corinth, Texas, and whose name is subscribed hereto, hereby 

a distance of 112.05 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING AND CONTAINING 217,888 square feet, or 5.002 acres of land more or less.

THENCE North 00 degrees 50 minutes 21 seconds West, along the east line of said Lot 1, Block A of the Lake Cities Fire Station #2 Addition, 

distance of 66.33 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod found for the south corner of said Lot 1, Block A of the Lake Cities Fire Station #2 Addition;

THENCE along said easterly right-of-way line and along said curve, through a central angle of 00 degrees 37 minutes 07 seconds, an arc 

minutes 51 seconds West, a chord distance of 66.63 feet;

recorded in 2010-43179 and being on a non-tangent curve to the right having a radius of 6172.13 feet and a chord bearing North 34 degrees 26 

point also being on the east right-of-way line of the Dallas Area Rapid Transit Right-of-Way, as recorded in County Clerk's Document Number 

1/2-inch iron rod found for the southwest corner of said called 5.0148-acre tract and the northwest corner of said called 8.0850-acre tract, said 

THENCE North 88 degrees 40 minutes 45 seconds West, along the north line of said called 8.0850-acre tract, a distance of 1280.76 feet to a 

1486, D.R.D.C.T.;

tract and the northeast corner of a called 8.0850-acre tract of land as described in deed to the City of Corinth, as recorded in Volume 4708, Page 

THENCE South 00 degrees 24 minutes 27 seconds East, a distance of 166.11 feet to a point for the southeast corner of said called 5.0148-acre 

northeast corner of said called 5.0148-acre tract and the southeast corner of said called 0.127-acre tract;

of Corinth, as recorded in Volume 4499, Page 1950, D.R.D.C.T., and continuing in all a total distance of 1318.92 feet to a point for the 

called 3.64-acre tract and the southwest corner of a called 0.127-acre tract of land described in Deed Granting Street Right-of-Way to the City 

additional distance of 636.18 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with a yellow plastic cap stamped “G&A 5078” found  for the southeast corner of said 
recorded in County Clerk's Document Number 2003-R206882 D.R.D.C.T., and continuing along the south line of said called 3.64-acre tract, an 

Anchor Bay Storage Addition, and the southwest corner of a called 3.64-acre tract as described in deed to Parker, Augustine, Starr, LLC, as 

THENCE South 88 degrees 40 minutes 45 seconds East, passing at a distance of 660.05 feet the southeast corner of said Lot 1, Block A of the 

Corinth as recorded Cab. X, Page 568, P.R.D.C.T.;

(P.R.D.C.T.), said point also being on the east line of Lot 1, Block A of the Lake Cities Fire Station #2 Addition, an addition to the City of 

the Anchor Bay Storage Addition, an addition to the City of Corinth as recorded in Cab. N, Page 333, Plat Records or Denton County, Texas, 

BEGINNING at a 1/2-inch iron rod found for the northwest corner of said called 5.0148-acre tract and the southeast corner of Lot 1, Block A of 

Records Denton County, Texas, (D.R.D.C.T.), and being more particularly described as follows:

called 5.0148-acre tract of land as in described in deed to City of Corinth, as recorded in County Clerk's Document Number 95-R33535, Deed 

Being all of that tract of land situated in the L.H. Bates Survey, Abstract No. 204, the City of Corinth, Denton County, Texas, and being that 

That We, City of Corinth, are the owners of the land shown on this plat within the area described by metes and bounds as follows:

COUNTY OF DENTON:

STATE OF TEXAS:

OWNER'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND DEDICATION

My commission expires the ______ day of _______________,__________.

State of Texas

Notary Public

_____________________________

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE this ______ day of _________________,__________.

consideration therein expressed and in the capacity therein stated.

person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that he/she executed the same for the purpose and 

BEFORE ME, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY personally appeared __________________________, known to me to be the 

COUNTY OF DENTON

STATE OF TEXAS:

Texas Registration No. 6212

London E. Ryon, RPLS

_______________________________________

from an actual survey on the ground and this plat represents that survey made by me or under my supervision.

I, London E. Ryon, a Registered Professional Land Surveyor in the State of Texas, have prepared this plat of the above property 

SURVEYOR'S STATEMENT

0' 50' 100' 200'

PREPARED FOR

TBPLS NO. 10048300

(214) 440-3600

Plano, Texas 75093

5700 W. Plano Parkway, Suite 1000

Lamb-Star Engineering, L.P.

LOT 1, BLOCK A

FINAL PLAT

WORKS FACILITY ADDITION

CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC 

ZONED LI (INDUSTRIAL)

CITY OF CORINTH, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS

BATES SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 204L.H.

5.002 ACRES

CHECKED BY: LER   07/03/2018

07/02/2018

DRAWN BY: RBH     

Corinth, TX 76208

3300 Corinth Parkway

City of Corinth

L        S       - AMB  TAR

SHADY SHORES RD

IH
 3

5
E O

L
D
 

U
S
 

H
W

Y
 
7
7 N
 

C
O

R
IN

T
H
 

S
T

WALTON DR

CORINTH PKWY

CHURCH DR

SITE

VICINITY MAP

P.O.B.
1/2" IRF

3/8" IRF

5/8" IRF

1/2" CIRF

YELLOW PLASTIC

STAMPED "G&A 5078"

CH=66.63'

CB=N 34°26'53" W

T=33.32'

A=66.63'

R=6172.13'

RB=N 55°14'33" E

ï»¿Î”=00Â°3

1
1
2
.0

5
'

N
 
0
0
°5

0
'2

1
"
 

W

S 88°40'45" E  1,318.92'

S
 
0
0
°2

4
'2

7
"
 

E
 
 
1
6
6
.1

1
'

N 88°40'45" W  1,280.76'

P.R.D.C.T.

CAB. N, PG 333

LOT 1, BLOCK A

ANCHOR BAY STORAGE ADDITION

P.R.D.C.T.

CAB. X, PG 568

LOT 1, BLOCK A

STATION #2

LAKE CITIES FIRE 

D.R.D.C.T.

INST. NO. 2010-43179 

TRANSIT

DALLAS AREA RAPID 

D.R.D.C.T.

INST. NO. 95-R33535 

CITY OF CORINTH

4.92 ACRES

D.R.D.C.T.

INST. NO. 2003-R206882

PARKER, AUGUSTINE, STARR, LLC

D.R.D.C.T.

VOL. 4708, PG. 1486

CITY OF CORINTH

D.R.D.C.T.

INST. NO. 2017-136673

JMSR ENTERPRISES LLC

N
 

C
O

R
IN

T
H
 

S
T

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

22.69'636.18'

660.05'

D
E

D
IC

A
T

E
D
 

R
O

W

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 

D
E

D
IC

A
T

E
D
 

R
O

W

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 

15' BUILDING SETBACK

15' BUILDING SETBACK

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

1
5
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

S
E
T
B

A
C

K

2
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

4
0
' 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
 

PL
SL

     = MONUMENTATION FOUND

CIRF = CAPPED IRON ROD FOUND

IRF  = IRON ROD FOUND

P.R.D.C.T. = PLAT RECORDS OF DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS

D.R.D.C.T. = DEED RECORDS OF DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS

ROW = RIGHT-OF-WAY

P.O.B. = POINT OF BEGINNING

SURVEY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PRIMARY BOUNDARY LINE

LINE/BOUNDARY LINE

EXISTING ROADWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY 

LEGEND

SL
SL

S
U

R
V

E
Y
 

L
IN

E

A
P

P
R

O
X
IM

A
T

E
 

AS A FINAL SURVEY DOCUMENT"

NOT BE USED OR VIEWED OR RELIED UPON 

BE RECORDED FOR ANY PURPOSE AND SHALL 

"PRELIMINARY, THIS DOCUMENT SHALL NOT 

FOR REVIEW AND COMMENT ONLY 

L:\Projects\B200300.01 - Corinth- Public Works Renovations - Corinth\CAD\Survey\DWG\LS_CORINTH PW PLAT_GRID-PRELIMINARY.dwg

ROW DEDICATION

BY THIS PLAT

0.082 ACRES

19.76'

1
6
6
.2

2
'

S
 
0
1
°2

5
'0

7
"
 

E
 
 

CITY OF CORINTH

STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY

VOLUME 449, PAGE 1950

D.R.D.C.T.

INDUSTRIAL

INDUSTRIAL ZONING: 

FUTURE LAND USE: 

INDUSTRIAL

INDUSTRIAL ZONING: 

FUTURE LAND USE: 

INDUSTRIAL

INDUSTRIAL ZONING: 

FUTURE LAND USE: 

ZONING: INDUSTRIAL

PUBLIC/SEMI PUBLIC 

FUTURE LAND USE: 

ZONING: INDUSTRIAL

PUBLIC/SEMI PUBLIC 

FUTURE LAND USE: 

FIRE LANE EASEMENT

CURVE ARC LENGTH RADIUS DELTA ANGLE CHORD BEARING CHORD LENGTH

C1 43.98' 28.00' 90°00'00" S 46°20'54" W 39.60'

C2 43.98' 28.00' 90°00'00" N 43°39'06" W 39.60'

C
1

C
2

LINE BEARING DISTANCE

L1 N 00°55'30" E 24.07'

L2 S 88°38'49" E 868.12'

L3 N 45°05'46" E 39.63'

L4 N 88°40'45" W 12.96'

L5 S 00°24'27" E 97.98'

L6 N 42°23'58" W 62.71'

L7 N 88°38'45" W 715.87'

L8 S 01°20'54" W 30.00'

L9 N 88°39'06" W 26.00'

L10 N 01°20'54" E 30.00'

L11 N 88°42'38" W 70.07'

L
1

L2
L3

L4

L
5

L6

L7

L
8

L9

L
1
0

L11

198



199

C 

----L 
c.:> 

3 
(l) 
L 
"O 
C .. 
c:: 
w 
<J) 
::::, 

.D 
+-
...: 
0 
0 
X 

'; 
(l) 

.D 
0 
+-
C 
(l) 

i'-
I 
f-
z 
0:: 
0 
u 

~ 
_J 
CD .. 
f-

z 
w 
Q_ 

::, 
Q_ 

r--
0 

"' "' 

"' 0 
N 

' N 

' 
" 8 
f-
f-

'3 
Q_ 

CJ> 

--0 
+-
0. 

CL 
0 

'i-
f-
0 
0 
X 
'; 
L 
(l) 
+-
C 

L 
0. 

0:: 
w 
;': 
0:: 
0 

f-
0 
_J 
Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

_J 

g: 
z 
'i 
> 
0:: 
::::, 
<J) . 
z 
w 
c.:> 
/ 
<I) 

+
(l) 
(l) 
.c 
<J) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

CONTROL POINT 9 
N: 
E: 

EL: 

7109688.005 
2407301.493 

577. 192 

CORINTH 
Foo 3944 

VICINITY MAP 
N. T. S. 

CONTROL POINT 8 
N: 7109291. 236 
E: 2407612.630 

EL: 583.512 

,' 
I 

I 

--
/ 

,' 

CONTROL NORTHING EASTING ELEVATION DESCRIPTION POINT NO 

1 7108908.291 2408944.580 606.842 5/8" IRON ROD W/ YELLOW CAP SET 
2 7108978.371 2408547.316 609.322 X CUT IN CONCRETE SET 
8 7109291.236 2407612.630 583.512 5/8" IRON ROD W/ YELLOW CAP SET 
9 7109688.005 2407301.493 577.192 5/8" IRON ROD W/ YELLOW CAP SET 

HORIZONTAL COORDINATES ARE SURFACE VALUES DERIVED BY MULTIPLE GPS OBSERVATIONS USING THE LEICA SMARTNET VRS NETWORK. 
MODIFIED STATE PLANE COORDINATES <NORTH TEXAS ZONE 4202) - SURFACE FACTOR 1. 000150630 <DENTON COUNTY> . 
ELEVATIONS WERE DETERMINED USING DIGITAL LEVELS THROUGH CONTROL POINTS HOLDING A GIVEN ELEVATION OF 569.683 FOR 
CITY OF CORINTH CONTROL MONUMENT "CM09" - ESTABLISHED FEB. 2003. ALL FIELD DATA OBSERVED MAY AND JUNE 2018. 

I 

... - - - - .,' 

T 
j.,.' _,, 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I I r ___ ., , 

' I ,' 

CONTROL POINT 1 
N: 71 08908. 291 
E: 2408944.580 

EL: 606. 842 

O' 75' 150' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: 

' 
"' .7! 
<II 

w .. 
;;\ 

g 

z 
c.:> 

<J) 
w 
0 

w 
<J) 
_J 

>-
CII: 
<( 
z 
:E 
..J 
w 
CII: 
A,, 

<J) 

"' 
u 

"' u w w u 
w <J) I <J) w 
I _J 0.. _J I 

"' u 0:: u 
c.:> 

~i 
~!!i 
~~- ~ ii::'&: 
;~i:I~ 
0 il 't :z' 
~ ~ l"l°~ 
~ii:"ll'CIIIC 

: : l~ ui 
ii""! z 
.. Q 0 
i!E ~ " z .. =- g 
~~ 

PROJECT NAME 

w 
<J) 
_J 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SURVEY 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

5 
o"---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------._ ___________ _. 



200

~r-------------------2-4-.. ---------------------------------.--------------:-A::CC::E::S::S:-:I-:B"."'L':'E"".P::-A:-:R:'.'K:-:I-:-N:::G-----:F::-RO::N::T:-:O::F'.""':B"."'L::DG::.-----------------------r~:::::::::~:::::::::~::::~ 

"' I' FROM EDGE' I SIGN WITH VAN PLAQUE, 
~ ~---~ OF PAVEMENT MOUNT TO BLDG . 
~ SIGN OR CURB 

AREA METAL TUBING 

@~ 
GALVANIZED SQUARE 1-3/4"X 

SIGN POST 1-3 / 4" 
(PERFORATED) ( 1 4 GAUGE) 

GALVANIZED SQUARE 2" X 2" ANCHOR STUB ( 1 4 GAUGE) (PERFORATED) l 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-

GALVANIZED SQUARE 
SIGN POST INSERTED 

6" INTO ANCHOR STUB 

CORNER BOLT, 
FLANGED WASHER NUT 

GALVANIZED 
SQUARE ANCHOR STUB 

CLASS A CONCRETE 
FOOTING (MIN. 1 CU. FT . l 

6" X % " DIA. STEEL 
PIN OR DISFIGURE 

END OF ANCHOR 

w 

CX) 
N 

DRIVE 
RIVET 

DRIVE RIVET 

DRIVE RIVET 

N. T. S. 

GALVANIZED SQUARE 
SIGN POST 

SECTION A-A 

N. T. S. 

GALVANIZED SQUARE 
ANCHOR STUB 

TABLE A 

0. • ~~------------------------------------------------------f- +-
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
CL CL 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

'; 
f
I 

Yi 
':] 
<( 
f
w 
'; 
z 
w 
C) 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
1/l 
/ 

" z 
C) 

CD PARALLEL CURB RAMP 
5 N. T. S. 

PARALLEL 
CURB RAMP 

4" SOLID 
WH !TE LINES 

4" SOLID 
WHITE LINES 

~ LJ ;;::; 

18" 

"' 

153A" 

2" 

SYMBOL AND BORDER WHITE 
BACKGROUND BLUE 

SI" 
N 

3" R 
4" 1 7" 

48" cf~, __ s_E_E_s_,_TE_PL_A_N __ ,~1-?E_E_s,_T_E_P_L_AN_,I 

2 ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACE STRIPING 
5 N. T. S. 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. ALL PARKING SPACE LIMIT LINES SHALL BE 4" SOLID WHITE LINES. 

2. AISLE MARKINGS SHOWN ARE EXAMPLES ONLY . OTHER METHODS TO INDICATE A NO PARKING AREA ARE ACCEPTABLE . AISLE MARKINGS 
SHALL BE WHITE. 

3. DIMENSIONS OF LIMIT LINES, AISLE MARKINGS, AND SYMBOL (WITH OR WITHOUT BACKGROUND) MAY VARY+ 10Y. . 

4. PAVEMENT MARKING SYMBOLS (WITH BACKGROUND): 

Al ARE REQUIRED UNLESS STATED ELSEWHERE IN THE PLANS, 
Bl SHOULD BE PLACED TOWARD THE FAR END OF THE PARKING SPACES SO AS TO BE VISIBLE TO MOTORISTS IN THE TRAVEL LANE, 
Cl MAY BE PAINTED OR PREFABRICATED MATERIAL, AND 
Dl SHALL BE 30" X 30" MINIMUM. 

5. WITH APPROVAL OF THE CITY TRAFFIC ENGINEER, PREFABRICATED PAVEMENT MARKING SYMBOLS WITH BACKGROUND OF OTHER 
DIMENSIONS EXCEEDING THE 30"x30" MINIMUM MAY BE USED. ALTERNATIVE DESIGNS SHALL INCLUDE A PROPORTION SIZED SYMBOL 
OF ACCESSIBILITY, AND SHALL CONFORM TO THE ILLUSTRATED COLORS FOR BACKGROUND, SYMBOL AND BORDER. 

6. ALL SLOPE IN AND AROUND EXPECTED ACCESSIBLE PATH SHALL NOT EXCEED ZY. X-SLOPES. 

GENERAL NOTES 
1. CONCRETE SHALL BE CLASS A. 

24" 
2. REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE NO. 4 UNLESS 6" 2" OTHERWISE SHOWN. 

3. ALL EXISTING CURBS AND DRIVEWAYS TO BE REMOVED 
SHALL BE SAWED OR REMOVED AT EXISTING JOINTS. 

4. EXPANSION AND CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL BE ;:!', ;;,,"!: 
CONSTRUCTED TO MATCH PAVEMENT JOINTS IN ALL N 

"' L{) CURBS AND GUTTERS ADJACENT TO JOINTED CONCRETE 0:: 
PAVEMENT. 0 

5. Y2" EXPANSION JOINT MATERIAL SHALL BE PROVIDED 
WHERE CURB AND GUTTER IS ADJACENT TO SIDEWALK. 

3" 

CD CURB ~~~ s.GUTTER 

<O 

EXPANSION JOINT IF 
NOT INTEGRAL WITH 
PAVEMENT 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 

"' wuw 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SITE 
DETAILS 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

6 
o,._----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 



201

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
CL CL 

C 
CJ> 
1J 

N 

' 
'; 
f
I 

~ 
</l 
_J 

<( 

~ 
0 . 
z 
w 
'-' 
/ 

" z 

3" MIN . 
6" MAX . '*3 X 24" 

DOWEL 

sco 
JOI 

1/4" THI 

RE------, 
NT 
CK 

6' 
I' 

MAX,-
1 

PROP CURB 
AND GUTTER 

,------._B 
20: 1 MAX. 

el 
IB 

' _J '-------B 

3" MIN. 
6" MAX . 

JOINT PLAN VIEW 

TRANSVERSE EXPANSION JOINT 

NOTES: 
1. PLACE EXPANSION JOINTS 40' C-C MAX. 

CENTER EXPANSION JOINTS IF OVER 20' 
LENGTH BUT LESS THAN 40' LENGTH . 

2. PROVIDE EXPANSION JOINTS BETWEEN 
SIDEWALKS AND CURB RAMPS, BACK 
OF CURB, AND ADJACENT SIDEWALKS. 

N 

NOTES: 

6' 

\/2" EXPANSION JOINT 
'*3 BARS @16" C-C 
EACH WAY 
2.00% MAX 

. L;>. : .t;> ·. : 

·e>· 

1" SAND CUSHION 

SECTION B-B 

6" 

·,:;,,. CONCRETE CURB AND 
GUTTER WHERE SHOWN 
IN PLANS 

JOINT SEALING COMPOUND 
(CL. 3, 4, 5, OR 7) 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK 

1 " SAND CUSH ION 

\/2" PREMOLDED 
ASPHALT BOARD 

1. PLACE SAWCUT CONTROL JOINTS AT C-C SPACING EQUAL 
TO THE WIDTH OF THE SIDEWALK (6' >. 

2. CONTORL JOINTS SHALL BE 1/4" WIDE AND 1\12" DEEP. 

3. CNOTROL JOINTS SHOULD BE RUN WITHIN 12 HOURS OF 
COMPLETION OF CONCRETE FINISHING. 

4. REFER TO SITE PLAN FOR SIDEWALK LOCATION. 

CD SIDEWALK 
6 N. T. S. 

1.{' %" 

\tT 7fo " ± Vi6 " 

C> 

C> 

C> 

C> 

C> 

llz" EXPANSION JOINT 

] 

CONCRETE 
CURB AND 
GUTTER 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
V) 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-1-· -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SITE 
DETAILS 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

7 
iSL... ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ ..__ ________ __, 



202

::, 
CL 

N REINFORCING STEEL 
~ BAR A B C D F H T U 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
CL CL 

SIZE "5 "5 "4 "5 1 " DI A "5 "5 "5 
LENGTH 8' -8" 6' -6" 3' -8" 31 '-6" 3' -0" 31 '-6" 31 '-6" 8' -4" 

0 

' ;:._ 

FACE 

FAT JOINT 
LOCATIONS. 

3" 

3' -2" 

6' -4" 

SECTION 

AT 1 2" 

TOP OF 
UNDISTURBED 
OR COMPACTED 
SOIL 

PLACE TOE AND 
KEY AGAINST 
UNDISTURBED OR 
COMPACTED SOIL 

FACE OF 
WALL 

LIMITS OF UNCLASSIFIED 
STRUCTURAL EXCAVATION 

FINISHED GRADE 

"" 
LOW PLASTICITY SELECT 

FILTER FABRIC 

NO . 57 OR NO. 67 
CRUSHED STONE 

BACKFILL 
CONCRETE COARSE 
AGGREGATE , r.'\ 
GRADE 2 OR 3 0 

UNDERDRAIN SHOULD BE 
CONSTRUCTED ALONG 
THE BASE OF THE WALL 
AT A POSITIVE SLOPE TO 
COLLECT WATER FOR DRAINAGE . 
THE PIPE SHOULD BE TIED TO WEEP 
DRAINS THROUGH FACE OF WALL AT 
30' CENTER SPACING . 

0 

"' 

3' -0" 

BARS F 
u Cl" DIA X 3' -0" SMOOTH DOWELS) 

A 

H = 7' 

PARTIAL WALL ELEVATION 

DRAINAGE DETAILS AND 
EXCAVATION DIAGRAM 

TYPE "A" 
WATERS TOP 

31' -6" 

BARS D,H, T 

r' 
- []_ 
- <( F

u 

0 _J 

' -

LGTH = 6' -6" 

BARS B 

6" n 

JU 
LGTH = 8'-4" 

BARS U 

GENERAL NOTES : 
WALLS ARE DESIGNED USING BACKFILL WITH UNIT 

WEIGHT OF SOIL = 120 PCF, AND NCTCOG NO. 57 OR 
NO. 67 CRUSHED STONE. 

WALLS ARE DESIGNED TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM FACTOR 
OF SAFETY AGAINST SLIDING OF 1. 5. THE UNDISTURBED 
OR COMPACTED SOIL DEPTH IN FRONT OF WALLS, FROM 
BOTTOM OF KEY UP, SHALL NOT BE LESS THAN 2' -9" . 

DESIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT AASHTO 
STANDARD AND INTERIM SPECIFICATIONS . 

ALL CONCRETE TO BE CLASS "C" . 
ALL REINFORCING STEEL TO BE GRADE 60 . 
THE BACKFILL SHOULD EXTEND FROM THE EXTERIOR 

EDGE OF THE FOOTING UPWARD AT A RATIO OF 1H : 1V, 
OR FLATTER TO THE GROUND SURFACE AND SHOULD BE 
SEPARATED FROM THE SOIL OR OTHER MATERIALS 
EXPOSED ALONG THE PERIMETER OF THE EXCAVATION 
BY A SUITABLE GEOTEXTILE , SUCH AS MIRAFI 140N 
OR EQUIVALENT . 

COMPACTION OF BFILL SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM 
LOOSE LIFT THICKNESS OF 6 INCHES . FILL SHOULD BE 
COMPACTED WITH MULTIPLE PASSES WITH AN 
APPROPRIATELY SIZED VIBRATORY PLATE COMPACTOR . 
ONLY SMALL COMPACTION EQUIPMENT SHOULD BE USED 
WITHIN 5 FEET BEHIND THE WALL . 

PLEASE NOTE THE GEOMETRIC REQUIREMENTS ON THE 
WALL BACKFILL DO NOT IMPLY STABILITY OF TEMPORARY 
EXCAVATIONS AT THOSE SLOPES. TEMPORARY 
EXCAVATION STABILITY IS SOLELY THE CONTRACTOR'S 
RESPONSIBILITY . 

THE STONE BACKFILL SHOULD BE CAPPED WITH A 
SUITABLE GEOTEXTILE , SUCH AS MIRAFI 140N OR 
EQUIVALENT , AND AT LEAST 24" OF SOIL PLACED OVER 
THE GEOTEXTI LE . 

AFTER EXISTING FILL MATERIAL IS REMOVED , 
UNDERCUTTING SHOULD BE CONTINUED TO REMOVE 
WEAK MATERIALS . BORING DA TA SHOW UNDERCUT 
DEPTHS OF UP TO 7 FEET WILL BE REQUIRED TO EXPOSE 
STIFF MATERIALS . THE UNDERCUT SHOULD BE 
BACKFILLED WITH PROPERLY PLACED AND COMPACTED 
LOW PLASTICITY SELECT FILL . 

FILL MATERIAL SHALL CONSIST OF LOW PLASTICITY 
SELECT FILL WITH THE FOLLOWING PROPERTIES : 

LIQUID LIMIT LESS THAN 40 
PLASICITY INDEX BETWEEN 10 AND 20 
MAX PARTICLE SIZ OF 3 INCHES 
LESS THAN 30% RETAINED ON 3/4" SIEVE 
MORE THAN 35% PASSIVE NO. 200 SIEVE 
LESS THAN 3% ORGANIC MATERIAL 
uses CLASS - CL , SC , GC 

FOR STEMS 
THICKNESS 

MIN LAP 

(SHOWING VERTICAL REINFORCING PATTERN IN BACK FACE) 
BARS F - 1" 
DIA X 3' -0" 
SMOOTH DOWELS 
AT 1'-0" C-C 

EDGE OF WALL 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

'; 
f
w 
'; 
_J 
<( 

! 
"' CL 
u 
/ 
<fl 
+-

" " .c 
V) 

/ 
CJ> 
,5 
/ 

" z 

FACE OF 
WALL 

TYPE 10 
WA TERP ROOF I NG 

JOINT AND WATERSTOP DETAILS 

(DPLACE VERTICAL BARS INSIDE OF HORIZONTAL 
BARS (TYP BOTH FACES) . 

~PLACE FOOTING TOE AGAINST UNDISTURBED 
OR COMPACTED SOIL . 

G) CRUSHED BLAST FURNACE SLAG , RECYCLED 
CRUSHED HYDRAULIC CEMENT CONCRETE OR 
COMBINATION THERE OF MAY NOT BE USED . 

PERMANENT 
EXPANSION 
JOINT MAT'L 

FACE OF WALL 

EXPANSION 

2" 

COMPRESSIBLE PLUG 
(SPONG , TC . l 

l" 11 . 

1" I. D. POLYETHYLENE 
SLEEVE OR WRAP WITH 
30" ROOFING FELT 

% " CHAMFER 

JOINT 

2" 

PVC WATERS TOP TYPE 

BARS F 
"8 X 3' -0" 

FACE OF WALL % " CHAMFER 

CONSTRUCTION JOINT 

2" 

NOTE : DIMENSIONS AND SHAPES 
MAY VARY SLIGHTLY DEPENDING 
ON MANUFACTURER . 

PVC WATERSTOP 

f
::::, 

= u 
0 
'0:: 

' w 
r--o 

z 
::::, 

TYPE II B II 

LGTH 8'-8" 

BARS A 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
V) 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+----< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~--1-· -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+----< 

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

RETAINING 
WALL DETAIL 
SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

8 
iSL... ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ ..__ ________ __, 



203

::, 
CL 

"" 
"" "" 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
CL CL 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

<( 

'i' 
"' CL 
u 
/ 
<fl 
+-

" " .c 
V) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
<:) 

b 
I 

;.., 

&, 
I 

;.., 

End of Bridge Rail 
for payment 

"' 0. 
V) 

'-
"' Ql 
c,: 

I 

~ 

"' 

"' QJ 
u 

"' 0. 
V) 

;;; 
:, 
i:,-
lJJ 

1" R or 
Chamfer 
(Typ) 

R(#4} 

1W 
(Typ) 

4Y,,"@ 

WU(#4) 

1'-0" 

6" Face of Rail 

53(#4) 

51(#4) 

R(#4} 

Adjust bottom 
bars R( #4) as 
required to 
maintain 2" 
cover over 
slots. --------,1-+-~ 

Field bend or 
cut bars 5(#4) as 
required at slots. 

1 w 
(Typ) C: 

:i 
' -

Vertical 
Reinforcing steel 

SECTION THRU 
SIDE SLOT DRAIN 

SECTIONS THRU RAIL 

~ __ C_o_n_c_re_t_e_P_a_n_e_l_L_e~ng::.-t_h~--ll'"'~------C_o_n_cr_e_t_e~~~I_L_e_n~gt_h ____ ~ 

2'-4" 1'-10" 10'_-0" Max 10'-0" Max Post Spa I 
I I Post 5 pa I 1' 

II 

HSS Ri!Jl Section 

i-------3'-_0"_1_i--g;1s~: 1·-0.. 1·-0 .. I 11 

~ 0, 
0 C: 

<ii "i: 
QJ 

1.., 0. 
0 

~ 
1'-0" L 

Tra ffic side I 

Bars 5 Spa - 2" i 

<i. Thrie-Beam 
Terminal 
Connector 

1'-0" 
in back Ill Top of Wall , Ii I 

of rail 0----j,,_! ___ 10_" _Mi_n 50• ~2-0" ·, j!I~ 
F 
R 

ield bend _J 
( #4) as shown 

2'-4" 

Typ G ~ ! " 

0~=t=ili111===n==:::::::lll=;1;111;::========= ~=s::::::::;1;:111=====11==;!;:,:ll1111======= 6"R~ 

- Limits 

,:::::::-.;--_ -_ -_ -_ -_ -_ -_ ,, ,, ,, 
I 

of Ret ai ni ng 
Wall 

1'-10" 

' 

53(#4) ____] 
Y,,'' Min 

F-------------------~ ,-----------=, - c==-- - -%" Max I 

" " 52(#4) - .... 
Field bend 
reinforcing 
as necessary 
to maintain -
1" cover 
at taper 

Top of Wall -

ELEVATION OF RAIL 

Facing End of 7 -%" 

1w: . 2w Bridge Rail , 1 · = I 

PLAN VIEW 

-2 Eq Spa 
6" Max Spa -

2''-

R(#4) -
-51(#4) 

-------- --

WU(#4} J 
at 6" Max 

--- - -- ---- ------- - --- --- ----

2" ii 
(Typ) 

3'-0" Min 
end region of 
panel length 
with side 
slot drains 

2" 

--- --- --- --- --- ------ --- --- --- --- ---

I_,.. I 
WU(#4} 6 

I 
I 

--- --- --- ------ --- --- ---

CJ) [ Exp Joint or Splice Joint as required. 

0 One shop splice per HSS rail section is 
permitted with minimum 85 percent penetration. 
The weld may be square groove, or single vee 
groove. Grind smooth. 

0 HSS 2.875 x 0.203 

0 HSS 2.375 x 0.154 

® %" Dia Hole in bottom of HSS rail 
(Minimum 1 hole between posts - Typ) 

@space U(#4) bars at 4" Max when end region of panel 
length is less than 6'-0" to side slot drain. Space 
U(#4) bars at 6" Max when end region of panel length 
is 6'-0" and greater to side slot drain. 

6" Max Spa 

R(#4) -

51(#4) l 
I 
l 

--- --- --- -- ---- --- -- - --- --- -- --- ------ --- --- ------- --- --- -- ---- --- -- - --- --- -- --- ------ --- --- ----

o--
2" I I 2" 

WU(#4} at 6" Max 

I 
(Typ) (Typ) 

2'-0" 6'-0" Min 2'-0" 

Slot Slot 

ELEVATION SHOWING TYPICAL REINFORCING PLACEMENT 

~--t-- 1~~=:==i----- 17',d' Dia Anchor 
I 

Turndown@ 

Bolt Hole (Typ) ----...~-+---+---.r~ Typ 

Base PL 31,, - -
(ASTM-A36) ----~-t.....J-.,:;::......:::r:::::._µ 

~-- Drain Hole 

Note that at least two anchor points (as shown) are 
required for the Bridge Rail on the Abutment Wingwall. 
Longer Wingwalls may require more than two Rail anchorages. 

HSS RAIL TERMINAL DETAIL 

Post 4 ( 17', 6" Dia Max) 

POST BASE PLATE PLAN 
RAIL TURNDOWN 

BASE PLATE PLAN 

HSS RAIL DETAILS 

Base PL 31,, 
(ASTM-A36) 

TRANSVERSE SECTION 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
V) 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+-, 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-f--+--+--+-+-, 

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

RAIL DETAIL 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

9 
o .... ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------"" 



204

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

"' 

C 

-- "' -- 0 
L N 
c.:>' 
3 N 
(l)' 
L -
"O " C 0 
.. w 
• f

er f
w o 
<J) _, 

::::, Q_ 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 
(l) f-
0. • 
* L I (l) 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > _, ~ 
CD er 
.. 0 
f-

f
zo w _, 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

N 

';; 
f
w 
';; _, .. 
'i' 
"' Q_ 

u 
/ 
<fl 
+
(l) 
(l) 
.c 
<J) 

/ 
CJ> 
,5 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

9" 

::::::1:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: 

2" 

(Typ) 

9" 

, Sleeve 
Member~ 

-::::::::::::::::::::::1:::::: 
!4" Dia Pin 
(Driving Fit) 
or welded lug 

Sleeve Members 

!4" Dia Pin 
(Driving Fit) 
or welded lug 

AT SPLICE OR EXP JTS SECTION A-A 

PIPE SPLICE DETAILS 

Installed Bars 5 "' may rest on top "' of slab or wall~ '<I 

.;; "' 
3 -%" Dia "' 
Bending Pin 

® ~ ~ 
IC 'I" 

~ 
I I 

"' "' c:, - 4 -%" I 
;.. 

BARS WU (#4) 

52 6 W' 

53 5 W' 

Installed WWR 
may rest on top 
of slab or wall---. 

-%" Min - I !4" Max 

7W' 

rTraffic 
side 

2'' Dia 
Bendij]I!_ 
Pin~ 

OPTIONAL WELDED WIRE 
REINFORCEMENT (WWR) 

DESCRIPTION LONGITUDINAL WIRES VERTICAL WIRES 

Minimum (Cumulative 
1.067 Sq In. 0.267 Sq In. per Ft Total) Wire Area 

No. of Wires Spacing 

Minimum 8 4" 

Maximum 10 8'' 

Maximum Wire The smaller wire must have an area 
Size Differential of 40% or more of the larger wire. 

rTraffic 
side 

2'' Dia 
Bending 
Pin 

Ii. %" Dia hex head anchor 
bolt or threaded rod 
(ASTM A307 Gr A) with 
one hardened steel 
washer (ATSM F436) 
placed under each 
hex nut (ASTM A563). 3d 
One additional hex nut 
must be furnished and 
tack welded for each .-o-tt------.' b 
threaded rod. -----~ lo i -

, E 

- ;!~~ - ~ Flush or 11,6" Max 

CAST-IN-PLACE 
BARS S (#4) ANCHOR BOLT OPTIONS@ 

0 HSS 2.875 x 0.203 

0 HSS 2.375 x 0.154 

0 No longitudinal wires may be in top center of cage. 

® Bend or cut as required to clear drain slots. 

® For raised sidewalks, add sidewalk height to total bar height . 
Use sidewalk height at rail's location. 

@ See "Material Notes" for anchor bolt information. 

CONSTRUCTION NOTES: 
At the Contractor's option anchor bolts may be cast with the parapet. See "Material Notes". 
Face of rail, parapet must be plumb unless otherwise approved by the Engineer. HSS rail posts 

must be square to the top of parapet. Use epoxy mortar under post base plates if gaps larger 
than l1i6'' exist. 

Round or chamfer exposed edges of HSS rail and HSS rail posts to approximately 11,6" by 
grinding. 

HSS rail sections must not include less than two posts, and no more than four (except at 
Abutments). 

Chamfer all parapet exposed corners. 

MATERIAL NOTES: 
Provide Class "C" concrete. 
Provide Grade 60 reinforcing steel. 
Provide ASTM A1085 or A500 Gr B or A53 Gr B for all HSS. 
Galvanize all metal components of steel rail system. Apply additional coatings when shown 

elsewhere on the plans. When plans require paint over gavanizing, follow the requirements for 
painting galvanized steel in Item 804, Sleeve members and anchor bolts must receive galvanization prior 
to installation and only field paint after installation unless directed otherwise by Engineer. 

Deformed Welded Wire Reinforcement (WWR) (ASTM A1064) of equal size and spacing may be 
substituted for Bars WU unless noted otherwise. Deformed WWR (ASTM 1064) may be 
substituted for Bars R and 5, as shown. Combinations of reinforcing steel and WWR or 
configurations of WWR other that shown are permitted if conditions in the table are satisfied. 
Provide the same laps as required for reinforcing bars. 

Anchor bolts must be %" Dia ASTM A307 Gr A fully threaded rods with one hex nut and one 
hardened steel washer (ASTM F436) each. Nuts must conform to ASTM A563 requirements. Embed 
fully threaded rods into parapet wall with a Type Ill, Class C, D, E, or F anchor adhesive. Minimum 
adhesive anchor embedment depth is 3''. Anchor adhesive chosen must be able to achieve a 
nominal bond strength in tension of a single anchor, Na, of 5 kips (edge distance must be accounted 
for). Submit signed and sealed calculations or the manufacturer's published literature showing the 
proposed anchor adhesive's ability to develop this load to the Engineer for approval prior to use. 
Anchor installation, including hole size, drilling, and clean out, must be in accordance with Item 450, 
"Railing" . 

Optional cast-in-place anchor bolts must be %" Dia ASTM A307 Gr A bolts (or threaded rods with 
one tack welded hex nut each) with one hex nut and one hardened steel washer (ASTM F436) at each 
bolt. Nuts must conform to ASTM A563 requirements. 

Provide bar laps, where required, as follows: Uncoated or galvanized - #4 = I'-7" 
Epoxy coated - #4 = 2'-5" 

GENERAL NOTES: 
Submit erection drawings showing panel lengths, rail post spacing, and anchor bolt setting to the 

Engineer for approval. 
Average weight of railing with no overlay: 380 plf (total) 

370 plf (Cone) 
IO plf (Steel) 

Cover dimensions are clear dimensions, unless noted otherwise. 
Reinforcing bar dimensions shown are out-to-out of bar. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

0 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+-, 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+-, 

PROJECT NAME 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

RAIL DETAIL 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

10 
o,._-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------._ _________ __. 



205

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

'.:' 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 
..,. 
'; 
f
I 

Yi 
':] 
<( 
f
w 
'; 
z 
w 
C) 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
V) 
/ 

" z 
C) 

NOTES : 

UNDISTURBED EARTH 
OR COMPACTED FILL 

w 

@UTILITY TRENCH 
1 0 N. T. S . 

FINAL BACKFILL 

INITIAL BACKFILL 

HAUNCHING 

4" BEDDING <MIN. l 

1. BEDDING SHALL BE CLASS B WORKED BY HAND . (SEE NCTCOG SPECIFICATIONS FOR GRADATION). 

2. HAUNCHING SHALL BE WORKED AROUND THE PIPE BY HAND TO ELIMINATE VOIDS AND SHALL BE TYPE A OR TYPE B 
COMAPCTED TO 85% STANDARD PROCTOR. 

3. INITIAL BACKFILL SHALL BE CLASS I-A WORKED BY HAND, OR CLASS 1-B OR CLASS II COMPACTED TO 85% STANDARD PROCTOR . 

4. INITIAL BACKFILL NOT UNDER PAYED AREAS CAN BE CLASS II COMPACTED TO 90% STANDARD PROCTOR. 

5. FINAL BACKFILL SHALL BE SELECT OR GRANULAR MATERIAL, AS DEFINED BY NCTCOG SPECIFICATIONS, COMPACTED AS NOTED IN NOTES 3 & 4. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
V) 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

UTILITY 
DETAILS 
SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

1 1 
o,._---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------"" 



206

,,r--------------------------------------------------.----------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

<X) 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. NOTES: 

WIDTH FOR PAYMENT 

A 

ROCK FILTER DAM 

2' MIN. 

GALVANIZED WOVEN WIRE MESH 'I I' 
.iv"rv<r-s-.------. 

OPEN 

SECTION A-A 

@ROCK FILTER DAM 
1 1 N. T. S. 

• 0 

~ ! 1. FILTER DAMS SHOULD BE EMBEDDED A MINIMUM OF 4" 
0 0 

INTO EXISTING GROUND. 

1: ~ 2. SIDE SLOPES SHOULD BE 2: 1 OR FLATTER. 
" f-0. • 

; ~ 3. ROCK FILTER DAMS SHALL BE SECURED WITH 20 GAUGE GALVANIZED WOVEN WIRE MESH WITH 1" DIAMETER HEXAGONAL 
~ ~ OPENINGS. THE AGGREGATE SHALL BE PLACED ON THE MESH TO THE HEIGHT & SLOPES SPECIFIED. THE MESH SHALL BE FOLDED AT 
~ ~ THE UPSTREAM SIDE OVER THE AGGREGATE AND TIGHTLY SECURED TO ITSELF ON THE DOWNSTREAM SIDE USING WIRE TIES OR HOG 
u~~--R_I_N_G_s_._F_o_R_I_N_s_T_R_E_A_M_u_s_E~,_TH_E_M_E_SH_S_H_o_u_LD_B_E_s_Ec_u_R_E_D_o_R_s_T_A_KE_D_T_o_TH_E_s_T_RE_A_M_B_E_D_P_R_I_o_R_T_o_A_G_GR_E_G_A_T_E_P_L_A_c_E_M_EN_T_. __ .... 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD CC 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

STAKE LOG ON DOWNHILL 
SIDE AT THE CENTER, 
AT EACH END, AND AT 

ADDITIONAL POINTS AS 
NEEDED TO SECURE LOG 

(4' MAX. SPACINGJ,OR AS 
DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER . 

FLOW 

! 

PLAN VIEW 

_l 
1' LOG SPACING 

(SEE TABLE Bl 

TOP OF SLOPE 

STAKE 

END SECTION WRAP 

LOG 

STAKE AND LASHING ANCHORING 
N. T. S. 

SECURE END OF 
LOG TO STAKE 

AS DIRECTED 

ADDITIONAL UPSTREAM 
STAKES FOR HEAVY 

RUNOFF EVENTS 

N. T. S. 

EROSION CONTROL LOG 
SPACING TABLE 

SLOPE SPACING 

1: 1 OR STEEPER 15' 

2: 1 30' 

3: 1 45' 

4: 1 OR FLATTER 60' 

TABLE B 

PLAN VIEW 

STAKE LOG ON DOWNHILL 
SIDE AT THE CENTER, 
AT EACH END, AND AT 
ADDITIONAL POINTS AS 
NEEDED TO SECURE LOG 
(4' MAX. SPACING), OR 
AS DIRECTED BY THE 
ENGINEER. 

EROSION CONTROL LOG Y2" X Y2" 
NOTCH 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

N 

'; 
f
I 

Yi 
':] 
<( 
f
w 
'i<' 
z 
w 
C) 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
1/l 
/ 

" z 
C) 

COMPOST CRADLE 
UNDER EROS ION 

CONTROL LOG 

SECTION B-B 

ADDITIONAL UPSTREAM 
STAKES FOR HEAVY 
RUNOFF EVENTS 

EROSION CONTROL LOG DAM 
N. T. S. 

EROSION CONTROL LOG ON SLOPES 
STAKE AND LASHING ANCHORING 

@mos ION CONTROL LOGS 
11 N. T. S. 

REBAR STAKES 

MINIMUM 
COMPACTED 
DIAMETER 

DIAMETER MEASUREMENTS OF EROSION 
CONTROL LOGS SPECIFIED IN PLANS 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ +-+-+-+-+-+--+-+-+---+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~+. -+-+-+-+--+-+-+---+--a 

"' wuw 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SWJP 
DETAILS 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

1 2 
o.._--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------''----------_. 



207

::, 
Q_ 

~ 

"' "' .. -

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

"' '; 
f
I 

Yi 
':] 
<( 
f
w 
'; 
z 
w 
C) 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
1/l 
/ 

" z 
C) 

50' MIN. 

>- >-
<( <( 

3: 3: 

A A ' ' WO 
z 3: 
0 f-

zz 
:::. :::. 

"1' 0 
- N 

PLAN VIEW 

50' MIN. 

TRANSITION 
I 

APPROACH 

~~ I 

FOUNDATION COURSE 
6" MIN. 

SECTION A-A 

@CONSTRUCTION EXIT 
1 2 N. T. S. 

GENERAL NOTES: 

1. THE LENGTH OF THE CONSTRUCTION EXIT SHALL BE INDICATED ON THE PLANS, BUT NOT LESS THAN 50'. 

2. THE COARSE AGGREGATE SHOULD BE OPEN GRADED WITH A SIZE OF 4" TO 8", 

3. THE APPROACH TRANSITIONS SHOULD BE NO STEEPER THAN 6:1 AND CONSTRUCTED AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. 

4. THE CONSTRUCTION EXIT FOUNDATION COURSE SHALL BE FLEXIBLE BASE, OR OTHER MATERIALS APPROVED BY THE ENGINEER. 

5. THE CONSTRUCTION EXIT SHALL BE GRADED TO ALLOW DRAINAGE TO A SEDIMENT TRAPPING DEVICE. 

6. THE GUIDELINES SHOWN HEREON ARE SUGGESTIONS ONLY AND MAY BE MODIFIED BY THE ENGINEER. 

7. CONSTRUCT EXITS WITH A WIDTH OF AT LEAST 14' FOR ONE-WAY AND 20' FOR TWO-WAY TRAFFIC FOR THE FULL 
WIDTH OF THE EXIT, OR AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER. 

5' 

1· 
MIN. 

A 

[

10MIL 
PLASTIC 
LINER 

A 

WOOD FRAME 
SECURELY FASTENED 
AROUND ENT IRE 
PER IMTER WITH 
TWO STAKES 

LINER 

SECTION A-A 

·1 

TWO-STACKED 
2X12 ROUGH 
WOOOD FRAME 

@CONCRETE WASHOUT 
1 2 N. T. S. 

STAKES (TYP> 

WOOD OR 
METAL STAKES 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 

"' wuw 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
1/l w 1/l 
_J I _J 

u 

CITY OF 
CORINTH 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nllo4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SWJP 
DETAILS 

SHEET Nllo4BER 

1 3 
o,._----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 



208

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

:0 CJ> 
+- .. 
~ ~ 
g 0. 

X u.. 
f- 0 

i '} 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z C 

~ ~ 
u Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
...J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w ...J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

CD 

I 

c;'j . 
w 
f-

';.' ,. 
Q_ 
u 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
VI 
/ 

" z 
<:) 

<X) 

N 

0 .,. 

- Wl 

-1 

/ F 
I 
I 
I 
I 

70' 

PROP 
BLDG 

EXIST CONC SLABS 
AND SHEDS 

POINT NAME NORTHING 

Pl 7108983.55 

P2 7108959.56 

P3 7108899.26 

P4 7108898.65 

P5 7108974.02 

P6 7108950.04 

P7 7108957.91 

eeoece;, IINE ~ 

PROP RET WALL 

PROP RAIL 

·---~------------------------

CONSTRUCT PROP 
GRAVEL ROADWAY 

OVER EXIST RAMP 

~ EXIST PROPERTY LINE ~- - -~~~ --

D 

EASTING 

2408124.47 

2408123.90 

2408220. 76 

2408246. 75 

2408529.35 

2408528.30 

2408194. 13 

EXIST 
BLDG 

..JL 

G CIE>IBIE '"' NCTCOG GRADE 2 
CQMl',c; ;o 92, OJDICIED 

24" LOW PLASTICITY SELECT FILL 
COMPACTED TO 98% STANDARD 

PROCTOR DRY DENSITY 

12" SUBGRADE SCARIFIED, 
MOISTURE CONDITIONED, 

COMPACTED TO 98% 
STANDARD PROCTOR 

DRY DENSITY 
GRAVEL ROADWAY 

NTS 

PROP BLDG 
RENOVATIONS 

PROCTOR 

NOTE: 

EXIST 
PARKING 

---

SUBGRADE PREPARATION SHALL 
EXTEND A MINIMUM OF 2' 
BEYOND PROPOSED EDGE OF 
GRAVEL ROADWAY. 

O' 25' 50' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

EXISTING LEGEND 
© ELECTRIC METER 

WI ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 

® WATER METER 

® GAS METER 
_A_ SIGN STRUCTURE 

~ WATER VALVE 

181 ELECTRIC PULLBOX 

• POWER POLE 

0 CONTROL POINT 
TREE 

0 SANITARY CLEAN OUT 

0 FIRE HYDRANT 

+ WATER FAUCET 

SITE NOTES 
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 

VERIFICATION OF ALL SETBACKS, EASEMENTS, 
AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON BEFORE 
BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. 

2. NOTIFY THE CITY INSPECTOR TWENTY-FOUR 
(24) HOURS BEFORE BEGINNING EACH PHASE 

OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE 
BENCHMARKS, REFERENCE POINTS, AND 
STAKES. 

4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF 
BUILDING, FACE OF CURB, AND FACE OF WALL 
UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON PLANS. 

5. 

6. 

8. 

9. 

CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE SITE IN A 
MANNER SO THAT WORKMEN AND PUBLIC SHALL 
BE PROTECTED FROM INJURY, AND ADJOINING 
PROPERTY PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE. 

UNDERCUT EXISTING SOILS TO A DEPTH OF 4' 
BELOW EXISTING GRADE IN THE AREA BENEATH 
AND 5' BEYOND EXTERIOR OF PROPOSED 
BUILDING. 

SHORING SHALL BE PROVIDED AS NECESSARY 
FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE WORK AND FOR 
THE SAFETY OF PERSONNEL. SHORING SHALL 
BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S.H.A. AND 
LOCAL REGULATIONS. 

SEE RETAINING WALL DETAIL SHEET FOR 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. 

SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR PROP 
BUILDING INFORMATION. 

10. SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT 
INFORMATION. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

0 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ +-+-+-+-+-+--+-+-+---+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~+. -+-+-+-+--+-+-+---+--a 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
VI W VI 
...JI ...J 

u 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

PAVING PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

1 4 o.._ _____________________________________________________________________________________________________ ___...._ ________ _. 



209

~r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,-==:::::==::::::-i 
N 
N 

"' "' 

POINT NAME NORTHING EASTING 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
CL CL 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

N 

';; 
f-

"' 
I 

c;'j . 
w 
f-

';.' ,. 
CL 
u 
/ 

"' +-

" " C 
V) 
/ 

EXIST 
BLDG 

REMOVE EXIST 

PARALLEL 
CURB RAMP 

REMOVE EXIST 
CONC PAVEMENT 

ACCESSIBLE PARKING 
SIGN MOUNTED 

TO BUILDING 

Pl 

P2 

P3 

P4 

18' 

CTYP,{ ., 

,/ 
,/ 

,/ 
,/ 

,/ 

6" PORTLAND CEMENT 
CONCRETE PAVEMENT 

NCTCOG CLASS C 
4" FLEXIBLE BASE 

NCTCOG GRADE 2 
COMPACT TO 92% MODIFIED PROCTOR 

24" LOW PLASTICITY SELECT FILL 
COMPACTED TO 98% STANDARD 

PROCTOR DRY DENSITY 

8" SUBGRADE SCARIFIED, 
MOISTURE CONDITIONED, 

COMPACTED TO 98% 
" STANDARD PROCTOR 

1 

7108948.91 2408566.49 

7108948.54 2408594.52 

7108892. 17 2408590. 75 

7108893.60 2408569.30 

SIGN INSTALLATION 
SPEED LIMIT SIGN 

' 
<O ,,/ 

-:-------II/ 

,' 

0 

N 

EXIST FLOWLINE 

EXIST PVMT =:\ 
MARKINGS 

TO REMAIN~ --'~--

CONCRETE PAVEMENT 

-~· 

NOTES: 

O' 1 O' 

~~-SCALE IN FEET 
EXISTING LEGEND 

SITE NOTES 

~ ELECTRIC METER 
[[ii ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
® WATER METER 
@ GAS METER 

0 

0 

+ 

SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

20' 
i 

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
VERIFICATION OF ALL SETBACKS, EASEMENTS, 
AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON BEFORE 
BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. 

2. NOTIFY THE CITY INSPECTOR TWENTY-FOUR 
(24) HOURS BEFORE BEGINNING EACH PHASE 

OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE 
BENCHMARKS, REFERENCE POINTS, AND 
STAKES. 

4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF 
BUILDING, FACE OF CURB , AND FACE OF WALL 
UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON PLANS. 

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE SITE IN A 
MANNER SO THAT WORKMEN AND PUBLIC SHALL 
BE PROTECTED FROM INJURY, AND ADJOINING 
PROPERTY PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE. 

6. UNDERCUT EXISTING SOILS TO A DEPTH OF 4' 
BELOW EXISTING GRADE IN THE AREA BENEATH 
AND 5' BEYOND EXTERIOR OF PROPOSED 
BUILDING. 

7. SHORING SHALL BE PROVIDED AS NECESSARY 
FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE WORK AND FOR 
THE SAFETY OF PERSONNEL. SHORING SHALL 
BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S.H.A. AND 
LOCAL REGULATIONS. 

8. SEE SITE DETAILS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. 

1. INSTALL '*4 BARS, 24" LONG@ 12" O.C. BY 
DRILLING & EPOXY 12" INTO EXISTING CONCRETE 
PAVEMENT . 

2. SAWCUT JOINTS AT 20' SPACING IN NEW PAVEMENT . 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
V) 

~ >----+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+
a: ~ 

' ;g 
w 
~ >-~-+. --+--+-+-+--+--+-+-+-

"' wuw 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V) w V) 
_J I _J 

u 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

PAVING PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

1 5 G DRY DENSITY NTS 
o .... -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------L---------__J 



210

C 

----L 
c.:> 

3 
(l) 
L 
"O 
C .. 
c:: 
w 
<J) 
::::, 

.D 
+-
...: 
0 
0 
X 

'; 
(l) 

.D 
0 
+-
C 
(l) 

i'-
I 
f-
z 
0:: 
0 
u 

~ 
_J 
CD .. 
f-

z 
w 
Q_ 

::, 
Q_ 

"' N 

"' "' 

"' 0 
N 

' N 

' 
" 8 
f-
f-

'3 
Q_ 

CJ> 

--0 
+-
0. 

CL 
0 

'i-
f-
0 
0 
X 
'; 
L 
(l) 
+-
C 

L 
0. 

0:: 
w 
;': 
0:: 
0 

f-
0 
_J 
Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

>, 
0. 
0 
u 

3 
'i-,. .. 
'i<' ,. 
Q_ 

u 
/ 

"' +-

" (l) 
C 
1/l 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

=~7~~::=:~-=--=---
;:::::;- r-~~=-..c_---, 

I 
I 

' ' 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

--=~-~~-(1-~:_::T 
I 

I 
I 

I 

' 
,' 

' 

O' 50' 100' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

LEGEND 

8 

' 

___.. 
-580-

-580-

EXIST 
WATER 
TOWER 

DRAINAGE AREA ID 

AREA (ACRES) 

DRAINAGE FLOW BOUNDARY 

FLOW ARROW 

EXIST CONTOUR 

PROP CONTOUR 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: 

' 
"' .7! 
<II 

w 
f-

;;\ 

g 

z 
c.:> 

<J) 
w 
0 

w 
<J) 
_J 

"' u w 
w <J) 
I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

<J) 
u 

"' w u w I <J) w <J) 
0.. _J I _J 

"' 0:: u 
c.:> 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

DRAINAGE 
AREA 
MAP 
SHEET Nll.4BER 

16 
o"---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------._ ___________ _. 



211

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 

C 

Q_ 

"' N 

"' "' 

-- "' -- 0 
L N 
c.:>' 

t ~ 
L ... 

"O " 
~ 8 

f
er f-

~ g 
::::, Q_ 

.D 
+-
...: 
0 
0 
X 

'; 
Ql 

.D 
0 
+-
C 
Ql 

i'-
I 
f-
z 
er 
0 
u 

~ 
_J 
CD 
<( 
f-

z 
w 
Q_ 

CJ> 

--0 
+-
0. 
CL 
0 

'i-
f-
0 
0 
X 
'; 
L 
Ql 
+-
C 

L 
0. 

Ct'. 
w 
;': 
er 
0 

f-
0 
_J 
Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

'; 
z 
_J 

'i-
0 
Ct'. 

'; 
"' Q_ 

u 
/ 
<fl 
+
Ql 
Ql 
.c 
V1 
/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

' 

' ' ' ' 

' ' ' ' 

' 

' ' ' ' 
' 

' ' ' ' 

' ' 

' ' ' ' 

' ' 

, 

, 

592.01 EX { , EXIST PROPERTY ~----- --F ----------~:--~--::- -. • 

, 
' 

' ' / 594 . 50 

, _____________ , _____ _ 
I 

594.50 

I 

592 . 1~ EX!-,;-( Wl -.-_ u, . 

8=!:'f'i====i';,j,==""""""==!=;I 
I 

~ 

l 
I 

' I 

X 

PROP 
BLDG 

FFE = 594.75 

;--L-. -________ ,,.....--.:: 
--- - 593. oo Ex · \ --, . oo,. 593. 8 5 Ex 

- - Wl - ,,' 

' I 

I 

EXIST CONC SLABS 
AND SHEDS : 

, , 

, , //,,/V 
,/ .,.,' 603 . 00 

, 
, , 

, , 

I I I 1 1
1 

I I I I J 

~ 8.06% : , 
I \ I ., I 

I \ : : I 

596 .
1
25-',-~: ~ w ' 

( 

~001• 42 ! ,/ ' 
I I ., ., 
I I " , 
I I CJ') I ., 
I 1 0 I I 
I I I 

I I 

I I I i l! \\ 
I I I 

I I \ I 

UE •- L._ ~ --- I 

: ____ _\ \ \ --
/ 

Q/ 
>-----~ 

\ 
\ 

EXIST PROPERTY LINE - \ --,-, _r_ -.--=-=---... 

' ' ' ' 

' ,, 
' ' 

I 

I 

' ,,, 

Ell 

ELEV. 

EXIST 
BLDG 

\ , 

I 
',I 

® 

EXISTING LEGEND 
® ELECTRIC METER 

0 

0 

+ 

ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
WATER METER 
GAS METER 
SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

GRADING NOTES 

O' 25' 50' 

~~- j SCALE IN FEET 
PROPOSED LEGEND 

-580-

-X.XX'l. 

PROPOSED CONTOUR 
PROPOSED BREAKLINE 
DRAINAGE SLOPE 
AND DIRECTION 

1. ALL GRADING AND SITE PREPARATION SHALL CONFORM WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS CONTAINED IN THE GEOTECHINAL REPORT. 

2. PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION OF THE PROJECT SITE THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY 48 HOURS PRIOR TO 
THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE BENCHMARKS, 
REFERENCE POINTS, AND STAKES. 

4. ALL INDICATED ELEVATIONS ARE FINISHED ELEVATIONS. 

5. FIELD VERIFY LOCATIONS, SIZES AND IF APPLICABLE INVERTS 
OF EXISTING UTILITIES FOR PROPOSED CONNECTIONS PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION. 

6. LOCATE AND PROTECT ALL UTILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
PROJECT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. 

7. MAINTAIN PROPER SITE DRAINAGE AT ALL TIMES DURING 
CONSTRUCTION. PREVENT STORM WATER FROM RUNNING INTO OR 
STANDING IN EXCAVATED AREAS. 

8. CUT AND FILL SLOPES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 3: 1. 

9. ALL TREES , BRUSH , AND ORGANIC TOPSOIL AND OTHER 
OBJECTIONABLE MATERIAL SHALL BE REMOVED, UNLESS OTHERWISE 
SPECIFIED, AND DISPOSED OF AT AN OFF-SITE LOCATION, WITH 
THE EXCEPTION THAT ENOUGH TOPSOIL SHALL BE RETAINED FOR 
RESPREAD AND GENERAL LANDSCAPING . 

10 . CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE POSITIVE DRAINAGE. AREAS OF 
SURFACE PONDING SHALL BE CORRECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR 
AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER . 

11 . IF AREAS ARE DISTURBED BEYOND PROPOSED GRADES BY 
NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE 
HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY REGRADING OR REPAIR TO MATCH 
ORIGINAL EXISTING CONDITIONS. 

12. SHORING SHALL BE DONE AS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF 
THE WORK AND FOR THE SAFETY OF THE PERSONNEL . SHORING 
SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S.H. A. AND LOCAL 
REGULATIONS . 

13. SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT INFORMATION. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' 
~ g 

z 
c.:> 

V1 
w 
0 

V1 
u 

w ~ LL.I 1-1 

V) l.iJ V, :c 
...J :::c ...J a.. 

u ;:;: 
c.:> 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
V1 w V1 
_J I _J 

u 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

GRADING PLAN 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

1 7 
o'-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------.._ __________ __. 



212

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 

C 

Q_ 

r-
N 

"' "' 

-- "' -- 0 
L N 
c.:>' 
3 N 
(l)' 
L ~ 

"O " C 0 
.. w 
• f

er f
w o 
<J) _, 

::::, Q_ 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 
(l) f-
0. • 
* L I (l) 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > _, ~ 
CD er 
.. 0 
f-

f
zo w _, 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

N 

'; 
z _, 
'i-
0 
Ct'. 

'; 
"' Q_ 

u 
/ 
<fl 
+
(l) 
(l) 
.c 
<J) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

EXIST 
BLDG 

MATCH EXIST 

609.80 TC 
609.30 G 

- I -, 
I 

' I 

I 
\ 

MAT CH EXIST_ 

2-4" 
1:;ACH 

,,/ 
' . \ ' ' \ I 

I 
I 
I 

PVC 14 LF 
AT 0.5% 

EXIST 
PARKING 

MATCH EXIST 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

' I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

' ' ' I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

' ' 
' 

\ 
\ 

\ 
I 

EXISTING LEGEND 
® ELECTRIC METER 

0 

0 

+ 

ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
WATER METER 
GAS METER 
SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

GRADING NOTES 

O' 1 O' 20' 

~~- j SCALE IN FEET 
PROPOSED LEGEND 

-580-

-x. XX% 

PROPOSED CONTOUR 
PROPOSED BREAKLINE 
DRAINAGE SLOPE 
AND DIRECTION 

1. ALL GRADING AND SITE PREPARATION SHALL CONFORM WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS CONTAINED IN THE GEOTECHINAL REPORT. 

2. PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION OF THE PROJECT SITE THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY 48 HOURS PRIOR TO 
THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE BENCHMARKS, 
REFERENCE POINTS, AND STAKES. 

4. ALL INDICATED ELEVATIONS ARE FINISHED ELEVATIONS. 

5. FIELD VERIFY LOCATIONS, SIZES AND IF APPLICABLE INVERTS 
OF EXISTING UTILITIES FOR PROPOSED CONNECTIONS PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION. 

6. LOCATE AND PROTECT ALL UTILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
PROJECT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. 

7. MAINTAIN PROPER SITE DRAINAGE AT ALL TIMES DURING 
CONSTRUCTION. PREVENT STORM WATER FROM RUNNING INTO OR 
STANDING IN EXCAVATED AREAS. 

8. CUT AND FILL SLOPES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 3: 1. 

9. ALL TREES, BRUSH, AND ORGANIC TOPSOIL AND OTHER 
OBJECTIONABLE MATERIAL SHALL BE REMOVED, UNLESS OTHERWISE 
SPECIFIED, AND DISPOSED OF AT AN OFF-SITE LOCATION, WITH 
THE EXCEPTION THAT ENOUGH TOPSOIL SHALL BE RETAINED FOR 
RESPREAD AND GENERAL LANDSCAPING. 

10. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE POSITIVE DRAINAGE. AREAS OF 
SURFACE PONDING SHALL BE CORRECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR 
AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER . 

11 . IF AREAS ARE DISTURBED BEYOND PROPOSED GRADES BY 
NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE 
HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY REGRADING OR REPAIR TO MATCH 
ORIGINAL EXISTING CONDITIONS. 

12. SHORING SHALL BE DONE AS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF 
THE WORK AND FOR THE SAFETY OF THE PERSONNEL . SHORING 
SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S.H. A. AND LOCAL 
REGULATIONS . 

13. SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT INFORMATION. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

0 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 

PROJECT NAME 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

GRADING PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

1 8 
o,._-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------._ _________ __. 



213

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

en 
N 

"' "' 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 

" _; 
f-

ii' ,. 
Q_ 
u 
/ 
<n 
+-

" " C 
<I) 
/ 
CJ> 
C 
w 
/ 
0 
<( 
u 
/ 

" z 
<:) 

:-". == •. ---=- __ ·---. --- -----=-
- \ 

~-
- -Wl 

---· 

APPROX LOCATION 
EXIST WATER 

Wl 
I 1;=c===**===**==:j,pj:====i=;I 

_\ 

PROP 
BLDG 

~=~==~=~==~.----

PROP GAS SERVICE 
EXIST EDGE 
OF GRAVEL 

EXIST CONC SLABS 
AND SHEDS 

------

PROP RET WALL 

1 - . - - - W1 - · - · - Wl - - -

----

PROP GRAVEL 
FIRE LANE 

D 

COSERV_/ 
~~~~ GAS MARKER 

I 
lt/ 

® 

O' 25' 50' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

EXISTING LEGEND PROPOSED LEGEND 
Wl 

El 
Tl 

® 
WI 
® 
® 

CITY OF CORINTH - GAS - GAS LINE 
WATER 

-· UE - ELECTRIC LINE 
- ONCOR ELECTRIC 
- UNKNOWN COMM 

ELECTRIC METER 
ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
WATER METER 
GAS METER 
SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

UTILITY NOTES 
1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

CONTRACTOR IS TO VERIFY THE LOCATION OF ALL 
EXISTING UTILITIES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND ENSURE NO CONFLICTS EXIST WITH PROPOSED 
IMPROVEMENTS. NOTIFY ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY 
IF UTILITIES ARE LOCATED DIFFERENTLY THAN 
SHOWN. 

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY AND COORDINATE WITH 
THE APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANY PRIOR TO THE 
REMOVAL OF INDICATED UTILITIES ON SITE. 
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
OBTAINING ANY PERMITS REQUIRED FOR 
DEMOLITION AND HAUL OFF FROM THE 
APPROPRIATE AUTHORITIES . 

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
VERIFYING, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, ALL 
EXISTING LOCATIONS AND INVERT ELEVATIONS 
OF SANITARY SEWERS, STORM DRAINAGE, AND 
WATER MA I NS. 

CONNECT EXISTING UTILITIES AND INSTALL 
UTILITIES IN COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS 
OF APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONAL AGENCIES . 

COORDINATE WITH BUILDING PLANS TO ASSURE 
ACCURACY OF UTILITY CONNECTIONS AND 
COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL CODES. 

ALL SURPLUS EXCAVATED MATERIAL SHALL BE 
DISPOSED OF OFF SITE BY CONTRACTOR. 

7. SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR ADDITIONAL 
UTILITY INFORMATION. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ +--+-+--+-+--+-+--+-+--+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. -+--+-+--+-+--+-+--+---< 

PROJECT NAME 

"' w u w 
<Jl w <Jl 
_J I _J 

u 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

UTILITY PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

19 
o,._----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 



214

::, 
Q_ 

"' 
"' "' SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION : NAME OF RECEIVING WATERS: 

C 

-- "' -- 0 

PHASE I 
1. INSTALL STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXITS . 
2. PREPARE TEMPORARY PARKING AND STORAGE AREA . 

100Y. OF THE PROJECT FLOWS INTO LAKE LEWISVILLE, 
WHICH FLOWS INTO THE UPPER TRINITY RIVER . 
(STREAM SEGMENT 0805) . 

L N 
c.:> ' 3 N 
(l) ' L 

"O 
" C 
8 .. 

c:: f-
f-

w '3 <J) 
::::, Q_ 

.D a> 
+- 't 
f- +-
g 0. 

~~ 
(l) 'i-
.D f-
0 0 
+- 0 
C X 
(l) f-
0. • 
* L I (l) 
f- +
z C 

0:: L 
0 0. 
u 

0:: 

~ w 
_J ;': 
CD 0:: .. 0 
f-

f-
z 0 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

, , 
, 

, , 

PROP / 
BLDG,-

, 

, 

F.f_E 594. 75 

' , 
---

' I 

' ' 

, 

' ' 

EXIST CONC SLABS 
AND SHEDS ' 

I 

3. INSTALL EROSION LOGS AND ROCK FILTER DAMS AS 
INDICATED ON THE PLAN. 

4. BEGIN GRADING THE SITE. 

PHASE II 
5. START CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDING PAD AND STRUCTURES. 
6. INSTALL UTILITIES. 
7. COMPLETE GRADING . 
8. PLACE PAVEMENT AND FINAL SEEDING. 
9. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

DEVICES CONLY IF SITE IS STABILIZED>. 

, 

, 

, 

I 

, , , 

, 

' , 

, , 

' ' 

I 
I , 

, 

' 

' 

, 

, 

, 

' ' , 

, 

, 

, 

, 
' , 

' ' , 
I 

I 
I 

' , 

I 
I 

I 

I 

' I 

' ,, 
' ' 

ol 

' 

I r - - -, 

- - - - ..,..- I 
I 

t-----~ 
Q,' 

\ 
\ 

\ 

_ .:_',---~ -- ~ --\L... -
\ \ ~ \ 

' \ 
' 

I I 

:6~: 
I I 

I 

, 

, 
I 

,-' 

A~EA • 

, 

El) 

, 

, , , , ,-_ , 

EXIST 
BLDG 

t;~=~==~=~~~~~~~~ = s ;::!';~ ~ ~~:"'."':;:::::=~Ex;1;:s~T"'-;P~Ro~Pi R""'r'v ·L-:: •. I;;;;N;:E=~='=~;:;:;;;:;:;;;~:::;;.,;;;~~;;;:;;~~~,.;;;,:~-==~ '~ ....,"""'~-~~~~==~..,..,.,:.P.....i~-
\ ...ll... --- \ 

~---,--.,_~--<;6S --;--=--=--=--=---=--=-=-=-=-=----~~~~ ---
' ' , 

' \ 
\ 

' \ 

,' 

' 
' , 

, 
, 

' , 

~SOIL EROSION/SEDIMENTATION CONTROL OPERATION TIME SCHEDULE 

I 
I 

' ' ' 

' ' 

' ' ' 

\ 

, 

\ 

' ; 

6' 

)' 

-01---------------------------------------------------------------------------------, 
3NOTE: GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO COMPLETE TABLE WITH THEIR SPECIFIC PROJECT SCHEDULE 
'i-1------------------------~-~-~--~-~-~--~-~-~-~--~-~-~-~~-~-~-~--~-~-~-~--~-~-~-----< 
Q_ 

"' ~1------------------------+-----+---t--+---+----+--t--+----+--+--+---+---+---tt--+---+----+--t--+-----+---t--+---+---+----, 
~ CONSTRUCTION EXITS 

CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOY DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOY DEC 

~1------------------------+------+--;--+---+---+--t--+------+--+--+---+---+-----,t--+---+---+--t--+------+--;--+---+---+-----< 
~ TEMPORARY PARKING/ STORAGE AREA 
/t------------------------+------+--;--+---+---+--t--+------+--+--+---+---+-----<t--+---+---+--t--+------+--;--+---+---+-----< 
~ TEMPORARY CONTROL MEASURES 
"'1------------------------+-----+---t--+---+----+--t--+----+--+--+---+---+---tt--+---+----+--t--+-----+---t--+---+---+----, 
.1! BEGIN GRAD I NG 
1 FOUNDATION / BUILDING CONSTRUCTION 
~ UTILITIES 

FINISH GRADING/ PAYING 
~,___L_A_N_D_S_C_A_P_I-NG_/_S_E_E_D_/_F_I_N_A_L_S_T_A_B_I_L_I_Z_A_T_I_O_N_---+---+----+--+--+--+---1------1---+--+--+--+-----+---+----+--+--+--+---1------1---+--+--+--+-------< 

, 
~ 

' 
' 

\ 

' 
' I 
I , 

' 
' ' ' I 

' 
' ' ' I 

I 
\ 

\ 
\ 

' ' ' 
' \ 

\ 

I' 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

\ 
\ 

\ 

' ' 

O' 25' 50' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

LEGEND 
<@) 12" EROSION CONROL LOG 
<[®) ROCK FILTER DAM 

0::::0 CONCRETE WASHOUT 

~ CONSTRUCT ION EXIT 

-------- DIRECTION OF FLOW 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: 

' 
"' .7! 
<II 

w 
f-

;;\ 

g 

z 
c.:> 

<J) 
w 
0 

w 
<J) 
_J 

"' u w 
w <J) 
I _J 

u 

PROJECT NAME 

<J) 
u 

"' w u w I <J) w <J) 
0.. _J I _J 

"' 0:: u 
c.:> 

PUBLIC WORKS 
IMPROVEMENTS 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SWJP 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

20 



215

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 

C 

Q_ 

"" "" 
"" "" 

.. "' .. 
0 

L N 
c.:>' 
3 N 
(l)' 
L -
"O " C 0 
.. w 
• f-

0:: f
w o 
<J) _, 
::::, Q_ 

:0 CJ> 
+- .. 
~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 
(l) f-
0. • 
* L :,: (l) 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

0:: 
• w 
w > _, ~ 
CD 0:: 
.. 0 
f-

f
zo w _, 
0.. Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

f-

"' 
:,: 

c;'j . 
w 
f-

~ 
0 
LL 
u _, 
/ 

"' +-
(l) 
(l) 
C 
1/l 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

,' 

7" PORTLAND CEMENT 
CONCRETE PAVEMENT 

NCTCOG CLASS C 

I 

i;o 92% 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 

6" FLEXIBLE BASE 
NCTCOG GRADE 2 

MODIFIED PROCTOR 

12" SUBGRADE SCARIFIED, 
MOISTURE CONDITIONED, 

COMPACTED TO 98% 
STANDARD PROCTOR 

DRY DENSITY 
8" LIME STABILIZED TOP 

CP 8\ 
ELEV. 583. 512 ~ 

BARS@ 12" O.C. 

CONCRETE SLAB 
NTS 

POINT NAME 

Pl 

P2 

P3 

P4 

P5 

P6 

P7 

PB 

NORTHING 

7109822.45 

7109822.45 

7109083.32 

7109081.91 

7109564.23 

7109584.34 

7109592.45 

7109568.45 

0 

' " , -
' 

226' 

12" SUBGRADE SCARIFIED, 
MOISTURE CONDITIONED, 

COMPACTED TO 98% 
STANDARD PROCTOR 

DRY DENSITY 
8" LIME STABILIZED TOP 

EASTING 

2407654.57 

2407678.57 

2407678.57 

2407654.57 

2407526.37 

2407513.26 

2407555.57 

2407555.57 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

- - -,I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I I 
I I 

/ 0 I .1' . 

,/(9 ,',' 
I 

I 
I 

I 

' 

I 

' ' ' 

' ' ' ' 

I I 
I 

,, -,- ' . __ _:-cp 42743 
, ~ EL E;.V. 578.378 --

230' 

13" FLEXIBLE BASE 
NCTCOG GRADE 2 
COMPACT TO 92% MODIFIED PROCTOR 

GRAVEL ROADWAY 2 
NTS 

I 
I 

NOTES: 

I z::::s z CJi;:::::,n 

O' 40' 

~~-SCALE IN FEET 
EXISTING LEGEND 
~ ELECTRIC METER 
[[ii ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
® WATER METER 
@ GAS METER 

0 

0 

+ 
SITE NOTES 

SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

80' 
i 

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR 
VERIFICATION OF ALL SETBACKS, EASEMENTS, 
AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN HEREON BEFORE 
BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION. 

2. NOTIFY THE CITY INSPECTOR TWENTY-FOUR 
(24) HOURS BEFORE BEGINNING EACH PHASE 

OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE 
BENCHMARKS, REFERENCE POINTS, AND 
STAKES. 

4. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE OF 
BUILDING, FACE OF CURB, AND FACE OF WALL 
UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON PLANS. 

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE SITE IN A 
MANNER SO THAT WORKMEN AND PUBLIC SHALL 
BE PROTECTED FROM INJURY, AND ADJOINING 
PROPERTY PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE. 

6. SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT INFORMATION. 

PROP CONCRETE 
SLAB 

1. INSTALL '*4 BARS, 24" LONG @ 12" 0. C. BY 
DRILLING & EPOXY 12" INTO EXISTING CONCRETE 
PAVEMENT. 

2. SAWCUT JOINTS AT 20' SPACING IN NEW PAVEMENT. 

3. SUBGRADE PREPARATION AND LIME STABILIZATION SHALL 
EXTEND A MINIMUM OF 2' BEYOND PROPOSED EDGE OF 
GRAVEL ROADWAY. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

0 

8 
w 
a: 

~ 
<II 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
w 
~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+--a 

"' u 
w 
:,: 
u 

PROJECT NAME 

<J) 
u 
:,: 
0.. 

"' 0:: 
c.:> 

"' u 
w 
:,: 
u 

LCFD PRACTICE 
FACILITY 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

PAVING PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

21 
o,._-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------._ _________ __. 



216

DGN= ••• \Eng\Sheets\LCFD•DAM•PLN. dgn 

u 

.,, r
)> n n.,, 
i=C 
-I .,, 
-< ;:a 

)> 
n 
-I 
n 
m 

LAMB-Sll!R 

'S ch 

~ 

0 

LAMB-STAR ENGINEERING, L.P. ~r.:o~T:~0~o~K'f:lr :~~~3iggo 
TEXAS REGISTERED ENGINEERING FIRM F-9073 

PEN TABLE • CORI NTH•pentob I e>TxDOT. tb I 

PLOT DRIVER=printer•TXDOT•PDF. pltcfg 

\J I 

6'0 
Q 

CB 

~ ~ \O_j\)\ 

~ • I (I) 
,., 0 

0 r ;,:, 
0 )> ,., :,;c z -i 
)> )> 

n ;,:, C) 

0 ;,:, "' z 0 
-i :,;c ,., 
0 r 
C 0 
;,:, :,;c 

[Il 

0 
C 
z 
0 
)> 
;,:, 
-< 

PRELIMINARY 
FOR INTERIM REVIEW ONLY. NOT FOR 

PERMITTING, BIDDING, OR CONSTRUCTION. 
Pr•pcwed by or und•r th• 

Direct Supervision of 
JULIA K PHILLIPS, P.E. 118000 

1/21/2019 

)> 0 
;,:, ;,:, 

"' )> 
)> z 
,;: )> 

C) 

n "' ;,:, 

"' )> 

VI ;,:, - 01 
)> 

~ 

USER - Andrew.Griffin 
PLOTTED=l/21/2019 

LJg 
~ 



217

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

"' "' 
"' "' 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 

" f-0. • 
* L I Ql 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

Ct'. 
• w 
w > 
_J ~ 
CD Ct'. 
<( 0 
f-

f
zo 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 

" f
I 

~ 
<( 
f
<( 
0 . 
I 

"" I 
/ 
<fl 
+-

" " .c 
V) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
<:) 

BASIN 

5 
7 

CULVERT 
ID 

CULV-1 
CULV-2 

RATIONAL METHOD CALCULATIONS, CPW 

OVERALL RUNOFF 
INTENSITY, I RUNOFF, a 

CIN/HRl CCFSl 
BASIN ID AREA Tc <M!Nl COEFFICIENT 

CACl <Cl J5ox 1, .. !,ox r .. r,. [,x a. .. a,.. Q,ox a.. a.. a .. 
1 2.2 10 0.53 5.20 6. 70 7.90 9.20 10.50 11. 60 6. 15 7.93 9.35 1 o. 89 12.43 13. 73 
2 0. 4 10 0. 61 5.20 6. 70 7.90 9. 20 10.50 11. 60 1. 1 5 1. 48 1. 75 2.04 2. 33 2.57 
3 o. 7 10 0.49 5.20 6. 70 7.90 9.20 10.50 11. 60 1. 78 2.29 2. 70 3. 15 3.59 3.97 
4 3. 1 10 0.38 5.20 6. 70 7. 90 9. 20 10.50 11. 60 7. 48 9.64 11. 37 13. 24 15. 11 16. 69 

RATIONAL METHOD CALCULATIONS, LCFD 

OVERALL RUNOFF 
I NT ENS I TY, I RUNOFF, Q 

(IN/HR) (CFS) 
ID AREA Tc (MIN) COEFFICIENT 

CAC) CC) !,ox izox !,ox 1 .. r,. , .. O.ox Q,0% Q,0% a .. <lzx Q,x 

32.2 10 0.38 5.20 6. 70 7.90 9.20 10. 50 11. 60 86.98 112. 07 132. 14 153.89 175.64 194. 04 
32.8 10 0.38 5.20 6. 70 7. 90 9.20 10. 50 11. 60 88. 71 114. 30 134. 77 156.95 179 . 12 197.89 

CULVERT INPUT DATA 
CULVERT DESCRIPTION DRAINAGE INLET INLET OUTLET OUTLET DOWNSTREAM MANNING'S 

ID AREA STATION ELEV AT ION STATION ELEVATION BOUNDARY "n" 
ID <FT> <FT> <FT> <FT> CONDITIONS VALUE 

CULV-1 3-36" X 53' RCP DA-5 0 575. 25 53 574.25 DS BOUNDARY SL = 1. 15Y. 0.03 
CULV-2 3-36" X 42' RCP DA-7 0 572.54 42 572.20 DS BOUNDARY SL = 1. 15Y. 0.03 

CULVERT HYDRAULICS 
5-YEAR <DESIGN) 100-YEAR <CHECK) 

DESCRIPTION DRAINAGE CULVERT OUTLET TW CULVERT OUTLET TW 
AREA RUNOFF DISCHARGE HW ELEV TW ELEV VELOCITY VELOCITY RUNOFF DISCHARGE HW ELEV TW ELEV VELOCITY VELOCITY 

ID (CFS) (CFS) (FT) (FT> (FPS) (FPS) (CFS) (CFS) (FT> (FT> (FPS) (FPS) 
3-36" X 53' RCP DA-5 114. 3 114 . 3 578.58 576. 64 10. 81 5. 99 197 . 9 139.0 579. 28 577. 22 11 . 32 6.87 
3-36" X 42' RCP DA-7 114. 3 114 . 3 575.84 574 . 62 6.08 5. 99 197 . 9 158. 7 577. 22 575.20 7. 48 6.87 

GENERAL NOTES: 
1. DRAINAGE ANALYSIS PERFORMED IN CONFORMANCE WITH 

THE CITY OF CORINTH ENGINEERING STANDARDS MANUAL. 

2. HY-8 USED TO ANALYZE CULVERTS. 

3. RATIONAL METHOD USED TO ANALYZE DRAINAGE BASINS. 

4. DA-5 INCLUDES DA-1 S. DA-2. DA-6 INCLUDES ALL DRAINAGE 
AREAS SHOWN. DA-7 INCLUDES DA-5. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

C 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
Ill 

~ +-+-+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. -+--+-+-+-+--+-+-+---< 

"' u 
w 
I 
u 

PROJECT NAME 

"' u 
w 
I 
u 

LCFD PRACTICE 
FACILITY 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

HYDROLOGIC & 
HYDRAULIC 
CALCULATIONS 
SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

23 
o,._----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------' 



218

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 

C 

Q_ 

<X) 

"' 
"' "' 

-- "' -- 0 
L N 
c.:>' 
3 N 
(l)' 
L ~ 

"O " C 0 
.. w 
• f

er f
w o 
<J) _, 

::::, Q_ 

:0 CJ> 

+- --~ ~ 
g 0. 
~ u.'. 
• 0 

~~ 
-g b 
+- 0 
C X 
(l) f-
0. • 
* L I (l) 
f- +
z E:. 
~ ~ 
u " 

0:: 
• w 
w > _, ~ 
CD er 
.. 0 
f-

f
zo w _, 
Q_ Q_ 

C 
CJ> 
"O 

3 
'l; 
0 
er 
'; 
0 
u._ 
u _, 
/ 
<fl 
+
(l) 
(l) 
.c 
<J) 

/ 
CJ> 

.5 
/ 

" z 
c.:> 

CP 812\ 
583.512..6. 

--' I 

' 
b 
' ; : 

I 

:c9' 
I 

' ' ' ' 

. : CULVERT 2 
, REMOVE EXIST PIPE 

INSTALL 3-36"X 42' RCP 
; . . 0. 81% 
MITER PIPES TO SLOPE 
' •FL IN = 572. 54 

FL OUT = 572. 20 

578
1

: 30 ,577. 50 \~ 

\ 
\ 

' ' , 

PROP 
GRAVEL 
ROADWAY 

CULVERT 1 
REMOVE EXIST PIPE 
INSTALL 3-36"X 53' RCP 
1. 88% 
MITER PIPES TO SLOPE 
FL IN = 575. 25 
FL OUT= 574.25 

EXISTING LEGEND 
(ID ELECTRIC METER 

0 
0 

0 

+ 

ELECTRIC PEDESTAL 
WATER METER 
GAS METER 
SIGN STRUCTURE 
WATER VALVE 
ELECTRIC PULLBOX 
POWER POLE 
CONTROL POINT 
TREE 
SANITARY CLEAN OUT 
FIRE HYDRANT 
WATER FAUCET 

GRADING NOTES 

O' 40' 80' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

PROPOSED LEGEND 
-580-

-+-X. XX% 

PROPOSED CONTOUR 
PROPOSED BREAKLINE 
DRAINAGE SLOPE 
AND DIRECTION 

1. ALL GRADING AND SITE PREPARATION SHALL CONFORM WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS CONTAINED IN THE GEOTECHINAL REPORT. 

2. PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION OF THE PROJECT SITE THE 
CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE CITY 48 HOURS PRIOR TO 
THE START OF CONSTRUCTION. 

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CAREFULLY PRESERVE BENCHMARKS, 
REFERENCE POINTS, AND STAKES. 

4. ALL INDICATED ELEVATIONS ARE FINISHED ELEVATIONS. 

5. FIELD VERIFY LOCATIONS, SIZES AND IF APPLICABLE INVERTS 
OF EXISTING UTILITIES FOR PROPOSED CONNECTIONS PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCT I ON. 

6. LOCATE AND PROTECT ALL UTILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
PROJECT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. 

7. MAINTAIN PROPER SITE DRAINAGE AT ALL TIMES DURING 
CONSTRUCTION. PREVENT STORM WATER FROM RUNNING INTO OR 
STANDING IN EXCAVATED AREAS. 

8. INSTALL ALL APPROPRIATE TREE PROTECTION MEASURES PRIOR 
TO GRADING . 

9. CUT AND FILL SLOPES SHALL HAVE A MAXIMUM SLOPE OF 3: 1. 

10. ALL TREES, BRUSH, AND ORGANIC TOPSOIL AND OTHER 
OBJECTIONABLE MATERIAL SHALL BE REMOVED , UNLESS OTHERWISE 
SPECIFIED, AND DISPOSED OF AT AN OFF-SITE LOCATION, WITH 
THE EXCEPTION THAT ENOUGH TOPSOIL SHALL BE RETAINED FOR 
RESPREAD AND GENERAL LANDSCAPING . 

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE POSITIVE DRAINAGE . AREAS OF 
SURFACE PONDING SHALL BECORRECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR 
AT NO ADDITIONAL EXPENSE TO THE OWNER . 

12. IF AREAS ARE DISTURBED BEYOND PROPOSED GRADES BY 
NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE 
HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY REGRADING OR REPAIR TO MATCH 
ORIGINAL EXISTING CONDITIONS. 

13. SHORING SHALL BE DONE AS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF 
THE WORK AND FOR THE SAFETY OF THE PERSONNEL . SHORING 
SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL O.S . H. A. AND LOCAL 
REGULATIONS . 

14. SEE SURVEY FOR CONTROL POINT INFORMATION. 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

0 

8 
"' a: 

~ 
<II 

~ r-+--+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+-, 
a: ~ 

' ;g 
"' ~ f-~-+. --+--+-+-r-+--+--+-+-, 

"' u 
w 
I 
u 

PROJECT NAME 

<J) 

u 
I 
0.. 

"" 0:: 
c.:> 

"' u 
w 
I 
u 

LCFD PRACTICE 
FACILITY 
PROJECT Nl.l.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

GRADING PLAN 

SHEET Nl.l.4BER 

24 
o'------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------"------------' 



219

,,r-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------,r--:::::::~::;::;::;::::::;::~-, 
Q_ 

en 
"' 
"' "' SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION : NAME OF RECEIVING WATERS: 

C 

._ en 

-- 0 

PHASE I 
1. INSTALL STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXITS . 
2. PREPARE TEMPORARY PARKING AND STORAGE AREA . 

100Y. OF THE PROJECT FLOWS INTO LAKE LEWISVILLE, 
WHICH FLOWS INTO THE UPPER TRINITY RIVER . 
(STREAM SEGMENT 0805) 

L N 
c.:>' 

t ~ 
L ~ 

"O " 

~ 8 
f

er f-

~ g 
::::, Q_ 

.D CJ> 
+- --0 
...: +-
0 0. 0 
X 

CL '; 0 
Ql 'i-
.D f-

0 0 
+- 0 
C X 
Ql '; 
i'- L 
I Ql 

f- +-
z C 

er L 

0 0. 
u 

0:: 

~ w 
_J ;': 
CD er 
<( 0 
f-

f-z 0 
w _J 
Q_ Q_ 

3. INSTALL EROSION LOGS AND ROCK FILTER DAMS AS 
INDICATED ON THE PLAN. 

4. BEGIN GRADING THE SITE . 

PHASE II 
5. INSTALL CUVLERTS. 
6. COMPLETE GRADING. 
7. PLACE PAVEMENT AND FINAL SEEDING. 
8. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

DEVICES CONLY IF SITE IS STABILIZED>. 

-- 1---
------- I \ 

I I 

\ I 

I \ 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

/ 
I 

I 

I 
I 

I 
I I 

/ 0 
I "-,: I ,'(9 ,' 

I I 
I I 

I 
I 

I 

(B 
I 

-' 

, APPARENT PROPERTY LINE ', -~~---J 
\-~ -- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

C 

i1-------------------------------------------------------------------------~ 

3 SOIL EROSION/SEDIMENTATION CONTROL OPERATION TIME SCHEDULE 
'i-1-----------------------------------------------------------------------------< 
~NOTE: GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO COMPLETE TABLE WITH THEIR SPECIFIC PROJECT SCHEDULE 
Ill!----------------------~--~-~-~-~-~-~-~--~-~-~-~-~-~-~--~-~-~-~-~-~-~--~-~--, 
~ CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC 
~ CONSTRUCTION EXITS 
/1--------------------------l--+--+----+----+----+---+-----l--+--+----+----+----+---+-----l--+--+----+----+----+---+-----l--+--+-----< 
~ TEMPORARY PARKING/ STORAGE AREA 
~ TEMPORARY CONTROL MEASURES 
1 BEGIN GRADING 
~ UTILITIES 
: FINISH GRADING/ PAVING 

~LANDSCAPING/ SEED/ FINAL STABILIZATION 

DISTURBED AREA 
(3. 2 AC) 

I z::::s z CJi;:::::,n 

O' 40' 80' 

~~- i 
SCALE IN FEET 

LEGEND 
@ 12" EROSION CONROL LOG 
<[®) ROCK FILTER DAM 

0::::0 CONCRETE WASHOUT 

~ CONSTRUCT ION EXIT 

-------- DIRECTION OF FLOW 

EXISTING CONCRETE 
PARKING 

Know what's below. 
Call before you dig. 

~ 
<II 

> 
"' a: 

' 
"' .7! 
<II 

w 
f-

;;\ 

g 

z 
c.:> 

Ill 
w 
0 

"' u 
w 
I 
u 

PROJECT NAME 

Ill 
u 

"' u I w 0.. I <( u 0:: 
c.:> 

LCFD PRACTICE 
FACILITY 
PROJECT Nll.4BER 
8200300. 01 
SHEET TITLE 

SWJP 

SHEET Nll.4BER 

25 



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237

MSB Constructors, Inc. 
103 Oak Grove Lane, 
Boyd, Texas76023 

817-825-5956 

Attention: 
Cindy Troyer, C.P.M., A.P.P. 
Purchasing Manager 
3300 Corinth Parkway, 

Corinth, Texas 76208 

Bid Proposal for: 
Solicitation No.: 
17142.00, 18116.00 

Sealed Bid Opening: 
Do Not Open Until 
February 28, 2019@ 2:00 PM 

• • • MULTATECH 
ARCHtTECT9 • ENG,NE~RB 

Corinth Public Works 
and Lake Cities Fire 
Department Site 
Improvements 
City of Corinth, Texas 

Gateway to Success 



238

MULTATECH 
MSB Coo.lru,to", Inc. 

AACNITCCJ8 •ENOfNE'ER6 

Corinth Public Works and 
Lake Cities Fire Department Site Improven1ents 

Tab 1. 

Tab 2. 

Tab 3. 

Tab 4. 

Tnb S. 

Tab 6. 

City of Corinth, Texas 

Bid Proposal Submittal Package Index: 

Bid Bond, Bid Schedule, & Requested Forms 

Proof of Insurance 

Subcontractor List 

References and Reference Letters 

Proposed Construction Schedule 

MSB Introduction & Company Information 



239

' 

) 

w 

Bid Bond 

CONTRACTOR: 

s 
Surety 

S.upe>ott Stf'li(t:~. ,. 
PO Bo:a: 12368 

Ove.land Puk. KS 66282 
918°386-1160 

SURETY: 
M8B Constructors Inc. 
103 Oak Grove Lane 
Boyd, TX 76023 

US Casualty and Surety Insurance Company 
292 tfewbury Street, #105 
Boston, MA 0211S 

OWNER: 
The City of Corinth • Purchasing Oepart,~ent 

This doc1unesit bas important legal 
consequences. Consultalion with 
ao attorney is encour.1ged with 
respect ro its completion or 
modification. 

3300 Corinth Park~ay 
Corinth, TX 76208 

BONDAMOUNT:FIVE PERCENT (Stl OP AMOUNT BID 

PROJECT: cor1nth PU))lic works and Lake Cit1es Fire Department Site rnprovements 
1200 N. corintb street, cori.nth, TX 76210 

Asry singular reference to 
Conl<llcior, Surety, Owner or 
othe, patty shall be oooside!Qd 
p!urol where ..-,nJiegb)e. 

Pcoject Number, if any: 1124, 10S8811-Pl. 20180SOSO, 000180801633.00 

The Conll:llcto.r and Surety ace bound to the Owner in the amount set fottl1 above, for the payment of which the Contractor and Surety bind 
themsdves, theic bein, cxecutots, adminisaators, successors and assigns, jointly and sevetal.ly, as provided herein. The conditions of this Bond 
a<e such that if the Owner accepts the bid of the Conw.ctor within die time specified in the bid documenu, or with.in sU<:h time petiod as may 
be ag,eed to by the Owner and Contractor, and the Conuacto< either (1) entets into a conmact with the Owner in accordance with the term> of 
such bid, and gives such bond or bonds as may be specified in the bidding ox Contract Documents, with a sumy admitted in the jurisdiction of 
the P,oject and 01hcrw.ise acceptable to the Ow11ct, for the faithful performance of such Conte.act and for the ~mpt payment of labor and 
material furnished in the prosecution thereof; or (2) p,1ys to the Owne.r the difference, .not to exceed the amount of this Bond, between the 
amount specified in said bid and such larger amount for whicb the Owner ma.yin good faith contract with another party to perform the work 
oovered by s.'\ld bid, then this obligation shall be null and void, o<b.etwise to cenwn in full force and effect. The Surety hereby waives any 
notiu. of Qn agreement between the Owne.r and Conuacoor to extend 1he time in which the Owner may accept the bid. Waiver of notice by the 
Surety shall not apply to any extension exceeding sixty (60) days in the aggtegille beyond lhe time fo, ae<:eptance of bids specified ill the bid 
do<:umenn, and the Ownec and Coninctor shall obtain the Surety's consent fox an extension beyond si>:ty (60) days. 

If this Bond is issued in connectio11 with a subcontractor's bid to a Coutnctox, the tenn Contraeto, .in this Bond shall be dcero.cd to be 
Subcontrac«>t and the term Owner shill be deemed to be Contrac«>r. 

When this Bond has been futnishcd to oomply with a statutory M otbct kgal tequitt:mcnt in the location of the Project, any ptowion in this 
Bond conflicting with said starutoty or legal requiwnent shall be deemed deleted ltcre from and provisiorui conforming to such statutaty ot 
other legal ,cquinemcct shall be deemed incorporated he.rein. When so furnished, the intent is tMt this Bo.nd shall be consttued as a s~~Ntory 
bond and not as a common law bond. 

Signed and sealed this 28th day of Pebruary ,2019 

MSB Constructors Inc. 
(Principal) 

us ~ ==d surety Insurance Company 
(Seal) 

~ a~-...:;t~ nc,-in-fact 

By amuigement with the AfllClican ln.!litute of Atclliteccs, ch¢ National Association of Surety Bond P'roducm (NASBP) 
(www.nasbp.org) ~s lhis fonn doownent available to its members, affiliales, and associates in Microsoft Word fonnat 
for use in the regular cowse of SIRty business. NASBP voucll-..s Iha! the origmal text of Ibis documeat c,olllbrm;: e.><actly 
to the 1ex1 in AlA Docwnent A3!0-2010, Bid Bo.nd. Subsequent 1110dificstiom may be made to 1he original tw.t of this 
cbc{iment by us-=rs, so ca.reful review of its wooling and <:0nsulllltion with an atlomey are encouraged before its 
oompletiOQ. execution or =i,tlnCC. 

{Seal) 

1 



240

' 

II UNITED CASUAL TY AND SURETY INSURANCE COMPANY 
US Casualty and Surety IO$urance Compa11v 
United Surety Insurance Company 

POWER OF ATIORNEY Agency No. 171384 

kPlOW All MEN SY THESE PRESENTS: Th•t Unlt•d Casualty and Surtty 1n,urane<? Company, a corporation of the S1atf of Nebr•sk•, and US casualty and Surety 
lnsur.anc~ Company and Uhlted Sure\v lnst.1ra11ce Company, assumed names of United Casually and Suretv 1m.urc1nce Company (<ollt(tfve:ly, tht Companl,es")J do by 
these presel'\U make, constitute and appulnt; 

Zachary R. Bradley, Christine M. Flavin, Zachary J. Sanders 

Ju true and lawft1I Attomey(sJ-in,Fa<.t, eath in \htlr segarite ~apaCity If more than one is named ilbove, with full power and .authority her~by confe-mid in H$ nam~. 
place and ste:Jd, to execute • .aclct\owledse and delivt"r any and alJ bonds, re<ognlranoes, undertaldncs: or othtr inorumenu or contr•cts of ,u,eto,shlp to lntlude 
ride1.s, amendments, and consents of surl!!ty, pn>11iding ,M bond ptnaltv do.es not '1Xtttd Jwo MUl(on & 00/100 DoUad: ($2,000,000.00). 1'his Power ol Attorney 
shall expire! wilhot.tl f,1rther action on Dt-cemb@r '31~. 2023. 

This Pov,~r of Art<Hney Is gr.intcd under ,:md by a:vthorlty of the following re~olutfom~ adopted by the Board of Otrectors of the (ompanies. .at a meebng duty C.11led 
••<I held on the 1" d•y of July, 1993; 

AeJ.otved that the President, Ttei'!.UfC'f, o, s~,n~tar, be ;u1d theya,e hei(by euthorited and empowe~d to.appoint A.t\01ners-il\-F;,cl -Of th4 ConiQ.any, In lls nime and u 
Jts acts to exec\lte ind ad(oowle<lge for and on jt1. tlffl~lf u su,cty any 3M $It bonds, ,uogn11inoes, conv,cts ot tndP.mnlty, waivei1. of citation and alt other wtitl11rs, 
0~!1.i.1l<it'f ;n the oatc.ire 1hereof. with poy,trto J'tt~ch thc~to the, scal .:iftnt- CotnS,.:>f'ly. Myst1Ch writfngs so exttultd bywch lltto,ntvs-!n-~~ct 1h.rll be liindintt 
uoon the Company as If thev h30' betn duly executed and a<knowliedged by lhe 1egu!atly elected Officers of the ComjNny 1n their ow~ ptopttoenon,-

That th& Sl&n.sh,reof any ofli~, ~1Jthori1~ by Resolulklns of this Soard a11d the Company 1eal l"!'liY be affixed ~V rac!,lmlle to .any pOwt'r of •ttotn,&y or >-j)t:cial pcw.-e,of 
.attoruev t,t ce,tiffc~tlon of either given fo,the e11ecut1<.Jn of 30) b(Jnd, 1Jnd~rt3k{n1, 1eooantnn,tor ottie, v111neo ot:,Ua..ar»n fn tt'le aatu,e the,eof; SV('h sign.ito,x. at1d •~at. 
~·hl!n '° used b~ing hereby ado~e-d bv lhe (ol\\p,af\y as the orlgSnal slgn<1ture of such offlce, and the orl.g1m1t se.1t of lh1t COmt)jfn'I, to be v.alld ind blndlng upon th~ 
Com~nv with the ,,une to,ce ud ~ffttt ~s though manu;illy affl><ed. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Compan1~1 have caused this instrumellt to be! s1g11t!'tJ and tt,eofr (o,porate ~f'als to bt he,t-voto affixed. this n~ day of December, 2018. 

Corporate Seals 

UNITED CASUALTY ANO SURETY INSURANCE COMPANY 
US Casualtv and Suretv lnsuran<e Company 
United Surety Insurance Company 

Michael J. Scholl, President 

Commonwe.atth of Massachusetts 
County of Suffolk ss, 

on this. l1'1 da•, of Oec.ember, 2018, before me. V,tally Schafer, a notary public, personally appeared Mlthael J. Scholl. President of United Casualty an<f Svretv 
tn~uranee Wmp .• u,v. VS Ca,sua1ty ind Sur.:,ty Insurance Comp~I\Y and United surety lnsuran~ Co,t1p3f\l/, who proved to me on the basis of satfaf.3,torv e\llden<:e: to b~ 
the person whO"Se name h $Ubl<:ribed lo the ,vithin instrument .and .admowled.ged to me th.1c he executed 1he same in his iuthoriti:d ,apadty, at1d that bv h1's 
signature on the 1r,$trument 1he person(s), or the e11tity upon beh.11f of which the p<?rson(s} Jtted, exe,uted the imtrument. 

I certify v,1t1er PENALTY Of PERJURY undtr th~ laws of the Commonw~.alth of Mauachusett-s that the foregoing pa,agraph is tru113 <1nd oorrect. 
WITNESS Al'{ hand and , •• 1. ~ 

_!.j .h~~::::::::==2§;:::;:§2!~--=======-::..:...-__ (Seal} 

Vital1y Sch>f<r. Notaty Pub II, Commi,.ion Expires; 08/20/2024 

~ VITALIY SCHAFER 
Notary Public 

WGOMMONWW.'!li OF tAASSACHUSrns 
Mv Commission Explr•• 

AugU$1 2(), 2024 

I, Robert F. Thomas., Chlef Operating Officer of United osualtv and Surety ln~u,ance Company, US Casvalty and St.i~ty lrnu,an« company .and United Suretv 
fntutan,e Com'3.any do hereby ct-rtffy tflat tht- above, .and foregoing: ls a true and ~orre<.t copy hf a Pnwe¥ of Attorney, extc:uted by said (omi,.anles, which Is still in (ull 
force and effe,t; furthermor~. lhe resoltttfons of the 0oard of O!re<to,s.., sa-t out it'I thlc!' Powe, of Atto,ney ar~ In full force and etfett. 

In Wrtnes.1 Whereof, I have hereutlto set my hana .anc.J .1fflxe:c! •he st:>at$ C>f<satd Companies 3t Boston, Massac-husetts this. J. g 

Corporate Seal, 

c·:,> 
~ ""'.'':'· ~\ 

"' ·~ ... ~ ! 

Robelt F. Thomas, Chief Operattng Officer 

••Y or 

TO CONFIRM AUTHENTICITY OF THIS BOND OR DOCUMENT EMAll: CONFIAM&oNO~UNITEIX'.ASUALTY.COM 



241

I } 

.,,d lnfonnation 

Bid 
Owner 
Email 
Phone 
Pax 

Bid Number 
Tille 

Bid Type 
Issue Oat<, 
CIO$e l)ll(e 

Cindy Troye1, C.l'.M., A.t>.P. 
purmasing@c.ityofoori,u'll.oom 

(940) 498-3286 
(940} 498-7578 

1124 
CilY. oreonn1h Public Works 
And Lake Cities Fire O.partmml 
Site Improvements 

IFB 
OJl.l0/2019 
02/.W:201902:00:00 PM (CT) 

Section 00410-Bid Form 

Corinth, Texas 

Contact Information 
Addctss 3300 Corin1h Parkway 

Cotinth,, TX 7620S 

Contact Cindy Troyer, C.P M, A l'.P. 
Oc1>artmcnt l'u.rchasing 
Building City Holl Building 
Floot/Rooni Ste. 2• Floor 

Tclcphooe (940) 498-3286 
f'ax (940) 498-7578 
Email pu«:hasing@cityofcorinth rom 

Ship to Jnforma1ion 

Address 

Comae! 
Dtprutimni 
Building 
floor/Room 

3300 Corinth PMkwsy 

Corinth, TX 76208 
Cindy Troyer, C.P.M., AP.P. 
Purcliasing 
City Hall 
2"'Floor 

Telephone (940) 498·3286 
Fa., {940) 498-7578 
t:mail purd:iasing@city0feorinth.com 

Supplier !nfom1ation Supplier Notes 

Company Name MSB Constructors Inc 
Contact Nsme Mark Berry 
Address 103 Oak Grove Ln --···-------------------

Telephone 

Fax 

Email 

j I 

Boyd TX, 76023 

817-825-5956 
nla 
marl<@rnsbconstructorsinc.com 

--;-;i'e undersigned hereby certifies the fongoing bid submitted by th.e company listed below hereinafter called "bidder" is the duly authorized agent of 
said company and the person signing said bid has been duly authorized 10 execute same. Bidder affirms that !hey are duly authorize<! to exe.:ute lhis 
contrae1; 1llis company: corporation, firm, partnership or individual has not prepared this bid in collusion with l\nr pjnc,f l>ip~er or other p¢rson or 
persons engaged in the same line of business; and that the oontents of1his bid as to prices.1erms and condi~a,~ <>f.• idijl~ 4~ not been communicated 
by the undersigned nor by any employee or agent to any other person engaged in this type of business ~ 10&~ offioial~ @jl)g'!Jfthis bid. 
~ ' . . .~, • • v· ,. ' . . 

Signa1ure Dale O?ff?8/?01B :Q:J: '{ -- -- . / "":. 
/ : c,,. . ';) ~ 

·• ~ -:2: i -
Bid Notes . -

~ . . -- . 
~..-... .,.oJ .. _'_ • .. .. . . .. .,, . - . 

Bid Activities 

Date Name Description -------------------
Mandatory Pre-Bid Conference There will be no pre-bid meeting. 

Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only by contacting Cody Collier al (940) 498-
7S 10. 

02/28/2019 02:00 PM 
(CT) 

) Messages 

Intent to Bid Do you intend to submit a bid? 

00410 BID FORM -1 



242

Bid A1tachmcn1s 
The following attachments are associated wilh this opportunity and will need to be retrieved separately 

ii Filename Description 
I 

ncader l,EGAL NOTICE Legal Notice 

Header Corinfh Bid Book Specification 

Header Corinth Plan S.:t s Plan Set 

Bid Attachments Requested! 

The following ottachments arc requested with this opportunity 

2 

3 

4 

s 

) 

Required Specified Attachment 

YES Section 00410-Bid Schedule 

YES 

NO 

YBS 

YES 

Bid Security: The original Bid Sewrity shall be n;c,::ived in the Ci!y of Corinth Purehasing 0¢partment with bid submittal. 

W-9 

Conflict of lnten:st Questionnaire 

fonn 1295: must be filed cfoctronically on Texas E!hics Commission Website, signed and submitted with bid. 

00410 BID FORM - 2 



243

Bid Alltibutes 

!'lease review the following and respond where necessary 

Calendar Days Bid-Base Bid 

2 Exceptions 

3 Insurance 

4 Subcontractors 

LJ, Reference No. I 

6 Reference No. 2 

7 Reference No. 3 

8 Preferential Treatment 

Please slate the consecutive calendar days bid for 1he 
Base Bid. 

Do you toke exceptions to the specifications. lfso, by 
separate attachment, please state your exceptions. Valid 
Responses: (Please Sclec11. Yes. No 

I understand that tlte insurance requirements of this 
solicitation are required and a certificate of insurance 
shall be submitted oo the Purchasing department if I am 
awarded all or a portion of the resulting contr~ct. 

Please initial. 

MB 

State the business name of all subcontractors and the type of 
worl< tltey will be performing under this contract. 

If you are fully qualified to s.:lf-f)crform the entire contract, 
please respond with "Not Applicable-Self Perform•. 

List a company or governmentol agency where these 
same/like products /services, as stated herein, llllve been 
provided. See attached 
Include the following: Company/Entity. Contact, 
Address, City/Slllte/Zip, Phone, ond E-Mail. 

List a tompany or governmentol agen..::y where these 
swne/like products /seNices, as stat•d li.erein, nave been 
provided. See attached 

Include the following: Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Pllone, and E-Mail. 

List a company or governmental agency where these 
same/like products /services, as stated lterein, have been 
provided. 

See attached 

lnclude the following; Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Pltone, aud E-Mail. 

The City of Corinth. as a governmental agency of the 
S!ntc of Texas, may not award a contract to a nonresident 
bidder unless the nonresident's bid is lower than the 
lowest bid submitted by a responsible Texas resident 
bidder by the same amount 1hat a Texas resident bidder 
would be required to underbid a nonresident bidder to 
obtain a comparable contmct in the sMe in which tbe 
nonresident's principal place of business is located 
(Government Code, Tille I 0, V. T.C.A., Chapter 2252, 

00410 BID FORM - 3 

165 (Required} 

no (Required} 

yes (Requir«I) 

MB (Required) 

MB (Required) 

MR (Rcquiri:d) 

MB (Requir•d) 

MB (Required) 



244

9 Debarment Certification 

I() Immigration and Refonn Acl 

11 Disclosure of Certain Relationships 

} 
J 

Subchapter A). 

I. Is your principal place of business in 1he Stale of 

Texas? Yes 

2. lfyoor principal place ofbusiness is not in Texas, In 
which. State is your principal place of business? 

3. lfyour principal place of business is not in Texas. does 
your state favor residciit bidders {bidders in your state) by 
some dollar increment or percentage? 

4. If your slate fav-0rs reside,11 bidders, state by what 
dollar amount or percentage. 

I certify that neither my company nor an owner or 
principal of my company has been debarred. suspended 
or otherwise made ineligible for participation in federal 
Assistance programs under Bxecutive Order 12549, 
"Debarment and Suspension,» as described in the federal 
Register and Rules and Regulations. 

Please initial. MB 

MB (Required) 

I declare and affirm that my company is in compliance with MB (Required) 
the Immigration and Reform Act of 1986 and all employees 
are legally ~ligible to work in tlte United States of America. 

I further understand and acknowledge that 3llY 
non-compliance with the Immigration and Rcfonn Acl of 
1986atany time during the term ofthiscontrac< will 
render the contract voidable by tlte City of Corinth. 

Please initial. MB 

Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code requires 
1ha1 any vendor considering doing business with a local 
govemment entity disclose the vendor's affiliation or 
business relationship 1hat might cause a conflict of interest 
wid1 a local government entity. Subcbapter 6 oftlte code 
requires a vendor to file a cont1ict of interest questionnaire 
(CIQ) if a conflict exists. By low lhis questionnaire must be 
filed with the records administrator of the City of Corinth 
no later than the 7th business day after the date the vendor 
be<:0tnes aware of au ev~1t that requires the statement 10 be 
filed. A vendor commits an offense if the vendor knowingly 
violates the code. An offense under this section is a 
misdemeanor. 

By submitting a response to this requrn. the vendor 
represents that it is in compliance wi1h the requirements of 
Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

Please send completed forms to tlte City of Corinth, 
Purehasing Depanment, located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, 
Corinth, TX 7602S. 

Please initial. MB 

004 IO BID FORM • 4 

MB (Requir~d) 



245

12 Anli-COllusion Statement 

,) 

I 3 Disclosure of Interested Panies 

~ 

' 

14 Bid Security Acknowledgement 

I$ Construciion Acknowledgement 

1_) 

Bidder cenifies that its Bid/Propossl is made without prior 
understanding, agreement, or connection with any 
corporation, 11rm, or person submiuing a Bid/Proposal for 
the same materials, services, supplies, or equipment and is 
in all respects fair and without collusion or fraud. 

No premiums. rebates or grotuities permitted; either wilh, 
prior to, or niter any delivery of mnterial or provision of 
services. Any such violation may result in Agreement 
caucellation, return of materials or discontinuation of 
services and the possible removal from bidders list. 

Please initial. MB 

Section 2252.908 of the Texas Government Code requires a 
business entity entering into cenain contracts with a 
governmental entity to file with the governmental entity a 
disclosure of interested panics. ·[lle City of Corinth 1'¢(\uires 
chis be included in Contractor's bid submittal. Sectioo 
2252.908 requires the disclosure form (Form 129:5) to be 
signed by the authorized agent of the contracting business 
entity, acknowledging that the disclosure is made under oath 
and under penalty of perjury. Section 2252.908 applies only 
to a contrac1 that requires an action or vote by the governing 
body oftne governmental entity before the contract may be 
signed or has a value of at least $1 million. Section 
22S2.908 provides definitions ofcmain terms occurring in 
the section. 

Sec1io11 2252.908 applies only to a contract entered into on 

or ofter January I, 20 l 6. 

Please inilial. MB 

Aocompanylng this bid. is a certified check. cashier's check 
or Bid Bond in the amount of five percent (S%) offh.e totol 
amount bid. Also accompnnying this bid, nll lhe infonnation 
required in Section 00200- lnstru,1ions 10 Bidders. 

Please initial. MB 

MB (Required) 

MB (Required) 

_ M_B_ .(Required) 

Bidder, declares that the only person or parties interested in MR (Required). 
this bid are those principals named herein, that his/lier bid is 
made without collusion with any other person, firm or 
corporation, that he/she has carcfolly examined 1he 
Contracl Documents including the lmporront Dates, 
lnsttuctioo to Biddm, Cons1roc1ion Agreement, 
Spe£ifications and tile Drawings, therein referred to and has 
carefully examined the locations, conditions and classes of 
materials for the proposed work, and agrec:s that he/she 
will provide all the nee~sary labor, machinery, tools, 
equipment, appatatus and other items incidental to 
construc1ion and will do all th.e work ond furnish all the 
materials called for in the Contract Documents in the 
manner pres,cribed 1herein. 

00410 BID FORM - S 



246

Bidder hereby doclares that he/she has visited tile site of the 
Work and has carefully examined fhe Contnicl Documents 
pertaining to the Work covered by the above Bid, and 
Ile/she further agrees to commence work within fifteen ( l S) 
consecutive calendar days after date of written Notice lo 
Pl'(lceed and to substantially comple~e the work on which 
he/she has bid within the number of days specified subject 
to such e.'<tcnsions of time allowed by Specifications. 

Bidder certifies that the bid prices contained in this bid 
have been carefully checked and are submiued as correct 
and final. The prices have beea shown in words and figures 
for each item listed in this bid and it is understood that in 
the event of a discrepancy, the words shall govern. 

Please initial. MB 

Base Bid 
PUBLIC WORKS IMPROVEMENTS 

I ine I m 

# Qty UOM Description 

Lump Sum Base Bid Grond Total 

1 Notes: Please submit Sectiou 004 IO Bid Schedule. 

Supplier Notes: 

Item Attributes 

R.:spon~e 

$ 558,800 
(Required) 

# Name Note Response (All Required) 
Bose Bid Grand Toto! Written in Words The contra.ct award will be based on 

the total bid price 
Five Hundred Fifty Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars and no/100 
2 Total Material Cost Incorporated in $ 

Project 

3 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project - Written in Words 

Four Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars and no/100 

420,000 

4 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project $ 138.800 

5 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project 
- Written in W()(ds 

One Hundred Thirty Eight Thousand Eight Hundred and no/100 

) 
,1 

00410 BID FORM -6 



247

Base Bid 
LCFD PRACTICE FACILITY 

r inc Items 

} Qty UOM Descriptio11 

Lump Sum Base Bid Grand Total 

llem Notes: Please submit Section 00410 Bid Schedule. 

Supplier Notes: 

Item Attributes 
II Name Note 
I Base Bid Grand Total Written in Words The contract award will be based on 

the total bid price 
Two Hundred Ten Thousand and no/100 
2 Total Material Cost Incorporated in 

Project 

3 Total Mate.rial Cost Incorporated in 
Project - Wri11en in Words 

One Hundred Sixty Thousand and no/100 
4 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in Project 

~ Total Labor Cost lnoorporated in Project W -Written in Words 

Fifty Thousand and no/100 

) 
,/ 

00410 BID FORM- 2 

Response 

$210 000 
(Required) 

Response (All Required) 

$ 160,000 

$ 50,000 



248

ADDENDUM #1 

Addendutn to be returned with Proposal 

Note: The time for submission of proposals has ~ been changed. 

The following additions, deletions, modifications, or clarifications shall be 
made to the appropriate sections of the referenced document and shall 
become part of the Contract Documents. Respondents shall acknowledge 
receipt of this Addendum by signing below and returning this Addendum with 
the Proposal. 

This form shall be signed and returned with your proposal. 

Name: .... M ...... a ___ rk ........... Be ___ r__.ry _________ _ 

Signature: 

Com ny: 

Title: President --------------
Date: 02/28/2019 --------------

Page2 of3 



249

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES 
FORM 1295 

.. 1 of 1 

complete Nos. l · 4 and 6 If there are intereste'd parties. OFFICE USE ONLY · 
Complete Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6 if there are no interested parties. CERTIFICATION OF FILING 

1 Name of business entity ming form, and the city, state and country of the business entity's place Cenificate Number: 
of business. 2019-456575 
MSB Constructors Inc. 

Boyd, TX United Sta\es 
I . Date Filed: 

2 Name of governmental entity or state agency that is a party to the contract for which the form Is 02/2512019 
being filed. 

City of Corinth Date Acknowledged: 

3 Provide the identification number used by the governmental entity 01 state agency to track or identify the contract, and provide a 
description of the services, goods, or other propeny to be provided under the contract. 

1124 
City of Corinth Public works and Lake Cities Fire Department Site Improvements. 

4 
Name of Interested Party Cily, State, Country (place of business} 

Nature of interest 

(check applicable) 

Controlling Intermediary 

Berry. Mark Boyd, TX United States X 

5 Check only if there is NO Interested Party. D 
6 UNSWORN DECLARATION 

n1b£q My name is }/,/$(:, $If~ • and my date of birth is 
I 

,l~ 
. 

My address is / G>.z rt4'C. 4<,;10,e (...,I ~ d n :::, ' :rx ' 
{A.,/),, 

' ·,--• • {slreet) (tily) (Slal8) (zip code> (country) 

I declare under penalty of perjury lllat the torE!9oing is true and correct. 
,;. 

Executed in wtk.t!.. County, State of _ -fk,f;;, • on the Vf day ol /1'#'4/( . 20.t!'J_. 
(monlh) (year) 

./ 

w/ ' 

r Srgnatu ~ of authorized agent of conuactinu business enbty 
(Oecl8r80IJ 

Forms provided by Texas Ethics Comm1ss1on wvvw .ethics. state. tx . us Version V1.1.28ab6150 



250

SECTION 004547 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE 
For vendor doing business with local governmental entity 

FORM CIQ 

This questionnaire rellacta changes made to lhe law by H.B. 23, B4th Leg., Regular Session. 

This questionnaire is being ftted In accordance w~h Chapler 176. Local Govemment Code, by a vendor who 
has a business rela11onshlp as defined by Section 178.001(1·a) with a local governmental &Jltity and the 
•1&nclor me&ls r&quiremonl• under Section 176.006(a). 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

oa1e Rac;&ived 

By Jaw thi$ questionnaire must be filed with the records administrator of the local governrnental enlity ne>t letar 
than the 7th business day after the date the vendor becomes aware ol facts that require the statement to be 
liled. Soo Section t78.00S(a·1), Local Govornment Cod&. 

A vendor commits an olfense if the vendor knowingly violates Saclion 176.006. Local Government CO<le. An 
ollense under this aecllon Is a misdemeanor. 

5 

7 

Name of vendor who has a business relationship with local governmental entlly. 

//1.16 ~d/J. -~vcft:t,t.J> fl?C 

D Check this box II you re llllng an update to a prevlously filed questionnaire. (The law requires that you 111e an updated 
completed questionnair with Iha appropriate filing authotity not later than lhe 7th business day after the date on which 
you became aware that e originally filed questionnaire was incomplete or inaccurate.) 

Name of local government office bout whom the Information Is being disclosed. 

Name of Officer 

Describe each employment or other bu {ness · telatlonshlp with the local government officer, or a family member of the 
officer, as described by Secllon 176.003(a)(2)(A}. Also describe any famlly relatlonshlp with the local government olllcer. 
Complete aubpans A and B for each employ ant or business relatlonshlp described. Attach addlllonal pages to this Form 
CIQ as necessary. 

A. Is the local government officer or a tamit~ember ol lhe officer receiving or likely to receive taxable income, 
other than inv0stment income, from U1e ven \ 

Oves DNo 
6. Is the vendor receiving or likely to receive taxable · come, other than investment income, from or at Iha direction 
of the local government officer or a family member o he officer AND the taxable lnoome is not received from the 
local governmental entity? 

Oves ONo 
Describe each employment or business relatlonshlp that the vendor na ed In section 1 matntalns with a corporation or 
other business entity with respect to which lhe local government office serves as an ofllcSl' or director, or holds an 
ownership interest of one percent or more. 

D Check this box if the vendor has given the local government officer or a family member of the officer one or more gifts 
as described in Section 176.003(a)(2)(B), excluding gifts described in Section 176.003(a· 1 ). 

business wtlh the governmental ontlty 

Form provided by Texss Ethics Commission www. el hies .state .lx .us Revised 11/30/2015 



251

Form TGC 2270 
VERIFICATION REQUIRED BY TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE CHAPTER2270 

By signing below, Company hereby verifies the following: 

Company does not boywtt Israel; and l. 

2. Company will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. 

SIGNED BY: 

Print Name & Title: 

Company Name: 

Date Signed: 

THB ST ATE OF J&.,;;> 

COUNTY OF Lkk-

/ -;;-?:I 
V 

44" ,,~'l'. • 

) 
) 
) 

NOTARIZATION 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned notary public on this day personally appeared 
MH'k.., ~~ ,on behalf of ftiSI} (¢1,...,,,,6,J f,..,,~ (Company), who, being duly 

sworn, slatedtmer oath that he/she has read the foregoing verification required by Texas Government Code 
Section 2270.002 and said statements contained therein are true and correct. 

--SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before~ !:y of ).-"~ 

~"'' NOiA~~i~ii~~:~~~S NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND 
MVCOMM,EXP.12128/2018 POR THE STATE OF ·1.:,,glf-i 

NOTAAV ID 1504803~·9 ' 

, 2012_. 



252

A;_CO,,Rll CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I DATe (MMll>OIYYYY) 

12/3/2018 
THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATIER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RlGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLOER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOE$ NOT AfFIRMATIVEt.Y OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER{S), AUTHORIZED 

•0 RESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDEA. ,. 
.,,ORTANT: If the certificate holder Is en ADDITIONAL INSURED, lhe pollcy(l&S) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subJect to the terms and conelllions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on 
this certificate does not confer rights to the certlllcate holder ln neu of ,ucl'I endorsement/&). 

I§ 800·699•3750 

PRODUCER 
Hotchkiss Insurance Agency, LLC I rM Nol: 972-612-7799 4120 International Parkway 

Certst.5>hlallc.oom Suite2000 
Carrollton TX 75007 IN9UREA/SlAFl'OflOINGOOVERAGE ~AIC# 

INSURER A: Texas Mutual lnsuranre Comoanv-HB 22945 
INSURED 1819MM$.o1 11isuAeR s: American Builder& Insurance ComDanv 11240 
MSB Constructors, Inc 

msuRER c : A=uard Insurance Comnanv 42390 103 Oak Grove Lane 
Boyd TX 76023 IOl$URERO: 

IIISUAER E: 
ir•ro"A!""': 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER· 380609199 . REVISION NUMBER: 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE SEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOlV\HHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY lliE POllCIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS. 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE SEEN REDUCED 6Y PAID CLAIMS . 

INSR 
LTR 'l'IPE OF IHSUAAIICE POLICY HUM9ER .• ~alt.~ 1,~?1;t,iMX:., ! UMl1'S 

11 X OOMMERCIALGENERALLIAelUTY 1. PKG027620500 12/312018 [ 12/312018 \ eACH OCCURRENCE $1,000,000 

1 CVIIMHlAOE 0 OCCUR ~~~~i~,E~~=f\¢al $100,000 

MED EXP (Any on& pe~on) $6,000 -
PERSONAL t. ADV INJURY $1000000 -

GEN'L AGGREGATE llMfT APPLIES Pel\; GENERAL AGGREGATE $2,000.000 

~· POLICY 0 m?r D ,oc: PRODUCTS. COMP/OP AGO $2,000,000 

OTl<ER: :s - MSAU928073 1213/2018 \2/312019 ~ .. (!!!~J.~~~.~INGL E LIMIT $1,000,000 AUTOMOBILE.UABIUT'f 

I 
- : 

L AAY/.JJTO I BOD>L V INJURY (P$t ps1smJ $ 
X SCHEDUl.60 ; OWNED 80DIL Y tNJURY (Pt°lr ~CO:dOl\l) $ 

fx AUTOS ONLY 
>- ~it?JWNEO 

I 
HIRCO r.~OPERTY DAMAGE $ AUTOS ONLY ~ A.UTOSONLY Qt a«idel!ll 

i $ 

B X UPABA'EllA UA9 
MOCCUR ' \JMB027620SOO 12/3f.1018 WS/2019 $1,000,000 ! EACH OOCUAREt<ICE - EXCESS w,11 CLAIM$-M,l.OE AGGREGATE $1000 000 

OED I X I Rf.TEHTION $. .. J't, ·-· $ 

A. WOFNCERS COMP2:NSA.T10fl 0002023990 1112812018 1112812019 X l~i~·•• I \ 'iJ"' 
AND EIAPLOVl!RS' UASILITY V/N 
ANYPROPRJETORIPARTNEMXECUllVE D NIA E L. EACH ACCIDENT $1.000.000 
OFFICEIWEMBEREXCLUDEO? 
(l.!•ndl1ory In llH) EL. DISEASE• EA EMPLOYEE $1,000.000 
If ies, dteoo~ unda, 

E.L. DISEASE• POLICY LIMIT $1,000.000 0 SCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS l>Olow 

: 
' I 

l j 
DESCRIPTION OF OPE.ft.TIOHSILOCATION~/VEWICLES 1ACORO 101. Addltlonol Romarkoc $otiedul'O', ffl"Y b•atta~ed it moro ep1u:e 1, requ:lro<O 
The general liability policy includes a blanket addition al insured endorsement (BIGGL'ECE 04113} when required by written contract. 

The general liability policy inciudea a blanket waiver of subrogation endoraemant when required by wtltten contract· per (BIGGLECE 04/13) 

The general liability policy includes a special endorsement wilh P,imary and Noncontributory wording as required by written contract, (BIGGLECE 04/13]. 

The auto policy includes a blanket addilional insured endotSement when requifed by w(ltteo contract per (BA9904 06/181 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER 

Information Only 

I 

CANCELLATION 

SKOULO ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES es CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DAlE TttEREQF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

AUTHORIZEOREPRESEHTATIVE 

W:ftt:A 

" 

-

.. 

. 

-

I 
I 
I 
' 
I 
' 

© 1988·201S ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 
ACORD 2S (201611)3} The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD 



253

a 
MSD Constn,cr.,ra, Inc. 

Major Proposed Subcontractors List 

Note: This list is based on bids gathered on and prior to bid day and are subject to change according to availability 
of subs upon awarding of the contract. 

Construction Activities Contractor Primary Contact 

181 Excavation KAB Excavation, LlC Pete Canady 

l8I Concrete MJT GC Concrete Mitchell Thaten 

l8I Misc. Steel A Plus Industrial Dave Machette 

C3 Steel Michael Churchman 

181 Overhead Sectional Doors Access Overhead Doors Alexander Martin 

181 Sealed Concrete Floors Johnson & Sons Jeff Parlin 

Re-Crete, LLC Kelly Bhatt 

181 Painting JP Painting Michael Mitchell 

-
181 PEMB Building Erection Cowboy Steel Trey Norris 

Triple W Meta ii Buildings Kirby Berry 

181 Plumbing Lincoln Plumbing Edwin Hernandez 

181 HVAC A-Star Mechanical Fred Olivares 

1:81 Electrica I Willis Electric Mandi Willis Fisk 



254

t j 

=' MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSB Comtn1.ch>u , lu.:. 

REFERENCES 

ARCHITECTS DESIGN GROUP 

• 4131 N. Central Expy., Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 75204 

• Melissa Brand.Vokey, AIA 

• Melissa was the architect on the Irving/Grand Prairie Fire Training Center that David was the PM on, as 
well as the DeSoto Fire Station that David and Mark were both involved with. 

• Ph: 972•741-3705 

• Email: MelissaBV@adeusa.org 

BRW ARCHITECTS 

• 3535 Travis Street, Suite 250, Dallas, Texas 75204 

• Steve Danielson, CSI, CCS, CCCA, Senior Associate 

• Steve was the architect on the Arl!ngtOn Fire Station that David was the PM on. 

• Ph: 214-528-8704 

• Email: sdanjelson@hrwarch.com 

ClTY OF lRVlNG / CAPITAL IMPROVl!Ml!NT PROGRAM 

• 825 w. Irving Blvd., Irving, Texas 75060 

• Pat Lamers, Facilities Manager 

• Pat was the City PM on the Irving/Grand Prairie Fire Training Center that David was the PM on. 

• Ph: 972-721-2700 

• Email: plamers@cityoOrvmg org 

IRVING FIRE DEPARTMENT 

• 825 w. Irving Blvd., Irving, Texas 75060 

• Jack Taylor, Chief Fire Oft1cer 

• tack represented the City of Irving's Fire Department on the Fire Training Center project 

• Ph: 972-721-7747 

• Bmail: jtaylor@cityofirvine.ore 



255

December 4, 2018 

To whom it may concern, 

David Stanfield was the project manager for the contractor 
on our Irving/Grand Prairie Fire training facility project. His 
construction knowledge and organizational skills made a 
difficult project successful. They completed the project on 
time and took the lead on coordinating with another 
contractor hired to build the burn tower on the site. He was 
a team player working with the client's many changes. I 
have relied on him for cost estimating on additional projects. 
I highly recommend David and his team for any project you 
ore considering. 

Sincerely, 

Melissa Brand-Vokey, AIA 
Regional Director 



256

L.! 

January 31, 2019 
Letter of Reference 
David Stanfield 
Arlington Fire Station #17 
Arlington, TX 

To Whom It May Concern: 

BROWN REYNOLDS WATFORD 
ARCHITECTS 

353.S TRAVl5 S nm, 
~UIT~ 2.)0 

DALLAS, HKAS 7520A 
21 A • .)28 .1170<1 

WWW.BRWAR CH.COM 

I am pleased to provide a reference for the above-mentioned project on behalf of David 
Stanfield. I performed Construction Administration for the enfi rely of this project. While 
this project hod several issues during construction, Mr. Stanfield did a good job of working 
through the issues in a timely fashion with a good attitude and knowledgeable 
experience. He exercised control over his subcontractors and kept the project moving 
forward without inconveniencing the schedule or the Owner. Mr. Stanfield was forward
thinking, keeping ahead of pctenticil problems. I can recommend Mr. Stanfield and his 
new construction company to anyone wishing lo construct a new project, os I'm confident he 
will bring the experience ond attitude to successfully complete the work, 

Sincerely, 

Steven J. Danielson, CSI, CCS, CCCA 
Senior Associate 
BRW Architects, Inc. 



257

' J. Taylor - 502 

To Whom it May Concern, January 31, 201g 

I had the pleasure of working with David Stanfield during the 2017 construction of our Fire Training 
Facility in lrvi ng. This was a $4 million project that provided many challenges requiring Ingenuity from 

our contractor. Thankfully for us, David Stanfield was our contact responsible for managing this project 
for our contractor. I was the project manager for the Irving Fire Department (IFD). Therefore, I was in 
contact with Mr. Stanfield on a daily basis. His detailed organizational skills coupled with constant and 
full communication, made this project succeed in a manner that was very smooth and consistent. 

During the same timeframe, IFD had another project ongoing by a different contractor. This project was 
nothing short of a nightmare due to the lack of leadership and organizational/communication skills by 
the management team of the other contractor. Mr. Stanfield's leadership skills were appreciated and 
evident in his team's production. I would suggest using Mr. Stanfield for any of your contracting needs. 
His performance will make you a believer as well, He would have made a great firefighter. 

If you have further questions pertaining to Mr. Stanfield's performance please don't hesitate to contact 
me. 

Regards, 

J.G. Taylor Ill 

Assistant Chief 
Irving Fire Department 
972.721.7747 
jtaylor@cityofirving.org 

Assistant Chief • 502 • Administration 
p-972.721.7747 • jtaylor@cityofirving.org • c-469.435.2091 



258

l 

) 

February 1, 2019 

Mr. David Stanfield 
MS8 Constructors 
Boyd, Texas 

Mr. Stanfield, 

I am pleased to write you a letter of recommendation based on the opportunity that we had to work 
together on the construction of a new s~le house and office building for the City of living landfill 
located on Hunter Ferre II Rd. This project has been viewed by the City as a success and the Solid Waste 
department personnel that occupy the buildings are very pleased with their facilities. 

As the City's project manacer, I appreciated the ease of access that I had to your staff. I also recognize 
that the commitment to successfully completing the City's goals of the project was shared by you and 
your staff. When the foundation sub-contractor attempted to charge the City for carelessness In their 
work, I appreciated your frankness and direct api:iroach In dealing with the Issue. 

I wish you continued success in your cari~e rand look forward to working with you on future projects 
with the City of Irving. 

L//.L 
Brad Hughes ") 

An;hitectural Project Manager 
Capital Improvement Program - City of Irving 
Irving, Texas 
972•721•2785 



259

H 

) 

Corinth Public Works Preliminary 
Schedule 
152 Calendar Days for Completion of Project 

!W'Q,I·~~~ --

a 

::;:~..... ~ --l-, .... c,11, ...i~ ........ ~ ....... : 
, .... , .. wb1~"",...=~""'= --~ ·+-·-- ·· ··,--- ---

:::?i:~~~--- -. ..~-- --- . .L... __ L. I 1-----r-
, ...... "" .. """'"'''"')~t· ==i=::::=:::'.=='.:=::'.::::'.:::.:.:=.::_.::..::=:E~~!'::===55~5c'.==---·-==:'.:=:::'.:=~====:::'.:===::-~~c;;=~~"----I----'--'--·--'--~·--------·· 

" 
----------------r----· .. 

~ .. 
" ,, 
w .. 
" .. 
~ 

• 

C.Jo.vfUlf,....;,o<#~~ .. 
i,rp,~CM.,v~,..,..,, 
--~,.,.. I 

---'·~-=:,'M~-=,;:"f"""= ·~-~~-,'-~"~'---1----+----f-i-~--------+,--l----~--+------r 
___ ...., ·· --~--

.! 
i 

---,i-....1--....1--...J.-...J.....L.....L.-_.__ ...... ___ ...... _..J..._....1._...!.. _ _, ___ __.__..J..._...!.._..J... __ =~~----
~ .. ,~~,1r......,o,.,1,,4,,.., 
!<.W:ut)1'C__..,_ ' "'"6..clllL 

<• -""'-_;---------1 
' ' <Jroo~O....-~ . ..,._ !..~i~ w-

I 
·1 

T 

f!Tr-r·-11· 
. . ' 
' ' ! I ' 

• I : ; 

Page 1 or 1 



260

MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSD Constructors, Io-.:. 

lntt·oduction Packet fo1· Gene1·al Contracting Services 

I . - " 
' 1·,a. 



261

{_) 

:l MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSll Con.structon, lnc. 

MSB Constructors, Inc., is pleased to present our company information to you in hopes of earning 
your trust and building a professional relationship that extends well beyond one single project. 

Our company has been in business since 1983 doing a wide range of construction projects 
throughout the Western U.S. We registered with the State of Texas in 2009 and on September 11, 
2018 we reregistered with the State of Texas in order to bring David Stanfield onboard as a 
principal. We are excited about the additional experience David brings, and as a result the sole 
focus of the company will now be confmed within the State of Texas. While we have done far 
reaching, expansive, and complicated projects all over the Western U.S., we are very pleased with 
our decision to consolidate all of our energies and resources here in North Texas. 

MSB Constructors, Inc. was founded with three very simple. yet sometimes elusive guiding 
principles that formed our mission statement and laid the foundation that our company is built upon; 

I. Integrity above all else 
2. Quality First 
3. On time and On Budget 

These simple guiding principles were the result of the collective cumulating influences derived from 
over 30 years as a Commercial General Contractor. What we learned over the years was that it 
didn't make any difference ifwe were doing a simple Remodel, building Missile Siloes in the Artie, 
Motels, Schools or Surgery Centers, .. Integrity is the first Chapter in the Book of Wisdom". 
Without Integrity and total customer satisfaction our social fabric breaks down and we begin down 
the slippery slope we see the industry headed towards now - mutual mistrust culminating in anarchy 
if there isn't a course correction. We believe in "Building Relationships" and we operate with a 
policy of full transparency when our clients ask for it. lfa Contractor can't stand 1000/o behind their 
finished product it never should have been started in the first place. 

We pride ourselves on being forward thinking and feel very strongly "There are no Problems, Only 
Solutions". We offer a wide range ofexpet1ise to help you solve your unique set ofissues. Ifwe 
can't stand behind it-we won't build it. 

We are confident that the quality of our work along with the comprehensive understanding of 
construction and its elements can help you successfully complete your projects. We are excited 
about the opportunity to work with your organization. 

Sincerely, 



262

) 

:l MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSB Con,tcuct,>rv, Joo, 

KEY Pl::RSONNEL Rt:SUMES 

MARI< BERRY 

EXPERIENCE 

Mark has over 30 years' experience as a general contractor in the construction industry and has owned 
multiple businesses over that span. Mark's ability to direct complex projects from initial concept to 
fully operational status is one of his biggest strengths. He is a goal -oriented individual with strong 
leadership skills and a great business sense. Mark's businesses have ranged from a marine 
engineering and construction company in Hawaii to a series of Redi-Mix concrete plants to other 
general contracting firms and have been hugely successful. 

EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

Commercial General Contractor - P1·esident/CEO- 9/1/1983 - Current 

Daniels International/Brown & Root- Superintendent - 1/1/1982 - 8/31/1983 

EDUCATION/CERTIFICATlONS 

· University of Idaho · Major: Engineeling/Mlnor: Business 

· University of Oregon - PE - Structural Engineering 

· Flight Safety, Commercial/Multi-Engine Instrument, CFII. ATP - 10,000 + Hr Pilot 

• OSHA 10 and 30 Hour Certified 

• Commercial Driver - 2,000 Hrs Certified in Mixed Gas to 300 ft. 



263

( ) 

a MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSB C<>a,ln><to,., In<. ___________________________ __ .. __________ _ 

DAVID STANFIELD 
(David would be the Project manager on this projed) 

EXPERIENCE 

David has 20+ years' experience in the construction industry. He started his career doing 
CAD/Drafting and drawing all types of projects. He worked his way up from drawing plans, to 
estimating, to project management, and then to executive roles. His passion is seeing a project go from 
plans to completion as he still loves the architecture and design element of e,,ery project. Throughout 
his career. he has taught drafting at the college level, sat on boards for companies, and played key roles 
for each company he worked for. He specializes in business development, project management, 
project scheduling, and construction problem resolution. 

EMPLOYMENT HISTORY 

JC Commercial, Inc. - Vice President· 5/15/2015 - 6/15/18 

Avallone Architectural Specialties- Estimating Manager - 12/1/2013 - 5/15/15 

North Shreve Construction - Project Manager/Lead Estimator· 12/1/2009 - 11/2/2013 

Texas Dept. of Transportation - Drafter/Construction Inspector -12/1/2000 - 4/31/2002 

Hayter Engineering, Inc. - P1·oject Manager- 6/1/1998 - 12/2/2000 

Industrial Consortium - Drafter/Detailer/Project Manager -12/1/1996- 6/1/1998 

EDUCATION/CERTIFICATIONS 

· Paris Junior College - Major: Drafting and Design - Graduated with Honors 

• OSHA 10 and 30 Hour Certified 

• CAL-OSHA Certified 



264

:l MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSll Comtmctors, Int. 

Major 
Foreman 

Construction 
Su pe ri nten dent 

Major 
Foreman 

l Installers l Installers 
I 

Organizational Chart 

Project 
Manager 

Major 
Foreman 

PfOJeCL Eng111ee, 

,f Apphc~ble 

Independent 
Testing Lab 

City 
Inspectors 

Site Safety 
Manager 

Subcontractors and 
other Prime Contractors 

l Installers 

Manufacturers 

(1ndudes onsite, offsite 

and factory tests) 



265

MSB Constructors, Inc. 
Msn <.:un."truc.tos.s, Im .• 

A Small Sample of Recent Proiec:ts that David Has Managed: 

MACH Z Hangar: McKinney, TX- lM - Pre-Engineered Metal Building 

Complete Renovation of Irrigation and landscaping: City of Pia no Municipal Com ple>e, Plano, TX - 1 M 

Irving Fire Training Facility: Irving, TX- 3M - Pre-Engineered Metal Build ing 

Hunter Ferrell Landfill Facility: Irving, TX - 2M - Structura I Steel & Masonry Building 

Rockwall lSD Baseball & Softball Press B01<es & Shade Structures: Rockwall, TX- lM 

Dallas Parks Maintenance Facility: Dallas, TX-3.SM - Pre-Engineered Metal Building 

Arlington Fire Station No. 17: Arlington, TX - 3M -Structural Steel & Masonry Building 

Partial Job List of the 600t Proiects Completed as General Contractor: 

Developed and Constructed new TIit-Up Industrial Park: Austin 35M 

Blaine County Courthouse: National Historic Registry Building- Complete Renovation 

Western Aircrah- New Commercial Jet Maintenance Hanger: Gowin Field 8.SM 

New Hilton Garden Inn 120 rooms: Boise 

New 160 room Extended Stay America: Gresham 

New University Library: U of O 

Cummins Maintenance and Manufacturing Facility: Boise 

PAPE Broths Caterpillar Dealership: Creswell 

Century Movie Theatre: Eugene 

Donnley Charter School: Hailey 

Minute Man Missile Silos: USDOD Minot 

Southside Athletic Center: New Sports Training facility - Eugene 



266

A MSB Constructors, Inc. 
MSB Corutmclor!>• [cu:. 

O.A.N.G: New District 4 office complex in Portland 8M 

New Dental Clinic: Hill AFB 2.2M 

Submarine Base Dock and Facilities Remodel: Puget Sound 

New High School: Mtn Home 

Hospital: Mtn Home AFB: Contractor on new $SO-million military hospital 

New Dry Dock and Repair 2 existing Dry Docks: USN Seattle 44M 

Lowman Ranger Station Complex: General contractor on new ranger station complex, including complete 
site and utilities development, in addition to duplex housing, in an area of extremely difficult logistics. 24M 

Clean Room Manufacturing Plant for HP 180,000sq ft: Corvallis 26M 

Design/build new irrigation dam, Power& distribution system: Prime contractor on the fast track project, 
including earthwork, structural concrete and steel fabrication, turbines. USMC Hawaii 

Ford Island Pier Repair: Prime contractor on a fast-track design build remodel of e><isting Harbor, Pier and 
Dry Docks, Pearl Harbor HI 

New Aircraft Parking Light Towers and Runway: New 120 ft light towers for entire airport, overlay new 
Runway with 24" reinforced Class A Concrete. MHAFB 

Remodel 112 military duplexes: Contractor for the remodel/addition of re-locatable housing. USAF 

Remodel NCO housing: General contractor on 180 unit total renovation and addition. USAF 

Pier Repair: Diving services to repair ship-damaged concrete bearing piles. Work included realignment of 
piles, structural repair and patching of pier, in addition to underwater tremie concrete. 
Client - Dept of the Navy 

New jet engine test cell: Prime contractor for re mo11a I and replacement of 5,000 cu hie yards of eKi sting 
concrete paving and related drainage system, New Structural Building and Fire Control System. 
Client - USAF 

Small and medium arms range; Prime contractor on artillery range, consisted of extensive site work, 
structural concrete and steel fabrication. 6SM 

Medical Research Lab and Lecture Facility: U of 0 



267

Irving & Grand Prairie Joint Fire Training Facility-Irving, Texas 

4850 N. Belt Une Road, Irving, Tex.as 75038 

40' x 100' Pre-Engineered Metal Building 

With Training Classroom, Kitchen, Brcakroom, Restrooms, and Admin Office Spaces 

I 



268

MACH II Hangar-.lvlcKinney National Airport-City of McKinney, Texas 
1500 Industrial Blvd. #201, McKinney, Texas 75069 

Numerous other Airplane Hangars-All Prc-Enginccced Metal Buildings 

Sius Ranged from 80'x80' up to 100'xl50' and up to 28' Eave Heights 



269

Designed and Project Managed N11111e.rous Pre-Engineered Metal Building Projects 

Some Examples of Clients and Types of Buildings Shown 

Weatherford lnternationaJ, Summit Oilfield Services, Fresh Oil Church Worship Center 



270

More Examples of Clients and Types of Buildings Manage,! Shown 

lvey's Lumber Sto1·e, Napa Auto Parts, & Numerou~ Other Building.~ 



271

MSB Constructors, Inc. 

Sank & Financial References: 

Chase Business Platinum Team 
Stella Garcia, Assistant Vice President 
Phone: 972-691-4179 
Email: estella.m.garcia@jpmchase.com 

Chase Private Client 
TJ Ingram, Assistant Vice President 
Phone: 972-539-8587 

Email: thomas.j.ingram@chase.com 

* Notarized Form A305 and Reviewed Financial Statement Provided Upon Request"' 

Our Contact Information: 

MSB Constructors, Inc. 
103 Oak Grove Lane, 
Boyd, Texas 76023 

Phone: 817-82S-5956 

Cell: 817-825-5952 

Emails: 
Mark@msbconstructorsinc.com 
David@m sbconstru ctorsinc.com 

Website: www.msbconstructorsinc.com 



272

SCHMOLDT 
CONSTRUCTION 

Bid #1124 -
Public Works & Lake 

Cities Fire Department 
Site Improvements 

City of Corinth 
Attn: Purchasing Agent 

3300 Corinth Parkway, znd Floor 
Corinth, Texas 76208 

Due Date: 
Thursday, February 28th, 2019 

2:00pn1 

7720 Sellmoldt Way, Celina, Te)(aS 75009 Office: 972.382.8499 Fax: 972.382.839 l 
www.schmoldtconstrvc~on.com 



273

Bid lnfom1a1ion 

Bid 
Owner 
Etnail 
Phone 
fax 

Bid Number 
TiUe 

Bid Type 
lssod)ato 
Close Date 

Cin.dy Troyer, C.P.M .. A.P.P. 
pureha$ing@ci1yof'corin1h.com 

(940) 498-3286 
(940) 498-7573 

1124 
Cil)'. Of Corinth Public Worl<s 
Ad t.ke Cities Fire O.partment 
Sile Improvements 

IFB 
01130/2019 
02/2812019 02:00 00 PM (CT) 

Suppller Information 

Section 00410-Bid Form 

Corinth, Texas 

Contact Information 

Address 3300 Corinth 1'3rl<w•y 
Corinth, TX 76208 

Conlaet Cindy Ttoyet, C.P.M., A.P.P. 
Dq,at1men1 Purclls,ing 
Building City Hall Building 
Floor/Room Ste 2 .. l"loor 

T•lepi,onc (940) 498-32S6 
Fox (940)498-7S7S 
Em•il purchasing@cityofoorinth.com 

Supplier Notes 

Ship to lnfonnetion 

Address 

Contee, 
Depanment 
Building 
FlooliRoom 

3300 Corinth Porkw•y 

Corin1h, TX 76208 
Cindy Troyer, C.P.M .• A.P.P. 
Purchuint 
City H•ll 
2"'Floor 

Telephone (940) 498-3286 
fax (940) 49HS78 
llmail pu,.hasing@,;ityofcorinlh com 

-~~---------------~----·----------------------------Company Name 

Conlacl Name 

Addrtss 

Telephone 

fax 
£mail 

Schmoldt Constru/;~t,.,,io~n~ln,.,c"'". -----
Cary P. Schmoldt _______ _ 
7720 Schmoldt vv_ay_ 
Celina, TX 75009 

972-382-8499 
972-382-8399 
Ca ry@schmoldtconstruction.com 

The undersigned hereby certifies the foregoing bid submitted by tile mmpany listed below hereinafter called "bidder" is <he duly authorized agent of 
sAid company and the person signing said bid has bcco duly authorized to execute same. Bidder Qffim1s that Otey are duly au1hori2ed to execute this 
conlrac!; this compMy; corporation, firm, pa hip or individual has nol prepared this bid in collusion with any other bidder or other person or 
persons engaged in the same · f · css; d tMI the contents of this bid as to prices, terms and conditions of said bid have not been communicated 
by the uridcl"3igned no r agent to a1\y other person engaged in this type of business prior to the official opening of this bid. 

Signature 

Bid Notes 

Bid ActivitiE;.l 

Dale ---------

()212812019 02:00 PM 
f.CT) 

/ 

BidMessa~s 

Date 2 / 28 / 2019 

Nome 0..,cription 

MQndatory l're·Bid Conference There will b• no pre·bid meeting. 

Intent to Bid 

Site visits may be scheduled by appointment only t,y contacting Cody Collier at (940) 498-
7$10. 

Do you intend lo submit a bid? 

00410 BID FORM· I 



274

3id Attachment• 

The following aUachmcnts are associated with this opportunity and will need to be retrieved stparately 

# Filename Descriplion -------------~--------------------------------
Header LllOAL NOTICE 

Header Corinth Bid Book 

Header Corinth Plan Set 

Bid Atlachmcnts Re911cstcd 

Legal Notice 

Specification 

s Plan Set 

The following attachments ore requested with this opportunity 

ii ---

2 

3 

4 

s 

{ J 

Required Specified Attachment 

YES Section 00410-Bid Schedule 

YES Bid S=rity: The original Bid S«urity shall be r«eived in the City of Corinth Purchasing Department with bid submiual. 

NO W-9 

YES Conflict of Interest Questionnaire 

YES Fonn 1295: must be flied electronically on Texas Ethics Commfsslon Website, signed and submitted with bid. 

00410 BID FORM - 2 



275

Rjd Attrjhutes 

l'lease review lhe following and respond where ne,;e.ssary 

# Name 

Celeudar Deys Bid-Base Bid 

2 E.xcepeioM 

3 Insurance 

4 Suboontractors 

j Reference No. I 

6 Reference No. 2 

7 Reference No. 3 

8 Preferential Trci1lmcnt 

NOie Response '--'-"-------------------
Please state lhc consecutive calen<IM days bid for tile 
Base Bid. 

Do you take exceptions to the specifications. If so, by 
separate auochment, plei,se state your exuplions. Valid 
Respl)nses: (Please Select], Yes, No 

I understand lhat the insurance 1equirements oflhis 
solicitation are required and a certificate of insurance 
shall be submitted to Uie Purctiasing department if( am 
awarded all or a portion of the resulting (:(Intra cl. 

Please initial. 

180 (Required) 

NO (Required) 

CPS (Required} 

Stale tlie business name of all sub<x>ntractors and the type of s .. >.'""'"' (Required) 
work they will be performing under this contract 

If you are fully ~ualified to seJf.perfonn the entire contraci, 
please respond with "Not Applicable-Self Perform•. 

Lisi a company or governmental agency where these 
same/like products /services. as stated herein, have been 
provided. 

Include the following: Company/Entity, Contacl, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Pl\one, and E-Mail. 

List a company or govttnmcntal agency where these 
same/like products /servioes, as slated herein, have been 
provided. 

Include the following: Company/Entity, Contact. 
Addres.5, City/Stole/Zip, Phone, and E-Mail. 

List a company or govemmenlal agency where these 
somenlke products /services, as stated herein, have been 
provided. 

Include the following: Company/Entity, Contact, 
Address, City/State/Zip, Phone, and E-Mail. 

The City of Corinth, asa governmenlal agency oftne 
Stille of Texas, may not award a conlr8Ct 10 a nonresident 
bidder unless the nonresident's bid is lower than 1ne 
lowest bid submitted by a responsible Texas resident 
bidder by the same amount Iha! a Texas resident bidder 
would be required lo underi:Jid a nonresident bidder to 
obtain a comparable contract in the state in which the 
nonresident's principal place of business is located 
(Government Code, Tille 10, V .T.C.A., Chapter 2252, 

00410 BID FORM - 3 

s ... At1•chod{Rcquired) 

s .. Al11t/!!<l(Requi1ed) 

S•• Ana<fl<o(Roquired) 

s,,m..,,.,(Rcquired) 



276

9 Debarment Certification 

IO Immigration and Reform Act 

11 Disclo!lllrc of Certain Rclation.5hips 

Subchaptcr A), 

I. Is your principal plaoe of business in Uie Stale of 
Te,cas? 

2. If your principal plaoe of business is not in Texas, in 
which State is your principal place ofbusin~ss? 

3. If your principal ploce of business is not in Te,as, does 
your state favor resident bidders (bidders in your state) by 
some dollar increment or J)«'Cen1"8e? 

4. If your state favors resident bidders. state by what 
dollar amount or percentage. 

I certify that neither my c01Tipany nor an owner or 
principal of my company has been deb3m:d, suspended 
or otherwise made ineligible for participation in Federal 
Assistance proyams under Executive Order 12S49, 
"Debannent and Suspension," as described in the federal 
Register and Rules and Regulations. 

Please initial. 

CPS (Required) 

I declAre And affirm that roy compal\y is in compliance with CPS {Required) 
the Immigration and Reform Act of 1986 and all employees 
are legally eligible lo work in the United States of America. 

I fiinher understand and QC}:nowledge l'hat any 
non-compliance wil'h t'he Immigration and Reform Act of 
1986 at any lime during lhe term of this contract w!II 
render t'he 00<1tracl voidable by the City of Corinth. 

Please initial. 

Chapter 176 of the Texas Local <lovcmmoot Code re<1uircs CPS (Required) 
that any vendor considering doing business with a local 
government C<1tity disclose the vendor's affiliation or 
businc53 relationship that might cause a conflict of interest 
with a local government entity. Subchaptcr 6 oflhe code 
requires a vendor to file a conflict of interest questionnaire 
(CIQ) if a oonllict exists. By law this queslionnaire must be 
filed with l'he records administrator of the City of Corinth 
no later than the 7th business day after the date the vendor 
becomes nware of an event that requires lhe statement to be 
filed, A vendor commits an offense if the vendor knowingly 
violates the code. An offense under Ibis =lion Is a 
misdemeanor. 

By submitting a response to this request, the vendor 
represents that it is in co,nplianoo with the requirements of 
Chapter 176 oflhe Texas Local Government Code. 

Please send completed forms to the City of Corinth, 
Purcllasing Dq,artment, located at 3300 Corinth Parkway, 
Corinth, TX 76028. 

Please initial, 

00410 BID FORM -4 



277

,J 2 Ami-Collusion S1arernen1 

13 Disclosure oflntor,:stcd Parties 

14 Bid Security Acknowledgement 

15 Construction /\cknowledgemenl 

Bidder certifies that its Bid/Proposal is made without prior 
understanding, agreement, or connecdon with any 
corporation, finn, or person submitting a Bid/Proposal for 
Ille some mnterials, services, supplies, or equipment and is 
in all respects fiair and without collusion or fraud. 

No premiums, rebates or gratuities penniued: eithtr with, 
prior to, or after uny delivezy ofmoteriol or provision of 
services. Any such violation may rC$lllt ill Agreement 
cancellation, return of inatetials or dis«intinuation of 
services and the possible removal from bidders list. 

Please initial. 

CPS (Required) 

Seciion 22S2.9()8 of the Texas Government Code requires • CPS (Required) 
business entity entering into certain contracts with a 
governmental entity to file wilh 1he governmental entity a 
disclosure of interested parties. The City of Corinth requires 
this be included in Con1rector's bid submiUal. Section 
2252.908 requires Ille disclosure fonn (Fonn 1295) to be 
signed by the autborized agentoflhe contracting business 
entity, acknowledging !hot tbe disclosure is mode under oath 
and under penalty ofpe!jury. Section 2252.908 applies only 
to a QOlltract that requi~ an action or vole by the govcmlng 
body of the governmental entily before the contract may be 
signed or has o value of at least $1 million. Se«ion 
22S2.908 provides definitions of <:ertain Cenns occurring in 
1he section. 

Scctlon 22S2.908 applies only to a wntract entered into on 

or afler January I, 2016. 

!'lease initial. 

Accompa11ying this bid, is a cenified check, cashier's <:heck CPS (R<'quired} 
or Bid Bond in the amount of ftye percent (5%) of the total 
ainounl bid. Also acoompanying lhis bid, all the information 
required in Section 00200 - Instructions lo Bidders. 

Please initial. 

Bidder, declares that the only pen;on or parties interested in CPS (Required}. 
this bid ore those principals named herein. that hisiher bid is 
made wi1hout collusion with any olher person, fim1 or 
coJJ)oration, lilat he/she has ~refully examined the 
Contract Docwnenls including 1he Important Dates. 
lnstniction to Bidders, Conslnlction /\greemoot, 
Specifications and the Drawings. therein referred to ond has 
carefully examined the locations, oonditions and classes of 
materials for the proposed wotk, and agrees !Ital he/she 
will provide all the ne<:essary labor, machinery, tools, 
equipment, apparatus and olher items incidental to 
oonstruction and will do all the work and furnish all !he 
materials called tor in the Coatract Docurnenls in the 
manner prescribed 1herein. 

00410 BID FORM· 5 



278

' 

# Qty UOM Description 

Bidder hereby declares that he/she has visited the site oflhe 
Work and has GaCefully examined the Conll'act Documents 
penaining to tne Work covered by the above Bid, and 
he/site further agrees to commence work w;thin tifte•n (IS) 
001isecU1ive calendar days after date of written Notice to 
Proceed and to substantially complete lhe work on which 
he/she has bid within the number of days specified subject 
to such extcll.9ions of time allowed by Specifications. 

Bidder certifies that the bid prices oo,nained in this bid 
have been carefully ch¢"kcd and are st1bmined ns oorrect 
and final. The prices have been shown in words and figures 
for each item listed in lltis bid and it is understood that in 
the event of a clis~ancy, the words shall govern. 

Please ini1ial. 

Base Bid 
PUBLIC WORKS IMPROVBMENTS 

Response 

Lump Sum Base Bid Grand Total s t;O'B .1)00 , 6 o 

Item Notes: Please submit Section 00410 Bid Schedule. lo Y\'\On fu<; 

Supplier Notes: 

Item Attribu1es 
# Name 
I Base Bid Grand Tots! Wriltetl in Words 

2 Total Material Cost lncorporuled in 
Project 

3 

4 

5 

Total Material Cost Incorporated in 
Project - Wrilten in Words 

Total Labor Cost lncol])oraled in Project 

Total Labor Cost lncorpo!'llted In Projee1 
- Written in Words 

Note 
The oonfract OWllrd will be based on 
the total bid price 

00410 BID FORM - 6 

(Required) 

s ~03.000, o'o 

' 
1\\JJ O \tu,n clr-ett lVlt(e.e 

:1vt7L4 SO /I\ cl 



279

Base Bid 
LCFD PRACTICE F ACJLITY 

tems 

II Qty UOM Description 

Lump Sum Base Bid ()rand Tot•I 

llem Notes: Ple;>'.Se submil Section 00410 Bid Schedule. 'J.. YY\Otlt»S I C..OYl c.utft,y)t-lv:) 
Supplier Notes: w/ fuJ?U <::- W O'{\l.5 

Item Attributes 
II Name 

Base Bid Gnnd Total Written in Words 

2 Total Material Cost lnoorporated in 
Project 

3 Total Material Cost lnoorporated in 
Project - Written in Words 

Note 
The conwct award will be based on 
the total bid prioe 

Respom .. -e 

(Required) 

4 Total Labor Cost Incorporated in ProJea s t.P1--, Oct) . ro 

s Total Labor Cost lncorpomed in Project 
- Written In Words 

00410 BID FORM - 2 



280

ADDENDUM #1 

INVITATION TO BID 

CITY OF CORINTH 

February 20, 2019 

Corinth Public Works & Lake Cities Fire Department 
Site Improvements 

BfD #1124 

PROPOSALS DUE: 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 28, 2019 2:00 PM CST 



281

ADDENDUM#1 

Addendum to be returned with Proposal 

Note: The time for submission of proposals has NOT been changed. 

The following additions, deletions, modifications, or clarifications shall be 
made to the appropriate sections of the referenced document and shall 
become part of the Contract Documents. Respondents shall acknowledge 
receipt of this Addendum by signing below and returning this Addendum with 
the Proposal. 

This form shall be signed and returned with your proposal. 

Name: 

Signature: 

Company: Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 

Title: President 

Date: 2/28/2019 

Page2of3 



282

The following are the responses to the questions received, which we have answered in 
red. 

1. The drawings show bypass girts, wanted to confirm what insulation is required? 

R-13 standard roll metal building Insulation 

2. What type of standing seam roof panel is required, and will it require a deck? If so, what type of 

decking? 

24 gauge standing seam. ($imilar to MBCI Lokseam or similar) No decking 

Please note: The deadline for questions of 10:00 AM, Wednesday, February 20, 2019 has 
passed. No further questions in regard to the specifications will be accepted. 

Page 3 of 3 



283

SECTION 00430 - BIi) HONI) 

STATllOFT!lXAS 
DENTON COUNTY 

§ 
§ KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE tRESIINTS: 

TIIAT S c hmoldt Construction. Inc 9 corpo,e1ion o,ganitt>d and exisling under lhe IOI\'$ of the State of Texas , and fuljy aulhoriied to 
cransae1 b"'incss in 1hc S1a1c ofTo.xo,;, whose od.dr«, is 7720 Schmoldt Way of the City of Ce Una County of Collin and 
SIOte or~.(hminaf1er ,.fertcd to •• "Prinoipel"), and Berkley Insurance Company (hereinet\e, ref.,,.d to "' "Sure1y" •• oorporation 
orsanit<d undor tho lows oflh• Slate<)( Delaware and authoriud under lhe law, of the Slat< of T"""' 10 act IIS SUttty on b<>nds ll>r priiu,ipet,, ore h¢1d tll>d 
finnly bound unto City • lhereinaller refernd 10 as "Owner") and unlo all persons, firms ond <O<J)Orolion, who may fum1Sh materials for or perfom, labor upon the 
b<Jildings, ,uuotures or improvements referred 10 in lhe anached Contract •• in the penal sum of Fjye Percent of lhe....Greatest £\lll.QUOI Bid • - • • • Dollm 
($ 5% GAB • • • • • • ·) in lawful money of the United Stales, for the paymenl whereof. !he said Principal and Surey bind 1hcn1>eh,.., and !heir hem,, admmistrators, 
oxcc,~ors, succes,ors, and a:solgns,jointly ond scvmlly, ~rmly by these pre,en1,: 
SIGNEI>, SEALED and 1M TW tbis..1filh._day of February 20 ___1L . • of Corinth 

WHEREAS. the Ptineil)Ql is hmwilb submining 11, propooal for B)D NO I 124 CITY Of CORINTH PIJBLIC WORKS AND LAKE CITIES FJRE DEPARTMENT 
SHE IMPROVcMENTS 
The oondition of t~c above obligations ere sucll 1ha1 if the aforesaid Principal shall be a,,.rded 1hc ContrsCI, the said Princlpol will, within the time required, enler into a 
Conrrac1 and gNe Bonds, if required, for the fl>ilhfUI performan« of the Contract and lhe prompt payment for labor and materials in the pro:seClltion !hereof. Own this 
obli~lion shall be null and void; olherwise the Prinoipal and Sur<:I)> will pay unto 1"' OIYN6R the full penal sum hereof, as liquidated damages, ii being dilliooh and 
impraccical lD de(ennine ao;uratoJy Cht acb.tal amount of dama,g~s occurrin~ to OWNER by reason of Princip~·s failure to c:Xt(:tltc: said Contract and Bonds. 
PROVIDED FURTHER. ~>at if any legal action be filed on this Bond, venue shall lie m Donlon County. r ..... 

The Resident Agent of the Surety for delivery of notice and service of process 1s: 
Nam•: Cagan Morgan 
Mdrcos-12400 con Rd Sujte 625 
·Phone Nu•nber. Danas, TX 75251 
J 

Win {k 
~~ian~~ 

PRINCIPAL 

Printed/Ty~ Name Cary P. Schmo! t 
Title: Presjdent 
company: Schmoldt Construction loc, 
Addre,s 7720 SchmoJdt Way 

Celina. TX 75009 

Ptinl<4ffype4Name

2:::s: ~ 
11t1e Attomey-ln-Fact 
company· Berkley Insurance Compan 
Addreos: 475 Steamboat Road 

Greenwich. CT 06830 

NOTE: CERTIFlt:D COPY OF POWl!:R·OF·ATTORNEl:' SHOUU) Bt: ATTACHI.O HERETO, 

\ 



284

POWER OP ATIORNEY 
BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY 

WILMINGTON, DBLAW ARB 

No.BI-56ld 

NOTICE: The warning found elsewhere in this l'owerof Attorney affects the validity thereof. Please review carefully. 

-o KNOW ALL tvffiN BY THESE PRESENTS, that BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY (the "Company"), a corporation duly 
I; organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, having its principal office in Greenwich, CT, ha$ m11de, constituted 
~ .,.; and appointed, and does by these presents make, constitute and appoint: Marc W. Boots, Vickie Lacy, Rlc/1ard <Avhtgtcm, Marla 
{l ·= D. Zuniga, Jo1epl1 R. A11lbert or Asllley Kolelar of McGriff, Se/bets & Willf1l1113, hie. dba McGrif/; Se/bels & Will/ams of Texas, 
~ ] Inc. of Houston, TX its true and lawful Attomey•in-Fact, to sig)t its name as surety only as delineated below and to execute, seal, 
~ ~ acknowledge and deliver any aod all bonds and undertakings, with the exception of Financial Guafanty Insurance, providing that no 
., ·:;; single obligation shall exceed Fifty Million and 001100 U.S. Dollars (U.S.$50,000,000.00), to the same extent as if such bonds 
] :: had been duly executed and acknowledged by the regularly elected officers of the Company at its principal office in their own .. "' :::: S proper persons. 
~~ 

§ ~ This Power of Attorney shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and govemed by, the laws of the State of Delaware, 
] it without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws thereof. This Power of Attorney is grauted pursuant to the following 
~ ;:; resolutions which were duly and validly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company held on Januazy 25, 2010: 
·- 0 ,.,-.., "' E <I 
0~ 

~ " '- :::, 
0 ~ .. "' 
" .!:I il: ,:: 
0 0 
C. ';: -~ ~ 

.,;; <; ~s .... 
] ~ 
:.0 "O 

:.2 
::!· 
a.. .= 
.!!! E 
~ ; ., . 
i;: -s .s 
g Ii. 
"" e 
f/; · -·:::: "O 
': C .... :, 

~ Si 
0->< ·- (,) f~ 
$ 4> 

RESOLVED, that, with respect to the Surety business written by Berldey Surety, tbe Chairman of the Board, ChiefBxecutive 
Officer, President or any Vice !'resident of the Company, in conjunction with the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary are 
hereby authorized to execute powers of attorney authorizing and qualifying the attorney-in-fact named therein to execute 
bonds, undertakings, recognizances, or other sureiyship obligations on behalf of the Company, and to affix the corporate seal 
of the Company to powers of attorney executed pursuant hereto; and said officers may remove any such attomey-in-f.act and 
revoke any power of attorney previously granted; and further 
RESOLVED, that such power of attorney limits the acts of those named therein to the bonds, undertakin~. recognizances, or 
other suretyship obligatiOTis specifically named therein, and they have 110 authority to bind the Company except in the manner 
and to the extent therein stated; and further 
RESOLVED, that such power of attorney revokes all previous powers issued on behalf of the attorney-in-fact named; and 
further 
RESOLVED, that the signature of any authorized officer and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any 
power of attorney or certification thereof authorizing the execution and delivery of any bond, undertaking, recognizance, or 
other suretyship obligation of the Company; and such signature and seal when so used shall have the same force and effect as 
though manually affixed. The Company may continue to use for the purposes herein stated the facsimile signature of any 
person or persons who shall have been such officer or officers of the Company, notwithstanding the fact that they may have 
oeased to be such at the time when such instruments shall be issued. 

JN WITNESS WHI!REOF, the Co)n~ny has cimsed these presents to be sign~d a~d attesleQ by Its ~pproprl3tt, officers and its 
~rporat\l seal he1·eu11t~ t1ffixed this ~!Nay of :io, ?- • 

- ..,: 

; ~ {Seal) 
i: "8 
0"' 

Attest: ~ Berkie Insurance CompRn. 

By-=--~~-it-..t:.....~~~~~ 
118. , f, e ·1111 

'i:; ~ Bxecutivo Vice President & Se~l'etllry 
:, .,:;, e ~ WARNING! THIS PO'WER INY ALID IF NOT PRINTED ON BLUE "lmRKLEY" SECURITY PAPER. 
Q. "' ! .E Sl'ATE OF CONNECTICUT) 
~ g ) ss: 
'§ _g COUNTYOFFAIRFIELD ) fo. 
"§ ,s Sworn to befol'e me, a Nofar.y Publlo In tho Stale of Co11necticut, this If day of ..::;J!l,!,<=~---,.,r::,,~:.!.f:-i 
~ lil nnd Scffi'ty. 1\1. liaf\c,1• who are s,y.oro to me to be the Executive Vice Pro • <;1 I ~ 
~ ~ respevtlvely, o.f 13@rkley tnsnrimce Comparti;II\RIA C. RUNOSAKEN 
<( "' IIIOTARY PUBLIC .. 
1 .2 MY COMMlSSION EXPIRES otary Public, State ofConnecticm 

(J :; APfllL 30 19 
Z ,~ . . . •i-lRfflllCATR - . ~ ), lht1 undersigned, Assistant Secretary of BERKLEY INSURANCE COMPANY, DO HSREBY CBRTIBY lhat the foregoing is a true, conect 
~ ,J aod complete topy of1he original Power of Attorney; that said Power of Attorney has not been revoked or reseioded and that the authority of the 
,:' £ Attorney-In-Fact set fonh 1herc:in, who executed the bond or undertaking to which tbfa Power of Attorney is attached, is in fuU force and effect as 

of this elate. 
(Seru) Given under my hand and seal of the Company, this --2.lkhday of ~:..~-9----

Vincent P. Forte 



285

) 
IMPORTANT NOTICE 

To obtain information or make a complaint: 

You may call Berkley Surety Group, LLC and its affiliates by 
telephone for information or to make a complaint: 

BERKLEY SURETY GROUP, LLC 

Please send all notices of claim on this bond to: 

Berkley Surety Group, LLC 
(866) 768-3534 

412 Mount Kemble Avenue, Suite 310N 
Morristown, NJ 07960 

Attn: Surety Claims Department 

You may contact the Texas Department of Insurance to obtain 
information on companies, coverages, rights or complaints at: 

1-800-252-3439 

You may write the Texas Department of Insurance: 

P. 0. Box 149104 
Austin, TX 78714-9104 

Fax; (512) 475-1771 
Web: http://www.tdi.state.tx.us 

E-mail: Cons umerProtection@tdi.state. tx. us 

PREMIUM OR CLAIM DISPUTES: 
Should you have a dispute concerning your premium or about a claim 
you should contact your agent or Berkley Surety Group, LLC first. If 

the dispute is not resolved, you may contact the Texas Department of 
Insurance. 

ATTACH THIS NOTICE TO YOUR BOND: 
This notice is for information only and does not become a part or 

condition of the attached document and is given to comply with Texas 
legal and regulatory requirements. 



286

SECTION 00530 • CHAPTER 2270 VERIFICATION 

I,,_,..c"'a..,cy,._._P~-..,.s ... c....,h...,m..,o .. 1 ... dt.._ ____________ , the undersigned representative of 
(PRINT NAME) 

Schmoldt Construction. Inc. 

(COMPANY} 

do hereby verify that the company named-above, under the provisions of Subtitle F, Title 10, 
Government Code Chapter 2270: 

I. Does not boycott Israel currently; and 

2 Will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract. 

Pursuant to Section 2270.001, Texas Government Code: 

l. "Boycott Israel" means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or 
othe1wise taking a11y action that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit 
commercial relations specljlcal/y with Israel, or with a person or entity doing business in Israel 
or in an Israeli-controlled territory, but does not include an action made for ordinary business 
purposes; and 

2. "Company" means a for-profit sole proprietorship, organization. association, 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, or any 
limited liability company, including a whol~v owned subsidia,y. majority-owned subsidiary, 
parent company or affiliate of those entities or business associations that exist to make a profit. 

2/28/2019 
S!GNA~ REPRES~ ATIVE DATE 

President 
TITLE 

REV 9/1/2017 



287

CONFLICT OF INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE FORM CIQ 
For vendor doing business with local governmental entity 

This questionnaire rellecls chan11es made lo the law by H.8. 23, 84tt> Leg., Regular Session. OFFICE USE ONLY 

This questionnal1e Is being 1i!ed In accordance with Chapter 176. Local Government Cod8, by a vendor who 
has a business relationship as dsfin8d by Section 176.001{1-a) with a local governmental entity and the 

Dau, Received 

venoor meets reQuirements under Section 176.006(a). 

By law this questionnaire must be filed with the records administrato, of the loc~I governmental ontity not lator 
than tho 7th business day after the date !he vendor bscom<>s aware of tacts that require the statement lo be 
filo<:t. See Section 176.006{a-1 ). Local Government Code. 

A vendor oommils an ollense ii the vendor knowingly violates Section 176.006, Local Government Code. An 
offense undGr thfs section is a misdemaanQt, 

.!J Name of vendor who has a business relationship with local governmental entity. 

NIA 
lRJ D Check this box if you are filing an update to a previously filed questionnaire. (The la.v requires that you file an updated 

completed questionnaire with the appropriate filing authorily not later than the 7th business day after the date on which 

NIA you became aware lhal the originally liled questionnaire was incomplete or rnacx:urate.) 

l!l Name of local government officer about whom the Information is being disclosed. 

Citt of Corinth 
Name of Ofllc&r 

w D&scribe each employment or other business relationship with the local government officer, or a family member of the 
ollicer, as described by Section 176.003(a)(2)(A). Also describe any family relationship with the local government officer. 
Complete subparts A and B for each employment or business relatio11ship described. Attach additional pages to I his Form 
CIO as necessary. 

NIA 

A. Is the local governmenl officer or a family member cl the officer recei>1in9 or likely to receive taxable income, 
other than inveslment income, from Iha vendor? 

NIA D Yes DNo 

B. Is the vendo, receiving or likely to receive taxable income, o1her than investment income, from or al the direction 
of the local government officer or a family member of the officer AND the taxable income is not received from the 
local governmenlal entity? 

NIA D Yes 0No 
~ Describe each employment or business relationship that lhe vendor named in Section 1 maintains with a corporation or 

other business entity with respect to which the local government officer serves as an officer or director, or holds an 
ownership interest of one percent or more. 

N/A 

~ 
Check lhis box if the vendor has given the local government officer 01 a family member of the officer one or moni gilts Nip as described tn SecliOt' '"'" ""3(a){2)(B). excluding gifts described in Seciion t 76.003{a-1 ). ---- (' '\ 

lIJ ( . .x )'\,.. / . \~. J"'-....... 2/28/2019 
Signature of vendor doing business wil!Nhe governmental &ntlly Date 

Form provided by Texas Elhics Commission www.6thics.s late. tx. us Revised 11/30/2015 



288

-e~· CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I DATE t,UNDOIYYYV) 

02/ZT/2019 

THIS CERTIACATE IS ISSUED AS A MATIER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED 8Y THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER($}, AUTHORl:l:EO 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLOER. 

IMPORTAN'r. If the e•ttlficat& hOlder le an ADDITIONAL INSURED, th& pollcy(l&S) must hav• ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 
If SUBROGATION IS WAl\11:0, subject to the terms ancl condition& of th& policy, certain polrcles n1ay require an endon,ement. A statement on 

........ - .. " '" '°'"'"'"" ....... ~. """" ••• ""il"""''""" PROOUCfR 
MCGRIFF, $E1BEU3 & IMLUMIS OF TE=, INC. 

-···· 7l:).877.ffi$ I fM N•' 71$-877-$974 61$ Town & Coonl,y Blvd. SUlta800 
Hoo.ion. TX 77024.alS49 

1NSU1tl9'(1Sl AFFOROING C:OV~AAGE HN/;f 

lffSUREl\A :Tho Continen1ol ln$ur•Bce C>moa-· 352/J& 
INSURe() INS:IJA.t:lt 8 :Vt!kl.u l=.nm& Cnt1.1tc11nce COmf'lanu 20603 S<:hmoldt Con111'101lon, Inc. 
7720 Schmoldt Wav lffSUR&RC: 
C•IM, TX 7S009 lffSURERI>: 

lffSURl;R E: 
WSlJRERF: 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBEA!EF7MTNQY REVISION NUMBER· 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE SEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED N"'MED ASOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOlWITHSTANDH,fO At<V REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WlTH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY 8E ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DE$CR18EO HEREll>I IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS. 
E><CLUSIONS ANO CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE SEEN REOIJCEO BY PAID CLAIMS-

'i.Tft• TYPEOFINS.URANCE POUCYNUMBER POUCYEFF ~ LIMIT& 
A X COMMERCIAL GEflERAL UABILITV ~045Jij1f>31 04/15/.2016 04116'.1019 1SF-RREt~E ' 

1,000,000 

I aAIMS4.<I\Dla I]] OOCUR . =a OCQ.lrrnnc;e\ ' 
100,000 

Ma:>exP"'•---one---" ' 
15,000 ,- 1,000,000 

Y- PERSONAi. & AfN IN.JUR'I ' 
CENL >.GGRE<lAlE UMlf APPUES PER: OENERA.1. AGGREGATe $ 2,000,000 R POUCI' [Kl ~~T D LOC PRODLICfS-OObFAJI> ,U:, $ 2,000,000 

OTHER: $ 

A AUTOMOBILE UABtUTV ~045781595 0411or,018 04/1512019 .il~e "'"' . 1.000.000 -X AtJV IJ.JfO 800ll Y l"-JUR'l ll'Ot P•"MI $ - a.\!IED ,- $0-IEOULEO 800!LY 1"-JURY ll'Ot ,c.;,CIOf'jJ $ - AUTOS ONLY 
i-, ~-OWEO ~Jl"MA.GE H .. ED $ 

AUTOS ONLY i-, AllTOSONLY - $ 

A X UMBRELLA LIAB 
~OCCUR 

~045781600 0411Sl20t8 0411512019 EACH OOCU<RENCE $ 10,000,000 - EXCES$LIAS CIA!Ms.MAC€ AOOREOATE $ 10,000,000 

DED I I RETEtmONS $ 

B 'NORKERS COMPENSAltON 0045781614 0411S/2018 04115/201$ X I _F.!e'.!3 ___ I fOJ!'· 
ANO eMPLOV!.R.$! LIA!IILIIY 
ANY PROPRIElORl'P.\R™E.RIEXECUll\lE YIN E LEACH ACC!OENT $ 1,000,000 
OFF(CER/"MEl.'8ER EXCWOEO? 0 I/IA 1,000,000 tM•nd•lory In HH} EL lllSEASE • EAEMPLO'IEE $ 
ff rs\ 4n¢111>< lmlf 
o SCRIPTION OF OP£RATIOl<S ••- E.L OlSEASE-POllCYU~T ' 

1.000,000 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

OE6(:f\lP1lON OF Ol=IEIU.tlON'$ /lQCATtON$1\IJ:f11CI.ES (ACORD 101. Addtllonal R:emuk• Sch•it.l!e, m.e,, b, •tf•~h$d W mor• •Pn• f• tequinlld) 
CE>r1i1ieale Hold&r la included oo an Addi1ional Insured, where required by written conlrecl on th~ Gener.al Liabm1y. Automobile llablllty, and Vmbrela Liability por,cle9. 
Waiver of Subrogation. where required by written contract. in favor of Calltrocate Holder ls Included on the Gen....,1 liabiily. Automobile Liability, Wlrkert Compensation 
and Umbrella Uabinly policies. Coverage is primary ond non-conl~bulofy es respeCls to the General Llsblllty, Automobile liablity and Umbrolle Liability poiciet e• roQ<iflld 
by written oontraCI. The Gene,al Liability policy Ajjgregeta limit is Per Project Addilional Insured. Waiw;r of Sub<o$J8Uon and Prima,y and non-oonttibuto,y wordin11 is 
llmltecl to the extent ot Ille policy terms, o»ndlllon~ and exdusions. Umbrela oovar~ss follow form. In th<! event of cal!OOllatlon ~y the insurance companies. the policies 
have been endof'9ed 10 pro"Ylde thirty (30) <1ay9· NOl!oe of CaneellaUon (exOll!)t for non-payment) to Iha certificate hold&< shown b.-liow. 

··~.RTIFICATE HOLDER 

City of CClrinlh 
1200 Nl)lth Corinth SI. 
Co<inth. TX 76208 

ACORD 25 {2016103) 

CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLie.!$ BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL 8E DELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH lHE POUCV PROVISIONS. 

/1.UTHOIUZEO REPRESENTAllVE 

Po~e 1 ot 1 © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 
The ACORD name and 1090 are registered marks of ACORD 



289

) 

I ) 

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Celina, Texas 

Reviewed Financial Statements 
for the year ended June 30, 2018 

ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN 
Certified Public Accountant 

1032 Chetford Drive 
Lexington, Kentucky 40509 



290

) 

CONTENTS 

Accountants' Review Report I - 2 

Financial Statements: 
k 

Balance Sheet 3 

Statement of Income and Retained Earnings 4 

Statement of Cash Flows 5 

Notes to Financial Statements 6-9 

Supplementary Schedule: 

Schedule of Contract Costs IO 

I ) 



291

1162 CHETFORD DRIVE 
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 
(859) 264-7147 
zumstc-in@windstr~m nrt 

ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 

Independent Accountant's Review Report 

To the Board of Directors 
Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Celina, Texas 75009 

MEMBER 
•AMlllUCAN INS1Tl'UTSOFCPA'S 
• KllNTIJCKY SOCIETY OP CPA'S 
•INDIANA SOCIETY OF CPA'S 
• AICP A DIVISION FOR FIRMS 

I have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Schmoldt Construction, Inc., which 
comprise the balance sheets as of June 30, 2018, and the related statements of income and retained 
earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A 
review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's financial data and making 
inquiries of company management. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective 
of which is the expression ofan opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, 
I do not express such an opinion. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Accountant's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance with Statements on Standards 
for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services 
Committee of the AICP A. Those standards require me to perform procedures to obtain limited 
assurance as a basis for reporting whether r am aware of any material modifications that should be 
made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. I believe that the t'esults of my procedures provide a 
reasonable basis for my conclusion. 

Accountant's Conclusion 

Based on my review, I am not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 
accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 



292

j 

) 

To the Board of Directors 
Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 

Other Matter 

My review was made primarily for the purpose of expressing a conclusion that there are no material 
modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order fur them to be in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The supplementary 
information included in the aooompanying Schedule of contract Costs is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has 
been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in the review of the basic financial 
statements and I did not become aware of any material modifications that should be made to such 
information. 

A~H.~ 
Alan M. Zumstein, CPA 
October 11, 2018 

2 



293

) 

Current Assets: 

Schmoldt Construclion, Inc. 
Balance Sheet, June 30, 2018 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable, no allowance 
Other receivables and advances 
Prepaid insurance and services 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 

Other Assets: 
Employee receivable 
Loan to shareholder 

Property and Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Work equipment 
Vehicles 

Less accumulated depreciation 

Total 

Liabilities and Stockholder's Equity 
Current Liabilities: 

Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Short term borrowings 
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 
Notes payable, current portion 

Long-Tenn Liabilities: 
Notes payable, less current portion 
Deferred income taxes 

Stockholders' Equity: 
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share: 

Class A voting; 1,000,000 shares authorized, 
250,000 issued and outstanding 

Paid-in capital 
Retained earnings 

$ 

$ 

$ 

280,257 
3,372,064 

64,048 
6,248 

'57,737 
3,780,354 

7,446 
79,495 
86,941 

141,892 
165,700 
339,694 
647,286 

(335,384) 
311 ,902 

4,179,197 

1,625,495 
29,512 

171,435 
10,381 
17,140 

1,853,963 

99,517 
173,885 
273,402 

1,000 
1,500 

2,049,332 
2,051,832 

Total $ 4,179.197 

St:e acwmpanying accountants' review report and notes. 
3 



294

' ) 

r, , 

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings 

for the year ended June 30, 2018 

Income from Construction: 
Revenues 
Costs of Construction 

Gross profit 

Operating Expenses: 
Advertising and promotions 
Auto expenses 
Bad debts 
Depreciation 
Insurance 
Legal and professional 
Meals and entertainment 
Miscellaneous 
Office, postage, and general conditions 
Utilities and telephone 
Printing 
Rent 
Rent - office equipment 
Salaries, payroll laxes, and related costs 
Repairs, maintenance and others 
Taxes and licenses 
Travel 

Total operating expenses 

Income from operations 

Other income and expenses: 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 

Net income before provision for income taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

Net Income 
Retained Earnings, beginning of period 
Retained Earnings, end of period 

See accompanying accountants' review report and notes. 
4 

$ 12,561,965 
11 ,171 ,937 

1,390,028 

$ 

14,054 
18,798 

76,900 
28,674 

179,869 
22,462 
9,135 

97,367 
57,597 
2,150 

22,100 
1,389 

546,550 
20,396 
35,683 
18,572 

I, 151,696 

238,332 

(22,S 12) 

{22,512) 

215,820 

24,017 

191,803 
1,857,529 
2,049,332 



295

,, 

\ 

' 

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended June 30, 2018 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
Net income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 

Depreciation 
Defer1-ed income taxes 
Costs nnd billings on uncompleted contracts 
Net change in current assets and liabilities: 

Receivables 
Employee advances and other 1-eceivables 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable 
Accrued taxes and expenses 

Net c11sh provided by operating activities 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Repayments from loan to shareholder 
Purchase of fixed assets 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 

Net cash provided by invesling activities 

Cash Plows ll'om Financing Activities; 
Additional notes payable 
Short term borrowings 
Lonn from shareholder 
Payments on notes payable 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash balances 
Cash and cnsh equiv11lents, beginning 
Cash and cash c<1uivalents, ending 

Supplemental c11sh flows infol'mation: 
Income taxes paid 
Interest paid on long term debt 

Sec accompanying accountants' review report and notes, 
5 

$ 

$ 

$ 191,80.3 

76.900 

(51,802) 

(998,753} 
7,200 

22 . .349 
642,261 

17,842 
(92,200) 

2,600 
(35,876) 

(33,276} 

171,435 

(27,098} 
144,337 

18,861 
261,396 
280,257 

24,017 
22.512 

I 

r 



296

J 

Sclunoldt Construction, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The summary <1f significant accounting policies for Schmoldt Construction, Inc. ("the Company") follows: 

Nature of Operations The Company is a licensed construction contractor in Texas, Louisiana, Tennessee, 
Indiana, Kentucky, Florida, Virginia, and Mississippi. The Company contracts for both commerdal and 
residential establishments and specializes in retail, restaurant, industrial, medical, and hospitality industries, 
using subcontractors to perfonn the majority of the work. 

Basis of Accounting The Company was organized in Texas as a corporation on March I I, 2002. The 
Company prepares its financial statements on the accroal basis of accounting. Under this basis of 
accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses recognized when incurred. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents Management considers cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. 

Revenue and Cost Recognition Revenue from construction contracts are recognized on the percentage-of
completion method, measured by the percentage of cost incurred to date to estimated total costs fur each 
contract. That method is used because management considers total co.st to be the best available measure of 
progress on the contracts. Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is at least reasonably 
possible that the estimates used will change within the near tenn. 

Contract costs include all direct material, labor, subcontractors, equipment costs, payroll taxes, insurance 
costs, and those indirect costs related to contract perfonnance, such as indirect labor, supplies, tools, repairs, 
and depreciation. Selling, general and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Provisions 
for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are detennined. 
Changes in job perfunnance, job conditions, estimated profitability, and warranty work, including those 
arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to costs and 
income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. 

Ccncentra/fons The Company maintains its cash balances in financial institutions. The balances are 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000. Balances exceed the FDIC 
insured limit at certain times of the month. 

The following accounts represented receivables in excess of I 0% of accounts receivable: 
2018 

City of Allen, Texas 
Gainesville Fanners Market 
Dirt Cheap Remodel / PEMB 
Dallas Housing Authority 
Teach Me Holdings, LLC 

$747,853 
433,760 
574,787 
507,965 

402,836 

Property a11d Equipment Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes. For income tax 
purposes, the accelerate<! method is used. furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 7 years, while otnce 
equipment and vehicles are depreciated over 5 years. Material cost of improvements to property and 
equipment are capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to expense when incu1Ted. 

6 

I 
L 



297

} 

} 

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements. 

Contingent Liabilities The Company extends a one-year wananty on workmanship and materials on all 
complete jobs. At June 30, 2018, management anticipates no material losses due to outstanding warranties. 

Advertising The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. 

Risk Management The Company is exposed to various forms of losses of assets associated with, but not 
limited to, fire, personal liability, theft, vehicular accidents, errors and omissions, fiduciary responsibility, 
workers compensation, etc. Each of these areas is covered through the purchase of commercial insurance. 

Income Taxes Tlte Company's federal tax returns for the years 2014 through 2018 are still open to audit 
by the IRS. Years 2012 through 2015 are open for audit for franchise tax purposes by the State of Texas. 
The State of Texas imposes a tax at the entity level of I% on gross margin. This tax provision is reported 
on the Income Statement as Franchise ta.les. The Company has adopted the ASC-740-10 guidance in 
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. For the year ending June 30, 2018, there are no accrued interest 
or penalties associated with uncertain tax positions. 

Comprehen:sive Income There are no items of comprehensive income to report. 

Subsequent Events Management has evaluated subsequent events through October I I, 2018, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued. There were no significant subsequent events to report. 

Note 2. Accounts Receivable 

Tra<le accounts receivables are recorded when invoices are issued and are presented on the balance sheet 
net of allowance for doubtful accounts. Receivables are written off when they are determined to be 
uncoltectible. Management estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts based on existing economic 
conditions in the industry and the financial stability of customers. The Company believes no allowance for 
doubtful accounts was necessary at June 30, 2018 as management fully expects to collect all amounts in 
accounts receivable. 

All of the trade accounts receivable as of June 30, 2018 were uncollateralized. Receivable balances more 
than 90 days past due was $1,202,464. No interest income has been accrued on outstanding balances. Trade 
accounts receivable at June 30, 20 I 8 consisted of the following; 

Receivables - trade 
Receivables - retainage 

7 

$2,142,178 
1,229,886 

$3,372.064 



298

l 

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 3. Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts 

The costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts are summarized as follows: 

Costs incurred to date 
Estimated earnings 

Less billings to date 

Included in the accompanying balance sheet are the following: 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 

Note 4. Line of Credit 

:ill.11 

$11,506,984 
818,905 

12,325,889 
12,278,533 

$47,156 

2018 

57,737 
(10,381) 

$47,356 

The Company has a line of credit with Texas Star Bank. Terms of the underlying credit agreement call for 
interest due monthly at the rate of 6.75%. The maximum credit limit, which matures May 19, 201 S, is 
$404,ISO. The amount outstanding at June 30, 2018 was $171,435. 

Note S. Notes Payable 

Notes payable consists of: 

Note secured by vehicle, principal and 0.0% interest due in monthly 
installments of $649, final payment due September 2018 

Note secured by vehicle, principal and 6.29%, interest due in monthly 
installments of $1, 190, final payment due December 2022 

Note secured by trailer, principal and 5.99% interest due in monthly 
installments of$593, final payment due December 203 I 

Less current portion 

Long tem1 portion 

8 

$2,595 

48,518 

65 544 

116,657 

17140 

$99,517 



299

Schmoldt Construction, Inc. 
Notes to financial Statements 

Note 5. Notes Payable, continued 

Annual maturities on long-term debt for the next five years are as follows: 

Note 6. Income Taus 

2019 

2020 
2021 

2022 
2023 

2020 and after 

$17,140 

14,87S 

15,832 

16,945 
15,208 

36.654 

$116,657 

Defcned income taJces are recorded to refle<:t the tax consequences in future years of differences between 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each year end. Such differences 
arise primarily due to the requirement co convert to the modified accrual method of accounting for tax 
purposes and the use of accelerated methods of depreciation. All deferred tax.es are non-current. Deferred 
taxes were immaterial for the current period. 

Note 7. Related Parly Transactions 

The Company leases office space from a related party under a month to month operating lease with 
minimum monthly payments of $2,000 per month. The Company paid $22,100 in rent for the year. 

The Company holds a note receivable at 0% interest from a shareholder with a balance of $79,495 as of 
June 30, 2018. This advance is being repaid through payroll deductions. 

Advances include $37,613 to companies owned by the owner of the Company. 

****** 

9 



300

COMPl.£l'£0 CONTRACTS 

Con~c• T(IW~ 

c""""' Oro~Profit .. .,. ... JobCSm a.a,,,\ 
17-04$ us,.:m 1.0l$,9'2 lJS.329 

1,0.000 54,34-5 SS,6SS 
W3..4lt ISl,987 SS.,31 

s 1.412.6&9 s I 226
1
214 s ~4lS 

COITTRACTS IN PROGRESS 

Coo.n::tToub 
~~td 

COl'ltt.uc e:ni:rr..11t4Joli Vt((,::!. .Pto'11 
Amount Costs (l.o,.,l 

Job 
17--039 1,$10,lS~ 1,134,"41 37S,,t8 
18--001 1.93 .. m 1.798.744 m:m 
lg.()08 2.710,000 2.SOI.UO U*,@ 
18--002 Ol2,,'19 ?1Q,11i ~iJ2f 
1$--0oll 91MTI S25.tS9 91,6.U 
18--044 812.SlJ 'm.m &9.2,0 
13-0'1 1,911,000 1.193.613 183.JZ! 
19-001 •u.1u 3S7.6*0 53,446 

S 17.234.527 S 1S.974iMS s 1.lSM"' 

SCHMOLDT CONSTRUCTION. INC. 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF CONTRACT COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 

Sin<:¢lnciee!:?on Affivit't' Prioc to Jul~ t. 2017 F« the Yc.v £ndc:dJt.1n. 30 MTS 

Ptofit R""""'" Orou .Pcotit R<,,,oou, =-· PttOCl'l~IS.:!; Biltin~ hn,ed Jd,o,,i, a:~i e.m.d lobC..., ~~l 
11.7% I.IS4,1ll $ $ 1.1s..m I.OIS,942 $ 1is.12.9 
SON/. $ s 110.000 $+..34' s SS,6SS 
24.6% s $ io ... ts l.S:.?.937 $ Ss,431 

s $ $ 
I.IS4,271 s s $ 1.472.ffi 1..226,11.1 246,4)5 

S.nci:: ln(.(:;e!ion A<tiviri; Priotto Ju!:J: l. 2017 For die Yur EtldcdJun<: 30.. lOlS 
R.tve(llr.$ 
Ee.med to fob Cc:.u (o R(.",'C"~ Gco~ Pror,t R""""" Gtwfr.il, 

D,1< ""· e.m.d Job CO$" t!:2~) - Job Cool.I ~ 

$ ~a.•1s •. ~'20 l.47'9.640 1.4:SO,ISI $ i9.4S9 5.478.975 S.178,369 300,606 
$ l,S$2,634 1.m.144 $ l,8&2.63, l,'1.3,144 IOl,$90 
$ 1.609.204 ,.-.m $ 1,609,204 l,4-U>,S9:2 16:2.612 
$ 12.;01 l~.n9 $ ll.311.l ll,l?9 <2~ol 
$ 916,511 825.189 $ 9\6.311 S2S,fS9 9l.6'1B 
$ 46S.120 41S)70 $ %.S.l~O •US,2.10 49.UO 
£ +33.1&0 :>:l6,9>.) s 433.780 lJ6,90J 196,SH 
$ 7 l.S1 $ l.161 Q.16!) 
$1~7~33 Sll

1
14519M $ l.47M40 s 1.•so.u1 s l94S9 s 10.m.tsJ $ 9.891.8}3 s 90).060 

l2-'7J.S,2 11.122,107 l,l4S.H) 

Add unallOCl:U'd CO!b .and WIii jo~ ?9(),)33 49830 24Q.SS3 

$12.S61.%S $11.111.~)? s 1~'90l.28 

Ste i'l'ldtpt.ndent accountants' n;:\!i<:w report. 

10 

Biltir$to Ui,&r 

Datt OvnBilli!::ic Sillit1e 

~.9SS,6l.S ,a.11s 
l,tU.634 !4,617 
1,609.z,» 7.239 

12.303 1,116 
9)6.8'1 
46:1,120 3.142 
'33.180 4..191 

t.?)S: 
! 11.2'18,.s3! $ 10.lSI $ S1138 



301

• Legal Name: Schmoldt Construction, Inc . 

• Authorized point of contact: Cary P. Schmoldt 

• Title: President 

• Email: ca ry@schmoldtconstruction.com 

• Phone: 972-382-8499 

• Fax: 972-382-8399 

• Number of years in business: 16 years 

• Type of Operation: Corporation 

• Number of employees: 15 

• Annual Sales volume: $15 Million 



302

Using due diligence at the beginning of the project reduces the potential for construction delays related 
to material procurement. We pride ourselves on taking the time at the beginning of each project to 
identify the longer lead time items. We work with the Owners and Architect to ensure the proper 
products are submitted and ordered in a timely manner. 

Our projects are integrated with PROCORE, a project management software with unlimited user 
licenses to customers. PROCORE houses and manages all RFl's, submittals, drawings and 
specifications in a single online location so they are always available and up to date. PROCORE 
reporting and dashboards give you the perfect canvas to see all of your information at once. Sharing 
with PROCORE streamlines communication, increases transparency, and helps ouir teams focus their 
efforts and resources more efficiently. Reports can be exported to a PDF or CSV file to be shared with 
project executives, owners, or anyone looking for summaries. 

PROCORE is a leading provider of cloud-based applications for construction. PROCO RE connects 
people, applications, and devices through a unified platform that helps us manage risk, build qual1ity 
projects, safely, on time and within budget. PROCORE has a diversified business model with products 
for Construction Project Management, Construction Financials, and Quality & Safety. 

Over the past 16 years, Schmoldt Construction has completed various types of projects to include; new 
construction builds, sports facilities, parks as well as extensive remodels/ renovations. Due to oUtr 
processes and procedures and proven results, we have been awarded Jobs by municipalities, even 
though we may have not been the low bidder. Schmoldt Construction, Inc., has never had a bond 
claim, never "not" finished a project, have never been asked to leave a project. 



303

Schmoldt Construction has a safety planning meeting bi-weekly with all subcontractors and workers 
involved in each project. Included in the meeting are general safety standards for all construction 
workers. All persons working on each project will observe applicable OSHA regulations as well as the 
following General Safety Standards for all Construction Workers: 

• Hard hats, in good condition, must be worn on the project. 
• Heavy-soled shoes or boots must be worn on the project. 
• No defective tool or equipment will be used. 
• Power-actuated tools will be used only by persons trained in their use. 
• The work area will be kept clean. Trash barrels will be provided, and all trash will be removed 

each day. 
• Safety glasses or face shields must be worn when chipping or grinding concrete or at any 

time the supervisor feels necessary. 
• Safety belts must be worn anytime a worker is in danger of falling more than four (4) feet and 
• is not protected by a safety net or guard and mid rails. The safety belt must be hooked onto a 

safety line or other acceptable means of anchoring the belt. 

These "General Safety Standards" for construction workers shall be regarded as Schmoldt Construction's 
minimum standards for operations on all projects. The project superintendent shall have the direct 
responsibility to administer the General Safety Standards at the job site and to ensure that every 
employee abides by the standards required. In the event an accident occurs, the project superintendent 
will be responsible for making a written report within 24 hours, on form E-1 for every accident that occurs 
on the job site. In addition, reports will be entered in the Daily Report and if applicable, the OSHA 200 
Log. 



304

An accident investigation report will be completed for accidents requiring medical 
treatment beyond normal first-aid treatment at the project and for near-miss accidents 
that could have caused serious injury. The superintendent will forward copies of all 
accident reports and information entered on the OSHA 200 for the safety officer. The 
superintendent will discuss the findings of each accident or near-miss at the bi
weekly safety meeting. 

At Schmoldt Construction, safety is of the upmost importance. Because of this, 
following are some of our requirements that we hold filed personal to: 

• Project safety inspections conducted by the Project Manager on a bi-weekly basis 
• Schmoldt Construction's safety manual is on every single jobsite/job trailer 
• Safety Orientation for all new hires 
• Subcontractors are held to all safety requirements per their contracts with Schmoldt 

Construction 
• We have worked very closely with our insurance agents to implement safety in the 

work place, Tool Box safety meetings, first aid procedures, Accident investigation, fire 
protection, and as stated before our new work orientations. 



305

Carv Schmoldt 
Senior Project Manage, 
Schmoldt Construction 

On Site/Off Sire 

Joshua Mccann 
Project Manager 

Schmoldt Construction 
On Site/Off Site 

I 

T 

Diana Collins 
Controller 

Schmoldt Construction 

---.:Off Site 

Harold Readmon 
Estimator 

Schmoldt Construction 
Off Site 

Shannon Ward 
SuperintendEmt 

Schmoldt Construction 
___ on Site 



306

Cary Schmoldt - President- Senior Project Manager, Schmoldt Construction 
Bringing more than 30 years of extensive commercial construction and management experience, Cary 
Schmoldt is a highly effective, fiscally conscious, and goal-driven executive who approaches each project with 
innovation, creative problem-solving, and measured risk-taking to produce consistently reliable and long
lasting results for his clients. 

For the last sixteen years, Cary has proven his professional leadership abilities in growing and managing his 
own multi-million-dollar commercial construction company in addition to building an extensive list of clients 
while maintaining trustworthiness, respect, and successful decision-making abilities. In serving as president of 
Schmoldt Construction, Cary has been responsible for directing all aspects of the company including project 
management, estimating, contract negotiation, pricing and obtaining permits, managing superintendents, 
subcontractors, and suppliers to insure quality control while adhering to architectural plans and specifications. 
Additionally, he has been instrumental in organizing schedules, budgets, and on-site project meetings 
including closeout and on-time project completion. 

Education 
Colorado State University/Construction Management 

Diana Collins- Controller, Schmoldt Construction 
With over 20 years of experience in accounting, in the construction industry, Diana is well versed in all aspects 
of accounting/office management. Duties range anywhere from contract administration, job costing, all AIA 
forms, in house and reviewed financials. Diana also helps with the day to day operations of compiling, issuing 
and tracking change orders, back charges, and sub contractor pay applications. Produces all accounting 
reports for day to day operations. 

At Schmoldl we are more like a family and we all take part where needed being team 
members to get the job done. 

Education 
Collin College/Accounting 



307

Josh Mccann - Project Manager, Schmoldt Construction 
Josh Mccann will be assisting Mr. Schmoldt in numerous project management 
responsibilities including but not limited to interviewing and selecting subcontractors, 
writing contracts and purchase orders for each definable feature of the project. He is 
highly adaptable to rapidly changing client specifications along the project life-cycle. 
Mr. Mccann will assist Mr. Schmoldt in conveying project progress reports to the 
design team and client while managing expectations with notable project makers. 

Louisiana State University/Construction Management 

Select Project Experience 
Intramural Sports Complex for University of Louisiana-Lafayette, Lafayette, LA. 

Hal Readmon - Estimator, Schmoldt Construction 
Mr. Readmon has over 40 years of Civil Engineering experience in all capacities of 
Pre-Construction, Estimating, Purchasing, Design and Project Management. Hal's 
expertise lies in his ability to fully comprehend every aspect of every project and to 
provide cost saving Value Engineering whenever possible. He is fully involved from 
beginning through closeout and capable of managing multiple projects with great 
detail while respecting the costs, schedule, and quality of work performed. 

Education 
Bachelor of Science, Civil Engineering 



308

Shannon Ward- Superintendent, Schmoldt Construction 
Mr. Wards construction management experience spans several years in North Texas 
leading teams of general contractors and laborers on large scale commercial projects. 
He is well-versed in preparing and interpreting graphs, charts, and maps to remain on 
time 
and on-budget with client deliverables while maintaining high standards with all 
service providers. 

Shannon just successfully turned over a $7 million dollar ball park facility for the City 
of Allen, that the owners and Mayor of the City couldn't be more proud of. 

Education 
University of Minnesota/Bachelor of Arts Organizations Communication 



309

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

DHA Multifamily Development 
Construction of 14 Section 8 apts_ 
Dallas, TX 
Dallas Housing Authority 
RPGA Design Group, Inc. 
$2,770,000 
86% 

Gainesville Farmers Market 
Demo&Construction of new Farmers Mckt 
Gainesville, TX 
City of Gainesville 
Kimley Horn. 
$1,977,000 
82%, 

Deaver Park Improvements 
Park Renovations 
Arlington, TX 
City of Arlington 
Jacobs Engineering 
$435,747.25 
85% 

Gainesville Fire Station #3 
New Construction of two bay fire station 
Gainesville. TX 
City of Gainesville 
EIKON 
$2,170,000.00 
7% 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent Complete: 

Flower Mound Police Station 
New 3,580sf training room & garage addition. 
Flower Moun('.ITX 
Town of Flower Mound 
Oxley Williams Tharp 
$1,525,000 
14% 

Name of Project: Flower Mound Central Fire Station - Phase 2 
Description: 7,900 sf renovation and 1,400sf newbldg add 
Location: Flower Moun~ TX 
Owner: Town of Flower Mound 
Architect: Oxley Williams Tharp 
Contract amount: $1,405,193 
Percent Complete: NTP Feb. 4, 2019 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

Name of Project: 
Description: 
Location: 
Owner: 
Architect: 
Contract amount: 
Percent complete: 

Irving Museum & Heritage Center 
Remodel & new construction of 16,SOOsf bldg. 
Irving, TX 
City of Irving 
Komatsu 
$1,352,859 
14% 

Flower Mound Fire Station No.7 
New Construction of Fire Station. 
Flower Mound, TX 
Town of Flower Mound 
BRW Architects 
$4,497,250.00 
NTP Feb. 18, 2019 



310

Watters Branch Park Phase II (Spirit Park) 

New Construction of a 75 Acre park which includes four softball/baseball fields, 
concession building, hike and bike trail nature trails, and playground. 
• Location: -Allen, TX Point of Contact: Matt McComb 
• Cost: - $7,510,359 Phone: 214-509-4721 
• Completion date: - October 2018 
• Construction time: - 395 days 



311

NAME OF PROJECT: Plum Creek Park 
OWNER: City Frisco 
POINT OF CONTACT: Brett Bergeron 
PHONE: 972-292-6516 
CONTRACT COST: $1,154,271.32 
PROJECTED COMPLETION DATE: 02-16-18 
DESCRIPTION: Park improvements include parking, multi-use court, playground, 
pavilion, open areas, site furnishings, concrete trails, and another miscellaneous park 
features as indicated on the drawings. 
Number Work Days Allowed: 150 
Extra Days Granted: 114 

Number Work Days used to date: 167 
Amount Liquidated Damages: 0 

NAME OF PROJECT: Carrollton Town Center/Pioneer Park 
OWNER: City of Carrollton 
POINT OF CONTACT: Tom Geier 
PHONE: 972-466-3200 
TOTAL CONTRACT COST: $860,963.40 
COMPLETION DATE: Feb 2016 
DESCRIPTION: Demo of existing site, and installation of concrete walkway, 
relocated brick walk, and Azek decking. Tree replacements, benches, lighting, 
landscape and irrigation 
Number Work Days Allowed: 260 
Extra Days Granted: 40 

Number Work Days Required: 300 
Amount Liquidated Damages: O 



312

NAME OF PROJECT: Lewisville Central Park Plaza 
OWNER: City of Lewisville 
POINT OF CONTACT: Bob Stoffels 
PHONE: 214-553-5778 
TOTAL CONTRACT COST: $722,031.49 
COMPLETION DATE: May 2016 
DESCRIPTION: Renovation and expansion of the existing restroom building, renovation to 
central pavilion veneer and stairs, renovation of 2 pavilion veneers and roofs, 
construction of concrete walkways, ramps, staircase, handrails, storm sewer, site 
electrical and plumbing, irrigation removal, landscape installation, concrete retaining walls. 
Number Work Days Allowed: 180 Number Work Days Required: 224 
Extra Days Granted: 44 Amount Liquidated Damages: O 



313

Name: 
Owners representative's name: 
Owners telephone: 
Architect: 
Architect telephone: 

Name: 
Owners representative's name: 
Owners telephone: 
Architect: 
Architect telephone: 

Name: 
Owners representative's name: 
Owners telephone: 
Architect: 
Architect telephone: 

Name: 
Owners representative's name: 
Owners telephone: 
Architect: 
Architect telephone: 

Name: 
Owners representative's name: 
Owners telephone: 
Architect: 

Architect telephone: 

--

Myers Park 
Bill Burke 
972-547-5300 
WA 
NIA 

City of Frisco 
Shannon Kelaher 
972-292-6500 
NIA 
NIA 

Ecolab Indiana 
Helena Jenkins 
469-778-3111 
Cri e 
317-844-6777 

Denton Movie Tavern 
Wayne Brown 
901-569-4402 
N/A 
NIA 

City of Allen 
Matt McComb 
214-509-4721 
GHLA lnc. 

817-801-7200 



314

Describe the general financial capability of the Respondent and attach a current financial statement and balance 
sheet. 

Schmoldt Construction has a bonding capacity of approx. 15 million single job and approx. 25 
million aggregate. 

Please see attached financial statements. 

Is your company currently for sale or involved in any transaction to expand or to become acquired by another 
business entity? If yes, please explain the impact both in organizational and directional terms. 

No 
Provide any details of all past or pending litigation or claims filed against your company arising out ofor in connection 
with your company's performance under a contract for construction management and/or construction seivices. 
Describe how such suit or claims were resolved. 

NIA 
Is your company currently in default on any loan agreement or financing agreement with any bank, financial 
institution, or other entity? If yes, specify date(s). details. circumstances. and prospects for resolution.No 

Does any relationship exist between your company and any of owner's officers, employees or Architect whether by 
relative, business associate, capital funding agreement or any other such kinship? If yes, please explain. 

No 
All insurance coverage that the firm has which would be applicable to the 
Work. 

Please see attached COi 
Jurisdictions in which your organization's partnership or trade name is filed. 

NIA 
Jurisdictions and trade categories in which your organization is legally 
qualified to do business. (Please indicate registration or license numbers) 

NIA 



315

• Excavation: 

• Concrete: 

• Site Utilities: 

• PEMB: 

• Mechanical & Plumbing: 

• Electrical: 

Tatum Excavating 

Schmoldt Construction. Inc. 

Tatum Excavating 

Red Dot 

Shirley Mechanical 

Southco Commerciai 



316

Thank you for your consideration 
Schmoldt Construction 



SECTION 00410 - BID SCHEDULE
BASE BID

CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY RENOVATION

100 T‐500 1 LS  $         3,800.00  $         3,800.00  $       10,138.00  $       10,138.00  $                   -   

201 N‐203 3.2 AC  $         1,210.00  $         3,872.00  $         2,531.25  $         8,100.00  $                   -   

202 N‐203.2 2280 CY  $                7.90  $       18,012.00  $              23.87  $       54,423.60  $                   -   

203 N‐203.5 1400 CY  $              27.00  $       37,800.00  $              21.85  $       30,590.00  $                   -   

204 N‐204.2 4545 SY  $                2.40  $       10,908.00  $                9.44  $       42,904.80  $                   -   

205 N‐204.6 4545 SY  $                1.00  $         4,545.00  $                2.00  $         9,090.00  $                   -   

300 N‐301.2 54 TON  $                   -    $                   -    $            159.25  $         8,599.50  $                   -   

301 N‐301.2 4076 SY  $                   -    $                   -    $                3.08  $       12,554.08  $                   -   

302 N‐301.5 108 SY  $                3.75  $            405.00  $              31.00  $         3,348.00  $                   -   

302 N‐301.5 3968 SY  $                8.00  $       31,744.00  $              19.28  $       76,503.04 

303 N‐303 108 SY  $            119.00  $       12,852.00  $              70.00  $         7,560.00  $                   -   

400 T‐496 60 LF  $              42.50  $         2,550.00  $              53.33  $         3,199.80  $                   -   

500 N‐501.6 570 LF  $              59.50  $       33,915.00  $              11.93  $         6,800.10  $                   -   

501 T‐506 60 LF  $              62.50  $         3,750.00  $              51.66  $         3,099.60  $                   -   

502 T‐506 60 LS  $              17.90  $         1,074.00  $              17.50  $         1,050.00  $                   -   

503 T‐506 50 LF  $                4.30  $            215.00  $              62.00  $         3,100.00  $                   -   

504 T‐506 50 LF  $                1.10  $              55.00  $              16.00  $            800.00  $                   -   

505 T‐506 167 SY  $              10.00  $         1,670.00  $              18.56  $         3,099.52  $                   -   

506 T‐506 167 SY  $                3.00  $            501.00  $                7.18  $         1,199.06  $                   -   

800 N‐801.1 1 MO  $         1,332.00  $         1,332.00  $         1,460.00  $         1,460.00  $                   -   

Total (Bid Items) 169,000.00$    287,619.10$   

Total (Base Bid) 169,000.00$    287,706.10$    210,000.00$   

Grand Total (PW Bldg & LCFD) 677,000.00$    732,462.22$    768,800.00$   

LCFD

BARRICADES, SIGNS AND TRAFFIC HANDLING

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT (REMOVE)

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT (INSTALL)

BIODEGRADABLE EROSION LOGS (REMOVE)

BIODEGRADABLE EROSION LOGS (INSTALL)

ROCK FILTER DAMS (REMOVE)

ROCK FILTER DAMS (INSTALL)(TY 3)

REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE

REMOVE STRUCTURE (PIPE)

ITEM NO. DIVISION
ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY
UNIT

DESCRIPTION WITH UNIT PRICES WRITTEN IN 

WORDS

MOBILIZATION

UNIT PRICE ($)

EXCAVATION (ROADWAY)

EMBANKMENT (NON‐STRUCTURE COMMON FILL)

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT (7")

FLEXIBLE SUBBASE OR BASE (CRUSHED 

STONE/CONCRETE) (6")

LIME TREATMENT (EXST MATL)(8")

FLEXIBLE SUBBASE OR BASE (CRUSHED 

STONE/CONCRETE)(13")

LIME

SITE PREPARATION

TOPSOIL

SEEDING TURFGRASS

MSB Constructors, Inc.

UNIT PRICE ($)
AMOUNT BID 

($)

Schmoldt Construction 308 Construction

UNIT PRICE ($)
AMOUNT BID 

($)

AMOUNT BID 

($)

 00410 BID SCHEDULE - 1317



SECTION 00410 - BID SCHEDULE
BASE BID

CITY OF CORINTH PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY RENOVATION

100 T‐500 1 LS  $       57,910.00  $       57,910.00  $       18,000.00  $       18,000.00  $                   -   

101 T‐104 201 SY  $              28.00  $         5,628.00  $              72.00  $       14,472.00  $                   -   

200 T‐506 1 LS  $       13,207.00  $       13,207.00  $         4,000.00  $         4,000.00  $                   -   

201 N‐203 1.5 AC  $         1,114.00  $         1,671.00  $         5,400.00  $         8,100.00  $                   -   

202 N‐203.2 1610 CY  $                8.40  $       13,524.00  $              34.00  $       54,740.00  $                   -   

203 N‐203.5 980 CY  $              35.25  $       34,545.00  $              31.00  $       30,380.00 

204 N‐204.2 40 SY  $                3.55  $            142.00  $            120.00  $         4,800.00  $                   -   

205 N‐204.6 40 SY  $                1.05  $              42.00  $            215.00  $         8,600.00  $                   -   

300 N‐301.5 1401 SY  $                9.00  $       12,609.00  $              45.68  $       63,997.68  $                   -   

300 N‐301.5 98 SY  $                3.00  $            294.00  $              40.82  $         4,000.36  $                   -   

301 N‐303 98 SY  $              42.00  $         4,116.00  $            126.53  $       12,399.94  $                   -   

302 N‐305.1 156 LF  $                6.50  $         1,014.00  $              20.51  $         3,199.56  $                   -   

303 N‐305.2 58 SY  $              30.50  $         1,769.00  $            117.25  $         6,800.50  $                   -   

400 T‐450 125 LF  $              89.00  $       11,125.00  $              21.40  $         2,675.00  $                   -   

401 T‐496 125 LF  $              35.00  $         4,375.00  $              27.20  $         3,400.00  $                   -   

402 T‐402 250 LF  $              23.50  $         5,875.00  $              56.40  $       14,100.00 

500 N‐500 1 EA  $       41,080.00  $       41,080.00  $       16,000.00  $       16,000.00 

600 T‐644 1 EA  $            485.00  $            485.00  $            960.00  $            960.00  $                   -   

601 T‐677 30 LF  $                3.50  $            105.00  $              13.66  $            409.80  $                   -   

800 N‐801.1 6 MO  $            591.00  $         3,546.00  $            243.43  $         1,460.58  $                   -   

801 N‐802.2 56 CY  $            845.00  $       47,320.00  $            190.00  $       10,640.00  $                   -   

802 N‐804.2 200 LF  $                0.60  $            120.00  $                3.05  $            610.00  $                   -   

803 N‐804.2 2 EA  $              89.00  $            178.00  $            212.50  $            425.00  $                   -   

900

See 

Architectu

ral Plans

1 EA  $     247,320.00  $     247,320.00  $     160,584.12  $     160,584.12  $                   -   

Total (Bid Items) 508,000.00$    444,754.54$   

Total (Base Bid) 508,000.00$    444,756.12$    558,800.00$   

Grand Total (PW Bldg & LCFD) 677,000.00$    732,462.22$    768,800.00$   

PW

Building

TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL

REMOVING CONCRETE

AMOUNT BID 

($)

MOBILIZATION

UNIT PRICE ($)

MSB Constructors, Inc.

UNIT PRICE ($)
AMOUNT BID 

($)

308 ConstructionSchmoldt Construction

UNIT PRICE ($)
AMOUNT BID 

($)

TOPSOIL

EXCAVATION

SITE PREPARATION

ITEM NO. DIVISION
ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY
UNIT

DESCRIPTION WITH UNIT PRICES WRITTEN IN 

WORDS

EMBANKMENT (LOW PLASTICITY SELECT FILL)

FLEXIBLE SUBBASE OR BASE (CRUSHED 

STONE/CONCRETE)(13")

SEEDING TURFGRASS

CONCRETE RETAINING WALLS

BARRICADES, SIGNS AND TRAFFIC HANDLING

ELIMINATING EXISTING PAVEMENT MARKINGS 

AND MARKERS

SMALL ROADSIDE SIGN ASSEMBLIES

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT (6")

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER

CONCRETE SIDEWALKS AND BARRIER FREE RAMPS

FLEXIBLE SUBBASE OR BASE (CRUSHED 

STONE/CONCRETE)(4")

TRENCH EXCAVATION PROTECTION

UNDERGROUND CONSTRUCTION & 

APPURTENANCES

NEW STORAGE BUILDING

PAINTING AND MARKING (SYMBOL)

PAINTING AND MARKING (SLD)

REMOVING STRUCTURES

RAILING

 00410 BID SCHEDULE - 1318



   
    BUSINESS ITEM    5.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Annual Audit
Submitted For: Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director 
Submitted By: Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Citizen Engagement & Proactive

Government

AGENDA ITEM
Accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, as
presented by Eide Bailly, LLP (formerly Davis Kinard & Co, PC).

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
The City Charter, in compliance with Chapter 103 of the Local Government Code requires an annual independent
audit. The audit of the City of Corinth's financial records for the year-ended September 30, 2018 was conducted
by Eide Bailly, LLP (formerly Davis, Kinard & Co, PC). The audit firm, in its third year as the City's independent
audit firm, issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements, stating that the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the City's financial position in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) was presented to the Citizen Finance Audit Committee on
Thursday, February 21, 2019.  Representatives from Eide Bailly, LLP will be present at the City Council meeting
to provide their opinion.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends accepting the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended September
30, 2018.

Attachments
CAFR Fiscal Year 2017-2018 

319



Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For Fiscal Year Ended
September 30, 2018

City of Corinth, Texas

320



CITY OF CORINTH, TX 

 
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Bob Hart 

City Manager 

 
 

Department of  

Finance & Administrative Services 
 

Lee Ann Bunselmeyer 

Director of Finance, Communication & Strategic Services 

 

Becky Buck, CPA 

Comptroller 

 

 
 

321



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS 

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 Page Exhibit/Table 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

 

Letter of Transmittal           1 

GFOA Certificate of Achievement          7 

Organizational Chart           8 

Elected and Appointed Officials          9 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report          11 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis          15 

 

Basic Financial Statements 

 

     Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

 Statement of Net Position          26 Exhibit A-1 

 Statement of Activities          28 Exhibit A-2 

     Fund Financial Statements: 

 Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds        30 Exhibit A-3 

 Reconciliation to the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 

  to Statement of Net Position        32 Exhibit A-4 

 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

  Fund Balances - Governmental Funds       34 Exhibit A-5 

 Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

  Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities    36 Exhibit A-6 

 Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds       38 Exhibit A-7 

 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 

  Fund Net Position – Enterprise Funds       40 Exhibit A-8 

 Statement of Cash Flows – Enterprise Funds       42 Exhibit A-9 

     Notes to the Financial Statements         44 

 

Required Supplementary Information: 

 

     Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund       70 Exhibit B-1 

     Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios -  

Texas Municipal Retirement System       71 Exhibit B-2 

     Schedule of Employer Contributions – Texas Municipal Retirement System    72 Exhibit B-3 

     Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios –  

Supplemental Death Benefits Plan                    73 Exhibit B-4 

     Notes to Required Supplementary Information        74 

 

Combining Statements and Budgetary Comparison Schedules as Supplementary Information: 

 

     Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds      78 Exhibit C-1 

     Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 

 in Fund Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds       79 Exhibit C-2 

 

Special Revenue Funds: 

 

     Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds      80 Exhibit C-3 

     Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

 Balances – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds       84 Exhibit C-4 

 

322



Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 

 

     Crime Control & Prevention Fund         88 Exhibit C-5 

     Street Maintenance Fund          89 Exhibit C-6 

     Hotel Motel Tax Fund           90 Exhibit C-7 

     Keep Corinth Beautiful Fund          91 Exhibit C-8 

     County Child Safety Fund          92 Exhibit C-9      

     Municipal Court Security Fund          93 Exhibit C-10 

     Municipal Court Technology Fund         94 Exhibit C-11 

     Police Confiscation Fund - State         95 Exhibit C-12 

     Parks Development Fund          96 Exhibit C-13 

     Community Park Improvement Fund         97 Exhibit C-14  

     Tree Mitigation Fund           98 Exhibit C-15 

     Roadway Impact Fee Fund          99 Exhibit C-16 

     Debt Service            100 Exhibit C-17 

           

Capital Projects Funds: 

 

     Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds      102 Exhibit C-18 

     Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in  

      Fund Balances – Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds       104 Exhibit C-19 

 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

 

Net Position by Component          108 Table D-1 

Expenses, Program Revenues, and Net (Expense)/Revenue      110 Table D-2 

General Revenues and Total Change in Net Position       112 Table D-3 

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds         114 Table D-4 

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds       116 Table D-5 

Tax Revenues by Source, Governmental Funds        118 Table D-6 

Assessed Values and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property     119 Table D-7 

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates        120 Table D-8 

Principal Property Tax Payers          121 Table D-9 

Property Tax Levies and Collections         122 Table D-10 

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates         123 Table D-11 

Taxable Sales By Category          124 Table D-12 

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type         126 Table D-13 

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding        127 Table D-14 

Legal Debt Margin Information          128 Table D-15 

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt       130 Table D-16 

Demographic and Economic Statistics         131 Table D-17 

Principal Employers           132 Table D-18 

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function/Program     133 Table D-19 

Operating Indicators by Function/Program        134 Table D-20 

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program        135 Table D-21 

323



INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

  

324



 
 
                3300 Corinth Parkway · Corinth, TX · 940.498.3200 

 
 
 
March 21, 2019 
 
Honorable Mayor, 
Members of the City Council 
and Citizens 
City of Corinth, Texas 
 
 
 
The City Manager and the Finance Division of the City of Corinth are pleased to submit the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report of the City of Corinth for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. The purpose of 
this report is to provide the council, staff, the citizens of Corinth and other interested parties with detailed 
information reflecting the City’s financial condition.  
 
This report satisfies §103.001 of the Texas Local Government Code and was conducted in accordance with 
Section 9.12 of the City Charter. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) consists of 
management's representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently, management assumes full 
responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in this report. To provide a 
reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the City has established a comprehensive 
internal control framework that is designed both to protect the City’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to 
compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City’s financial statements in conformity with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The cost of internal controls should not outweigh their 
benefits, the City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable, 
rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As 
management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and 
reliable in all material respects. 

The CAFR is organized into three sections: Introductory, Financial and Statistical. The Introductory section includes 
this transmittal letter, the City’s organization chart, and a list of principal officials. The Financial section includes the 
auditors’ report, Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), basic financial statements, required 
supplementary information, combining and individual fund financial statements and other supplemental information. 
The Statistical section includes selected financial and demographic information, generally presented on a multi-year 
basis. The information is presented in table format to assist the reader with a comparative analysis.  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the 
basic financial statements. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it. The City of Corinth’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent 
auditors. 

 
 
  

325



INDEPENDENT AUDIT 

The City of Corinth’s financial statements have been audited by Eide Bailly, LLP (formerly Davis Kinard & Co, PC), 
a firm of licensed certified public accountants. The goal of the independent auditor is to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements of the City of Corinth, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, are 
free from material misstatement.  The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent 
auditor concluded based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that 
the City of Corinth’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2018, are fairly presented in 
conformity with GAAP. The independent auditors’ report is presented as the first component in the financial section 
of this annual report. 

 

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 

The City of Corinth, which was incorporated in September 19, 1960, is located in the north central portion of Texas.  
This area of the state has proven to be one of the top growth areas in Texas and the United States. The City currently 
occupies a land area of 7.8 square miles. The City is empowered to levy a property tax on real property and certain 
personal property located within its boundaries. Corinth has operated under the council-manager form of 
government since May 6, 1999. This has become a popular form of government throughout the State of Texas. 
Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in the City Council consisting of the mayor and five other 
members. The City Council’s primary responsibilities include passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing 
boards and committees, and hiring both the City Manager and City Attorney. The City Manager is responsible for 
carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, overseeing the day-to-day operations of the 
government, and for appointing the heads of the various City departments. The City Council is elected on a non-
partisan, at-large basis. Council members serve two-year staggered terms, with three members elected on one of 
the two-year rotations, and the Mayor and two remaining members elected on the other two-year rotation. 

The City of Corinth provides a full range of municipal services including general government, public safety 
(police, animal control, fire, and EMS), streets, parks and recreation, planning and zoning, code enforcement, 
and water/wastewater and drainage utilities. Water/wastewater and drainage services are provided through 
the public works department, which functions, in essence, as a department of the City and, therefore, has been 
included as an integral part of the City’s financial statements.    
 
The City is focused on regional delivery of services by providing fire and EMS services to the Cities of Lake 
Dallas, Hickory Creek, and Shady Shores; and police services to the City of Shady Shores.  Corinth contracts 
with Lake Dallas to receive animal shelter services.  Jail services and public safety dispatch services are 
provided by Denton County through an interlocal contract.  The City also contracts with the City of Flower 
Mound for holding cell access related to class c misdemeanors.   
 
 
LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
Corinth’s location, straddling the I35E corridor in Denton County, is ideal for both businesses and residents 
many of whom commute north to Denton or south to Lewisville or Dallas. Corinth maintains a small-town feel 
while having the advantages of nearby metro areas.  
 
The city’s estimated population for 2018 is 21,320. This estimate is based on current trends from the Corinth 
Economic Development Department.  
 
The City of Corinth, as well as, the State of Texas, experienced economic growth compared to prior years.  
The overall Texas economy is still considered healthier than most of the country. Figures from the Texas 
Workforce Commission indicate a local unemployment rate (Denton County) of 2.9%. For the same period, 
Dallas County’s unemployment rate was 3.4%, the overall state of Texas rate was 3.7% and the nation’s rate, 
as a whole, was 3.7%.  
 

326



Corinth continues to rely heavily on property tax to support its continuing operations, with the City being 
approximately 85% residential.  Certified property values increased 10.58% for the 2018 tax year over the 
2017 certified value.  
 
Sales Tax Revenue, the second largest revenue source for the City’s General Fund, increased by $67,378 or  
5% over the prior year’s receipts. For fiscal year 2018-19, sales tax revenue is projected to increase to $1.6 
million. Primarily a residential community, Corinth relies on sales tax paid on utilities. All sales tax collections 
are reported by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. The City is continuing to work to increase its sales 
tax base with the Corinth Economic Development Corporation, which receives the proceeds from a ½ cent 
sales tax enacted in 2003. Corinth is currently focused on encouraging commercial development and providing 
the infrastructure required to support it. With the Interstate 35 expansion and growth in the DFW area, Corinth 
continues to draw interest from apartment, restaurant and commercial developers. 
 
 
MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
In April 2018, the City completed renovations to the new Public Safety Complex.  Sitting on approximately 6.08 
acres, the 32,000 square foot building was renovated into a Joint Public Safety Center for the Lake Cities Fire 
Administration and the Corinth Police Department.  The site also includes the addition of an 11,820 square 
foot fire station.  The Fire Department currently operates out of two fire stations that serves the communities 
of Corinth, Lake Dallas, Hickory Creek and Shady Shores. The new facilities are poised to meet the fire, rescue, 
emergency medical, and police services of our growing community.  
 
The City received notification in September 2018 of its approval of nine (9) firefighters through the Staffing for 
Adequate Fire and Emergency Response Grants (SAFER). The SAFER grant provides funding for the nine 
positions for three years.  The grant firefighter positions along with the reallocation of staffing from the other 
two stations will provide adequate staffing to open Fire House #3 in February 2019. 
 
The City is seeking legislation to permit Corinth to seek voter approval to partially fund the Fire Service through 
sales tax.    Should the proposed legislation pass and be signed by the governor, the earliest election date 
would be November 2019 for voters to consider such a district to assist in funding fire operations.  Existing 
sales tax authorizations for Crime Control & Prevention District, Economic Development Corporation and 
Street Maintenance would need to be partially reduced or eliminated to maintain the local sales tax ceiling of 
2% as provided by state statutes.   
 
The City developed a comprehensive strategic plan, “Embracing the Future, Corinth 2030” in 2018.  The 
Strategic Plan is an all-encompassing systematic approach that permits the current future Councils the ability 
to best allocate the resources entrusted by the citizens.  The plan is set to guide the City in determining where 
to focus the efforts of the City and form the basis of the annual budgeting process.  Additionally, the plan 
provides the ability to prioritize the actions that have to be taken in order to meet the overall goals that the City 
needs to fulfill in order to generate the results that the Citizens of Corinth expect and deserve.   
 
In March 2018, the Council approved plans for renovation of the 4,300 square foot Public Works building to 
include a new roof, HVAC upgrades, flooring, ceilings, fixtures, elevation for exterior of the building, secondary 
exit for the second floor of the building, and renovation of the existing floorplans to better serve staffing needs. 
The project also includes the addition of an 1,800 square-foot storage facility for vehicles and equipment, and 
site improvements consisting of drainage and paving for the Fire Department’s training facility adjacent to the 
Public Works Building. The total cost of project is estimated to be $1,395,000 and will be funded from 
Certificates of Obligation issued in August 2017.   
 
The City worked with the North Texas Council of Governments (NCTCOG) to conduct a flood plain survey 
along Lynchburg Creek.  The study results are currently under review by FEMA.  In the FY 2018-19 annual 
program of services, the City has reserved funds for a FEMA grant match to further provide flood mitigation to 
the properties along Lynchburg Creek.   
 
Corinth received a 3-Star community rating in the STAR Communities Leadership Program.  The STAR 
Community Rating System (STAR) is the nation’s leading comprehensive framework and certification program 

327



for evaluating local sustainability, encompassing economic, environmental, and social performance measures. 
This effort will assist the City in our effort to create a community strategic plan.   
 
Corinth also became a LEED Certified City.  LEED for Cities is a program from the U.S. Green Building Council 
(USGBC) that advances healthy, green and economically strong cities and communities. Corinth is one of the 
75 STAR certified cities and counties that has now joined the family of LEED for Cities and Communities. 
 
The City was one of thirteen cities recognized as a 2018 Certified Scenic City award recipient through the 
Scenic City Certification Program.  The certification program recognizes cities for their demonstrated 
commitment to high-quality scenic standards for public roadways and public spaces.  Corinth upgraded the 
existing certification status from bronze in 2014 to Silver in 2018.  
 
The City was designated “SolSmart Gold” from the national SolSmart program for making it faster, easier, and 
more affordable for homes and businesses to go solar.  The designation recognizes Corinth for taking bold 
steps to encourage solar energy growth and remove obstacles to solar development.  For companies looking 
to expand, a SolSmart Gold designation is a signal that Corinth is “open for solar business”. 
 
Corinth also participated in the pre-beta review of the Climate Ready Communities program through the Geos 
Institute. As the intensity and frequency of hurricanes, floods, droughts, wildfires, heat waves, and other 
climate-driven disturbances increase, local leaders around the country are realizing they need to build 
resilience to protect their communities. But many community leaders do not know where to start and they do 
not have funding to hire a high-priced consultant.  The pre-beta review helps local leaders build and integrate 
climate resilience in their communities into community planning processes.   
 
 
The Public Works Department was awarded the prestigious American Public Works Association (APWA) 
Accreditation designation.  The APWA Accreditation program recognizes public works agencies that go beyond 
the requirements of the management practices established nationally in the public works industry, as contained 
in the APWA Public Works Management Practices Manual.  The City of Corinth Public Works Department 
became the 144th agency in North America to be awarded Accreditation and the 11th agency in the State of 
Texas.  
 
Within the utility operations, the City adjusted utility rates to recover 60% of fixed costs in the base rate.  Work 
continues with the installation of an AMI metering system.  This will assist the City in our efforts to incorporate 
conservation strategies to reduce peak summer demand.  The City also launched a Water Conservation 
Incentive Program to encourage residents to purchase water-saving household devices. Preliminary 
engineering design has begun for the construction of an elevated water storage facility, anticipated in 2019-
20.   
 
Infrastructure is inextricably linked to the economic, social and environmental advancement of a community.  
In 2018, Corinth developed an Asset Management Plan (AMP) of the following asset classes:  road system, 
bridges & culverts, buildings, storm water system, water system, wastewater system, machinery & equipment 
and vehicles.  The asset classes analyzed in the plan had a valuation of over $618 million, of which the water 
system comprised of 35%.    Strategic asset management is critical in extracting the highest total value from 
public assets at the lowest lifecycle cost.   The AMP created a detail plan of the state of infrastructure and 
provided asset management and financial strategies designed to develop an advanced asset management 
program and mitigate long-term funding gaps.   
 
Transportation projects that support a high quality of life for our community while protecting and enhancing our 
local environments continue to be a priority.  Construction of Lake Sharon Boulevard extension to FM2499 is 
underway.  Under preliminary planning for the Lake Sharon Boulevard/Dobbs Road alignment.  Both projects 
are essential for long-term economic development efforts. 
 
 
LONG TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 
The FY 2017-18 budget was developed in context of long-term financial plans. The plans anticipate funding 
needs and available revenues and forecast methods for matching future revenue and expenses.  Plans have 

328



been developed for all the City’s major operating funds.  Each plan presents the fund over seven fiscal years: 
two previous years, the adopted “base year” budget and four projected years. There are several benefits to 
these plans. First, the plans give future Councils a valuable perspective when considering budgets within each 
plan’s five-year horizon. Second, the plans impart a measure of discipline on staff. The General fund long-term 
plan assumes that for fiscal years 2018-2022 the City’s property tax, sales tax, and all other revenues during 
the planning horizon will remain constant with conservative growth from 0% - 3%.  
 
The City of Corinth continues its focus on maintaining or increasing reserve balances for emergencies to 
provide stability and flexibility for the organization. The reserve requirement was established at a level of 20% 
of budgeted expenditures for the General Fund and 25% of budgeted expenditures for both the 
Water/Wastewater and the Storm Drainage Fund. For fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 the General 
Fund’s unassigned fund balance is $5,184,229, or 31% of annual budgeted expenditures. The unrestricted 
fund balance for the Water/Wastewater Fund is $4,336,837 or 35% of annual budgeted expenditures and the 
unrestricted fund balance for the Storm Drainage Fund is $722,993 or 100% of budgeted expenditures for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 
 
As a result of the recent national economic recession, bond rating agencies have increased their scrutiny on 
the financial stability of local governments. In June 2017, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services affirmed its “AA” 
rating on the City’s general obligation debt. The rating agency attributed their opinion to various factors 
surrounding the city’s financial stability, growth and financial policies and practices.  
 
 
BUDGETARY CONTROLS 
 
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. The budget is 
prepared by the City Manager and adopted by the City Council in accordance with policies and procedures 
established by State law, City Charter, and Council Ordinances. All departments of the City of Corinth are 
required to submit requests for appropriation to the City Manager based on a budget calendar issued annually.  
The City Manager uses these requests as the starting point for developing the proposed budget. The proposed 
budget is then presented to the City Council for review prior to approval and adoption. The City Council is 
required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget no later than September 
30, the close of the City’s fiscal year. The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, department (i.e., Public 
Works) and division (i.e., Parks & Recreation). Department Directors may make transfers of appropriations 
between divisions within a department. All transfers of appropriations between departments require the 
approval of the City Manager. Any changes to appropriations or transfers between funds require City Council 
approval. Budgetary comparison schedules are provided in this report in the required supplemental information 
subsection for the General Fund, and in the supplemental information subsection for other funds with legally 
adopted annual budgets. 
 
CASH MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PRACTICES 
 
Funds of the City are invested in accordance with all applicable Texas statutes, the City’s Investment Policy 
and any other approved, written administrative procedures. The five objectives of the City’s investment 
activities, in order of priority, are as follows: Safety – Preservation and Safety of Principal, Liquidity, 
Diversification, Market Rate-of-Return (Yield) and Public Trust. 
 
The Investment Policy is updated, reviewed and approved annually. The purpose of the Investment Policy is 
to set forth specific investment strategy guidelines for the City, in order to safeguard assets with a minimal 
amount of risk, while maintaining the necessary level of liquidity and maximizing the yield on investments.  
Accordingly, all of the City’s deposits are either insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
or are collateralized by governmental securities. The maturities of the investments range from 30 days to 36 
months, with an average maturity of approximately 183 days. On September 30, 2018, the annualized yield on 
investments was 1.38%, compared to 1.07% for the same period in 2017.  Funds available for investment at 
September 30, 2018 were $23.3 million, which is a decrease of $4.9 million from 2017.  The net decrease in 
portfolio balance is primarily due to the capital expenditures for the new Public Safety Facility, Fire House #3, 
and the Lake Sharon Road extension project.  
 
 

329



330



331

Government Finance Officers Association 

Certificate of 
Achievement 
for Excellence 

in Financial 
Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Corinth 

Texas 

For its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

for the Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 2017 

Executive Director/CEO 



Citizens of 
Corinth

Mayor & City 
Council

City Manager

Public Safety 
Fire

EMS/Support

Operations

Fire Marshal/ 
Emergency 

Management

Public Safety 
Police

Patrol

Investigations

Animal 

Control

Traffic

Public 
Relations

Planning & 
Community 

Development

Engineering

Permitting

Planning & 
Zoning

Code 
Enforcement

G.I.S.

Construction 
Inspections

Finance & 
Administrative 

Services

Accounting & 
Budget

Purchasing

Utility Billing

Municipal 
Court

Technology 
Services

Communication

Public Works

Water & 
Wastewater

Streets

Drainage

Parks & 
Recreation

Human 
Resources

Risk 
Management

City Secretary
Economic 

Development

City Attorney
Municipal

Judge

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
As of October 1, 2017

332



City of Corinth, Texas 
Elected and Appointed Officials 

 
 

Elected Officials: 
 

Bill Heidemann 
Mayor 

 
Sam Burke 

Mayor Pro Tem, Place I 
 

Scott Garber 
Council Place II 

 
Lowell Johnson 
Council Place III 

 
Tina Henderson 
Council Place IV 

 
Don Glockel 

Council Place V 
 
 

Appointed Officials: 
 

Bob Hart, City Manager 
 

Kim Pence, City Secretary 
 

Jason Alexander, Director of Economic Development 
 

Mike Alexander, Interim Chief of Police 
 

Lee Ann Bunselmeyer, Director of Finance, Communication and Strategic 
Services 

 
Cody Collier, Director of Public Works, Parks and Recreation, and Utility 

Operations 
 

Helen-Eve Liebman, Director of Planning and Development Services 
 

Michael Ross, Fire Chief 
 

Guadalupe Ruiz, Director of Human Resources 

333



This page intentionally left blank 

334



FINANCIAL SECTION 

  

335



336



What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
400 Pine St., Ste. 600  |  Abilene, TX 79601-5190  |  T 325.672.4000  |  TF 800.588.2525  |  F 325.672.7049  |  EOE

 

 

  
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Mayor and  
Members of the City Council 
City of Corinth, Texas 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Corinth, Texas (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Corinth, Texas as of September 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.

337



 

  

Change in Accounting Principle 
As discussed in Notes 4 and 11 to the financial statements, the City has adopted the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, 
which has resulted in a restatement of the net position as of October 1, 2017. Our opinions are not modified 
with respect to this matter. 
 
Restatement of Prior Period Financial Statements 
As discussed in Note 11 to the financial statements, certain errors in the 2017 financial statements related 
to allocation of net pension liability amounts to the discretely presented component unit and recognition of 
fire service revenues were noted during the current year.  Accordingly, amounts reported for beginning net 
position and fund balance have been restated in the 2018 financial statements to correct those errors.  Our 
opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplemental information be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements taken as a whole. 
The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, and 
statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 
financial statements.  
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them.

338



 

  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 6, 2019 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters.  The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
Abilene, Texas 
March 6, 2019 
 

339



This page intentionally left blank 

340



 
As management of the City of Corinth, (the “City”) we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative overview 
and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. The Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis is designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues, to provide an overview 
of the City ‘s financial activity, to identify changes in the City’s financial position and to identify any material deviations from 
the financial plan. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the accompanying 
Letter of Transmittal and the basic financial statements. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $70,716,331. 
 

 Total net position increased $1,831,565 from the prior year.   
  

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$14,077,113, a decrease of $8,088,633 in comparison with the prior year. This net decrease is due to the 
construction of capital projects.   Of the combined ending balances, $4,794,930 or 34% is available for spending 
within the City’s guidelines (unassigned fund balance). 

 

 The City’s unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $5,184,229 or 31% of total general fund expenditures. 
 

 Long term liabilities decreased to $43,250,588 during fiscal year 2018.  The decrease reflects the principal portion 
of debt payments. 

 
Management’s discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Corinth’s basic financial 
statements. The City’s financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other 
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. 
The basic financial statements include two types of statements that 
present different views of the City:    
    

 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that 
provide both long-term and short-term information about the City’s 
overall financial status. 

 

 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on 
individual parts of the City reporting operations in more detail than the 
government-wide statements. 

 

 The governmental funds statements tell how general governmental 
services were financed in the short term, as well as, what remains for 
future spending. 

 

 Proprietary fund statements offer short and long-term financial 
information about the activities the government operates like a 
business. 

 

 Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the financial 
relationships in which the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the 
benefit of others to whom the resources in question belong. 

 
  

Required Components of the City’s 
Annual Financial Report 

 

341



Figure 1 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the portion of the City government 
they cover and the types of information they contain. The remainder of this overview section of Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis explains the structure and contents of each of the statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide statements report information about the City as a 
whole using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.  

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City of Corinth’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the net difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of Corinth is improving 
or deteriorating. 

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during the most 
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items 
that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant 
portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City 
include public safety, fire services, community services, planning and community development, public works, city 
administration, finance and administrative services and debt service. The business-type activities are the water and 
wastewater utility fund, which includes contracted garbage collection services, and the storm water utility fund. 

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also a 
legally separate 
Economic Development 
Corporation as a 
component unit for which 
the City is financially 
accountable. Financial 
information for this 
component unit is 
reported separately from 
the financial information 
presented for the primary 
government itself.  

The government-wide 
financial statements can 
be found starting on page 
26 of this report.  
 
Fund financial 
statements. A fund is a 
grouping of related 
accounts that is used to 
maintain control over 
resources that have been 
segregated for specific 
activities or objectives. 
The City of Corinth, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related legal requirements. All the funds of the City can be divided into two categories: governmental funds 
and proprietary funds.  
 
Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 

Type of Statements Government-wide Governmental Proprietary Funds Fiduciary Funds

Scope

Entire City's government 

(except fiduciary funds) and 

the City's component units

The activities of the City 

that are not proprietary or 

fiduciary

Activities the City operates 

similar to private 

businesses or self 

insurance funds

Instances in which the City 

is the trustee or agent for 

someone else's resources

• Statement of net position • Balance sheet • Statement of net position
• Statement of fiduciary net 

position

• Statement of activities

• Statement of revenues, 

expenditures & changes in 

fund balance

• Statement of revenues, 

expenditures & changes in 

fund net position

• Statement of changes in 

fiduciary net position

• Statement of cash flows

Accounting basis and 

measurement focus

Accrual accounting and 

economic resources focus

Modified accrual 

accounting and current 

financial resources focus

Accrual accounting and 

economic resources focus

Accrual accounting and 

economic resources focus

Type of asset/liab ility 

information

All assets and liabilities, 

both financial and capital, 

short-term and long-term

Only assets expected to be 

used up and liabilities that 

come due during the year 

or soon thereafter; no 

capital assets included

All assets and liabilities, 

both financial and capital, 

short-term and long-term

All assets and liabilities, 

both financial and capital, 

short-term and long-term; 

may contain capital assets

Type of inflow/outflow 

information

All revenue and expenses 

during year, regardless of 

when cash is received or 

paid

Revenues for which cash 

is received or soon after 

the end of the year; 

expenditures when goods 

or services have been 

received and payment is 

due during the year or 

soon thereafter.

All revenue and expenses 

during year, regardless of 

when cash is received or 

paid

All revenue and expenses 

during year, regardless of 

when cash is received or 

paid

Figure 1. Major Feature of the City's Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Fund Statements

Required financial 

statements

342



statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, 
as well as, on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be 
useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is 
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand 
the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet 
and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a 
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City of Corinth reports twenty-one individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes 
in fund balances for the General Fund and Debt Service Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from 
the non-major governmental funds are combined into a single aggregated presentation. Fund data for the non-
major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The City of Corinth adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.  
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 30 – 36 of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds. The City of Corinth maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to report 
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City of 
Corinth uses two enterprise funds to account for its water and wastewater operations and for its storm water utility. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more 
detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Water and Wastewater Fund 
and the Storm Water Fund, both of which are considered to be major funds of the City.  
 
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of 
the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be 
found starting on page 44 of this report. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the case 
of the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by 
$70,716,331 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 

By far the largest portion of the City of Corinth’s net position ($58,492,275 or 83%) reflects its investment in capital 
assets (i.e., land, buildings, and infrastructure), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still 
outstanding. The City of Corinth uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequent ly, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Corinth’s investment in capital assets is reported 
net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other 
sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  

A portion of the City’s net position ($4,126,156 or 6%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position ($8,097,900 or 11%) 
may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. The City currently has $24,181,701 
available in cash and investments that may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors. At the end of the current fiscal year the City of Corinth is able to report positive balances in the 
government-wide as a whole and the business-type activities.   

 

 

343



City of Corinth’s Changes in Fund Balance. The City’s governmental funds decreased fund balance by 
$8,088,633. The decrease can be attributed to the use of funds in the 2016 and 2017 CO Funds for Capital 
Improvement Projects. Net position, as part of the government-wide reports, is reported on a full-accrual basis. The 
reconciliation between the overall increase to governmental fund balances and the $279,032 net increase to 
governmental activities net position illustrates the differences in reporting between the modified accrual basis used 
in the funds and full-accrual used at the government-wide level.  

The following are the most significant factors in the reconciliation: 
 

 Capital outlays are shown as expenditures in the fund financials statements, but they are shown as increases 
in capital assets in government-wide statements, 
 

 Repayment of bond principal and capital leases are an expenditure in the governmental funds but not an 
expense in the statement of activities. 

 
Exhibit A-6 on page 36 provides a detailed reconciliation between the statement of activities and the statement 
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances of governmental funds.  
 
Governmental Activities.  Public safety, community services, public works, and planning and community 
development account for 98% of the expenses for the governmental activities. City administration, finance and 
administrative services and interest on long-term debt account for the remaining 2% of total expenses. These expenses 
were funded by revenues collected from a variety of sources.  Property taxes produced $10,587,532 or 51%, Charges 
for services accounted for $4,626,596 or 22%, Sales tax received was $2,370,316 or 11%, Franchise taxes provided 
$1,120,653 or 5%, capital grants and contributions provided $1,266,428 or 6% and operating grants and contributions 
provided $277,286 or 1% for the governmental activities. The remaining 4% of revenue is made up of hotel occupancy 
tax, transfers, investment interest, other miscellaneous revenue and transfers. Figure 2 provides a graphic 
representation of the City’s expenses and any directly related revenues by source. 
 

 

 

 -

 2,000,000

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

 14,000,000

Public safety Community
services

Public works Planning and
community

development

City
administration

Finance and
administrative

services

Interest on
long-term

debt

Figure 2: Program Revenues v. Expenses

Revenues

344



 

Government-wide activities. As shown above, governmental activities decreased net position by $46,104 and 
business-type activities increased net position by $1,523,454. A detailed examination of all the elements 
affecting net position can be found in Table II. 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

ASSETS

Current and Other Assets 18,145,786$       28,470,801$ 11,646,171$ 7,391,889$   29,791,957$ 35,862,690$ 

Capital assets 57,879,132         53,273,570   31,233,795   32,097,958   89,112,927$ 85,371,528   

Total assets 76,024,918         81,744,371   42,879,966   39,489,847   118,904,884 121,234,218 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred loss from refunding 12,753               22,878         71,547         83,303         84,300         106,181       

Deferred outflows - pension 1,172,137          2,173,391     158,098       286,162       1,330,235     2,459,553     

Deferred outflows - OPEB 28,891               -                  3,613           -                  32,504         -                  

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,213,781          2,196,269     233,258       369,465       1,447,039     2,565,734     

LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities outstanding 31,765,567         38,247,084   11,485,021   10,035,416   43,250,588   48,282,500   

Other liabilities 3,008,515          4,265,620     1,627,584     1,476,589     4,636,099     5,742,209     

Total liabilities 34,774,082         42,512,704   13,112,605   11,512,005   47,886,687   54,024,709   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows - pension 1,556,429          473,645       192,476       62,618         1,748,905     536,263       

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,556,429          473,645       192,476       62,618         1,748,905     536,263       

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 35,039,143         35,025,019   23,453,132   23,133,935   58,492,275   58,158,954   

Restricted 2,830,975          2,600,794     1,295,181     1,127,099     4,126,156     3,727,893     

Unrestricted 3,038,070          3,328,479     5,059,830     4,023,655     8,097,900     7,352,134     

Total Net Position 40,908,188$       40,954,292$ 29,808,143$ 28,284,689$ 70,716,331$ 69,238,981$ 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

TABLE I

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenues:

Program revenues

Charges for services 4,626,596$   5,595,180$   13,871,517$ 12,059,785$ 18,498,113$ 17,654,965$ 

Operating grants and contributions 277,286       97,506         -              -              277,286       97,506         

Capital grants and contributions 1,266,428     1,630,239     937,813       2,997,195     2,204,241     4,627,434     

General revenues

Property taxes 10,587,532   10,629,143   -              -              10,587,532   10,629,143   

Sales taxes 2,370,316     2,253,805     -              -              2,370,316     2,253,805     

Franchise taxes 1,120,653     1,073,789     -              -              1,120,653     1,073,789     

Hotel taxes 61,181         77,673         -              -              61,181         77,673         

Miscellaneous 57,042         228,971       6,748           7,600           63,790         236,571       

Investment interest 251,014       204,231       94,664         43,692         345,678       247,923       

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 94,205         3,497           42,141         1,196           136,346       4,693           

Total Revenues 20,712,253   21,794,034   14,952,883   15,109,468   35,665,136   36,903,502   

Expenses:

Public safety 12,945,976   10,464,824   -              -              12,945,976   10,464,824   

Community services 1,511,542     1,533,030     -              -              1,511,542     1,533,030     

Public works 1,595,297     4,534,197     -              -              1,595,297     4,534,197     

Planning and community development 1,034,510     857,360       -              -              1,034,510     857,360       

City administration 2,128,443     1,940,255     -              -              2,128,443     1,940,255     

Finance and administrative services 886,880       888,324       -              -              886,880       888,324       

Interest on long-term debt 828,591       844,665       -              -              828,591       844,665       

Water and wastewater -              -              12,342,091   12,098,839   12,342,091   12,098,839   

Storm drainage -              -              560,241       517,412       560,241       517,412       

Total Expenses 20,931,239   21,062,655   12,902,332   12,616,251   33,833,571   33,678,906   

Increase (decrease) in net position 

before transfers, contributions and 

special items (218,986)      731,379       2,050,551     2,493,217     1,831,565     3,224,596     

Net transfers 498,018       678,980       (498,018)      (678,980)      -                  -                  

Increase (decrease) in net position 279,032       1,410,359     1,552,533     1,814,237     1,831,565     3,224,596     

Net postion - beginning 40,954,292   39,543,933   28,284,689   26,470,452   69,238,981   66,014,385   

Prior Period Adjustment (325,136)      -                  (29,079)        -                  (354,215)      -                  

Net position - ending 40,908,188$ 40,954,292$ 29,808,143$ 28,284,689$ 70,716,331$ 69,238,981$ 

TABLE II

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

345



Business-type Activities.  Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $1,552,533. Charges for 
Services is a major revenue source in both the Water/Wastewater Fund and the Storm Drainage Fund, producing 
$13,152,059 and $719,458, respectively, in revenue. Charges for services account for 93% of the revenue. 
Contributions of assets arising from new property development within the City, totaled $937,813 or 6% in revenue. Less 
than 1% of revenue is made up of investment interest and other miscellaneous revenue.  

Total revenue from water and wastewater sales and services was $13,152,059; associated operating costs of water, 
wastewater treatment, and operations and maintenance accounted for $12,342,091 of the total business-type expenses 
of $12,902,332. The remaining $560,241 in expenses for business-type activities is associated with the storm water 
utility. Storm water utility fees brought in $719,458 in revenue. The following chart (Figure 3) provides a graphic 
representation of the City’s business-type expenses and any directly related revenues by source. 

 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 
 
Governmental funds. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near -term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing 
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net 
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$14,077,113 a decrease of $8,088,633 in comparison with the prior year.  The net decrease in combined ending 
fund balance is due to the following: a net increase in the General Fund balance of $154,112, a net decrease in the 
Debt Service Fund of $91,487, a net increase of $527,285 in other governmental funds, a net decrease of $5,408,816 
in the 2016 CO Fund and a net decrease of $3,269,727 in the 2017 CO Fund. 
 
Of the combined total governmental fund balances of $14,077,113, $5,184,229 reflects the General Fund 
unassigned fund balance which is available for spending at the government’s discretion. The fund balance that is 
designated as restricted is not available for new spending due to debt service amounts, specific programs, and 
construction projects amounts to $299,194, $2,611,761 and $2,962,556, respectively. The fund balance that is 
designated as committed, $3,156,896 represents those amounts committed to liquidate contracts or 
encumbrances. The fund balance amount designated as non-spendable is for prepaid items, $17,981, and inventories, 
$233,795. 

 -

 2,000,000

 4,000,000

 6,000,000

 8,000,000

 10,000,000

 12,000,000

 14,000,000

 16,000,000

Water and wastewater
operations

Storm water utility Total

Figure 3: Program Revenues v. Expenses
Revenues Expenses

346



General Fund. The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Corinth. At the end of the current fiscal 
year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $5,184,229 while total fund balance reached $5,436,005. 
As a measure of the General Fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total 
fund balance to total fund expenditures for the fiscal year. Unassigned fund balance represents 33% of total 
General Fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 34% of that same amount. 

This year, in the General Fund, revenues were more than expected by a total of $204,148. Property Taxes, 
Franchise Fees, Development fees and permits, Police fees and permits, Donations and Miscellaneous Income 
were less than budget by $7,506, $7,574, $40,900, $6,292, $11,750 and $52,531, respectively. Sales Tax, Utility 
Fees, Traffic fines and forfeitures, Parks and recreation fees, Fire Services, Interest Income and Charges for 
Services were above budget by $178,786, $7,219, $17,366, $2,730, $36,710, $86,266, and $1,624, respectively. 
The City budgeted for no growth in fiscal year 2018. While revenues were over budget by $204,148, expenditures 
were under budget by $813,843. The net effect at year end was a increase of $154,112 of revenues over 
expenditures in the General Fund.   
 
Debt Service Fund. As part of the budgetary process, the government enacts a dedicated property tax for debt 
service each fiscal year. The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $299,194, all of which is restricted for 
the payment of debt service.  
 
2016 CO Fund. This fund is used to track revenues and expenditures related to the 2016 CO Debt Issuance.  
Funds were used for acquiring, improving and equipping a new Public Safety Facility for the Police and Fire 
Departments, constructing an elevated storage tank, facility renovations for City Hall and Fire House #2 as well as 
the Lake Sharon Road Extension.  
 
2017 CO Fund. This fund is used to track revenues and expenditures related to the 2017 CO Debt Issuance.  
Funds were used for acquiring, improving and equipping a new Public Safety Facility for the Police and Fire 
Departments, renovating a facility for the Public Works Department as well as the Lake Sharon Road Extension. 
 
Other Governmental Funds. The non-major governmental funds are the Crime Control and Prevention Fund, Street 
Maintenance Fund, Hotel-Motel Tax Fund, Keep Corinth Beautiful Fund, County Child Safety Fund, Special Revenue 
Funds, Municipal Court Security Fund, Municipal Court Technology Fund, Police Confiscation Fund – State, Parks 
Development Fund, Community Park Improvement Fund, Tree Mitigation Fund, Roadway Impact Fee Fund, 
Governmental Capital Projects Fund, Vehicle Replacement Fund, LCFD Vehicle & Equipment Replacement Fund, 
Technology Equipment Replacement Fund, Street Escrow Fund, 2007 CO Streets Fund, and Public Safety Property 
Fund.  Each of these funds is used to account for revenues and expenditures related to specific purposes.  
 

 The Corinth Crime Control and Prevention District is a special sales tax of $.0025 levied for crime control 
and prevention within the City. Sales tax collections were $35,110 more than budgeted, interest earnings 
were more than budgeted by $2,337 and expenditures were $68,754 less than budgeted.  Due to the 
positive variances in revenues and expenditures, actual fund balance increased $122,212. 
 

 The Street Maintenance Sales Tax fund accounts for the collection of a special sales tax of $.0025. Sales 
tax collections were more than budgeted by $41,304, interest earnings were more than budgeted by 
$8,451 and expenditures were less than budget by $357,502. These combined increased actual fund 
balance by $336,395. 

 
Proprietary funds.  The City of Corinth’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. The City maintains two enterprise funds, the Water and 
Wastewater fund and the Storm Water utility fund. 
 
Water and Wastewater fund assets of $37,767,277 and deferred outflows of resources of $206,670 exceeded liabilities 
of $11,647,602 and deferred inflows of resources of $175,808, reporting net position of $26,150,537. The net non-
operating revenues expenses were ($145,457) which included investment interest, debt service interest, miscellaneous 
income, as well as, the sale of aging and obsolete capital assets at auction.  The largest portion of the non-operating 
expenses was $276,933 of interest expense. Unrestricted net position for the Water and Wastewater fund increased 
from $3,029,211 in fiscal year 2017 to $4,336,837 for fiscal year 2018.  
 

347



Storm Water utility fund assets of $5,112,689 and deferred outflows of $26,588 exceeded liabilities of $1,256,589 and 
deferred inflows of resources of $16,668, leaving total net position of $3,657,606. Total net position decreased $93,271, 
unrestricted net position decreased from $994,444 to $722,993.  The storm water utility reported operating income of 
$203,923 in fiscal year 2018. Net non-operating revenues and expenses were ($32,629) which includes $11,987 in 
interest income, $90 in miscellaneous income, and $44,706 in interest expense.  
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
For fiscal year 2017-18, General Fund actual expenditures (including transfers) were $16,959,529 compared to the 
final budget of $17,773,372. The $813,843 expenditure variance was due to reduced costs of $422,055 for Public 
Safety, $87,619 in Planning and Community Development, $84,991 in Community Services, $81,464 in City 
Administration, $90,769 in Finance and Administrative Services, and $46,945 in Public Works. Actual revenue 
(including transfers) was $17,113,641 compared to the final budget of $16,909,493. Of the $204,148 revenue 
variance, approximately $178,786 was for increased sales tax collection, and $86,266 was due to increased interest 
income.  
 

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital assets. The City of Corinth’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities 
as of September 30, 2018, amounts to $89,122,927 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital 
assets includes land, buildings and system improvements, machinery and equipment, park facilities and 
infrastructure. The total change in the City’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year represents 
purchases, retirements, construction in progress for infrastructure and transfers and adjustments. 

 

 

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial statements on page 53. 
 
Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total bonded debt outstanding of $31,735,004 consisting 
of General Obligation Bonds and Certificates of Obligation. Debt can be reallocated among the Governmental and 
Business-Type Activities to reflect the amount of outstanding debt related to capital projects.  All debt payments were made 
when due. Total debt payments equaled $2,294,996. Total outstanding debt decreased by $2,459,317 in fiscal year 2018 
due to payment of debt principal (see Note 6). 

 

Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in this report in the notes to the financial statements on 
page 57.  

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Land 6,129,106$    2,595,762$    524,330$      524,330$      6,653,436$    3,120,092$    

CIP 2,904,037     9,287,274     499,473        34,750          3,403,510     9,322,024     

Buildings 14,436,732    4,100,547     91,051          97,617          14,527,783    4,198,164     

Machinery and equipment 4,670,689     4,739,365     340,887        345,634        5,011,576     5,084,999     

Infrastructure 29,738,568    32,550,622    29,778,054    31,095,626    59,516,622    63,646,248    

Total capital assets 57,879,132$  53,273,570$  31,233,795$  32,097,957$  89,112,927$  85,371,527$  

TABLE III

CAPITAL ASSETS AT YEAR-END

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities TOTAL

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

General Obligation Bonds 6,663,408$    7,809,874$    6,801,595$    7,885,126$    13,465,003$  15,695,000$  

Certificates of Obligation 15,470,001    18,335,001    2,800,000     -                   18,270,001    18,335,001    

Capital Lease Obligation 1,217,298     1,381,618     -                   -                   1,217,298     1,381,618     

Total outstanding debt 23,350,707$  27,526,493$  9,601,595$    7,885,126$    32,952,302$  35,411,619$  

TABLE IV

OUTSTANDING DEBT AT YEAR-END

TOTALBusiness-Type ActivitiesGovernmental Activities

348



Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc. has given the City’s General Obligation Bond and the Certificates of Obligation a rating of 
“AA2”.  Standard and Poor’s Corporation has given both the City’s General Obligation and Certificates of Obligation an 
“AA” rating.  The City is permitted by Article XI. Section 5 of the State of Texas Constitution to levy taxes up to $2.50 per 
$100 of assessed valuation for general governmental services including the payment of principal and interest on general 
obligation long-term debt.  The current ratio of tax-supported debt to certified assessed value of all taxable property is 43.40 
percent. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
The City continues to rely heavily on property tax to support its continuing operations.  Certified property values 
increased 10.58% for the 2018 tax year over the 2017 certified value.   Sales tax, the second largest revenue source 
for the General Fund during FY 2017-18 also increased by 5% over the prior year’s receipts.  All other revenues held 
firm. The City received notification in September 2018 of its approval of nine (9) firefighters through the Staffing for 
Adequate Fire and Emergency Response Grants (SAFER). The SAFER grant provides funding for the nine positions 
for three years.  The grant firefighter positions along with the reallocation of staffing from the other two stations will 
provide adequate staffing to open Fire House no. 3 in February 2019. The City is seeking legislation to permit Corinth 
to seek voter approval to partially fund the Fire Service through sales tax.    Should the proposed legislation pass and 
be signed by the governor, the earliest election date would be November 2019 for voters to consider such a district 
to assist in funding fire operations.   
 
The City Council approved a tax rate of $.53686 for fiscal year 2018. General operations and maintenance will 
receive $.42791 of the total and the remaining $.10895 will fund long-term debt of the City which includes the new 
Public Safety Facility, Fire House no. 3, and street improvements. 
 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an interest in the 
government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to the Director of Finance, City of Corinth, 3300 Corinth Parkway, Corinth, 
Texas, 76208. 

349



This page intentionally left blank 

350



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

351



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 
 
 
 
 

Component 
Unit

Corinth
Economic

Governmental  Business-Type Development
Activitites Activities Total Corporation

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,510,104$      3,358,708$          7,868,812$      298,872$         
Investments 9,928,003        6,384,886            16,312,889      3,516,285        
Receivables (net of allowance)

Accounts 3,455,903        1,780,262            5,236,165        162,492           
Inventories 233,795           122,315               356,110           -                       
Prepaid items 17,981             -                           17,981             -                       
Capital assets not being 

depreciated
Land 6,129,106        524,330               6,653,436        -                       
Construction in progress 2,904,037        499,473               3,403,510        -                       

Capital assets (net of 
accumulated depreciation)
Buildings 14,436,732      91,051                 14,527,783      -                       
Machinery and equipment 4,670,689        340,887               5,011,576        -                       
Infrastructure 29,738,568      29,778,054          59,516,622      -                       

Total assets 76,024,918      42,879,966          118,904,884    3,977,649        

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred loss from refunding 12,753             71,547                 84,300             -                       
Deferred outflows - pension 1,172,137        158,098               1,330,235        14,413             
Deferred outflows - OPEB 28,891             3,613                   32,504             364                  

Total deferred
outflows of 
resources 1,213,781        233,258               1,447,039        14,777             

Liabilities
Accounts payable 403,664           886,286               1,289,950        1,952               
Accrued liabilities 368,236           58,486                 426,722           4,468               
Accrued interest payable 117,535           55,207                 172,742           -                       
Municipal court bonds 7,790               -                           7,790               -                       
Customer meter deposits -                       627,605               627,605           -                       
Other liabilities 2,077,627        -                           2,077,627        -                       
Unearned revenues 33,663             -                           33,663             -                       
Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 1,805,016        1,166,504            2,971,520        8,236               
Due in more than 

one year 29,960,551      10,318,517          40,279,068      61,405             
Total liabilities 34,774,082      13,112,605          47,886,687      76,061             

Primary Government

 
 

352



 

   

City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A-1) 

September 30, 2018 
 
 

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows - pension 1,556,429        192,476               1,748,905        19,664             

Total deferred inflows 
of resources 1,556,429        192,476               1,748,905        19,664             

Net Position
Net investment in 

capital assets 35,039,143      23,453,132          58,492,275      -                       
Restricted for 

capital projects -                       1,295,181            1,295,181        -                       
Restricted for 

specific programs 2,611,761        -                           2,611,761        -                       
Restricted for debt service 219,214           -                           219,214           -                       
Restricted for 

economic development -                       -                           -                       3,896,701        
Unrestricted 3,038,070        5,059,830            8,097,900        -                       

Total net position 40,908,188$    29,808,143$        70,716,331$    3,896,701$      

 

353



 
 

 
 
 

Expenses

Charges for 

Services

Operating 

Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 

and 

Contributions

Primary Government

Governmental activities

Public safety 12,945,976$    3,351,543$    10,709$        -$                    

Community services 1,511,542        234,622         56,018          -                      

Public works 1,595,297        207,711         -                    1,266,428        

Planning and community development 1,034,510        749,678         -                    -                      

City administration 2,128,443        83,042           210,559        -                      

Finance and administrative

services 886,880           -                    -                    -                      

Interest on 

long-term debt 828,591           -                    -                    -                      

Total governmental

activities 20,931,239      4,626,596      277,286        1,266,428        

Business-type activities

Water and sewer 12,342,091      13,152,059    -                    827,903           

Storm drainage 560,241           719,458         -                    109,910           

Total business-type

activities 12,902,332      13,871,517    -                    937,813           

Total primary 

government 33,833,571      18,498,113    277,286        2,204,241        

Component Unit

Corinth Economic

Development 

Corporation 484,085$         -$                  -$                  -$                    

General Revenues

Taxes

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise taxes

Hotel occupancy tax

Investment income

Other income (expense)

Gain on sale of capital assets

Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position

Net position, beginning

Prior period adjustments

Beginning net position, as restated

Net position, ending

Program Revenue

354



City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Activities (Exhibit A-2) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Component

Unit

Governmental 

Activities

Business-type 

Activities Total

Corinth 

Economic 

Development 

Corporation

(9,583,724)$     -$                     (9,583,724)$     

(1,220,902)       -                       (1,220,902)       

(121,158)          -                       (121,158)          

(284,832)          -                       (284,832)          

(1,834,842)       -                       (1,834,842)       

(886,880)          -                       (886,880)          

(828,591)          -                       (828,591)          

(14,760,929)     -                       (14,760,929)     

-                       1,637,871        1,637,871        

-                       269,127           269,127           

-                       1,906,998        1,906,998        

(14,760,929)     1,906,998        (12,853,931)     

(484,085)$        

10,587,532      -                       10,587,532      -                       

2,370,316        -                       2,370,316        796,002           

1,120,653        -                       1,120,653        -                       

61,181             -                       61,181             -                       

251,014           94,664             345,678           48,458             

57,042             6,748               63,790             -                       

94,205             42,141             136,346           -                       

498,018           (498,018)          -                       -                       

15,039,961      (354,465)          14,685,496      844,460           

279,032           1,552,533        1,831,565        360,375           

40,954,292      28,284,689      69,238,981      3,603,623        

(325,136)          (29,079)            (354,215)          (67,297)            

40,629,156      28,255,610      68,884,766      3,536,326        

40,908,188$    29,808,143$    70,716,331$    3,896,701$      

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

355



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Debt 2016 CO
General Service Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 248,612$         7,209$             175,617$         
Investments 4,900,198        291,914           1,200,000
Receivables (net of allowance)

Property taxes 92,176             27,738             -                       
Sales taxes 299,301           -                       -                       
Accounts 65,218             9,243               -                       
Interest 19,082             -                       1,201               
Warrants 1,981,077        -                       -                       
Ambulance 299,571           -                       -                       
Miscellaneous 409,366           -                       -                       
Due from other

governments 2,533               645                  -                       
 Inventories 233,795           -                       -                       
 Prepaid items 17,981             -                       -                       

Total assets 8,568,910$      336,749$         1,376,818$      

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 218,412$         -$                     116,785$         
Accrued liabilities 362,806           -                       -                       
Municipal court bonds 7,790               -                       -                       
Other liabilities 1,377,596        -                       -                       
Unearned revenue 26,163             -                       -                       

Total liabilities 1,992,767        -                       116,785           

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue 1,140,138        37,555             -                       

Total deferred inflows
of resources 1,140,138        37,555             -                       

Fund Balances
Nonspendable 251,776           -                       -                       
Restricted -                       299,194           1,260,033        
Committed -                       -                       -                       
Unassigned 5,184,229        -                       -                       

Total fund balances 5,436,005        299,194           1,260,033        
Total liabilites, 

deferred inflows of
resources, and
fund balances 8,568,910$      336,749$         1,376,818$      

356



 

    

City of Corinth, Texas 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds (Exhibit A-3) 

September 30, 2018 

 
 

Other Total
2017 CO Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds

819,115$         3,259,551$      4,510,104$      
921,630           2,614,261        9,928,003        

-                       -                       119,914           
-                       140,375           439,676           

9,706               -                       84,167             
1,078 6,893               28,254             

-                       -                       1,981,077        
-                       -                       299,571           
-                       90,700             500,066           

-                       -                       3,178               
-                       -                       233,795           
-                       -                       17,981             

1,751,529$      6,111,780$      18,145,786$    

49,006$           19,461$           403,664$         
-                       5,430               368,236           
-                       -                       7,790               
-                       700,031           2,077,627        
-                       7,500               33,663             

49,006             732,422           2,890,980        

-                       -                       1,177,693        

-                       -                       1,177,693        

-                       -                       251,776           
1,702,523        2,611,761        5,873,511        

-                       3,156,896        3,156,896        
-                       (389,299)          4,794,930        

1,702,523        5,379,358        14,077,113      

1,751,529$      6,111,780$      18,145,786$    

 

357



City of Corinth, Texas 
Reconciliation to the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A-4) 

September 30, 2018 
 
 

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 14,077,113$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and 

therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. 57,879,132      

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not 

reported in the governmental funds.  As a result, these liabilities decrease net position:

Capital leases payable (1,217,298)       

Bonds payable (24,598,000)     

Accrued compensated absences (959,865)          

Deferred loss on bond refunding is not included in the governmental funds but is

 deferred and amortized in the government wide statements. 12,753             

Payables for bond interest which are not due in the current period are not reported in 

the fund financial statements but are included in the statement of net position.  

This results in a decrease in net position. (117,535)          

Included in liabilities is the recognition of the City's net pension liability in the 

amount of $4,708,773, a deferred inflow of resources of $1,556,429 and a deferred

outflow of resources of $1,172,137.  This results in a decrease in net position. (5,093,065)       

Included in liabilities is the recognition of the City's net OPEB liability in the 

amount of $281,631 and a deferred outflow of resources of $28,891.  

This results in a decrease in net position. (252,740)          

Other adjustments are necessary to convert from the modified accrual basis of 

accounting to the accrual basis of accounting.  Net property taxes receivable of 

$124,486, net fines, fees and court costs receivable of $687,605, net fees for

ambulance receivables of $299,571 and net receivables for other items of $66,031

were unavailable to pay for the current period expenditures and are deferred inflows 

in the governmental funds but are recognized as revenue in the government wide

statements.  This results in an increase in net position. 1,177,693        

Net Position of Governmental Activities 40,908,188$    

 

358



This page intentionally left blank 

359



 
 

 
 
 

Debt 2016 CO

General Service Fund

Revenues

Taxes   

Property 8,407,599$      2,141,177$      -$                     

Sales 1,609,767        -                       -                       

Hotel occupancy tax -                       -                       -                       

Franchise 1,120,653        -                       -                       

Escrow and impact fees -                       -                       -                       

Utility fees 24,719             -                       -                       

Traffic fines and forfeitures 722,634           -                       -                       

Development fees and 

permits 710,434           -                       -                       

Police fees and permits 22,158             -                       -                       

Parks and recreation fees 167,604           -                       -                       

Fire services 2,748,660        -                       -                       

Donations -                       -                       -                       

Interest income 123,266           8,215               31,383             

Grants -                       -                       -                       

Miscellaneous income 61,502             422 -                       

Charges for services 564,514           -                       -                       

Total revenues 16,283,510      2,149,814        31,383             

Expenditures

Current

Public safety 9,965,972        -                       -                       

Community services 1,366,918        -                       -                       

Public works 751,837           -                       -                       

Planning and community

development 985,423           -                       -                       

City administration 1,957,650        -                       -                       

Finance and administrative 

services 893,640           -                       -                       

Debt service

Principal -                       1,211,465        -                       

Interest -                       1,022,312        -                       

Bond fees -                       10,440             -                       

Capital outlay -                       -                       4,563,941        

Total expenditures 15,921,440      2,244,217        4,563,941        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues

over (under) Expenditures 362,070           (94,403)            (4,532,558)       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Proceeds from sale of

capital assets -                       -                       -                       

Transfers out (1,038,089)       -                       (1,376,258)       

Transfers in 830,131           2,916               500,000           

Total other financing

sources (uses) (207,958)          2,916               (876,258)          

Net Change in Fund Balance 154,112           (91,487)            (5,408,816)       

Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 5,438,806        390,681           6,668,849        

Prior period adjustment (156,913)          -                       -                       

Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning), as restated 5,281,893        390,681           6,668,849        

Fund Balance - 

September 30 (Ending) 5,436,005$      299,194$         1,260,033$      

360



City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds (Exhibit A-5) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Other Total

2017 CO Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds

-$                     -$                     10,548,776$    

-                       760,549           2,370,316        

-                       61,181             61,181             

-                       -                       1,120,653        

-                       207,711           207,711           

-                       -                       24,719             

-                       36,363             758,997           

-                       -                       710,434           

-                       28,020             50,178             

-                       9,935               177,539           

-                       11,989             2,760,649        

1,266,428        276,034           1,542,462        

28,773             59,377             251,014           

-                       1,576               1,576               

10,531             278,942           351,397           

-                       -                       564,514           

1,305,732        1,731,677        21,502,116      

-                       654,062           10,620,034      

-                       61,467             1,428,385        

-                       135,054           886,891           

-                       54,681             1,040,104        

-                       157,190           2,114,840        

-                       -                       893,640           

-                       164,320           1,375,785        

-                       41,957             1,064,269        

-                       -                       10,440             

3,174,329        227,030           7,965,300        

3,174,329        1,495,761        27,399,688      

(1,868,597)       235,916           (5,897,572)       

-                       182,498           182,498           

(1,500,000)       (573,835)          (4,488,182)       

98,870             682,706           2,114,623        

(1,401,130)       291,369           (2,191,061)       

(3,269,727)       527,285           (8,088,633)       

4,972,250        4,852,073        22,322,659      

-                       -                       (156,913)          

4,972,250        4,852,073        22,165,746      

1,702,523$      5,379,358$      14,077,113$    
 

361



City of Corinth, Texas 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental 

Funds to the Statement of Activities (Exhibit A-6) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds (8,088,633)$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Current year capital outlays are expenditures in the fund financial statements, but they 

are shown as increases in capital assets in the government-wide financial statements. 8,936,833       

The net book value of capital assets disposed reduces net position. (88,293)           

Depreciation is not recognized as an expenditure in governmental funds since it does not 

require the use of current financial resources. (4,242,978)      

The repayment of principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial 

resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on 

net position.

     Bond principal repayments    1,211,465 

     Transfer of bonds payable and premium to water and sewer fund    2,871,577 

     Capital lease repayment       164,320 

     Amortization of premium       194,540 

     Amortization of deferred loss on bond refunding        (10,125)

4,431,777       

Changes in long-term liabilities for compensated absences are not reported in the

governmental funds but are included in the statement of activities. 72,702            

Interest payable on long-term debt is accrued in the government-wide financial statements,

whereas in the fund financial statements, interest expenditures are reported when due. 

The current year change in the interest accrual is an increase in net position.  61,703            

Certain pension expenditures that are recorded in the fund financial statements must be 

recorded as deferred outflows of revenues. Contributions made after the measurement 

date caused the change in net position to increase in the amount of $953,787. The City's 

share of the unrecognized deferred inflows and outflows for TMRS as of the 

measurement date must be amortized and the City's pension expense must be recognized.  

These cause the change in net position to decrease in the amount of $853,641. 100,146          

Certain OPEB expenditures that are recorded in the fund financial statements must be 

recorded as deferred outflows of revenues. Contributions made after the measurement 

date caused the change in net position to increase in the amount of $7,264. The City's 

share of the unrecognized deferred inflows and outflows for TMRS as of the 

measurement date must be amortized and the City's OPEB expense must be recognized.  

These cause the change in net position to decrease in the amount of $27,421. (20,157)           

Various other reclassifications and eliminations are necessary to convert from the

modified accrual basis of accounting to accrual basis of accounting. These include 

recognizing deferred inflows of resources as revenue, adjusting current year revenue to 

include the revenue earned from current year's tax levy, and eliminating interfund 

transactions.  These adjustments result in a decrease in net position. (884,068)         

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 279,032$        

362



This page intentionally left blank 

363



 
 

 
 
 

Water Storm Total 

and Sewer Drainage Enterprise

Fund Fund Funds

Assets

Current assets

Cash 3,203,153$      155,555$         3,358,708$      

Investments 5,736,255        648,631           6,384,886        

Receivables (net of allowances for

uncollectibles)

Accounts 1,665,082        85,807             1,750,889        

Interest 12,031             759                  12,790             

Miscellaneous 14,047             2,536 16,583             

Inventories 108,780           13,535 122,315           

Total current assets 10,739,348      906,823           11,646,171      

Non-current assets

Capital assets

Land 512,330           12,000             524,330           

Construction in progress 427,323           72,150             499,473           

Buildings 252,345           -                       252,345           

Machinery and equipment 1,361,056        267,508           1,628,564        

Infrastructure 43,669,571      6,030,007        49,699,578      

Less accumulated depreciation (19,194,696)     (2,175,799)       (21,370,495)     

Total capital assets (net of

accumulated depreciation) 27,027,929      4,205,866        31,233,795      

Total assets 37,767,277      5,112,689        42,879,966      

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred charge on refunding 62,883             8,664 71,547             

Deferred outflows - pension 140,434 17,664 158,098           

Deferred outflows - OPEB liabililty 3,353 260 3,613               

Total deferred outflows

of resources 206,670           26,588             233,258           

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 875,279           11,007             886,286           

Accrued liabilities 53,756             4,730               58,486             

Accrued interest payable 47,631             7,576               55,207             

Customer deposits 627,605           -                       627,605           

Current portion of compensated absences 23,958             -                       23,958             

Current portion of bonds 957,445           185,101           1,142,546        

Total current liabilities 2,585,674        208,414           2,794,088        

Enterprise Funds

 
 
 

364



City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds (Exhibit A-7) 

September 30, 2018 
 
 

Non-current liabilities

Compensated absences 79,955             824                  80,779             

Net pension liability 566,657           66,117 632,774           

Net OPEB liability 32,681             2,531 35,212             

General obligation bonds 8,382,635        1,187,117        9,569,752        

Total noncurrent liabilities 9,061,928        1,256,589        10,318,517      

Total liabilities 11,647,602      1,465,003        13,112,605      

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows - pension 175,808           16,668             192,476           

Total deferred inflows of resources 175,808           16,668             192,476           

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 20,610,820      2,842,312        23,453,132      

Restricted for capital projects 1,202,880        92,301             1,295,181        

Unrestricted 4,336,837        722,993           5,059,830        

Total net position 26,150,537$    3,657,606$      29,808,143$    

365



City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position – Enterprise Funds (Exhibit A-8) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Water Storm Total 

and Sewer Drainage Enterprise 

Fund Fund Funds

Operating Revenues

Charges for sales and services:

Water sales 8,216,498$      -$                     8,216,498$      

Sewer disposal 3,496,873        -                       3,496,873        

Storm drainage fees -                       712,716 712,716           

Garbage 822,889           -                       822,889           

Penalties and reconnect fees 184,617           -                       184,617           

Tap fees 310,331           -                       310,331           

Service fees 77,994             -                       77,994             

Inspections 42,857             6,742               49,599             

Total Operating Revenues 13,152,059      719,458           13,871,517      

Operating Expenses

Wages and benefits 1,609,170        132,081           1,741,251        

Professional services and contracts 912,478           54,133             966,611           

Upper Trinity contract fees 6,734,975        -                       6,734,975        

Maintenance and operations 427,204           4,352               431,556           

Supplies 52,393             5,320               57,713             

Utilities and communication 194,978           5,594               200,572           

Vehicles/equipment and fuel 74,114             9,283               83,397             

Travel and training 21,053             1,006               22,059             

Noncapitalized expenses 98,485             -                       98,485             

Depreciation 1,940,308        303,766           2,244,074        

Total Operating Expenses 12,065,158      515,535           12,580,693      

Operating Income 1,086,901        203,923           1,290,824        

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Interest income 82,677             11,987             94,664             

Miscellaneous income (expense) 6,658               90 6,748               

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 42,141             -                       42,141             

Interest expense (276,933)          (44,706)            (321,639)          

Total Non-operating Revenues (Expenses) (145,457)          (32,629)            (178,086)          

Income Before Contributions

and Transfers 941,444           171,294           1,112,738        

Contributions and Transfers

Special assessment - water and sewer 

impact fees 556,609           -                       556,609           

Capital contributions 271,294           109,910           381,204           

Transfers in 2,009,294        117,563           2,126,857        

Transfers out (2,132,837)       (492,038)          (2,624,875)       

Total Contributions and Transfers 704,360           (264,565)          439,795           

Change in Net Position 1,645,804        (93,271)            1,552,533        

Net Position, Beginning 24,531,722 3,752,967        28,284,689      

Prior period adjustments (26,989)            (2,090)              (29,079)            

Beginning net position, as restated 24,504,733 3,750,877 28,255,610

Net Position, Ending 26,150,537$    3,657,606$      29,808,143$    

Enterprise Funds

366



This page intentionally left blank 

367



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

 
 

 
 

Water Storm Total 
and Sewer Drainage Enterprise 

Fund Fund Funds

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 13,054,583$    715,169$         13,769,752$    
Payments to or on behalf of employees (1,552,660)       (127,505)          (1,680,165)       
Payments to Upper Trinity for contract fees (6,734,975)       -                       (6,734,975)       
Payments to suppliers (1,615,512)       (83,594)            (1,699,106)       

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,151,436        504,070           3,655,506        

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers out (2,132,837)       (492,038)          (2,624,875)       
Transfers in 2,009,294        117,563           2,126,857        
Payments to/from other funds -                       -                       -                       

Net Cash Used by Noncapital Financing Activities (123,543)          (374,475)          (498,018)          

Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities
Transfer in- bond proceeds from governmental fund 2,871,577        -                       2,871,577        
Acquisition of capital assets (874,702)          (162,974)          (1,037,676)       
Principal paid on bonds (895,869)          (187,213)          (1,083,082)       
Interest paid on bonds (369,783)          (64,628)            (434,411)          
Proceeds from sale of assets 54,121             -                       54,121             
Special assessments- impact fees 556,609           -                       556,609           

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and 
 Related Financing Activities 1,341,953        (414,815)          927,138           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Increase) decrease in short-term investments (3,500,253)       152,658           (3,347,595)       
Interest received 81,053             12,375             93,428             

Net Cash (Used) Provided by Investing Activities (3,419,200)       165,033           (3,254,167)       

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 950,646           (120,187)          830,459           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 2,252,507        275,742           2,528,249        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending 3,203,153$      155,555$         3,358,708$      

Enterprise Funds

368



 

  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Statement of Cash Flows – Enterprise Funds (Exhibit A-9) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Water Storm Total 
and Sewer Drainage Enterprise 

Fund Fund Funds

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities
Operating income 1,086,901$      203,923$         1,290,824$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating 

income to net cash provided by 
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 1,940,308        303,766           2,244,074        
Miscellaneous income -                       90                    90                    
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (116,841)          (4,379)              (121,220)          
(Increase) decrease in inventories 51,817             1,069               52,886             
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 113,376           8,690               122,066           
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 19,365             -                       19,365             
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 56,510             (9,089)              47,421             

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,151,436$      504,070$         3,655,506$      

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Infrastructure contributed by developers 271,294$         109,910$         381,204$         

Enterprise Funds

 

369



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
Note 1 -  Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Corinth, Texas (the City) is a municipal corporation governed by an elected mayor and five-member 
council. The accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units, entities for which the City 
is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units are, in substance, part of the primary 
government’s operations, even though they are legally separate entities. Thus, blended component units are 
appropriately presented as funds of the primary government. Each discretely presented component unit is reported 
in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the 
government. 
 
The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles applicable to 
governmental units which are generally accepted in the United States of America. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles. 
 
The City’s basic financial statements include the accounts of all its operations. The City evaluated whether any 
other entity should be included in these financial statements. The criteria for including organizations as component 
units within the City’s reporting entity, as set forth in GASB Statement No. 14, “The Financial Reporting Entity,” as 
amended, include whether: 
 

 the organization is legally separate (can sue and be sued in their own name), 
 the City holds the corporate powers of the organization, 
 the City appoints a voting majority of the organization’s board, 
 the City is able to impose its will on the organization, 
 the organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the City, 
 there is fiscal dependency by the organization on the City. 

 
The City also evaluated each legally separate, tax-exempt organization whose resources are used principally to 
provide support to the City to determine if its omission from the reporting entity would result in the financial 
statements which are misleading or incomplete. GASB Statement No. 39 requires inclusion of such an organization 
as a component unit when: 1) the economic resources received or held by the organization are entirely or almost 
entirely for the direct benefit of the City, its component units or its constituents; and 2) the City or its component 
units is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by 
the organization; and 3) such economic resources are significant to the City. 
 
Based on the criteria above, the City has the following component units: 
 
Blended component unit. The Corinth Crime Control and Prevention District (CCD) was organized under state 
law and serves all the citizens of the City and is financed by a one-quarter of one percent (.0025) sales and use tax 
for the support of crime reduction programs authorized by the City. The CCD is governed by a board of directors, 
the members of which are appointed and serve at the discretion of the City Council. Because the CCD board is 
made up of the City Council, the CCD meets the standard that the board is substantially the same as the City 
Council. The CCD provides services entirely to the City. Therefore, the CCD is reported as a blended component 
unit. The CCD is reported as a special revenue fund and does not issue separate financial statements. 
 
Discretely presented component unit. The Corinth Economic Development Corporation (CEDC) was organized 
under state law for the purpose of promoting economic development. State statutes define projects that the 
corporation may fund. The CEDC is governed by a board of directors that are appointed by and serve at the 
discretion of the City Council. The CEDC is reported as a governmental entity and its accounts are maintained on 
the modified accrual basis of accounting. CEDC does not issue separate financial statements. 
 

370



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
Note 2 -  Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all activities of the primary government and its component units. For the most part, the effect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements, except for interfund services provided and used. 
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions 
concerned. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenue, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from the legally separate component unit for which the 
primary government is financially accountable. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is 
offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or 
segment. Program revenue includes 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit 
from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that 
are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenue are reported instead as general revenue. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental and proprietary funds. Major individual governmental 
funds and major individual proprietary funds are reported in separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
Note 3 -  Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned 
and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes 
are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue 
as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and 
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and 
available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenue to be available 
if collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to 
compensated absences, claims, and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, sales taxes, certain charges for services and interest associated with the current 
fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenue of the current 
fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by 
the City. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

 The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all financial resources 
of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, 
general long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs. 

 The 2016 CO Fund is used to account for the resources obtained from the issuance of the 2016 
$13,275,000 Combination Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation. 

 The 2017 CO Fund is used to account for the resources obtained from the issuance of the 2017 $4,855,000 
Combination Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation.

371



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
The City reports the following major proprietary fund types: 
 

 Water and Sewer Fund – The Water and Sewer Fund provides water and wastewater services to the 
residents and businesses of Corinth. The activities supporting the delivery of services are accounted for in 
this fund, including operations and maintenance, administration, billing, financing and debt service. The 
Water and Sewer Fund is financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where 
the determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound financial administration. 

 Storm Drainage Fund – The Storm Drainage Utility Fund is used to protect the public health and safety 
from damage caused by surface water overflows, and surface water stagnation and pollution within the city.  

 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 

 Thirteen nonmajor special revenue funds account for specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to 
expenditures for specialized purposes. 

 Seven nonmajor capital projects funds are used to account for acquisition and construction of major capital 
facilities (other than those accounted for within the City’s proprietary funds) and vehicle replacement funds. 
Capital projects are funded primarily though certificates of obligation. 

 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or 
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally 
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are 
charges to customers for sales and services. The Water and Sewer Fund also recognizes as operating revenue the 
portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses 
include cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation expense on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.  
 
Note 4 -  Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows for the proprietary fund types, the City considers all highly liquid 
investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents. 
 
Investments 
Investments for the City and CEDC are reported at fair value (generally based on quoted market prices), except for 
the positions in TexPool and TexSTAR. In accordance with state law, TexPool and TexSTAR operate in conformity 
with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) Rule 2a-7 as promulgated under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Accordingly, TexPool and TexSTAR qualify as 2a-7 like pools and 
are reported at amortized cost. The Pools are subject to regulatory oversight by the State Comptroller, although 
they are not registered with the SEC.

372



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
Fair value accounting requires characterization of the inputs used to measure fair value into three-level fair value 
hierarchy as follows: 
 

 Level 1 inputs are based on unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active 
market the entity has the ability to access. 

 
 Level 2 inputs are observable inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are for similar 

assets or liabilities. U.S. government-backed securities are valued using Level 2 inputs that are based on 
market data obtained from independent sources. 

 
 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 

 
Receivables and Payables 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 
fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as 
“internal balances.” All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. The 
allowance totaled $2,375,190 for General Fund, $371,166 for Water and Sewer Fund and $1,276 for Storm 
Drainage Fund. 
 
Inventory 
Inventory is valued at cost using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories consist of expendable supplies held 
for consumption or the construction of plant and equipment. Inventories are recorded as expenditures when 
consumed rather than when purchased. 
 
Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Texas Municipal 
Retirement System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from TMRS’s fiduciary net position have been determined 
on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period 
that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and 
refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at 
fair value. 
 
OPEB 
The fiduciary net position of the TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits Plan (SDBP) has been determined using the 
flow of economic resources measurement focus and full accrual basis of accounting. This includes for purposes of 
measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB, OPEB expense, and information about assets, liabilities and additions to/deductions from SDBP’s fiduciary 
net position. Benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the benefit terms. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. The City has three items that qualify for reporting in this category. The City has a 
deferred charge on bond refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A deferred charge 
on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This 
amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. The City has deferred 
outflows of resources related to pensions as described in Note 7.  The City also has deferred outflows of resources 
related to its Supplemental Death Benefits Plan as described in Note 8. 
 

373



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until 
that time. The City has two items that qualify for reporting in this category. The first item, unavailable revenue, is 
reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from 
property taxes, fines, ambulance services and other items. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an 
inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. The City also has deferred inflows of resources 
for its deferred inflow related to pensions as described in Note 7. 
 
Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide financial statements as well as the proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets are 
defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in 
excess of two years. All purchased capital assets are valued at cost where historical records are available and at 
an estimated historical cost where no historical records exist. 
 
In the case of the initial capitalization of general infrastructure assets (i.e., those reported by governmental 
activities), the government chose to include all such items regardless of their acquisition date or amount. The City 
was able to estimate the historical cost for the initial reporting of these assets through back trending (i.e., estimating 
the current replacement cost of the infrastructure to be capitalized and using an appropriate price-level index to 
deflate the cost to the acquisition year or estimated acquisition year). As the government constructs or acquires 
additional capital assets each period, including infrastructure assets, they are capitalized and reported at historical 
cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value, which is the price that would be paid to acquire an 
asset with equivalent service potential at the acquisition date. 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset, or materially extend asset 
lives, are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the 
related capital assets. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed.  
 
Land and construction are not depreciated. Other property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure of the City, as well 
as the component unit, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 
   
Building and building improvements  20-50 years 
Water and Wastewater system infrastructure 30 years 
Storm drainage system infrastructure  30 years 
Public domain infrastructure   50 years 
Vehicles and equipment    5-10 years 
Office equipment    5-10 years 
 
Long-term Obligations 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term 
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-
type activities, or proprietary fund type statements of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method. 
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances 
are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures.

374



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
Compensated Absences 
Accumulated earned but unused vacation, holiday, compensatory time and sick leave are accrued when incurred 
in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in the 
governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 
It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation, compensatory time and sick 
pay benefits. Eligible employees are reimbursed upon separation from service for accumulated vacation, holiday, 
sick pay; non-exempt employees are reimbursed for vacation, holiday, compensatory time and sick leave.  
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates. 
 
Property Taxes 
Property is appraised and a lien on such property becomes enforceable as of January 1st of each year. Taxes are 
levied on and payable the following October 1. Taxes become delinquent February 1 of the following year and are 
subject to interest and penalty charges. The City is permitted by the State of Texas to levy taxes up to $2.50 per 
$100 of assessed valuation for general government services and for the payment of principal and interest on general 
long-term debt. The combined current tax rate to finance general government services, including debt service for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, was $.53686 per $100 of assessed valuation. 
 
Fund Balance 
The City classifies governmental fund balance in accordance with Government Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions: 
 

 Nonspendable fund balance includes fund balance that cannot be spent either because it is not in 
spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints. The City had $233,795 and $17,981 in 
nonspendable fund balance for inventory and prepaid items, respectively, at September 30, 2018. 
 

 Restricted fund balance includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by 
constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation. Debt service fund balance 
restricted for the retirement of funded indebtedness totaled $299,194 as of September 30, 2018. Fund 
balance restricted for future capital projects totaled $1,260,033 and $1,702,523, respectively. Special 
revenue fund balance restricted for specific programs included Crime Control and Prevention, Street 
Maintenance, Hotel Motel Tax, Keep Corinth Beautiful, County Child Safety, Special Revenue, Municipal 
Court Security, Municipal Court Technology, Police Confiscation – State, Parks Development, Community 
Park Improvement, and Tree Mitigation and totaled $453,109, $1,272,958, $170,716, $28,906, $26,900, 
$45,759, $79,516, $45,591, $1,966, $324,014, $6,278 and $156,048, respectively, as of September 30, 
2018. 

 
 Committed fund balance is established and modified by a resolution from City Council, the City’s highest 

level of decision-making authority, and can be used only for the specified purposes determined by the 
Council's resolution. Special revenue fund balance committed for specific programs consisted of fund 
balance committed to special revenue totaling $350,034 as of September 30, 2018. Capital project fund 
balances committed for future projects included the Governmental Capital Projects, Vehicle Replacement, 
LCFD Vehicle and Equipment Replacement, Tech Equipment Replacement, and Street Escrow and totaled 
$1,792,425, $210,232, $559,426, $90,047, and $154,732, respectively, as of September 30, 2018.

375



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
 Assigned fund balance includes the portion of net resources for which an intended use has been 

established by the City Council or the City Official authorized to do so by the City Council. Assignments of 
fund balance are much less formal than commitments and do not require formal action for their imposition 
or removal. In governmental funds, other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the 
amount that is not restricted or committed which indicates that resources are, at a minimum, intended to be 
used for the purpose of that fund but does not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. 
The Council has authorized the City Manager to assign fund balance. The City had no assigned fund 
balance as of September 30, 2018. 

 
 Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the City's general fund and includes all spendable 

amounts not contained in the other classifications, as well as negative unassigned fund balance in other 
governmental funds.  

 
Minimum fund balance policy 
The City Council has adopted a financial policy to maintain an unassigned fund balance in the general fund equal 
to 20% of expenditures and in the water and sewer fund and storm drainage fund equal to 25% of expenditures. 
The City considers a balance of less than 15% to be cause for concern, barring unusual or deliberate circumstances. 
In the event that the unassigned fund balance is calculated to be less than the policy stipulates, the City shall plan 
to adjust budget resources in subsequent fiscal years to restore the balance. 
 
Flow Assumptions 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. It is the City’s policy to consider restricted fund 
balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the 
components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted 
first, followed by assigned, then unassigned fund balance.  
 
Implementation of GASB Statement No. 75 
As of October 1, 2017, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  The implementation of this standard replaces the requirements of 
GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other 
than Pensions, and requires governments calculate and report the costs and obligations associated with 
postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) in their basic financial statements.  Employers are required 
to recognize OPEB amounts for all benefits provided through the plan which include the total OPEB liability, deferred 
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and OPEB expenses.  The effect of the implementation of this 
standard on beginning net position is disclosed in Note 11 and the additional disclosures required by this standard 
are included in Note 8. 
 
Note 5 -  Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 
 
Budgetary Information 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for the 
General Fund; Crime Control and Prevention, Street Maintenance, Hotel/Motel Tax, Municipal Court Security, 
Municipal Court Technology, Parks Development, Keep Corinth Beautiful, County Child Safety, Police Confiscation 
- State, Parks Development, Community Park Improvement, Tree Mitigation, and Roadway Impact Fee special 
revenue funds; and the Debt Service fund. The capital projects funds are appropriated on a project-length basis. 
Other special revenue funds do not have appropriated budgets since other means control the use of these resources 
(i.e. grant awards and city council resolutions) and sometimes span a period of more than one fiscal year. 
 

376



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, functional department and division. Transfers of appropriations 
between divisions within a department may be initiated by staff and approved by the Director. Transfers between 
functional departments require the approval of the Director, Budget Manager, and Finance Director. Transfers 
between funds may require Council approval. All transfers of appropriations require the approval of the City 
Manager. The legal level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed 
appropriations) is the fund level. The City Council is required to approve all budget amendments that alter 
department or operating appropriations. 
 
Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year even if they have related encumbrances. 
Encumbrances are commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services (i.e., purchase 
orders, contracts, and commitments). Encumbrance accounting is utilized to the extent necessary to assure 
effective budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash planning and control. While all 
appropriations and encumbrances lapse at year end, valid outstanding encumbrances (those for which performance 
under the executory contract is expected in the next year) are re-appropriated and become part of the subsequent 
year’s budget. 
 
Deficit fund equity 
At September 30, 2018, a fund deficit of $389,299 was reported for the Roadway Impact Fee Fund. It represents 
deferred/unearned impact fee revenue, net of related assets, which will be recognized as development of land 
progresses through April 1, 2025.  
 
Note 6 -  Detailed Notes on All Funds 
 
Cash and Investments 
Custodial Credit Risk. Cash deposits of the City and CEDC at September 30, 2018, were entirely secured by FDIC 
insurance and pledged collateral held by the City’s agent bank. 
 
State statutes authorize the City to invest in (1) obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities; 
(2) direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies; (3) Texas local government investment pools; (4) 
obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state having been rated as 
investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm and having received a rating of not less than A 
or its equivalent; (5) certificates of deposit by state and national banks domiciled in this state that are (a) guaranteed 
or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its successor; or (b) secured by obligations that are 
described by (1) – (4); (6) and reverse repurchase agreements not to exceed 90 days to stated maturity.

377



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Following are the City’s investments at September 30, 2018, including classification by level, within the fair value 
hierarchy: 
 
Primary Government

Weighted
Average

Investment Pools Reported Value Level S&P Rating Maturity

TexSTAR 2,257,656$      N/A AAAm < 60 days None

Other Investments Less than More than
1 Year 1 - 5 5 Years

U.S. Government 
     Backed Securities 13,769,910$    Level 2 AA+ 8,567,000$    5,202,910$    -$              
Money market 291,647           Level 1 N/A 291,647         -                     -                

Total 14,061,557      8,858,647$    5,202,910$    -$              
Less reconciling items (6,324)              

Total Investments 16,312,889$    

Investment Maturity in Years

Withdrawal or Liquidity
Restrictions

  
 
CEDC

Weighted
Average

Investment Pools Reported Value Level S&P Rating Maturity

TexPool 421,872$         N/A AAAm < 60 days None

Other Investments Less than More than
1 Year 1 - 5 5 Years

U.S. Government 
     Backed Securities 3,097,090$      Level 2 AA+ 1,800,000$    1,297,090$    -$              
Less: reconciling items (2,677)              1,800,000$    1,297,090$    -$              

Total Investments 3,516,285$      

Investment Maturity in Years

Withdrawal or Liquidity
Restrictions

 
 
Under the TexPool Participation Agreement, administrative and investment services to TexPool are provided by 
Federated Investors, Inc. through an agreement with the State of Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. The State 
Comptroller is the sole officer, director, and shareholder of the Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Company 
authorized to operate TexPool. TexPool is subject to annual review by an independent auditor consistent with the 
Public Funds Investment Act. Audited financial statements of the Pool are available at First Public, 12008 Research 
Blvd., Austin, Texas 78759. In addition, TexPool is subject to review by the State Auditor’s Office and by the Internal 
Auditor of the Comptroller’s Office. 
 
The Texas Short Term Asset Reserve Program (TexSTAR) has been organized in conformity with the Interlocal 
Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256 
of the Texas Government Code. These two acts provide for the creation of public funds investment pools (including 
TexSTAR) and authorize eligible governmental entities to invest their public funds through the investment pools.

378



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
TexSTAR is administered by JP Morgan Investment Management, Inc. and First Southwest and is rated AAAm by 
Standard and Poor’s. 
 
Interest Rate Risk. In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to decline in fair value 
of securities by limiting the City to securities with maturities not to exceed 36 months from date of purchase. The 
City also manages the weighted average days to maturity for the operating funds portfolio to less than 270 days, 
and the reserve, special project and capital project funds to less than 365 days. The CEDC limits weighted average 
days to maturity for the operating funds portfolio to less than 270 days. 
 
The City and its component unit invest in the public funds investment pools listed above, which have specified 
maximum weighted average maturities for their investment portfolios. The maximum weighted average maturity 
(WAM) of TexPool investment portfolios cannot exceed 60 days. TexSTAR also maintains a portfolio maximum 
WAM of 60 days. 
 
Credit Risk. State law and City policy limit investments in local government investment pools to those rated no lower 
than AAA or an equivalent rating by at least one nationally recognized rating service. As of September 30, 2018, 
the City’s investments in TexPool and TexSTAR were both rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. 
 

Maximum %
of Portfolio 

U.S. Treasury Obligations 100%
U.S. Government Agency Securities and Instrumentalities 100%
Authorized Local Government Investment Pool 100%
Local Government Obligations 10%
Fully Collateralized Certificates of Deposit 50%
Fully Collateralized Repurchase Agreements 25%
SEC-Regulated No-Load Money Market Mutual Fund 100%
U.S. Treasury and Agency Callables 30%

Investment

 
 

379



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
 
Capital Assets 
A summary of changes in capital assets follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Transfers Deletions Balance

Governmental activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 2,595,762$      3,533,344$      -$                     -$                     6,129,106$      
Construction in progress 9,287,274        2,333,151        (8,716,388)       -                       2,904,037        

Total assets not being depreciated 11,883,036      5,866,495        (8,716,388)       -                       9,033,143        

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 6,740,369        1,902,975        8,716,388        -                       17,359,732      
Machinery and 

equipment 11,082,178      1,022,952        -                       1,044,912        11,060,218      
Infrastructure 97,157,619      144,411           -                       -                       97,302,030      

Total capital assets being depreciated 114,980,166    3,070,338        8,716,388        1,044,912        125,721,980    
Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings 2,639,822        283,178           -                       -                       2,923,000        
Machinery and equipment 6,342,813        1,003,335        -                       956,619           6,389,529        
Infrastructure 64,606,997      2,956,465        -                       -                       67,563,462      

Total accumulated depreciation 73,589,632      4,242,978        -                       956,619           76,875,991      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 41,390,534      (1,172,640)       8,716,388        88,293             48,845,989      

Governmental activities capital assets, net 53,273,570$    4,693,855$      -$                     88,293$           57,879,132$    
 

380



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Business-type activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 524,330$         -$                     -$                     524,330$         
Construction in progress 34,750             464,723           -                       499,473           

Total assets not being depreciated 559,080           464,723           -                       1,023,803        

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 252,345           -                       -                       252,345           
Machinery and 

equipment 1,661,688        89,368             230,382           1,520,674        
Infrastructure 48,950,407      864,790           115,619           49,699,578      

Total capital assets being depreciated 50,864,440      954,158           346,001           51,472,597      
being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciationi
Buildings 154,728           6,566               -                       161,294           
Machinery and equipment 1,316,054        94,115             230,382           1,179,787        
Infrastructure 17,854,781      2,143,393        76,650             19,921,524      

Total accumulated depreciation 19,325,563      2,244,074        307,032           21,262,605      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 31,538,877      (1,289,916)       38,969             30,209,992      

Business activities capital assets net 32,097,957$    (825,193)$        38,969$           31,233,795$    

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 
Governmental activities

Public safety 912,544$         
Community services 143,994           
Public works 2,958,634        
Planning and community development 5,281               
City administration 222,525           

Total depreciation expense - Governmental activities 4,242,978$      

Business-type activities
Water and sewer 1,940,308$      
Storm drainage 303,766           

Total depreciation expense - Business-type activities 2,244,074$      

381



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
Interfund Transfers 
The composition of interfund transfers in/out as of September 30, 2018, is as follows: 
 

Fund Transfers In  Transfers Out Purpose

General 830,131$              1,038,089$     Administrative Transfer, Contributions to Vehicle
and Equipment Replacement

Debt service 2,916                    -                      Close out Fund
2016 CO 500,000                1,376,258       Capital Projects Reallocation
2017 CO 98,870                  1,500,000       Capital Projects Reallocation
Nonmajor govt 682,706                573,835          Contributions to Capital Projects/Budgetary Transfers
Water and Sewer 2,009,294             2,132,837       Administrative Transfer, Capital Improvements 

Reallocation, Equipment Replacement
Storm Drainage 117,563                492,038          Administrative Transfer, Capital Improvements 

Reallocation, Vehicle and Equipment Replacement
Reported in the
fund statements 4,241,480             7,113,057       

Transfer of bonds 2,871,577             -                      
7,113,057$           7,113,057$     

 Transfer of bonds payable and premium from 
governmental activities to Water and Sewer 

 
 
Long-term Obligations 
Long-term obligations of the City’s governmental activities consist of general obligation bonds and certificates of 
obligation. Sources of retirement of general obligation bond and certificates of obligation are provided from ad 
valorem tax. Governmental activities long-term obligations are paid by the debt service fund. 
 
Long-term obligations of the City’s business-type activities consist of general obligation bonds and certificates of 
obligation. Business-type activities long-term obligations are serviced by revenue from the Water and Sewer and 
Storm Drainage systems. 
 
Compensated absences and net pension liability are paid from the fund out of which an employee is regularly paid, 
primarily the General Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, Storm Drainage Fund and CEDC.  
 
Governmental activity capital lease payments are currently being made from the LCFD Vehicle and Equipment 
Replacement Fund. 
 

382



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30, 2018: 
 

Beginning Transfers/ Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Retirements Balance One Year

Governmental activities
Certificates of obligation 18,335,001$    (2,800,000)$   (65,000)$         15,470,001$    90,731$         
General obligation bonds 7,809,873        -                     (1,146,465)      6,663,408        1,204,797      
Bond premiums/discounts (net) 2,730,708        (71,577)          (194,540)         2,464,591        194,540         
Compensated absences 1,032,567        921,727         (994,429)         959,865           149,067         
Capital lease obligation 1,381,618        -                     (164,320)         1,217,298        165,881         
Net pension liability 6,872,266        -                     (2,163,493)      4,708,773        -                     
Total OPEB liability 232,583           49,048           -                      281,631           -                     

Total governmental
activities 38,394,616$    (1,900,802)$   (4,728,247)$    31,765,567$    1,805,016$    

Business-type activities
Certificates of obligation -$                     2,800,000$    -$                    2,800,000$      9,269$           
General obligation bonds 7,885,126        -                     (1,083,531)      6,801,595        1,010,203      
Bond premiums/discounts (net) 1,162,200        71,577           (123,074)         1,110,703        123,074         
Compensated absences 84,887             131,286         (111,436)         104,737           23,958           
Net pension liability 903,203           -                     (270,429)         632,774           -                     
Total OPEB liability 29,079             6,133             -                      35,212             -                     

Total business type
activities 10,064,495      3,008,996      (1,588,470)      11,485,021      1,166,504      

Primary government 48,459,111$    1,108,194$    (6,316,717)$    43,250,588$    2,971,520$    

CEDC
Compensated absences 8,551$             -$                   (315)$              8,236$             8,236$           
Net pension liability 85,051             -                     (27,202)           57,849             -                     
Total OPEB liability 2,937               619                -                      3,556               -                     

CEDC 96,539$           619$              (27,517)$         69,641$           8,236$           

 
 
The following is a schedule of the General Obligation and Certificates of Obligation bonds: 
 

Governmental Business Type
Amount of Amount Amount

Date of Original Interest Maturity Outstanding Outstanding
Issue Issue Rate Date 9/30/2018 9/30/2018

Certificates of Obligation 4/15/2010 1,500,000      1.95%-3.35% 2/15/2020 140,000$         -$                     
Certificates of Obligation 4/21/2016 13,275,000    2.00%-5.00% 2/15/2036 11,975,000      1,300,000        
General Obligation 4/21/2016 1,510,000      2.00% 2/15/2020 881,400           248,600           
General Obligation 7/6/2017 14,240,000    2.00%-5.00% 2/15/2027 5,782,009        6,552,995        
Certificates of Obligation 7/6/2017 4,855,000      2.00%-5.00% 2/15/2037 3,355,000        1,500,000        

22,133,409$    9,601,595$      

 

383



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
The annual requirements to retire general long-term debt, including interest, as of September 30, 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

Fiscal Total
Year Principal Interest Requirements

2019 1,295,528$      914,829$       2,210,357$      
2020 1,531,162        864,807         2,395,969        
2021 1,243,189        817,491         2,060,680        
2022 1,232,984        764,649         1,997,633        
2023 1,291,627        703,002         1,994,629        

2024-2028 6,702,000        2,540,015      9,242,015        
2029-2033 5,050,779        1,234,159      6,284,938        
2034-2037 3,786,140        237,072         4,023,212        

Total 22,133,409$    8,076,024$    30,209,433$    

 
 
The annual requirements to retire enterprise activity debt, including interest, as of September 30, 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

Fiscal Total
Year Principal Interest Requirements

2019 1,019,472$      418,076$       1,437,548$      
2020 843,838           376,373         1,220,211        
2021 791,811           339,596         1,131,407        
2022 757,016           302,339         1,059,355        
2023 793,373           264,236         1,057,609        

2024-2028 3,763,000        701,248         4,464,248        
2029-2033 899,221           214,254         1,113,475        
2034-2037 733,864           47,421           781,285           

Total 9,601,595$      2,663,543$    12,265,138$    

 
 
Capital Leases Payable 
 
The City leases various equipment under capital lease. The following is an analysis of the leased assets included 
in capital assets at September 30, 2018: 
 
Equipment 1,742,451$      
Less accumulated depreciation (459,989)          

Net value 1,282,462$      

 
 

384



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
The following is a schedule of future minimum payments required under the leases with its present value as of 
September 30, 2018: 
 
  Year Ending

2019 202,251$         
2020 202,251           
2021 202,251           
2022 202,251           
2023 202,251           

2024-2028 365,263           
Total minimum lease payments 1,376,518        
Less amount representing interest (159,220)          
Present value of minimum lease payments 1,217,298$      

 
Note 7 -  Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
The City participates as one of 883 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas 
and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) 
as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act 
places the general administration and management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees. Although 
the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on 
the State of Texas. TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be 
obtained at www.tmrs.com. 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits Provided 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing body of 
the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 
 
At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, and the city-
financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose to receive their 
retirement benefit in one of seven payments options. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit 
as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 
75% of the member’s deposits and interest. 
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of each city, within the options available in the state statutes 
governing TMRS. The City has elected that members can retire at age 60 and above with 5 or more years of service 
or with 20 years of service regardless of age. Members may work for more than one TMRS city during their career. 
If a member is vested in one TMRS city, he or she is immediately vested upon employment with another TMRS 
city. Similarly, once a member has met the eligibility requirements for retirement in a TMRS city, he or she is eligible 
in other TMRS cities as well. 
 
At the December 31, 2017 valuation and measurement date, membership data for the pension plan is as follows: 
 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 74
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 110
Active employees 143

Total 327
 

385



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
Contributions 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and the city 
matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of the city. Under 
the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the 
Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary 
to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 
unfunded accrued liability. 
 
Employees for the City were required to contribute 7% of their annual gross earnings during the fiscal year. The 
contribution rates for the City were 15.39% and 15.8% in calendar years 2017 and 2018, respectively. The City’s 
contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2018, were $1,489,711, and were equal to the required 
contributions. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the Total Pension Liability 
(TPL) used to calculate the NPL was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions: The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 
Inflation 2.50% per year
Overall payroll growth 3.00% per year
Investment rate of return 6.75% net of pension plan investment expense, including inflati 
 
Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members, retirees, and 
beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, with male rates 
multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103%. Based on the size of the city, rates are multiplied by a 
factor of 100%. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality 
improvements. For disabled annuitants, the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Tables with Blue 
Collar Adjustment are used with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% with a 3-year 
set-forward for both males and females. In addition, a 3% minimum mortality rate is applied to reflect the impairment 
for younger members who become disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by scale BB to 
account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3% floor. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017, valuation were based on the results of actuarial experience 
studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the period December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2014. Healthy 
post-retirement mortality rates and annuity purchase rates were updated based on a Mortality Experience 
Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 31, 2013. These assumptions were first used 
in the December 31, 2013 valuation, along with a change to the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. 
Assumptions are reviewed annually. No additional changes were made for the 2014 valuation. After the Asset 
Allocation Study analysis and experience investigation study, the Board amended the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments from 7% to 6.75%. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an 
emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income, in order to satisfy the short-term and 
long-term funding needs of TMRS. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method 
in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce 
the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. In determining their best estimate of a recommended 
investment return assumption under the various alternative asset allocation portfolios, GRS focused on the area 
between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without and adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) the geometric 
mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). The target allocation and best estimates of real rates 
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

386



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
 

Long-Term 
Expected
Real Rate 

Target  of Return 
Allocation (Arithmetic)

U.S. Equities 17.50% 4.55%
International Equity 17.50% 6.35%
Core Fixed Income 10.00% 1.00%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.00% 3.90%
Real Return 10.00% 3.80%
Real Estate 10.00% 4.50%
Absolute Return 10.00% 3.75%
Private Equity 5.00% 7.50%
Total 100.00%

Asset Class

 
 
Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the 
rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the 
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the Total Pension Liability. 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Plan  Net Pension 
Total Pension  Fiduciary   Liability/

Liability Net Position (Asset) 
Entity-Wide (a)              (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2016 36,270,726$   28,410,206$   7,860,520$     
Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,674,666       1,674,666       
Interest 2,468,757       2,468,757       
Changes of benefit terms -                  -                  
Difference between expected and actual experience (628,235)         (628,235)         
Changes of assumptions -                  -                  
Contributions - employer 1,412,999       (1,412,999)      
Contributions - employee 642,690          (642,690)         
Net investment income 3,942,063       (3,942,063)      
Benefit payments, including refunds of contributions (1,067,764)      (1,067,764)      -                  
Administrative expense (20,406)           20,406            
Other changes (1,034)             1,034              

Net changes 2,447,424       4,908,548       (2,461,124)      
Balance at 12/31/2017 38,718,150$   33,318,754$   5,399,396$     

Increase (Decrease)

 

387



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
 

Plan  Net Pension 
Total Pension  Fiduciary   Liability/

Liability Net Position (Asset) 
Primary Government (a)              (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2016 35,882,122$   28,105,820$   7,776,303$     
Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,656,724       1,656,724       
Interest 2,442,307       2,442,307       
Changes of benefit terms -                  -                  
Difference between expected and actual experience (621,504)         (621,504)         
Changes of assumptions -                  -                  
Contributions - employer 1,397,860       (1,397,860)      
Contributions - employee 635,804          (635,804)         
Net investment income 3,899,828       (3,899,828)      
Benefit payments, including refunds of contributions (1,056,324)      (1,056,324)      -                  
Administrative expense (20,187)           20,187            
Other changes (1,023)             1,023              

Net changes 2,421,202       4,855,958       (2,434,756)      
Balance at 12/31/2017 38,303,325$   32,961,778$   5,341,547$     

Increase (Decrease)

 

Plan  Net Pension 
Total Pension  Fiduciary   Liability/

Liability Net Position (Asset) 
CEDC (a)              (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2016 388,604$        304,386$        84,217$          
Changes for the year:

Service cost 17,942            17,942            
Interest 26,450            26,450            
Changes of benefit terms -                  -                  
Difference between expected and actual experience (6,731)             (6,731)             
Changes of assumptions -                  -                  
Contributions - employer 15,139            (15,139)           
Contributions - employee 6,886              (6,886)             
Net investment income 42,235            (42,235)           
Benefit payments, including refunds of contributions (11,440)           (11,440)           -                  
Administrative expense (219)                219                 
Other changes (11)                  11                   

Net changes 26,222            52,590            (26,368)           
Balance at 12/31/2017 414,825$        356,976$        57,849$          

Increase (Decrease)

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: The following presents the net pension liability 
of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.75%) 
than the current rate: 
 

388



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
1% Decrease in 1% Increase in 
Discount Rate Discount Rate  Discount Rate 

(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)

City's net pension liability (asset) 12,287,827$   5,399,396$     (109,490)$       

Reported by Governmental Activities 10,716,122     4,708,773       (95,485)           
Reported by Business-Type Activities 1,440,053       632,774          (12,832)           
Reported by Component Unit, CEDC 131,651          57,849            (1,173)             

12,287,827$    5,399,396$      109,490)$(        

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information out the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available 
in a separately-issued TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tmrs.com. 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 
For the year ended September 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of $1,375,798. 
 
At September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred   Deferred   Deferred   Deferred   Deferred   Deferred   

Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources 

Differences between expected 248,632$               751,490$          245,962$           743,439$          2,670$             8,051$             
and actual economic experience

Changes in actual assumptions -                             117,198            -                     115,942            -                       1,256               
Difference between projected -                             899,881            -                     889,524            -                       10,357             

and actual investment earnings
Contributions subsequent to the 1,096,016              -                        1,084,273          -                    11,743             -                      

measurement date

Total 1,344,648$            1,768,569$       1,330,235$        1,748,905$       14,413$           19,664$           

Entity-Wide Primary Government CEDC

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending  
September 30, 2019 in the amount of $1,096,016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
September 30: Entity-Wide Primary Govt CEDC

2019 (228,686)$           (226,129)$       (2,557)$           
2020 (275,099)             (272,023)         (3,076)             
2021 (523,815)             (517,958)         (5,857)             
2022 (492,337)             (486,833)         (5,504)             
Thereafter -                          -                      -                      

(1,519,937)$        (1,502,943)$    (16,994)$         
 

 

389



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Note 8 -  Other Post Employment Benefits 
 
Plan Description 
The City also participates in a defined benefit group-term life insurance plan known as the Supplemental Death 
Benefits Fund (SDBF).  This is a voluntary program in which participating member cities may elect, by ordinance, 
to provide group-term life insurance coverage (Supplemental Death Benefits) for their active members, including or 
not including retirees.   
 
Benefits Provided 
The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee’s 
annual salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings for the 12-month period preceding the month of 
death).  The death benefit for retirees is considered an other postemployment benefit (OPEB) and is a fixed amount 
of $7,500.  As the SDBF covers both active and retiree employees, with no segregation of assets, the SDBF is 
considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan. Texas Local Government Code Section 177.001 assigns the authority 
to establish and amend benefit provisions to the City Council. At the December 31, 2017 valuation and 
measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 48
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 23
Active employees 143

Total 214
 

Contributions 
The City contributes to the SDBF program at a contractually required rate.  An annual actuarial valuation is 
performed, and the contractual rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance.  The premium rate 
is expressed as a percentage of the covered payroll of members employed by the participating employer.  There is 
a one-year delay between the actuarial valuation that serves as the basis for the employer contribution rate and the 
calendar year when the rate goes into effect. 
 
The SDBF program is voluntary and employers can cease participation by adopting an ordinance before November 
1 of any year to be effective the following January 1.  Therefore, the funding policy of the program is to ensure that 
adequate resources are available to meet all insurance benefit payments for the upcoming year.  It is not the intent 
of the funding policy to pre-fund retiree term life insurance during employees’ entire careers.  The City’s contribution, 
which equaled the required contribution, was as follows for the year ended September 30: 
 

2018
Employer rate 0.11%
Employer contributions 10,372$          

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 
 
Inflation     2.5% 
Salary increases   3.50% to 10.5%, including inflation 
Discount rate    3.31% 
   
Mortality rates for service retirees were based on the RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment 
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% and projected on a fully generational basis 
with scale BB. 
 
Mortality rates for disabled retirees were based on the RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar 
Adjustment with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% with a three-year set-forward 
for both males and females.  The rates are projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB to account for future  

390



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
mortality improvements subject to the 3% floor. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017, valuation were based on the results of actuarial experience 
studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the period December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2014.  
 
The SDBF program is treated as an unfunded OPEB plan because the SDBF trust covers both actives and retirees 
and the assets are not segregated for these groups.  A discount rate of 3.31% was based on the 20-Year Municipal 
GO AA Index as of December 31, 2017. 
 
OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to OPEB 
At September 30, 2018, the City reported a total OPEB liability of $320,399 measured at December 31, 2017. For 
the year ended September 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of $33,032. 
 
There were no changes of assumptions or other inputs that affected measurement of the total OPEB liability during 
the measurement period.  
 
There were no changes of benefit terms that affected measurement of the total OPEB liability during the 
measurement period. 
 
Changes in the total OPEB liability for the measurement year ended December 31, 2017 are as follows: 
 

Primary 
Changes in Total OPEB Liability Entity-Wide Government CEDC 

Balance at December 31, 2016 264,599$          261,662$        2,937$             

Changes for the year:
Service cost 18,363              18,159            204                  
Interest on total OPEB liability 10,314              10,200            114                  
Changes of benefit terms -                        -                  -                       
Effect of economic/demographic experience -                        -                  -                       
Effect of assumption changes or inputs 28,959              28,638            321                  
Benefit payments* (1,836)               (1,816)             (20)                   

Balance as of December 31, 2017 320,399$          316,843$        3,556$             

Total OPEB Liability

 
*Due to the SDBF being considered an unfunded OPEB plan under GASB 75, benefit payments are treated as 
being equal to the employer’s yearly contributions for retirees. 
 
Discount Rate Sensitivity Analysis 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 3.31%, as well as 
what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point 
lower (2.31%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.31%) than the current rate. 
 
 

391



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
 

1% Decrease in 1% Increase in 
Discount Rate Discount Rate  Discount Rate 

(2.31%) (3.31%) (4.31%)

City's total OPEB liability 396,035$          320,399$        262,870$         

Reported by Governmental Activities 348,115            281,631          231,063           
Reported by Business-Type Activities 43,524              35,212            28,890             
Reported by Component Unit, CEDC 4,396                3,556              2,917               

396,035$           320,399$         262,870$          

 
At December 31, 2017, the City reported its deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Primary 
Entity-Wide Government CEDC 

Differences between expected and actual economic experience -$                    -$                     -$                   
Changes in actual assumptions 24,604            24,332             272                
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings -                      -                       -                     
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 8,264              8,172               92                  
Total 32,868$          32,504$           364$              

Deferred Outflows of Resources

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contribution subsequent to the measurement date 
will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability for the year ended September 30, 2019 in the amount 
of $8,264.  The other net amounts of the employer’s balances of deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to OPEB, excluding contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in OPEB expense 
as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
September 30: Entity-Wide Primary Govt CEDC

2019 4,355$              4,307$            48$                  
2020 4,355                4,307              48                    
2021 4,355                4,307              48                    
2022 4,355                4,307              48                    
2023 4,355                4,307              48                    
Thereafter 2,829                2,797              32                    

24,604$            24,332$          272$                

 
 

392



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Note 9 -  Risk Management 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City’s risk management program encompasses 
obtaining workers compensation and property and liability insurance through Texas Municipal League (TML) 
Intergovernmental Risk Pool, a public entity risk pool for the benefit of governmental units located within the state. 
TML Intergovernmental Risk Pool (“Pool”) is considered a self-sustaining risk pool that provides coverage for its 
members. The City’s contributions to the Pool are limited to the amount of premiums as calculated at the 
beginning of each fund year. Premiums reflect the claims experience to date of the City. The Pool’s liability is 
limited to the coverage that the City elects as stated in the Pool’s Declarations of Coverage for that fund year. The 
City has not had any significant reduction in insurance coverage and the amounts of insurance settlements have 
not exceeded insurance coverage for any of the last three years. 
 
Note 10 -  Commitments and Contingencies 
 
The City participates in grant programs which are governed by various rules and regulations of the grantor agencies. 
Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies; 
therefore, to the extent that the City has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds 
of any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivable may be impaired. In the 
opinion of the City, there are no significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations 
governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision has been recorded in the accompanying basic financial 
statements for such contingencies. 
 
Estimated costs to complete significant construction projects in progress at year-end totaled approximately 
$15,669,082. 
 
Upper Trinity Regional Water District (UTRWD) 
 
On November 13, 1990, the City entered into a 30-year contract with Upper Trinity Regional Water District (UTRWD) 
and other participating political members to develop a regional water system for providing retail utility service to the 
Denton County area. 
 
The contract included, among other things, a commitment by the City to 2.0 million gallons of water per day demand. 
On February 4, 1999 the City amended the contract with Upper Trinity to increase the demand from 2.0 million 
gallons per day to 5.5 million gallons per day. On September 2, 1999, due to continued growth, the City entered 
into the third contract amendment with Upper Trinity increasing the demand to 7.5 million gallons per day. The City 
also currently maintains a contract with the Upper Trinity Regional Water District for treatment of wastewater flows 
up to 1.608 million gallons per day. 
 
The current demand capacity of 7.5 million gallons per day provides the City with three (3) weighted votes as a 
member of the Upper Trinity Board. The City has one appointed member to the Upper Trinity Board of Directors 
and one appointed member to the Upper Trinity Customer Advisory Committee. Under agreements with the 
UTRWD, all participating and contract entities share in the cost of administering the District and in the cost of 
planning for future programs and services of the District. 
 
Note 11 -  Accounting Changes 
 
Adoption of New Standard 
 
As of October 1, 2017, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  The implementation of this standard requires governments 
calculate and report the cost, obligations, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflow of resources 
associated with other postemployment benefits other than pensions in their financial statements, including 
additional note disclosures and required supplementary information. Beginning net position was restated to adopt 
GASB Statement No. 75 and retroactively report the beginning total OPEB liability.  

393



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 
Corrections of Errors 
 
In prior years, the City did not allocate a portion of its net pension liability to its component unit, Corinth Economic 
Development Corporation (CEDC.) In addition, the City discovered an error in accruing revenue in the general fund 
and in governmental activities in fiscal year 2017 that was for the fiscal year 2018. As a result, beginning net position 
and fund balance were restated to allocate a portion of the net pension liability to CEDC and to correct the accrual 
of revenue. 
 
The impact of the adoption of the new standard and the correction of errors is as follows: 
 

Corinth

Economic

Governmental Business-Type Development
Activities Activities Corporation

Net position at September 30, 2017, 

as previously reported 40,954,292$    28,284,689$    3,603,623$    

Adoption of New Standard
Add total OPEB liability under GASB

Statement No. 75 at October 1, 2017 (232,583)          (29,079)            (2,937)            

Correction of Errors

Allocate net pension liability 85,051             -                       (85,051)          
Allocate deferred outflows - pension (26,494)            -                       26,494           

Allocate deferred inflows - pension 5,803               -                       (5,803)            

Correct error in revenue reported

in the prior year (156,913)          -                       -                     
Net position at October 1, 2017 as restated 40,629,156$    28,255,610$    3,536,326$    

 
 

Water Storm 

General and Sewer Drainage 

Fund Fund Fund

Fund balance/Net position 

at September 30, 2017, as previously reported 5,438,806$      24,531,722$    3,752,967$    

Adoption of New Standard

Add total OPEB liability under GASB

Statement No. 75 at October 1, 2017 -                       (26,989)            (2,090)            

Correction of Errors

Correct error in revenue reported

in the prior year (156,913)          -                       -                     

Fund balance/Net position 
at October 1, 2017, as restated 5,281,893$      24,504,733$    3,750,877$    

 
 

394



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 

395



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund (Exhibit B-1) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes

Property 8,415,105$      8,415,105$      8,407,599$      (7,506)$            
Sales 1,430,981        1,430,981        1,609,767        178,786           
Franchise 1,128,227        1,128,227        1,120,653        (7,574)              

Utility fees 17,500             17,500             24,719             7,219               
Traffic fines and forfeitures 705,268           705,268           722,634           17,366             
Development fees and 

permits 751,334           751,334           710,434           (40,900)            
Police fees and permits 28,450             28,450             22,158             (6,292)              
Parks and recreation fees 164,874           164,874           167,604           2,730               
Fire services 2,711,950        2,711,950        2,748,660        36,710             
Donations 11,750             11,750             -                       (11,750)            
Interest income 37,000             37,000             123,266           86,266             
Miscellaneous income 114,033           114,033           61,502             (52,531)            
Charges for services 562,890           562,890           564,514           1,624               

Total revenues 16,079,362      16,079,362      16,283,510      204,148           

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 10,708,060      10,388,027      9,965,972        422,055           
Community services 1,451,909        1,451,909        1,366,918        84,991             
Public works 798,782           798,782           751,837           46,945             
Planning and community

development 1,073,042        1,073,042        985,423           87,619             
City administration 2,187,829        2,039,114        1,957,650        81,464             
Finance and 

administrative 
services 1,035,221        984,409           893,640           90,769             
Total expenditures 17,254,843      16,735,283      15,921,440      813,843           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over (under) Expenditures (1,175,481)       (655,921)          362,070           1,017,991        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out (718,474)          (1,038,089)       (1,038,089)       -                       
Transfers in 830,131           830,131           830,131           -                       

Total Financing Sources (Uses) 111,657           (207,958)          (207,958)          -                       

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,063,824)       (863,879)          154,112           1,017,991        
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning), as restated 5,281,893        5,281,893        5,281,893        -                       
Fund Balance - 

September 30 (Ending) 4,218,069$      4,418,014$      5,436,005$      1,017,991$      

Budgeted Amounts

 

396



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios –  

Texas Municipal Retirement System (Exhibit B-2) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2017 2016 2015 2014

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 1,674,666$      1,636,649$      1,614,486$      1,444,400$      
Interest on total pension liability 2,468,757        2,244,189        2,163,512        1,994,674        
Changes of benefit terms -                       -                       -                       -                       
Differences between expected and 

actual experience (628,235)          409,560           (356,486)          (293,384)          
Change of assumptions -                       -                       (252,429)          -                       
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (1,067,764)       (897,171)          (783,303)          (854,227)          

Net change in total pension liability 2,447,424        3,393,227        2,385,780        2,291,463        

Total pension liability, beginning 36,270,726      32,877,499      30,491,719      28,200,256      

Total pension liability, ending (a) 38,718,150$    36,270,726$    32,877,499$    30,491,719$    

Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions - Employer 1,412,999$      1,372,064$      1,415,503$      1,209,444$      
Contributions - Employee 642,690           650,021           648,976           604,376           
Net investment income 3,942,063        1,730,262        35,841             1,263,034        
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (1,067,764)       (897,171)          (783,303)          (854,227)          
Administrative expenses (20,406)            (19,521)            (21,823)            (13,183)            
Other (1,034)              (1,052)              (1,078)              (1,084)              

Net change in fiduciary net position 4,908,548        2,834,603        1,294,116        2,208,360        

Fiduciary net position, beginning 28,410,206      25,575,603      24,281,487      22,073,127      

Fiduciary net position, ending (b) 33,318,754$    28,410,206$    25,575,603$    24,281,487$    

Net pension liability (asset), ending = (a) - (b) 5,399,396        7,860,520        7,301,896        6,210,232        

Fiduciary net position as a percentage of 
total pension liability 86.05% 78.33% 77.79% 79.63%

Pensionable covered payroll 9,181,285$      8,967,939$      9,252,068$      8,633,945$      

Net pension liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 58.81% 87.65% 78.92% 71.93%

Note: The information from this schedule corresponds with the period covered as of the Plan's measurement dates of 
December 31.  Plan information was unavailable prior to 2014.  Ten years will ultimately be displayed.

 

397



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Schedule of Employer Contributions – Texas Municipal Retirement System (Exhibit B-3) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Actual 
Contribution as

Actuarially Actual Contribution Pensionable  a Percentage 
Year Ending Determined Employer Deficiency Covered of Covered

September 30, Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll  Payroll

2014 1,188,806$      1,188,806$      -$                     8,633,945$      13.77%
2015 1,326,450        1,326,450        -                       8,806,738        15.06%
2016 1,380,260        1,380,260        -                       9,118,563        15.14%
2017 1,400,433        1,400,433        -                       8,994,707        15.57%
2018 1,489,711        1,489,711        -                       9,428,968        15.80%

Note: The information from this schedule corresponds with the City's fiscal years ended 
September 30.  Plan information was unavailable prior to 2014.  Ten years will ultimately be 
displayed.

398



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios –  

Supplemental Death Benefits Plan (Exhibit B-4) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
  

Year Ended
December 31,

2017

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 18,363$           
Interest on total OPEB liability 10,314             
Changes of benefit terms -                       
Differences between expected and 

actual experience -                       
Change of assumptions 28,959             
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (1,836)              

Net change in total OPEB liability 55,800             

Total OPEB liability, beginning 264,599           

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) 320,399$         

Pensionable covered payroll 9,181,285$      

Net pension liability as a percentage of 
covered payroll 3.49%

Note: The information from this schedule corresponds with the 
period covered as of the Plan's measurement dates of 
December 31.  Plan information was unavailable prior to 
2017.  Ten years will ultimately be displayed.

 
No assets are accumulated in a trust as defined by GASB 75. Benefits are on a pay as you go basis. 
 

399



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
Note A - Net Pension Liability – Texas Municipal Retirement System 
 
Assumptions 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to determine contribution rates: 
 
Valuation date  Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of 

December 31 and become effective in January 13 months later. 
   
Actuarial cost method  Entry age normal 
   
Amortization method  Level percentage of payroll, closed 
   
Remaining amortization period  26 years 
   
Asset valuation method  10-year smoothed market; 15% soft corridor 
   
Inflation  2.5% 
   
Salary increases  3.50% to 10.5%, including inflation 
   
Investment rate of return  6.75% 
   
Retirement age  Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City’s plan of 

benefits. Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant to an 
experience study of the 2010 – 2014. 

   
Mortality  RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with 

male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% 
and projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB. 

 
Changes of Benefit Terms 
 
There were no changes of benefit terms that affected measurement of the total pension liability during the 
measurement period. 
 
Changes in the Size or Composition of the Population Covered by the Benefit Terms 
 
There were no changes in the size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms during the 
measurement period. 
 
Changes of Assumptions 
 
There were no changes of assumptions or other inputs that affected measurement of the total pension liability during 
the measurement period.

400



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
Note B:           Total OPEB Liability – Texas Municipal Retirement System 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to determine contribution rates: 
 
Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 

31 and become effective in January 13 months later. 
   
Actuarial cost method   Entry age normal 
     
Inflation    2.5% 
   
Salary increases   3.50% to 10.5%, including inflation 
   
Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City’s plan of 

benefits. Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant to an experience 
study of the 2010 – 2014. 

   
Mortality RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with male 

rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% and 
projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB. 

 
Note C: Budgetary Process 
 
The official budget was prepared for adoption for the General Fund. The following procedures are followed in 
establishing the budgetary data reflected in the required supplementary information: 
 

a. Prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, the City prepares a budget for the next succeeding fiscal year. The 
operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 

 
b. A meeting of the City Council is then called for the purpose of adopting the proposed budget. At least ten 

days’ public notice of the meeting must have been given. 
 

c. Prior to the start of the fiscal year, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution by the City 
Council. 

 
d. Once a budget is approved, it can be amended only by approval of a majority of the members of the City 

Council. 
 

e. As required by law, such amendments are made before the fact, are reflected in the official minutes of the 
City Council and are not made after fiscal year end. 

 
f. No significant budget amendments occurred during the year ended September 30, 2018.  

 
g. All budget appropriations lapse at year end.

401



This page intentionally left blank 

402



COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

 

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenue sources that are restricted, committed, or  
assigned to expenditures for a particular purpose. 
 

 The Crime Control and Prevention District Fund is the blended component unit described previously. All 
revenues and expenditures related to the $.0025 sales tax are recorded in this fund.  

 The Street Maintenance Fund accounts for the receipt of a $.0025 special purpose sales tax and related 
expenditures.  

 Hotel-Motel Tax Fund accounts for hotel-motel tax collected and used to enhance and promote tourism.  

 The Keep Corinth Beautiful Fund was created to account for the donations, contributions and payments 
associated with beautification programs within the city.  

 County Child Safety Fund was created by State Statute to account for the funds used for school crossing 
guard services and programs designed to enhance child safety, health or nutrition. 

 Municipal Court Security Fund is used to account for funds restricted to provide security enhancements for 
the Municipal Court.  

 Municipal Court Technology Fund is used to accounts for funds restricted to provide technological 
enhancements for the Municipal Court.  

 Police Confiscation (State) Fund was created by State Statute and funds are restricted for law enforcement 
programs.  

 Police Confiscation (Federal) Fund was created by Federal Equitable Sharing Agreement and funds are 
restricted for law enforcement programs.  

 The Parks Development Fund was established to account for donations, contributions and payments 
associated with various park programs.  

 The Community Park Improvement Fund accounts for funds collected from the City’s Co-Sponsorship Athletic 
Leagues and funds are restricted for improvements to the Community Park. 

 Tree Mitigation Fund was created by City Ordinance to account for payment by City Developers in lieu of 
adhering to the City’s tree mitigation program.  

 The Roadway Impact Fee Fund is used to account for the receipt and expenditure of roadway impact fees as 
required by the State of Texas Local Government Code Section 395. 

 

Capital projects funds account for the acquisition and construction of the City’s major capital facilities,  
(other than those financed by proprietary funds) and vehicle replacement funds.  
 

• The Government Capital Projects Fund is used to account for funds and expenditures related to capital 
projects. 

• The Vehicle Replacement Fund is used to account for funds and expenditures related to future vehicle 
replacements. 

• The LCFD Vehicle and Equipment Replacement Fund is used to account for funds and expenditures for 
replacement of vehicles and equipment for the Lake Cities Fire Department.  

• Technology Equipment Replacement Fund is used to account for funds and expenditures for 
replacement of information technology equipment. 

• The Street Escrow Fund is used to account for funds and expenditures for all capital projects not 
specifically identified and not in the proprietary or trust funds.   

• Public Property Finance Fund is used to account for Lease Proceeds per Lease agreement. 
• 2016 GO Fund is used to account for the projects and funding associated with the Series 2016 General 

Obligation debt issue, a portion of which is dedicated to streets, infrastructure construction and 
improvements. 

• 2017 CO Fund is used to account for the projects and funding associated with the Series 2017 
Certificates of Obligation debt issue, a portion of which is dedicated to streets, infrastructure construction 
and improvements as well as acquiring, improving and equipping a new Public Safety Facility for the 
Police and Fire Departments.  It also accounts for the renovation of a Public Works facility and the Lake 
Sharon Road Extension.  

403



City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Exhibit C-1) 

 September 30, 2018 
 
 

Total

Special Capital Nonmajor

Revenue Projects Governmental

Funds Funds Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,204,027$      1,055,524$      3,259,551$      

Investments 851,396           1,762,865        2,614,261        

Receivables (net of allowance)

Sales taxes 140,375           -                       140,375           

Interest 3,183               3,710               6,893               

Miscellaneous 90,700             -                       90,700             

Total assets 3,289,681$      2,822,099$      6,111,780$      

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 4,224$             15,237$           19,461$           

Accrued liabilities 5,430               -                       5,430               

Other liabilities 700,031           -                       700,031           

Unearned revenue 7,500               -                       7,500               

Total liabilities 717,185           15,237             732,422           

Fund Balances

Restricted 2,611,761        -                       2,611,761        

Committed 350,034           2,806,862        3,156,896        

Unassigned (389,299)          -                       (389,299)          

Total fund balances 2,572,496        2,806,862        5,379,358        

Tot     resources and fund balances 3,289,681$      2,822,099$      6,111,780$      

404



 

 
  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Exhibit C-2) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Total
Special Capital Nonmajor
Revenue Projects Governmental

Funds Funds Funds

Revenues
Taxes

Sales 760,549$         -$                     760,549$         
Hotel occupancy tax 61,181             -                       61,181             

Escrow and impact fees 207,711           -                       207,711           
Traffic fines and forfeitures 36,363             -                       36,363             
Police fees and permits 28,020             -                       28,020             
Parks and recreation fees 9,935               -                       9,935               
Donations 70,151             205,883           276,034           
Interest income 29,358             30,019             59,377             
Grants 1,576               -                       1,576               
Miscellaneous income 278,942           -                       278,942           
Fire services -                       11,989             11,989             

Total revenues 1,483,786        247,891           1,731,677        

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 298,064           355,998           654,062           
Community services 55,054             6,413               61,467             
Public works 28,158             106,896           135,054           
Planning and community

development -                       54,681             54,681             
City administration 70,790             86,400             157,190           

Debt service
Principal -                       164,320           164,320           
Interest -                       41,957             41,957             

Capital outlay 227,030           -                       227,030           
Total expenditures 679,096           816,665           1,495,761        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over (under) Expenditures 804,690           (568,774)          235,916           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                       182,498           182,498           
Transfers out (357,413)          (216,422)          (573,835)          
Transfers in -                       682,706           682,706           

 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (357,413)          648,782           291,369           

Net Change in Fund Balance 447,277           80,008             527,285           
Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 2,125,219        2,726,854        4,852,073        

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) 2,572,496$      2,806,862$      5,379,358$      

405



 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

Crime Hotel 
Control & Street Motel

Prevention Maintenance Tax

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 392,319$         343,774$         166,236$         
Investments -                       851,396           -                       
 Receivables (net of allowance)

Sales taxes 65,549             74,826             -                       
Interest -                       3,183               -                       
Miscellaneous -                       -                       4,880               

Total assets 457,868$         1,273,179$      171,116$         

Liabilities 
Accounts payable -$                     221$                400$                
Accrued liabilities 4,759               -                       -                       
Other liabilities -                       -                       -                       
Unearned revenue -                       -                       -                       

Total liabilities 4,759               221                  400                  

Fund Balances
Restricted 453,109           1,272,958        170,716           
Committed -                       -                       -                       
Unassigned -                       -                       -                       

Total fund balances 453,109           1,272,958        170,716           

Total liabilities and fund balances 457,868$         1,273,179$      171,116$         

 

406



 

 
 (continued on the following page) 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (Exhibit C-3) 

 September 30, 2018 
 
 

Keep Municipal Municipal
Corinth County Child Special Court Court 

Beautiful Safety Revenue Security Technology

29,877$           1,219$             346,017$         79,516$           45,591$           
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       26,746             59,074             -                       -                       

29,877$           27,965$           405,091$         79,516$           45,591$           

971                  394$                1,798               -$                     -$                     
-                       671                  -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       7,500               -                       -                       

971                  1,065               9,298               -                       -                       

28,906             26,900             45,759             79,516             45,591             
-                       -                       350,034           -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

28,906             26,900             395,793           79,516             45,591             

29,877$           27,965$           405,091$         79,516$           45,591$           

 

407



 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

Police Community
Confiscation- Parks Park

State Development Improvement

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11,278$        324,014$         6,278$             
Investments -                    -                       -                       
 Receivables (net of allowance)

Sales taxes -                    -                       -                       
Interest -                    -                       -                       
Miscellaneous -                    -                       -                       

Total assets 11,278$        324,014$         6,278$             

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 440$             -$                     -$                     
Accrued liabilities -                    -                       -                       
Other liabilities 8,872            -                       -                       
Unearned revenue -                    -                       -                       

Total liabilities 9,312            -                       -                       

Fund Balances
Restricted 1,966            324,014           6,278               
Committed -                    -                       -                       
Unassigned -                    -                       -                       

Total fund balances 1,966            324,014           6,278               

Total liabilities and fund balances 11,278$        324,014$         6,278$             

 
 

408



 

 
 (concluded) 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (Exhibit C-3) 

 September 30, 2018 
 
 

Total 
Nonmajor

Roadway Special 
Tree Impact Revenue

Mitigation Fee Funds 

156,048$         301,860$         2,204,027$      
-                       -                       851,396           

-                       -                       140,375           
-                       -                       3,183               
-                       -                       90,700             

156,048$         301,860$         3,289,681$      

-$                     -$                     4,224$             
-                       -                       5,430               
-                       691,159           700,031           
-                       7,500               
-                       691,159           717,185           

156,048           -                       2,611,761        
-                       -                       350,034           
-                       (389,299)          (389,299)          

156,048           (389,299)          2,572,496        

156,048$         301,860$         3,289,681$      

 

409



 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 

Crime Hotel 
Control & Street Motel

Prevention Maintenance Tax

Revenues
Taxes   

Sales 362,534$         398,015$         -$                     
Hotel occupancy tax -                       -                       61,181             

Escrow and impact fees -                       -                       -                       
Traffic fines & forfeitures -                       -                       -                       
Police fees & permits -                       -                       -                       
Parks & recreation fees -                       -                       -                       
Donations -                       -                       -                       
Interest income 3,337               11,951             1,582               
Grants -                       -                       -                       
Miscellaneous income -                       -                       -                       

Total revenues 365,871           409,966           62,763             

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 243,659           -                       -                       
Community services -                       -                       -                       
Public works -                       28,158             -                       
City administration -                       -                       67,461             

Capital outlay -                       -                       -                       
Total expenditures 243,659           28,158             67,461             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over (under) Expenditures 122,212           381,808           (4,698)              

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out -                       (45,413)            -                       
Transfers in -                       -                       -                       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                       (45,413)            -                       

Net Change in Fund Balance 122,212           336,395           (4,698)              
Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 330,897           936,563           175,414           

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) 453,109$         1,272,958$      170,716$         

 

410



 

 (continued on the following page) 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (Exhibit C-4) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Keep Municipal Municipal
Corinth County Child Special Court Court 

Beautiful Safety Revenue Security Technology

-$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       2,484               14,537             19,342             
-                       28,020             -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

5,000               -                       15,151             -                       -                       
285                  71                    4,294               693                  470                  

-                       -                       1,576               -                       -                       
-                       -                       264,090           -                       -                       

5,285               28,091             287,595           15,230             19,812             

-                       23,490             16,107             -                       -                       
-                       -                       7,430               5,439               6,760               
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

3,329               -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       227,030           -                       -                       

3,329               23,490             250,567           5,439               6,760               

1,956               4,601               37,028             9,791               13,052             

-                       -                       -                       -                       (12,000)            
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       (12,000)            

1,956               4,601               37,028             9,791               1,052               
26,950             22,299             358,765           69,725             44,539             

28,906$           26,900$           395,793$         79,516$           45,591$           

411



 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Police Community
Confiscation- Parks Park

State Development Improvement

Revenues
Taxes

Sales -$                     -$                     -$                     
Hotel occupancy tax -                       -                       -                       

Escrow and impact fees -                       -                       -                       
Traffic fines & forfeitures -                       -                       -                       
Police fees & permits -                       -                       -                       
Parks & recreation fees -                       -                       9,935               
Donations -                       50,000             -                       
Interest income 139                  3,017               258                  
Grants -                       -                       -                       
Miscellaneous income 14,852             -                       -                       

Total revenues 14,991             53,017             10,193             

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 14,808             -                       -                       
Community services -                       8,571               26,854             
Public works -                       -                       -                       
City administration -                       -                       -                       

Capital outlay -                       -                       -                       
Total expenditures 14,808             8,571               26,854             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 183                  44,446             (16,661)            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out -                       -                       -                       
Transfers in -                       -                       -                       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                       -                       -                       

Net Change in Fund Balance 183                  44,446             (16,661)            
Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 1,783               279,568           22,939             

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) 1,966$             324,014$         6,278$             

412



 

 (concluded) 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds (Exhibit C-4) 
Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Total
Nonmajor

Roadway Special 
Tree Impact Revenue

Mitigation Fee Funds 

-$                     -$                     760,549$         
-                       -                       61,181             
-                       207,711           207,711           
-                       -                       36,363             
-                       -                       28,020             
-                       -                       9,935               
-                       -                       70,151             

1,423               1,838               29,358             
-                       -                       1,576               
-                       -                       278,942           

1,423               209,549           1,483,786        

-                       -                       298,064           
-                       -                       55,054             
-                       -                       28,158             
-                       -                       70,790             
-                       -                       227,030           
-                       -                       679,096           

1,423               209,549           804,690           

-                       (300,000)          (357,413)          
-                       -                       -                       
-                       (300,000)          (357,413)          

1,423               (90,451)            447,277           
154,625           (298,848)          2,125,219        

156,048$         (389,299)$        2,572,496$      

413



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Crime Control and Prevention Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-5) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget
Revenues

Taxes
Sales 327,424$         327,424$         362,534$         35,110$           
Interest income 1,000               1,000               3,337               2,337               

Total revenues 328,424           328,424           365,871           37,447             

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 312,413           312,413           243,659           68,754             
Total expenditures 312,413           312,413           243,659           68,754             

Net Change in Fund Balance 16,011             16,011             122,212           106,201           

Fund Balance - 
October 1 (Beginning) 330,897           330,897           330,897           -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 346,908$         346,908$         453,109$         106,201$         

Budgeted Amounts

414



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Street Maintenance Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-6) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes

Sales 356,711$      356,711$      398,015$      41,304$        
Interest income 3,500            3,500            11,951          8,451            

Total revenues 360,211        360,211        409,966        49,755          

Expenditures
Current

Public works 385,660 385,660 28,158          357,502        
Total expenditures 385,660        385,660        28,158          357,502        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (25,449)         (25,449)         381,808        407,257        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out -                    -                    (45,413)         (45,413)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    (45,413)         (45,413)         

Net Change in Fund Balance (25,449)         (25,449)         336,395        361,844        
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 936,563        936,563        936,563        -                    

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 911,114$      911,114$      1,272,958$   361,844$      

Budgeted Amounts

415



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Hotel Motel Tax Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-7) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget
Revenues

Taxes
Hotel occupancy tax 75,000$           75,000$           61,181$           (13,819)$          
Interest income -                       -                       1,582               1,582               

Total revenues 75,000             75,000             62,763             (12,237)            

Expenditures
Current

City administration 103,532           103,532           67,461             36,071             
Total expenditures 103,532           103,532           67,461             36,071             

Net Change in Fund Balance (28,532)            (28,532)            (4,698)              23,834             
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 175,414           175,414           175,414           -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 146,882$         146,882$         170,716$         23,834$           

Budgeted Amounts

416



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Keep Corinth Beautiful Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-8) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Donations 5,000$             5,000$             5,000$             -$                     
Interest income -                       -                       285                  285                  

Total revenues 5,000               5,000               5,285               285                  

Expenditures
Current

City administration 5,000               5,000               3,329               1,671               
Total expenditures 5,000               5,000               3,329               1,671               

Net Change in Fund Balance -                       -                       1,956               1,956               
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 26,950             26,950             26,950             -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 26,950$           26,950$           28,906$           1,956$             

Budgeted Amounts

417



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
County Child Safety Fund Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-9) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Police fees and permits 26,956$           26,956$           28,020$           1,064$             
Interest income -                       -                       71                    71                    

Total revenues 26,956             26,956             28,091             1,135               

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 26,956             26,956             23,490             3,466               
Total expenditures 26,956             26,956             23,490             3,466               

Net Change in Fund Balance -                       -                       4,601               4,601               
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 22,299             22,299             22,299             -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 22,299$           22,299$           26,900$           4,601$             

Budgeted Amounts

418



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Municipal Court Security Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-10) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget
Revenues

Traffic fines and forfeitures 12,800$           12,800$           14,537$           1,737$             
Interest income -                       -                       693                  693                  

Total revenues 12,800             12,800             15,230             2,430               

Expenditures
Current

Community services 7,500               7,500               5,439               2,061               
Total expenditures 7,500               7,500               5,439               2,061               

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
over Expenditures 5,300               5,300               9,791               4,491               

Net Change in Fund Balance 5,300               5,300               9,791               4,491               
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 69,725             69,725             69,725             -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 75,025$           75,025$           79,516$           4,491$             

Budgeted Amounts

419



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Municipal Court Technology Fund Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-11) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Traffic fines and forfeitures 17,000$           17,000$           19,342$           2,342$             
Interest income -                       -                       470                  470                  

Total revenues 17,000             17,000             19,812             2,812               

Expenditures
Current

Community services 19,530             30,442 6,760               23,682             
Total expenditures 19,530             30,442             6,760               23,682             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (2,530)              (13,442)            13,052             26,494             

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out (5,708)              (17,708)            (12,000)            5,708               

Total Other Financing 
Sources (Uses) (5,708)              (17,708)            (12,000)            5,708               

Net Change in Fund Balance (8,238)              (31,150)            1,052               32,202             
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 44,539             44,539             44,539             -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 36,301$           13,389$           45,591$           32,202$           

Budgeted Amounts

420



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Police Confiscation Fund – State – Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-12) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Interest income -$                     -$                     139$                139$                
Miscellaneous income -                       20,000             14,852             (5,148)              

Total revenues -                       20,000             14,991             (5,009)              

Expenditures
Current

Public safety -                       20,000             14,808             5,192               
Total expenditures -                       20,000             14,808             5,192               

Net Change in Fund Balance -                       -                       183                  183                  
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 1,783               1,783               1,783               -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 1,783$             1,783$             1,966$             183$                

Budgeted Amounts

421



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Parks Development Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-13) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Donations 50,000$           50,000$           50,000$           -$                     
Interest income -                       -                       3,017               3,017               
Miscellaneous income -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total revenues 50,000             50,000             53,017             3,017               

Expenditures
Current

Community services 40,000             40,000             8,571               31,429             
Total expenditures 40,000             40,000             8,571               31,429             

Net Change in Fund Balance 10,000             10,000             44,446             34,446             
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 279,568           279,568           279,568           -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 289,568$         289,568$         324,014$         34,446$           

Budgeted Amounts

422



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Community Park Improvement Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-14) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Parks and recreation fees 10,970$           10,970$           9,935$             (1,035)$            
Interest income -                       -                       258                  258                  

Total revenues 10,970             10,970             10,193             (777)                 

Expenditures
Current

Community services 34,000             34,000             26,854             7,146               
Total expenditures 34,000             34,000             26,854             7,146               

Net Change in Fund Balance (23,030)            (23,030)            (16,661)            6,369               
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 22,939             22,939             22,939             -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) (91)$                 (91)$                 6,278$             6,369$             

Budgeted Amounts

423



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Tree Mitigation Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-15) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Interest income -$                     -$                     1,423$             1,423$             

Total revenues -                       -                       1,423               1,423               

Expenditures
Current

Community services 5,000               5,000               -                       5,000               
Total expenditures 5,000               5,000               -                       5,000               

Net Change in Fund Balance (5,000)              (5,000)              1,423               6,423               
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 154,625           154,625           154,625           -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 149,625$         149,625$         156,048$         6,423$             

Budgeted Amounts

 

424



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Roadway Impact Fee Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-16) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Escrow and impact fees -$                     -$                     207,711$         207,711$         
Interest income -                       -                       1,838               1,838               

Total revenues -                       -                       209,549           209,549           

Expenditures
Capital outlay 300,000           -                       -                       -                       

Total expenditures 300,000           -                       -                       -                       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (300,000)          -                       209,549           209,549           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers out -                       (300,000)          (300,000)          -                       

Total Other Financing
Sources (Uses) -                       (300,000)          (300,000)          -                       

Net Change in Fund Balance (300,000)          (300,000)          (90,451)            209,549           
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) (298,848)          (298,848)          (298,848)          -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) (598,848)$        (598,848)$        (389,299)$        209,549$         

Budgeted Amounts

425



 

 

City of Corinth, Texas 
Debt Service Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Exhibit C-17) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Variance
Budgeted Amounts with Final

Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes

Property 2,127,417$      2,127,417$      2,141,177$      13,760$           
Interest Income -                       -                       8,215               8,215               
Miscellaneous Income -                       -                       422                  422                  

Total revenues 2,127,417        2,127,417        2,149,814        22,397             

Expenditures
 Debt Service:

Principal 1,211,465        1,211,465        1,211,465        -                       
Interest 1,078,087        1,077,647        1,022,312        55,335             
Bond issuance costs 10,000             10,440             10,440             -                       

Total expenditures 2,299,552        2,299,552        2,244,217        55,335             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (172,135)          (172,135)          (94,403)            77,732             

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
   Transfers in -                       -                       2,916               2,916               
Total Other Financing

Sources (Uses) -                       -                       2,916               2,916               

Net Change in Fund Balance (172,135)          (172,135)          (91,487)            80,648             
Fund Balance - 

October 1 (Beginning) 390,681           390,681           390,681           -                       

Fund Balance - 
September 30 (Ending) 218,546$         218,546$         299,194$         80,648$           

426



This page intentionally left blank 

427



 

  

 
 
 

 
 

Governmental LCFD Vehicle
Capital Vehicle and Equipment 
Projects Replacement Replacement

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 363,219$         210,232$         237,294$         
Investments 1,432,865        -                       330,000           
Receivables (net of allowance)

Interest 2,553               -                       1,157               
Miscellaneous -                       -                       -                       

Total assets 1,798,637$      210,232$         568,451$         

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 6,212$             -$                     9,025$             

Total liabilities 6,212               -                       9,025               

Fund Balances
Restricted -                       -                       -                       
Committed 1,792,425        210,232           559,426           

Total fund balances 1,792,425        210,232           559,426           

Total Liabilities and 
Fund Balances 1,798,637$      210,232$         568,451$         

 

428



 

  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds (Exhibit C-18) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 
 
 

Total 
Nonmajor

Tech Public Capital
Equipment 2007 CO Property Projects

Replacement Street Escrow Streets Finance Funds 

90,047$           154,732$         -$                     -$                     1,055,524$      
-                       -                       -                       -                       1,762,865        

-                       -                       -                       -                       3,710               
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

90,047$           154,732$         -$                     -$                     2,822,099$      

-$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     15,237$           
-                       -                       -                       -                       15,237             

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
90,047             154,732           -                       -                       2,806,862        
90,047             154,732           -                       -                       2,806,862        

90,047$           154,732$         -$                     -$                     2,822,099$      

429



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental LCFD Vehicle
Capital Vehicle and Equipment 
Projects Replacement Replacement

Revenues
Donations 205,000$         -$                     -$                     
Interest income 21,152             1,491               4,411               
Fire services -                       -                       11,989             

Total revenues 226,152           1,491               16,400             

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 9,750               82,232             24,150             
Community services -                       6,413               -                       
Public works 17,330             691                  -                       
Planning and community

development 45,186             9,495               -                       
City administration 250                  7,750               -                       

Debt service
Principal -                       -                       164,320           
Interest -                       -                       41,957             

Total expenditures 72,516             106,581           230,427           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over (under) Expenditures 153,636           (105,090)          (214,027)          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                       176,452           5,354               
Transfers out (200,000)          -                       -                       
Transfers in 60,125             23,295             461,126           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (139,875)          199,747           466,480           

Net Change in Fund Balance 13,761             94,657             252,453           
Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning) 1,778,664        115,575           306,973           

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending) 1,792,425$      210,232$         559,426$         

430



 

  

City of Corinth, Texas 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance Capital Projects (Exhibit C-19) 

Year Ended September 30, 2018 

 
 

Total 
Nonmajor

Tech Public Capital 
Equipment 2007 CO Property Projects

Replacement Street Escrow Streets Finance Funds 

883$                -$                     -$                     -$                     205,883$         
1,063               1,411               -                       491                  30,019             

-                       -                       -                       -                       11,989             
1,946               1,411               -                       491                  247,891           

-                       -                       -                       239,866           355,998           
-                       -                       -                       -                       6,413               
-                       -                       88,875             -                       106,896           

-                       -                       -                       -                       54,681             
78,400             -                       -                       -                       86,400             

-                       -                       -                       -                       164,320           
-                       -                       -                       -                       41,957             

78,400             -                       88,875             239,866           816,665           

(76,454)            1,411               (88,875)            (239,375)          (568,774)          

692                  -                       -                       -                       182,498           
-                       -                       (2,916)              (13,506)            (216,422)          

138,160           -                       -                       -                       682,706           
138,852           -                       (2,916)              (13,506)            648,782           

62,398             1,411               (91,791)            (252,881)          80,008             
27,649             153,321           91,791             252,881           2,726,854        

90,047$           154,732$         -$                     -$                     2,806,862$      

 

431



This page intentionally left blank 

432



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

433



434



 

 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

This part of the City of Corinth, Texas’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a 

context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures and required 

supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health. 

 

Contents 

 

Financial Trends 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial 

performance and well-being have changed over time. (Tables D-1 – D-5) 

  

Revenue Capacity 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting the City’s ability to  

generate its property and sales taxes. (Tables D-6 – D-12) 

 

Debt Capacity  

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s current levels 

 of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. (Tables D-13 – D-16) 

 

Demographic and Economic Information  

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand how the City’s 

financial activities take place and to help make comparisons over time and with other governments.    

(Tables D-17 – D-19) 

 

Operating Information 

These schedules contain information about the City’s operations and resources to help the reader 

understand how the City’s financial information relates to the services the City provides and the activities it 

performs. (Tables D-20 – D-21) 

 

 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual 

financial reports for the relevant year. 

435



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS 

(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(Unaudited)

Governmental Activities 2009 2010 2011 2012

Net Investment in Capital Assets 41,050,434$ 39,858,647$ 41,537,428$   38,965,723$   

Restricted 795,115        6,713,859     2,400,976       2,614,336       

Unrestricted 8,395,075     2,683,382     6,854,904       6,708,569       

50,240,624$ 49,255,888$ 50,793,308$   48,288,628$   

Business-type Activities

Net Investment in Capital Assets 15,881,901$ 17,746,701$ 19,490,897$   21,783,319$   

Restricted -                    -                    -                      -                      

Unrestricted 5,638,822     5,883,737     5,858,618       6,216,578       

21,520,723$ 23,630,438$ 25,349,515$   27,999,897$   

Primary Government

Net Investment in Capital Assets 56,932,335$ 57,605,348$ 61,028,325$   60,749,042$   

Restricted 795,115        6,713,859     2,400,976       2,614,336       

Unrestricted 14,033,897   8,567,119     12,713,522     12,925,147     

71,761,347$ 72,886,326$ 76,142,823$   76,288,525$   

Note:

Total Governmental Activities Net Position

Total Primary Government Net Position

Governmental Activities:

2007 through 2009 restated for correction of basis in streets.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

Total Business-Type Activities Net Position

2009 restated for reclassification of fund.

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

Business-type Activities:

2009 restated for miscellaneous revenue and debt expenses.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

436



TABLE D-1

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

37,401,599$   36,991,003$   37,162,807$   35,967,465$   35,025,019$   35,039,143$   

3,776,495       4,078,719       1,066,371       1,759,359       2,600,794       2,830,975       

5,660,613       4,522,015       1,767,508       1,817,109       3,328,479       3,038,070       

46,838,707$   45,591,737$   39,996,686$   39,543,933$   40,954,292$   40,908,188$   

21,661,416$   21,552,151$   21,568,651$   21,537,921$   21,633,740$   23,453,132$   

-                      -                      645,963          647,502          1,127,099       1,295,181       

6,897,008       6,250,406       4,856,975       4,285,029       5,523,850       5,059,830       

28,558,424$   27,802,557$   27,071,589$   26,470,452$   28,284,689$   29,808,143$   

59,063,015$   58,543,154$   58,731,458$   57,505,386$   56,658,759$   58,492,275$   

3,776,495       4,078,719       1,712,334       2,406,861       3,727,893       4,126,156       

12,557,621     10,772,421     6,624,483       6,102,138       8,852,329       8,097,900       

75,397,131$   73,394,294$   67,068,275$   66,014,385$   69,238,981$   70,716,331$   

Governmental Activities:

2007 through 2009 restated for correction of basis in streets.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

2009 restated for reclassification of fund.

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

Business-type Activities:

2009 restated for miscellaneous revenue and debt expenses.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

437



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

EXPENSES, PROGRAM REVENUES, AND NET (EXPENSE)/REVENUE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(Unaudited)

Expenses 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Governmental Activities:

Public Safety 7,956,599$       7,716,433$       7,454,086$       7,769,391$       

Community Services 2,452,756         1,979,094         1,713,873         1,729,610         

Public Works 1,784,753         4,152,860         4,268,961         4,829,902         

Planning & Development 877,117            875,457            709,683            730,829            

City Administration 1,340,171         1,876,455         1,663,492         1,607,926         

Financial Services 686,977            688,069            634,749            655,335            

Interest on Long-Term Debt 969,752            920,663            809,445            821,597            

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 16,068,125       18,209,031       17,254,289       18,144,590       

Business-Type Activities:

Water & Wastewater 10,356,404       10,261,683       9,981,826         10,198,636       

Storm Water Utility 510,190            527,768            449,894            520,098            

Total Business-Type Activities Expenses 10,866,594       10,789,451       10,431,720       10,718,734       
Total Primary Government Expenses 26,934,719$     28,998,482$     27,686,009$     28,863,324$     

Program Revenues

Governmental Activities:

Charges for Services:

Public Safety 3,028,462$       2,858,365$       3,218,248$       3,036,630$       

Community Services 178,695            197,322            305,958            318,297            

Public Works -                        -                        340,413            72,087              

Planning & Development 297,861            298,676            564,447            364,980            

City Administration -                        -                        -                        -                        

Finance Services 1,024,019         1,180,425         177,273            88,599              

Operating Grants & Contributions 107,572            166,836            152,477            101,458            

Capital Grants & Contributions 171,306            1,243,666         858,404            944,835            

4,807,915         5,945,290         5,617,220         4,926,886         

Business-Type Activities:

Charges for Services:

Water & Wastewater 10,306,400       11,094,103       12,221,335       11,715,891       

Storm Water Utility 552,871            587,074            552,916            655,400            

Operating Grants & Contributions -                        -                        -                        -                        

Capital Grants & Contributions 649,055            1,255,490         1,303,744         581,490            

11,508,326       12,936,667       14,077,995       12,952,781       
16,316,241$     18,881,957$     19,695,215$     17,879,667$     

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental Activities (11,260,210)$    (12,263,741)$    (11,637,069)$    (13,217,704)$    

Business-Type Activities 641,732            2,147,216         3,646,275         2,234,047         
Total Primary Government Net Expense (10,618,478)$    (10,116,525)$    (7,990,794)$      (10,983,657)$    

Note:

Total Governmental Activities Program 

Total Business-Type Activities Program 
Total Primary Government Program 

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

438



TABLE D-2

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

8,188,441$       8,558,062$       8,937,222$       9,331,392$       10,464,824$     12,945,976$     

1,740,402         1,735,618         1,855,018         1,734,299         1,533,030         1,511,542         

4,726,964         4,655,417         4,661,909         4,471,115         4,534,197         1,595,297         

731,234            715,554            860,549            1,013,413         857,360            1,034,510         

1,631,852         1,854,669         1,873,459         2,032,778         1,940,255         2,128,443         

662,238            665,351            746,482            878,384            888,324            886,880            

743,848            702,883            613,346            747,838            844,665            828,591            

18,424,979       18,887,554       19,547,985       20,209,219       21,062,655       20,931,239       

10,429,711       10,645,670       11,107,570       12,157,058       12,098,839       12,342,091       

515,487            571,624            540,217            525,740            517,412            560,241            

10,945,198       11,217,294       11,647,787       12,682,798       12,616,251       12,902,332       
29,370,177$     30,104,848$     31,195,772$     32,892,017$     33,678,906$     33,833,571$     

3,316,940$       3,595,280$       3,516,328$       3,960,494$       3,934,109$       3,351,543$       

312,490            377,982            230,940            206,560            210,498            234,622            

25,895              111,242            209,723            59,205              156,559            207,711            

342,817            488,706            647,336            540,906            1,200,712         749,678            

-                        94,979              92,142              105,401            93,302              83,042              

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

144,879            284,954            299,613            189,114            97,506              277,286            

551,016            -                        380,748            332,872            1,630,239         1,266,428         

4,694,037         4,953,143         5,376,830         5,394,552         7,322,925         6,170,310         

11,582,827       10,648,512       10,991,068       11,047,722       11,332,588       13,152,059       

667,215            680,128            692,943            703,783            727,197            719,458            

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

192,927            176,068            607,013            1,448,393         2,997,195         937,813            

12,442,969       11,504,708       12,291,024       13,199,898       15,056,980       14,809,330       
17,137,006$     16,457,851$     17,667,854$     18,594,450$     22,379,905$     20,979,640$     

(13,730,942)$    (13,934,411)$    (14,171,155)$    (14,814,667)$    (13,739,730)$    (14,760,929)$    

1,497,771         287,414            643,237            517,100            2,440,729         1,906,998         
(12,233,171)$    (13,646,997)$    (13,527,918)$    (14,297,567)$    (11,299,001)$    (12,853,931)$    

2012 restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

2015 restated for implementation of GASB 68.

439



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

GENERAL REVENUES AND TOTAL CHANGE IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(Unaudited)

Net (Expense)/Revenue 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Governmental Activities (11,260,210)$        (12,263,741)$        (11,637,069)$        (13,217,704)$        

Business-Type Activities 641,732                2,147,216             3,646,275             2,234,047             

(10,618,478)          (10,116,525)          (7,990,794)            (10,983,657)          

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities:

Taxes

Property Taxes 8,288,285             8,117,648             8,236,635             8,292,788             

Sales Taxes 1,017,734             1,463,459             1,591,901             1,689,889             

Franchise Taxes 1,456,065             919,700                1,083,786             1,065,097             

Hotel Occupancy Taxes -                            -                            -                            -                            

Miscellaneous 95,154                  20,050                  34,555                  143,809                

Investment Earnings 318,460                207,718                98,471                  63,010                  

Gain (Loss) on sale of Capital Assets -                            -                            -                            -                            

Special Item Outflow -                            -                            (700,000)               (134,385)               

Transfers 360,418                550,426                2,734,363             (269,093)               

Total Governmental Activities 11,536,116           11,279,001           13,079,711           10,851,115           

Business-Type Activities:

Miscellaneous 53,980                  355,428                31,858                  11,738                  

Investment Earnings 295,606                157,497                75,308                  59,488                  

Gain (Loss) on sale of Capital Assets -                            -                            -                            -                            

Special Item Outflow -                            -                            700,000                134,385                

Transfers (360,418)               (550,426)               (2,734,363)            269,093                

Total Business-Type Activities (10,832)                 (37,501)                 (1,927,197)            474,704                

Total Primary Government 11,525,284$         11,241,500$         11,152,514$         11,325,819$         

Change in Net Position

Governmental Activities 275,906                (984,740)               1,442,642             (2,366,589)            

Business-Type Activities 630,900                2,109,715             1,719,078             2,708,751             

Total Primary Government 906,806$              1,124,975$           3,161,720$           342,162$              

Note:

Total Primary Government Net Expense

Note: This information is presented using the accrual basis of accounting.

2012 is restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

Hotel Occupancy Tax was previously reported in the Sales Tax category.

440



TABLE D-3

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

(13,730,942)$        (13,934,411)$        (14,171,155)$        (14,814,667)$        (13,739,730)$        (14,760,929)$        

1,497,771             287,414                643,237                517,100                2,440,729             1,906,998             

(12,233,171)          (13,646,997)          (13,527,918)          (14,297,567)          (11,299,001)          (12,853,931)          

8,501,824             8,674,195             9,291,409             9,663,535             10,629,143           10,587,532           

1,728,567             1,822,924             1,889,020             2,023,059             2,253,805             2,370,316             

967,846                1,039,646             1,074,217             1,068,910             1,073,789             1,120,653             

-                            -                            67,833                  79,007                  77,673                  61,181                  

38,121                  13,925                  45,685                  237,674                204,231                251,014                

49,427                  53,968                  55,043                  87,433                  228,971                57,042                  

-                            -                            14,712                  43,222                  3,497                    94,205                  

8,556                    -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

986,679                1,082,783             778,956                1,159,074             678,980                498,018                

12,281,020           12,687,441           13,216,875           14,361,914           15,150,089           15,039,961           

5,145                    10,216                  (391)                      4,741                    7,600                    94,664                  

42,290                  29,280                  18,423                  26,328                  43,692                  6,748                    

-                            -                            5,333                    9,768                    1,196                    42,141                  

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

(986,679)               (1,082,783)            (778,956)               (1,159,074)            (678,980)               (498,018)               

(939,244)               (1,043,287)            (755,591)               (1,118,237)            (626,492)               (354,465)               

11,341,776$         11,644,154$         12,461,284$         13,243,677$         14,523,597$         14,685,496$         

(1,449,922)            (1,246,970)            (954,280)               (452,753)               1,410,359             279,032                

558,527                (755,873)               (112,354)               (601,137)               1,814,237             1,552,533             

(891,395)$             (2,002,843)$          (1,066,634)$          (1,053,890)$          3,224,596$           1,831,565$           

Note: This information is presented using the accrual basis of accounting.

2012 is restated for implementation of GASB 63 and GASB 65.

Hotel Occupancy Tax was previously reported in the Sales Tax category.

441



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(Unaudited)

General Fund 2009 2010 2011 2012

Reserved 103,982$              143,025$              -$                          -$                          

Non-Spendable -                            -                            216,714                207,875                

Unreserved 4,337,600             3,730,485             -                            -                            

Unassigned -                            -                            4,552,509             5,246,829             

Total General Fund 4,441,582$           3,873,510$           4,769,223$           5,454,704$           

All Other Governmental Funds

Reserved 2,660,627$           4,666,027$           -$                          -$                          

Restricted -                            -                            4,427,759             2,304,546             

Committed -                            -                            1,170,771             1,885,185             

Unreserved, Reported In:

Special Revenue Funds 1,862,162             1,879,248             -                            -                            

Capital Projects Funds 7,670,458             2,054,708             -                            -                            

Unassigned (268,858)               (351,404)               

12,193,247$         8,599,983$           5,329,672$           3,838,327$           

Note:

Total all other Governmental Funds

GASB 54 was implemented in 2011.

442



TABLE D-4

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

-$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          

211,465                222,652                244,486                439,146                195,750                251,776                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

3,950,657             3,587,445             3,482,449             3,295,962             5,243,056             5,184,229             

4,162,122$           3,810,097$           3,726,935$           3,735,108$           5,438,806$           5,436,005$           

-$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          

2,199,692             1,143,608             1,155,506             13,370,197           14,479,349           5,873,511             

3,286,748             4,067,270             2,946,280             2,623,387             2,703,352             3,156,896             

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

(441,149)               (579,436)               (480,444)               (442,236)               (298,848)               (389,299)               

5,045,291$           4,631,442$           3,621,342$           15,551,348$         16,883,853$         8,641,108$           

GASB 54 was implemented in 2011.

443



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(Unaudited)

Revenues 2009 2010 2011 2012

Taxes 10,771,375$         10,530,117$         10,911,621$         11,048,433$         

Licenses, Fees and Permits 283,232                304,009                1,091,761             661,689                

Fines & Penalties 700,857                652,755                634,141                577,101                

Charges for Services 3,256,122             3,529,997             2,547,590             2,531,739             

Investment Earnings 318,461                207,717                98,470                  63,010                  

Donations -                            713,564                1,012,607             947,567                

Special Assessments 114,719                110,972                -                            -                            

Intergovernmental 97,101                  269,142                -                            -                            

Other Revenues 99,494                  63,697                  160,522                205,271                

Total Revenues 15,641,361           16,381,970           16,456,712           16,034,810           

Expenditures

Public Safety 7,740,539             8,241,429             8,073,621             7,520,802             

Fire -                            -                            -                            -                            

Community Services 2,309,808             1,825,414             1,752,265             1,794,276             

Public Works 929,424                876,510                1,640,574             1,222,644             

Planning &  Development 855,155                872,953                699,586                751,109                

City Administration 1,498,948             1,659,476             1,454,431             1,444,883             

Finance Services 685,409                672,763                614,157                641,484                

General Government 973,949                -                            -                            -                            

Capital Outlay -                            6,098,235             5,122,041             890,602                

Debt Service

Principal 1,494,683             1,480,700             1,456,375             1,534,125             

Interest 910,577                870,581                847,405                813,965                

Paying Agent Fees 9,366                    -                            -                            -                            

Bond Issuance Costs 1,107                    27,827                  -                            -                            

Total Expenditures 17,408,965           22,625,888           21,660,455           16,613,890           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Bonds Issued -                            1,500,000             -                            -                            

Payments to Escrow Agent -                            -                            -                            -                            

Bond Premium/Discount -                            -                            -                            -                            

Capital Lease 5,434                    -                            -                            -                            

Sale of Capital Assets -                            -                            -                            42,309                  

Transfers In/Out 360,418                550,426                2,734,363             (269,093)               

365,852                2,050,426             2,734,363             (226,784)               

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,401,752)$          (4,193,492)$          (2,469,380)$          (805,864)$             

15.20% 15.16% 15.51% 15.68%

The Debt Service ratio to noncapital expenditures is calculated by dividing debt service expenditures by total 
expenditures less capital outlay.(Exhibit A-6).

Total Other Financing Sources 

(Uses)

Debt service as a percentage of 

noncapital expenditures

444



TABLE D-5

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

11,210,497$         11,538,485$         12,329,258$         12,807,008$         14,034,768$         14,100,926$         

285,165                903,407                1,050,172             797,332                1,557,520             1,170,581             

974,231                723,174                682,284                712,852                619,747                758,997                

2,534,668             2,826,329             3,132,880             3,159,963             3,063,911             3,325,163             

49,427                  53,967                  55,043                  87,433                  204,231                251,014                

571,827                89,514                  96,633                  186,220                94,185                  1,542,462             

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

190,849                82,083                  123,070                292,949                324,855                352,973                

15,816,664           16,216,959           17,469,340           18,043,757           19,899,217           21,502,116           

8,393,476             9,422,471             9,167,774             9,702,983             9,234,496             10,620,034           

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

2,113,911             2,405,814             1,765,661             1,507,526             1,353,153             1,428,385             

878,847                1,483,829             2,600,403             1,721,981             1,086,857             886,891                

727,249                718,253                871,281                981,151                874,835                1,040,104             

1,591,760             1,636,334             1,766,937             2,173,809             1,777,956             2,114,840             

655,646                652,321                732,037                862,114                862,354                893,640                

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

27,648                  -                            -                            3,727,303             4,958,837             7,965,300             

1,743,686             1,892,482             1,836,489             1,806,587             1,542,615             1,375,785             

756,738                694,004                627,358                784,585                1,109,103             1,064,269             

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            232,870                10,440                  

16,888,961           18,905,508           19,367,940           23,268,039           23,033,076           27,399,688           

-                            -                            -                            17,116,713           13,017,245           -                            

-                            -                            -                            (1,179,213)            (7,542,236)            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

-                            839,890                26,382                  65,887                  16,073                  182,498                

986,679                1,082,783             778,956                1,159,074             678,980                (2,373,559)            

986,679                1,922,673             805,338                17,162,461           6,170,062             (2,191,061)            

(85,618)$               (765,876)$             (1,093,262)$          11,938,179$         3,036,203$           (8,088,633)$          

18.23% 16.04% 15.03% 15.45% 17.73% 8.9%

445



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-6

TAX REVENUES BY SOURCE, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year Property Tax
Sales & Hotel 

Tax
Franchise Tax Total

2009 8,297,576          1,456,065           1,017,734       10,771,375    

2010 8,142,985          1,463,459           923,673          10,530,117    

2011 8,235,934          1,591,901           1,083,786       10,911,621    

2012 8,293,447          1,689,889           1,065,097       11,048,433    

2013 8,514,084          1,728,567           967,846          11,210,497    

2014 8,675,915          1,822,924           1,039,646       11,538,485    

2015 9,298,188          1,956,853           1,074,217       12,329,258    

2016 9,636,032          2,102,066           1,068,910       12,807,008    

2017 10,629,501        2,331,478           1,073,789       14,034,768    

2018 10,548,776        2,431,497           1,120,653       14,100,926    

Percent Change

2009-2018 27.13% 66.99% 10.11% 30.91%

446



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-7

ASSESSED VALUE AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal 

Year

Residential 

Property

Commercial 

Property

Less: Tax-

Exempt 

Property

Total Taxable 

Assessed Value

Total Direct Tax 

Rate

Estimated 

Actual  Value

Taxable 

Assessed Value 

as a Percent of 

Actual Taxable 

Value

2009 1,187,265,640   190,126,178      16,522,699        1,360,869,119   0.57698             1,393,914,517   97.629%

2010 1,153,359,201   325,754,337      92,100,190        1,387,013,348   0.57698             1,387,013,348   100.000%

2011 1,252,309,929   234,688,468      96,489,458        1,390,508,939   0.59292             1,390,508,939   100.000%

2012 1,211,861,253   268,045,937      88,120,582        1,391,786,608   0.59135             1,391,786,608   100.000%

2013 1,201,904,159   283,761,674      88,447,340        1,397,218,493   0.60489             1,397,218,493   100.000%

2014 1,221,191,136   295,352,467      85,760,821        1,430,782,782   0.60489             1,430,782,782   100.000%

2015 1,267,097,852   326,129,542      59,168,386        1,534,059,008   0.59489             1,652,395,780   92.838%

2016 1,348,410,542   385,457,523      95,347,173        1,638,520,892   0.58489             1,770,835,524   92.528%

2017 1,479,545,576   425,594,137      105,756,559      1,799,383,154   0.58193             1,969,484,281   91.363%

2018 1,610,439,701   200,107,034      142,108,059      1,952,654,794   0.53686             2,143,695,625   91.088%

Source:  Denton Central Appraisal District. 

447



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-8

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING PROPERTY TAX RATES

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

City Property Tax Rate       Overlapping Rates

Fiscal 

Year

O & M Tax 

Rate

General 

Obligation 

Debt 

Service

Total Tax 

Rate

Denton 

ISD

Lake 

Dallas ISD

Corinth 

Municipal 

Utility 

District

Denton 

County

2009 0.43852   0.13846      0.57698   1.49000   1.65000   0.31000        0.24980   

2010 0.43852   0.13846      0.57698   1.49000   1.65000   0.21000        0.27390   

2011 0.44946   0.14346      0.59292   1.53000   1.67000   0.15000        0.27740   

2012 0.44789   0.14346      0.59135   1.53000   1.67000   -          0.27740   

2013 0.46143   0.14346      0.60489   1.53000   1.67000   -          0.28290   

2014 0.46143   0.14346      0.60489   1.53000   1.67000   -          0.28490   

2015 0.45143   0.14346      0.59489   1.54000   1.67000   -          0.27220   

2016 0.44143   0.14346      0.58489   1.54000   1.67000   -          0.26200   

2017 0.44298   0.13895      0.58193   1.54000   1.67000   -          0.24841   

2018 0.42791   0.10895      0.53686   1.54000   1.67000   -          0.23780   

Source:  Denton County Appraisal District

448



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-9

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAX PAYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

Taxpayer

 Taxable 

Assessed 

Value Rank

Percent of 

Total City 

Taxable 

Assessed 

Value

 Taxable 

Assessed 

Value Rank

Percent of 

Total City 

Taxable 

Assessed 

Value

Boulevard 2010 LLC 26,178,509      1 1.34%

Denton County Electric Coop 22,309,376      2 1.14% 13,703,387   2 0.98%

Oncor Electric Delivery Co 13,757,630      3 0.70% 12,591,150   1 0.90%

CoSer Electric Coop 12,864,600      4 0.66%

Oxford 2181 Inc 12,709,643      5 0.65%

Tower Ridge Corinth I, LTD 8,682,463        6 0.44% 7,482,980     4 0.54%

HEB Grocery Company LP 8,261,218        7 0.42%

Utter, Bill 8,093,666        8 0.41% 5,220,167     8 0.37%

Anixter, Inc. 7,582,667        9 0.39%

Kensington Square LP PS 7,497,667        10 0.38% 6,787,200     6 0.49%

Utter Properties LLC 7,084,072     5 0.51%

Corinth Autumn Oaks, LP 4,415,366     10 0.32%

HD Supply Utilities LTD #3430 4,915,664     9 0.35%

North Texas Nissan Realty,Inc 5,447,884     7 0.39%

Corinth Investor Holdings LLC 7,847,237     3 0.56%

Total 127,937,439$  6.55% 75,495,107$ 5.41%

Source:  Denton Central Appraisal District

2018 2009

449



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-10

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collected Within the

Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date

Fiscal Year 

Ended 

September 30

 Taxes Levied 

for the Fiscal 

Year  Amount 

Percent of 

Levy

 Collections 

in 

Subsequent 

Years  Amount 

Percent of 

Levy

2009 8,213,110         8,155,554         99.30% 56,447           8,212,001    99.99%

2010 8,124,258         8,023,338         98.76% 100,109         8,123,447    99.99%

2011 8,222,763         8,121,978         98.77% 98,210           8,220,188    99.97%

2012 8,300,538         8,207,634         98.88% 90,305           8,297,939    99.97%

2013 8,453,267         8,425,528         99.67% 24,399           8,449,927    99.96%

2014 8,663,332         8,630,897         99.63% 22,326           8,653,223    99.88%

2015 9,187,621         9,160,871         99.71% 9,768             9,170,639    99.82%

2016 9,594,646         9,568,054         99.72% 8,167             9,576,221    99.81%

2017 10,467,690       10,432,195       99.66% 3,953             10,436,148  99.70%

2018 10,503,022       10,472,993       99.71% -                     10,472,993  99.71%

Note:

Current year original tax levy net of supplements and adjustments in current tax year.

Collections in subsequent years are net of supplements and adjustments in subsequent years.

Source:  Denton County Tax Office

450



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-11

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING SALES TAX RATES

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

Corinth Direct 

Sales Tax Rate

Corinth Street 

Maintenance 

Sales Tax

Economic 

Development 

Sec. 4(B) 

Sales Tax

Corinth Crime 

Control & 

Prevention 

Sales Tax

2009 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2010 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2011 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2012 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2013 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2014 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2015 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2016 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2017 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

2018 1.00% 0.25% 0.50% 0.25%

Source:  City of Corinth Finance department

451



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

TAXABLE SALES BY CATEGORY

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS

2009 2010 2011 2012

Construction 1,292,850            311,261               942,329               2,146,600            

Manufacturing 2,753,171            923,369               738,294               484,720               

Utilities 84,365,709          90,520,993          90,939,863          82,316,673          

Wholesale Trade 2,603,344            3,213,997            4,319,250            2,532,277            

Retail Trade 19,620,574          20,762,549          22,852,835          26,103,441          

Services 4,527,386            4,879,098            5,710,772            6,865,632            

Other 18,906,284          19,772,152          21,602,742          23,290,303          

Total 134,069,318        140,383,419        147,106,085        143,739,646        

Direct Sales Tax Rate 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Note:

Sales tax for 2018 reports first two quarters only due to reporting lag by  State Comptroller's Office.

Source:  Texas State Comptroller 

452



TABLE D-12

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2,781,669            2,318,987            4,309,632            4,700,702            3,994,986            2,089,398            

442,231               626,667               481,999               753,527               614,605               456,463               

92,911,304          109,928,880        110,581,672        104,636,898        115,420,823        59,574,743          

3,100,915            3,088,654            7,617,017            7,302,049            10,649,928          4,035,360            

26,504,414          27,888,328          29,287,734          30,504,049          33,210,828          16,342,574          

6,730,599            7,243,623            7,228,816            7,686,622            7,466,146            4,210,238            

24,190,424          24,648,881          25,034,737          25,575,315          27,498,369          16,008,710          

156,661,556        175,744,020        184,541,607        181,159,162        198,855,685        102,717,486        

1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

453



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-13

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Other Governmental Activities Debt

Fiscal 

Year

General 

Obligation 

Bonds

Certificates 

of 

Obligation/ 

Tax Notes

Total Tax 

Supported 

Debt

Percent of 

Actual 

Taxable 

Value of 

Property

Per Capita 

General 

Bonded 

Debt

Capital 

Leases

2009 10,978,150 8,473,000   19,451,150 1.43% 983          23,314          

2010 10,106,450 9,364,000   19,470,450 1.40% 977          -                    

2011 9,082,075   10,860,931 19,943,006 1.43% 988          -                    

2012 8,004,950   9,309,385   17,314,335 1.24% 848          -                    

2013 6,887,875   8,682,775   15,570,650 1.11% 756          -                    

2014 5,738,000   8,021,998   13,759,998 0.96% 661          758,058        

2015 4,611,500   7,388,904   12,000,404 0.78% 573          683,391        

2016 3,458,925   20,102,388 23,561,313 1.44% 1,118       1,298,191     

2017 7,809,874   18,335,001 26,144,875 1.45% 1,229       1,381,618     

2018 6,663,408   15,470,001 22,133,409 1.13% 1,038       1,217,298     

Fiscal 

Year

General 

Obligation 

Bonds

Certificates 

of 

Obligation Total

Capital 

Leases

Total 

Primary 

Government

Per Capita 

Primary 

Government

Percent of 

Personal 

Income

2009 2,176,850   13,327,000 15,503,850 23,314        35,001,628   1,769            4.78%

2010 1,923,550   12,956,000 14,879,550 -                  34,350,000   1,723            4.64%

2011 1,777,925   10,509,069 12,286,994 -                  32,230,000   1,597            4.30%

2012 1,625,050   11,060,615 12,685,665 -                  30,000,000   1,469            4.15%

2013 1,467,125   10,492,224 11,959,349 -                  27,529,999   1,337            3.67%

2014 1,307,000   9,898,002   11,205,002 -                  25,723,058   1,235            3.30%

2015 1,063,500   9,341,096   10,404,596 -                  23,088,391   1,102            2.87%

2016 816,075      8,752,609   9,568,684   -                  34,428,188   1,633            4.15%

2017 7,885,126 2,628,570 10,513,696 -                  38,040,189   1,789            4.46%

2018 6,801,595 2,800,000 9,601,595   -                  32,952,302   1,549            3.86%

Source:  City of Corinth Finance department

General Bonded Debt

Business-Type Activities

454



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-14

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

General 

Obligation Bonds

Certificate 

Obligation Bonds

Total General 

Bonded Debt

Percent  of Actual 

Taxable Value of 

Property Per Capita

2009 13,155,000            21,800,000            34,955,000            2.51% 1,766           

2010 12,030,000            22,320,000            34,350,000            2.48% 1,723           

2011 10,860,000            21,370,000            32,230,000            2.32% 1,597           

2012 9,630,000              20,370,000            30,000,000            2.16% 1,469           

2013 8,355,000              19,174,999            27,529,999            1.97% 1,337           

2014 7,045,000              17,920,000            24,965,000            1.74% 1,199           

2015 5,675,000              16,730,000            22,405,000            1.36% 1,069           

2016 4,275,000              28,854,997            33,129,997            1.87% 1,572           

2017 15,695,000            20,963,571            36,658,571            1.86% 1,724           

2018 13,465,003            18,270,001            31,735,004            1.48% 1,489           

Source:  City of Corinth Finance department

455



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2009 2010 2011 2012

Debt Limit 142,209,231$   138,701,335$   139,050,693$   139,178,661$   

Total Net Debt Applicable to 

Limit 34,200,916       30,682,714       28,552,904       28,999,184       

Legal Debt Margin 108,008,315$   108,018,621$   110,497,789$   110,179,477$   

Total Net Debt Applicable to the Limit

As a Percentage of Debt Limit 24.05% 22.12% 20.53% 20.84%

Source:  City of Corinth Finance department

456



TABLE D-15

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

139,721,850$   143,078,278$   165,239,578$   163,852,059$   179,938,315$   195,265,479$     

26,529,182       24,636,963       22,180,581       32,782,746       33,639,319       31,435,810         

113,192,668$   118,441,315$   143,058,997$   131,069,313$   146,298,996$   163,829,669$     

18.99% 17.22% 13.42% 20.01% 18.69% 16.10%

Assessed Value 1,952,654,794$  

Debt Limit (10% of Assessed Value) 195,265,479       

Debt Applicable to Limit:

Total Debt Outstanding 31,735,004         

299,194              

Total Net Debt applicable to Limit 31,435,810         

Legal Debt Margin 163,829,669$     

Less: Amount Set Aside for 

Repayment of Debt

457



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-16

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

Governmental 

Unit

Debt 

Outstanding

Estimated 

Percent 

Applicable (1)

Estimated Share 

of Direct & 

Overlapping 

Debt

Debt Repaid With Property Taxes

Denton Co. 612,630,000$      2.16% 13,232,808$        

Denton ISD 1,167,039,104     6.42% 74,923,910$        

Lake Dallas ISD 77,342,787          44.45% 34,378,869$        

Subtotal, Overlapping Debt 122,535,587        

City Direct Debt (2) 25,815,298          

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 148,350,885$      

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt % of AV 7.14%

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt per Capita 7,293$                 

Source:  Compiled by Hilltop Securities Inc. using data from the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas. 

Note: Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the city.  

The schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the 

residents and business of the City of Corinth.  This process recognizes that, when considering the City of Corinth's 

ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should 

taken into account.  However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for 

repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.

(1) The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property values.  Applicable

percentages were estimated by determining the portion of the overlapping government's taxable value that is within

the City of Corinth's boundaries and dividing it by the overlapping government's total taxable assessed value.

(2) Does not include self-supporting debt.

458



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-17

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Population [1] 19,788   19,935   20,177   20,424   20,597   20,824   20,957   21,078   21,269   21,320   

Median Household Income [2] 95,696   96,653   99,127   101,176 104,211 106,877 109,543 112,169 114,412 117,180 

Per Capita Personal Income 36,987   37,097   37,135   35,388   36,450   37,411   38,372   39,357   40,144   40,683   

Median Age 32          32          33          36          36          36          36          36          36          36          

Education Level [3]

School Enrollment N/A 3,465     3,338     3,533     3,398     3,490     3,582     3,408     3,514     3,547     

High school graduate or higher 96% 96% 96% 96% 97% 97% 97% 97% 96% 96%

Bachelor's degree or higher 40% 42% 42% 43% 40% 42% 42% 40% 40% 40%

Unemployment [4] 7.10% 7.10% 6.60% 5.70% 5.30% 4.40% 4.40% 3.80% 3.10% 2.90%

[1] The figure for 2018 are an estimate based on current trends.

[2] These figures are based on Catalyst Commercial and current trends.

[3]
  
The school enrollment (Denton / Lake Dallas ISD) figures are based on numbers provided by the Texas Education Agency (TEA).

Source:  City of Corinth Economic Development

[4] The unemployment figures shown above are for Denton County, as calculated by the Labor Market and Career 

Information (LMCI) Department of the Texas Workforce Commission.

459



TABLE D-18

CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

Employees Rank

Percent of 

Total City 

Employment 

Employees Rank

Percent of 

Total City 

Employment

CoServ 500 1 7.05% 325 2 7.49%

North Central Texas College 340 2 4.79% 205 3 4.73%

Lake Dallas ISD 210 3 2.96%

Denton ISD 173 4 2.44%

City of Corinth 160 5 2.26% 160 4 3.69%

Bill Utter Ford 150 6 2.12% 110 7 2.54%

Denton Area Teachers Credit Union 116 7 1.64%

Oakmont Country Club 108 8 1.52%

Albertsons 100 9 1.41% 108 6 2.49%

Gunn Nissan 76 10 1.07%

Labinal 713 1 16.44%

Grande Communications 100 5 2.31%

Harley Davidson 50 8 1.15%

Total 1,933 27.26% 1,771 40.84%

Source:  City of Corinth Economic Development

2018 2009

460



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-19

FULL-TIME-EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Function/Program 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

General Government

City Administration 3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      

Legal 1.00      1.00      1.00      1.00      -        -        -        -        -        -        

Police 31.00    28.00    28.00    28.00    31.00    32.00    33.00    34.00    35.00    35.00    

Animal Control 1.50      1.50      1.50      1.50      1.50      1.50      1.50      1.50      2.00      2.00      

Lake Cities Fire Department 41.00    41.00    41.00    40.00    40.00    41.00    41.00    41.00    44.00    53.00    

Streets 7.00      7.00      7.00      7.00      7.00      7.00      6.00      7.00      7.00      7.00      

Fleet Maintenance 2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      -        -        

Community Development 5.00      5.00      5.00      5.00      4.00      4.00      4.00      4.00      5.00      5.00      

Planning 5.00      4.00      4.00      3.00      4.00      5.00      5.00      5.00      5.00      6.00      

Code Enforcement -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        

Municipal Court 4.00      4.00      4.00      4.00      5.00      5.00      5.00      4.00      4.00      4.00      

Parks & Recreation 18.30    17.80    17.80    17.50    17.50    16.00    16.00    14.00    9.00      11.00    

Finance 7.00      6.50      6.50      6.50      6.50      7.50      7.50      7.50      7.50      6.50      

Human Resources 3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      4.00      

Information Services 2.00      2.50      2.50      3.00      3.00      4.00      4.00      5.00      5.00      5.00      

Water/Wastewater Fund

Water/Wastewater 23.00    21.00    21.00    21.00    21.00    21.00    22.00    22.00    19.00    19.00    

Engineering -        -        -        -        -        -        -        -        4.00      4.00      

Utility Billing 3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      

Storm Drainage Fund 3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      

Corinth Economic Development Corp. 2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      1.00      1.00      1.00      1.00      1.00      1.00      

Crime Control District Fund 3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      3.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      2.00      

Child Safety Program Fund -        0.34      0.34      0.34      0.50      0.50      0.50      0.50      0.50      0.50      

Court Security Fund -        -        -        -        -        -        0.50      0.50      -        -        

Total 164.80  158.64  158.64  156.84  159.00  162.50  163.00  163.00  162.00  174.00  

Code Enforcement was combined with Community Development starting in 2009.

Source:  City of Corinth Adopted Budget.

461



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-20

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Function/Program 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

General Government

New Single Family Home Building Permits 20         25          32          18        18        23        47        53        63        75        

New Commercial Building Permits 2           2            2            2          -           4          5          7          13        4          

Police

Physical Arrests 531       516        410        349      316      304      329      426      513      458      

Parking Violations 41         20          38          14        3          7          22        -           -           -           

Traffic Violations 5,978    6,046     5,544     5,787   7,021   7,436   7,196   6,013   6,573   7,158   

Fire

Emergency Responses 2,198    2,422     2,600     2,655   2,889   3,164   3,372   3,475   3,237   3,246   

Structure Fires Extinguished 55         56          66          49        36        21        18        37        26        34        

Inspections 313       376        395        180      621      434      204      403      403      490      

Other Public Works

Street Resurfacing (miles) <1 2.5 2.7 1.5 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1

Potholes Repaired 1,110    637        1,160     2,948   120      77        244      126      96        226      

Parks and Recreation

Classes offered (hours) 1,424    894        454        273      286      437      310      72        68        60        

Participants 7,162    4,420     4,105     1,936   2,225   3,822   6,609   320      224      208      

Special events (hours) 963       1,351     4,484     1,054   2,381   3,432   2,699   3,530   3,378   3,773   

Class Participants 22,065  31,409   39,567   8,312   4,714   5,185   2,394   3,375   3,209   3,315   

Association Participants 83,010  115,910 126,940 25,236 20,327 18,806 29,792 26,766 21,012 -           

Athletic League Participants - - - 67,056 32,022 22,944 7,936   -           -           -           

Recreation center Participants 7,095    5,327     4,243     7,610   8,088   4,862   2,510   -           -           -           

Water

New Connections 15         35          50          18        19        26        56        44        105      125      

Water Main Breaks 26         9            8            3          13        9          8          6          5          7          

Average Daily Consumption (millions of 

gallons billed) 2.60      2.24       3.77       4.24     3.66     3.16     3.54     2.56     2.51 2.69

Peak Demand (millions of gallons 

pumped) 6.24      6.36       7.99       7.32     6.08     6.01     6.71     6.84     5.79 7.81

Wastewater

New Connections 16         35          43          18        19        23        51        35        92 116

Average Daily Sewage Treatment (MGD)

Upper Trinity Regional Water District 1.05      1.20       1.02       1.10     1.08     1.06     1.19     1.40     1.24 1.27

City of Denton (estimate) 0.84      0.92       0.30       1.78     0.25     0.29     0.20     0.25     0.78 0.26

Note:

In prior years class participants included volunteers and hours, in FY2012 the methodology was revised to only count the actual participants.

 In FY2012 the City started managing the baseball programs so athletic participation was added to be able to track City program participation. 

In 2014-15 the City turned over the baseball program to the Softball Association.

The City of Denton bills the City of Corinth based on one sewage flow meter and two areas based on connection count; flows are based on 

estimates.

Source:  Various City of Corinth departments.

462



CITY OF CORINTH, TEXAS TABLE D-21

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Function/Program 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Police

Stations 1          1          1          1          1          1          1          1          1          1          

Patrol Units 18        18        18        18        18        18        18        18        18        18        

Fire Stations 2          2          2          2          2          2          2          2          2          3          

Other Public Works

Streets (miles) [1] 110.00 110.50 110.50 88.99   88.99   88.99   88.99   88.99   92.37   92.43   

Highways (miles) [2] 3.10     3.10     3.10     6.29     6.29     6.29     6.29     6.29     6.29     6.29     

Traffic Signals 2          2          6          7          8          8          8          8          8          8          

Parks and Recreation

Acreage 184      184      184      184      184      184      184      184      184      184      

Playgrounds 11        11        11        11        11        11        11        11        11        11        

Baseball/Softball Fields 8          8          8          8          8          9          9          9          9          9          

Soccer/Football Fields 6          6          6          6          8          8          8          8          8          8          

Recreation Centers [4] 2          2          2          2          2          2          2          1          1          -           

Trails (miles) 12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   12.74   

Water

Connections 6,719   6,766   6,780   6,809   6,810   6,831   6,977   7,016   7,113   7,203   

Water Mains (miles) 105.47 106.14 108.06 110.40 110.63 111.77 112.70 113.48 115      118      

Fire Hydrants 774      785      787      810      822      826      836      855      883      896      

Storage Capacity 

(millions of gallons) 6.00     6.00     6.00     6.00     6.00     6.00     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     

Subscribed Capacity, 

UTRWD (MGD) 7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     7.50     

Wastewater

Connections 6,452   6,433   6,512   6,537   6,536   6,573   6,705   6,736   6,818   6,903   

Sanitary Sewers (miles) 96.21   96.38   97.64   97.88   98.33   98.09   98.30   98.99   102.19 102.34 

Storm Sewers (miles) 33.46   35.30   36.85   38.37   38.73   38.71   39.80   40.59   41.49   41.66   

Treatment Capacity, 

UTRWD (MGD) [3] 4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     4.82     

Note:

[3] The City of Denton bills the City of Corinth based on one sewage flow meter and two areas based on connection count; 

UTRWD uses a take-or-pay system of billing in which the member city (Corinth) purchases peak capacity.  UTRWD 

 data is corrected per original contracts.

Source:  Various City of Corinth departments.

[1] The reduction in streets is due to the elimination of unpaved streets from the database.

[2] The increase in highways is due to the addition of the northbound and southbound roadways.

[4] The decrease is due to no longer using the Crownover Middle School Building for recreation activities. 

463



This page intentionally left blank 

464



   
    PUBLIC HEARING    6.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Screening wall and Fencing Amendments
Submitted For: Helen-Eve Liebman, Director  Submitted By: Ben Rodriguez, Manager
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: Yes
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

AGENDA ITEM
The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the
City’s Unified Development Code, Section 4: Sign and Fence/Screening Regulations subsection 4.02: Fence and
Screening Regulations.
  

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)
Response by Staff
Take Action

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Staff is proposing amendments to the City’s Screening and Fencing requirements. The changes to the City’s
Screening and Fencing requirements are to specify that required perimeter screening for residential developments
be placed within the required landscape edge and directly adjacent to the thoroughfare and the residential lot or
internal street. The intent of this change is to provide an area of green space between the sidewalk and masonry
screening walls required for the perimeter of residential subdivisions. Staff is hopeful that this will help mitigate
the “canyon effect” while driving down the road between screening walls.
 
At the planning and Zoning Commission Meeting On January 28, 2019 the Commission continued the public
hearing of the item to allow staff additional time to research ownership and maintenance responsibilities for the
walls.
 
Following this research staff is proposing two options for developers to choose from when constructing the
required masonry screening walls. 

Place the wall in a lot owned and maintained by the home owners association “HOA”.1.
Place the wall on the property line on the residential lot adjacent to the landscape buffer. With maintenance
responsibility falling on the homeowner.

2.

 
This provides flexibility for developers to choose whether or not to make these the responsibility of the HOA, if
one exists on the development.
 
 
Staff is also proposing the addition of a five foot by five foot “5ftx5ft” visibility triangle for back yard fences on
alley served lots. The intent of this visibility triangle is to allow for additional visibility for residents backing out
of their driveways into the alley.
 
Additionally, staff is proposing the removal of chain link as an allowed fencing material for industrial uses when
visible from the adjacent Right of Way(s).
 

465



Finally, staff is proposing amendments so that our Code will comply with state law. Currently our code states that
any fence variance requests will go before the Planning and Zoning Commission for approval. However, only a
City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment has the legal authority to grant variances. The proposed language corrects this
oversight.

Supporting Documents: 

Proposed amendment

RECOMMENDATION
At the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting on February 25, 2018 the Commission voted to unanimously
recommend their approval of the proposed changes. With the condition that chain link remain an allowed fencing
material for industrial uses.

Staff recommends approval of the item on the condition that chain link be prohibited as an allowed fencing
material for industrial uses when visible from the adjacent Right of Way(s).

Attachments
Screening Wall and Fencing Ordinance 

466



ORDINANCE NO. 19-3-21-__ 

 

FENCE AND SCREENING REGULATIONS AMENDMENT 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE 

ZONING ORDINANCE BEING A PART OF THE CITY OF 

CORINTH UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE (“UDC”), BY 

AMENDING  SUBSECTION 4.02 “FENCE AND SCREENING 

REGULATIONS”, OF SECTION 4, “SIGN AND 

FENCE/SCREENING REGULATIONS” OF THE UDC; 

PROVIDING FOR THE INCORPORATION OF PREMISES; 
PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING A PENALTY OF 

FINE NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) 

FOR VIOLATIONS THEREOF AS MORE SPECIFICALLY SET 

FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING A CUMULATIVE REPEALER 

CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR 

PUBLICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Corinth, Texas is a home rule municipality located in 

Denton County, Texas created in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 9 of the Local 
Government Code and operating pursuant to the enabling legislation of the State of Texas; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is authorized to adopt regulations governing the development 

of land within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction in the interest of the public health, 
safety and welfare of its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the Unified Development Code (“UDC”) which 

specifies size, placement, and materials fences and screening walls within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing at which 

persons with interest were provided an opportunity to provide public input and comments 
and reviewed proposed amendments to existing regulations for fences and screening walls, 
including without limitation, changes to standards and procedures for appeal; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission voted to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the City 
Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding a public hearing at which persons with interest were 

provided an opportunity to provide public input and comments, the City has reviewed the 
proposed amendments to the regulations and procedures for fences and screening walls in 
the UDC and has determined that the incorporated amendments are appropriate to aid with 
the placement of fences and screening walls on a property and ensure their continual 
maintenance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that the amendments proposed relating to 

fences and screening walls will be beneficial to the public safety and welfare; and  
 

WHEREAS, upon review and consideration of the foregoing factors, the City 

467



Council has determined that the City’s fences and screening walls standards should be 
amended as set forth below; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CORINTH, TEXAS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 SECTION 1. 
                                             INCORPORATION OF PREMISES 

 
The above and foregoing recitals are found to be true and correct and are incorporated into the body of this 
Ordinance for all purposes. 
 

 

SECTION 2. 
AMENDMENTS 

 

2.01.  That the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, being a part of the  City of Corinth Unified Development 
Code, Subsection 4.02 “Fence and Screening Regulations” of Section 4, “Sign and Fence/Screening 
Regulations” of the UDC is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Subsection 4.02, “Fence and Screening 
Regulations” of Section 4 of the UDC is hereby adopted to be and read in its entirety as follows.  
 
“4.02.01. - Purpose  

A.  General. The requirements set forth in this Subsection 4.02 Fence and Screening Regulations are 
intended to promote safety; protect the character and stability of residential, commercial, and 
industrial areas; to conserve the value of land, buildings, and neighborhoods, and enhance the 
aesthetic and visual image of the City. 

B.  Compliance. The construction, modification and maintenance of fences shall comply with the 
requirements of the City Code of Ordinances. 

4.02.02. - Applicability  

A.  These regulations shall be applicable to:  

1.  All new development, and  

2.  Any proposed building remodeling, alteration, addition, or expansion which either:  

a.  Increases the current appraised value of the existing structure (excluding the value of the 
land), or  

b.  Increases the overall square footage of any existing structure by thirty percent (30%) or 
more. 

4.02.03. - Fence Regulation Definitions  

For the purpose of this Subsection 4.02, certain terms, words and phrases are defined as follows:  

A.  Agricultural Use. Land where the production, keeping, or maintenance for sale, lease, or 
personal use of plants and animals useful to man, including, forages and sod crops; grains and 
seed crops, dairy animals, poultry and livestock, including but not limited to ostriches, emus, 
buffalos, beef cattle, sheep, goats, mules, horses, and ponies.  

468



B.  Fence. An artificially constructed barrier of any material or combination of materials erected to 
enclose, screen, or separate areas.  

C.  Masonry. Brick, stone, pre-cast concrete, poured-in-place concrete, and split-face concrete 
masonry unit unless otherwise prohibited by this Subsection 4.02.  

D.  Nonconforming Fence. Any fence lawfully existing or approved for construction prior to the 
date of this UDC, and amendments thereto, that fails to conform to the present requirements of 
this Subsection 4.02.  

E.  Residential. A single family and/or a multi-family dwelling.  

F.  Screening. A method of visually shielding or obscuring one abutting or nearby structure or use 
from another by fencing, walls, berms or densely planted vegetation. 

4.02.04. - Fence Building Permit  
A.  Fence Building Permit Required. No fence or screening wall/fence may be constructed, erected, 

installed, enlarged, altered, replaced, removed or demolished unless a Fence Building Permit has first 
been obtained from the Building Official. The Fence Building Permit Application must attach four 
(4) sets of plans of the proposed fence or screening wall/fence to include:  

1.  Building locations and area to be fenced;  

2.  Dimensions and description of materials being used;  

3.  Intersections of streets, roads, highways, alleys and driveways with subject property;  

4.  Corner open space easements (i.e., visibility triangles) per Section 3.05.07. C. Triangular Sight 
Visibility Easements (see also Figure 35);  

5.  Site and adjacent properties zoning classifications; and  

6.  Such other data as deemed necessary by the Building Official. The fee for the permit shall be 
established in the City's Fee Schedule. No permit fees shall be refunded.  

B.  Exception to Permitting Requirements. Up to fifty percent (50%) of an existing fence or screening 
wall/fence on a single family residential property, as measured by linear foot, may be replaced, 
removed, or demolished without submitting an application and plans and obtaining a permit. This 
exception may only be applied one time in a  two (2) year period for the entire single family 
residential property.  

C.  Offense. A person commits an offense if the person intentionally, knowingly or recklessly erects or 
causes to be erected on his or her property a fence without obtaining a Fence Building Permit as 
required by this Section and other applicable ordinances of the City. 

4.02.05. - Fence Building Permit Expiration  

A.  Expiration Every Fence Building Permit issued by the Building Official under the provisions of this 
Subsection 4.02 shall expire if the building or work authorized by such permit is not commenced 
within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from the date of such permit, or if the building or 
work authorized by such permit is suspended or abandoned for a period of one hundred eighty (180) 
calendar days at any time after the work is commenced.  

1.  Before such work can recommence, a new Fence Building Permit meeting the current 
regulations shall be obtained, and the fee shall be one-half the amount required for a new permit 
for such work, provided no changes have been made or will be made in the original plans and 
specifications for such work, and provided further that such suspension or abandonment has not 
exceeded one year.  

469



2.  In order to renew action on a Fence Building Permit after one (1) year, the permittee shall pay a 
new full permit fee.  

B.  Extension. Any permittee holding an unexpired Fence Building Permit may apply for an extension 
of the time within which work may commence.  

1.  The Building Official may extend the time for action by the permittee for a period not 
exceeding 180 calendar days on written request by the permittee showing that circumstances 
beyond the control of the permittee have prevented action from being taken.  

2.  No Fence Building Permit shall be extended more than once. 

4.02.06. - Suspension or Revocation of a Fence Building Permit  

The Building Official may, in writing, suspend or revoke a Fence Building Permit issued under the 
provision of this Subsection 4.02 whenever the permit is issued in error or on the basis of incorrect 
information supplied, or in violation of any ordinance or regulation, or any of the provisions of this 
Subsection 4.02. 

4.02.07. - Fence Variance  

Any Applicant for a Fence Building Permit whose request is denied by the Building Official for 
noncompliance with this Subsection 4.02, or whose permit is suspended or revoked, may (within thirty 
(30) business days from the date of written notification) appeal such decision via a Fence Variance to the 
Zoning Board of Adjustments.  

A.  Authority and Public Hearing.  

1.  The Zoning Board of Adjustments may grant a Fence Variance from the requirements of 
this Section in accordance with this Section.  

2.  The Zoning Board of Adjustments may grant a Fence Variance following a public hearing 
by an affirmative vote of a majority of the members present and voting on the matter.  

B.  Fence Variance Grounds or Reasons.  

1.  The Applicant for a Fence Variance shall file an Application that specifically describes the 
grounds or reasons upon which the Fence Variance request is based.  

2.  The Applicant shall provide exhibits showing the proposed elevations and materials for the 
alternative fencing and shall be shown on the Site Plan or if no Site Plan is required then at 
the time of building permit application.  

C.  Fees and Sign Posting for Fence Variance. At the time the Fence Variance application is filed, 
the Applicant shall pay a fee as set forth in the City's Fee Schedule to defray the costs of 
handling and processing the Application.  

1.  This fee shall not be refundable regardless of the disposition of the Application.  

2.  The Applicant shall erect and maintain a sign upon the subject property noticing the public 
hearing.  

3.  The continued maintenance of the sign shall not be a condition precedent to the holding of 
a public hearing or any other official action concerning such Fence Variance.  

D.  Mailed Notice to Property Owners. Notice shall be sent by United States mail, first class 
postage, not less than 10 calendar days before the public hearing, to all property owners (as the 
ownership appears in the most current tax rolls for the City) whose property abuts any portion 
of the boundary of the property where a fence is to be erected and for which a Fence Variance 
has been requested.  

470



E.  Finding of Unreasonable Hardships.  

1.  In order to grant a Fence Variance, the Zoning Board of Adjustments must find that 
unreasonable hardships or difficulties may result from strict enforcement of these 
regulations and/or the purposes of these regulations may be served to a greater extent by an 
alternative proposal.  

2.  The Zoning Board of Adjustments may approve variances to the regulations so that 
substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured; provided that the variance 
shall not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of these regulations.  

F.  Specific Terms and Conditions. The Zoning Board of Adjustments may require specific terms 
and conditions applicable to the approval of the Fence Variance.  

G.  Time Limitations. No other Fence Variance of like kind relating to the same building or 
proposed building, shall be considered or acted upon by the Zoning Board of Adjustments for a 
period of six (6) months subsequent to the denial. 

4.02.08. - General Fence Requirements  

A.  Primary Use Exists.  

1.  Fences, except silt or erosion-controlling types, shall not be constructed, erected, or installed on 
a lot unless the primary use/facility have been constructed.  

2.  Temporary construction fences shall not be allowed on residentially zoned properties longer 
than sixty (60) calendar days after issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.  

B.  Height Maximum. No fence shall exceed eight (8) feet in height measured from the finished grade 
of the lot or property upon which the fence is being erected, except as otherwise provided for in this 
Section.  

C.  Placement.  

1.  Fences may be placed up to the property line except when deemed physically impractical by the 
property owner and the Director of Planning.  

2.  If a fence is offset from the property line, provisions shall be made to prevent vegetation from 
growing between any existing fence and the new fence.  

D.  Construction Material.  

1.  Construction material may be wood or simulated wood (excluding landscape timbers, railroad 
ties or latticework panels), vinyl, tubular metal (meeting the vertical spacing requirement for 
swimming pool barrier fences), masonry, or chain link (industrial uses only or as otherwise 
provided), except in the case where a screening wall/fence is required.  

2.  A maximum one (1) foot section of lattice constructed atop a wood or simulated wood fence for 
decorative purposes shall be permitted.  

E.  Visibility and Safety  

1.  Fences constructed on corner lots shall conform to the corner public open space easement (i.e., 
visibility triangles) per 3.05.07. C. Triangular Sight Visibility Easements (see also Figure 35).  

2.  Fences along winding streets may be prohibited by the Building Official if deemed that the 
structure materially obstructs visibility for vehicular traffic.  

F.  Fence Gate. All fences shall have a minimum of one gate for emergency ingress and egress.  

G.  Property Owner's Expense and Responsibility.  

471



1.  In the event any construction or landscaping on the easement requires removal in whole or in 
part for service access purposes, the same shall be replaced or repaired at the sole expense of the 
property owner; the City or any utility or other company duly authorized to install lines or 
equipment within such easement, shall not be held liable for damages.  

2.  All Applicants shall be responsible for calling the affected utilities for line locations (i.e., "Dig 
Test") before constructing a fence across any easement.  

H.  Fences Installed within an Easement.   For ease of access for service purposes, any fence installed 
within an easement of the City shall provide a gate or panel with an opening of not less than ten feet 
(10') in width when opened or removed, unless waived by the Director of Public Works.  

I.  Drainage Easements and Floodways.  

1.  Fences may cross drainage easements, but shall not cross nor encroach into any Floodway nor 
obstruct or in any way hinder the safe transfer of water through drainage easements or drainage 
ways.  

2.  The City shall have the right to remove fences that encroach into a drainage easement and any 
other easements in a manner that interfere with the predominant use of that easement.  

J.  Hazardous Fence No fence shall be erected or permitted to remain when deemed by the Building 
Official or his/her authorized representative to be hazardous to the health, safety, and welfare or the 
general public.  

K.  Hazardous Fences in High Density Areas  

1.  Residential Areas In residential areas with one or more dwellings per acre, no barbed wire, glass 
imbedded, spiked, electrified, or any other fence deemed hazardous to the health, safety, and 
welfare of the general public shall be permitted.  

2.  Commercial and Industrial Areas. In commercial and industrial areas, fences with barbed wire 
along the top portion are permitted, provided the fences exceed eight (8) feet in height.  

L.  Any Vertical Element of the Fence Not including fence posts, wooden or tubular metal pickets or 
similar elements of the fence shall extend from one inch (1") above grade to the top of the fence. 

 

 

4.02.09. - Agricultural Fences  

A.  Compliance and Exception. Lots or parcels of land zoned Single Family having a land area of three 
(3) acres or more and being developed with one single family residence or single family-zoned land 
having an established agricultural use as defined herein shall comply with the provisions of this 
UDC, except for the construction of cross-fencing interior to the lot or parcel.  

B.  Perimeter Fencing Materials In addition to the permitted fencing materials listed in 4.02.08. General 
Fence Requirements, properties described in 4.02.09. A above, may also use pipe and cable, wire 
fence, and sucker rod pipe for perimeter fencing needs.  

C.  Interior Cross-fencing Materials In addition to the fencing materials permitted in 4.02.09. B above, 
properties described in 4.02.09. A above may also use the following types of fencing for interior 
cross-fencing needs: T-posts and electric fence meeting the minimum specifications of the 
Underwriters' Laboratory and installed in accordance with the National Electric Code adopted by the 
city and ElectroBraid™ or similar product (i.e., braided fabric and wire combination affixed to posts 
that are attached to a low-voltage regulator).  

D.  Pre-Existent Fences In cases where there are fences on lots or parcels of land as described in 
4.02.09. A above, constructed on or before May 15, 2002, and the fences do not comply with the 

472



provisions of this UDC at the time of its adoption, said fences shall be allowed to continue to exist 
until:  

1.  They are deemed injurious to the health, safety and welfare of the general public;  

2.  They are destroyed or fifty percent (50%) or more damaged; or  

3.  The land is sold and/or further subdivided and developed. 

4.02.10. - Residential Fences  

A.  Fence Construction  

1.  Fences that are erected abutting streets, parks, trails, Denton County Transit Authority (DCTA) 
trails, public property may be constructed of wood or simulated wood (with horizontal members 
facing the interior yard) or tubular metal, meeting the vertical spacing requirement for 
swimming pool barrier fences.  

a.  Where a tubular metal fence is in place, a wood fence may not be constructed along streets 
immediately behind the tubular metal fence.  

2.  Fences that are erected abutting property used for open space or agricultural use may be 
constructed of wood or simulated wood (with horizontal members facing the interior yard), or 
tubular metal meeting the vertical spacing requirement for swimming pool barrier fences.  

3.  All residential fences shall be constructed with the finished surface (i.e., the smooth side) facing 
outward from the property. The finished surface (i.e., the smooth side) may have a horizontal 
cap, architectural detail, or molding located at the top of the fence that extends beyond the 
surface plane of the fence.  

B.  Front Yards In front yards, no fence shall be erected in front of the front building line except fences 
that do not obstruct vision.  

1.  Fences allowed within front yards shall be constructed of tubular metal, vinyl, simulated wood 
or wooden rail or picket-style construction and shall be no greater than four feet (4') in height, 
excluding the posts.  

2.  Properties with less than one dwelling per acre may have fences in the front yard in excess of 
four feet (4') provided they do not obstruct vision or hamper safety.  

C.  Corner Lots Where a corner lot (Lot, Corner) has two (2) front yards and a house is constructed 
facing one of the two (2) front yards, the second front yard may be fenced in the same manner as any 
other side yard provided it complies with corner open space easements (i.e., visibility triangles) per 
3.05.07. C. Triangular Sight Visibility Easements (see also Figure 35).  

D.   Alleys  At the intersections of driveways with alley access, a visibility triangle extending to the 
edge of alley pavement a distance of five (5) feet and extending from the edge of driveway 
pavement a distance of five (5) feet and connecting the two (2) points shall be established and 
maintained and shall remain free of all obstructions as detailed in figure 34 below. 

473



 
Figure 34 – Alley Visibility 

 
4.02.11. - Screening Requirements for Residential and Nonresidential Properties  
A.  Screening Height Between Nonresidential and Residential. Masonry screening walls separating 

nonresidential used and/or zoned areas from residential uses shall be at least six feet (6') in height, 
but not more than eight feet (8'), unless otherwise specifically permitted or required by this Section 
or unless approved by the City Council following a recommendation by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission in the consideration of a PD, Planned Development rezoning application, Site Plan, or 
Specific Use Permit.  

B.  Masonry Screening Walls. Masonry screening wall shall be placed up to the property line except 
when deemed physically impractical by the property owner and the Building Official.  

C.  Nonresidential Construction Abuts Residential Zoning Classification.  

1.  Nonresidential construction which abuts the boundary of any property in a residential zoning 
classification shall require the Developer of the nonresidential use to erect a minimum six (6) 
foot high masonry screening wall along the common boundary before public works 
improvements having been accepted for platting purpose or before the issuance of a Certificate 
of Occupancy zoning purposes.  

2.  The design and construction material of the screening fence shall be as specified in this Section.  

D.  Nonresidential Uses with Loading Docks  

1.  Nonresidential uses with loading docks and delivery entrances that front a Collector Street or 
Arterial Street shall require the Developer to erect a minimum ten-foot (10') high masonry 

474



screening wall to screen views of loading docks and loading spaces intended for tractor/semi-
trailer delivery.  

2.  If such service/loading areas are adjacent to residential uses they shall be screened from view at 
a height of six feet (6') while standing at the highest grade on the residential property line.  

E.  Residential Construction Abuts a Collector or an Arterial Street  

1.  When residential construction abuts a Collector Street or an Arterial Street (as defined in the 
City's Comprehensive Plan as amended from time to time), the Developer shall erect a 
minimum six (6) foot high masonry screening wall before the issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.   

2. When required by this section the masonry screening wall shall be placed within a lot owned 
and maintained by the Homeowners Association. If there is no Homeowners Association then 
the screening wall shall be placed on the property line between the lot and the required 
landscape buffer, in this instance the property owner shall be responsible for the maintenance of 
the required wall. 

F.  Screening Walls/Fences  

1.  Any screening fence required by this Section shall be constructed of the following materials:  

a.  Brick, stone, or split-face concrete masonry unit; or  

b.  Pre-cast concrete wall or poured-in-place concrete wall with a similar appearance as brick, 
stone or split-face concrete masonry unit.  

2.  All construction materials shall be earth-tone or traditional masonry colors including white.  

a.  An unfinished haydite block wall or a wall with non-traditional masonry colors shall be 
prohibited.  

b.  Where a masonry screening wall is constructed of split-face concrete masonry units or pre-
cast concrete or poured-in-place concrete with a similar appearance as brick, stone or split-
face concrete masonry unit, the decorative or split-face side of the wall shall face the 
adjacent residential properties or street.  

c.  Smooth-faced concrete masonry units (e.g., haydite blocks) shall not be permitted as a 
construction material for a screening fence.  

G.  Screening Wall Design  

1.  All walls shall be constructed with the same materials and same masonry percentages as the 
main building.  

2.  The screening wall shall be designed and constructed to prevent any drainage or erosion 
problems.  

3.  A minimum five-foot (5') wide screening fence maintenance easement shall be provided on all 
lots abutting the required screening along the full length of the required screening fence, unless 
separated by an alley. If platting, such easement shall be shown on the Preliminary Plat and 
Final Plat.  

4.02.12. - Mechanical Equipment Screening Requirements for Nonresidential Properties  

A.  General  

1.  In all nonresidential development, all mechanical equipment whether ground-mounted, roof-
mounted or otherwise attached to the building shall be screened from view at a height of six feet 
(6') while standing at the highest grade on the nearby property line(s).  

475



2.  Mechanical equipment areas shall be constructed, located and screened to prevent interference 
with the peace, comfort, and repose of the occupants of any adjoining building or residence.  

3.  The location, construction, and screening of all mechanical equipment shall be shown on the 
design drawings.  

B.  Ground-Mounted Mechanical Equipment  

1.  Ground-mounted mechanical equipment, with the exception of an electricity delivery provider's 
distribution voltage of 25 kv (kilovolts) or smaller, shall be screened with a screening fence or 
living screen equal to or greater than one foot (1') above the height of the unit.  

2.  The screening fence shall be constructed of masonry or wooden materials.  

C.  Roof-Mounted Mechanical Equipment  

1.  Roof-mounted mechanical equipment shall be screened from view with a parapet wall, mansard 
roof or alternative architectural element.  

2.  The height of the screening element shall be equal to or greater than the height of the 
mechanical unit(s) provided that the element shall not extend more than five feet (5') above the 
roof on a one- or two-and-one-half (2½) story building.  

3.  When the height of a mechanical unit exceeds the maximum permitted height of the screening 
feature, an additional roof setback for the unit shall be required at a ratio of two horizontal feet 
(2') for each additional one-foot (1') of vertical height above the maximum five (5) feet.  

4.  Screening for mechanical units shall apply to new building construction and renovations 
exceeding 50% of the structure(s) appraised value or square footage.  

 
4.02.13. - Screening of Outdoor Waste Storage for Nonresidential, Single Family Attached, and 

Multiple Family Residential Properties  

A.  General  

1.  Waste storage areas (refuse containers, etc.) shall be constructed, located and screened to 
prevent interference with the peace, comfort, and repose of the occupants of any adjoining 
building or residence.  

2.  The location, construction, and screening of all waste storage areas (refuse containers, etc.) shall 
be shown on the design drawings.  

B.  Incidental Use Requirement and Location Standards Refuse containers, trash dumpsters/containers, 
trash compactors, box compactors, and other similar containers which are used for waste disposal 
purposes shall:  

1.  Only be allowed as an incidental use, and  

2.  Only be allowed when located behind the building line established by the structure and not 
within any side or rear yard setback or any required landscaped area. The director may allow 
minor incursions into a side or rear yard setback provided that it does not hinder vehicular 
visibility and is conducive to the flow of traffic on the site. 

C.  Setbacks Refuse containers, trash dumpsters/containers, trash compactors, box compactors, and 
other similar containers shall be setback from all residential uses a minimum of twenty-five feet 
(25').  

D.  Screening Required.  Refuse containers, trash dumpsters/containers, trash compactors, box 
compactors, and other similar containers shall be enclosed on all four sides with a three-sided 
masonry screening wall and a solid metal gate on the fourth side that shall be constructed to a 

476



minimum height of one (1) foot above the container height, but shall not exceed eight feet (8') in 
height.  

1.  The container shall be screened by the masonry wall and a solid metal gate capable of screening 
the area and shall remain closed at all times except when filling or emptying the container.  

2.  The screening wall shall be similar to or extensions of the development's architectural design. 

4.02.14. - Fence Installation  

A.  Pre-Existing Fences  

1.  A Developer, who is required to erect a screening fence under the provisions of this Section, 
shall be responsible for removing any pre-existing fences that do not meet the requirements of 
this Section on any properties that abut the new screening fence so as to avoid a gap between 
the new screening fence and the pre-existing fences.  

2.  The Developer shall bear the cost of removing the pre-existing fences subject to the provisions 
in 4.02.14. B and 4.02.14. C, below.  

B.  Permission of the Adjacent Property Owner. Prior to removing any pre-existing fence and erecting 
the required screening fence in its place, the Developer shall obtain the permission of the adjacent 
property owner.  

1.  If an adjacent property owner withholds his consent, the Developer shall leave the pre-existing 
fence in place and erect the new screening fence alongside it on the Developer's property.  

2.  Provisions shall be made to prevent vegetation from growing between the existing and new 
fence.  

C.  Liability. The Developer and his contractor shall be liable for any personal or property damage that 
may occur during the removal of the pre-existing fence and the construction of the new screening 
fence.  

 
4.02.15. - Barrier Fence Requirements for Swimming Pools , Spas, and Hot Tubs  
A.  General. The provision of this Section apply to the design and construction of barriers for all new 

swimming pools located in the City.  

B.  Definitions. For the purpose of this Section 4.02.15, certain terms, words and phrases are defined as 
follows:  

1.  Above-Ground/On-Ground. See definition of Swimming Pool.  

2.  Barrier. A fence, wall, building wall or a combination thereof, which completely surrounds the 
Swimming Pool and obstructs access to the Swimming Pool.  

3.  Grade. The underlying surface such as earth or a walking surface.  

4.  Hot Tub. See definition of Swimming Pool.  

5.  In-Ground Pool. See definition of Swimming Pool.  

6.  Portable Spa. A non-permanent structure intended for recreational bathing, in which all 
controls, water-heating and water-circulating equipment are an integral part of the product and 
which is cord connected (not permanently electrically wired).  

7.  Spa, Non-Portable. See definition of Swimming Pool.  

8.  Swimming Pool. Any structure intended for swimming or recreational bathing that contains 
water over twenty-four (24) inches deep. This includes in-ground, above-ground and on-ground 
swimming pools, hot tubs and spas.  

477



C.  Swimming Pool Requirements. An outdoor swimming pool shall be provided with a barrier which 
shall comply with the following:  

1.  The top of the barrier shall be at least 48 inches above grade measured on the side of the barrier 
which faces away from the swimming pool.  

a.  The maximum vertical clearance between grade and the bottom of the barrier shall be two 
(2) inches measured on the side of the barrier which faces away from the swimming pool.  

b.  Where the top of the pool structure is above grade, such as an above-ground pool, the 
barrier may be at ground level, such as the pool structure, or mounted on top of the pool 
structure.  

c.  Where the barrier is mounted on top of the pool structure, the maximum vertical clearance 
between the top of the pool structure and the bottom of the barrier shall be four (4) inches.  

2.  Openings in the barrier shall not allow passage of a four (4) inch-diameter sphere.  

3.  Solid barriers that do not have openings, such as a masonry or stone wall, shall not contain 
indentations or protrusions except for normal construction tolerances and tooled masonry joints.  

a.  An existing structure, such as a house or Accessory Building, may be used as part of the 
enclosure, provided said structure is no less than four feet in height.  

4.  Where the barrier is composed of horizontal and vertical members and the distance between the 
tops of the horizontal members is less than forty-five (45) inches, the horizontal members shall 
be located on the swimming pool side of the fence or shall be so constructed as to not provide a 
climbable surface.  

a.  Spacing between vertical members shall not exceed one and three-quarters inches (1¾") in 
width.  

b.  Where there are decorative cutouts within vertical members, spacing within the cutouts 
shall not exceed one and three-quarters inches (1¾") in width.  

5.  Where the barrier is composed of horizontal and vertical members and the distance between the 
tops of horizontal members is forty-five (45) inches or more, spacing between vertical members 
shall not exceed four (4) inches.  

a.  Where there are decorative cutouts within vertical members, spacing within the cutouts 
shall not exceed three-quarter inches (¾") in width.  

6.  Maximum mesh size for chain link fences shall be a one and one-quarter inch (1¼") square 
unless the fence is provided with slats fastened at the top or the bottom which reduce the 
openings to no more than one and three-quarter inches (1¾").  

7.  Where the barrier is composed of diagonal members, such as a lattice fence, the maximum 
opening formed by the diagonal members shall be no more than one and three-quarters inches 
(1¾").  

8.  Access gates shall comply with the requirements of items 4.02.15. C.1 through 4.02.15. C.7 
(above) and shall be equipped to accommodate a locking device.  

a.  Pedestrian-access gates shall open outward away from the pool and shall be self-closing 
and have a self-latching device.  

b.  Gates other than pedestrian-access gates shall have a self-latching device.  

478



c.  Where the release mechanism of the self-latching device is located less than fifty-four (54) 
inches from the bottom of the gate, the release mechanism and openings shall comply with 
the following:  

i.  The release mechanism shall be located on the pool side of the gate at least three (3) 
inches below the top of the gate, and  

ii.  The gate and barrier shall have no opening greater than one-half (½) inch within 
eighteen (18) inches of the release mechanism.  

9.  Where a wall of a dwelling serves as part of the barrier, one of the following conditions shall be 
met:  

a.  The pool shall be equipped with a powered safety cover in compliance with ASTM F1346; 
or  

b.  All doors with direct access to the pool through that wall shall be equipped with an alarm 
which produces an audible warning when the door and its screen, if present, are opened.  

i.  The alarm shall sound continuously for a minimum of 30 seconds immediately after 
the door is opened and be capable of being heard throughout the house during normal 
household activities.  

ii.  The alarm shall automatically reset under all conditions.  

iii.  The alarm system shall be equipped with a manual means, such as touchpad or 
switch, to temporarily deactivate the alarm for a single opening.  

iv.  Such deactivation shall last for not more than 15 seconds.  

v.  The activation switches shall be located at least 54 inches above the threshold of the 
door.  

c.  Other means of protection, such as self-closing doors with self-latching devices, which are 
approved by the governing body, shall be acceptable so long as the degree of protection 
afforded is not less than the protection afforded by a and b above.  

10.  Where an above-ground pool structure is used as a barrier or where the barrier is mounted on 
top of the pool structure and the means of access is a ladder or steps, then:  

a.  The ladder or steps shall be capable of being secured, locked or removed to prevent access, 
or  

b.  The ladder or steps shall be surrounded by a barrier which meets the requirements of Items 
4.02.15. C.1 through 4.02.15. C.8 (above). When the ladder or steps are secured, locked or 
removed, any opening created shall not allow the passage of a four (4) inch diameter 
sphere.  

11.  Barriers shall be located so as to prohibit permanent structures, equipment or similar object 
from being used to climb the barriers. 

4.02.16. - Inspections  

Upon completion of work authorized under this Section, it shall be the duty of the permittee to notify the 
Building Official that such work is ready for final inspection. 

4.02.17. - Loss of Nonconforming Status  

A.  Scenarios. Any nonconforming fence loses its nonconforming status and becomes an illegal fence if:  

1.  The fence is damaged or deteriorated to such an extent that fifty percent (50%) or more of the 
fence must be rebuilt or repaired;  

479



2.  The fence is moved to any extent unless the moving was due to installation, maintenance or 
repair of public streets or utilities; or  

3.  The fence has been altered in any way except for normal wear and tear, routine painting or 
repair, or routine pruning of plant materials.  

B.  Compliance Required after Loss Should any fence lose its nonconforming status, the illegal fence 
shall not be reconstructed or rebuilt except in conformance with the provisions of this UDC. 

4.02.18. - Maintenance of the Required Screening Fence  

A.  Maintenance Responsibility. The owner of the property or Homeowners' or Property Owners' 
Association, if it is a commonly owned property, with the required screening fence shall be 
responsible for the maintenance of the screening fence sound condition.  

1.  This provision does not relieve an abutting property owner of liability for damage caused by 
such owner or his employees, agents, or contractors.  

2.  Any living screen shall be maintained for perpetuity.  

B.  Required Documents. The Developer of a subdivision, after constructing the required screening 
fence, shall create a mandatory Homeowners' or Property Owners' Association, which shall be 
responsible for maintaining the screening fence.  

1.  The association's document must indicate that the screening fence is privately owned and 
maintained by the association, and that the City has no obligation to maintain said screening 
fence.  

2.  If the Homeowners' or Property Owners' Association fails to maintain said screening fence, the 
City shall have the right to perform necessary repairs or maintenance and to levy an assessment 
for the expense of the needed repairs or maintenance.  

3.  Said assessment shall constitute a lien upon each lot against which the assessment is made.  

C.  Homeowners' or Property Owners' Association Alternative Method If a subdivision contains five or 
fewer lots, the Developer may propose an alternative method for ensuring long-term maintenance of 
the screening fence.  

1.  The documents evidencing responsibility for maintenance of the required fence shall be 
reflected in the plat.  

2.  The alternative method must be approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

D.  Vertical Alignment Requirement. No fence shall be fifteen (15) degrees or more out of vertical 
alignment nor have any missing or damaged pickets within any eight-foot (8') section.  

E.  Final Authority.  

1.  The Building Official shall be the final authority of whether repair or maintenance is needed for 
any fence constructed within the City. 

4.02.19. - Illustration of the Corner Public Open Space Easement (i.e., Visibility Triangles)  

The following is a graphic depiction of one of the standards within Section 3.05.07. C Triangular Sight 
Visibility Easements, the Corner Public Open Space Easement:  

480



 

Figure 35: Corner Public Open Space Easement (i.e., Visibility Triangles)

481



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 16 of 17 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 4. 

PENALTY 

 
 Any person, firm or corporation who intentionally, knowingly or recklessly violates any 
provision of this Ordinance or the Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, shall be subject to a 
fine not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each offense, and each and every 
day any such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense, provided, 
however, that in all cases involving violation of any provision of this Ordinance or Code of 
Ordinances, as amended hereby, governing the fire safety, zoning, or public health and sanitation 
shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense.   
 
 

 

SECTION 5. 

CUMULATIVE REPEALER 

 

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other Ordinances and shall not repeal any of the 
provisions of such Ordinances except for those instances where there are direct conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance. Ordinances, or parts thereof, in force at the time this Ordinance shall 
take effect and that are inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent that they 
are inconsistent with this Ordinance. Provided however, that any complaint, action, claim or lawsuit 
which has been initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other Ordinances on this date of 
adoption of this Ordinance shall continue to be governed by the provisions of such Ordinance and 
for that purpose the Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

SECTION 6. 

SAVINGS 
 

 All rights and remedies of the City of Corinth, Texas are expressly saved as to any and all 
violations of the provisions of any other ordinance affecting zoning which have secured at the time 
of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations and all pending litigation, 
both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such ordinances same shall not be 
affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final disposition by the court. 
  

SECTION 7. 

SEVERABILITY 

 

The provisions of the Ordinance are severable. However, in the event this Ordinance or any 
procedure provided in this Ordinance becomes unlawful, or is declared or determined by a judicial, 
administrative or legislative authority exercising its jurisdiction to be excessive, unenforceable, 
void, illegal or otherwise inapplicable, in while in part, the remaining and lawful provisions shall be 
of full force and effect and the City shall promptly promulgate new revised provisions in compliance 
with the authority’s decisions or enactment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 8. 

482



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 17 of 17 

 
 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This ordinance shall take effect upon its publication as required by law. The City Secretary 
is directed to publish the caption and penalty of this ordinance two times. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _____th DAY OF ______, 2019. 

 

APPROVED: 
 
 

Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

Andy Messer, City Attorney 

483



   
    PUBLIC HEARING    7.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Accessory Structures Amendments
Submitted For: Helen-Eve Liebman, Director  Submitted By: Ben Rodriguez, Manager
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: Yes
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

Citizen Engagement & Proactive
Government

AGENDA ITEM
The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the City’s
Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.07: Zoning Use Regulations, 2.07.07 Accessory
Buildings and Uses.
  

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)
Response by Staff
Take Action

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Staff is proposing amendments to the City’s accessory building requirements. The proposed changes are to reduce
the required setbacks for accessory structures. Currently, all accessory structures are required to have a 7.5 foot
setback from adjoining property lines. This is often not an issue for most owners to accommodate. However, this
does cause problems for some properties which have side setbacks that are less than 7.5 feet.
 
Staff is proposing that all accessory structures that are 100 square feet or less have a zero (0) foot setback from
adjoining property lines and that structures greater than 100 square feet in size have a five (5) foot setback.
 
Historically, these cases have been taken to the Board of Adjustment for variances to the City’s code and during
staff’s research we have noticed that in nearly every case a variance was approved.
 
Since this is a common issue that the residents in Corinth have to face staff is proposing reducing these setbacks in
an effort to reduce extra hurdles for our residents to have to navigate in order to place an accessory structure on
their property.
 
Finally, staff is proposing that accessory structures that are less than 100 square feet in size be allowed to be
placed on a lot without the approval of a building permit. Accessory structures of this size are most commonly
purchased as a pre-fabricated unit from places such as Lowes or Home Depot.

Supporting Documents: 

Proposed amendment

RECOMMENDATION
At the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting on February 25, 2018 the Commission voted to unanimously

484



At the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting on February 25, 2018 the Commission voted to unanimously
recommend their approval of the proposed changes.

Staff recommends approval as presented.
 

Attachments
Accessory Structure Ordinance 

485



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 1 of 5 

 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 19-3-21-__ 

 

ACCESSORY BUILDING REGULATIONS AMENDMENT 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING 

ORDINANCE BEING A PART OF THE CITY OF CORINTH UNIFIED 

DEVELOPMENT CODE (“UDC”), BY AMENDING  SECTION 2.07.07, 

“RESIDENTIAL ACCESSORY BUILDINGS AND USES” OF SUBSECTION 

2.07 “ZONING USE REGULATIONS” OF SECTION 2, “ZONING 

REGULATIONS” OF THE UDC; PROVIDING FOR THE 

INCORPORATION OF PREMISES; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENTS; 
PROVIDING A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR VIOLATIONS THEREOF AS MORE 

SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING A CUMULATIVE 

REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING 

A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Corinth, Texas is a home rule municipality located in Denton 
County, Texas created in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 9 of the Local Government 
Code and operating pursuant to the enabling legislation of the State of Texas; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is authorized to adopt regulations governing the development of land 

within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction in the interest of the public health, safety and 
welfare of its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the Unified Development Code (“UDC”) which specifies 

size, placement, and use of accessory structures within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing at which persons 

with interest were provided an opportunity to provide public input and comments and reviewed 
proposed amendments to existing regulations for accessory structures, including without limitation, 
dimensional and setback requirements, and related permit requirements; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted 

to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, after holding a public hearing at which persons with interest were provided 

an opportunity to provide public input and comments, the City has reviewed the proposed 
amendments to the regulations for accessory structures in the UDC and has determined that the 
incorporated amendments are appropriate to aid with streamlining the process for residents to obtain 
an accessory structure for their property; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that the amendments proposed relating to public 

hearing notices will be beneficial to the public safety and welfare; and  
 

WHEREAS, upon review and consideration of the foregoing factors, the City Council has 
determined that the City’s accessory structure standards should be amended as set forth below; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CORINTH, TEXAS: 

 

 

486



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 2 of 5 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 SECTION 1. 
                                             INCORPORATION OF PREMISES 

 
The above and foregoing recitals are found to be true and correct and are incorporated into the body of this 
Ordinance for all purposes. 
 

 

SECTION 2. 

AMENDMENTS 
 

2.01.  That the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, being a part of the  City of Corinth Unified Development Code, 
Subsection 2.07 “Accessory Buildings and Uses”, Section 2.07.07 “Accessory Buildings and Uses”, of Section 2, 
“Zoning Regulations” is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2.07.07 “Accessory Buildings and Uses 
of Subsection 2.07 of Section 2 is hereby adopted  to be and read in its entirety as follows.  
 
“2.07.07. – Accessory Buildings and Uses  
A.  Residential Accessory Buildings and Uses  

1.  The following regulations apply to Accessory Buildings servicing lots zoned for residential uses:  

 a. Residential Accessory Building Dimensional regulations 

Table 12: Residential Accessory Dimensional Requirements   

Standard  
Lots up to 

13,999 S.F.  
Lots 14,000 S.F. up 

to 21,999 S.F.  
Lots 22,000 S.F. up to 

43,559 S.F. 
43,560 and up 

Maximum Square Footage of All 
Accessory Buildings (Combined Area)  

 
400 S.F.  

 
750 S.F.  

 
1,200 S.F. 

 
2,000 S.F 

Maximum Height of Accessory Buildings  15'  15'  
Equal to or less than main 

building  
Equal to or less 

than main building 

Maximum Number of Accessory Buildings  2  2  3  3 

Maximum Allowed Building Area 
Coverage  

Main and accessory buildings shall not exceed the allowable coverage percentage of 
the zoning district in which they are located.  

Minimum Front Setback  25'*  25'*  25'*  25'* 

Minimum Side and Rear Setback  

0’ If less 
than 100 

S.F. 
5' if over 
100 S.F. 

 

0’ If less than 100 
S.F. 

5' if over 100 S.F. 
 

0’ If less than 100 S.F. 
5' if over 100 S.F. 

 

0’ If less than 100 
S.F. 

5' if over 100 S.F. 
 

Minimum Side Setbacks for Corner Lots  15'**  25'**  25'**  25’** 

Prohibited Locations  Accessory Buildings in Easements are Prohibited.  

Barns and other Types Livestock Housing  
Accessory Buildings  the use of which is for the purpose of containing livestock 

(e.g., chickens, hogs, horses, etc.) shall be located at least two hundred (200) feet 
from any existing dwelling located on an adjacent lot or tract.  

* No Accessory Building shall be placed so as to protrude in front of the main building.  
** Detached Garages shall have the same setback as side entry garages.  

487



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 3 of 5 

 
 
 
 

  b. Residential accessory building development regulations. 

i. Accessory buildings which are less than one hundred (100) square feet in size shall not 
require a permit from the City prior to construction. 

ii. Accessory buildings which are greater than one hundred (100) square feet in size shall 

require  a permit and inspections from the City in accordance with applicable codes. 

2.  The following regulations apply to Guest House/Servants' Quarters operating as Accessory Buildings or 

as a use attached to the main building. 

a.  A Guest House/Servants' Quarters shall not be less than six hundred (600) square feet when built 

over a garage, nor less than seven hundred fifty (750) square feet when free standing, and shall not  

contain more than one thousand (1,000) square feet of living area. 

i.  Nothing herein shall authorize the occupancy or the use of a Guest House/Servants' Quarters  

by anyone other than a bona fide guest or servant employed by the occupant of the main 

structure on such lot, estate or land. 

ii.  A Guest House/Servants' Quarters may be constructed as a part of the main building.  

b.  Any Accessory Building for human habitation shall not be occupied until the main dwelling has been 

completed. 

c.  Only one (1) Guest House/Servants' Quarters shall be allowed on any individual tract of land.  

d.  Guest House/Servants' Quarters shall not be leased or rented.  

3.  Accessory Building and Use Limitations within the SF-A, Single Family Residential (attached). Only the 

following Accessory Buildings and uses shall be permitted within this district:  

a.  One attached garage (Garage, Private (attached)) with one or more compartments and with front and 
side walls complying with the requirements of the front and side walls of the main portion of the 

building as to distance, etc.; or  

b.  One detached private garage (Garage, Private (detached)) with one or more compartments and 

located within the prescribed building lines.  

4.  Accessory Buildings and Use Limitations within the MF-1, Multi-Family Residential, MF-2, Multi-Family  

Residential, and MF-3, Multi-Family Residential Districts.  

a.  An Accessory Building necessary to store equipment for several dwelling units or provide a service 

function for several dwelling units shall not be occupied as a place of abode.  

b.  Any Accessory Building which is not a part of the main building shall be separated from the main 

building by a minimum of ten feet (10').  

5.  Architectural elements for Residential Accessory Buildings.  

a.  All Accessory Buildings 200 square feet and larger shall be constructed of the same ex terior 
construction material of the main building or structure and incorporate the same architectural 

elements and materials as the main building.  

b.  The color and materials of the roof of the accessory building must closely resemble the color and 
materials of the roof of the main building unless the accessory building is prefabricated or pre -

finished.  

B.  Nonresidential Accessory Buildings  

1.  The exterior façade of all Accessory Buildings shall be constructed of the same exterior construction 
material of the main building or structure and, at a minimum, material meeting the requirements of Section 

2.09.04. Building Façade Material Standards.  

2.  In the nonresidential districts, an Accessory Building shall not exceed the height of the main building and  
shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the floor area of the main building, and shall be used for purposes 

accessory and incidental to the main use.  

3.  Nonresidential Accessory Buildings may meet the definition of a Portable Building.  

488



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 4 of 5 

 
 
 
 

a.  All Portable Buildings shall comply with 2.07.04. Conditional Development Standards. ” 

 

SECTION 4. 

PENALTY 

 

 Any person, firm or corporation who intentionally, knowingly or recklessly violates any 
provision of this Ordinance or the Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, shall be subject to a 
fine not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each offense, and each and every 
day any such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense, provided, 
however, that in all cases involving violation of any provision of this Ordinance or Code of 
Ordinances, as amended hereby, governing the fire safety, zoning, or public health and sanitation 
shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense.   
 

 
SECTION 5. 

CUMULATIVE REPEALER 

 

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other Ordinances and shall not repeal any of the 
provisions of such Ordinances except for those instances where there are direct conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance. Ordinances, or parts thereof, in force at the time this Ordinance shall 
take effect and that are inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent that they 
are inconsistent with this Ordinance. Provided however, that any complaint, action, claim or lawsuit 
which has been initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other Ordinances on this date of 
adoption of this Ordinance shall continue to be governed by the provisions of such Ordinance and 
for that purpose the Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

SECTION 6. 

SAVINGS 

 

 All rights and remedies of the City of Corinth, Texas are expressly saved as to any and all 
violations of the provisions of any other ordinance affecting zoning which have secured at the time 
of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations and all pending litigation, 
both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such ordinances same shall not be 
affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final disposition by the court. 
  

SECTION 7. 

SEVERABILITY 

 
The provisions of the Ordinance are severable. However, in the event this Ordinance or any 

procedure provided in this Ordinance becomes unlawful, or is declared or determined by a judicial, 
administrative or legislative authority exercising its jurisdiction to be excessive, unenforceable, 
void, illegal or otherwise inapplicable, in while in part, the remaining and lawful provisions shall be 
of full force and effect and the City shall promptly promulgate new revised provisions in compliance 
with the authority’s decisions or enactment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

489



 
Ord. 19-03-21-__  Page 5 of 5 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 8. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
This ordinance shall take effect upon its publication as required by law. The City Secretary 

is directed to publish the caption and penalty of this ordinance two times. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _____th DAY OF ______, 2018. 

 

APPROVED: 
 
 

Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

Andy Messer, City Attorney 

490



   
    PUBLIC HEARING    8.        

City Council Regular and Workshop Session
Meeting Date: 03/21/2019  
Title: Zoning Notification Revisions
Submitted For: Helen-Eve Liebman, Director  Submitted By: Ben Rodriguez, Manager
Finance Review: N/A Legal Review: Yes
City Manager Review: Approval: Bob Hart, City Manager
Strategic Goals: Land Development

Citizen Engagement & Proactive
Government

AGENDA ITEM
The Corinth City Council will conduct a public hearing to consider and act upon an amendment to the City’s
Unified Development Code, Section 2: Zoning, Subsection 2.10: Zoning Procedures, 2.10.04 Zoning Text and
Map Amendments and 2.10.05 Public Hearings and Notification Requirements for Zoning Related Applications.
  

Staff Presentation
Public Hearing (Open and Close)
Response by Staff
Take Action

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY/BACKGROUND
Planning and Development Department staff are proposing amendments to the zoning notification process for
public hearings related to zoning and subdivision cases. These amendments are intended to clarify posting
requirements within the ordinance, increase the efficiency of posting procedures, and improve transparency.
 
The following changes are proposed. 

All signs, newspaper notices, letters, & notices on City website will be provided at least 15 days in advance
of their corresponding meetings.

1.

Would define specifications for notice signs as follows: “Posted signs shall be a minimum of four (4) feet
wide by four (4) feet long, affixed to a post or posts.

2.

Stipulating that signs shall be removed within ten (10) days of City Council action on the related case.”3.
Applicants will be required to post a minimum of one sign per 1000ft of street frontage.4.
The inclusion of language stating that the applicant is encouraged to conduct a neighborhood meeting with
area homeowners within the vicinity of the request prior to appearing before the Planning and Zoning
Commission.

5.

Sections have be Renumbered to account for changes.

Supporting Documents: 

Proposed Ordinance
Current Corinth Public Notice Sign Design
Example Public Notice Sign

RECOMMENDATION
At the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting on February 25, 2018 the Commission voted to unanimously

491



At the Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting on February 25, 2018 the Commission voted to unanimously
recommend their approval of the proposed changes.

Staff recommends approval as presented.

Attachments
Zoning Notification Ordinance 
Current Zoning Signs 
Proposed Zoning Sign 

492



ORDINANCE NO. 19-3-21-__ 

 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE AMENDMENT 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE 

ZONING ORDINANCE BEING A PART OF THE CITY OF 

CORINTH UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE (“UDC”), BY 

AMENDING  SECTION 2.10.04, “ZONING TEXT AND MAP 

AMENDMENTS” AND SECTION 2.10.05 “PUBLIC HEARINGS AND 

NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR ZONING RELATED 

APPLICATIONS” OF SUBSECTION 2.10 “ZONING PROCEDURES” 
OF SECTION 2, “ZONING REGULATIONS” OF THE UDC; 

PROVIDING FOR THE INCORPORATION OF PREMISES; 

PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING A PENALTY OF 

FINE NOT TO EXCEED TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) 

FOR VIOLATIONS THEREOF AS MORE SPECIFICALLY SET 

FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING A CUMULATIVE REPEALER 

CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR 
PUBLICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Corinth, Texas is a home rule municipality located in 
Denton County, Texas created in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 9 of the Local 
Government Code and operating pursuant to the enabling legislation of the State of Texas; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is authorized to adopt regulations governing the development 

of land within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction in the interest of the public health, 
safety and welfare of its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City adopted the Unified Development Code (“UDC”) which 

specifies types and length of zoning text and map amendment notices required within the 
City; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing at which 

persons with interest were provided an opportunity to provide public input and comments 
and reviewed proposed amendments to existing regulations and procedures for public 
hearing notices within the UDC; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission considered the proposal to amend the Zoning Ordinance to extend the time for 
notice of public hearing from the current ten (10) days to fifteen (15) days prior to the public 
hearing, the additional of regulations encouraging neighborhood meetings between 
homeowners and applicants, and the addition of regulations requiring signage posting and 
removal and regulating spacing of signage utilized for zoning amendment requests, 
determined that the proposed changes would provide more opportunity for public notice  
and input and thus voted to recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the City 
Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding a public hearing at which persons with interest were 

provided an opportunity to provide public input and comments, the City has reviewed the 

493



proposed amendments to the regulations and procedures for public hearing notices, signage, 
and encouraging neighborhood meetings as recommended for approval by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission and has determined that the incorporated amendments to the UDC are 
appropriate to aid with providing timely notices of public hearings to the City’s residents 
and provide additional notice and opportunity for public input on zoning applications; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that the amendments proposed relating to 

public hearing notices will be beneficial to the public safety and welfare; and  
 
 
WHEREAS, upon review and consideration of the foregoing factors, the City 

Council has determined that the City’s public hearing notices standards should be amended 
as set forth below; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CORINTH, TEXAS: 

 

 SECTION 1. 
                                             INCORPORATION OF PREMISES 

 
The above and foregoing recitals are found to be true and correct and are incorporated into the body of this 
Ordinance for all purposes. 
 

 

SECTION 2. 
AMENDMENTS 

 

2.01.  That the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, being a part of the  City of Corinth Unified Development 
Code, Subsection 2.10 “Zoning Procedures”, Section 2.10.04 “Zoning Text and Map Amendments”, of 
Section 2, “Zoning Regulations” is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2.10.04, “Zoning Text 
and Map Amendments” of Subsection 2.10 of Section 2 of the UDC is hereby adopted to  be and read in 
its entirety as follows.  
 
“2.10.04. - Zoning Text and Map Amendments  
A.  Process Requirements  

1.  Zoning Amendments Require City Council Approval. The City Council may, from time to time, 
amend, supplement or change by ordinance, the boundaries of the districts (i.e., Zoning Map 
Amendment (Rezoning)) or the regulations herein established (i.e., Zoning Text Amendment) as 
provided by the Statutes of the State of Texas.  

2.  Planning and Zoning Commission Recommendation Required for all Amendments. Before taking 
action on any proposed amendment the City Council shall submit the same to the Planning and 
Zoning Commission for its recommendation and report.  

3.  Petitions Submitted to the City Council.  

a.  Any person or corporation having a proprietary interest in any property may petition the City 
Council for a change or amendment to the zoning provisions of this UDC; or  

b.  The Planning and Zoning Commission may, on its own motion or on request from the City 
Council, study and propose zoning changes and amendments for the City Council's 
consideration.  

494



B.  Two Types of Zoning Amendments  

1.  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning). A Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) is a change or 
modification to the boundaries of any zoning district within the City's Zoning Map.  

2.  Zoning Text Amendment. A Zoning Text Amendment is the change of the text within Section 2 
Zoning Regulations and does not include change or modification to the boundaries of any zoning 
districts.  

C.  Planning and Zoning Commission Recommendation Requires Public Hearing  

1.  The Planning and Zoning Commission shall hold a public hearing on any Application for any 
amendment or change prior to making its recommendation and report to the City Council.  

2.  In the case of a Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning):  

a.  Written notice of all public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission on a 
proposed amendment or change shall be sent to all owners of real property within two 
hundred (200) feet of the property on which the change is requested.  

i.  Such notice shall be given not less than fifteen (15) days before the date set for hearing 
by posting such notice, properly addressed and postage paid, to each taxpayer as the 
ownership appears on the most recently approved municipal tax roll  for the area 
affected.  

b.   The Applicant is strongly encouraged to conduct a neighborhood meeting with the area 
homeowners within the vicinity of the request prior to appearing before the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. The Applicant shall provide written notice to the Director of Planning 
and Development of any scheduled neighborhood meetings at least seven (7) calendar days 
prior to the P&Z commission meeting. 

c.  Consistency between a Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) and the Comprehensive Plan 
shall be required, see Section 1.03.03. C.  

d.  For selected zoning districts, each rezoning Application shall be accompanied by a Site Plan 
(see Section 2.10.08. B.1.a.ii Rezoning Applications Requiring Site Plans).  

D.  Sign Posting for a Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) Related to a Particular Property  

1.  At least fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the public hearing by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission on a proposed amendment to the zoning text and map related to particular property, 
the Applicant shall cause a sign, clearly visible to passersby, to be placed and maintained on such 
property.  

2.    Posted signs shall be a minimum of four (4) feet wide by four (4) feet long, affixed to a post or 
posts.  

3.     Posted signs shall be removed within ten (10) days of City Council action on the related case.  

4.   The sign shall state that the property is the subject of a Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) 
Application.   

5.  The sign shall remain continuously posted on the property until the City Council has conducted 
its public hearing on the matter.  

6.   A minimum of at one (1) sign shall be posted spaced at a distance of one (1) sign every one-
thousand (1000) feet of street frontage at the site  

495



E.  Effect of Posted Sign Maintenance The continued maintenance of the sign shall not be a condition 
precedent to the holding of a public hearing, the adoption of any proposed zoning change, or any other 
official action concerning such amendment.  

F.  City Council Decision and Public Hearing Required  

1.  A public hearing shall be held by the City Council before adopting any proposed amendment.  

2.  Notice of such hearing shall be given by publication in the official publication of the City stating 
the time and place of such hearing, which time shall not be before the fifteenth (15th) calendar 
day from the date of publication of notice of the public hearing.  

G.  Three-Fourths City Council Vote Required for Protested Amendments. If any of the following 
conditions exist, then amendments shall not become effective except by a three-fourths (3/4) vote of 
the governing body.  

1.  The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denial of zoning amendment.  

2.  A protest against such proposed amendment has been filed at least three (3) calendar days before 
the date of the public hearings with the City Secretary by one of the following types of protesters:  

a.  Interior Protesters:  

i.  The property owners, duly signed and acknowledged, of twenty (20) percent or more of 
the lots or land area included within a proposed amendment boundary.  

b.  Exterior Protesters:  

i.  The property owners, duly signed and acknowledged, of twenty (20) percent or more of 
the lots or land area within a two hundred (200) foot radius of the exterior boundary of 
the area included in a proposed amendment.  

 

Figure 16: Calculation for Exterior Protestors

496



2.02.  That the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, being a part of the  City of Corinth Unified Development 
Code, Subsection 2.10 “Zoning Procedures”, Section 2.10.05 “Public Hearings and Notification 
Requirements for Zoning Related Applications”, of Section 2, “Zoning Regulations” is hereby repealed in 
its entirety and a new Section 2.10.05, “Public Hearings and Notification Requirements for Zoning Related 
Applications” of Subsection 2.10 of Section 2 of the UDC is hereby adopted to be and read in its entirety 
as follows.  
 
 
2.10.05. - Public Hearings and Notification Requirements for Zoning Related Applications  
A.  Applications Requiring Public Hearing for Zoning Related Applications  

1.  Fence Variance, see Section 2.11.03.  

2.  Initial Zoning of Newly Annexed Land, see Section 2.10.03. C.  

3.  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning), see Section 2.10.04. B.1.  

4.  Zoning Text Amendment, see Section 2.10.04. B.2.  

5.  Planned Development (PD) Steps for Creation and Development, see Section 2.10.09. C.  

6.  Specific Use Permit, see Section 2.10.10.  

7.  Amortization of Nonconforming Uses, see Section 2.10.11. B.  

8.  Appeal of a City Administrative or Interpretative Decision, see Section 2.11.01. A.1.  

9.  Zoning Variance, see Section 2.11.02.  

10.  Zoning Special Exception, see Section 2.11.03.  

B.  Review Bodies and the Associated Public Hearings per Zoning Application Type. Public hearings 
shall be conducted for each review body per plan or Application type according to the following table:  

Table 21: Review Bodies and the Associated Public Hearings per Zoning Application Type  

Application Type  
City 

Council  
Planning and Zoning 

Commission  
Board of 

Adjustment  

Initial Zoning of Newly Annexed Land  Hearing  Hearing   

Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning)  Hearing  Hearing   

Zoning Text Amendment  Hearing  Hearing   

Planned Development (PD) Steps for Creation 
and Development  

Hearing  Hearing   

Specific Use Permit  Hearing  Hearing   

Amortization of Nonconforming Uses    Hearing  

Appeal of a City Administrative or 
Interpretative Decision  

  Hearing  

Zoning Variance    Hearing  

Zoning Special Exception    Hearing  

  

497



C.  Public Notice Requirements for Public Hearings for Zoning Related Applications  

1.  Zoning Related Applications Requiring Public Notice.  

a.  Initial Zoning of Newly Annexed Land, see Section 2.10.03. C.  

b.  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning), see Section 2.10.04. B.1.  

c.  Zoning Text Amendment, see Section 2.10.04. B.2.  

d.  Planned Development (PD) Steps for Creation and Development, see Section 2.10.09. C.  

e.  Specific Use Permit, see Section 2.10.10.  

f.  Amortization of Nonconforming Uses, see Section 2.10.11. B.  

g.  Appeal of a City Administrative or Interpretative Decision, see Section 2.11.01. A.1.  

h.  Zoning Variance, see Section 2.11.02.  

i.  Zoning Special Exception, see Section 2.11.03.  

D.  Required Public Notice for Zoning Related Plans and Applications Public notices shall be required 
according to the following table:  

Table 22: Required Public Notice for Zoning Related Plans and Applications  

Application Type  
Property Posted (Sign) 

Notice  
Published 

Notice  
Mailed 
Notice  

Initial Zoning of Newly Annexed Land   Required  Required  

Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning)  Required  Required  Required  

Zoning Text Amendment   Required   

Planned Development (PD) Steps for Creation 
and Development  

Required  Required  Required  

Specific Use Permit  Required  Required  Required  

Amortization of Nonconforming Uses  Required  Required  Required  

Appeal of a City Administrative or Interpretative 
Decision  

 Required  Required  

Zoning Variance  Required  Required  Required  

Zoning Special Exception  Required  Required  Required  

  

E.  Types of Notice  

1.  Postings of Signs on Property. The Director of Planning shall maintain an inventory of signs to 
fulfill the notification requirements listed in Table 22: Required Public Notice for Zoning Related 
Plans.  

2.  "Published Notice" and "Mailed Notice" of Public Hearing for Zoning Changes Involving Real 
Property.  

a.  Published Notice.  

498



i.  Notice of the public hearing to occur before the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
also before the City Council shall be accomplished by publishing the purpose, time and 
place of the public hearing in the official newspaper of the City before the fifteenth (15) 
calendar day prior to the date of the public hearing.  

ii.  One published notice is sufficient if the time and date of both public hearings is given.  

b.  Mailed Notice (also referred to as "Written Notice").  

i.  Written notice of the public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
also before the City Council shall be sent to all owners of property, as indicated by the 
most recently approved City tax roll, that is located within the area of Application and 
within two hundred feet (200) of any property affected thereby, said written notice to 
be sent before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day prior to the date such hearing is held.  

ii.  One written notice is sufficient if the time and date of both public hearings is given.  

iii.  Said written notice shall be served by using the last known address as listed on the 
most recently approved municipal tax roll and depositing the notice, postage paid, in 
the regular United States mail.  

iv.  If written notice as required is not sent before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day prior to 
the date of the hearing, then the hearing must be delayed until this notice requirement 
is met. Such notice shall include:  

(a)  Legal description of the property and the street address or approximate location within 
the City;  

(b)  Present zoning classification of the property and the zoning sought by the Applicant. If 
not a Map Amendment (Rezoning), then the nature or intent of the Application shall be 
described; 

(c)  The date, time, and place of hearing;  
(d)  The web site that contains the zoning map and information regarding the Rezoning;  
(e)  The phone number where questions may be answered; and  
(f)  Other information as may be determined by City as necessary to provide adequate and 

timely public notice.  
3.  "Published Notice" of Public Hearing for Zoning Changes Involving Regulation Text.  

a.  For requests involving proposed changes to the text of the zoning regulations, notice of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and also the City Council public hearing shall be 
accomplished by publishing the purpose, time and place of the public hearing in the official 
newspaper of the City before the fifteenth (15th ) calendar day prior to the date of the public 
hearing.  

b.  Changes in the zoning text that do not change zoning district boundaries (i.e., that do not 
involve specific real property) do not require mailed/written notification to individua l 
property owners.  

c.  The City may, at its option, publish the required zoning change notifications in 
conformance with Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code for public hearings 
for the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council at the same time; said 
notifications must be published before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day prior to the 
Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing and before the fifteenth (15th) calendar 
day prior to the City Council public hearing. 

 
4.  "Published Notice" and "Mailed Notice" of an Appeal of a City Administrative or Interpretative 

Decision to the Board of Adjustment.  

499



a.  For an Appeal of a City Administrative or Interpretative Decision, the Board of Adjustment 
shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of an appeal, give the public notice by written 
notice in the mail addressed to all owners of real property located within two hundred feet 
(200') of the property on which the appeal is made, and by publication of notice of such 
hearing in the City's official newspaper.  

b.  Both the written/mailed and published notice shall be given at least fifteen (15th) day prior 
to the date for the hearing.  

c.  Upon the hearing, any party may appear in person or by attorney or by agent.  

5.  Additional Rules and Procedures Established.  

a.  The City Council may, at its option, establish additional rules and procedures for public 
notification of proposed zoning changes and development proposals (e.g., required plans, 
plats, etc.) which may include, but not be limited to, the posting of a sign(s) on any property 
that is proposed for a zoning change or development by the Applicant or its agent(s).  

b.  Knowledge of and adFherence to such rules and procedures, if so established by the City, 
shall be the responsibility of the Applicant and shall be required as part of a zoning change 
or development Application.  

6.  Special Notice. Pursuant to Texas Local Government Code Section 211.007(d), the City Council 
may, by a two-thirds vote, prescribe the type of notice to be given of the time and place of a public 
hearing held jointly by the City Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

  

500



 
Ord. 19-02-21-__  Page 9 of 10 

 
 
 
 

 

 

SECTION 4. 
PENALTY 

 

 Any person, firm or corporation who intentionally, knowingly or recklessly violates any 
provision of this Ordinance or the Code of Ordinances, as amended hereby, shall be subject to a 
fine not to exceed the sum of five hundred dollars ($500.00) for each offense, and each and every 
day any such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense, provided, 
however, that in all cases involving violation of any provision of this Ordinance or Code of 
Ordinances, as amended hereby, governing the fire safety, zoning, or public health and sanitation 
shall be subject to a fine not to exceed the sum of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense.   
 

 

 

SECTION 5. 

CUMULATIVE REPEALER 

 

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other Ordinances and shall not repeal any of the 
provisions of such Ordinances except for those instances where there are direct conflicts with the 
provisions of this Ordinance. Ordinances, or parts thereof, in force at the time this Ordinance shall 
take effect and that are inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent that they 
are inconsistent with this Ordinance. Provided however, that any complaint, action, claim or lawsuit 
which has been initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other Ordinances on this date of 
adoption of this Ordinance shall continue to be governed by the provisions of such Ordinance and 
for that purpose the Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

SECTION 6. 

SAVINGS 

 

 All rights and remedies of the City of Corinth, Texas are expressly saved as to any and all 
violations of the provisions of any other ordinance affecting zoning which have secured at the time 
of the effective date of this ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations and all pending litigation, 
both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such ordinances same shall not be 
affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final disposition by the court. 
  

SECTION 7. 

SEVERABILITY 

 

The provisions of the Ordinance are severable. However, in the event this Ordinance or any 
procedure provided in this Ordinance becomes unlawful, or is declared or determined by a judicial, 
administrative or legislative authority exercising its jurisdiction to be excessive, unenforceable, 
void, illegal or otherwise inapplicable, in while in part, the remaining and lawful provisions shall be 
of full force and effect and the City shall promptly promulgate new revised provisions in compliance 
with the authority’s decisions or enactment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

501



 
Ord. 19-02-21-__  Page 10 of 10 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 8. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
This ordinance shall take effect upon its publication as required by law. The City Secretary 

is directed to publish the caption and penalty of this ordinance two times. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _____th DAY OF ______, 2018. 

 

APPROVED: 
 
 

Bill Heidemann, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Kimberly Pence, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

Andy Messer, City Attorney 

502



503



504



505



4 ft

4 ft

PROPOSED ZONING CHANGE

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE

For More Information Contact the Corinth 
Planning and Development Services 
Department

940-498-3262
506


	Agenda
	AI_1406_Annual Audit and Comprehensive Annual Report Discussion
	ATT_Presentation
	ATT_ Management Letter
	ATT_Letter to those charged with governance
	AI_1434_Water Rate Study
	AI_1431_Denton County Master Gardener Association 30th Anniversary
	ATT_Proclamation
	AI_1433_February 21, 2019 Workshop Session
	ATT_Minutes
	AI_1432_February 21, 2019 Regular Session Minutes
	ATT_Minutes
	AI_1424_Interlocal Cooperative Agreement Between Corinth and Lake Dallas ISD Shady Shores Elementary School
	ATT_ILA Summer Camp at Shady Shores Elementary
	AI_1427_Public Works Equipment Storage facility and Fire Department Trainning Area 
	ATT_Notice to bidders
	ATT_Bid Book PWandFD
	ATT_PW Equip Storage Bld Plans
	ATT_PW and FD Site Improvements
	GEN_CVR_SHT
	LS_CORINTH PW PLAT
	GEN_NOTES_SHT
	GEN_PROJECT LAYOUT
	GEN_SURV_CNTRL
	GEN_DETAILS_SHT_01
	GEN_DETAILS_SHT_01-2
	CPW_WAL_DET_01
	CPW_RAIL_DET_01
	CPW_RAIL_DET_02
	GEN_DETAILS_SHT_04
	GEN_DETAILS_SHT_02
	GEN_DETAILS_SHT_03
	CPW_SITE_EXHIBIT_01
	CPW_SITE_EXHIBIT_02
	CPW_DAM_PLN - Copy
	CPW_GRD_PLN_01
	CPW_GRD_PLN_02
	CPW_UTIL
	CPW_SW3P_PLN
	LCFD_SITE_EXHIBIT
	LCFD_DAM_PLN
	H&H_DATA_SHT
	LCFD_GRD_PLN
	LCFD_SW3P_PLN
	LS_CORINTH PW PLAT
	LS_CORINTH PW PLAT

	ATT_308 Construction Bid
	ATT_MSB Constructors Bid
	ATT_Schmoldt Construction Bid
	ATT_FD Trainning Area Bids Tab
	ATT_PW Equip Building and Site Improvements Bid Tab
	AI_1366_Annual Audit
	ATT_CAFR Fiscal Year 2017-2018
	AI_1422_Screening wall and Fencing Amendments
	ATT_Screening Wall and Fencing Ordinance
	AI_1428_Accessory Structures Amendments
	ATT_Accessory Structure Ordinance
	AI_1429_Zoning Notification Revisions
	ATT_Zoning Notification Ordinance
	ATT_Current Zoning Signs
	ATT_Proposed Zoning Sign



